
City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee 
Meeting Agenda, Tuesday, 4 June 2024 at 7.00 pm

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

CITY PLANNING, 
DEVELOPMENT AND 
BUSINESS AFFAIRS 

COMMITTEE 

AGENDA & REPORTS 
for the meeting 

 
Tuesday, 4 June 2024 

at 7.00 pm 
 

in the Colonel Light Room, Adelaide Town Hall 
 

© 2024 CITY OF ADELAIDE. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. 
 

Public Document Pack



City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee 
Meeting Agenda, Tuesday, 4 June 2024 at 7.00 pm

 
 

Members – The Right Honourable the Lord Mayor, Dr Jane Lomax-Smith 
Councillor Noon (Chair) 

Councillor Martin (Deputy Chair) 
Councillors Abrahimzadeh, Couros, Davis, Elliott, Giles, Hou, Li, Dr Siebentritt and Snape 

 
 

  
1.    Acknowledgement of Country 

At the opening of the City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee 
meeting, the Chair will state: 

‘Council acknowledges that we are meeting on traditional Country of the Kaurna 
people of the Adelaide Plains and pays respect to Elders past and present.  We 
recognise and respect their cultural heritage, beliefs and relationship with the land. 
We acknowledge that they are of continuing importance to the Kaurna people living 
today. 
And we also extend that respect to other Aboriginal Language Groups and other First 
Nations who are present today.’ 

 

 

 
2.    Apologies and Leave of Absence 

Nil 

 

 

 
3.    Confirmation of Minutes - 7/5/2024 

That the Minutes of the meeting of the City Planning, Development and Business 
Affairs held on 7 May 2024, be taken as read and be confirmed as an accurate 
record of proceedings. 
View public 7 May 2024 Minutes. 

 

 

 
4.   Declaration of Conflict of Interest 

 
 

 
5.   Deputations 

 
 

 
6.    Workshops 

Nil 
 

 

 
7.   Reports for Recommendation to Council 

 
 

 
 7.1   Draft Integrated Climate Strategy for Endorsement 

 
4 - 42 

 
 7.2   Draft City Plan – Adelaide 2036 for Public Consultation 

 
43 - 249 

 
 7.3   Draft Adelaide Park Lands Management Strategy (APLMS) - Towards 2036 

 
250 - 448 

 
 7.4   By-law Review – Draft for Public Consultation 

 
449 - 507 

 
 7.5   Encroachment Policy 2024 for Endorsement 

 
 

508 - 538 

 
8.    Reports for Noting 

Nil 

 

https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/documents/g1043/Printed%20minutes%2007th-May-2024%2018.30%20City%20Planning%20Development%20and%20Business%20Affairs%20Committee.pdf?T=1


 
 
9.   Closure 

 
 



City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 4 June 2024

Tuesday, 4 June 2024 
City Planning, Development 
and Business Affairs 
Committee 

Draft Integrated Climate Strategy for 
Endorsement 
 

Strategic Alignment - Our Environment Program Contact:  
Sarah Gilmour, Associate 
Director Park Lands, Policy & 
Sustainability 

Public 
 

Approving Officer:  
Ilia Houridis, Director City 
Shaping 

 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The purpose of this report is to seek Council endorsement on the Integrated Climate Strategy 2030 (Strategy), 
provided in Attachment A, which incorporates consultation feedback on the draft Integrated Climate Strategy (draft 
Strategy) and is updated for recent Council priorities delivered through related initiatives. 

On 12 December 2023 (Link 1) Council endorsed the draft Strategy for public consultation. Consultation opened on 
5 February 2024 for a period of six weeks until 18 March 2024 (extended from 15 March 2024).  

The consultation outcomes were presented to Council on 14 May 2024 (Link 2). Proposed amendments for the 
final Strategy have been included in Attachment B. 
Key themes arising from the consultation are summarised as: 

  General support for the draft Integrated Climate Strategy 2030 and proposed goals and priorities. 

  Investment in public infrastructure for active transport, and street trees for greening and shading. 

  Increasing community awareness of existing opportunities and programs that support action, such as the 
Incentives for Sustainability program, and energy and resource recovery assessments. 

  There will be transitional challenges for many of the key actions identified in the draft Strategy requiring new 
actions or significant change to existing work to deliver the outcomes sought. 

Priority actions for implementation in 2024/25 have been identified, subject to the finalisation of the draft 2024/25 
Annual Business Plan and Budget. The priority actions respond to the Council’s decision on 13 February 2024 to 
identify alternative ways to reduce community carbon emissions through the Sustainability Incentive Scheme (Link 
3).  

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
The following recommendation will be presented to Council on 11 June 2024 for consideration 

THAT THE CITY PLANNING, DEVELOPMENT AND BUSINESS AFFAIRS COMMITTEE RECOMMENDS TO 
COUNCIL 

THAT COUNCIL 

1. Endorses the Integrated Climate Strategy 2030 contained in Attachment A to Item 7.1 on the Agenda for 
the City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee held on 4 June 2024. 

2. Notes the Integrated Climate Strategy 2030 will replace the Climate Action Plan 2022-2025, Carbon 
Neutral Strategy 2015-2025, Climate Risk Adaptation Plan 2021-2026, Waste and Recycling Services 
Policy 2014, Resource Recovery Strategy and Action Plan 2020-2028, Zero Emissions Vehicle Plan 
2019-2030, Water Sensitive Cities Plan 2021-2025, and Integrated Biodiversity Management Plan 
2018-2023. 

Page 4

Agenda Item 7.1

https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/documents/s14878/Draft%20Integrated%20Climate%20Strategy.pdf
https://cityofadelaideintranet.moderngov.com.au/documents/s18725/Draft%20Integrated%20Climate%20Strategy%202030%20Consultation%20Summary.pdf
https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/documents/s16171/Recommendations%20of%20the%20City%20Planning%20Development%20and%20Business%20Affairs%20Committee%20-%206%20February%202024.pdf
https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/documents/s16171/Recommendations%20of%20the%20City%20Planning%20Development%20and%20Business%20Affairs%20Committee%20-%206%20February%202024.pdf


City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 4 June 2024

3. Authorises the Acting Chief Executive Officer or delegate to make minor and technical amendments to the 
document contained in Attachment A to Item 7.1 on the Agenda for the City Planning, Development and 
Business Affairs Committee held on 4 June 2024 for the purpose of finalising the document for publication. 

4. Approves discontinuing the purchase of carbon offsets and adopting an approach to investing in direct 
emission reduction climate activities. 

5. Notes priority actions for implementation in 2024/25 will be determined through the 2024/25 Annual 
Business Plan and Budget process. 

6. Notes the risk and reporting framework for the delivery and monitoring of the Integrated Climate Strategy 
will be delivered in the first quarter of 2024/25 and reported through the Audit and Risk Committee in 
September 2024. 

 

 

 

 

Page 5



 

City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 4 June 2024

IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS 
 

City of Adelaide 
2024-2028 
Strategic Plan 

Strategic Alignment – Our Environment  
The Integrated Climate Strategy has been developed for alignment with the City of Adelaide 
Strategic Plan 2024-2028.  

Policy 

The Integrated Climate Strategy public consultation was undertaken in accordance with 
Council’s Community Consultation Policy. 
The Integrated Climate Strategy will replace the Climate Action Plan 2022-2025, Carbon 
Neutral Strategy 2015-2025, Climate Risk Adaptation Plan 2021-2026, Waste and 
Recycling Services Policy 2014, Resource Recovery Strategy and Action Plan 2020-2028, 
Zero Emissions Vehicle Plan 2019-2030, Water Sensitive Cities Plan 2021-2025 and 
Integrated Biodiversity Management Plan 2018-2023 and delivers on the former Council’s 
decision to develop a Climate Policy. 

Consultation Consultation was undertaken from 5 February 2024 to 18 March 2024 in accordance with 
the engagement plan endorsed by the Council on 12 December 2023. 

Resource Not as a result of this report 

Risk / Legal / 
Legislative Not as a result of this report 

Opportunities The Integrated Climate Strategy will clarify Council’s policy position and role in responding 
to climate change for the community and its own operations. 

23/24 Budget 
Allocation 

Funding for Climate related objectives in 2023/24 is $2,571,683, across: 
  Climate Change Action Initiative Fund (CCAIF) $783,250 (excluding salaries):  

o $125,000 to climate action plan implementation 
o $140,000 to climate active certification and inventories 
o $225,500 to Sustainability Incentive Scheme  
o $180,000 to community and business support 
o $51,250 to climate risk adaptation 
o $20,500 to water sensitive city 
o $10,250 for Resilient East Partnership  
o $30,750 to the Taking Climate Action Roadmap.  

  The City of Adelaide Resource Recovery Strategy and Action Plan of $788,433. 
o This strategic project funding concludes in 2023/24. 

  Council allocated an additional $1.0M for greening in 2023/24 to increase tree canopy 
cover in the City of Adelaide. 

  The Quarter 3 budget review included an additional capital project of $4.0m to fund a 
multi-year program of public realm greening to support the annual net increase in street 
trees. 

Proposed 24/25 
Budget Allocation 

The draft 2024/25 Annual Business Plan and Budget includes initiatives totalling $6.175M 
and comprised of: 
  Operating activities of $475,000 excluding salaries. 
  $1.7M for greening in 2024/25 consisting of: 

o $1.0M green infrastructure 
o $0.5M parklets 

Page 6



 

City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 4 June 2024

o $0.2M cycling infrastructure. 
 
Through the 2024/25 budget deliberations, $330,000   has been offered as permanent 
operating savings from the Park Lands and Sustainability Program. The allocation includes 
approximately $180,000 for carbon offset purchases and may affect existing memberships, 
subscriptions and grant offers including the conclusion of the Carbon Neutral Partners 
program and CitySwitch program. The Council has indicated it wishes to redirect funding 
allocated to carbon offsets toward the delivery of climate resilience and emissions reduction 
projects. 
 
The Strategy will require prioritisation of actions through the 2024/25 and subsequent 
years’ Annual Business Plan and Budget process, with consideration of climate initiatives in 
the short, medium and long term. Costs, above current service levels, for implementation of 
key initiatives over the life of the Strategy will be presented with the final draft Strategy and 
incorporated into the Long-term Financial Plan pending prioritisation through the 2024/25 
budget process, which will include consideration of grant program funding levels as well as 
initiative funding. 

Life of Project, 
Service, Initiative 
or (Expectancy of) 
Asset 

The draft Strategy is proposed to deliver climate actions from 2024-2030. 

23/24 Budget 
Reconsideration  
(if applicable) 

Not as a result of this report 

Ongoing Costs 
(eg maintenance 
cost) 

Not as a result of this report 

Other Funding 
Sources Not as a result of this report 

 

 

  

Page 7



 

City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 4 June 2024

DISCUSSION 
Background 
1. On 12 December 2023 (Link 1) Council endorsed the draft Strategy for public consultation. Consultation 

opened on 5 February 2024 for a period of six weeks until 18 March 2024 (extended from 15 March 2024).  

2. Consultation opened on 5 February 2024 to 18 March 2024 with a total of 28 written submissions, 3 phone 
submissions, and 39 Your Say Adelaide survey submissions received. 

3. The consultation outcomes and proposed amendments to the draft Strategy were presented to Council on 14 
May 2024 (Link 2).  

4. Key themes arising from the consultation are summarised as: 

4.1. General support for the draft Integrated Climate Strategy 2030 and proposed goals and priorities. 

4.2. Investment in public infrastructure for active transport, and street trees for greening and shading. 

4.3. Increasing community awareness of existing opportunities and programs that support action, such as 
the Incentives for Sustainability program, and energy and resource recovery assessments. 

4.4. There will be transitional challenges for many of the key actions identified in the draft Strategy 
requiring new actions or significant change to existing work to deliver the outcomes sought. 

5. The purpose of this report is to seek Council endorsement on the final Integrated Climate Strategy 2030 
(Strategy), provided in Attachment A, which incorporates consultation feedback and is updated for recent 
Council priorities delivered through related initiatives. 

6. A table of changes to the draft Strategy is provided to assist the Council with its consideration of the Strategy 
(Link 4). 

Priority actions for 2024/25 
7. The draft 2024/25 Annual Business Plan and Budget includes initiatives totalling $2.175M and comprised of: 

7.1. Operating projects of $475,000 excluding salaries. 

7.2. $1.7M for greening in 2024/25 consisting of: 

7.2.1. $1.0M green infrastructure. 

7.2.2. $0.5M parklets. 

7.2.3. $0.2M cycling infrastructure. 

8. Through the 2024/25 budget deliberations, $330,000  has been offered as permanent operating savings from 
the Park Lands and Sustainability Program.  

8.1. The allocation includes approximately $180,000 for carbon offset purchases and affects existing 
memberships, subscriptions and grant offers including the conclusion of the Carbon Neutral Partners 
program and CitySwitch program.  

8.2. The Council has indicated it wishes to redirect funding allocated to carbon offsets toward the delivery 
of climate resilience and emissions reduction projects, noting direct investment of an equivalent 
amount will not achieve the same emissions reductions as offsetting.  

8.3. The Strategy is updated to a priority of a net zero ready city (rather than carbon neutral or net zero). 
The adjustment may result in a less favourable global benchmark through CDP reporting and 
concludes the City of Adelaide’s participation in the Federal Government’s Climate Active program. 

9. Priority actions for implementation in 2024/25 have been identified, subject to the finalisation of the draft 
2024/25 Annual Business Plan and Budget. The priority actions respond to the Council’s decision on 13 
February 2024 to identify alternative ways to reduce community carbon emissions through the Sustainability 
Incentive Scheme (Link 3).  

10. Commitments in the Strategy that will be activated in 2024/25 include: 

10.1. Goal 1: A climate resilient city. 

10.1.1. Continue to invest in a citywide network of sustainable water infrastructure through 
partnerships and co-funded projects. 

10.1.2. Deliver the Greener City Streets Greening Program (street tree planting). 

Page 8

https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/documents/s14878/Draft%20Integrated%20Climate%20Strategy.pdf
https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/documents/s18930/Recommendations%20of%20the%20City%20Planning%20Development%20and%20Business%20Affairs%20Committee%20-%207%20May%202024.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CPDBA_4_June_2024_Climate_Link_4.pdf
https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/documents/s16171/Recommendations%20of%20the%20City%20Planning%20Development%20and%20Business%20Affairs%20Committee%20-%206%20February%202024.pdf


 

City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 4 June 2024

10.1.3. Undertake comprehensive stormwater management planning across the City of Adelaide’s 
catchments, in partnership with the State Government, to ensure the stormwater network is 
planned to meet the needs of the community under climate scenarios. 

10.1.4. Installation of 50 microclimate sensors (air temperature, humidity, air pressure) across the city 
to establish baseline conditions and accurately plot the existing urban heat island effect. 

10.1.5. Deliver the Resilient Flood Mapping project. 

10.2. Goal 2: A net zero ready city. 

10.2.1. Embark on an electrification program to support harder-to-electrify strata residential and 
commercial buildings to transition. 

10.2.2. Enable on-street EV chargers in select locations which support the transition to EVs and 
minimise impacts on public realm. 

10.2.3. Develop an Integrated Transport Strategy to address movement, climate and community 
health and wellbeing by 2025. 

10.2.4. Deliver World Car-Free Day events to support visioning of what a less car dependent city 
could look like and increase community capacity for safe active transport to and from the city. 

10.2.5. Extend the North South bikeway in sections by connecting the existing Rugby-Porter Bikeway 
in Unley to the Braund Road Bike Boulevard in Prospect. 

10.2.6. Deliver the Sustainability Incentive Scheme, which supports our partners and community to 
implement changes to enable a reduction in community carbon emissions. 

10.3. Goal 3: A city where nature thrives. 

10.3.1. Work in partnership with Kaurna Miyurna to return Caring for Country practices and principles 
to management of the Adelaide Park Lands. 

10.3.2. Establish Aboriginal Rangers Program for the Adelaide Park Lands to support traditional land 
management practices. 

10.3.3. Develop comprehensive mapping of our biodiversity and implement monitoring programs to 
quantify changes in biodiversity and ecosystem health due to large scale factors, such as 
climate change. 

10.3.4. Rehabilitate watercourses such as Botanic Creek, Wirrarninthi Wetlands, Park Lands Creek 
with native vegetation and protect their natural flow regime by managing urban stormwater 
volumes. 

10.4. Goal 4: Transition to a decarbonised city. 

10.4.1. Reduce food waste generation and increase diversion of food waste from landfill. 

10.4.2. Undertake feasibility studies for kerbside and bulk bin waste and recycling collection services. 

10.4.3. Review procurement practices to select products that: 

10.4.3.1. Replace raw materials with low embodied carbon, sustainably produced, renewable and 
recycled content. 

10.4.3.2. Reduce carbon emissions and keep materials in circulation for longer and at their 
highest value. 

10.5. Goal 5: A climate leading capital city council. 

10.5.1. Consider climate change risk and sustainability in all capital works projects and asset 
renewals. 

10.5.2. Develop a Sustainability Governance and Reporting Framework by 2025 and capture and 
share data and learnings. 

Next Steps 
11. Pending Council’s decision on the Integrated Climate Strategy, the document will be finalised and made 

public on the City of Adelaide website. 

12. Implementation of the outcomes sought in the Strategy will commence in 2024/25, noting that delivery of the 
Strategy is subject to the Annual Business Plan and Budget process and prioritisation by Council. 

Page 9



 

City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 4 June 2024

13. Development of a risk and reporting framework for the delivery and monitoring of the Strategy will be 
delivered in the first quarter of 2024/25 and reported through Audit and Risk Committee in September 2024. 

 

DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
Link 1 – City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda – Tuesday, 5 December 2023 
Link 2 – City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda – Tuesday, 7 May 2024 
Link 3 – Council – Agenda – Tuesday, 13 February 2024 
Link 4 –Summary of changes to the draft Integrated Climate Strategy 2030 following consultation  
 

 

ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A – City of Adelaide Integrated Climate Strategy 2030 

 

- END OF REPORT -  

Page 10

https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/documents/s14878/Draft%20Integrated%20Climate%20Strategy.pdf
https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/documents/s18930/Recommendations%20of%20the%20City%20Planning%20Development%20and%20Business%20Affairs%20Committee%20-%207%20May%202024.pdf
https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/documents/s16171/Recommendations%20of%20the%20City%20Planning%20Development%20and%20Business%20Affairs%20Committee%20-%206%20February%202024.pdf


Integrated Climate 
Strategy 2030
Resilient, Protected, Sustainable

Page 11

Attachment A



Acknowledgement 
of Country
The City of Adelaide acknowledges that we are located on 
the traditional Country of the Kaurna people of the 
Adelaide Plains and pays respect to Elders past, present 
and emerging.

We recognise and respect their cultural heritage, beliefs 
and relationship with the land. We also extend that 
respect to visitors of other Aboriginal Language Groups 
and other First Nations.

Integrated Climate Strategy 20302
Page 12



Contents
Acknowledgement of Country	 2

Contents	 3

From the Lord Mayor	 4

Introduction	 5

Our Policy	 6

Our goals and priorities	 7

Goal 1. A climate resilient city	 8

Goal 2. A net zero ready city	 14

Goal 3: A city where nature thrives	 19

Goal 4: Transition to a decarbonised economy	 22

Goal 5: A climate leading capital city council	 25

Climate Change Governance	 29

3City of Adelaide

Page 13



From the Lord Mayor
Climate change has been unremitting, irrevocable, 
and constant not just in the City of Adelaide, but for 
communities across the globe.

Cities have a crucial role to play – both as significant 
contributors to climate change and as the places 
where most people choose to live.

While extreme heat and weather events may have 
altered our environments, our perception of what is 
happening has also changed.

We now know demolishing buildings risks wasting 
embedded energy and valuable resources.

We understand unless we plant more trees, and 
increasing canopy cover, our city will get hotter.

We know that unless we invest in cooling 
infrastructure now, our city will cease to function 
well when days are much hotter.

Adelaide is audacious in its ambition to become a 
leader in transitioning to a low carbon economy, and 
now is the time to fast-track those goals.

That’s why the City of Adelaide is taking a leadership 
position in addressing climate change and resilience.

We are focused on what we can do now to continue 
driving down our carbon footprint and adapting our 
assets and services to climate impacts.

We are ramping up our action to strive for net zero 
emissions by 2035, and a 50% reduction in 2020 
greenhouse gas levels by 2030.

Our Council is working to maintain and enhance our 
natural ecosystems and move to a circular economy. 
As a world-class city, there is ample opportunity in 
accelerating the transition to a low carbon, green 
and electrified city.

Climate change is an issue that affects us all and we 
must all play our part in its solutions. The onus is on 
us to play our part the solutions to support 
communities into the future.

We don’t want to let our children and grandchildren 
look back on this era and think we could have done 
it better.

Dr Jane Lomax-Smith 
Lord Mayor

Integrated Climate Strategy 20304
Page 14



Introduction
The City of Adelaide has developed this Integrated 
Climate Strategy to set our vision for a resilient, 
protected and sustainable city where people can 
live, work, study and play and adapt to changes in 
the climate that bring social and economic 
opportunity and disruption.

Our city will be one where our communities are 
interconnected, prepared and resilient in the face of 
changing conditions and extreme weather.

People will be able to move to, from, and around the 
city safely, comfortably, and sustainably as the city 
streets are kept cool with trees and plants and 
shaded against the summer sun.

Wetlands, biodiversity and ecosystems are 
enhanced, protected and thriving as the natural 
lifeline of the city and important assets to offset 
heat impacts.

The diversion of material from landfill into recycling, 
composting, and circular economy alternatives will 
continue to grow.

The Strategy is driven by a bold ambition to make a 
step change towards a decarbonised city.

The world requires emissions to be reduced 
drastically to avoid the worst impacts of climate 
change. For most, this means halving emissions by 
2030 and zero emissions by 2050.

City of Adelaide has taken action to address climate 
change since 2015, when it set itself the aim to be 
one of the world’s first carbon neutral cities.

Nations, cities and states need to adopt stronger 
targets for absolute emissions reduction.

City of Adelaide is updating its baseline year from 
2007 to 2020 and bringing forward the target for 
‘net zero’ from 2050 to 2035. The Strategy is our 
plan to achieve this target to:

Halve our climate impact by 2030 and make it nil 
by 2035.

City of Adelaide achieved a 5% emission reduction 
from 2020 to 2022. Our new target requires 50% 
emission reduction from 2020 levels by 2030.

City of Adelaide acknowledges that an increase in 
global temperatures is already locked in and there is 

a need to build resilience, adapt and 
show leadership.

The Strategy focuses Council’s effort on the priorities 
and scale of action required by the community and 
through the City of Adelaide’s own operations across 
five goals:

Goal 1: A climate resilient city – we adapt to our 
climate by understanding risks, preparing our 
infrastructure and assets to withstand change, and 
ensuring our community is prepared.

Goal 2: A net zero ready city – we play our part in 
global efforts to halt climate change.

Goal 3: A city where nature thrives – our natural 
ecosystems are protected and enhanced in a 
changing climate.

Goal 4: Transition to a decarbonised city – the 
economy transitions to become low carbon 
and circular.

Goal 5: A climate leading capital city – we accept 
the challenge as one of the world’s leading cities in 
addressing climate change.

Our Strategy will be delivered in partnership with 
other levels of government, business and 
community organisations. We recognise the need for 
transitional support, therefore, we will prioritise 
action and investment in physical infrastructure, 
community development, natural assets, and 
economic sustainability.

We will listen deeply and learn from Kaurna people 
who have cared for Country for thousands of years 
to learn from their spiritual and cultural knowledge 
and connection with the landscape.

The Strategy is informed by detailed assessment of 
climate change risk, modelling of future climate 
scenarios and clear pathways to drive carbon 
emission reduction.

The City of Adelaide recognises the ongoing 
importance of the United Nations Sustainable 
Development Goals. The Strategy aligns with the 
relevant goals for our community. 

By working together, our city will be resilient, 
protected and sustainable.

5City of Adelaide

Page 15



Our Policy
Climate change has far-reaching risks for the 
environment, economy, communities and 
our lifestyles.

City of Adelaide supports meaningful and immediate 
climate action to reduce emissions and address the 
impacts of climate change risk such that:

1.	 Adelaide is a city where government, non-
government, communities, industry and research 
institutions coordinate action to adapt, respond 
to and mitigate climate change to ensure it is 
climate ready.

2.	 Climate change risk governance and 
management frameworks are essential to 
understand and manage impacts on Council 
business, assets, infrastructure and 
service provision.

3.	 Proactive action to reduce energy use, grow 
renewable and low carbon energy sources, and 
continuous reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions is necessary to transition Council 
operations to net zero emissions.

4.	 Access to data, public reporting and disclosure of 
emissions for the community and Council 
operations builds confidence in the climate-
related ambition, performance and leadership of 
City of Adelaide.

5.	 City of Adelaide supports the transition to 
electric vehicles and decarbonisation of the 
transport system and acknowledges that this 
requires appropriate electric vehicle, cycling and 
walking infrastructure, and zero emission 
public transport.

Council’s role will be to:

Lead. We will set science-based targets in line with 
international climate science, trial innovative and 
emerging systems, products and technologies for 
climate mitigation and adaptation, and showcase 
leading climate-related initiatives.

Deliver. We will procure and provide services that 
contribute to reducing community emissions or fund 
other organisations to deliver relevant services as 
appropriate; and take action to minimise the risks of 
climate change to Council services, assets, 
infrastructure, natural resources and biodiversity.

Facilitate. We will facilitate community-led climate 
action by connecting interested parties; raising 
awareness of climate-related information and 
initiatives; and incentivising action.

Advocate. We will advocate for relevant climate 
targets, investment and programs to be established 
at State and Federal level and recognition of the 
impacts of embodied carbon.

Integrated Climate Strategy 20306
Page 16



Our goals and priorities
Goal 1. 
A climate 
resilient city

Goal 2. 
A net zero 
ready city

Goal 3. 
A city where 
nature thrives

Goal 4. 
Transition to a 
decarbonised 
economy

Goal 5. 
A climate 
leading capital 
city council

Priority: A cool city with 
no urban heat 
island effect

Priority: All homes and 
businesses will be 
electrified and powered 
by renewables

Priority: Caring for 
Country in partnership 
with Kaurna Miyurna

Priority: Growth in 
circular economy 
industries in the city

Priority: Reduce City of 
Adelaide’s operational 
carbon emissions by 75% 
from 2020 to 2030 and 
achieve absolute zero 
emission by 2035

Priority: Greening 
supported by sustainable 
water resources

Priority: Public EV 
charging infrastructure is 
available for all users, 
including micro-mobility, 
catalysing the uptake of 
EVs in Adelaide

Priority: Biodiversity, 
native grasslands and 
woodlands are protected 
and enhanced

Priority: Procurement 
decisions that localise 
supply, prioritise reuse 
and drive green 
industries

Priority: Transitioning 
our corporate fleet to 
zero emissions

Priority: Homes and 
businesses are protected 
from climate hazards

Priority: Triple the 
number of city workers 
who cycle to work, and 
double the number of 
local residents who walk 
to work

Priority: Karrawirra Pari, 
waterways, Adelaide 
Park Lands, streets and 
squares act as arteries 
connecting our 
native species

Priority: Zero avoidable 
kerbside waste to landfill 
(‘zero waste’) by 2030

Priority: Climate change 
and sustainability are 
integrated into how we 
do business

Image: Clean wood waste for recycling into woodchip mulch at Jeffries Transfer Station

7City of Adelaide

Page 17



Goal 1. A climate resilient city
We will adapt to our climate by understanding risks, preparing our 
infrastructure and assets to withstand change, and ensuring our community 
is prepared.

94% impervious surfaces 
in the city

6,300 kilolitres per year 
of irrigation water for 
greening and the 
Adelaide Park Lands

5,259 megalitres total 
flow of stormwater 
discharged from 
properties and streets 
which could be harvested

1,243 megalitres of water 
used by City of Adelaide

The science is certain. Global temperatures, climate 
systems and seasonal weather patterns are 
changing. The rate of change and extent of impacts 
is directly linked to human activities from the past, 
present and future.

Climate change is impacting all aspects of life in 
Australia, from the way our community functions, 
through to our economy and environment. Without 
a coordinated global response, conditions will 
become more challenging as greenhouse gases 
continue to increase in the atmosphere over the 
coming century.

The outlook for Adelaide is a hotter, drier climate 
with increasing frequency and intensity of extreme 
events such as heatwaves and floods. To remain a 
liveable and prosperous community we need to 
adapt, prepare and develop resilience to a 
changing climate.

76% of the City of Adelaide’s operational climate 
risks relate to increasing temperatures, reduced 
rainfall and flooding.

The impact of a changing climate have already been 
felt in Adelaide. In September 2016 major storms 
brough damaging winds and flooding which 
disrupted power supply for 24 hours.

Extreme heat across the city and damaging bushfires 
in the peri-urban areas during the 2019 summer 
directly impacted health and wellbeing across the 
community and resulted in direct impacts on 
city businesses.

We’re adapting to the increasing heat by:

•	 Planting trees – canopy in public spaces has 
increased by 6.3% in the last 7 years.

•	 Developing an Urban Greening Strategy to grow 
more tree canopy where it is most needed.

•	 Using green infrastructure such as water sensitive 
urban design and shading in our street designs.

•	 Auditing community buildings and assets to 
optimise cooling options.

We’re adapting to reduced rainfall by:

•	 Efficiently watering open spaces with climate 
controlled irrigation networks.

•	 Investing in a diversity of water resources such as 
recycled wastewater, harvested stormwater and 
roadside rainfall runoff.

•	 Strategically planning water resources for the 
Adelaide Park Lands so we can continue to sustain 
our natural assets.

•	 Investing in infrastructure that delivers climate 
independent water sources to reduce reliance on 
drinking water.

We’re adapting to increased rainfall intensity by:

•	 Surveying and modelling stormwater networks 
and planning a flood resilient system for 
the future.

We’re assisting community climate resilience by:

•	 Providing information about climate ready homes 
and other environmental sustainability topics.

•	 Providing a Sustainability Incentives Scheme 
which has invested over $1.5 million to support 
over 700 community projects since 2015, including 
nearly 400 solar installations.

Integrated Climate Strategy 20308
Page 18



Key resilience challenges
Adelaide’s climate is characterised by hot summers, 
with prolonged heatwaves a common feature. High 
temperatures in urban areas can have significant 
impacts on the liveability of a city, and on the health 
and wellbeing of its people.

Our communities face these challenges unequally 
and Council is also focused on increasing social and 
affordable housing, and removing homelessness 
through our Housing Strategy, Investing in Our 
Housing Future, and Homelessness Strategy, 
Everybody’s Business.

Extreme Heat

Extreme heat has implications for health, the 
environment and liveability of the city, particularly 
as the number of days over 40oC in Adelaide is 
expected to double by 2030.

In January 2019, Adelaide was named the ‘hottest 
city on the planet’ as temperatures in the CBD 
soared to 47.7oC. We have experienced prolonged 
heatwave conditions, with 2009 recording a 10% 
higher mortality rate than normal during a 13 day 
heatwave event.

Climate patterns such as El Nino will exacerbate 
heatwaves in both intensity and duration, with 
observations in Adelaide already indicating a five-
fold increase in days over 40oC since 2012.

Overnight (diurnal) temperatures during heatwave 
events are expected be higher, meaning cooler 
evenings will not provide respite.

Urban Heat

In the City of Adelaide, temperatures in the built-up 
areas can be as much as 8oC hotter than in the 
surrounding Adelaide Park Lands (Guan et al., 2013).

The difference in temperature is caused by heat 
captured in roads, footpaths and buildings, and heat 
emitted from sources such as vehicles and air-
conditioning units. This is known as the urban heat 
island (UHI) effect.

The western and northern areas of the CBD are the 
hottest parts of the city. This corresponds with 
greater amounts of hard surfaces, lower levels of 
vegetation and vehicle traffic.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 1. UHI effect shown as the variation in mean daily 
maximum and minimum temperatures during the day and night 
(Neto Duarte et al., 2016).

High temperatures have been shown to reduce 
social and recreational activity in the city, 
particularly where there is an absence of urban 
greening (Sharifi, 2016). This reduction in activity 
during heatwaves has a direct impact on business 
and economic activity.

Water Security

Water resources will be impacted by hotter and drier 
conditions and prolonged drought conditions. The 
Mount Lofty and River Murray watersheds are at risk 
of not meeting urban drinking water demands and 
new and more sustainable water resources need to 
be created, storing water in times of high rainfall and 
having multiple sources during drought.

More than 70% of water in the City of Adelaide is 
used on the Adelaide Park Lands and open spaces. 
Much of this is sourced from the Glenelg Adelaide 
Recycled Wastewater Scheme (GARWS) operated by 
SA Water. In years of low rainfall, Adelaide’s potable 
water is sourced from desalinated water. Both 
resources are climate independent, but also energy 
intensive and higher in salinity than natural rainfall.

Assets and Infrastructure

City of Adelaide has an infrastructure and asset 
portfolio worth $2 billion that provide a variety of 
services to the community and the State as the 
capital city. The portfolio includes urban elements 
such as roads, bridges, footpaths, kerbs 
and drainage.

Increasing heat and intense rainfall will increase 
localised flooding, reduce the useful life of assets, 
and given the long-term design life of many of these 
assets, they can be particularly vulnerable to climate 
change impacts.

Low� High 
SURFACE TEMPERATURE

9City of Adelaide

Page 19



Climate Justice

Climate change will disproportionately affect 
vulnerable people in our community as multiple 
factors such as chronic health conditions, low 
quality housing, housing insecurity, and fewer 
resources afford less ability to adapt to impacts.

We will prioritise programs, activities, and actions for 
people and communities most impacted and least 
able to adapt.

Homelessness

People sleeping rough are especially vulnerable to 
shocks, such as extreme weather events including 
heat stress, rain and flooding, and the Covid-19 
pandemic. City of Adelaide acknowledges the 
impacts of climate change on people experiencing 
homelessness and will ensure our responses reflect 
climate justice principles related to representation, 
inclusion, and protection.

We will focus on solutions to homelessness through 
our Homelessness Strategy: Everyone’s Business.

Housing

Housing is a significant contributor to global 
warming through energy use, building materials and 
waste. With all levels of government working to 
increase housing supply, all new housing 
developments should consider embodied carbon, 
sustainability, and sufficiency principles.

We will explore innovation in housing design, 
adaptive reuse of existing buildings, sustainability, 
and housing models which improve affordability 
through cost of living.

We will invest in our housing future through our 
Housing Strategy.

Air Quality and Health

Climate change is predicted to increase pollution 
and decrease air quality with serious implications for 
human health, such as lung and heart diseases. Less 
rain and hotter temperatures will exacerbate this, 
allowing pollutants to stay in the air for longer. 
Bushfires, drier conditions and extreme weather will 
increase our exposure to particulates in the air.

Case Study –  
Urban Heat & City Activity
Research from the CRC for Low Carbon Living: Urban 
Microclimates Project investigated the impacts of 
urban heat on human thermal comfort and activity 
levels in Adelaide.

The research examined the impact of heat on three 
categories of activity – ‘necessary’, ‘optional’ and 
‘social’. Necessary activities were unavoidable 
everyday activities such as travelling to school or 
work. Optional activities related to activities such as 
eating, sitting and site seeing – Optional and social 
activities are critical to the life and vibrancy of 
the city.

The research found that optional activities are more 
sensitive to the impacts of urban heat and start to 
decrease after the temperature reaches 28–32°C. 
Activities in public spaces with more urban greenery 
show higher resilience to heat stress.

The research is clear – providing urban greening is 
key to the vibrancy and life of the city, and failure to 
reduce urban heat will have economic and 
social consequences.

Integrated Climate Strategy 203010
Page 20



Priorities for a climate resilient city

PRIORITIES
SCALE OF ACTION REQUIRED INTEGRATED 

BENEFITSWhere we are What is needed

1 �A cool city with no 
urban heat island effect

Temperatures in the built-up 
areas can be as much as 8°C 
hotter than in the Adelaide 
Park Lands

Reduce the temperature of 
road, footpath and pavement 
surfaces by more than 9°C 
compared to existing bitumen 
surfaces in full sun

Net Zero  
Ready City

Nature Thrives

Circular 
Economy

Climate Leader

2 �Greening supported by 
sustainable water 
resources

52,440m2 of Adelaide Park 
Lands Trail is shaded by 
tree canopy

109,000m2 of Adelaide Park 
Land Trail to be covered by 
continuous tree canopy

33% canopy cover in streets 
and parks

40% canopy cover by 2035

117 average annual net 
increase in street trees 
between 2015 and 2022

Net increase of 485 street 
trees every year until 2035

1.5% of street trees have 
WSUD passive watering

40% of street trees (5,143) 
have WSUD passive watering 
by 2030 and 60% by 2035

6.1% of the built city area 
is permeable

Double the permeability in 
the built city areas

Increase the area of 
stormwater micro-catchments 
directed to gardens from 
19.037 hectares (2.3%)

20% of city stormwater 
drainage catchment is 
directed to WSUD green 
assets (159 ha)

163 hectares of the Adelaide 
Park Lands is irrigated, with 
60% of water sourced from 
sustainable supplies

220 hectares of the Adelaide 
Park Lands are irrigated, and 
sustainable water increases to 
95% for outdoor use

3 �Homes and businesses 
are protected from 
climate hazards

20% AEP and 10% AEP minor 
drainage service level

Upgrade existing stormwater 
infrastructure to meet future 
climate scenarios for 
rainfall intensity Net Zero  

Ready City

Nature Thrives

Climate Leader

40% of Infrastructure Assets 
are rated as High for 2030 
climate risk

No support provided for 
retrofitting buildings for 
climate resilience

2030 Climate Risk ratings for 
Infrastructure Longevity is 
Medium or Low

Incentives provided for 
retrofitting to create climate 
resilient homes.

Park Lands Trail Shaded Irrigated open space Permeable city surfaces

11City of Adelaide

Page 21



Priority: A cool city with no urban heat 
island effect

Keeping the city cooler will require more shade, less 
hard, dark surfaces and higher soil moisture. This can 
be achieved through well-designed buildings, fewer 
and narrower roads and hard surfaces, and light-
coloured, natural and permeable pavements.

The Adelaide Park Lands provide a critical cool refuge 
with large, irrigated spaces, open watercourses and 
broad trees that provide shade and respite. We will 
design these spaces to be useable in hotter months.

City of Adelaide’s heat mapping tells us that the 
afternoon sea breeze in summer is useful for cooling 
Adelaide’s CBD and that urban development should 
intentionally be designed to harness this airflow.

We will shade and cool areas where people move 
around and use the city, such as footpaths, outdoor 
dining, events, sports, main streets and 
retail destinations.

Using our heating mapping we know where hot 
spots are located throughout the city and will target 
these areas for cooling.

We will create cooler, greener streets by establishing 
a green grid for the city, connected by shaded 
pedestrian paths and active transport.

Green corridors will connect the Adelaide Park Lands 
and Squares creating a continuous tree canopy that 
contributes to cooling, climate resilience, urban 
biodiversity and comfort to the users of the city.

We will look for opportunities to narrow roads, 
reduce through traffic, implement traffic calming 
measures that contribute to greening and cooling.

We will work with the Environment Protection 
Authority to understand and improve air quality in 
the city.

We will investigate a temperature sensor network to 
help monitor air temperature and inform 
planning decisions.

What has been done

In 2020, City of Adelaide together with Climate KIC, 
assessed the performance of three different road 
surface products to reduce heat from dark 
bitumen roads.

This project was the first in Australia to capture the 
day time and night time surface temperatures for 
new road sealant products.

The results showed varying success of between a 
2.9oC and 8.7oC difference in reduced 
surface temperature.

Widespread use of the most effective product could 
generate a 1oC temperature drop at a city scale, 
equivalent to having 33% of Adelaide roads covered 
by shade from tree canopy (currently 27% in 2022).

Priority: Tree canopy and greening supported by 
sustainable water resources

Over the last seven years the City of Adelaide’s tree 
canopy has grown. The largest increase in canopy 
has occurred in the Adelaide Park Lands with an 
additional 3,018 trees with three successive high 
rainfall years (La Nina) boosting tree health and 
growing conditions.

This contrasts with city streets and public spaces 
where space is highly contested above and 
below ground.

Whilst tree canopy cover along roads and streets has 
grown, streets and public spaces need to perform 
better as the city’s economy and population grow.

We will make space for more urban trees and 
understorey planting to increase urban biodiversity 
and provide a more ecologically connected 
urban landscape.

We will implement water sensitive urban design 
(WSUD) in our streets to harness stormwater runoff 
and direct it to raingardens, permeable areas and 
soakage inlets.

What has been done

Using LiDAR and aerial photography, City of 
Adelaide’s tree canopy (above 1m) was spatially 
mapped in 2015 and 2022.

The mapping provides an evidence based 
assessment of tree canopy change and will be used 
to identify opportunities to increase tree canopy:

•	 City wide tree canopy has increased from 21.7% to 
27.6% from 2015 to 2022.

•	 18% of all tree canopy is located along roads 
and streets.

•	 27 streets that had no tree in 2015, now have at 
least one tree in 2022.

City of Adelaide has been actively monitoring its 
water consumption for more than 20 years (Figure 2) 

Integrated Climate Strategy 203012
Page 22



and has an expansive network of recycled water, 
that provides more than 700 megalitres of treated 
wastewater each year to the Adelaide Park Lands, 
Whitmore, Victoria and Light Squares and the 
entrance to the Royal Adelaide Hospital.

Figure 2 – City of Adelaide Water Profile 2021/22

We will continue to invest in a citywide network of 
sustainable water infrastructure through 
partnerships and co-funded projects.

We will continue to automate irrigation systems and 
install real-time smart water meters to monitor 
consumption at public facilities.

We will install a recycled water standpipe at the 
Council Nursery to provide a sustainable water 
supply for streetscape watering.

Priority: Homes and businesses are protected 
from climate hazards

Drainage networks constructed to mitigate 
rainwater inundation of homes and properties more 
than 100 years ago are no longer providing the same 
level of protection.

This is due to changes in the urban environment, less 
permeable surfaces and connection of new 
stormwater networks to receiving watercourses. 
Stormwater infrastructure needs to contend with 
increased rainfall intensity and short duration events 
which may overwhelm existing pipes and channels 
quickly, causing flooding.

We will undertake comprehensive stormwater 
management planning across the City of Adelaide’s 
catchments, in partnership with the State 
Government, to ensure the stormwater network is 
planned to meet the needs of the community under 
climate scenarios.

We will increase the resilience of City of Adelaide’s 
infrastructures assets through detailed planning for 
climate change, new design requirements 
and investment.

Image: Uniting Church Netball Association Club Rooms receiving a ‘cool roof’ treatment 
in Adelaide’s Josie Agius Park/Wikaparntu Wirra (Park 22)

■ Drinking water   ■ Non-drinking water   ■ Torrens River water

13City of Adelaide

Page 23



Goal 2. A net zero ready city
We play our part in global efforts to halt climate change

39% community carbon 
emissions from energy 
use in 2022

45% community carbon 
emissions from transport 
in 2022

11% community carbon 
emissions from 
refrigerants in 2022

5% community carbon 
emissions from waste in 
2022

Climate change is the largest crisis facing the world 
and we need all hands on deck to prevent the worst 
of its impacts.

While we work to address the impacts already being 
felt by climate change, there’s still a major task 
ahead of us to slow it down – that starts with 
understanding what our impacts are.

City of Adelaide calculates greenhouse gas emissions 
generated by its community in a carbon inventory, 
which is prepared in accordance with the 
Greenhouse Gas Protocol for Community Scale 
Greenhouse Gas Emissions inventories (GPC) and 
shared publicly.

Between 2007 and 2022 our residential population 
grew by 41% and Gross Regional Product increased 
by 58 per cent. An important global goal is 
‘decoupling’ economic growth from the use of fossil 
fuels that drives climate change.

Following great gains in the first decade of the 
century, City of Adelaide set an aspirational target of 
a 35% reduction of our community emissions from 
2006 by 2020 – the community achieved a 26% 
decrease by 2022.

By mid 2022:

•	 Emissions from electricity had decreased by 62% 
– primarily due to the State’s rapid and world-
leading transition to renewable electricity.

•	 Emissions from gas increased by 10%.

•	 Emissions from transport increased by 64%, 
including flights originating from or visiting 
the city.

•	 Waste emissions made up about 5% and 
refrigerants (from air conditioners and 
refrigerators) made up 11% of the total.

In 2022, community carbon emissions comprised of 
energy use (39%), transport (45%), refrigerants (11%) 
and waste (5%).

Figure 2. Community emission 2021/22

Building energy comprised 39% of City of Adelaide’s 
community carbon emissions. Commercial buildings 
and apartments made up around 91% of this energy. 
Emissions from electricity are dropping fast – 62% 
since 2007 – while gas remains steady.

The biggest areas of influence for the next 10 years 
will be in the transition from gas to electric in 
buildings, and support for electric and low 
carbon vehicles.

Integrated Climate Strategy 203014
Page 24



Our achievements to now

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Priorities for a net zero ready city

PRIORITIES
SCALE OF ACTION REQUIRED INTEGRATED 

BENEFITSWhere we are What is needed

4 �All homes and 
businesses will be 
electrified and 
powered by renewables

Between 10 and 20 homes 
and businesses electrified 
with Council support 
per year

500 homes and businesses 
electrified each year, and 
all-electric new buildings

Net Zero  
Ready City

Nature Thrives

Climate Leader

Over 90 solar installations in 
2022–23, 20 with 
Council support

300 new solar installations 
each year

5 �Public EV charging 
infrastructure is 
available for all users, 
including micro-
mobility, catalysing the 
uptake of EVs 
in Adelaide

City of Adelaide first 
installed publicly available 
EV charging infrastructure in 
2017, to demonstrate and 
provide leadership to the 
emerging EV industry and 
users, with 54 installed 
across our UPark businesses 
and on-street in 2022

Install an additional 25 public 
EV charging bays by 2030 in 
collaboration with partners

6 �Triple the number of 
city workers who cycle 
to work, and double 
the number of local 
residents who walk 
to work

2.6% of city workers cycling 
to work (around 3,400 
individuals)

10% of city workers choose 
to cycle to work, at least 
10,000 extra people per day

24% of local residents 
walking to work (around 
3,000 individuals)

48% of local residents choosing 
to walk to work, at least 6,000 
extra people per day

More than 
15MW
of solar capacity installed 
in the city and North 
Adelaide, quadrupled 
since 2016

65 % 
renewable 
electricity
in the South 
Australian grid

Over 54
public electric vehicle 
chargers installed since 
2017, the amount of 
electricity dispatched 
increased 10-fold to 2023

Over 220
Carbon Neutral 
Adelaide partners

Over 700 
projects
supported by $1.5 million 
in incentives for 
sustainability provided by 
the Council

50 small 
businesses
received free energy 
efficiency audits in 2021

23 small 
businesses
received over 
$81,000 towards 
efficiency upgrades

First organic 
waste 
separation
trial for outdoor spaces in 
Adelaide’s Rundle Mall

15City of Adelaide

Page 25



Priority: All homes and businesses will be 
electrified and powered by renewable energy

South Australia has a world leading renewable 
energy grid and regularly experiences days and 
weeks where the State’s electricity needs are met 
entirely with wind and solar. The State Government 
has committed to a fully decarbonised grid by 2030 
and is likely to beat this deadline.

City of Adelaide seeks to make the most of this 
world-leading grid through electrification, 
converting all energy sources to electricity.

Once the city’s electricity is 100% renewable, this 
alone will result in a 35% reduction in the 
community’s carbon emissions from 2020. If all city 
buildings are electrified, this will increase to a 44% 
drop in carbon emissions.

Our award-winning Sustainability Incentives Scheme 
provides rebates to support our community to make 
this transition, such as replacing gas appliances with 
electric, undertaking home energy assessments and 
solar installations.

In 2024 we will embark on an electrification program 
to support harder-to-electrify strata residential and 
commercial buildings to transition.

While the fit-out choice of new buildings is not under 
direct Council control, we support all new houses in 
the city being all-electric from 2025.

We will continue to investigate the use of 
community batteries and energy projects that 
capitalise on our green grid and support more 
affordable electricity, grid stability, and equitable 
sharing of renewable resources.

What has been done

88 O’Connell Street is being developed as a mixed 
use of apartments, commercial and retail, with 
sustainability principles at the forefront.

Residents will benefit from highly efficient, all-
electric apartments with the most up-to-date 
kitchen appliances, air conditioning, centralised 
HVAC system for reuse of heat within the building, 
and electric vehicle chargers. The apartment designs 
are targeting a rating of 7 stars under the National 
House Energy Rating Scheme (NatHERS), one star 
higher than the minimum standards at the time of 
building, and 15% better performing than the 
construction code requirements.

1 Australian Electric Vehicle Market Study (ARENA and Energeia, 2018)

The building provides shading treatments, double 
glazing and light-coloured external finishes to block 
and reflect heat, together with green landscaping.

Priority: Public EV charging infrastructure is 
available for all users catalysing the update of 
EVs, including micro-mobility, in Adelaide

Car vehicle ownership in the City of Adelaide 
indicates strong transition to low emissions vehicles. 
To support this uptake, we will develop the city’s EV 
charging network to contribute to an overall 
sustainable transport system that maintains the city 
as an attractive place to live and work, and as an 
exciting destination for a range of visitors.

City of Adelaide’s role will be to use its influence and 
market power to strike a balance between market 
demand for accessible EV charging infrastructure 
and broader integrated transport and city outcomes.

The most recent amendments to the National 
Construction Code (NCC) in Australia stipulate that 
starting from October 2024, 100% of car parking 
spaces in new apartment buildings must be EV-
Ready along with 10% of office car parking and 20% 
of other commercial parking spaces.

We will work with developers and the development 
industry to support information provision and 
guidance for EV infrastructure.

For Adelaide, accelerating the shift to electric 
vehicles offers an opportunity for both improving 
local air quality and reducing noise and carbon 
emissions. This transition will be supported by City 
of Adelaide installing additional public EV charging 
stations  in collaboration with partners ensuring 
targeted coverage to priority locations to support 
residents and businesses and provide destination 
charging that supports the city’s economic 
competitiveness and appeal to visitors for shopping, 
employment, tourism and enjoyment of the 
Adelaide Park Lands.

City of Adelaide has a high population density 
compared to other parts of the metropolitan area 
– as well as high job density. These factors create 
demand for EV charging beyond what can be 
provided in private residences.

An accelerated EV uptake trajectory1 would mean 
25% of vehicles owned in 2030 and 100% in 2050 are 
electric, compared to 5% in 2030 and 75% in 2050 
predicted with no government intervention.

Integrated Climate Strategy 203016
Page 26



City of Adelaide’s Electric Vehicle (EV) Charging 
Infrastructure Transition Roadmap comprises seven 
key actions:

1.	 Lead on-street charging trials in residential areas 
with limited private off-street charging and 
constrained charging options 
through partnerships.

2.	 Facilitate the deployment of EV charging 
infrastructure within the City of Adelaide by 
establishing a clear framework for the roll-out of 
EV chargers at strategic locations.

3.	 Enable on-street EV chargers in select locations 
which support the transition to EVs and 
minimise impacts on public realm.

4.	 Partner with industry for the provision of 
destination charging within U-Park facilities.

5.	 Work with residential strata corporations to 
remove the barriers of installing EV charging 
infrastructure within multi-unit dwellings 
constructed prior to October 2024.

6.	 Advocate to the State Government for a 
coordinated approach to on-route and hub EV 
charging networks that considers the aspirations 
of the City of Adelaide for our community, 
environment, economy and places.

7.	 Advocate to the State Government for inclusion 
of EV charging provisions in legislation and 
statutory documents such as the Planning and 
Design Code and that pertain to EV parking 
for charging.

We will continue to support residents and businesses 
to install electric vehicle chargers through the 
Sustainability Incentives Scheme.

Investment Principles for EV Infrastructure

A net zero city Aligns to sustainability objectives 
and powered by renewable energy

Integrated with active transport 
infrastructure

Fosters attractive and 
competitive destinations

Aligned to key destinations

Facilitates a range of visitor types 
and supports businesses, events, 
and visitations

User-Oriented, 
convenient and 
consistent

Interoperable, allowing charging 
for various vehicle types

Reliable and minimises network 
downtime and disruption

Conveniently located to support 
city users

Future-ready and 
innovative

Seeks to leverage new 
technologies and digital 
technology for management

Seeks opportunities for pilots and 
trials

Fair and equitable Meets the needs of all city users, 
including residents

Equitable provision for residents 
and to support businesses

Leverages partnerships 
and collaboration

Active across advocacy, 
education, partnership and 
provision

Delivered in partnerships with the 
private sector where appropriate

EV owners have access to 
information on latest trends and 
opportunities

Priority: Triple the number of city workers cycling 
to work, and double the number of local residents 
walking to work.

Transport emissions account for around 45% of the 
community’s carbon footprint. Movement of people 
to and around the city is essential for economic 
activity and vibrancy, and the City of Adelaide seeks 
to realise opportunities for low carbon, safe and 
equitable options for all.

Around the world, cities are being re-envisioned to 
create healthier streets that enable more people to 
walk, wheel, cycle, scoot or use public transport. 
Increasing the range and uptake of low carbon 
transport options in the city is essential to meeting 
ambitious carbon targets, community expectations 
and creating a liveable neighbourhoods.

For commuting into the city, over 43% of people use 
a car, equivalent to over 56,000 people. Around one 
quarter of those trips are coming from areas that 

17City of Adelaide

Page 27



could be cycled in less than a 30-minute one-way 
trip. The average travel distance to the CBD is 
relatively short, at just over 13km compared to more 
than 18km for Sydney and Melbourne, 17km for 
Brisbane and 16km for Perth.

The Strategy seeks to create step change to 
dramatically increase walking, wheeling and cycling 
uptake by:

•	 Creating calmer, more pleasant and shady streets

•	 Creating a network of protected cycle lanes and 
intersections

•	 Increasing priority at intersections for pedestrian 
and cyclists.

Public transport in Adelaide is under the remit of the 
State Government and the City of Adelaide will 
continue to advocate for zero emissions public 
transport and increased incentives to use it.

We will develop an Integrated Transport Strategy to 
address movement, climate and community health 
and wellbeing by 2025. This Strategy addresses 
infrastructure needs to accompany the necessary 
transport mode shift to meet our emissions 
reduction targets.

Image: Community engagement to support cycling to work, 
Spring 2023.

Integrated Climate Strategy 203018
Page 28



Goal 3: A city where nature thrives
Natural ecosystems are protected and enhanced in a changing climate

One endangered 
ecological 
community*

Three threatened 
fauna species and 
one threatened 
flora species

183 indigenous 
plant species many 
of which are 
remnant to the 
Adelaide Plains

10 of the 33 native 
mammal species 
remain in the 
Adelaide Park 
Lands

1,300 megalitres of 
stormwater drains 
to local waterways 
per year

*Based on 2017/18 Flora and Fauna Surveys of the Adelaide Park Lands

The Adelaide Park Lands are a unique part of the 
City of Adelaide’s character and culture. They receive 
approximately 10 million visits a year, for a wide 
variety of purposes. Their landscapes are highly 
variable and include open woodlands and 
grasslands, creeks, wetlands, a river, sporting fields, 
event spaces, curated gardens, playgrounds, roads 
and paths.

Embedded within these landscapes are areas of 
remnant native vegetation, mainly in the form of 
open grassy woodland and grasslands. These areas 
attract and host hundreds of species of associated 
wildlife, including some with conservation 
significance.

Karrawirri Pari/River Torrens is a significant 
ecosystem in the city winding through the Adelaide 
Park Lands on route from the Mt Lofty Ranges to 
Gulf St Vincent.

City of Adelaide has been protecting and enhancing 
biodiversity in the Adelaide Park Lands for many 
years, with the support of partners and 
the community.

This Strategy confirms our commitment to 
biodiversity conservation at the ecosystem, species, 
and genetic level, and sets new directions 
for management.

Adelaide is a city for nature, unrivalled by any 
other Australian capital city. We will protect and 
enhance nature for nature’s sake, through First 
Nations’ perspectives and nature positive design.

Nature-positive design focuses on the repair and 
regeneration of our species and ecosystems for 
nature’s sake.

19City of Adelaide

Page 29



Priorities for a city where nature thrives

PRIORITIES
SCALE OF ACTION REQUIRED INTEGRATED 

BENEFITSWhere we are What is needed

7 �Caring for Country in 
partnership with 
Kaurna Miyurna

Return of cultural fire to the 
Adelaide Park Lands with 
Kaurna Kardla Parranthi 
(cultural burn)

In collaboration with 
Kaurna, integrated, 
celebrated, and promoted 
‘Caring for Country’ 
approaches

Resilience

Climate Leader

8 �Biodiversity, native 
grasslands and 
woodlands are 
protected and 
enhanced

Establish a comprehensive 
baseline of species, 
vegetation communities, 
and habitats to inform 
decision-making, guide 
management actions, and 
evaluate success

There is a net increase in 
biodiversity, habitats, and 
ecosystem health within the 
City of Adelaide by 2030

9 �Karrawirra Pari, 
waterways, Adelaide 
Park Lands, streets and 
squares act as arteries 
connecting our 
native species

Increase the stormwater 
catchment area diverted 
through large-scale 
treatment systems such as 
swales, basins and wetlands 
from 124.4 ha in 2020 (8%)

15% of urban stormwater 
catchment is directed to 
large-scale 
treatment systems

3.31 ha of aquatic and 
riparian flora and fauna in 
the River Torrens and urban 
water courses in 2022

Greater diversity of aquatic 
and terrestrial flora and 
fauna in the River Torrens 
and urban water courses

187 tonnes of stormwater 
(gross) pollutants captured 
and diverted to improve 
water quality in creeks and 
rivers in 2020

Reduce catchment-wide 
stormwater pollutant 
discharge loads by 856,922 
kg/yr to meet SA Water 
Quality Targets

Priority: Caring for Country in partnership with 
Kaurna Miyurna

Kaurna Miyurna hold native title over the Adelaide 
Plains, including the City of Adelaide. The health, 
diversity and abundance of the land is due to 
thousands of years of Kaurna care. As a result, the 
ecosystems that were intact at the time of 
colonisation were carefully managed including the 
use of fire to clear and rejuvenate the land.

Many native species are reliant on heat, flame or the 
chemicals in smoke to trigger seed germination. The 
use of fire as a landscape management practice has 
been halted since colonisation and seeds lay 
dormant in the soil.

We will work in partnership with Kaurna Miyurna to 
return Caring for Country practices and principles to 
management of the Adelaide Park Lands.

We will investigate a Kaurna interpretation program 
for sites of high biodiversity value including the 
Pakapakanthi Wetlands.

What has been done

In 2021, Kaurna Kardla Parranthi (cultural burn) saw 
the return of cultural fire to the Adelaide Park Lands 
in Tuthangga (Park 17). An Adelaide Park Lands 
cultural fire management plan has also been 
prepared by Kaurna practitioners.

Implementation of this plan will renew areas of 
native grassland and woodland. 

Increasing collaboration with Kaurna Miyurna will 
provide cultural benefits for traditional owners and 
benefit our native ecosystems and local biodiversity 
by returning to the land practices that formed 
the landscape.

Integrated Climate Strategy 203020
Page 30



Priority: Biodiversity, native grasslands and 
woodlands are protected and enhanced

Native grasslands and woodlands are a window into 
the natural and cultural history of the Adelaide Park 
Lands. They attract, provide habitat and host native 
species that have lineage that pre-date colonisation.

As climate change increases its impact, heat refuges 
will become increasingly important for wildlife and 
the ecological integrity of our natural systems will 
assist in protecting against extreme weather events.

City of Adelaide has identified six Key Biodiversity 
Areas in the Adelaide Park Lands. We will continue 
to manage these areas to improve their ecological 
integrity and identify ways to expand and identify 
new biodiversity areas.

Through seed collection and native plant 
germination, City of Adelaide is contributing to the 
protection of important native seed banks.

We are focused on a comprehensive survey of the 
biodiversity of the Adelaide Park Lands to provide an 
evidenced base for our effort.

From the biodiversity survey, we will develop 
comprehensive mapping of our biodiversity and 
implement monitoring programs to quantify 
changes in biodiversity and ecosystem health due to 
large scale factors, such as climate change.

We will continue to work with communities and 
not-for-profit organisations to ensure the integrity of 
the city’s biodiversity. We will strengthen our 
relationship to research institutions and the Adelaide 
Botanic Gardens in our quest to be nature positive.

Priority: Karrawirra Pari, waterways, Adelaide 
Park Lands, streets and squares act as arteries 
connecting our native species

Water has always influenced the culture and creation of 
Adelaide. Karrawirra Pari is of continuing importance to 
the Kaurna people, for its association with food, 
hunting, resources and the Red Kangaroo Dreaming.

Other waterways that flow through the city include 
Park Lands Creek and Botanic Creek. These natural 
water courses have been augmented to drain rainfall 
runoff from urban areas, bringing with it pollutants. 
The waterways of the city are also impacted by 
stormwater discharging from upstream which 
requires active management of blue-green algae in 
the Torrens Lake, silting at Torrens Weir, woody 
weeds and pests such as carp.

City of Adelaide remains committed to slowing the 
flow of water, preventing pollutants, and enhancing 
aquatic and terrestrial biodiversity to restore highly 
valued areas of nature in our city.

We will restore aquatic biodiversity in Karrawirra Pari 
by establishing in-lake macrophyte zones to 
naturally filter stormwater and establish habitat for 
a diversity of riparian creatures.

We will renew Rymill Lake with integrated natural 
water management systems to sustain water quality.

We will rehabilitate watercourses such as Botanic 
Creek, Wirrarninthi Wetlands, Park Lands Creek with 
native vegetation and protect their natural flow 
regime by managing urban stormwater volumes.

Waterways act as movement corridors for 
biodiversity, increasing the resilience of native 
animals and the spread of seed, pollen and other 
genetic material.

We will identify connections between areas of 
biodiversity and along waterways and restore these 
areas to nature.

We will address the negative impacts of urban 
development on biodiversity by adopting 
biodiversity sensitive urban design (BSUD) principles 
to maintain and integrate nature into the urban 
environment to promote ecological processes and 
encourage positive human-nature interactions, 
creating a city where nature thrives.

What has been done

Wirrarninthi Wetlands

In Kaurna language Wirrarninthi (pronounced 
Wirranindi) means ‘being transformed into a green 
forested area’.

During the last twenty years Wirrarninthi has been 
improved by planting trees, shrubs and grasses like 
those that were here prior to European colonisation.

The site is now used for recreation and is an 
environmentally valuable area for biodiversity.  
The Park is the location for key initiatives for caring 
for Country including the Kids on Country 
education program.

21City of Adelaide

Page 31



Goal 4: Transition to a 
decarbonised economy
The economy transitions to become low carbon and circular

Adelaide has over 
10,000 multi-unit 
dwellings in 600 strata 
and community 
title buildings

75% of waste bin 
contents in multi-unit 
dwellings are 
unrecovered resources

Half of the contents in 
residential waste bins is 
green organics material 
that could be diverted.

Overall, many more 
resources can be 
recovered by using the 
green organics and 
yellow recycling bins

Worldwide, total material extraction is on the rise 
and has almost doubled since 2000, reaching 100 
billion tonnes today2.

The prevailing linear economic model, characterised 
by a ‘take-make-dispose’ approach, results in the 
squandering of valuable materials in landfills, all 
while we continue to deplete precious natural 
resources for new production.

The concept of a low carbon and circular economy 
addresses concerns regarding resource scarcity, 
environmental pollution, and the economic 
constraints tied to current patterns of production 
and consumption. It prolongs the lifespan of 
materials, diminishing the necessity for extracting 
fresh natural resources. It urges re-evaluation of our 
consumption patterns, prompting us to question the 
need for new goods and explore alternatives such as 
reuse, repair, refurbishment, and participation in 
product-sharing services.

Transition to a low carbon and circular economy 
opens avenues for innovation, economic expansion, 
and job creation. This requires structural changes 
that go beyond recycling. It comprises of a new 
understanding that there is no such thing as waste 
but only resources that can be reused and modified.

City of Adelaide will be a catalyst for change to 
address embodied carbon and achieve more 
circularity by 2030. To make this a reality, we will 
involve broad stakeholders and the State 
Government to localise supply chains and 
prioritise reuse.

2  The Circularity Gap Report 2023

Images: Electronic Recycling Australia (ERA) facility in Ottoway, 
SA where e-waste collected from residents using the Council’s 
Hard Waste service and Reuse and Recycle Hubs is processed.

Integrated Climate Strategy 203022
Page 32



Priorities for transitioning to a decarbonised economy

PRIORITIES
SCALE OF ACTION REQUIRED INTEGRATED 

BENEFITSWhere we are What is needed

10 �Growth in circular 
economy industries in 
the city

Establish baseline of existing 
circular economy industries 
including its economic value 
and employment 
opportunities

Growth in circular economy 
industries in the city

Net Zero  
Ready City

Nature Thrives 

Climate Leader

11 �Procurement decisions 
that localise supply, 
prioritise reuse and 
drive green industries

Establish baseline of 
common supply chains used 
by City of Adelaide

Increase in sustainable 
supply chains commonly 
used by City of Adelaide

12 �Zero avoidable 
kerbside waste to 
landfill (‘zero waste’) 
in 2030

50% landfill diversion rate 
from residential kerbside 
collections3

Divert 80% of residential 
kerbside collected material 
from landfill

Food waste in waste bins is 
over 30% by weight3

Food waste in landfill is 
below 5% by weight

588 kilograms of waste 
generated per year per 
premise in 20223

Reduce waste generation by 
15% per capita

Residential kerbside 
collected recycle bins 
contain 18% contamination.

Residential kerbside 
collected recycling bins 
contain 10% or less 
contamination.

3  2022 Waste and Recycling Audit Report

Priority: Growth in circular economy industries in 
the city

City of Adelaide is unique, agile and ready for 
change. Our leading industries are well poised to 
capitalise on the economic benefits of a 
circular economy.

City of Adelaide will foster critical connections, 
action and support industry in this transition by 
leveraging the city’s points of differentiation.

We will focus on six key areas:

1.	 Food. Reduce food waste generation and 
increase diversion of food waste from landfill.

2.	 Fashion. Boost the local economy through 
innovation in the textile/fashion industries 
leading to high quality resources remaining in 
circulation and reducing impacts of fast fashion.

3.	 Furniture. Reduce the level of waste generated 
from discarded furniture, in particular from 
student accommodation and short-term 
rental accommodation.

4.	 Fix-it (Repair). Boost community resilience, 
reduce cost of living and keep materials in 
circulation through skill-share and repair.

5.	 Fit-outs. Support fit outs in city businesses to 
include circular economy and move higher up on 
the Resource Recovery Hierarchy.

6.	 Festivals. Avoid waste generation, recover more 
resources, and boost circular economy outcomes 
in festivals and events.

Priority: Procurement decisions that localise 
supply, prioritise reuse and drive green industries

To influence supply chains, City of Adelaide will 
review its procurement practices to select 
products that:

•	 Replace raw materials with low embodied carbon, 
sustainably produced, renewable and 
recycled content.

•	 Reduce carbon emissions and keep materials in 
circulation for longer and at their highest value.

23City of Adelaide

Page 33



Priority: Zero avoidable kerbside waste to landfill 
(‘zero waste’) in 2030

Our focus in achieving zero kerbside waste to landfill 
is to (1) support the community in reducing waste 
generation in the first place by the adopting the 
Resource Recovery Hierarchy and (2) create the 
systems conducive to recovering more resources.  
This will be delivered through:

Trials – partner to deliver interventions that reduce 
food waste for residents, visitors, and businesses, 
with a focus on multi-unit dwellings, dining and 
hospitality.

New Models – City of Adelaide residents live in a 
range of houses including medium or high-density 
premises, like apartments and high-rise buildings. 
Many residents also reside in row houses, cottages in 
laneways which can sometimes have less storage 
space on the premise. 

Traditional 3-bin kerbside waste collection services 
are effective for some residents, but new models will 
be investigated to support residents living in 
laneways, multi-unit dwellings (MUDs) and other 
higher density living.

City of Adelaide provides a kerbside service for 
eligible businesses. We will review these services to 
ensure equity and increase resource recovery. 

Food Organics – change the frequency of collection 
of the food organics kerbside bin from fortnightly to 
weekly which can be a more effective way to recover 
this valuable resource. 

Target contamination – through ongoing education 
programs and initiatives.

What has been done

City of Adelaide in collaboration with Green 
Industries SA and the Adelaide Economic 
Development Agency introduced a three bin 
resource recovery system in Rundle Mall in 2022 to 
support separation and recycling of food waste, 
compostable packaging and recyclables, including a 
dedicated space for container deposit scheme 
bottles and cans.

The program was supported through a business 
incentive program, activations and events in the 
retail precinct.

Image: Event Recycling System at WOMADelaide

Integrated Climate Strategy 203024
Page 34



Goal 5: A climate leading capital 
city council
We accept the challenge as one of the world’s leading cities in addressing 
climate change

25% operational emissions from 
gas use in buildings

17% operational emissions from 
transport choices for fleet and 
commuting

57% operational emissions from 
supply chain purchases

Our role in leading by doing cannot be 
underestimated. We aim to inspire others and share 
what we learn.

We have already achieved a 49% reduction in 
operational emissions, largely gained through 
moving to a 100% renewable electricity contract. 

The remaining emissions will take concerted effort, 
as we explore new technologies and balance 
emission reductions with cost effectiveness and 
fit-for-purpose requirements.

We still have work to do to drive down our 
absolute emissions.

25City of Adelaide

Page 35



Priorities for a climate leading capital city council

PRIORITIES
SCALE OF ACTION REQUIRED INTEGRATED 

BENEFITSWhere we are What is needed

13 �Reduce City of 
Adelaide’s operational 
carbon emissions 75% 
from 2020 to 2030, 
and achieve absolute 
zero emissions by 2035

49% emissions reduction 
from 2020 to 2023

75% emission reduction 
from 2020 by 2030, and 
absolute zero by 2035

Net Zero 
Ready City

Resilience

Nature Thrives 

Climate Leader

13 buildings use natural gas No buildings use natural gas

Partial measurement of 
embodied carbon

Embodied carbon is 
measured and minimised 
across all asset renewals and 
capital works

55% landfill diversion rate 
from City of Adelaide 
operations4

Divert 95% of waste from 
City of Adelaide activities 
and events from landfill

14 �Transitioning our 
corporate fleet to zero 
emissions

65% of light passenger 
vehicles are zero emission

100% of light passenger 
vehicles are zero emission

No zero emission utility 
vehicles and one 
hybrid truck

Transition over 70 utility 
vehicles and 20 trucks to 
zero emission models

15 �Climate change and 
sustainability are 
integrated into how 
we do business

Climate risk is reported 
through Council’s Audit and 
Risk Committee

Climate resilience and risk 
are effectively measured 
and mitigated

Ad hoc assets and 
infrastructure are 
climate ready

Programmed approach for 
assets and infrastructure to 
be climate ready

Minimum standards for 
development on Council 
owned or operated land

All Council operations are 
undertaken with minimum 
sustainability requirements

4 REMONDIS Australia: Customer reporting for the City of Adelaide July 2023

Image: Selection of City of Adelaide Fleet vehicles – Hyundai IONIQ 5 and an SEA Hino 100% electric truck

Integrated Climate Strategy 203026
Page 36



Priority: Reduce City of Adelaide’s operational 
climate emission 75% from 2020 to 2030, and 
achieve absolute zero emissions by 2035

City of Adelaide will be Climate Active carbon 
neutral certified from 2020 to 2024. Our progress 
towards carbon neutral certification has been a 
20-year journey, improving efficiencies and 
employing smart technology to drive down 
emissions. After 2025 Council will reinvest carbon 
offset funding towards emission reduction projects.

We have measured emissions in a formal corporate 
inventory since 2016.

After more than a decade of action, operational 
emissions have been halved to 12,152 tonnes of 
CO2-equivalent.

Council operates on a 100% renewable energy 
contract that removed all electricity emissions and 
reduced the City of Adelaide’s carbon footprint by 
52% from 2020 to 2021.

The challenge is to electrify the remaining buildings, 
vehicles and plant as renewals and replacements 
are due.

The remaining corporate emissions footprint is 
comprised of:

•	 Gas use in buildings (25%)

•	 Transport choices for fleet and commuting (17%)

•	 Supply chain purchases, including information 
technology, catering, waste, building maintenance, 
asphalt and concrete collectively (57%).

Priority: Transitioning our corporate fleet to 
zero emissions

City of Adelaide has made great strides in 
transitioning its fleet to all-electric with over half of 
the Council’s light passenger fleet converted to 
electric vehicles.

In 2022, City of Adelaide purchased a 100% electric 
Hino truck, the first in South Australia. We will 
continue to monitor the market for new electric 
vehicles models like utilities and trucks and 
encourage our contractors and suppliers to explore 
these options when they become available.

City of Adelaide is a founding member of the South 
Adelaide Government Electric Vehicle Fleet Pledge 
Program where we have pledged to integrated 
electric vehicles into our fleet as cost effective and 
fit for purpose models become available.

Our targets for completing the transition of our 
operational vehicles to electric are:

Type Total 
vehicles*

Status 
2023

Target 
2030

Utility 
passenger

70 0% 75%

Golf carts, 
shuttles, small 
sweepers

37 100% 100%

Medium and 
heavy vehicles

22 4% 
– pilot

50%

Light 
passenger 
vehicles

20 65% 100%

Ride on 
mowers

18 0% 50%

Horticulture 
‘gators’

13 54% 100%

Light rigid 
trucks

15 0% 50%

*The total count of vehicles changes frequently, due 
to the renewal schedule.

27City of Adelaide

Page 37



Priority: Climate change and sustainability are 
integrated into how we do business

Climate change and sustainability are everyone’s 
responsibility at the City of Adelaide and will be 
integrated into how we do business.

In implementing the Strategy:

•	 We will maintain transparent reporting of climate 
change impacts for our organisation and 
our community.

•	 We will purchase goods and services that are low 
carbon, sustainable, and incorporate 
recycled materials.

•	 We will consider climate change risk and 
sustainability in all capital works projects and 
asset renewals.

•	 We will plan for climate resilience through our 
infrastructure and asset management plans and 
targets in our long-term financial plan.

•	 We will improve intelligence in asset management 
and geographic information system services to 
allow predictive asset management strategies.

•	 We will integrate sustainability in our project and 
asset management frameworks.

•	 We will provide training and induction in City of 
Adelaide’s climate and sustainability 
commitments to all new employees.

•	 We will advocate to our State and Federal 
Governments and engage with our communities.

Integrated Climate Strategy 203028
Page 38



Climate Change Governance
Delivery and Resourcing
A resource plan and monitoring approach for the 
Strategy is in development. Key delivery 
mechanisms include:

Climate Change Action Initiative Fund

City of Adelaide has an established Climate Change 
Action Initiative Fund to drive investment in the 
Strategy. The Fund can be scaled up proportional to 
Council’s priorities as determined through its annual 
business plan and budget processes.

Sustainability Incentives Scheme

Partnerships and support to businesses and 
communities will be through our Sustainability 
Incentives Scheme which provides rebates for 
residents, businesses, and not-for-profit groups to 
make sustainable practices and technology more 
accessible and affordable.

Property Strategy

There is opportunity for Council’s property portfolio 
to drive transitional resilience including alternative 
energy generation and storage networks as 
Council assets.

Urban Greening

Over the 2022/23 and 2023/24 financial years 
Council allocated $1.7 million to greening to increase 
tree canopy cover in the City of Adelaide and the 
Adelaide Park Lands.

Asset Management & Long-term Financial Plans

Council will progressively review its long-term Asset 
Management and Financial Plans to capture the costs 
and required service levels for improved resilience of 
Council’s infrastructure and asset portfolio.

Audit and Risk Committee

Reporting of climate risk will be through Council’s 
Audit and Risk Committee. Progress towards the 
Strategy will be reported in Council’s Annual Report.

Climate Disclosure
Responses to climate change are now being assessed 
by more broadly considering physical risk (the risks 
posed by a different future climate) and climate 
change governance.

City of Adelaide has a strong commitment to 
responding to the challenges posed by climate 
change and addressing current and emerging 
physical and traditional risks and climate change 
governance. This includes prioritising climate change 
governance actions, public disclosure of risk, 
incorporating physical and transition risks into 
Council’s risk register, this adaptation roadmap and 
reviewing liabilities.

We will implement best practice sustainability 
reporting frameworks to ensure alignment to better 
practice governance, strategy, risk management and 
monitoring of metrics and targets applicable to 
environmental management.

29City of Adelaide

Page 39



Partnerships
Engagement with the residents and businesses in 
the City of Adelaide is critical to becoming net zero 
carbon and nature positive, because much of the 
decision-making for change rests with them.

Partnerships are fostered to deliver multiple priority 
outcomes and catalyse action in the community. 
Our partnership and engagement approaches are for 
sharing knowledge; supporting early adoption of 
great ideas and technology; fostering business 
growth for climate solutions; and celebrating 
excellence and leadership. Established partnerships 
for climate responses and nature protection include:

Kaurna Yerta Aboriginal Corporation

The holders of Native Title for Greater Adelaide who 
hold traditional knowledge and values in caring for 
country over tens of thousands of years, with the 
City of Adelaide at the heart of Kaurna Yerta 
(Country).

Carbon Neutral Adelaide Partners

A group of more than 220 organisations launched in 
2017 and facilitated by Council, who support the 
goal of a carbon neutral city and actively ‘play their 
part’ through sharing knowledge, collaborating 
and advocacy.

Capital City Committee

An intergovernmental body whose primary function 
is to enhance and promote the development of the 
city of Adelaide as the capital city of the state, 
through projects, engagement, partnerships 
and investment.

Council of Capital City Lord Mayors

Operated for over 50 years, the CCCLM represents 
the interests of the Lord Mayors of Australia’s eight 
capital cities and ACT Chief Minister. In 2019, the 
CCCLM made a commitment to work together over 
the long term on climate action and City of Adelaide 
has a formal role on the climate action 
working group.

Carbon Neutral Cities Alliance

A collaboration of 22 leading global cities formed in 
2015 working to achieve carbon neutrality in the 
next 10–20 years, representing the most aggressive 
greenhouse gas reduction targets undertaken 
anywhere by any city.

Resilient East

A group of eight Councils under a State Government 
sector agreement who collaborate to tackle climate 
change impacts and increase adaptation at a 
regional scale.

Green Industries SA

SA Government department that supports 
development of the circular economy and fosters 
the resource recovery and recycling sectors though 
funding and education.

Green Adelaide

A statutory board established in July 2020 by the 
Government of South Australia, with a vision to 
create a cooler, greener, wilder and climate-resilient 
Adelaide that celebrates our unique culture.

Cooperative Research Centres and Universities

Project partnerships have been established with the 
Fight Food Waste CRC to tackle food waste in 
restaurant districts and multi-unit dwellings and the 
RACE for 2030 CRC to investigate pathways to a net 
zero Rundle Mall.

Community and business groups

Several other local groups have connections to the 
Adelaide Park Lands, for example through tree-
planting and bush care, business activity, advocacy 
and recreation. These include residents’ associations 
and precinct groups.

Community and business engagement is a dynamic 
practice, evolving in line with the increasing 
sophistication of climate responses. It can include 
general information campaigns, research 
collaborations, art and cultural activity, project 
working groups, seeking advice and fostering 
cooperation, and more.

Integrated Climate Strategy 203030
Page 40



Strategic Alignment
City of Adelaide
City of Adelaide endorsed the Strategic Plan 2024–
2028 on 24 October 2024 that sets a vision:

Our Adelaide. Bold. Aspirational. Innovative.

This Integrated Climate Strategy delivers the 
Environment pillar of the Strategic Plan:

Our Environment: resilient, protected 
and sustainable.

It provides additional detail about how Council will 
deliver the following outcomes:

•	 Lead as a Low Carbon Emissions City

•	 Be a sustainable climate resilient city and embed 
climate resilience in all that we do.

•	 Be active in the promotion of the status, 
attributes and character of our green spaces and 
the Adelaide Park Lands by protecting and 
strengthening their integrity and value

City of Adelaide is preparing City Plan 2036 to 
support growth in the city and North Adelaide. City 
Plan includes spatial mapping and digital tool to 
improve evidenced based decision making.

State Government
The Strategy has been prepared with reference to 
key strategic documents of the Government of 
South Australia including:

South Australian Economic Statement – Smart, 
Sustainable, Inclusive: sets the vision of the State 
Government for South Australia, to be ‘an economy 
fit for the future, improving the wellbeing of all 
South Australians’. It contains three missions in 
response to the challenges South Australian’s face 
today and will face in the future; to capitalise on the 
global green transition, be a partner of choice in an 
insecure world and build South Australia’s talent.

South Australia’s Electric Vehicle Action Plan: in 
2020, the State Government released the Electric 
Vehicle Action Plan, which outlines their ambition to 
bring forward the adoption of EVs and achieve a 
50% reduction in State greenhouse gas emissions by 
2030 from 2005 levels. The Action Plan includes 
actions to make EVs the common choice for 
motorists by 2030, and the default choice by 2035.

Green Industries SA Strategic Plan 2021–2025: this 
strategic plan outlines how South Australia can 
ensure a sustainable future while maintaining a 
thriving economy. Green Industries SA’s five strategic 
priorities will focus on: Circular products and 
services, Circular consumption, Circular resource 
recovery, Circular sectors and Circular capacity over 
the next five years. This strategic plan delivers a 
circular economy roadmap that aligns with the 
United Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals.

31City of Adelaide

Page 41



•	 Back Cover

City of Adelaide 
25 Pirie Street 
Adelaide SA 5000

P 08 8203 7203 
W cityofadelaide.com.au

Page 42



City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda – Tuesday, 4 June 2024

 

Tuesday, 4 June 2024 
City Planning, Development 
and Business Affairs 
Committee 

Draft City Plan - Adelaide 2036 for Public 
Consultation 
 
Strategic Alignment - Our Places 

Program Contact:  
Sarah Gilmour, Associate 
Director Park Lands, Policy & 
Sustainability 

Public Approving Officer:  
Ilia Houridis, Director City 
Shaping 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The purpose of this report is to seek endorsement of the draft City Plan – Adelaide 2036 (the draft City Plan), for 
the purposes of public consultation (Attachment A).  

On 7 May 2024, the City Planning, Development and Business Affairs (CPDBA) Committee noted a further stage of 
consultation on the draft City Plan, an earlier draft of the City Plan document (Link 1), and that the final draft City 
Plan for the purposes of public consultation would be presented to the CPDBA Committee on 4 June 2024. 

Refinements to the draft City Plan following the CPDBA Committee meeting include: 

  Insertion of the Lord Mayor Foreword. 

  Amendment of the term “Liveability Index” to “Neighbourhood Index” to clarify the index indicates access to 
community facilities, local services and retail, which support the vibrancy and diversity of existing 
neighbourhoods. 

  Additional explanation of some maps and metrics throughout the document. 

  Amendment of city-wide Strategy 2 – Activating the Squares, to strengthen the focus on the Adelaide Park 
Lands and diverse forms of open space. 

  The addition of a city-wide Strategy 8—Urban Living, Diversity and Density—to further consider building 
heights, site and zone interfaces and heritage. 

  Consequential amendments to Strategy 7 – New Housing Models, as it relates to Strategy 8 – Urban 
Living, Diversity and Density, to avoid duplication. 

  Minor editorial changes and typographical corrections. 

The City Plan delivers the City of Adelaide’s spatial plan for the future development of our city. The draft City Plan 
achieves this by providing an urban design framework to guide planning for sustainable growth within the City of 
Adelaide, which also supports achievement of the Council’s target population of 50,000 residents by 2036. 

The four priorities contained in the draft City Plan are: 

1. A Greener and Cooler City 

2. Transit Diversity 

3. A City of Neighbourhoods 

4. Housing Diversity for a Growing Population  

The draft City Plan, contained in Attachment A, is informed by spatial analysis distilled from over 400 datasets and 
comprehensive consultation engagement processes undertaken throughout the project. It also incorporates the 
feedback received through the Chief Executive Officer briefing held with Council Members on Tuesday 16 April 
2024 to outline the City Plan, priorities, strategies and local area framework and the Committee meeting on 7 May 
2024. The Board of the Adelaide Economic Development Agency was briefed on the draft City Plan at its meeting 
on 21 May 2024. 

Pending Council decision on the City Plan document, public consultation on the draft City Plan will be undertaken 
between 18 June 2024 and 16 July 2024 on Community Engagement page on the City of Adelaide website.  

Page 43

Agenda Item 7.2

https://cityofadelaideintranet.moderngov.com.au/documents/s18727/Draft%20City%20Plan%20-%20Adelaide%202036%20for%20Public%20Consultation.pdf


City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda – Tuesday, 4 June 2024

Administration is continuing discussions with State Government Agency, Planning and Land Use Services (PLUS) 
on the relationship between the draft City Plan and the Greater Adelaide Regional Plan (GARP). The State 
Government is due to commence public consultation on the GARP by December 2024. 

The draft City Plan will meet the objectives of the Capital City Committee, as co-funder of the project, to inform the 
GARP. As a key input to the GARP this timeframe will ensure the City Plan is finalised to contribute to the GARP 
process. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
The following recommendation will be presented to Council on 11 June 2024 for consideration 

THAT THE CITY PLANNING, DEVELOPMENT AND BUSINESS AFFAIRS COMMITTEE RECOMMENDS TO 
COUNCIL 
THAT COUNCIL 
1. Endorses the draft City Plan – Adelaide 2036 contained in Attachment A to Item 7.2 on the Agenda for the 

meeting of the City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee held on 4 June 2024, for 
public consultation. 

2. Endorses the draft City Plan – Adelaide 2036 Engagement Plan contained in Attachment B to Item 7.2 on 
the Agenda for the meeting of the City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee held on 
4 June 2024. 

3. Authorises the Acting Chief Executive Officer or delegate to make typographical, syntactical and technical 
amendments to Attachment A and Attachment B to Item 7.2 on the Agenda for the meeting of the City 
Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee held on 4 June 2024, for the purposes of 
finalising the documents for public consultation.  

 

 
 

Page 44



 

City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda – Tuesday, 4 June 2024

IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS 
 

City of Adelaide 
2024-2028 
Strategic Plan 

Strategic Alignment – Our Places  
Encourage bold, interesting and purposeful development 
Develop the City Plan by 2024. 

Policy 

The City Plan forms part of the City of Adelaide’s suite of Strategic Management Plans as 
outlined in the Strategic Plan 2024-2028.  
It is a recommendation in Council’s submission to the GARP discussion paper in November 
2023 that the City Plan should inform the GARP. 

Consultation 

Community consultation has occurred through the City Plan Studio held in late 2023 and in 
2024 via online and in-person local area focus groups. Residents, workers, businesses and 
visitors were invited to provide input into the draft City Plan via an online mapping tool. 
Local area focus groups were held in April 2024 were used to test engagement feedback. 
Council Members have been receiving regular updates on the City Plan project via E-news. 
A Chief Executive Officer briefing was held with Council Members on Tuesday, 16 April 
2024 to discuss the draft City Plan priorities, city wide strategies and the local area 
framework.  
This report forms part of a two stage approval process to finalise the draft City Plan for the 
purposes of public consultation. Stage 1 was presented to the Committee on 7 May 2024 
(Link 1). 
The Board of the Adelaide Economic Development Agency was briefed on the draft City 
Plan at its meeting on 21 May 2024. 
Pending Council decision on 11 June 2024, the draft City Plan will be released for public 
consultation on 17 June 2024 for a 4-week period until 12 July 2024.  

Resource Not as a result of this report 

Risk / Legal / 
Legislative Not as a result of this report 

Opportunities The City of Adelaide is working collaboratively with PLUS on the development of the City 
Plan and the relationship with the State Government’s development of the GARP. 

23/24 Budget 
Allocation 

The 2023/24 annual budget includes a strategic project allocation of $390,000 to deliver the 
City Plan by 30 June 2024. The budget was increased $85,000 to $475,000 following the 
approval of a quarter 3 adjustment due to the requirement for an additional spatial systems 
resource. 

Proposed 24/25 
Budget Allocation 

The item that is the subject of this report is currently unfunded. Any required funding for this 
item is subject to, and needs to be considered in the context of, the prioritisation of projects, 
initiatives and service enhancements for the development of the 2024/25 budget, and within 
the parameters of the Long Term Financial Plan to ensure long-term financial sustainability. 

Life of Project, 
Service, Initiative 
or (Expectancy of) 
Asset 

The City Plan responds to Council’s commitment for a spatial plan for the city and responds 
to Council’s residential growth target of 50,000 people by 2036 . It has 10-year planning 
focus, with a series of initiatives for implementation, which includes a Code Amendment 
Program. 

23/24 Budget 
Reconsideration  
(if applicable) 

Not as a result of this report 

Ongoing Costs 
(eg maintenance 
cost) 

Not as a result of this report 

Other Funding 
Sources 

The City of Adelaide received $200,000 in grant funding across two financial years for the 
project through the Capital City Committee which concludes on 30 June 2024. 

 

Page 45

https://cityofadelaideintranet.moderngov.com.au/documents/s18727/Draft%20City%20Plan%20-%20Adelaide%202036%20for%20Public%20Consultation.pdf


 

City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda – Tuesday, 4 June 2024

DISCUSSION 
Introduction 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek endorsement of the draft City Plan for the purposes of public 

consultation (Attachment A).  
2. An earlier draft of the City Plan was noted at the City Planning, Development and Business Affairs 

Committee on 7 May 2024 (Link 1).  

3. Refinements to the draft City Plan following the CPDBA Committee meeting include: 

3.1. Insertion of the Lord Mayor Foreword. 

3.2. Amendment of the term “Liveability Index” to “Neighbourhood Index” to clarify the index indicates 
access to community facilities, local services and retail, which support the vibrancy and diversity of 
existing neighbourhoods. 

3.3. Additional explanation of some maps and metrics throughout the document. 

3.4. Amendment of city-wide Strategy 2 – Activating the Squares, to strengthen the focus on the Adelaide 
Park Lands and diverse forms of open space. 

3.5. The addition of a city-wide Strategy 8—Urban Living, Diversity and Density—to further consider 
building heights, zone interfaces and heritage. 

3.6. Consequential amendments to Strategy 7 – New Housing Models, as it relates to Strategy 8 – Urban 
Living, Diversity and Density, to avoid duplication. 

3.7. Minor editorial changes and typographical corrections. 

4. In accordance with the Council decision on 14 May 2024, the final draft City Plan is presented to the City 
Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee on 4 June 2024 for recommendation to Council to 
endorse the City Plan for public consultation. 

5. The City Plan project has been undertaken in stages during 2022/23 and 2023/24 and is comprised of two 
parts: 

5.1. An urban design framework (the draft City Plan document which is the subject of this report) – that 
sets the principles, priorities, city wide strategies and local area framework for future growth. 

5.2. The City of Adelaide Digital Explorer (CoADE) - a dynamic digital tool which informs, tracks and 
monitors the progress of this growth. 

6. The objectives of the City Plan are to:  

6.1. Set priorities, directions and coordinate planning for growth in the City of Adelaide  

6.2. Articulate what the city and its different spatial areas could become 

6.3. Proactively plan for sustainable growth and change  

6.4. Ensure increasing density creates liveability  

6.5. Ensure opportunity for current and future sectors to support growth and prosperity  

6.6. Provide a central place to spatially apply and align strategies  

6.7. Provide a prospectus to support investment  

6.8. Enable city stakeholders to discuss challenges and opportunities. 

Draft City Plan – Adelaide 2036 
7. The draft City Plan document for the purposes of public consultation is contained in Attachment A. 

8. The City Plan delivers the City of Adelaide’s spatial plan for the future development of our city. The draft City 
Plan achieves this by providing an urban design framework to guide planning for sustainable growth within 
the City of Adelaide, which also supports achievement of the Council’s target population of 50,000 residents 
by 2036. 

9. The four priorities contained in the draft City Plan are: 

9.1. A Greener and Cooler City 

9.2. Transit Diversity 

9.3. A City of Neighbourhoods 

Page 46

https://cityofadelaideintranet.moderngov.com.au/documents/s18727/Draft%20City%20Plan%20-%20Adelaide%202036%20for%20Public%20Consultation.pdf


 

City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda – Tuesday, 4 June 2024

9.4. Housing Diversity for a Growing Population. 

10. The priorities and city wide strategies contained in the draft City Plan are supported by a Local Area 
Framework. The thirteen local areas are based on form and function of the city, key main streets, city 
Squares, and current planning zoning and policy.  

11. The draft City Plan recognises that the City of Adelaide doesn’t control all the levers to achieve the strategies 
identified in the Plan and sets the following Council roles: 

11.1. Lead – The city will invest time and/or resources.  

11.2. Partner – The city will actively seek partnership opportunities.  

11.3. Facilitate – The city will utilise levers available to support implementation.  

11.4. Advocate – The city will seek out support and/or partners to undertake state or nationally significant 
actions.  

11.5. Regulate – The city will fulfil legislative roles and requirements. 

12. The City Plan is proposed to be implemented through the City of Adelaide’s Code Amendment Program and 
an indicative program based on key strategies in the draft City Plan. Further development of the 
implementation program will be undertaken and informed by consultation on the draft City Plan. 

CoADE 
13. CoADE has commenced internal use as an evidence base and analytical resource for strategic planning and 

policy development, including: 

13.1. The Electric Vehicle (EV) Infrastructure Transition Roadmap 

13.2. Options and impact assessments for Planning and Design Code policy through Council’s Code 
Amendment Program (such as the Adult Entertainment Premises and Adult Entertainment Services 
Code Amendment).  

13.3. Providing the data hub for the City of Adelaide’s Park Lands related data relevant to the draft Adelaide 
Park Lands Management Strategy. 

Next Steps 
14. Pending Council decision on the City Plan document, public consultation on the draft City Plan will be 

undertaken between 18 June 2024 and 16 July 2024 on the Community Engagement page on the City of 
Adelaide website. A draft Engagement Plan is contained in Attachment B. 

15. Presentation of a final draft City Plan to the City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee by 
September 2024 (quarter one of the 2024/25 financial year).  

16. The City Plan is targeting implementation from the 2024/25 financial year, including:  

16.1. Comprising the City of Adelaide’s submission to the draft Greater Adelaide Regional Plan (tentatively 
scheduled for release by the State Government by December 2024). 

16.2. Informing the City of Adelaide Code Amendment Program. 

16.3. Providing an evidence base and strategic direction for the development of complementary City of 
Adelaide strategies such as the Integrated Transport Plan. 

16.4. Informing submission to key State strategic planning processes (such as the draft State Infrastructure 
Strategy tentatively scheduled for release in late 2024). 

17. Administration is continuing discussions with PLUS on the relationship between the draft City Plan and the 
GARP. The State Government is due to commence public consultation on the GARP by December 2024. 

18. The draft City Plan will meet the objectives of the Capital City Committee, as co-funder of the project, to 
inform the GARP. As a key input to the GARP this timeframe will ensure the City Plan is finalised to 
contribute to the GARP process. 

 

DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
Link 1 – Agenda Item, City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee, Tuesday, 7 May 2024 
 

Page 47

https://cityofadelaideintranet.moderngov.com.au/documents/s18727/Draft%20City%20Plan%20-%20Adelaide%202036%20for%20Public%20Consultation.pdf


 

City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda – Tuesday, 4 June 2024

ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A – Draft City Plan – Adelaide 2036  

Attachment B – Draft Engagement Plan – Draft City Plan – Adelaide 2036 

 

- END OF REPORT - 

Page 48



May 2024

City Plan – Adelaide 2036

OUR ADELAIDE.
OUR FUTURE.

Page 49

Attachment A



Acknowledgement of 
Country 
The City of Adelaide and Arup acknowledge that we are 
located on the traditional Country of the Kaurna people 
of the Adelaide Plains and pays respect to Elders past, 
present and emerging.

We recognise and respect their cultural heritage, beliefs 
and relationship with the land. We also extend that 
respect to visitors of other Aboriginal Language Groups 
and other First Nations.

Page 50



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 3 
Page 51



Document Control

Rev Date Approved By Description

DRAFT 01 13/02/2024 JY For internal review

DRAFT 02 15/04/2024 JY For internal review

FINAL DRAFT 01/05/2024 JY For Council Review 

REVISED DRAFT 22/05/2024 NA For Council Review

REVISED DRAFT 24/05/2024 NA For Council Review

Version
Draft 24.05.24

Project Team
City of Adelaide 
Arup
Aboriginal Urban Development 
URPS

City of Adelaide 
25 Pirie Street
Adelaide, South Australia, 5000
cityofadelaide.com.au

Arup
Mezzanine Floor, 182, Victoria Square
Adelaide SA 5000
Arup.com

City Plan – Adelaide 2036

OUR ADELAIDE.
OUR FUTURE.

Page 52



The Purpose of this Document 
The City Plan is an urban design framework to guide planning for growth within the City of 
Adelaide to achieve a target population of 50,000 residents by 2036. Informed by extensive 
stakeholder and community engagement and a robust evidence base, the City Plan has 
been developed as City of Adelaide’s strategy for sustainable growth and development.

The objectives of City Plan are:

•	 To set priorities, directions and coordinate planning for growth in the City of Adelaide
•	 To articulate what the city and its different spatial areas could become
•	 To proactively plan for sustainable growth and change
•	 To ensure increasing density creates liveability
•	 To ensure opportunity for current and future sectors to support growth and prosperity
•	 To provide a central place to spatially apply and align strategies
•	 To provide a prospectus to support investment
•	 To enable city stakeholders to discuss challenges and opportunities.

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 5 
Page 53



	

	 Lord Mayor’s Foreword	 9
	 Executive Summary	 10
Section 1	 Introduction	 16
	 Role of the City Centre in Greater Adelaide	 18
	 City Plan – A Spatial Roadmap to Grow the City	 20
	 The Case for Investment and Value Creation 	 22
	 How the City Plan was Developed	 25
	 Strategic Context	 26
	

Section 2	 Caring for Country	 28 

Section 3	 Urban Design Framework	 34
	 Priority 1 – A Greener and Cooler City	 40
	 Priority 2 – Transit Diversity	 44
	 Priority 3 – A City of Neighbourhoods	 48
	 Priority 4 – Housing Diversity for a Growing Population	 52

Section 4	 City Wide Strategies	 56
	 Overview of Strategies	 60
	 Urban Design Elements	 62
	 Strategy 1 – A Green City Grid	 64
	 Strategy 2 – Open Space at Your Doorstep	 68 
	 Strategy 3 – Developing the City Spine	 72
	 Strategy 4 – Activating North-south Laneways	 76
	 Strategy 5 – Enhancing East-west Streets	 80
	 Strategy 6 – Establishing the City Loop	 84
	 Strategy 7 – New Housing Models	 88
	 Strategy 8 – Designing for Urban Life, Diversity and Density	 88

Contents

Page 54



	

Section 5	 Local Area Framework	 98
	 Local Areas Overview	 102
	      Wellington Square 	 104
	      O’Connell Street 	 110
	      Melbourne Street 	 116
	      North Terrace 	 122
	      West Terrace	 128
	      Light Square 	 134
	      King William Street	 140
	      Hindmarsh Square 	 146
	      Grote Gateway	 152
	      Wakefield Gateway	 158
	      East Terrace	 166
	      Whitmore Square	 170
	      Hurtle Square	 176

Section 6	 Implementation Plan	 182	
	

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 7 
Page 55



Page 56



Lord Mayor’s 
Foreword

We are the beneficiaries of 
purposeful and intentional 
city planning; hence the way 
Adelaide looks today.

In 1836, Colonel William Light designed the 
capital city with its distinctive grid pattern and 
belt of Park Lands.

Now, City Plan – Adelaide 2036 gives us the 
capacity to look to the future and envisage the 
city we want ahead of our bicentenary.

The City Plan is our roadmap to help us 
sustainably double our population over the next 
decade.

While we strive to have 50,000 people living in 
the city, we also recognise the social, economic, 
and environmental challenges our city will face 
as more people call it home. 

Informed by more than 400 layers of datasets, 
the City Plan allows us to interrogate the 
available data and democratise the information 
so we can all see the potential futures we might 
face. 

Whether that means greener streets, more 
diverse housing options, or opportunities for 
investment. 

Everybody in South Australia needs a capital city 
that works well and delivers opportunities for all 
citizens. The onus is on us to leave a legacy.  

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 is exciting and allows 
us to choose our own future.

Dr. Jane Lomax Smith

Lord Mayor of Adelaide

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 9 
Page 57



Executive 
Summary
The City Plan – Adelaide 2036 is 
the spatial plan of our city that 
communicates how the city of 
Adelaide will grow and develop. 

The City Plan is informed by a 
significant body of research, 
city-wide spatial analysis 
developed and distilled 
from over 400 datasets and 
stakeholder engagement. The 
datasets have been used to 
develop metrics to analyse 
and measure interventions, 
outcomes, and progress. These 
metrics will be used to assess, 
track and monitor outcomes 
and growth across the city. 

The City Plan responds to our 
aim for a population of 50,000 
residents by 2036. In doing so, 
the City Plan seeks to respect 
our past, build resilience for 
future growth, and create a 
city that welcomes all people.

Achieving sustainable growth requires 
diversity in housing options, encouraging 
mixed use development and supporting good 
neighbourhood design to cater to a range of 
needs and demographics. Aligned with the City 
of Adelaide Housing Strategy: Investing in our 
Housing Future, meeting our housing needs 
will incorporate the full housing spectrum 
including market, affordable and social housing.  
Focus areas include the ‘missing middle’, which 
is the consideration of medium density housing 
to sit within existing strengths in low and 
high density housing across the city.  It also 
considers Adaptive Reuse as a further strategy 
to other existing forms of development that 
supports repurposing underutilised buildings 
and improving our performance on character, 
heritage and embodied carbon across our 
city.  We will deliver a broad range of housing 
options to welcome all ages, cultures and socio-
economic cohorts. 

To stimulate growth and investment, the 
City Plan identifies strategic sites and places 
including the city’s high streets, in which 
the City of Adelaide will invest in greening, 
technology, public realm, amenity, and social 
and civic infrastructure as well as considerations 
such as underutilised sites. This will be 
achieved through a local area framework that 
provides an urban design strategy for local 
neighbourhoods.  This framework addresses 
the North, West, East, South and Centre of 
our city through a series of thirteen local 
neighbourhoods. As an example the West 
incorporates West Terrace, the Western Edge, 
Grote Street Gateway, Light Square and 
Whitmore Square neighbourhoods, whilst 
the North incorporates Wellington Square, 
O’Connell Street and Melbourne Street 
neighbourhoods.   

Environmental sustainability is a cornerstone of 
the City Plan with a focus on increasing green 
space and streets throughout the city and the 
Adelaide Park Lands. The City Plan emphasises 

Page 58



the importance of a well-connected and 
efficient transportation network, with a focus 
on mode shift to active transport and greater 
transit diversity.  

As our population grows and temperatures 
increase, the role of green spaces as cool 
refuges and connections are increasingly 
important. Through the City Plan we will create 
cooler, greener streets by connecting our 
City Squares to one another and the Adelaide 
Park Lands. While respecting their historical 
importance, our Squares will be reimagined 
as places for active and passive recreation for 
residents, workers, businesses and visitors. 

As a city of neighbourhoods, the City Plan 
will prioritise the enhancement of the many 
individual identities and places within the 
broader city fabric and embed place based 
objectives for growth. The City Plan supports 
diversity in housing options and neighbourhood 
design and will cater to a range of needs and 
demographics, along with public realm and 
social infrastructure needs of our residents, 
visitors and businesses. 

The city boasts key attractions in North 
Adelaide and the Central Business District 
(CBD). The City Plan will develop the central 
urban spine of the city to connect North 
Adelaide to the CBD, and people to places 
through active and public transport. This 
includes linking key attractions including the 
Aquatic Centre, O’Connell Street, Adelaide 
Zoo, King William Street, the Adelaide Central 
Market and the southern and western Adelaide 
Park Lands. 

The potential of our streets and laneways for 
social connection, business activation and 
active transport connections can be enhanced. 
The City Plan will activate more north-
south streets and laneways for pedestrians, 
businesses and visitors. This includes extending 
the Riverbank to Adelaide Central Market 
pedestrian link to South Terrace, connecting the 

Southern Park Lands to the East End via Hutt 
Street, and creating a new network of laneways 
in the west. 

The city’s unique places and urban fabrics will 
be walkable experiences from east to west. 
Through the City Plan we will encourage 
development along the main east west 
connections ensuring essential active and public 
transport connections.

The City Plan’s focus on transit diversity and 
improving pedestrian and walkable experiences 
will be complemented by seeking improvements 
to active transport and cycling along with 
e-mobility and the support infrastructure in the 
public realm for the transition to more electric 
based transport.  Public transport options 
and investigations will be progressed with 
our partners in the medium and longer term 
through explorations into a Light Rail Loop that 
provides for sustainable movement, transit-led 
growth and connected neighbourhoods and 
places.  We recognise that as the city grows, 
planning will continue to consider the key 
role that cars and vehicular movements will 
continue to play as part of our transit diversity, 
along with the infrastructure needs of the 
transition from petrol to electric vehicles.

In implementing the City Plan, the City of 
Adelaide will play a number of roles.  The City 
Plan outlines where the City of Adelaide will 
lead, partner, facilitate, advocate or regulate.

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 11 
Page 59



City Plan Framework
The City Plan Framework is comprised of two 
parts: 

1.	 The City Plan; an Urban Design Framework 
– that sets the principles, priorities, city wide 
strategies and local area framework for future 
growth 

2.	 The City of Adelaide Digital Explorer 
(CoADE) - a dynamic digital tool that provides 
a 2D and 3D visualisation of the city and 
brings together over 400 data layers which 
inform, track and monitor the progress of this 
growth.

City Plan Principles
The City Plan is underpinned by the following 
three principles: 

Respecting our past — Respecting our past 
acknowledges the City of Adelaide’s rich history, 
cultural heritage, and the contributions of 
its diverse communities. It emphasises the 
preservation and celebration of the city’s unique 
identity while fostering inclusivity, understanding, 
and appreciation of different cultures, traditions, 
and perspectives. This principle ensures that 
the City Plan honours and integrates its past, 
creating a sense of pride and belonging among 
its residents.

Building resilience — Building resilience for 
future growth recognises the challenges and 
uncertainties that lie ahead. This principle 
focuses on enhancing the city’s ability 
to withstand and adapt to various social, 
economic, and environmental changes. By 
incorporating sustainable practices, infrastructure 
development, and climate adaptation strategies, 
the city can foster long-term viability and 
prosperity, ensuring the well-being and quality of 
life for its residents.

Welcoming for all people — A city that 
welcomes all people embodies inclusivity, 
accessibility, and social cohesion. This principle 
seeks an environment that embraces diversity, 
fosters equality, and provides opportunities 
for all individuals and communities. The city 
aims to be a place where everyone feels valued, 
supported, and empowered to contribute to its 
social fabric and economic growth. By embracing 
inclusivity, the city strengthens its social capital 
and cultivates a vibrant and harmonious 
community.

City Plan Priorities
There are four City Plan priorities for sustainable 
growth in the city. 
Priority 1: A Greener and Cooler City

Priority 2: Transit Diversity

Priority 3: A City of Neighbourhoods

Priority 4: Housing Diversity for a Growing 		
                  Population	

Structure of the Plan

Section 1 – Introduction • 12 
Page 60



Environmental sustainability is a cornerstone 
of City Plan with a focus on increasing green 
spaces and streets throughout the city and the 
Adelaide Park Lands. 

The City Plan emphasises the importance of 
a well-connected and efficient transportation 
network, with a focus on mode shift to active 
transport and greater transit diversity.  

As a city of neighbourhoods, the City Plan 
will prioritise the enhancement of the many 
individual identities and places within the 
broader city fabric and embed place based 
objectives for growth. 

The City Plan supports diversity in housing 
options and neighbourhood design and will 
cater to a range of needs and demographics 
including the missing middle of housing.

A Greener and  
Cooler City Transit Diversity

A City of Neighbourhoods Housing Diversity for a 
Growing Population
 

Resilient

Principles

Priorities

Tradition

Culture

Each Other

Diversity

Neighbourly

History

Plenty

Events

Fun
Surprise

Spontaneity

Future Focus

Environment

Robust

Connected

Water

Air

Sustainability

Community
Regenerative

Innovative
Kaurna

Welcoming

Respectful

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 13 
Page 61



City Wide Strategies
City wide strategies have been developed to 
unlock the growth potential of the city and 
target intervention and investment in sustainable 
growth. Grounded in the evidence base provided 
by the city wide spatial analysis, the strategies 
provide direction for future investigations, 
investment, advocacy, planning and policy 
interventions. 

City wide strategies align with the objectives 
outlined in the Planning Development and 
Infrastructure Act 2016, and the Greater Adelaide 
Regional Plan (GARP). This approach ensures 
that the City Plan serves as a strategic document 
informing future Code Amendments and Policy, 
effectively guiding development and growth in 
accordance with regional priorities.

 
Local Area Framework
The local area framework sets out strategies for 
each local neighbourhood by defining a local 
area statement, place principles, and the data 
metrics to be used for monitoring and reporting. 

This work builds upon the evidence base and 
links back to the City Plan priorities.

Implementation Plan
The City of Adelaide recognises that it doesn’t 
control all the levers to achieve the strategies 
identified in the City Plan. To achieve the 
ambitions set out in the City Plan council will:

•	 Lead – City of Adelaide will invest time and/
or resources.

•	 Partner – City of Adelaide will actively seek 
partnership opportunities.

•	 Facilitate – City of Adelaide will utilise levers 
available to support implementation.

•	 Advocate – City of Adelaide will seek out 
support and/or partners to undertake state 
or nationally significant actions.

•	 Regulate – City of Adelaide will fulfil 
legislative roles and requirements.

City of Adelaide Digital Explorer (CoADE) 
Master planning and growth forecasting require 
continual refinement based on economic 
shifts, demographic trends, technological 
advancements, and environmental factors. 

Recognising this, the City Plan includes a 
dynamic tool (digital explorer) for ongoing use. 
It is designed to incorporate real-time data and 
feedback mechanisms and remain relevant and 
responsive to a changing city.

CoADE includes metrics and the database with 
spatial planning targets and commitments across 
the city’s strategic plans and priorities. CoADE 
enables integrated planning of local and State 
Government initiatives and provides quantifiable 
measures to evaluate progress towards the City 
Plan and guide future interventions.

Structure of the Plan

Section 1 – Introduction • 14 
Page 62



Pr
in

ci
pl

es

Respecting our past 
acknowledges Adelaide’s 

rich history, cultural heritage, 
and the contributions of its 

diverse communities. R
es

pe
ct

fu
l Building resilience for 

future growth recognises 
the challenges and 

uncertainties that lie ahead. R
es

ili
en

t A city that welcomes 
all people embodies 

inclusivity, accessibility, 
and social cohesion. W

el
co

m
in

g

Priority 1: A Greener 
and Cooler City Priority 2: Transit Diversity Priority 3: A City of 

Neighbourhoods
Priority 4: Housing Diversity 

for a Growing Population

Pr
io

rit
ie

s

 The city will 
invest time and/

or resources.

Lead

The city will actively 
seek partnership 

opportunities.

Partner

The city will utilise 
levers available 

to support 
implementation.

Facilitate

The city will seek 
out support and/

or partners to 
undertake state 

or nationally 
significant actions.

Advocate

The city will fulfil 
legislative roles 

and requirements

Regulate

C
ou

nc
il 

R
ol

es

Strategy 1 – A 
Green City Grid

Strategy 2 – Open Space 
at Your Doorstep

Strategy 3 – Developing 
the City Spine 

Strategy 4 – Activating 
North-south Laneways 

Strategy 5 – Enhancing 
East-west Streets 

Strategy 6 – Establishing 
the City Loop 

Strategy 7 – New 
Housing Models 

Strategy 8 – Designing 
for Urban Life, Diversity 

and DensityC
ity

 W
id

e 
St

ra
te

gi
es

Green 
Infrastructure 

Index

Active and 
Public Transport 
Usability Index

Neighbourhood 
Index

Land Use 
Potential Index Growth Forecasts

C
oA

D
E

Implementation

 13 areas across CBD and North Adelaide that define future development 
intentions and outcomes and relate to planning and investment

Lo
ca

l A
re

a 
Fr

am
ew

or
k

City Plan Framework

K
au

rn
a 

C
ol

la
bo

ra
tio

n

Meaningful integration of Kaurna voices and perspectives into the planning 
and a collective vision, aspirations and co-authored roadmap.

Figure 1.1  City Plan Structure – Plan on a page

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 15 
Page 63



Introduction

Page 64



Page 65



The City of Adelaide sits at the heart of the 
Greater Adelaide region. It is the CBD, the 
economic epicentre, cultural core, higher 
education hub, the centre of transit and 
supports the liveability for all Greater Adelaide. 

The primacy of the city centre within Greater 
Adelaide has an important role in leading the 
direction of and supporting the growth for South 
Australia. This role also continues to change and 
evolve as more people choose to live in the city, 
and the Greater Adelaide region.

The City of Adelaide has the capacity and 
potential to contribute to and support the 
300,000 homes needed across metropolitan 
Adelaide by 2051 as identified by the Greater 
Adelaide Regional Plan Discussion Paper. 

As the business centre of the State, the city 
provides opportunities for business growth and 
amenities in the public realm, attracting the 
skilled talent and workers that will further grow 
businesses and increase population in Greater 
Adelaide.

World class facilities such as the Royal Adelaide 
Hospital, Biomedical Precinct currently home 
to SAMHRI, Australian Bragg Centre and future 
new Women’s and Children’s Hospital, Lot 
Fourteen Innovation Precinct as well as premier 
destinations for learning, entertainment, 
recreation and sporting activities add to the 
city’s attraction.

Surrounded by the Adelaide Park Lands, the city 
has access to open public green spaces; a green 
belt of recreation, community gathering, and 
central squares that is unparalleled nationally. 
These spaces provide for festivals and events 
whilst simultaneously increasing the city’s 
biodiversity and sustainability. The Adelaide 
Park Lands are a major recreational, sporting 
and tourism destination, providing a natural 
and open space that connects the city to the 
surrounding suburbs. They are also home to the 
Adelaide Botanic Gardens. 

As with most capital cities, Adelaide is a centre 
connecting multiple public transport modes, as 
well as supporting active transport options like 
walking and cycling.

The City Plan has been developed as the City 
of Adelaide’s spatial response to the Greater 
Adelaide Regional Plan and is an urban design 
framework to drive growth and investment to 
realise the city’s full potential.

Role of the City Centre 
in Greater Adelaide 

Section 1 – Introduction • 18 
Page 66



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 19 
Page 67



City Plan: a Spatial 
Roadmap to Grow the City

The City Plan —Adelaide 2036 
communicates how we foresee 
development to achieve a range of key 
objectives in support of our city’s growth.
To stimulate growth and investment, the 
City Plan identifies strategic places and 
sites including the city’s main streets, 
where the City of Adelaide will invest 
in greening, technology, public realm, 
amenity, and social and civic infrastructure 
to stimulate investment by others.
We will create cooler, greener streets by 
connecting our City Squares to one another 
and the Adelaide Park Lands. While respecting 
their historical importance, our Squares will 
be reimagined as places for active and passive 
recreation for residents, workers, businesses and 
visitors.

The City Plan strengthens a central urban spine 
to connect people to places through active and 
public transport, activating more north-south 
streets and laneways for pedestrians, businesses, 
and visitors. Through the City Plan, we will 
encourage development along the main east-

west connections, ensuring essential active and 
public transport connections.

The City Plan’s focus on transit diversity 
promotes a transition to active transport and 
alternative transport modes including improved 
public transport, while acknowledging the rise in 
electric vehicles and the continuing role that the 
car will play in the city.

Walkable experiences will be complemented 
by consideration of new public transport 
infrastructure options such as a Light Rail Loop 
that provides for sustainable movement, transit-
led growth and connected neighbourhoods and 
places.

The City Plan recognises the need for multiple 
housing options, from market-led housing to 
affordable housing and student accommodation. 
It also focuses on the ‘missing middle’ to 
deliver a broad range of housing options that 
will welcome people of all ages, cultures, and 
economic backgrounds to the city.

Section 1 – Introduction • 20 
Page 68



 

City Squares

City Spine

Priority Green Streets and Active Transport 
Network

East West Public and Active  
Transport Priority Streets

Public Transport Connections

 
North South Activated Laneways and Streets

Rail Network 

Existing Light Rail

Potential Light Rail Extention

Strategic Sites and Places

GRENFELL       S T R E E T

O
’C

O
N

N
ELL  S TR

EET

H A L I FA X        S T R E E T

C U R R I E        S T R E E T

S T U R T        S T R E E T

G R O T E     S T R E E T WA K E F I E L D     S T R E E T

Figure 1.2  CIty Wide Strategies

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 21 
Page 69



The Case for 
Investment 
and Value 
Creation 

Successful cities around the world have strong 
residential populations living locally. With 
a state-wide population projection of an 
additional 730,000 residents requiring 300,000 
new dwellings by 2051, the City of Adelaide 
is committed to contributing to this growth 
through interventions to support doubling of 
the resident population from 26,000 to 50,000 
by 2036.

Land supply studies for the city identify more 
than adequate privately held land to meet future 
development demand. This can be supported by 
the work City Plan is doing to ensure planning 
policies incentivise and enforce supply of diverse, 
affordable and environmentally sustainable 
developments.

While faced with the geographic constraints and 
comparably less ‘vacant’ sites than metropolitan 
and regional areas, the City Plan responds by 
creating opportunities for new populations 
through vertical growth, leveraging new uses 
in existing buildings , adaptive reuse, heritage 
considerations, city built form character and 
social infrastructure that supports a growing 
population.

As the capital city of South Australia, the City of 
Adelaide will play an integral role in supporting 
this forecast growth.

Infrastructure SA identified that land 
development costs in the CBD are significantly 

lower than costs in master planned greenfield 
developments. This is a strong argument 
for prioritising further investment in the 
infrastructure and amenity the city needs to 
realise its full growth potential.

Adelaide is set apart by its enviable lifestyle, 
natural features and its affordability. This is 
particularly the case for costs of doing business.

The City Plan’s focus on improving transit 
diversity and creating pedestrian streets provides 
opportunity to reduce the reliance on personal 
vehicle ownership (and use) by residents in the 
city. International studies report that urban 
design features which facilitate walkability 
and attract pedestrians have a positive effect 
on commercial and residential rents and sale 
values, and on retail revenues. They also provide 
benefits to local business owners, for example 
walking interventions can increase the number of 
people entering shops by up to 40%; and sales by 
172%. (Source: Economic case for investment in 
walking, Victoria Walks and Arup)

In addition to benefits to local business owners, 
current and future residents will benefit from a 
more walkable city. This includes through ease 
of access to businesses, health benefits through 
a more active lifestyle and less polluted city 
and financial savings through not owning a 
car. Together these benefits increase Adelaide’s 
attractiveness as a destination to live and work.

Section 1 – Introduction • 22 
Page 70



Images (clockwise 
from top left):  
Merri Northcote; 
Nightengale 
Bowden, Fabbrica 
Fitzroy;  
Brunswick Yard

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 23 
Page 71



How the City Plan 
was Developed 

The City Plan is informed by spatial analysis 
distilled from over 400 datasets, including 
population and density, open space, public 
transport infrastructure, community 
facilities, local services, retail amenities, 
night-time economy, and cycling networks. 

The city’s current state across various domains 
was used to develop three metrics that 
contribute to the liveability, sustainability, and 
inclusivity of the city:

1.	 Population and jobs growth
2.	 Climate resilience
3.	 Equitable access and wellbeing

By applying a ‘walkability rating’ for each 
allotment in the city, a measure of areas with 
higher or lower access to services was created. 
This is referred to as the ‘accessibility’ score, 
which will appear throughout the City Plan as a 
metric to assess and monitor progress.

Exhibition and Engagement
The City Plan metrics, principles and priorities 
were tested and consolidated through the City 
Plan Studio (September 2023,) with over 500 
participants and stakeholders sharing their 
knowledge of the city. 

The city wide strategies and local area framework 
was developed through review and analysis of the 
evidence base, key strategic documents, urban 
design testing, and engagement (March to May 
2024).

Identifying 
Potential Sites

Overall 
Accessibility to 

Amenity

Spatial Data 
Analysis

Overlay 
Accessibility Score

Develop Growth 
Potential 

Scenarios

Define Priorities
Define Place 

Objectives

Define City wide 
and local area  
development 
potential and 

place objectives

Define City Plan 
Vision, Objectives 

and Framework

Assess against 
City Metrics

 Draft City Plan 
for Exhibition

Define Planning 
Envelopes

Confirm Vision 
and Principles

Define 
Neighbourhoods

Figure 1.3  City Plan Process and Methodology

Section 1 – Introduction • 24 
Page 72



26,120  
CITY RESIDENTS 
ABS Estimated Resident 
Population 2022

8%
HOUSEHOLDS ARE 
COUPLES WITH 
CHILDREN 
40.1%
LONE PERSON 
HOUSEHOLDS 

20 - 24
LARGEST AGE GROUP 
(18.2%) 

11,372
RESIDENTS BORN 
OVERSEAS (45.4%) 

23% OF CITY 
POPULATION ATTEND 
UNIVERSITY

$580/week
MEDIAN HOUSE 
RENTAL (Dec 2022)

$480/week
MEDIAN UNIT 
RENTAL (Dec 2022) 

14,660  
DWELLINGS

15.57km2  
LAND AREA

46% 
TWO BEDROOM 
HOMES

56.5%
HOUSEHOLDS 
ARE RENTERS
27.8% for Greater Adelaide 

1.78
AVERAGE 
HOUSEHOLD SIZE 

6.4%
SOCIAL HOUSING

89.7%
HIGH & MEDIUM 
DENSITY HOUSING

12,076
BUSINESSES

$22.0b
GROSS REGIONAL 
PRODUCT  
~18% of SA Economy

760 hectares
PARK LANDS 
29 PARKS 6 SQUARES

26.9%
CANOPY COVER 2022

CoA 
Emissions 
2019-20

12%  
Refrigerants

9% 
Waste

35% 
Transport

44% 
Stationary 
Energy

157,498
LOCAL JOBS

6,922
WORK & LIVE 
IN THE CITY

90.7%
EMPLOYED

321,500
DAILY VISITORS

$100.7m
CAPITOL WORKS 
INVESTMENT 2023/24

15 mins
FROM CITY TO 
AIRPORT

Data Sources: 
2019-2021 City of Adelaide Data
2022 City User Profile Report - McGregor Tan
City of Adelaide Community Profile - profile.id
City of Adelaide Economic Profile - economy.id
City of Adelaide Business by Industry - economy.id
City of Adelaide Housing Monitor - housing.id

Figure 1.4  Base data sets used to inform the City Plan

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 25 
Page 73



Strategic Context

The City Plan provides the framework to deliver 
on planning strategies and priorities at both the 
State and Local Government levels, guiding city 
wide strategies and the local area framework. 
The City Plan aligns with overarching 
objectives such as climate action, sustainable 
development, and urban growth management, 
while also considering infrastructure 
management and asset renewal. 

State Government Strategies
The State Planning Policies set out a framework 
for land use that aims to improve the liveability, 
sustainability and prosperity of the state. They 
provide, at a state-wide level, the vision for South 
Australia’s planning and design system.

State Planning Policies represent the highest 
level of policy in our planning system, and 
address the economic, environmental and social 
planning priorities for South Australia, and define 
the planning priorities, goals and interests for 
Regional Planning and the Planning and Design 
Code.

The City Plan aligns to the sixteen State Planning 
Policies, providing additional focus and relevance 
to these at a Council-wide level.

Greater Adelaide Regional Plan 
The Greater Adelaide Regional Plan (GARP) (in 
development) is the State Government’s strategy 
for the region for the next 30 years.  It will 
identify long-term urban land and infrastructure 
needs to sustainably support growth over a 15-30 
year timeframe.

The City Plan will inform the development of 
the GARP with aligned, evidence based priorities 
and strategies recognising the role the city 
plays in the broader metropolitan context and 
contributing to overall sustainable growth.

The State Government has acknowledged that 
for the purposes of regional planning the State 

Planning Policies can be grouped under four 
interconnected themes of: 

•	 People, Housing and Liveability
•	 Productive Economy
•	 Natural Resources, Environment and 

Landscapes
•	 Infrastructure and Transport.
These strongly align with the four priorities of the 
City Plan.

South Australian 20-Year State 
Infrastructure Strategy
The State Infrastructure Strategy Discussion 
Paper released in October 2023 contains the 
themes of enabling infrastructure, liveable and 
well planned places and improved resilience. 

These priorities align with the priorities of the 
City Plan and the shared ambition of the City of 
Adelaide and the State Government to grow the 
city’s resident population to 50,000 by 2036.

Providing the enabling infrastructure that will 
support the city’s capacity to double both its 
resident population and the 390,000+ current 
daily users will put Adelaide in a strong position 
to contribute to improved prosperity and 
wellbeing of all South Australians.

City of Adelaide Strategies
Strategic Plan 2024-2028

The ambitions of the City of Adelaide are 
outlined in several key strategic documents, 
under the umbrella of the Strategic Plan. The 
Strategic Plan articulates the overarching vision 
for Adelaide and outlines the strategic goals and 
priorities that the Council aims to achieve over 
the next four years. As the capital city of South 
Australia, Adelaide has a vital role to play in 
shaping the future of our state.

Our Adelaide. Bold. Aspirational. Innovative.

Section 1 – Introduction • 26 
Page 74



Housing Strategy – Investing in our Housing 
Future

The Housing Strategy is a comprehensive 10-year 
plan to increase housing supply and affordability 
in the City of Adelaide centred around goals of 
housing affordability, diversity, and sustainability. 
Targets such as the delivery of affordable rental 
properties and the promotion of electrification 
and adaptive reuse, directly contribute to the 
city’s broader objectives of creating inclusive, 
resilient, and sustainable communities.

Integrated Climate Strategy 2030

The Integrated Climate Strategy aims to halve 
emissions by 2030 and achieve net zero by 2035, 
emphasising climate resilience, decarbonisation, 
and the protection of natural ecosystems. 

Integrated Transport Strategy (in development)

The Integrated Transport Strategy, is anticipated 
to align closely with the objectives of the City 
Plan, particularly in transitioning to active and 
public transport-centric systems within the city. 
Emphasising the city’s commitment to creating 
more equitable and sustainable streets through 

integrated land use and transport planning to 
enhance the overall urban environment. 

Economic Development Strategy – A Thriving 
Economy for All (in development)

The Economic Development Strategy sets out 
how the City of Adelaide will achieve its vision 
of a thriving economy for all. The Strategy is 
focused on Adelaide’s existing advantages, 
including its green grid and creative industries 
and building on them, with consideration to 
global trends and challenges.  

Action Plans and Master Plans

The City of Adelaide’s Action Plans and Master 
Plans including the Stretch Reconciliation Action 
Plan 2024-2027 (in development), Disability 
Access and Inclusion Plan 2024-2028, Heritage 
Strategy and Action Plan 2021-2036, and Public 
Art Strategy inform the City Plan through the 
Local Area Framework. Master Plans such as 
the Hutt Street Master Plan and Light Square 
Master Plan (in development) as well as the Main 
Street Program provide detailed guidance for 
implementation.

A

City of Adelaide
STRETCH 
RECONCILIATION 
ACTION PLAN
1 July 2021 – 30 June 2024

Figure 1.5  Key documents referenced for the City Plan 

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 27 
Page 75



Caring for Country

Page 76



Page 77



Embedding First Nations perspectives and 
knowledge into the shaping of our city 
requires meaningful integration of Kaurna 
voices and perspectives into the planning 
and a collective vision, aspirations and co-
authored roadmap.

The City of Adelaide recognises the Kaurna 
people as the Traditional Owners of the 
Adelaide Plains and the Kaurna Yerta Aboriginal 
Corporation as the cultural authority for Kaurna 
Country.  

The City of Adelaide is committed to meaningful 
engagement with Kaurna people. This 
section outlines the process and approach to 
meaningfully embed First Nations perspectives 
and knowledge into our planning. 

We will continue to listen and learn from Kaurna 
people as we implement the City Plan. 

Kaurna Country
The following text has been written by Corey 
Turner as the City Plan’s Aboriginal advisor and 
Senior Kaurna Man – It is through his advice 
that the Kaurna context of the Local Areas 
(refer Chapter 5) has been developed. Adelaide, 

traditionally known as Tarndanyangga (Red 
Kangaroo dreaming place) is situated at the 
heart of Kaurna Country. Also at this location 
is the central catchment of the Karraiirra Pari 
Dreaming. These Dreaming stories originated on 
Kaurna Country and are essential to the creation 
of Kaurna, its people and Country. They reflect 
Country and how Kaurna have evolved over time. 

Kaurna people have a strong connection with 
Country, they see her values and strengths and 
they recognise her spirit, place, and purpose. 
The ancestors and the spirit of this Country are 
linked to all First Nations people. First Nations 
people are taken back through time, drawing a 
continuous connection to our past and to our 
traditions, instilling an ongoing respect for our 
land. 

When looking forward, we all must contribute to 
leaving this Country in a better state to which 
we found it. We also must overlook some old 
and out of practice policies and start to recorrect 
procedures, so we are able to walk together in 
reconciliation. 

Kaurna Collaboration
The City Plan has been developed with input 
from First Nations people and businesses. 
Through this collaboration, spaces and places 
that hold strong interest have been articulated.  

In implementing the City Plan, the City of 
Adelaide will consider the International 
Association for Public Participation (IAP2) 
framework at appropriate times, that may hold 
interest to: 

•	 Kaurna Yerta Aboriginal Corporation (KYAC), 
the Traditional Owner of Adelaide 

•	 KYAC’s Native Title interests
•	 KYAC’s Heritage and cultural values
•	 KYAC and First Nation peoples historical and 

cultural significant events and or moments 
•	 KYAC and First Nation peoples modern and or 

artistic interest may be located now or in the 
future

Caring for Country

Section 2 – Caring for Country • 30 
Page 78



What is IAP2
IAP2 is the International Association of Public 
Participation, commonly known as Spectrum 
of Public Participation. This international tool 
helps build clarity when engaging the public 
or community, when planning and making 
decisions on values and interest that will impact 
that community. It helps to identify how much 
influence the community has within that decision 
making process and planning. 

Guiding Principles 
The principles mentioned below are important to 
KYAC and the Kaurna community, as they help 
guide how Kaurna people’s lands and natural 
resources should be used and managed. They are 
shared here to help guide better engagement 
with others who share our Country and who 
potentially will become partners in the care and 
restoration of Country.  

Culture
KYAC will strive to uphold their cultural 
obligations as it relates to Caring for Country 
for future generations. KYAC aim to restore, 
revitalise and reconnect our traditional cultural 

customs and practices, and finally to maintain 
this connectivity for the future by ensuring 
Kaurna are not frozen in time. 

Partnerships
All lands, waters and living resources on 
Kaurna Country form the traditional Aboriginal 
landscapes and are maintained via the need for 
continuing connection to land, spirit and sky. Our 
partners must be clear and transparent about 
their rights and responsibilities in regards to 
helping restore and care for Country.  

Kaurna will be vigilant when collaborating 
on proposals and options for using Country 
and its resources. Progress must have shared 
and complete understanding of risks and 
consequences of developments and impacts 
that may be had on Kaurna Country. We expect 
the appropriate participation and collaboration, 
when there are decisions that will affect the 
interests and rights of this land and Kaurna 
people. Free, prior, and informed consent will be 
rewarded with strong, life long relationships and 
partnership. 

Recognition of Country using IAP2

Empower and 
Collaboration

Primary locations Karra Wirra Pari and its surrounding, Park Lands included. All current 
and future development within 250m from the banks of the river.

Collaboration and 
Involvement

Secondary 
locations

All surrounding Park Lands, including Tarndanyangga (Victoria Square), 
Light Square, Whitmore Square, Hindmarsh Square and Hurtle Square.

Involvement and 
Consultation

Third tier of 
locations

•	 Registered and/or known Aboriginal sites within CoA.
•	 Recognised landmarks, streets, buildings and known locations.
•	 Recognised monuments, impacts, moments and stories associated 

to First Nations and Kaurna history, culture, and stories.

Consult and Inform Fourth tier of 
location

All other development including major build development, location or 
site/places were the integration of First Nations and Kaurna culture can 
be built upon.

Figure 1.6  The above table highlights where Kaurna Yerta Aboriginal Corporation (KYAC)  and First Nations 
interests within COA planning and development processes may occur. 

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 31 
Page 79



Caring for Country
KYAC is Kaurna’s Representative and Peak 
advisory body. All matters impacting on the care 
of Country, land, sea and water rights, rivers 
and estuary, parks and reserves, and significant 
heritage and cultural sites and places, are 
expected to have appropriate engagement with 
KYAC at all opportunities. 

This also includes: 

•	 Where damage has been done through past 
activities, a sustained effort will be made to 
heal our Country 

•	 In the conservation and protection of the 
environment 

•	 In the use and management of medicinal and 
edible plants and animals  

•	 The use of Kaurna traditions, songline, tools 
and practices. 

This is to impart knowledge of who the 
Traditional Owners of Adelaide are, and that 
people are welcome to respect and enjoy Kaurna 
Country as Kaurna people have for thousands of 
years and for a thousand more to come

Kaurna Traditional Knowledge
Kaurna traditional knowledge will remain in 
the ownership of Kaurna people. There will be 
nothing that should or could impact on the 
right of Kaurna people and their intellectual 
knowledge. KYAC and Kaurna people will strive 
to maintain, control, protect and develop our 
traditional knowledge and cultural expression 
and practices. 

Economics
Care for the economic and social development 
of Kaurna People on Kaurna Land is a shared 
responsibility. KYAC and Kaurna people will 
exercise their right to pursue Kaurna economic 
and social development. The City of Adelaide 
and other government agencies are strongly 
encouraged to take reasonable actions to 
include KYAC and Kaurna people in the broader 
economic development of the state, and become 
leaders in this effort. All activities should be 
aware and designed to minimise harmful impacts 
on Country, particularly where significant cultural 
and heritage values occur.  

By effectively implementing these principles, 
both through our own efforts and by supporting 
those of others, it is anticipated that:  

•	 KYAC and Kaurna people will be increasingly 
recognised as the original owners of this 
Country with ongoing rights and obligations, 
and also seen not only as traditional owners 
but also as contemporary and future 
managers.  

•	 KYAC and Kaurna will have their intellectual 
and cultural property rights respected in all 
activities that relate to looking after Country.  

•	 KYAC and Kaurna’s partners and stakeholders 
will have a greater understanding and 
appreciation of Kaurna’s cultural values 
and responsibilities, and how supporting 
this relationship can make a strong positive 
contribution to the health and wellbeing of 
the broader community.

The City Plan prioritises the meaningful 
integration of Kaurna voices and perspectives 
into the planning and growth of Adelaide as 
we collectively establish the aspirations and 
roadmap for shaping the future of our city. By 
actively engaging with the Kaurna community, 
the plan aims to honour First Nations people’s 
heritage and ensure that future city development 
embraces their cultural values and aspirations. 

Section 2 – Caring for Country • 32 
Page 80



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 33 
Page 81



Urban Design 
Framework

Page 82



Page 83



The City Plan is underpinned by 
three principles: respecting our past, 
building resilience for future growth, 
and a city that welcomes all people. 
There are four City Plan priorities for 
sustainable growth in the city. 

Urban Design Framework

Section 3 – Urban Design Framework • 36 
Page 84



Pr
in

ci
pl

es

Respecting our past 
acknowledges Adelaide’s 

rich history, cultural heritage, 
and the contributions of its 

diverse communities. R
es

pe
ct

fu
l Building resilience for 

future growth recognises 
the challenges and 

uncertainties that lie ahead. R
es

ili
en

t A city that welcomes 
all people embodies 

inclusivity, accessibility, 
and social cohesion. W

el
co

m
in

g

Priority 1: A Greener 
and Cooler City Priority 2: Transit Diversity Priority 3: A City of 

Neighbourhoods
Priority 4: Housing Diversity 

for a Growing Population

Pr
io

rit
ie

s

 The city will 
invest time and/

or resources.

Lead

The city will actively 
seek partnership 

opportunities.

Partner

The city will utilise 
levers available 

to support 
implementation.

Facilitate

The city will seek 
out support and/

or partners to 
undertake state 

or nationally 
significant actions.

Advocate

The city will fulfil 
legislative roles 

and requirements

Regulate

C
ou

nc
il 

R
ol

es

Strategy 1 – A 
Green City Grid

Strategy 2 – Activating 
the Squares

Strategy 3 – Developing 
the City Spine 

Strategy 4 – Activating 
North South Laneways 

Strategy 5 – Enhancing 
East West Streets 

Strategy 6 –  
Establishing the City Loop Strategy 7 – New Housing Models 

C
ity

 W
id

e 
St

ra
te

gi
es

Green 
Infrastructure 

Index

Active and 
Public Transport 
Usability Index

Neighbourhood 
Index

Land Use 
Potential Index Growth Forecasts

C
oA

D
E

Implementation

City Plan Framework

K
au

rn
a 

C
ol

la
bo

ra
tio

n

Meaningful integration of Kaurna voices and perspectives into the planning 
and a collective vision, aspirations and co-authored roadmap.

East Terrace Whitmore Square Hurtle Square

Lo
ca

l A
re

as

Local Area Framework

Wellington Square O’Connell Street Melbourne Street North Terrace West Terrace

Light Square King William Hindmarsh Square Grote Gateway Wakefield Gateway

Figure 3.1  Plan on page

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 37 
Page 85



This City Plan document is an urban design 
framework that establishes a place-based 
blueprint for growth. It ensures that Adelaide 
remains a welcoming and vibrant destination 
for residents, workers, and visitors alike. It 
fosters prosperity and a sense of belonging 
within the community while Adelaide grows.

The Urban Design Framework responds to the 
existing performance of Adelaide according to 
three metrics:

•	 Population and jobs growth
•	 Climate resilience
•	 Equitable access and wellbeing.

To enhance city performance, the City of 
Adelaide is using an evidence-based index 
to measure the walking accessibility of its 
residents to social infrastructure and public 
amenities including open space, public transport, 
community facilities, local services and retail.

The index uses a 15 minute walking distance 
calculation (called an isochrone) which measures 

the distance people in the city need to walk to 
obtain the services and amenities they require for 
their health and wellbeing. 15 minutes represents 
a well-established average for how far people 
are willing to walk (or wheel) before they choose 
another form of transportation. 

The index shows population growth follows 
amenity, and business and jobs growth follow 
population. Each is interdependent.

The Overall Accessibility to Amenity Index 
draws on key indicators aligned with the 
City Plan priorities that contribute to the 
city wide strategies (Section 4), Local Area 
Framework (Section 5) and will be used to assess 
performance in implementing the City Plan 
(Section 6):

•	 Green Infrastructure Index
•	 Active and Public Transport Usability Index
•	 Neighbourhood Index
•	 Land Use Potential Index
•	 Growth Forecasts.

Urban Design Framework 

Score

Low 

Medium 

High

Very High

Figure 3.2  Analysis of 
overall accessibility to 
amenity within the city

Section 3 – Urban Design Framework • 38 
Page 86



City Plan Priorities
The Urban Design Framework identifies where population growth 
should be accommodated in the City of Adelaide while still enabling 
access to services, amenity, and quality open space.  

It identifies four City Plan priorities for sustainable growth in the city.

Environmental sustainability is a cornerstone of 
City Plan with a focus on increasing green spaces 
and streets throughout the city and the Adelaide 
Park Lands. 

The City Plan emphasises the importance of 
a well-connected and efficient transportation 
network, with a focus on mode shift to active 
transport and greater transit diversity.  

As a city of neighbourhoods, the City Plan 
will prioritise the enhancement of the many 
individual identities and places within the 
broader city fabric and embed place based 
objectives for growth. 

The City Plan supports diversity in housing 
options, neighbourhood design and will cater to 
a range of needs and demographics including the 
missing middle of housing.

A Greener and  
Cooler City Transit Diversity

A City of Neighbourhoods Housing Diversity for a 
Growing Population

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 39 
Page 87



A Greener and Cooler City

As our population grows and temperatures 
increase, the role of green spaces as cool 
refuges and connections are increasingly 
important. The City Plan seeks to create a green 
grid that enables 20 minutes of walking in 
continuous shade.

The City Plan addresses disparities in access 
to open space across the city by prioritising 
connection with, and improving amenities in, 
the western Adelaide Park Lands. Greening and 
cooling of city streets is prioritised where urban 
heat mapping identifies the hottest pedestrian 
locations and to provide connections between 
the City Squares. 

Expanding the open space network in 
underrepresented areas will be considered. This 
could entail acquiring additional land for park 
development, converting vacant lots into green 
spaces, or repurposing underutilised areas for 
recreational use.

Re-vegetating 
incorporating 
native vegetation

Improved pedestrian 
comfort

Understorey 
vegetation

Swales for water 
retention

Diverse 
recreational uses

Figure 3.3  Principles for promoting a greener cooler city

Section 3 – Urban Design Framework • 40 
Page 88



Figure 3.5  Green Infrastructure IndexFigure 3.4  Urban Heat Island Effect

High HighLow Low

Green Infrastructure Index

Green infrastructure includes all of the natural 
places and elements that provide environmental, 
economic and social benefits including parks and 
nature reserves, street trees, green roofs, rain 
gardens, cycle and pedestrian paths. The Green 
Infrastructure Index has been developed as a tool 
to measure and track progress towards achieving 
a Greener and Cooler City. 

By analysing factors such as the extent of 
urban heat effects, tree canopy cover, and 
the distribution and quality of open space, 
this index offers insights into the current state 
of green infrastructure across the city. The 
mapping above shows the existing Urban Heat 
Island effects within the city, and also maps 

the Green Infrastructure Index by bringing 
together tree canopy cover data with access 
to open space data. The analysis provides a 
comparative measure to identify areas requiring 
focused investment in Green Infrastructure. The 
index serves as a foundation for informing the 
development of strategic greening initiatives 
aimed at enhancing the urban environment, 
and can track the impacts of future greening 
initiatives.

The index takes into account the access and 
quality of open space across the city, examining 
factors such as proximity to parks, greenways, 
and recreational areas, as well as the condition 
and amenities available within these spaces. 

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 41 
Page 89



City Wide Strategies
The City Plan communicates where we need to 
create cooler, greener streets by connecting our 
City Squares to one another and the Adelaide 
Park Lands, through green infrastructure. 

The Greener and Cooler City Strategy focuses on 
reimagining our streets to address the needs of 
the community and build resilience for climate 
impacts. Streets and laneways are the arteries of 
our city and represent the largest proportion of  
public space. 

These spaces, when reimagined and rewilded, 
form vital green infrastructure within our cities, 
fostering biodiversity and resilience. Green 
streets should be designed for a diverse range of 

Figure 3.6  Existing Typical Street and Public Space

Figure 3.7  Greener and Cooler Typical Street and Public Space

A Greener and Cooler City

habitats through the inclusion of low planting 
of wildflowers, indigenous planting, and the 
incorporation of diverse microhabitats

Street greening will promote a walkable city, 
and should prioritise pedestrian and cycling 
infrastructure, supported by public transport 
accessibility. Additionally, the City Plan highlight 
existing open spaces which should be prioritised 
to deliver enhanced green infrastructure, through 
tree planting and enriching biodiversity. 

Section 3 – Urban Design Framework • 42 
Page 90



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 43 
Page 91



Transit Diversity

Increasing active 
transport

Public transport 
corridors

Multi-modal 
transport hubs

Designing higher 
density around 
transport hubs

The city boasts key attractions in North 
Adelaide and the Central Business District 
(CBD) which can be better connected through 
active and public transport. 

The City Plan seeks to encourage more people 
to choose to walk or cycle and support the 
Integrated Climate Strategy target by tripling the 
number of city workers who cycle to work, and 
doubling the number of residents who walk to 
work. 

The City Plan prioritises future investment in 
transport infrastructure by identifying areas that 
have both capacity for significant growth and 
currently provide below the city average public 
transport access. 

The Urban Design Framework advocates for 
investment in public transport, this includes the 
bus boulevard along Grenfell and Currie Streets, 
and areas of high population growth such as 
the Adelaide Central Market, West Terrace, East 
Terrace and O’Connell Street. 

Future infrastructure investment includes the 
investigation of expansion of the light rail 
network in North Terrace and King William Street 
to North Adelaide. 

Cycle networks across the city will be prioritised 
to address movement within the city for its 
residents and to support movement to and 
through the city to areas where public transport 
accessibility is low and to optimise connections 
to cycle networks that connect into the city from 
the inner suburbs. 

Figure 3.8  Principles for promoting transit diversity

Section 3 – Urban Design Framework • 44 
Page 92



Figure 3.9  Public Transport Accessibility

Train Stations

Tram Stops

Bus Stops

Figure 3.10  Active and Public Transport Usability Index 
(Existing)

High

Low

Active and Public Transport Usability Index

The Active and Public Transport Usability Index 
serves as a tool to evaluate the effectiveness of 
movement networks within the city, and support 
the prioritisation of public transport, cycling, 
and walking. By integrating public transport 
accessibility mapping and cycling accessibility 
mapping, this index provides valuable 
insights into the usability of active and public 
transportation options, and priority areas within 
the city for future street upgrades.

Through combining multiple layers of analysis, 
the index assesses the safety and overall 
experience of pedestrians and cyclists on 
movement corridors throughout the city. By 
examining factors such as route connectivity, 
infrastructure quality, and traffic flow, it offers a 
comprehensive understanding of the usability of 
these modes of transportation.

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 45 
Page 93



City Wide Strategies
The City Plan will develop the central urban spine 
of the city to connect North Adelaide to the CBD, 
and people to places through active and public 
transport. This includes linking key attractions 
including the Aquatic Centre, O’Connell Street, 
Adelaide Zoo, King William Street, the Adelaide 
Central Market and the southern Adelaide Park 
Lands. 

The City Plan’s focus on transit diversity and 
walkable experiences will be complemented by 
linking our priorities.  The delivery of A Greener 
and Cooler City, will directly contribute to a more 
walkable city promoting greater Active Transport.  
These infrastructure interventions will support 
the dual outcomes of cooling the city and 

Figure 3.11  Existing Typical Street

Figure 3.12  Potential Public and Active Transport Corridor

Transit Diversity

combating the urban heat island impacts, while 
also improving active transport infrastructure 
to support pedestrians, cyclist and e‑mobility 
throughout the city.  Continued planning and 
assessment on public transport service provision 
and infrastructure, such as the Light Rail Loop 
continue a focus on sustainable movement, 
transit diversity in the context of city growth and 
connecting neighbourhoods and places across 
the city.  

Section 3 – Urban Design Framework • 46 
Page 94



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 47 
Page 95



A City of Neighbourhoods

Enhancing 
place qualities

Improving 
accessibility

Improving 
greening

Increasing 
activation of 
high streets

The potential of our streets and laneways for 
social connection, business activation and 
active transport connections can be enhanced. 
The City Plan seeks to grow the number of 
people employed in the city from 130,000 in 
2021 to over 150,000 employees by 2036.

North Terrace, King William Street and Victoria 
Square are highly accessible parts of the City of 
Adelaide. Accessibility to community facilities is 
higher in most areas compared with access to 
retail, local services and the night-time economy.

The City Plan prioritises linking people to areas 
of high amenity including parks, community 
services, local services and retail and improve 
the local neighbourhood offer to activate streets 
and laneways and create unique walkable 
experiences.

Figure 3.13  Principles for creating a city of neighbourhoods

Section 3 – Urban Design Framework • 48 
Page 96



Figure 3.15  Neighbourhood Index

High

Low

Neighbourhood Index

The Neighbourhood Index measures access to 
community facilities, local services and retail, 
which indicate the vibrancy and diversity of 
existing neighbourhoods. Through a thorough 
analysis of accessibility to essential services 
and amenities, including community facilities, 
local services, and retail outlets, this index 
provides valuable insights into the liveability 
of each neighbourhood. By synthesising this 
data, the index offers a comprehensive view of 
the city’s walkability and identifies areas where 
improvements are needed to meet community 
needs and support future growth.

Figure 3.14  Liveability Locations

Community Facilities

Local Services

Retail Amenity

This dataset not only evaluates the availability 
of social infrastructure and public amenities but 
also highlights the accessibility of these facilities 
within neighbourhoods. The analysis helps 
identify areas requiring additional investments 
to enhance livability and create vibrant, inclusive 
neighbourhoods. By pinpointing areas with 
limited accessibility to essential services and 
amenities, city planners can prioritise targeted 
interventions to improve walkability and enhance 
the overall liveability of neighbourhoods.

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 49 
Page 97



City Wide Strategies
The City Plan will activate more north-south 
streets and laneways for pedestrians, businesses 
and visitors. This includes extending the 
Riverbank to Adelaide Central Market pedestrian 
link to South Terrace, connecting the southern 
Adelaide Park Lands to the East End via Hutt 
Street, and creating a new network of laneways 
in the west.

The city’s unique places and urban fabric will be 
walkable experiences from east to west. Through 
the City Plan we will encourage development 
along the main east west connections ensuring 
essential active and public transport connections.

Figure 3.16  Existing Typical Laneway

Figure 3.17  Potential Laneway Activation

A City of Neighbourhoods

Section 3 – Urban Design Framework • 50 
Page 98



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 51 
Page 99



Housing Diversity for a 
Growing Population

Cater for diverse 
communities

Mixed-use 
development

Public and 
acitve transport

Increased 
diversity in 
housing options

To achieve sustainable growth requires 
diversity in housing options, encouraging 
mixed use development, and supporting good 
neighbourhood design to cater to a range of 
needs and demographics. The City Plan seeks 
to grow the population to 50,000 by 2036 by 
adding approximately 1,000 dwellings per year 
over this timeframe. 

Our spatial plan looks to support and address 
housing diversity in the context of the City of 
Adelaide Housing Strategy: Investing in our 
Housing Future.

Diversity of housing supply in this context means 
housing for all, driving housing outcomes that 
attract and retain our residential population.  
This means market housing, social housing, 
affordable housing, student housing and 

adaptive reuse located within parts of the 
city where housing is supported by social 
infrastructure and transit diversity.  This also 
seeks to decrease the number of lone households 
in the city and increase our average per person 
dwelling rate of 1.8 persons per dwelling.   

The number of higher density towers has 
increased in recent years related to increasing 
overseas student numbers. Forward-thinking 
and flexible housing options with adaptable 
floor plans could accommodate a broad range 
of people at all stages of life: students, singles, 
couples, families, key workers and the ageing.  

There is opportunity for build-to-rent and other 
alternative housing models to create greater 
density and diversity across the city. 

Section 3 – Urban Design Framework • 52 
Page 100



Figure 3.18  Land Use Potential Index

High

Low

The City Plan identifies areas that have the 
capacity to accommodate higher levels of 
population growth. These areas will require 
investment in infrastructure to enhance 
accessibility, amenity and stimulate private 
investment in new housing.

Land Use Potential Index
The Land Use Potential Index has been developed 
as a tool to assess and track progress towards 
promoting housing diversity for a growing 
population within the city. By synthesising 
development potential metrics with development 
likelihood metrics, this index provides valuable 
insights into the current capacity of the city for 
growth and the potential for diverse housing 
options. Utilising the Land Use Potential dataset, 
city planners can assess the feasibility of various 

typologies and uses, laying the groundwork for 
a more inclusive and diverse urban landscape as 
the population grows to 50,000. 

The analysis considers a range of factors, 
including land ownership patterns, surrounding 
land uses, amenity, and development, to inform 
decision-making processes. By identifying areas 
with high development potential and likelihood, 
the index helps prioritise interventions aimed at 
promoting diverse housing options. This holistic 
approach ensures that urban development aligns 
with the Housing Diversity Priority, fostering a 
vibrant and inclusive cityscape that caters to the 
needs of a growing population.

The Land Use Potential Index 
provides multi-criteria analysis 
to indicate which sites are 
likely to be redeveloped 
within the short, medium and 
long term and which sites 
have the greatest potential 
to accommodate significant 
growth.

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 53 
Page 101



City Wide Strategies
A focus on the ‘missing middle’, or medium-
density housing, will deliver a broad range of 
housing options to welcome all ages, cultures 
and socio-economic cohorts. 

Terraces, with their compact yet flexible design, 
offer an opportunity for infill development and 
revitalisation of existing urban fabric, fostering 
a sense of neighborhood identity and character. 
Adaptive reuse initiatives breathe new life into 
heritage buildings and industrial sites, providing 
unique housing solutions while preserving the 
city’s architectural heritage. Medium density 
housing typologies such as walk up apartments 
strike a balance between density and livability, 
offering a transition between low-rise and high-
rise buildings, and integrating seamlessly into 
established neighborhoods.

Figure 3.19  Relevent diverse housing types and scales

Shop top housing presents an innovative 
approach to urban living, combining residential 
units with ground-floor commercial spaces, 
thus enhancing walkability and supporting local 
businesses. As the city grows, 4 to 6-storey mid-
rise buildings offer increased density without 
compromising on quality of life, providing 
residents with access to amenities and green 
spaces. Higher density (8-storey-plus high-rise 
developments) cater to the growing demand 
for vertical living, offering spectacular views 
and high-density living options in strategic 
locations within the city. Together, these housing 
typologies contribute to a vibrant and inclusive 
urban environment, ensuring that the city 
remains a desirable and accessible place to live 
for all its residents.

Housing Diversity for a 
Growing Population

Terrace Housing and Heritage Additions Walk up Apartments Shop top housing

Adaptive Re-use Integrated Terrace Frontage 
Multi-residential

Mixed Use 4 - 6 Storey Mixed Use 8+ Storey

Section 3 – Urban Design Framework • 54 
Page 102



Urban Design Elements
Alternative housing models – Exploring 
alternative housing models to address 
affordability challenges, meet community needs 
and build dynamic communities.

Adaptive reuse - Repurposing buildings for viable 
new uses and modern functions.

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 55 
Page 103



City Wide Strategies

Page 104



Page 105



City Wide Strategies have been developed 
to unlock the growth potential of the city 
and target intervention and investment in 
sustainable growth. Grounded in the evidence 
base provided by the city wide spatial 
analysis, the strategies provide direction for 
future investigations, investment, advocacy, 
planning and policy interventions. 

City Wide Strategies

Section 4 – City Wide Strategies • 58 
Page 106



Pr
in

ci
pl

es

Respecting our past 
acknowledges the Adelaide’s 
rich history, cultural heritage, 
and the contributions of its 

diverse communities. R
es

pe
ct

fu
l Building resilience for 

future growth recognises 
the challenges and 

uncertainties that lie ahead. R
es

ili
en

t A city that welcomes 
all people embodies 

inclusivity, accessibility, 
and social cohesion. W

el
co

m
in

g

Priority 1: A Greener 
and Cooler City Priority 2: Transit Diversity Priority 3: A City of 

Neighbourhoods
Priority 4: Housing Diversity 

for a Growing Population

Pr
io

rit
ie

s

 The city will 
invest time and/

or resources.

Lead

The city will actively 
seek partnership 

opportunities.

Partner

The city will utilise 
levers available 

to support 
implementation.

Facilitate

The city will seek 
out support and/

or partners to 
undertake state 

or nationally 
significant actions.

Advocate

The city will fulfil 
legislative roles 

and requirements

Regulate

C
ou

nc
il 

R
ol

es
C

ity
 W

id
e 

St
ra

te
gi

es

Green 
Infrastructure 

Index

Active and 
Public Transport 
Usability Index

Neighbourhood  
Index

Land Use 
Potential Index Growth Forecasts

C
oA

D
E

Implementation

City Plan Framework

K
au

rn
a 

C
ol

la
bo

ra
tio

n

Meaningful integration of Kaurna voices and perspectives into the planning 
and a collective vision, aspirations and co-authored roadmap.

Figure 4.1  Plan on page

East Terrace Whitmore Square Hurtle Square

Lo
ca

l A
re

as

Local Area Framework

Wellington Square O’Connell Street Melbourne Street North Terrace West Terrace

Light Square King William Hindmarsh Square Grote Gateway Wakefield Gateway

Strategy 1 – A 
Green City Grid

Strategy 2 – Open Space 
at your doorstep

Strategy 3 – Developing 
the City Spine 

Strategy 4 – Activating 
North-south Laneways 

Strategy 5 – Enhancing 
East-west Streets 

Strategy 6 – Establishing 
the City Loop 

Strategy 7 – New 
Housing Models 

Strategy 8 – Designing 
for Urban Life, Diversity 

and Density

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 59 
Page 107



Overview of Strategies

City wide strategies have been developed to 
unlock the growth potential of the city and 
target intervention and investment in sustainable 
growth. 

The  city wide strategies respond to the strategic 
context of the City of Adelaide and Greater 
Adelaide Regional Plan (GARP), are grounded 
in the evidence base provided by the City Plan 
spatial analysis and informed by engagement. 
City Plan policy alignment with the GARP 
is shown in brackets following the policy 
statement, i.e. (SPP 4.4).

The eight strategies provide direction for future 
investigations, investment, advocacy, planning 
and policy interventions.

Strategy 1 – A Green City Grid

Strategy 2 – Open Space at Your Doorstep

Strategy 3 – Developing the City Spine

Strategy 4 – Activating North-south Laneways

Strategy 5 – Enhancing East-west Streets

Strategy 6 – Establishing the City Loop

Strategy 7 – New Housing Models

Strategy 8 – Designing for Urban Life, Diversity 
and Density

Section 4 – City Wide Strategies • 60 
Page 108



 

City Squares

City Spine

Priority Green Streets and Active Transport 
Network

East-west Public and Active  
Transport Priority Streets

Public Transport Connections

 
North-south Activated Laneways and Streets

Rail Network 

Existing Light Rail

Potential Light Rail Extention

Strategic Sites and Places

GRENFELL       S T R E E T

O
’C

O
N

N
ELL  S TR

EET

H A L I FA X        S T R E E T

C U R R I E        S T R E E T

S T U R T        S T R E E T

G R O T E     S T R E E T WA K E F I E L D     S T R E E T

Figure 4.2  Overview of City Wide Strategies 

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 61 
Page 109



Urban Design Elements— 
The Primary Components 

The City Wide Strategies employ a 
range of urban design elements which 
are designed to promote a vibrant, 
liveable and functional city. 

A Greener and Cooler City
Multi-Functional Public Space –Incorporating 
amenities such as playgrounds, sports facilities, 
community gardens, and seating areas, as well as 
enhancing biodiversity through native plantings 
and habitat restoration projects.

Pedestrian Network – Creating pedestrian 
networks, installing lighting for safety, and 
establishing green, shaded corridors to link open 
spaces.

Public-Private Realm – Blurring the lines between 
public and private green spaces and pedestrian 
areas for a highly permeable city.

Civic Plazas – Creating vibrant communal spaces 
that foster social interaction, cultural exchange, 
and civic engagement within the city.

Transit Diversity
Light Transit – Advocating for State Government 
investment in public transport corridors with a 
focus on expanding the light rail network.

Safe Crossing Points – Undertaking safety 
upgrades to all road and path crossings by 2036.

Separated Bikeways – Delivering infrastructure 
for safe, separated and connected bikeways and 
walkways in the city and linking to the inner 
suburbs.

Boulevards – Transforming unsafe car-
dominated roads into leafy boulevards that 
enhance pedestrian safety, promote sustainable 
transportation options, offer a safer and more 
vibrant city environment.

A City of Neighbourhoods
Laneways – Improving the narrow multi-modal 
thoroughfares nestled between buildings; 
ensuring they are safe and enhancing them with 
planting, character, and opportunities for social 
interactions.

Urban Streets – Improving the safety and 
function of these mid-scale thoroughfares 
enabling diverse activities to converge with 
improved safety and appeal for cyclists, 
pedestrians, and retail spill out alike. 

High Streets – Creating a series of High Streets to 
be the vibrant arteries of urban life in the city—
serving as the heart of the city’s commercial and 
social activity. 

Boulevards – Transforming unsafe car-
dominated roads into leafy boulevards that 
enhance pedestrian safety, promote sustainable 
transportation options, offer a safer and more 
vibrant city environment.

Housing Diversity for a Growing Population 
Alternative Housing Models – Exploring 
alternative housing models to address 
affordability challenges, meet community needs 
and build dynamic communities.

Adaptive Reuse – Repurposing buildings for 
viable new uses and modern functions. 

Tenure Diversity – Encouraging housing tenure 
diversity to create a more resilient and inclusive 
community by providing options for renting, 
owning, and alternative housing arrangements, 
catering to diverse socio-economic needs and 
preferences

Typological Diversity – improving equity, 
inclusivity, and resilience by offering a range 
of housing options, including townhouses, 
apartments, and mixed-use developments, 
catering to varied lifestyles, life-stages and 
preferences within a community.

Section 4 – City Wide Strategies • 62 
Page 110



A Greener and Cooler City

Multi-functional Public 
Open Space

Pedestrian Network Public-Private Realm Civic Plazas

Light Transit Safe Crossing Points Separated Bikeways Boulevards

Transit Diversity

Laneways Urban Streets High Streets Boulevards

A City of Neighbourhoods 

Alternative Housing 
Models

Adaptive Reuse Tenure Diversity Typological Diversity 

Housing Diversity for a Growing Population 

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 63 
Page 111



High Priority Greening

Medium Priority Greening

Low Priority Greening

Strategy 1 – A Green City Grid

The city streets and Squares will form a 
green grid for the city, connected by shaded 
pedestrian paths and active transport. The 
green grid will create green corridors that 
contribute to cooling, climate resilience, 
biodiversity and comfort to the users of the 
city.
Through the City Plan we will create cooler, 
greener streets and  connect our City Squares to 
one another and the Adelaide Park Lands. 

Focused initially on the easy wins and less 
contested streets, greening will be prioritised 
on major thoroughfares such as Grote Street, 
Wakefield Street and Hindley Street. Greening 
initiatives will be staged incrementally across the 
city grid. 

Tree canopy cover will be prioritised along key 
pedestrian and cycle networks including Currie 
Street and Grenfell Street. The key routes which 
have been identified are the primary streets 
which intersect the Squares and connect with 
the Adelaide Park Lands, as well as key north-
south laneways. Where tree planting for canopy 
is not possible, other forms of shade cover will be 
considered. 

Streets that have limited potential for greening, 
such as those that are narrow or that have 
underground infrastructure that would prohibit 
deep soil planting, will be considered for 
footpath widening or removal of redundant 
utilities infrastructure. 

The Adelaide Park Lands Trail will be enhanced 
to provide a continuous walking and cycling 
loop throughout the Adelaide Park Lands. 
Improvements will include connections across 
the river between the CBD and North Adelaide, 
along the Karrawirra Pari Linear Trail. Key cycling 
and pedestrian paths will be prioritised to 
connect with the inner suburbs along key routes 
including Linear Park, Outer Harbour Greenway, 
Gawler Greenway, Marino Rocks Greenway, Mike 
Turtur Bikeway, Glenside Bikeway. Norwood 
Bikeway and Westside Bikeway.

North Terrace

Figure 4.3  Diagram of the Green City Grid

Section 4 – City Wide Strategies • 64 
Page 112



Figure 4.4  Existing Tree Canopy Cover

Figure 4.5  Potential Tree Canopy Cover

High

High

Low

Low

Current Condition

The existing tree canopy cover data indicates 
that the city core and the western edge of 
the city exhibit limited tree canopy cover. This 
suggests a disparity in green infrastructure 
distribution, potentially leading to higher 
temperatures, reduced air quality, and diminished 
biodiversity in these areas.

Strategy Impacts

Employing the Green Grid Strategy to prioritise 
the greening of streets, lane ways and City 
Squares will lead to a targeted approach in 
completing the green grid throughout the city. 
By strategically enhancing tree canopy cover 
in these locations, the Green Grid Strategy 
will not only improve the aesthetic appeal of 
urban spaces but also bolster climate resilience. 
Increased vegetation will mitigate the urban heat 
island effect, improve air quality, and provide 
habitat for wildlife, contributing to a more 
sustainable and liveable urban environment. 
In addition to this, by increasing tree canopy 
cover and green spaces in these areas, the Green 
Grid Strategy will enhance the walkability and 
pedestrian experience, encouraging more active 
modes of transportation and fostering a healthier 
urban lifestyle.

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 65 
Page 113



1Test

A Greener and Cooler City
1.1	 Lead an accelerated greening program for 

the city streets, providing a diverse range of 
accessible quality green public open spaces 
and streetscapes (Supports the delivery of 
State Planning Policy (SPP) 2.13 & 11.10).

1.2	 Lead the provision of a connected network of 
green infrastructure systems, including water 
sensitive urban design across the city and 
Adelaide Park Lands to mitigate the impact 
of extreme heat events (SPP 4.4 & 15.4)

1.3	 Partner on the protection the Adelaide 
Park Lands social, cultural, economic, 
environmental and National Heritage 
values, including enhancing pathways and 
connections to and from the Adelaide Park 
Lands (SPP 7.1 & 7.3).

1.4	 Advocate for stronger provisions within the 
Planning and Design Code to reduce the 
heat island effect within the city through 
landscaping and building design such 
as green roofs and walls, heat reflective 
materials and built shade (SPP 5.3 & 5.4). 

Transit Diversity
1.5	 Lead investigations to facilitate and 

extend bicycle and pedestrian networks in 
association with greening of city streets (SPP 
11.5).  

1.6	 Partner to improve pedestrian access across 
West Terrace to the Adelaide Park Lands 
including reviewing road design and function 
(SPP 11.4).

1.7	 Advocate for contraction of the road network 
and return of roadways to active transport 
or greening to support the development of 
green transport corridors (SPP 11.5). 

City Plan Policies

Strategy 1 – A Green City Grid

Typical Greening of East-west Street Active and Public Transport Priority Corridor

Planted Medians

Increase Tree Canopy

Dedicated Bus Lane

Dedicated 
Cycle Lane

Figure 4.6  Indicative approach to key Green City Grid policies

Section 4 – City Wide Strategies • 66 
Page 114



A City of Neighbourhoods
1.8	 Lead public infrastructure provision and 

public realm upgrades designed to increase 
climate resilience and future liveability of city 
neighbourhoods. (SPP5.2)

1.9	 Lead infrastructure projects that create 
comfortable pedestrian friendly streets that 
can be walked along safely at any time, day 
or night. 

Housing Diversity for a Growing Population
1.10	Lead public infrastructure provision to 

improve neighbourhood amenity that 
stimulates housing growth, with a focus on 
neighbourhoods which have high growth 
potential. (SPP 6.2 & 6.3).

Typical Active Frontages Residential Frontages

Streets designed 
for pedestrians

Green interface

Street activation 
through local services 
and outdoor dining

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 67 
Page 115



Strategy 2 – Open Space at 
Your Doorstep

The Adelaide Park Lands and the City 
Squares will be places for active and passive 
recreation and social engagement with a 
mix of urban uses around the Squares.
While respecting their historical importance, the 
Adelaide Park Lands and the City Squares will 
be reimagined as places at the heart of local 
communities. The City Plan recognises that the 
Squares will play an increasingly important open 
space function for residents, workers, businesses 
and visitors, particularly as the residential 
population grows and the density of the city and 
metropolitan Adelaide increases. 

Key areas of the Adelaide Park Lands have been 
identified as important local community spaces 
which can accommodate a range of recreational 
activities. These areas have the capacity to 
provide flexible spaces for a diverse range of 
recreational uses. City Plan indicates areas which 
are highly accessible to the local community and 
provide diverse experiences for local residents. 

A staged approach to master planning the 
Squares aligns with the Adelaide Park Lands 
Management Strategy to provide diversity of 
experience and will be undertaken with an 
initial focus on the north west of the city at 
Light Square. The design of the Squares will 
consider Kaurna culture, National Heritage 
listing, surrounding land use mix and transport 
movements.

The design of the City Squares and Adelaide Park 
Lands will respect its local fabric and identity 
while ensuring a cohesive role for all City Squares 
as an open space provision as the population 
grows.

Whitmore Square

Figure 4.7  Diagram of Square Activation

Activate City Squares

Diversify Adelaide Park 
Land uses

Green Connections

Recreational Spaces

Other Open Space

400m Walking Radius

Section 4 – City Wide Strategies • 68 
Page 116



Figure 4.8  Existing Green Infrastructure Index

Figure 4.9  Potential Green Infrastructure Index

High

High

Low

Low

Current Condition

The existing recreational open space accessibility 
data (see Figure 4.8) highlights a notable 
disparity in access to recreational open spaces, 
particularly in the city core and the western edge 
of the city. This limitation is attributed to the 
programming of these spaces for community 
needs, as well as pedestrian barriers caused by 
vehicular movement. As a result, residents in 
these areas face challenges in accessing and 
enjoying recreational amenities, which may 
impact overall wellbeing and quality of life.

Strategy Impacts

By activating the City Squares and Adelaide Park 
Lands for local recreational uses this strategy 
aims to address the accessibility gaps and foster 
vibrant, inclusive neighborhoods. By prioritising 
these spaces for community uses, such as 
recreational activities, cultural events, and social 
gatherings, the strategy transforms underutilised 
spaces into dynamic hubs for people. This 
approach facilitates the development of greater 
density neighbourhoods, as enhanced public 
spaces contribute to the attractiveness and 
livability of urban areas, supporting population 
growth and sustainable urban development.

Figure 4.9 illustrates the advantages of 
enhancing access to open space and optimising 
the City Squares and Adelaide Park Lands for 
community use. The analysis indicates that the 
western edge of the city will experience the most 
significant impact from these strategies.

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 69 
Page 117



2City

City Plan Policies

Strategy 2 – Open Space at 
Your Doorstep

A Greener and Cooler City
2.1	 Lead improvements to canopy cover and 

green infrastructure in the Adelaide Park 
Lands and City Squares to enhance climate 
resilience within the city, with a focus on 
reducing urban heat island effects (Supports 
the delivery of State Planning Policy (SPP) 
2.14). 

2.2	 Lead the enhancement of urban biodiversity 
across the city through native plantings and 
habitat restoration projects in the Adelaide 
Park Lands and city streets (SPP 4.3 & 4.4).

Transit Diversity
2.3	 Lead the provision of pedestrian priority 

crossings and cycling infrastructure to 
improve accessibility to the Adelaide Park 
Lands and the City Squares (SPP 11.5).

2.4	Lead the analysis of options for adjustments 
to north-south through traffic for City 
Squares, to enable improved pedestrian 
access to the City Squares (SPP 11.1 & 11.4).

2.5	 Facilitate the expansion of public open space 
around the City Squares through the removal 
of slip lanes and side-roads, and adjustments 
to on-street car parking (SPP 11.4). 

Lighting and safety 
elements

Expand walking and 
cycling network

Increase tree canopy

Figure 4.10  Indicative approach to key Open Space policies

Section 4 – City Wide Strategies • 70 
Page 118



A City of Neighbourhoods
2.6	Facilitate a better balance of play, relaxation, 

and recreation with efficient vehicle 
movement around City Squares (SPP 2.10 & 
11.4).

2.7	 Activate the Squares through the 
programming and amenity of each City 
Square to accommodate flexible, adaptable 
and diverse recreational activites. 

2.8	Facilitate provision of a diverse range of local 
open spaces in the Adelaide Park Lands to 
support our growing population (SPP 2.13).

Housing Diversity for a Growing Population
2.9	 Lead public infrastructure provision to 

improve neighbourhood amenity and access 
to open space that stimulates housing 
growth, with a focus on neighbourhoods 
which have high growth potential (SPP 6.2 & 
6.3).

2.10	 Lead changes to the Planning and Design 
Code that facilitate development that 
positively contributes to the public realm 
and open space provision through inclusion 
of active street frontages, plazas, green 
roofs and balconies (SPP 2.10).

Higher density 
associated with 
public amentiy

Activated Ground 
Floor Uses

Improve access to 
open space

Provide for diverse 
recreational uses

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 71 
Page 119



Strategy 3 –  
Developing the City Spine

The City Plan will promote the city as the 
State’s civic, cultural and commercial centre 
as well as providing a quality residential 
offering and a place which showcases the 
best of South Australia to the rest of the 
nation. 
North Adelaide and the CBD will be better 
connected by building upon the role of King 
William Street as a key movement corridor 
connecting the north to the south.
The City Plan will develop the central urban spine 
of the city to connect North Adelaide to the CBD, 
and people to places through active and public 
transport. This includes linking key attractions 
including the Adelaide Aquatic Centre, O’Connell 
Street, Adelaide Zoo, King William Street, the 
Adelaide Central Market and the southern 
Adelaide Park Lands.

The City Plan will prioritise extension of existing 
public transport connections into North Adelaide, 
investigate the potential for light rail expansion, 
and increase forms of active transport along the 
corridor.

The development of the city spine will 
support the targeted growth and sustainable 
development of key sites along O’Connell Street 
and reinforce its role and function as a high 
street.

King Wiliam Street Tram

Figure 4.11  Diagram of potential City Spine

Section 4 – City Wide Strategies • 72 
Page 120



Figure 4.12  Local Services Accessibility

Figure 4.13  Retail Accessibility

Low High

Low High

Current Condition

The existing local services and retail accessibility 
data indicate a concentration of amenities along 
King William Street, particularly in the southern 
portion of the central spine of the city. However, 
there is a notable gap in connectivity between 
these services and the modes of walkability, 
cycling, and public transport. Addressing this 
gap is crucial, with a particular emphasis on 
bridging the connection between North Adelaide 
and the City through the central spine to ensure 
equitable access to amenities for all residents.

Strategy Impacts

Developing the City Spine to establish a new 
public transport connection from North Adelaide 
to King William Street will significantly enhance 
the liveability of the city. This initiative will not 
only improve access to essential services and 
retail hubs but also facilitate greater density 
in surrounding neighborhoods. By providing 
efficient and accessible transportation options, 
the strategy fosters a more connected and 
inclusive urban environment that supports the 
diverse needs of the community.

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 73 
Page 121



3City

City Plan Policies

Strategy 3 –  
Developing the City Spine

A Greener and Cooler City
3.1	 Partner in the delivery of greening along the 

city spine and in conjunction with planning 
for a future light rail connection (Supports 
the delivery of State Planning Policy (SPP) 5.1, 
11.10 &15.4).

Transit Diversity
3.2	 Lead the delivery of improved pedestrian 

amenity along the city spine including 
priority crossings, particularly the southern 
end of King William Street (SPP11.5). 

3.3	 Advocate for a light rail connection from 
North Adelaide to North Terrace (SPP5.1 & 
11.5).

Activate Open Spaces

Local Services
Cycle Lane

Expand Light 
Rail Netowrk

Figure 4.14  Indicative approach to key City Spine policies

Section 4 – City Wide Strategies • 74 
Page 122



A City of Neighbourhoods
3.4	Partner in the delivery of the Adelaide 

Aquatic Centre, Market Square and 88 
O’Connell as key destinations and attractors 
along the city spine (SPP 2.5). 

3.5	 Facilitate community access to a broad 
range of convenient and affordable 
accommodation, services, employment and 
social opportunities with ease of access to 
the city spine (SPP2.1, 9.2 & 9.10). 

Housing Diversity for a Growing Population
3.6	Partner in the delivery of the Market Square 

and 88 O’Connell to contribute to the city’s 
housing supply (SPP6.5).

Extend Light Rail

Local Retail

Expand Tree Canopy

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 75 
Page 123



Strategy 4 –  
Activating North-south Laneways

North-south laneways will continue to 
be transformed into vibrant corridors for 
pedestrian movement, community connection, 
business activity and economic prosperity.

Extending the success of Peel and Leigh 
Streets in the west of the city, the City Plan will 
activate more north-south streets and laneways 
for pedestrians, businesses and visitors. This 
includes extending the Riverbank to Adelaide 
Central Market pedestrian link to South Terrace, 
connecting the southern Adelaide Park Lands to 
the East End via Hutt Street, and creating a new 
network of laneways in the west.

Design responses will seek to promote active 
ground floor building frontages and increased 
tree canopy cover. Whether through pop-up 
markets, outdoor seating areas, or cultural 
events, the city’s laneways will become dynamic 
spaces that attract residents, workers and 
visitors.The City Plan identifies three key north-
south connections as strategically significant:

Adelaide Markets Laneways
By extending the pedestrian link between the 
Riverbank and Adelaide Central Market to South 
Terrace, an integrated laneway experience will 
connect major cultural and commercial hubs and 
extend into residential areas.

Hutt Street
The enhancement of the Hutt Street active 
transport corridor will create a vital connection 
between the retail and recreation activity on 
Hutt Street and the dynamic commercial district 
of the East End, encouraging walkability and 
strengthening economic connectivity.

West Terrace Laneways
The establishment of a north-south pedestrian 
spine through the western part of the city will be 
achieved by enhancing street design, promoting 
greening, enabling active transportation and 
encouraging the development of vibrant business 
activities through the west.

Figure 4.15  Pedestrian Priority North-south Links

Hutt Street

Section 4 – City Wide Strategies • 76 
Page 124



Figure 4.16  Potential 
North-south Links

Figure 4.17  Existing North-south Links

Direct Indirect

Current Condition

The Existing North-South Walkability data reveals 
several insights into pedestrian movement within 
the city. It indicates a scarcity of suitable north-
south links for walking, with existing routes 
primarily serving vehicular and public transport 
needs. It highlights key locations where critical 
pedestrian connections, such as crossing points 
and through-site links, are lacking, contributing 
to challenges in pedestrian movement. The 
data analysis also highlights that existing north-
south links are not direct, further complicating 
pedestrian navigation within the city.

Strategy Impacts

Implementing the Activating North-South 
Laneways Strategy to prioritise key laneways 
and streets for pedestrian and active transport 
movement will significantly enhance the 
liveability of the city. By creating safer and more 
accessible pedestrian routes, this strategy will 
encourage active lifestyles, foster community 
engagement, and support the development of 
higher-density neighborhoods. The mapping 
to the right indicates the priority streets for 
pedestrian north-south movement, realised by 
providing key pedestrian crossings and through 
site links. Enhancing walkability will reduce 
reliance on cars, alleviate traffic congestion, and 
contribute to a more sustainable and vibrant 
urban environment. 

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 77 
Page 125



City Plan Policies

4City

A Greener and Cooler City
4.1	 Partner to extend the pedestrian link 

between the Riverbank and Adelaide Central 
Market to create a cohesive, green pedestrian 
laneway from Karrawirra Pari to the southern 
Adelaide Park Lands (Supports the delivery of 
State Planning Policy (SPP) 11.5).

4.2	Partner on the establishment of a green 
north-south pedestrian spine through the 
connection of local streets and laneways in 
the western part of the city (SPP 15.4).

Transit Diversity
4.3	Lead investment in the Hutt Street active 

transport corridor to connect the retail and 
recreation activity on Hutt Street with the 
commercial activity in the East End (SPP 1.8 & 
11.5)

4.4	Lead investment in the pedestrianisation 
of key north-south laneway links, including 
Western Laneways Link and Adelaide Market 
Laneways Link.

Strategy 4 –  
Activating North-south Laneways

Linear Park and 
Street Trees

Dedicated Cycleway

Shareway Expanded Footpath

Figure 4.18  Indicative approach to key North-south Laneways policies

Section 4 – City Wide Strategies • 78 
Page 126



A City of Neighbourhoods
4.5	Lead public infrastructure provision to 

encourage development that includes an 
active frontage and contributes positively 
to the public realm along city streets and 
laneways. (SPP2.10)

4.6	Facilitate opportunities for activation of 
laneways in line with neighbourhood identity 
(SPP 2.10.) 

Housing Diversity for a Growing Population
4.7	Lead public infrastructure provision and 

upgrades to the public realm to improve 
amenity that stimulates housing growth  
(SPP 6.2 & 6.3).

Street Lighting

Outdoor Dining

Shareway
Active Frontages

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 79 
Page 127



Strategy 5 –  
Enhancing East-west Streets

The city continues to evolve as a vibrant 
collection of places each with its own distinct 
identity and reason to visit and enjoy.

The city’s unique places and urban fabrics will be 
walkable experiences from east to west. Through 
the City Plan we will encourage development 
along the main east-west connections ensuring 
essential active and public transport connections.

The City Plan will encourage people to use 
all parts of the city through diverse offerings, 
ground floor activation, and ease of access on 
foot, wheel and public transport.  The City Plan 
identifies four east-west streets as strategically 
significant:

Currie / Grenfell Corridor
The Currie / Grenfell Corridor will enhance its 
existing role as a high-frequency bus corridor 
through dedicated bus and cycle lanes that 
improve functionality and accessibility. 

Wakefield / Grote Gateways
Positioned as significant gateways into the 
city, the Wakefield / Grote Gateways facilitate 
movement between the City of Adelaide and 
neighbouring eastern and western suburbs, 
including the Adelaide Airport. 

Melbourne Street 
The unique character and village feel of 
Melbourne Street will be extended to the west. 
This includes consideration of the changing 
nature of land uses as the Women’s and 
Children’s Hospital relocates and the former site 
is reimagined. 

Rundle to Hindley Streets
The pedestrian core of the city centre will 
be expanded to create a diverse, walkable 
recreation and retail corridor along the entirety 
of Rundle Street and Hindley Street. This includes 
considering the use of streets and adjoining 
laneways to create activation and economic 
prosperity.

Frome Street

Figure 4.19  East-West street enhancement corridors 

East-west Public and Active  
Transport Priority Streets

Public Transport Connections

Section 4 – City Wide Strategies • 80 
Page 128



Figure 4.20  Current Cycling 
Accessibility

Figure 4.21  Strategy Impact 
Cycling Accessibility Low

Low

High

High

Current Condition

The Cycling Accessibility data highlights a 
concentration of access points to the cycling 
network predominantly situated along the outer 
edges of the city, particularly within the Adelaide 
Park Lands. This suggests that efforts to enhance 
cycling infrastructure and accessibility should 
focus on expanding and improving connections 
at these peripheral locations to better integrate 
cycling into the city’s transportation network.

Strategy Impacts

Employing the Enhancing East-west Streets 
Strategy to prioritise pedestrian, active transport, 
and public transport movement along east-west 
corridors will significantly contribute to the 
city’s liveability and enable the development of 
higher-density neighbourhoods. By enhancing 
connectivity to the City Spine and key services, 
these east-west streets will not only improve 
access but also promote sustainable modes of 
transportation, fostering a more walkable and 
vibrant urban environment.

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 81 
Page 129



City Plan Policies

5City

A Greener and Cooler City
5.1	 Partner on the enhancement of the Grote 

Street Gateway as an ‘entrance to the 
city’ for visitors arriving from the Adelaide 
Airport through streetscape upgrades and 
recognition of Kaurna Country (Supports the 
delivery of State Planning Policy (SPP) 2.13, 
11.1).

Transit Diversity
5.2	 Lead a review of the existing boundaries of 

the Core and Primary Pedestrian areas in the 
Planning and Design Code with a view to 
extending the pedestrian areas (SPP 11.5). 

5.3	 Advocate for enhancements along Wakefield 
and Grote Streets focused on improving 
infrastructure and amenity to accommodate 
increased public transport utilisation, 
dedicated cycleways and vibrancy of the 
street experience (SPP 2.10 & 11.5).  

5.4	Advocate for changes to Planning and Design 
Code to strengthen policies to ensure the 
flow of key pedestrian routes remain free and 
uninterrupted in key pedestrian areas (SPP 5.1 
& 11.5).

Strategy 5 –  
Enhancing East-west Streets

Enhanced Greening

Activation of public space

Improved Public Transport

Figure 4.22  Indicative approach to key East-west Streets policies

Section 4 – City Wide Strategies • 82 
Page 130



A City of Neighbourhoods
5.5	 Lead public infrastructure provision to 

encourage development that includes an 
active frontage and contributes positively to 
the public realm along strategic east-west 
links. (SPP2.10).

5.6	Facilitate opportunities for activation of 
strategic east-west links in line with the 
neighbourhood identity (SPP2.10). 

Housing Diversity for a Growing Population
5.7	 Lead public infrastructure provision and 

upgrades to the public realm to improve 
amenity that stimulates housing growth (SPP 
6.2 & 6.3).

Promote Housing Diversity

Activate Street levelLocal services

Retain heritage character

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 83 
Page 131



Potential City Loop Alignment  
(indicative only and subject to  
further investigation)

Strategy 6 –  
Establishing the City Loop

A City Loop will be investigated to provide 
an easy way for people to move around the 
city and explore its neighbourhoods.
The City Plan’s focus on transit diversity and 
walkable experiences will be complemented by 
a light rail loop that provides for sustainable 
movement, transit-led growth and connected 
neighbourhoods and places. 

The City Loop will expand the existing light rail 
along North Terrace and Port Road providing 
an opportunity to hop-on and hop-off at key 
locations across the city.

The City Plan identifies the need to investigate 
mid to long term potential for light rail looping 
the city, connecting more of the city and 
encouraging future transit-oriented development. 
This will be progressed through our Integrated 
Transport Strategy and tested through CoADE.

North Terrace Tram

Figure 4.23  Diagram of the potential City Loop

Section 4 – City Wide Strategies • 84 
Page 132



Figure 4.24  Current Public 
Transport Accessibility

Figure 4.25  Proposed Public 
Transport Accessibility

Low High

Low High

Current Condition

The Public Transport data highlights that 
King William Street and North Terrace serve 
as key hubs for public transport access, with 
connections to both Light Rail and Heavy Rail 
Stations. However, areas such as East Terrace, 
West Terrace, and North Adelaide have limited 
access to public transport, predominantly relying 
on bus services for connectivity.

Strategy Impacts

Employing the Establishing the City Loop 
Strategy to propose a new Light Rail Loop will 
significantly enhance the liveability of the city 
and facilitate greater density in neighbourhoods. 
By connecting neighbourhoods to each other 
and the central spine, the loop will serve as a 
focal point for each area, promoting walkability 
and enhancing accessibility within the city.

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 85 
Page 133



Strategy 6 –  
Establishing the City Loop

The City Plan’s focus on transit diversity and 
walkable experiences will be complemented by 
a light rail loop that provides for sustainable 
movement, transit-led growth and connected 
neighbourhoods and places. 

The City Loop will expand the existing light rail 
along North Terrace and Port Road providing 
an opportunity to hop-on and hop-off at key 
locations across the city.

Through the City Plan we will investigate the 
longer-term potential for light rail looping 
the city, connecting neighbourhoods and 
encouraging future transit-oriented development. 

North Terrace Tram

Section 4 – City Wide Strategies • 86 
Page 134



City Plan Policies

6City

A Greener and Cooler City
6.1	 Advocate for the longer-term planning of 

West Terrace, Hallifax and Sturt Streets, and 
Hutt Street to accommodate greening and 
light rail (SPP5.1 & 11.5).

Transit Diversity
6.2	Advocate for an investigation into Light Rail 

alignment options which provides enhanced 
connectivity to both East and West Terrace, 
connects the south of the city (to meet 
SPP11.1) and maintains pedestrian accessibility 
across the city (SPP 5.1).

A City of Neighbourhoods
6.3	Facilitate changes to the Planning and Design 

Code to encourage mixed use development 
that supports active travel, walkability and 
the use of public transport (SPP5.1 & 11.5) .

Housing Diversity for a Growing Population
6.4	Partner for improved quality and diversity of 

housing in appropriate locations supported 
by infrastructure, services and facilities (SPP 
6.1, 6.2 & 6.5).

6.5	Investigate changes to the Planning and 
Design Code to allow for higher density 
development focused around future light rail 
stops.

Light Rail Loop activating public open space

Light Rail Loop along major boulevard

Active transport

Provide civic character

 Street Greening

Proposed Light Rail Loop

Retain existing character

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 87 
Page 135



Strategy 7 – New Housing Models

Residential growth in the city will see the 
introduction of new housing models and 
the conversion of underutilised sites for 
housing.
A focus on the ‘missing middle’ will deliver a 
broad range of housing options to welcome all 
ages, cultures and socio-economic cohorts.

Through the City Plan, we will focus on investing 
early in the social and civic infrastructure on 
the city’s western edge creating an attractive 
place for new residents and encouraging private 
investment in housing.

The City Plan identifies underutilised areas and 
high-potential sites throughout the city which 
have the potential to contribute to city-wide 
place outcomes. These sites include large and 
underutilised sites such as open lot car parks, 
warehouses, and expansive vacant allotments 
which are suitable for potential amalgamation 
and master planning.

The City of Adelaide will consider the 
acquisition, amalgamation, and development of 
underdeveloped or vacant sites to ensure land in 
the city centre is used to its full potential.

This includes acquisition and planned 
redevelopment of Flinders Street and Franklin 
Street sites to contribute to housing diversity and 
supply in the city.

New medium density housing models will provide future 
growth and activate civic spaces. (Reference East End, 
Newcastle, NSW) 

Figure 4.26  Key sites and places for growth

Section 4 – City Wide Strategies • 88 
Page 136



Figure 4.27  Current Overall 
Access to Amenity Index

Figure 4.28  Proposed Overall Access 
to Amenity Index

LowHigh

LowHigh

Current Condition

The Overall Access to Amenity data indicates that 
areas of the city with the greatest potential for 
growth, such as West Terrace, currently have the 
lowest access to amenity scores due to limited 
access to public open space, public transport, 
and community facilities. It also indicated that 
North Adelaide boasts good amenity along 
O’Connell Street, which could support future 
growth. The data also demonstrates that areas 
with the highest access to amenity, which are 
focused around the city core, have limited 
growth potential for future residential uses.

Strategy Impacts

Employing the new Housing Models Strategy 
to encourage a diversity of housing typologies 
focused on medium density (missing middle) 
will require investment in social infrastructure 
to unlock the potential of these areas. This 
investment is crucial for enhancing amenities 
such as public open spaces, public transport links, 
and community facilities, which are essential for 
supporting diverse and sustainable residential 
developments.

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 89 
Page 137



7City

City Plan Policies

A Greener and Cooler City
7.1	 Lead in the provision of well designed public 

places that are climate change resilient 
to ensure a comfortable environment for 
future liveability, to enable higher density 
neighbourhoods. (Supports the delivery of 
State Planning Policy (SPP) 5.3)

7.2	 Lead changes to the Planning and Design 
Code to embed sustainable design principles 
into housing design, enhance energy and 
resource efficiency and improve affordability 
through life cycle and running costs (SPP 5.3 
& 5.4). 

7.3	 Advocate for the development of 
environmentally sustainable buildings and 
places by applying Water Sensitive Urban 
Design and energy efficiency design solutions. 
(SPP 2.3)

Transit Diversity
7.4	 Advocate for growth in areas connected to 

and integrated with, existing and proposed 
public transport routes, infrastructure, and 
services (SPP 5.1).

7.5	 Advocate for mixed-use development around 
activity centres, public transport nodes and 
strategic transit corridors to encourage 
greater use of active transport options such 
as walking, cycling and public transport (SPP 
1.8 & 1.9).

Strategy 7 – New Housing Models

Figure 4.29  Indicative approach to new housing models policies

Section 4 – City Wide Strategies • 90 
Page 138



A City of Neighbourhoods
7.6	 Lead investment in new social and 

community infrastructure in the western 
parts of the city (SPP 6.3).

7.7	 Partner on changes to the Planning and 
Design Code to facilitate development that 
implements the policies of State Planning 
Policy 2 – Design Quality.

7.8	 Facilitate recognition of the unique character 
of areas by identifying their valued physical 
attributes in consultation with communities. 
(SPP2.8)

7.9	 Advocate for development of healthy 
neighbourhoods that include diverse housing 
options, enable access to local shops, 
community facilities and infrastructure, 
promote active travel and public transport 
use and provide quality open space, 
recreation and sporting facilities. (SPP 6.3).

Housing Diversity for a Growing Population
7.10	 Lead changes to the Planning and Design 

Code to facilitate development that 
improves the relationship between buildings 
and public spaces and the interface with 
neighbours. (SPP2.12)

7.11	 Partner for improved quality and diversity of 
housing in appropriate locations supported 
by infrastructure, services and facilities (SPP 
6.1, 6.2 & 6.5).

7.12	 Partner with the State Government to pilot 
Local Design Review.

7.13	 Partner on the adaptive re-use of existing 
buildings to unlock dwelling potential in 
underutilised buildings and provide an 
additional mode of housing supply  across 
the existing housing spectrum (SPP 3.2, 3.4 & 
7.4).

7.14	 Facilitate opportunities for innovative design 
and housing form in strategic locations 
through amendments to planning policy in 
the Planning and Design Code (SPP 2.7).

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 91 
Page 139



Consolidate CBD form

Potential extension of CBD form

Strategy 8 – Designing for  
Urban Life, Diversity and Density

The City Plan articulates the built form 
principles for enabling growth outcomes 
while considering local context and place.
In planning for urban development, careful 
consideration of height and its impact on the 
character and qualities of the city is essential. 
The approach should balance enabling density 
with preserving unique features and heritage 
character. This involves articulating a range of 
maximum theoretical heights for new buildings 
while ensuring they enhance rather than detract 
from the surrounding environment. 

The City Plan sets principles for height which seek 
to unlock the growth potential of the city and 
ensure it is a desirable place to live, work and 
visit, including:

•	 Protection of solar access to public open spaces. 
•	 Reinforce prominence of key places and 

streets, whilst protecting the amenity of these 
places.

•	 Protect and respond to the heritage character 
within the city.

The City Plan seeks to deliver an overall city form 
that consolidates taller buildings in the economic 
centre, with investigation of mid-scale height 
towards the southern residential areas and along 
main streets and around the City Squares. 

In addition to a place based height strategy, 
local area place principles will guide future 
development outcomes and protect existing 
character. Transitioning height around 
heritage built form interfaces ensures that new 
developments respect and complement existing 
architectural character while appropriate building 
separation enhances privacy and minimises 
noise transfer between adjacent properties. The 
built form of each local area will respond to the 
street and public realm with consideration for 
reinforcing or establishing street wall heights 
that maintain visual continuity and a sense of 
enclosure along streetscapes.

Figure 4.30  Place-based Height

On an individual site level, factors such as wind, 
solar access, views, and integration with the 
context must be carefully evaluated to maintain 
streetscape quality and amenity. This involves 
implementing built form principles such as upper 
level set backs or strategically placing awnings 
and canopies to mitigate wind effects and create 
comfortable outdoor spaces. 

Section 4 – City Wide Strategies • 92 
Page 140



Height Strategy Principles

Planning envelopes serve as the foundation 
for detailed scenario testing in urban design 
and planning, defining the physical parameters 
such as maximum height, setbacks, solar access 
provisions, and airspace restrictions within 
which development can occur. These baseline 
conditions inform more complex scenario testing 
to anticipate potential outcomes and guide 
decision-making. Developing planning envelopes 
that protect amenity in Adelaide involves 
integrating multiple criteria to ensure a balanced, 
sustainable, and resilient urban environment. 
This comprehensive approach prioritises both 
functional and qualitative aspects of urban 
design, preserving Adelaide’s unique heritage, 
promoting sustainable practices, and ensuring a 
high-quality urban living experience.

Heritage 
Interface 
Setback

Street Wall Height

Height tr
ansitio

n

Key principles include:

•	 Sun Access Protection: Future development 
should be guided by Sun Access Planes for 
key open spaces and places to protect solar 
access between 10am-2pm throughout 
the year. Future development should limit 
overshadowing of residential properties to 
allow for a minimum of two hours of direct 
solar access between 9am and 3pm at mid-
winter for each dwelling.

•	 Heritage Interfaces: Adelaide’s heritage 
contributes significantly to its character and 
charm. Developments on properties adjacent 
to heritage sites should be setback by 5m to 
preserve these historic elements.

•	 Airspace Restrictions: Prescribed airspace 
protection is necessary to ensure the safe 
operations of Adelaide Airport, defined by the 
Obstacle Limitation Surface (OLS) height limit 
and the Procedures For Airport Navigation 
Services — Aircraft Operations (PAN OPS).

This systematic approach ensures that planning 
envelopes support the protection of amenities, 
heritage preservation, and sustainable 
development, fostering a cohesive and vibrant 
urban environment.

Figure 4.31  Heritage and Residential Interfaces

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 93 
Page 141



Built Form Principles

Strategy 8 – Designing for  
Urban Life, Diversity and Density

Encourage diversity of built form and uses

•	 Provide a mix of building types within 
each local area which support mixed use 
development, including retail, commercial 
and community ground floor uses.

•	 Design large-scale lots, city blocks, or 
precincts to promote diverse uses and built 
forms that support long-term flexibility.

•	 Create a comprehensive master plan that 
allows for the collaboration of multiple 
developers and designers. 

Respond to place

•	 Retain and integrate elements of history 
to enhance the place including Kaurna 
culture, local and State Heritage and cultural 
infrastructure as identified in the Local Area 
Framework. 

•	 When transitioning height around heritage 
buildings or areas, respect for the existing 
context and architectural character is 
paramount, ensuring new developments 
harmonise with their surroundings.

•	 Gradual stepping or scaling down of building 
heights to mitigate visual impacts on open 
space, heritage structures and community 
spaces, and to protect solar access to these 
places.

Height transition to lower densities
Consistent street 
wall height

Solar access to residential

Section 4 – City Wide Strategies • 94 
Page 142



8City

Upper-level 
setbacks

Ground level 
activation Awnings to shelter 

street environment

Adequate building 
separation

Solar access to open space

Scale and massing of built form responds to 
desired local character

•	 Adequate building separation is essential to 
ensure privacy, daylight access, ventilation, 
and minimise overshadowing, maintaining 
access to views and sunlight.

•	 Setbacks help mitigate the visual impact of 
tall buildings by creating a sense of scale and 
openness at street level, and can provide 
opportunities for rooftop gardens, terraces, 
or outdoor amenities, contributing to urban 
greenery and liveability. 

Built form enlivens the ground plane and 
activates public space

•	 Reinforce street wall heights to maintain a 
consistent and cohesive urban fabric along 
the street frontage, and implement upper-
level setbacks to reduce overshadowing and 
maintain sunlight access to streets and public 
spaces.

•	 Strategically place awnings or verandahs 
to provide shelter from elements like sun 
and rain while enhancing the pedestrian 
experience, ensuring they positively 
contribute to streetscape aesthetics.

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 95 
Page 143



City Plan Policies

Strategy 8 – Designing for  
Urban Life, Diversity and Density

A Greener and Cooler City
8.1	 Lead in the provision of well-designed public 

places that improve the micro-climate 
at street level to ensure a comfortable 
environment that supports liveability and 
enables higher density neighbourhoods (SPP 
5.3 & 15.4).

A City of Neighbourhoods
8.2	Facilitate recognition of the unique character 

of areas by identifying their valued physical 
and cultural attributes in consultation with 
communities (SPP 2.8). 

8.3	 Lead changes to the Planning and Design 
Code to ensure development respects 
culturally and historically significant places 
and reflects the unique character of the local 
area (SPP 7.1). 

8.4	Facilitate opportunities for activation of 
city streets and laneways in line with the 
neighbourhood identity (SPP 2.10). 

8.5	Partner to stimulate investment, visitation 
and maximise opportunities for economic 
development in line with neighbourhood 
identity (SPP 9.10 & SPP 1.9).

8.6	Reinforce the primacy of the city centre as 
the business, cultural, entertainment, tourism 
and economic focus of Greater Adelaide.

Transit Diversity
8.7	 Lead the delivery of improved pedestrian 

amenity through laneways to facilitate 
opportunities for active transport, 
connectivity and activation of laneway 
frontages. 
 

Housing Diversity for a Growing Population
8.8	 Lead changes to the Planning and Design 

Code to facilitate development that 
prioritises good design outcomes and 
improves the relationship between buildings 
and public spaces and the interface with 
neighbours, particularly for strategic sites 
and places (SPP 2.5 & 2.12). 

8.9	 Lead changes to the Planning and Design 
Code to facilitate development at the 
interface between higher built form with 
more traditional low rise built forms, 
including through the management of 
streetscape character, access to natural 
light, visual and acoustic privacy, massing 
and proportions (SPP 2.11).

8.10	Reinforce key city boulevards, such as King 
William, Grote and Wakefield streets through 
taller contemporary buildings that create a 
sense of entry and frame these importance 
streets.

Section 4 – City Wide Strategies • 96 
Page 144



8.11	 Reinforce the special character of the main 
streets of Gouger, Hindley, Rundle and Hutt 
Streets through contextual design responses 
that increase activity and vibrancy while also 
preserving the elements that make these 
places special.

8.12	 Create vibrant and distinctive laneways, each 
with their own individual character, with 
small bars, resturants, shops and cafes that 
contribute to city vibrancy. 

8.13	 Reinforce the inner and outer built form 
edge of the Adelaide Park Land terraces by 
encouraging quality medium to high-rise 
mixed use developments that increase the 
diversity of housing while also contributing 
to, and activating, the public realm.

8.14	 Sustain the heritage, character and scale 
of valued residential precincts (including 
North Adelaide and the south-east and 
west corners) with contextually appropriate 
development that contributes to the needs 
of our growing population and provides 
services to the community.

Future built form should support growth and positive place 
outcomes

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 97 
Page 145



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 98 

Local Area Framework

Page 146



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 99 
Page 147



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 100 

Local Area Framework

The City Plan provides a local 
area framework that describes 
the identity and place principles 
for 13 neighbourhoods across 
the City of Adelaide as 
developed through engagement 
and spatial analysis. 

Page 148



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 101 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es

Respecting our past 
acknowledges the Adelaide’s 
rich history, cultural heritage, 
and the contributions of its 

diverse communities. R
es

pe
ct

fu
l Building resilience for 

future growth recognises 
the challenges and 

uncertainties that lie ahead. R
es

ili
en

t A city that welcomes 
all people embodies 

inclusivity, accessibility, 
and social cohesion. W

el
co

m
in

g

Priority 1: A Greener 
and Cooler City Priority 2: Transit Diversity Priority 3: A City of 

Neighbourhoods
Priority 4: Housing Diversity 

for a Growing Population

Pr
io

rit
ie

s

 The city will 
invest time and/

or resources.

Lead

The city will actively 
seek partnership 

opportunities.

Partner

The city will utilise 
levers available 

to support 
implementation.

Facilitate

The city will seek 
out support and/

or partners to 
undertake state 

or nationally 
significant actions.

Advocate

The city will fulfil 
legislative roles 

and requirements

Regulate

C
ou

nc
il 

R
ol

es

Strategy 1 – A 
Green City Grid

Strategy 2 – Activating 
the Squares

Strategy 3 – Developing 
the City Spine 

Strategy 4 – Activating 
North-south Laneways 

Strategy 5 – Enhancing 
East West Streets 

Strategy 6 –  
Establishing the City Loop Strategy 7 – New Housing Models 

C
ity

 W
id

e 
St

ra
te

gi
es

Green 
Infrastructure 

Index

Active and 
Public Transport 
Usability Index

Neighbourhood 
Index

Land Use 
Potential Index Growth Forecasts

C
oA

D
E

Implementation

City Plan Framework

K
au

rn
a 

C
ol

la
bo

ra
tio

n

Meaningful integration of Kaurna voices and perspectives into the planning 
and a collective vision, aspirations and co-authored roadmap.

East Terrace Whitmore Square Hurtle Square

Lo
ca

l A
re

as

Local Area Framework

Wellington Square O’Connell Street Melbourne Street North Terrace West Terrace

Light Square King William Street Hindmarsh Square Grote Gateway Wakefield Gateway

Figure 5.1  Plan on page

Page 149



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 102 

Local Area Framework

The City Plan provides a local area framework 
that describes the identity and place principles 
for 13 neighbourhoods across the City of 
Adelaide as developed through engagement 
and spatial analysis.

The place principles translate the city wide 
strategies to the local level and include other 
place-based interventions that support the 
priorities of the City Plan.

2
1

3

4

5

6

9

11

7

8

10
13

12

The neighbourhoods for the 
purposes of the City Plan local 
area framework area:

1.	 Wellington Square 

2.	 O’Connell Street 

3.	 Melbourne Street 

4.	 North Terrace 

5.	 West Terrace

6.	 Light Square 

7.	 King William Street

8.	 Hindmarsh Square 

9.	 Grote Gateway

10.	 Wakefield Gateway

11.	 Whitmore Square

12.	 Hurtle Square

13.	 East Terrace

The 13 neighbourhoods are based on form 
and function of the city, key main streets, City 
Squares, and current planning zoning and policy. 
The City of Adelaide recognises that there are 
many place identities and neighbourhoods across 
the city and North Adelaide and the boundaries 
of these places are overlapping.

Figure 5.2  Local Area Zones

Page 150



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 103 

The local area framework shows how a 
population of 50,000 residents by 2036 can be 
achieved while recognising and enhancing the 
unique and diverse qualities of the city and North 
Adelaide. 

The population density of each local area has 
been assessed along with its 15 year potential for 
growth, with areas identified as low, medium, or 
high growth potential (see Figure 5.3 and Table 
below). 

Areas with the highest growth potential are 
primarily concentrated in the west of the city in 
the Grote Gateway, West Terrace, Light Square, 
and Whitmore Square local areas. These areas 
have significant development potential through 
urban renewal for housing and business growth. 

Moderate change is anticipated in East Terrace 
and Hurtle Square local areas, while North 
Terrace, Wellington Square, O’Connell Street, 
and Melbourne Street local areas show limited 
capacity for growth.

2021 Pop. 15 year Horizon High 
Growth Potential (Pop.)

Potential Population 
Density (People per Ha)

Growth Breakdown By 
Local Area ( % increase)

Wellington Square 2,557 2,550 – 2,600 44.8 0.2%

O'Connell Street 2,307 3,250 – 3,950 68.9 5.0%

Melbourne Street 2,012 2,700 – 3,300 78.9 3.5%

North Terrace 1,511 2,950 – 3,600 33.5 6.5%

West Terrace 1,259 3,550 – 4,350 165.1 10.0%

Light Square 2,298 3,950 – 4,850 108.6 8.0%

King William Street 3,105 7,200 – 8,850 103.7 18.5%

Hindmarsh Square 1,883 3,250 – 4,000 61.2 6.5%

Grote Gateway 853 3,950 – 4,850 212.6 13.3%

Wakefield Gateway 569 2,150 – 2,650 127.2 7.0%

East Terrace 2,406 4,400 – 5,400 105.3 9.5%

Whitmore Square 1,783 3,000 – 3,650 139.6 5.5%

Hurtle Square 2,547 3,850 – 4,700 120.3 6.5%

Total / Average 25,090 ~50,000 87.4 100%

Figure 5.3  Potential Population Density (People per Ha)

 

44.8

68.9 78.9

33.5

165.1
108.6

103.7

61.2

213 127
105.3

139.6
120.3

Page 151



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 104 

Local Area 1: 
Wellington 
Square

Adelaide Park Lands walking and cycling trails

Existing Population 2,555 people

15 year Growth 
Horizon

2,550 – 2,600

0.2%  
of City Growth

44.8 
people per hectare

The Wellington Square Local Area will retain 
its character as a low density predominantly 
residential area with growth primarily from 
infill development and heritage adaption.

Bordered by the Adelaide Park Lands and 
the North Adelaide Golf Course which lines 
the river to the south, this local area boasts 
wide tree lined streets and large detached 
dwellings interspersed with 1950s and 1960s infill 
development. The local area includes Wellington 
Square which provides open space and passive 
recreational opportunities for the surrounding 
community.

The development character is one of heritage 
and historic buildings with large gardens and 
high tree canopy coverage. Existing community 
amenities, including a private hospital, 
consulting rooms, healthcare facilities and retail, 
will continue to support residents and local 
businesses. 

Future investment opportunities include:

•	 Improve public and active transport safety 
and priority with a focus on Jeffcott Street, 
Montefiore Road and connections to 
O’Connell Street, the Adelaide Park Lands and 
the inner suburbs. 

Kaurna Context
The Kaurna historical context for this local area 
is:

Kudnatu, meaning “third born child”, was 
the name of a Kaurna ancestor who today is 
recognised as the first Kaurna/Aboriginal person 
to be married to a European settler under the 
approval of the South Australia Protector of 
Aborigines in 1848. There were many relationships 
with Aboriginal people, some good and many 
bad, but Kudnatu led the way in being the first 
official Aboriginal woman to marry.

Page 152



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 105 

Adelaide Park Lands Trail North Adelaide Golf Course

Montefiore Hill Lookout

Page 153



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 106 

Key Spatial Analysis

Figure 5.4  Active and Public Transport 
Useability Index (Existing)

Figure 5.5  Active and Public Transport 
Useability Index (Potential)

High HighLow Low

Wellington Square has comparatively low 
accessibility to active and public transport 
compared with the city average. The highest 
accessibility is concentrated along the north 
eastern edge

Future investment in this area should focus 
on expanding the active transport network, 
particularly connecting it to the Park Lands, 
North Adelaide Railway Station and O’Connell 
Street.

The spatial analysis of Wellington Square suggests this area will experience minimal 
change, with low population growth, and the existing amenity in this area is suitable 
for low-density development. The data analysis demonstrates that the area has a 
high green infrastructure resilience score, with extensive tree canopy coverage, and 
good access to open space. Areas for future investment should focus on improving 
connectivity through expanded cycling networks and access to public transport. 
These services should focus on connecting Wellington Square Local Area to O’Connell 
Street, which provides access to community facilities, local services, and retail 
amenity.

Local Area 1: Wellington Square

EXISTING PROPOSED

Page 154



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 107 

The existing Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index demonstrates that the properties 
interfacing with the Golf Course are isolated from 
access to local amenity. Improving community 
uses and permeability in and through the Golf 
Course will improve the liveability of this area.

Future investment in this area should focus 
on diversifying the use of open space to meet 
community needs, as well as  providing improved 
cycling and public transport connectivity to 
access local services.

EXISTING PROPOSED

High HighLow Low

Figure 5.6  Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index (Existing)

Figure 5.7  Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index (Potential)

Page 155



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 108 

Place Principles
The place principles for the local area are:
•	 Retain the predominantly residential 

character of the local area, whilst supporting 
opportunities to improve access to amenities 
and services.

•	 Support active and sustainable transport, 
such as walking, wheeling, cycling and public 
transport, especially considering the close 
proximity to the CBD.

•	 Strengthen east-west active transport links 
to improve connection to O’Connell Street, 
and north-south on the Jeffcott-Montefiore-
Morphett corridor.

•	 Improve pedestrian connectivity to 
Wellington Square, including review of 
vehicular movements around the Square and 
safe pedestrian crossings.

•	 Investigate recreational open space uses 
and other activations appropriate for the 
character of Wellington Square and the 
diversification of the Golf Course for other 
open space uses.

•	 Strengthen pedestrian and cycling 
connections across the Adelaide Park Lands 
to North Adelaide Station, Thebarton and 
Bowden.

Local Area 1: Wellington Square

Active and sustainable transport

Maintain residential character

Recreational open space uses

Page 156



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 109 

Strengthen connection to 
North Adelaide Station

Improve pedestrian connectivity 
to Wellington Square / Kudnartu 

Strengthen east-west 
active transport links

Investigate diverse uses of 
recreational open space

Figure 5.8  Place Principles
City Squares

City Spine

Priority Green Streets & Active Transport 
Network

Public Transport Priority

Cycling Priority

Pedestrian Crossing

Public Transport & Cycling Connection

Priority Pedestrian Connection

Rail Network 

Existing Light Rail

Potential Light Rail Extension

Strategic Places

Place Anchor

Pedestrian Prioritised

Page 157



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 110 

Local Area 2:  
O’Connell Street

Adelaide Oval

Existing Population 2,307 people

15 year Growth 
Horizon

3,250 – 3,950

5%  
of City Growth

68.9 
people per hectare

The O’Connell Street Local Area, stretching 
from Pennington Gardens to Robe Terrace, 
will showcase a unique blend of existing 
heritage and new contemporary built 
form. Densification will be focused along 
O’Connell Street to leverage existing place 
qualities and coincide with investment 
in the main street, public transport and 
amenity .

The O’Connell Street main street is characterised 
by London Plane trees, restaurants and small 
retail offerings anchored by the North Adelaide 
Village neighbourhood scale supermarket. 
O’Connell Street has the potential to be a 
pedestrian focused boulevard supporting growth 
in small business and higher-density living along 
its core.

The local area is predominantly residential 
towards the east and west of O’Connell Street 
with mature street trees and low rise heritage 
and character buildings.  The local area also 
includes mixed land uses including hospitals, 
consulting rooms, restaurants, shops and hotels.

The northern end of the local area is the 
location of the new Aquatic Centre which is 
well connected to supporting ancillary services 
and amenities, including the sporting and 
recreational activities associated with the 
northern Adelaide Park Lands.

This local area is forecast to experience low to 
moderate growth.

Page 158



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 111 

North Adelaide Village

Residential lane way

St Peter’s Cathedral

Future investment opportunities include:

•	 Redevelop the Women’s and Children’s 
Hospital site into mixed use residential and 
commercial uses in a manner sensitive to the 
surrounding Adelaide Park Lands.

•	 Leverage the development of 88 O’Connell 
Street to support additional vibrancy in the 
main street including business and tenancy 
mix, extended trading hours, and adaptive 
reuse of existing buildings for shop-top 
housing.

•	 Connect North Adelaide and the inner 
suburbs to the city through a light rail loop 
improving the connection between O’Connell 
Street and Adelaide Oval and supporting 
transport mode shift for O’Connell Street.

Kaurna Context
The Kaurna historical context for this local area 
is:

O’Connell Street gateway heading north is 
the first hill rise as you leave Adelaide on your 
journey north along the old Kaurna songline. 
This songline is a trade line that goes from Victor 
Harbour in the south to Alice Springs in the 
far north. All major roads within Kaurna were 
traditional tracks and or songlines telling stories 
of trade, places and the purpose of Kaurna’s 
movements across the Country.

Page 159



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 112 

Key Spatial Analysis

Figure 5.9  Active and Public Transport 
Useability Index (Existing)

Figure 5.10  Active and Public Transport 
Useability Index (Potential)

O’Connell Street Local Area has moderate 
accessibility to active and public transport 
compared with the city average. The highest 
accessibility is concentrated along O’Connell 
Street.

Future investment in this area should focus 
on expanding the public transport network, to 
reinforce the connection to King William Street. 
A potential Light Rail extension along O’Connell 
Street should be investigated. The above data 
indicates the broader benefits of this strategy.

O’Connell Street Local Area presents a moderate growth potential, with significant 
projected population increase and density change along O’Connell Street. The area’s overall 
liveability score is moderate, supported by relatively higher scores in amenity indices, 
especially in community facilities and local services. However, the area faces challenges in 
cycling and public transport accessibility, ranking 9th and 10th, respectively out of the 13 
local areas. Nevertheless, O’Connell Street boasts a relatively better open space accessibility, 
ranking 5th out of the 13 local areas. Future investments should prioritise enhancing public 
transport connectivity to support the projected population increase.

Local Area 2: O’Connell Street

EXISTING PROPOSED

High HighLow Low

Page 160



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 113 

Figure 5.11  Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index (Existing)

Figure 5.12  Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index (Potential)

O’Connell Street Local Area has moderate 
to above average accessibility to community 
facilities and local services. These are focused 
along O’Connell Street and the Women’s and 
Children’s Hospital Precinct.

The City Spine Strategy further reinforces 
O’Connell Street as a high street, with supporting 
strategies for expanding the Green Grid providing 
benefits throughout the area.

EXISTING PROPOSED

High HighLow Low

Page 161



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 114 

Place Principles
The place principles for the local area are:
•	 Support mixed use development on the 

Women’s and Children’s Hospital site to meet 
the needs of North Adelaide residents and 
provide a destination for visitors.

•	 Provide a protected cycleway along the 
O’Connell - King William Street corridor, as an 
important contribution to the wider cycling 
network. 

•	 Investigate options to connect North 
Adelaide to the CBD with public transport, 
including expanding the City Connector bus 
service and extending the tram line from 
North Terrace to North Adelaide (city wide 
strategy).

•	 Support the vibrancy and economic activity 
of the local area, including:
•	 Extended business trading hours and 

diversify tenancy mix to address retail 
and commercial vacancies

•	 Public realm and streetscape greening
•	 Protecting small businesses by 

maintaining small shopfront character 
and limiting large tenancy spaces within 
larger developments .

•	 Support residential growth to underpin the 
provision of new community infrastructure 
and local economic development while 
maintaining local identity, character and 
amenity.

•	 Diversify housing supply by converting vacant 
or underutilised space above ground floor 
shops or small offices (shop top housing), 
repurposing existing structures, and 
revitalising heritage and character buildings 
through innovative adaptive reuse.

Protected cycleway

Public transport Connections to CBD

Support vibrancy and economic activity

Local Area 2: O’Connell Street

Page 162



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 115 

Strengthen connection to 
Adelaide Aquatic Centre

Women’s and Children’s 
Hospital Precinct master 
plan support mixed 
use development

Provide a protected 
cycleway

Investigate options to 
connect public transport

Figure 5.13  Place Principles
City Squares

City Spine

Priority Green Streets & Active Transport 
Network

Public Transport Priority

Cycling Priority

Pedestrian Crossing

Public Transport & Cycling Connection

Priority Pedestrian Connection

Rail Network 

Existing Light Rail

Potential Light Rail Extension

Strategic Places

Place Anchor

Pedestrian Prioritised

East-west link 
connecting with spine

Page 163



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 116 

Local Area 3: 
Melbourne 
Street

The Lion Hotel heritage building

Existing Population 2,012 people

15 year Growth 
Horizon

2,700 – 3,300

3.5%  
of City Growth

78.9 
people per hectare

The Melbourne Street Local Area will be 
enhanced as a local main street offering 
diverse and interesting services and 
experiences complementary to nearby 
O’Connell Street. Growth along the main 
street will consider shop top housing to 
support a growing residential population 
and business vibrancy.

The local area is predominantly residential with 
leafy tree lined streets and includes areas of 
the Adelaide Park Lands including Lefevre Park 
/ Nantu Wama (Park 6), Bundeys Paddock / 
Tidlangga (Park 9) and Bullrush / Warnpangga 
(Park 10). 

Characterised by a mix of historic dwellings and 
modern urban living, Melbourne Street is central 
to the local area and has the capacity to grow 
the residential population, in turn supporting 
existing and new small businesses. 

Clustered character buildings are located towards 
the north-east and south-west ends of Melbourne 
Street which offers a mix of small scale retail, 
cafes, restaurants, medical and commercial uses. 
The laneways surrounding the main street are 
characterised by compact low rise residential 
development.

Page 164



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 117 

Historic buildings and modern urban living

Character shop frontages along Melbourne Street

Leafy tree lined residential streets

Future investment opportunities include:

•	 Redevelop the Women’s and Children’s 
Hospital into mixed use residential and 
commercial uses as an additional anchor to 
the western edge of Melbourne Street and 
drawing the main street character further 
west.

•	 Address the road, cycling and pedestrian 
function of Melbourne Street consistent with 
its main street function through traffic and 
improved pedestrian infrastructure.

Kaurna Context
The Kaurna historical context for this local area 
is:

Kudnatu, meaning “third born child”, was 
the name of a Kaurna ancestor who today is 
recognised as the first Kaurna/Aboriginal person 
to be married to a European settler under the 
approval of the South Australia Protector of 
Aborigines in 1848. There were many relationships 
with Aboriginal people, some good and many 
bad, but Kudnatu led the way in being the first 
official Aboriginal woman to marry.

Page 165



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 118 

Key Spatial Analysis

Figure 5.14  Green Infrastructure Index (Existing) Figure 5.15  Green Infrastructure Index 
(Potential)

High HighLow Low

The Melbourne Street Local Area currently has 
high accessibility to open space, ranking above 
the city’s average. This is focused in the southern 
edge of the area.

Improving walkability within the precinct will 
provide greater access to the surrounding Park 
Lands and amenity.

Melbourne Street demonstrates a growth potential similar to O’Connell Street, with 
low to medium existing liveability metrics and low potential for growth. The area 
struggles with public transport accessibility, ranking last in 13th place, and access to 
cycling network, ranking 12th. While the overall accessibility alignment is moderate, 
there’s a notable deficiency in retail amenity and night-time economy accessibility. 
Future investments should prioritise improving public transport accessibility to 
bolster the area’s growth potential. Enhancements to the cycling network could also 
contribute to overcoming accessibility challenges and fostering development along 
Melbourne Street.

Local Area 3: Melbourne Street

EXISTING PROPOSED

Page 166



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 119 

The Overall Access to Amenity Index highlights 
the broad spectrum of accessibility to amenity 
within the area. The south of the precinct 
benefits from high access to amenity and this 
dissipates moving northward. 

Future investment should focus on more 
evenly distributing public amenity through out 
the precinct, and providing public transport 
connections north to south.

EXISTING PROPOSED

Figure 5.16  Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index (Existing)

Figure 5.17  Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index (Potential)

High HighLow Low

Page 167



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 120 

Place Principles
The place principles for the local area are:
•	 Redevelop the Women’s and Children’s 

Hospital to leverage and extend the 
Melbourne Street main street character west 
across Jerningham Street.

•	 Support vibrancy and activation of the local 
area through enabling diversity of housing 
and uses,  including exploring options for 
shop top housing on Melbourne Street.

•	 Investigate opportunities to increase public 
transport connectivity to North Adelaide and 
the CBD, including consideration of the City 
Connector bus service and in the longer term, 
tram connectivity.

•	 Enable the main street function of Melbourne 
Street by prioritising pedestrian movement, 
supporting small businesses, maintaining 
small shopfronts, and limiting the large 
tenancy spaces within larger developments.

•	 Improve connections into the surrounding 
Adelaide Park Lands and throughout the local 
area through public realm and local street 
greening.

Local Area 3: Melbourne Street

Support vibrancy and activation of local area

Explore options for shop top housing

Prioritise pedestrian movement to support main street 
function of Melbourne street

Page 168



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 121 

Figure 5.18  Place Principles
City Spine

Priority Green Streets & Active Transport 
Network

Public Transport Priority

Cycling Priority

Public Transport & Cycling Connection

Priority Pedestrian Connection

Existing Light Rail

Potential Light Rail Extension

Strategic Places

Place Anchor

Pedestrian Prioritised

Support mixed use 
development

Investigate options to 
increase public transport

Prioritise pedestrian 
movement

Page 169



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 122 

Local Area 4: 
North Terrace

River Torrens / Karrawirra Pari

Existing Population 1,511 people

15 year Growth 
Horizon

2,950 – 3,600

6.5%  
of City Growth

33.5 
people per hectare

The North Terrace Local Area, spanning 
from the Adelaide Botanic Garden and 
National Wine Centre in the east to the 
Adelaide Biomedical Precinct and Bonython 
Park in the west, will leverage good access 
to public transport, local services, and 
employment opportunities to support 
growth in business, education and tourism.

The North Terrace Local Area is characterised by 
state level facilities and strong built form along 
the northern side of North Terrace created by 
government and cultural institutions including 
the Art Gallery, South Australian Museum, 
Government House and the Riverbank precinct. 

The merged Adelaide University and the new 
Flinders University campus in Festival Plaza will 
provide a strong higher education focus for the 
local area. The local area supports contemporary 
multicultural Australia and Kaurna cultural 
connections.  It contains the emerging health 
and Biomedical Precinct at the western end, 
entertainment hub located centrally and Lot 
Fourteen innovation district at the eastern end.

The local area is well connected to public 
transport along the entire length of North 
Terrace, facilitated by the tram line and access 
to the Adelaide train station. A wide pedestrian 
boulevard on the northern side of North Terrace 
connects the train station to the Adelaide 
Botanic Garden. 

Growth in this local area will continue to be 
higher density residential development, including 
short-term accommodation, student housing, 
and apartments. Towards the King William Street 
intersection, a vibrant nightlife and retail scene 
further enriches the dynamic character of the 
local area, ensuring North Terrace will remain a 
thriving and inclusive urban hub.

Page 170



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 123 

Biomedical and Education Precinct

Adelaide Railway Station

North Terrace Cultural Boulevard

Future investment opportunities include:

•	 Improve connections to the River Torrens / 
Karrawirra Pari  that strengthen cultural and 
recreational uses, and enhance permeability, 
greening, and visual connection of the local 
area to the River Torrens / Karrawirra Pari.

•	 Establish a contiguous pedestrian boulevard 
along the northern and southern sides of 
North Terrace.

•	 Activate the retail and commercial frontages 
on the southern side of North Terrace to 
increase vibrancy and safety of the street 
through passive surveillance and improve 
laneway connections to the commercial 
centres of Rundle Mall and Hindley Street.

Kaurna Context
The Kaurna historical context for this local area 
is:

The River Red Gum Forest, or Karrawirra, lies 
within the heart of the Kaurna dreaming story 
about the River Torrens/Karrawirra Pari. This 
story explains the connection the Kaurna 
people have with the spirit world and the Milky 
Way. There are stories, events and moments 
all along this region, with some being central 
to Kaurna knowledge. Many of these are also 
about Kaurna’s relationship and connectivity to 
European settlers and how these interactions 
have had a hand in the history of Kaurna and all 
Aboriginal people.

©kina

Page 171



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 124 

High

High

Low

Low

Local Area 4: North Terrace
Key Spatial Analysis
The spatial analysis of North Terrace reveals a low existing population and density 
but with a significant projected increase, indicating high potential for growth. 
This area excels in overall accessibility, with amenities scoring well across all 
subcategories, particularly in public transport accessibility, ranking 1st, and a strong 
cycling network, ranking 2nd out of the 13 local areas. In comparison to other local 
areas, North Terrace’s infrastructure and amenities position it above the city average, 
setting a high standard for development and expansion.

EXISTING

PROPOSED

Figure 5.19  Neighbourhood Accessibility Index (Existing)

Figure 5.20  Neighbourhood Accessibility Index (Potential)

Page 172



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 125 

High Low

High Low

EXISTING

PROPOSED

North Terrace ranks highly across most liveability 
metrics. A significant challenge for the North 
Terrace Local Area is access to the community 
facilities. Delivery of the community facilities in 
this area would support residential growth in this 
area. 

The existing Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index highlights high scoring concentrated in the 
centre of the North Terrace Local Area, due to its 
high public transport accessibility and retail uses.

By providing additional community facilities in 
the west of this local area, the liveability scoring 
across will be dispersed more evenly throughout 
this local area.

Figure 5.21  Overall Accessibility to Amenity Index (Existing)

Figure 5.22  Overall Accessibility to Amenity Index (Potential)

Page 173



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 126 

Place Principles
The place principles for the local area are:
•	 Extend the shaded pedestrian boulevard 

along North Terrace to the west connecting 
Lot Fourteen to the Biomedical Precinct and 
to the east connecting with the National 
Wine Centre.

•	 Invest in the pedestrian boulevard on the 
southern side of North Terrace to improve the 
pedestrian experience and support business 
and shop-front activation, particularly of uses 
that continue into the evening.

•	 Support connectivity to the commercial 
centres of Rundle Mall and Hindley Street 
through improved laneway connections and 
wayfinding.

•	 Strengthen the physical and visual 
connection and permeability of the local area 
to the River Torrens / Karrawirra Pari.

•	 Enhance the use of the tram along North 
Terrace  by providing intersection priority and 
better accessibility to tram stops including 
the longer term consideration of a light rail 
loop (city wide strategy).

•	 Support active transport use through 
protected cycle  lanes along North Terrace 
and additional cycle connections with the 
River Torrens / Karrawirra Pari path network.

•	 Diversify housing supply by converting 
vacant office buildings into residential 
accommodation, while maximising the 
utilisation of retained embodied energy and 
activating dormant spaces.

•	 Encourage pop-up activities, especially 
between festivals and events, to support 
engagement with local businesses and the 
cultural institutions in the local area.

Local Area 4: North Terrace

North Terrace light rail connections

Enhanced connectivity across River Torrens/Karrawirra Pari

Extend shaded pedestrian boulevard

Page 174



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 127 

Extend shaded pedestrian 
boulevard west towards 
the Biomedical Precinct

Support connectivity to 
the commercial centres

Invest in pedestrian boulevard 
and shop-front activation along 

southern side of North Terrace

Figure 5.23  Place Principles
City Squares

City Spine

Priority Green Streets & Active Transport 
Network

Public Transport Priority

Cycling Priority

Public Transport & Cycling Connection

Key Intersection

Priority Pedestrian Connection

Rail Network 

Existing Light Rail

Potential Light Rail Extension

Strategic Places

Place Anchor

Pedestrian Prioritised

Pedestrian Crossing

Prioritised Greening

Page 175



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 128 

Local Area 5: 
West Terrace

Vehicle dominated environment

Existing Population 1,259 people

15 year Growth 
Horizon

3,550 - 4,350

10%  
of City Growth

165.1 
people per hectare

The West Terrace Local Area will be 
transformed into a pedestrian scale 
boulevard creating an attractive and 
liveable western edge of the city.

The West Terrace Local Area, bordered to its west 
by the Adelaide Park Lands, is characterised by 
low-rise built form. The local area is a prominent 
western approach to the city and provides a 
first impression of the city on arrival from the 
Adelaide Airport. 

Development fronting West Terrace is 
commercial in nature including entertainment, 
restaurants, showrooms, a school, service 
stations, hotels, and fast food outlets. The width 
of the West Terrace roadway results in a vehicle-
dominated environment. Landmark buildings are 
the Rydges Hotel at the south west corner and 
the State Heritage listed Newmarket Hotel at the 
north west corner of West Terrace. 

Centrally through the local area the land use mix 
comprises student accommodation, residences, 
a church, a school, and businesses with multiple 
large underutilised vacant land parcels. The local 
area is predominantly residential towards South 
Terrace interspersed with small scale businesses 
and retail.

This local area has significant potential for 
growth, with substantial investment at all levels 
of government and the private sector a key 
factor in success.

Page 176



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 129 

Future investment opportunities include:

•	 Address the form and function of West 
Terrace with a view to narrowing the 
roadway, reducing vehicle volumes and 
speed, incorporating light rail infrastructure, 
increasing greening and improving safe 
pedestrian crossings to the Adelaide Park 
Lands. 

•	 Encourage master planning of large and 
under-utilised land parcels central to the local 
area to contribute to the local identity and 
improve pedestrian permeability, amenity 
and activation.

•	 Create fine grain connectivity, greening and 
pedestrian activation through connecting 
small streets and laneways, that enable 
people to wind from the southern residential 
areas centrally through the local area to 
North Terrace and the Biomedical Precinct 
including the new Women’s and Children’s 
Hospital. 

•	 Improve access to open space, community 
facilities and public transport for existing 
residents and to unlock future growth 
potential.

Kaurna Context
The Kaurna historical context for this local area 
is:

During the last 188 years, it has been recorded 
that many Kaurna people camped within the 
area, living on the Country and building a 
relationship with the land. In 1844 there was 
a large inter-tribal fight, between the Kaurna 
and Ramindjeri people, now known as the 
Ngarrindjeri people from Encounter Bay and 
Murray River. They clashed within this area, 
and it is recorded in state records as having 
mounted police attempting to stop the fighting. 
Today many Aboriginal people still gather in the 
western Adelaide Park Lands.

Adelaide Park Lands

City Skate in the western Park Lands

West Terrace Cemetery

Page 177



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 130 

Walkability Network Analysis (Existing) Walkability Network Analysis (Potential)

Direct DirectIndirect Indirect

Improving walkability within the local area will 
improve the overall liveability within the area. 
The above analysis illustrates the existing north-
south pedestrian connections which are focused 
along the vehicle prioritised streets including 
West Terrace.

By providing strategically located pedestrian 
crossings and through site links additional north-
south pedestrian links can be promoted along 
key laneways. These links will enable better 
pedestrian access to surrounding amenity.

Key Spatial Analysis
West Terrace presents low to medium existing liveability metrics but with substantial projected 
growth, indicating high potential for change. Despite this, the area faces challenges in open 
space accessibility, ranking 10th out of the the 13 local areas, public transport accessibility, 
ranking 9th and cycling network, ranking 8th of the the 13 local areas. However, West Terrace 
benefits from a relatively good access to local services, ranking 8th of the the 13 local areas. 
Despite challenges, there are a number of opportunities for providing social infrastructure to 
support higher population growth, including better connections to and utilisation of the Park 
Lands and improving walkability within the area. 

Local Area 5: West Terrace

EXISTING PROPOSED

Page 178



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 131 

The Overall Accessibility to Amenity Index reveal 
a combined low liveability score for West Terrace. 
This is a result of limited access to open space, 
public transport and community facilities within 
the area.

The potential Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index demonstrates a significant improvement, 
as a result of improving connectivity, 
reprogramming surrounding open space for 
community uses and providing a new community 
centre within the area.

Overall Accessibility to 
Amenity Index (Existing)

Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index (Potential)

High HighLow Low

EXISTING PROPOSED

Page 179



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 132 

Place Principles
The place principles for the local area are:
•	 Improve urban wayfinding to increase the 

cohesiveness across the area, including:
	– Improving streetscapes of small 

intersecting lanes and streets, including 
widening footpaths, prioritising 
pedestrians, and improved signage

	– Providing a continuous active transport 
north-south link within the laneways 
network to provide an alternative route 
to West Terrace for local connections.

•	 Diversify recreational uses within the south 
west Adelaide Park Lands with passive and 
active recreational options for residents and 
visitors.  

•	 Improve access to the Adelaide Park Lands, 
by increasing opportunities for people 
walking, wheeling and cycling to safely and 
conveniently cross West Terrace, focusing on 
connecting key streets and destinations.

•	 Develop West Terrace as a ‘boulevard’ to 
improve the character and pedestrian 
experience along West Terrace, including 
ground floor activation by future 
development.

•	 Investigate a light rail loop along West 
Terrace as an approach for transitioning to 
public and active transport modes (city wide 
strategy). 

•	 In the long term, leverage the completion 
of the Greater Adelaide North South Road 
Corridor by redirecting current through traffic 
to South Road, including by:

	– Exploring the potential to reduce the 
number of car lanes on West Terrace, 
creating space for walking, wheeling and 
cycling with a green buffer

	– Exploring a reduction in the speed limit 
along West Terrace. 

•	 Retain and adaptively reuse existing buildings 
where appropriate to foster sustainability, 
retain embodied energy, and preserve 
streetscape character:

	– Newmarket Hotel (State Heritage Place)
	– Former dwellings previously converted to 

commercial 
	– Two storey shop tops 
	– Warehouse conversions.

•	 Support a mixed use neighbourhood, 
densification and diversification of housing, 
additional local services, and potential for 
commercial development, including a health 
focus to the northern end of the local area.

Enhance connections to the Park Lands Develop West Terrace as a boulevard

Local Area 5: West Terrace

©

Page 180



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 133 

Improve access to the 
Adelaide Park Lands

Provide a continuous 
active transport route 
within the laneways

Diversify Park Lands uses 
for both passive and 

active recreational uses

Investigate the addition 
of a light rail loop

Place Principles

City Squares

City Spine

Priority Green Streets & Active Transport 
Network

Public Transport Priority

Cycling Priority

Public Transport & Cycling Connection

Key Intersection

Priority Pedestrian Connection

Rail Network 

Existing Light Rail

Potential Light Rail Extension

Strategic Places

Place Anchor

Pedestrian Prioritised

Pedestrian Crossing

Prioritised Green Laneways

Page 181



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 134 

Local Area 6: 
Light Square

University of South Australia City West Campus

Existing Population 2,298 people

15 year Growth 
Horizon

3,950 - 4,850

8%  
of City Growth

108.6 
people per hectare

The Light Square Local Area will transform 
through increased university and health 
and medical uses, with more residential 
developed supported by improved access to 
open space and community facilities.

The Light Square Local Area is being shaped 
by the expanded university presence and 
development of the Biomedical Precinct 
including the Royal Adelaide Hospital and new 
Women’s and Children’s Hospital to the north of 
the local area. 

Characterised by art, culture, education and late 
night activities in Hindley Street, the Light Square 
Local Area supports a vibrant day and night time 
economy. Key land uses include UniSA, Tafe, 
JamFactory , Tafe Arts Centre, MOD, Adelaide 
Symphony Orchestra Grainger Studio and Hindley 
Street Music Hall.  New residential development 
centred around Light Square / Wauwi is 
contributing to revitalisaton of the local area. 
Restaurants, hotels and accommodation are also 
taking advantage of the vibrant night life.

Currie Street which serves an important role as 
a public transport corridor for the city, is a key 
east-west road in the local area.

The Light Square Local Area has high potential 
for growth due to its successful night time 
economy and mix of land uses that are attractors 
for residents and visitors.

Page 182



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 135 

Future investment opportunities include:

•	 Encourage new commercial development, 
medium to high rise residential development 
and adaptive reuse of high vacancy 
commercial buildings. 

•	 Encourage master planning of the local area 
including Light Square and Hindley Street 
main street and leverage recent investment 
into the local area to activate open space 
and attract further mixed use and residential 
development.

•	 Encourage the clustering of art and 
education functions with creative uses, 
services and businesses.

•	 Investigate linking Light Square to its 
western edge, providing better access and 
permeability supporting activation of the 
space.   

•	 Invest in infrastructure to support active 
transport and the pedestrian experience on 
Currie Street through reduced reliance on use 
for vehicles traveling through the city.

•	 Manage the interface between the night 
time economy and population growth with 
measures to maintain safety and ensure 
appropriate sound mitigation.

Kaurna Context
The Kaurna historical context for this local area 
is:

Meaning “female kangaroo”, this area of Adelaide 
also relates to Kadlitpinna’s wife Wauwe. She was 
married to one of Kaurna’s most recognisable 
leaders at the time of European settlement in 
Adelaide. Kadlitpinna was one of three Kaurna 
leaders who spoke for the Kaurna people and 
Country.

Hindley Street

Lion Arts Centre

Tafe Arts Centre

Page 183



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 136 

Key Spatial Analysis

Figure 5.24  Cycling Accessibility Index (Existing) Figure 5.25  Cycling Accessibility Index 
(Potential)

High HighLow Low

Light Square exhibits low to medium existing liveability metrics with significant 
projected growth, indicating high potential. The area demonstrates moderate 
to high  social infrastructure accessibility, with amenities scoring well across all 
subcategories. Notably, public transport accessibility scores high, ranking 4th of the 
the 13 local areas. In comparison to other local areas, Light Square’s infrastructure 
compensates for its poor open space accessibility, setting it above the city average 
for development opportunities.

Local Area 6: Light Square

EXISTING PROPOSED

A significant challenge for the Light Square Local 
Area is access to the cycling network. This is due 
to vehicle movement prioritisation within this 
area.

Delivery of the expanding cycling network 
would result in better connecting residents 
with open space and local services. Additionally 
this initiative will improve the quality of street 
experience.

Page 184



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 137 

EXISTING PROPOSED

Figure 5.26  Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index (Existing)

Figure 5.27  Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index (Potential)

High HighLow Low

The existing Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index highlights high scoring along the eastern 
edge which transitions to below average scoring 
moving south-west.

The potential Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index analyses the impact of implementing new 
public transport connections, cycling network 
expansion and optimising open space usage 
within Light Square, demonstrating the potential 
for better liveability scoring across the area.

Page 185



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 138 

Place Principles
The place principles for the local area are:
•	 Activate the accessible space within Light 

Square / Wauwi, including consideration of 
traffic movement and pedestrian access to 
the Square to facilitate the creation of an 
oasis within the city.

•	 Strengthen green connections in the western 
areas of the city and to Light Square and the 
Adelaide Park Lands, including wayfinding, 
shaded active transport and biodiversity 
corridors (city wide strategy). 

•	 Enable the main street function of Hindley 
Street by prioritising pedestrian movement, 
supporting small businesses, and enabling 
vibrancy and activation of the local area 
through extended business trading hours and 
diversification of business and tenancy mix.

•	 Explore adaptive reuse options in the 
local area, particularly for high vacancy 
commercial buildings and returning dwellings 
previously converted to office back to 
residential use.

•	 Support the high growth potential of the 
local area by providing opportunities to 
increase local services, social infrastructure 
and retail amenities.

•	 Prioritise student accommodation and 
services due to proximity to education 
facilities and subsequent dominant student 
demographic.

•	 Support pop-up activities for festivals, events 
and spread to support the changing nature 
and creative character of the space.

•	 Create an accessible pedestrian centred area 
to further activate the streets and increase 
safety.

•	 Create protected cycle paths along Morphett 
Street and an east-west cycle route along 
Waymouth Street, as part of a dense grid of 
quality cycle routes, to enable more people 
to cycle.

Prioritise pedestrian movements

Strengthen connections to Light Square / Wauwi

Prioritise student accommodation and services

Local Area 6: Light Square

Page 186



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 139 

Strengthen green 
connections to the west

Support pop-up 
activities and festivals

Explore adaptive 
reuse options

Prioritise pedestrian 
movement,  upgrading 
key intersections 
and routes

Figure 5.28  Place Principles
City Squares

City Spine

Priority Green Streets & Active Transport 
Network

Public Transport Priority

Cycling Priority

Public Transport & Cycling Connection

Key Intersection

Priority Pedestrian Connection

Rail Network 

Existing Light Rail

Potential Light Rail Extension

Strategic Places

Place Anchor

Pedestrian Prioritised

Pedestrian Crossing

Prioritised Greening

Page 187



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 140 

Local Area 7: 
King William 
Street

King William Street tram connection

Existing Population 3,105 people

15 year Growth 
Horizon

7,200 - 8,850

18.5%  
of City Growth

103.7 
people per hectare

The King William Street Local Area, 
concentrated around King William Street 
and with Tarntanyangga / Victoria Square 
at its heart, will leverage its existing high 
amenity and proximity to public transport 
and local services for increased growth.

The King William Street Local Area is recognised 
as a cultural and commercial boulevard, diverse 
in both character and the range of amenities and 
services it offers. The CBD is at the north of the 
local area gradually reducing in intensity towards 
the south. 

At the heart of the local area and the CBD, is the 
significant cultural meeting place, Tarntanyangga 
/ Victoria Square, which has both historical and 
existing Kaurna importance as well as being a 
popular event location.

King William Street is a major road north to 
south through the city with tram stops along 
the length of the boulevard improving the 
public transport function of the city.  All east-
west running streets meet within this local area 
resulting in a main city boulevard that is vehicle 
dominated.

This local area has the potential to support 
moderate to high growth within the city.

Page 188



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 141 

Future investment opportunities include:

•	 Address the road, cycling and pedestrian 
function of King William Street with a 
view to reducing vehicle volumes and 
speed, increasing greening and prioritising 
pedestrian crossings, with a focus on active 
transport connections at the southern end.

•	 Encourage master planning of large and 
under-utilised land parcels on or near to King 
William Street suitable for redevelopment or 
adaptive reuse to residential uses.

•	 Improve the east-west connectivity within 
the city through both public transport and 
greener corridors that provide cooler more 
pleasant place to walk and cycle and provide 
stronger connections to King William Street.

Kaurna Context
The Kaurna historical context for this local area 
is:

The “Place of the Red Kangaroo Dreaming”, 
Tarndanyangga is traditionally referencing the 
whole of Adelaide and surrounding parklands as 
it is the centre of the Red Kangaroo Dreaming. 
This place holds significant cultural values and 
is central to Kaurna’s connection to the Country 
and its relationship to its people. Today Victoria 
Square acknowledges the traditional and central 
camp of the Tarndanya Clan. This space is still a 
very significant meeting place for Kaurna and all 
Aboriginal people today.

Kind William Street is a main road north to south through 
the city

Victoria Square / Tarntanyangga

Adelaide Town Hall

Page 189



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 142 

Local Area 7: King William
Key Spatial Analysis

Figure 5.29  Green Infrastructure Index 
(Existing)

Figure 5.30  Green Infrastructure Index 
(Potential)

High HighLow Low

King William Street Local Area showcases high liveability existing metrics coupled with 
a substantial projected population increase, indicating high potential. The area benefits 
from good public transport accessibility, ranking 2nd, supporting its growth trajectory. 
However, there is room for improvement in open space accessibility, ranking 7th. Despite 
this, King William demonstrates moderate to high overall accessibility to amenities 
across all community facilities, local services and retail. Compared to other local 
areas, Victoria Square’s infrastructure and amenities position it above the city average, 
presenting opportunities to increase population density.

Local Area 7: King William Street

EXISTING PROPOSED

A significant challenge for the King William 
Street Local Area is east-west cycling 
connectivity. Currently  the City Spine divides 
the city east west, with limited crossings for 
pedestrians and cyclists. 

Expanding the cycling network to connect with 
and across King William Street would result in 
improving local resident access to key services 
and amenity.

Page 190



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 143 

EXISTING PROPOSED

Figure 5.31  Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index (Existing)

Figure 5.32  Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index (Potential)

High HighLow Low

The existing Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index highlights high scoring focused along King 
William Street. 

The potential Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index analyses the impact of implementing 
new public transport connections, expanding 
cycling network, and enhancing the recreational 
useability of Victoria Square demonstrates the 
potential for further enhancing liveability scoring 
within the area.

Page 191



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 144 

Place Principles
The place principles for the local area are:
•	 Continue to support activities and events 

within the local area, particularly at 
Tarntanyangga / Victoria Square, balancing 
the need for public amenity and improving 
experience of the open space.

•	 Improve the relationship between 
Tarntanyangga / Victoria Square and its 
western edge, providing better access to the 
Adelaide Central Market precinct.

•	 Investigate pop-up or permanent food and 
beverage offering within the Tarntanyangga / 
Victoria Square, that is also adaptable for the 
many events that are held there throughout 
the year.

•	 Support vibrancy and activation of the local 
area through extended business trading hours 
and diversification of business and tenancy 
mix.

•	 Support the main street function of 
King William Street by investing in cycle 
routes, public realm and street greening of 
connecting east-west streets.

•	 Optimise tram operations in the local area 
by providing signal priority and improved 
pedestrian connection and permeability to 
tram stops.

•	 Diversify housing supply by converting 
vacant office buildings into residential 
accommodation, while maximising the 
utilisation of retained embodied energy and 
activating dormant spaces.

Optimise tram operations and permeability to stops

Support vibrancy and activation

Diversify housing supply

Local Area 7: King William Street

Page 192



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 145 

Improve connection to the 
Adelaide Central Market

Invest in cycle routes 
and  street greening

Support east-west cycle 
and public transport routes

Investigate pop-up or 
permanent food and 
beverage offering

Figure 5.33  Place Principles
City Squares

City Spine

Priority Green Streets & Active Transport 
Network

Public Transport Priority

Cycling Priority

Public Transport & Cycling Connection

Key Intersection

Priority Pedestrian Connection

Existing Light Rail

Potential Light Rail Extension

Strategic Places

Place Anchor

Pedestrian Prioritised

Pedestrian Crossing

Prioritised Greening

Page 193



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 146 

Local Area 8: 
Hindmarsh 
Square

Hindmarsh Square / Mukata

Existing Population 1,883 people

15 year Growth 
Horizon

3,250 - 4,000

6.5%  
of City Growth

61.2 
people per hectare

The Hindmarsh Square Local Area will build 
on its existing high amenity and proximity 
to green spaces and essential services to 
meet its growth potential. The ‘East End’ 
and Hindmarsh Square / Mukata serves 
as Adelaide’s vibrant shopping district, 
characterised by its diverse offerings on 
Rundle Street and Rundle Mall.

The Hindmarsh Square Local Area is characterised 
by the commercial development of the CBD 
towards the west, Rundle Mall to the north, 
and a transition towards the east to mixed use 
development with medium density housing and 
supporting retail, restaurants and open space.

This local area includes Adelaide’s primary 
shopping district, with the ‘East End’ offering a 
finer grain retail and entertainment experience.

Pedestrian experiences range within the area 
from being highly prioritised and shaded in the 
northern portion to disconnected and open for 
many north-south movements toward the centre 
of the area. Grenfell Street performs as a highly 
frequency  public transport corridor.

The local area has ease of access to the eastern 
Adelaide Park Lands. The Adelaide Botanic 
Gardens and Lot Fourteen contribute to the 
access to open space and vibrant local places to 
visit.

Well serviced with retail and open space, the 
Hindmarsh Square Local Area will continue to 
experience significant mixed-use growth.

Page 194



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 147 

Future investment opportunities include:

•	 Improve the pedestrian and cyclist experience 
on Grenfell Street by reducing vehicle 
through traffic while maintaining its role as a 
key public transport link.

•	 Invest in local streets and greening to 
improve connections to the high-quality 
green spaces within the eastern Adelaide Park 
Lands.

Kaurna Context
The Kaurna historical context for this local area 
is:

Mukata is a commemoration of one of 
Mullawirraburka’s 4 wives. “Pretty Mary” was 
known as Mukata in Kaurna. Mukata and 
Mullawirraburka were the subjects of George 
French Angas’ portrait in 1843, a very important 
piece of art that details traditional expressions of 
clothing and ceremony. Kaurna Elders today still 
recognise this place as significant, and a location 
where Elders would sit and discuss business.

Rundle Street shopping precinct

East End Unleashed Event in Hindmarsh Square / Mukata

Character tree shaded laneways

Page 195



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 148 

Key Spatial Analysis

High HighLow Low

Hindmarsh Square presents high existing liveability metrics and moderate projected 
growth. The area excels in open space accessibility, ranking 3rd out of the 13 local 
areas, and boasts a robust cycling network, ranking 1st. Additionally, Hindmarsh 
Square demonstrates high overall accessibility, with amenities scoring well above the 
city average across all subcategories. In comparison to other local areas, Hindmarsh 
Square’s infrastructure and amenities position it as a prime location for development 
and expansion opportunities, further investigation is required to identify sites which 
would be suitable for redevelopment, to leverage its existing amenity.

Local Area 8: Hindmarsh Square

EXISTING PROPOSED

Figure 5.34  Active and Public Transport 
Useability Index (Existing)

Figure 5.35  Active and Public Transport 
Useability Index (Potential)

A significant challenge for the Hindmarsh Square 
Local Area is access to public transport and the 
cycling network. Currently  public transport 
accessibility is provided by bus services along 
Grenfell Road. 

Delivery of the Light Rail Loop would result in 
expanding public transport access to the east 
and cycling upgrades along Pirie Street, will 
further enhance connectivity to the City Spine 
and surrounding neighbourhoods.

Page 196



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 149 

EXISTING PROPOSED

Figure 5.36  Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index (Existing)

Figure 5.37  Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index (Potential)

High HighLow Low

The existing Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index highlights high scoring focused along 
Rundle Street. This is due to good access to local 
services and retail, paired with access to open 
space.

The potential Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index analyses the impact of implementing 
new public transport connections, expanding 
cycling network, and enhancing the recreational 
useability of Hindmarsh Square demonstrates the 
potential for better liveability scoring dispersed 
across the area.

Page 197



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 150 

Place Principles
The place principles for the local area are:
•	 Maintain and support the East End character 

of activated and vibrant streets and laneways, 
and small scale creative retail opportunities.

•	 Support opportunities for residential growth 
to take advantage of the high accessibility 
to services and open space in this area of the 
city.

•	 Activate the accessible space within 
Hindmarsh Square / Mukata, including 
consideration of traffic movement and 
pedestrian access to the Square.

•	 Support pop-up activities for festivals, events 
throughout the year to take advantage of the 
unique character of the space.

•	 Support the conversion of Grenfell Street to 
a key public and active transport corridor 
with improved greening and pedestrian 
connections. 

•	 Diversify housing supply by converting 
vacant office buildings into residential 
accommodation, while maximising the 
utilisation of retained embodied energy and 
activating dormant spaces.

Activated laneways

Cycling and public transport corridor

Support festivals and events throughout the year

Local Area 8: Hindmarsh Square

Page 198



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 151 

Activate the accessible 
space within  Hindmarsh 

Square / Mukata

Support opportunities 
for residential 

growth, diversifying 
housing supply

Support key east-west cycle 
and public transport corridor

Maintain East End 
character of activated 
streets and laneways

Figure 5.38  Place Principles
City Squares

City Spine

Priority Green Streets & Active Transport 
Network

Public Transport Priority

Cycling Priority

Public Transport & Cycling Connection

Key Intersection

Priority Pedestrian Connection

Existing Light Rail

Potential Light Rail Extension

Strategic Places

Place Anchor

Pedestrian Prioritised

Pedestrian Crossing

Prioritised Greening

Page 199



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 152 

Local Area 9: 
Grote Gateway

Adelaide Central Market

Existing Population 853 people

15 year Growth 
Horizon

3,950 - 4,850

13.3%  
of City Growth

212.6 
people per hectare

The Grote Gateway Local Area will become 
a vibrant mixed-use boulevard welcoming 
people from the Adelaide Airport and 
western suburbs.  The Grote Gateway will 
function as a vital link between the Market 
District and an activated West Terrace.  

The Grote Gateway Local Area is characterised 
by the wide Grote Street boulevard with mature 
London Plane trees lining both sides of the street. 
Recent central median landscaping enhances the 
visual amenity and greening outcomes for the 
local area. 

Development is characterised by low scale 
buildings of predominantly 1 to 2 storeys in 
height. Land use is diverse with larger plots 
providing for mixed use developments, and 
smaller lots on side streets providing for more 
fine-grained development responses. 

Gouger Street and the Adelaide Central 
Market are important cultural landmarks  
for Adelaide providing local services, and a 
regional and international tourism destination. 
The development of Market Square and the 
former Australia Post site near West Terrace are 
important stimulus projects for future residential 
growth.

Well serviced by retail and other essential 
infrastructure, the Grote Gateway will continue 
to grow its resident and business population.

Page 200



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 153 

Future investment opportunities include:

•	 Continue to enhance the arrival experience 
to the CBD such that the Grote Gateway 
Local Area is a recognisable and attractive 
‘gateway’ into the city for visitors arriving 
from the Adelaide Airport.

•	 Invest in local infrastructure and services to 
encourage pedestrian and active transport 
connections along Grote Street with a focus 
on increased pedestrian movement to the 
west of Morphett Street.

•	 Leverage investment in stimulus projects to 
encourage further mixed used and residential 
development in the local area.

•	 Create meaningful north-south connections 
through the local area to support people 
walking, wheeling and cycling throughout the 
area with a focus on extending the Riverbank 
to Adelaide Central Market pedestrian link to 
South Terrace (city wide strategy).

Kaurna Context
The Kaurna historical context for this local area 
is:

Aboriginal camping was banned from the 
western Adelaide Park Lands and within 30 years 
of European settlement the Government, after 
originally vacating the area of Aboriginal people, 
re-established many Aboriginal homes as a way 
to bring back the Kaurna community. Today 
many Aboriginal people still frequent the area 
and call it home.

Adelaide Central Market

Grote Street wide boulevard

Adelaide Central Market

Page 201



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 154 

Key Spatial Analysis

Figure 5.39  Tree Canopy Coverage (Existing) Figure 5.40  Tree Canopy Coverage (Potential)

High HighLow Low

Grote Gateway presents low existing liveability metrics but with substantial projected 
growth, indicating high potential. The area faces challenges in open space accessibility, 
ranking 11th out of the 13 local areas, and public transport accessibility, ranking 5th. 
Despite these challenges, the local services and retail accessibility is above the city 
average, with amenities scoring well across all subcategories. Additionally, Grote Gateway 
benefits from a relatively good cycling network, ranking 6th out of the 13 local areas.  
In comparison to other local areas, Grote Gateway’s infrastructure and amenities offer 
opportunities for improvement to further enhance its development potential.

Local Area 9: Grote Gateway

EXISTING PROPOSED

A significant challenge for the Grote Gateway 
Local Area is tree canopy coverage. This is a 
result of prioritising vehicle movement through 
key east west streets including Grote Street, 
Franklin Street and Gouger Street.

Prioritising tree canopy cover within the Grote 
Gateway Local Area will reinforce its role 
as a gateway into the city and enhance the 
pedestrian experience within the area.

Page 202



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 155 

EXISTING PROPOSED

Figure 5.41  Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index (Existing)

Figure 5.42  Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index (Potential)

High HighLow Low

The existing Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index highlights high scoring along the eastern 
edge which transitions to below average scoring 
along the western edge.

The potential Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index analyses the impact of implementing new 
cycle way connections, community facilities and 
enhanced access to open space through the 
implementation of City Wide Strategies.

Page 203



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 156 

Place Principles
The place principles for the local area are:
•	 Provide an urban design response for Grote 

Street to create a cohesive brand as the 
gateway to the city.

•	 Improve public transport access as well as 
north-south and east-west connectivity within 
the local area to support transport modal 
shift.

•	 Plan for the local area to accommodate 
a main public transport route from the 
Adelaide Airport to the main commercial 
centre in the CBD.

•	 Improve the western end of the Grote 
Gateway Local Area to the same level of 
pedestrian experience as the eastern end 
with a comfortable walking environment and 
places to stop and dwell .

•	 Connect laneways in the local area to support 
the function of Gouger Street as a main 
street and provide interest and diversity 
within the laneways to contribute to the 
experience of place.

•	 Prioritise greening on main streets and 
laneways to function as a network of 
activated and shaded places (city wide 
strategy).

•	 Support mixed use development to bring a 
diversity of economic benefits to the area, 
from increased services to better connected 
urban streets supported by shopfronts and 
businesses.

•	 Diversify housing supply by converting 
vacant office buildings into residential 
accommodation, while maximising the 
utilisation of retained embodied energy and 
activating dormant spaces.

•	 Investigate over the longer term, a light rail 
loop along West Terrace adding to the appeal 
of Grote Street as a focus for economic 
development (city wide strategy).

Connect laneways

Prioritise greening 

Support mixed use development

Local Area 9: Grote Gateway

Page 204



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 157 

Figure 5.43  Place Principles
City Squares

City Spine

Priority Green Streets & Active Transport 
Network

Public Transport Priority

Cycling Priority

Public Transport & Cycling Connection

Key Intersection

Priority Pedestrian Connection

Existing Light Rail

Potential Light Rail Extension

Strategic Places

Place Anchor

Pedestrian Prioritised

Prioritised Greening

Pedestrian Crossing

Connect laneways, 
providing interest 

and diversity

Improve pedestrian 
experience of western 

end of Grote Street 

Prioritise greening 
on main streets 

and laneways

Page 205



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 158 

Local Area 
10: Wakefield 
Gateway

Wakefield Street

Existing Population 569 people

15 year Growth 
Horizon

2,150 - 2,650

7%  
of City Growth

127.6 
people per hectare

The Wakefield Gateway Local Area will 
transform into a vibrant and thriving urban 
locale, centred around a pedestrian scale 
boulevard and catering to the needs of its 
existing residents while welcoming people 
from the eastern suburbs into the city.  

The Wakefield Gateway Local Area is 
characterised by a mix of schools, commercial, 
and medical uses, set amongst leafy streets. 
Towards the eastern end of the local area the 
character changes to more residential land uses.

The strong school and health services presence 
gives this local area a strong identity of diverse 
uses including night time activation through the 
Calvary Wakefield Hospital.

Wakefield Street continues west through Victoria 
Square / Pakapakanthi to Grote Street which 
results in it being vehicle dominated with cars 
moving through the city.

Strategic investment in social infrastructure 
has the potential to transform the Wakefield 
Gateway Local Area into a vibrant and thriving 
urban centre, catering to the needs of its existing 
residents and stimulating further growth and 
investments. 

This local area has high potential for growth, 
with strategic investment in social infrastructure 
a key to unlocking further growth and 
investment.

Page 206



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 159 

Future investment opportunities include:

•	 Invest in local infrastructure, particularly 
focused on improving public transport 
accessibility and access to open spaces to 
unlock the areas full development potential.

•	 Create fine grain connectivity of Wakefield 
Street to surrounding destinations and 
services with strong local and active transport 
corridors.

•	 Encourage master planning of large and 
under-utilised land parcels central to the local 
area to contribute to the local identity and 
improve pedestrian permeability, amenity 
and activation.

•	 Support mixed use development to bring a 
diversity of economic benefits to the area, 
from increased services to better connected 
urban streets supported by active shopfronts 
and businesses.

Kaurna Context
The Kaurna historical context for this local area 
is:

Ityamaiitpinna, relates to a Kaurna Ancestor at 
the time of European settlement. His leadership, 
along with Mullawirraburka and Kadiitpinna, 
were the other leaders of the Kaurna people. 
Ityamaiitpinna’s family has been recorded 
to camp throughout this Eastern parkland 
between the waterhole in the Adelaide Botanic 
Gardens through to the Native Police camp at 
the end of Wakefield Street and East Terrace by 
Pakapakanthi.

Wakefield Street

Angas Street

Wakefield Street

©Realestate.com

©Realestate.com

Page 207



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 160 

Key Spatial Analysis

Figure 5.44  Cycling Accessibility Index (Existing) Figure 5.45  Cycling Accessibility Index 
(Potential)

High HighLow Low

Wakefield Gateway showcases low existing liveability metrics but with significant 
projected growth potential. The area requires significant improvement in both open 
space, cycling and public transport accessibility, ranking 13th, 10th and 7th out of the 
13 local areas, respectively. Despite these challenges, the neighbourhood accessibility 
score is above the city average, with community facilities, local services and retail 
amenities scoring highly. In comparison to other local areas, Wakefield Gateway’s 
infrastructure and amenities present opportunities for enhancement to fully support 
its growth potential.

Local Area 10: Wakefield Gateway

EXISTING PROPOSED

A significant challenge for the Wakefield Gateway 
Local Area is access to the cycling network. This 
is due to vehicle movement prioritisation within 
this area.

Expanding and upgrading the cycling network in 
this local area would result in better connecting 
residents with open space and local services. 
Additionally this initiative will improve the 
quality of street experience.

Page 208



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 161 

EXISTING PROPOSED

Figure 5.46  Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index (Existing)

Figure 5.47  Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index (Potential)

High HighLow Low

The existing Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index highlights below average scoring 
throughout the local area. This is due to a 
combination of limited local services and access 
to open space.

The potential Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index analyses the impact of implementing 
cycling network expansion and improving 
connections to open space, demonstrating the 
potential for better liveability scoring across the 
area.

Page 209



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 162 

Place Principles
The place principles for the local area are:
•	 Divert through traffic from Wakefield Street 

while maintaining local vehicle access within 
the city, and create protected cycle lanes 
along Wakefield Street as a key east-west 
route linking with major attractors such as 
schools and the Adelaide Central Market. 

•	 Widen Flinders Street footpaths and increase 
pedestrian crossings with safe, shaded cycle 
facilities, supporting the densification of 
housing.

•	 Maintain the identity of Angas Street and 
improve laneway connections to the more 
diversified offerings on Wakefield and Hutt 
Streets.

•	 Diversify housing supply by converting 
vacant office buildings into residential 
accommodation, while maximising the 
utilisation of retained embodied energy and 
activating dormant spaces.

•	 Protect small businesses by maintaining small 
shopfronts and limiting the large tenancy 
spaces within larger developments.

•	 Improve connections into the surrounding 
Adelaide Park Lands and throughout the local 
area by investing in public realm and local 
street greening.

Protected cycle lanes

Maintain laneway connections

Support small business

Local Area 10: Wakefield Gateway

©Brett Boardman

Page 210



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 163 

Figure 5.48  Place Principles
City Squares

City Spine

Priority Green Streets & Active Transport 
Network

Public Transport Priority

Cycling Priority

Public Transport & Cycling Connection

Key Intersection

Priority Pedestrian Connection

Existing Light Rail

Potential Light Rail Extension

Strategic Places

Place Anchor

Pedestrian Prioritised

Prioritised Greening

Widen  footpaths 
along Flinders 

Street

Protected cycle 
lanes along 

Wakefield Street

Prioritise greening 
on main streets 

and laneways

Improve laneway connections

Page 211



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 164 

Local Area 11: 
East Terrace

Character laneways connecting to the Adelaide Park Lands

Existing Population 2,406 people

15 year Growth 
Horizon

4,400 - 5,400

9.5%  
of City Growth

105.3 
people per hectare

The East Terrace Local Area with its well-
established avenue of London Plane trees, 
good access to open space, and diverse 
mix of uses will continue to support local 
residents. The local area will provide a 
destination for visitors from outside the 
city and support targeted growth along the 
Hutt Street corridor.  

The East Terrace Local Area is a vibrant and 
unique neighbourhood of predominantly 
residential development of lower densities than 
the western end of the city. The local area is 
characterised by tree-lined streets and generous 
detached dwellings, more recently interspersed 
with medium rise apartment buildings  fronting 
East Terrace. The local area supports a mix of 
land uses including offices, restaurants, hotels, 
boutique retail, hospital and support services. 

Hutt Street provides a leafy avenue of London 
Plane trees in roadside planting and its central 
median. Hutt Street ranges from low scale shops 
and residences with manicured verges and ample 
tree canopy at the southern end through to 
the  entertainment focused northern end which 
hosts some of the State’s largest annual events 
such as Gluttony (Adelaide Fringe), as well as V8 
Supercars and events at Pakapakanthi / Victoria 
Park (Park 16) at the eastern edge of the local 
area.

Page 212



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 165 

Future investment opportunities include:

•	 Upgrade the Hutt Street main street 
including safe pedestrian crossing and 
conditions for walking, wheeling and cycling, 
review of angled parking and road function, 
and support for economic and business 
trading.

•	 Encourage the amalgamation of smaller sites 
in the local area to deliver medium to high 
rise residential typologies. 

•	 Improve access to the eastern Adelaide Park 
Lands and Pakapakanthi / Victoria Park (Park 
16) through urban wayfinding and green 
street connections.

Kaurna Context
The Kaurna historical context for this local area 
is:

The location is also a favourite for senior Kaurna 
ancestors like Ityamaiitpinna and family who 
would frequently camp between this location 
and the lower sections of the Botanical Gardens. 
This section was also the camp of the Native 
Police and today the location has cultural 
significance with a burial ground, and significant 
stories to a rare and local butterfly.

Heritage shop frontages

Tree lined Hutt Street

Al fresco dining

Page 213



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 166 

Key Spatial Analysis

Figure 5.49  Public Transport Index (Existing) Figure 5.50  Public Transport Index (Potential)

High HighLow Low

East Terrace presents low to medium existing access to amenity metrics with substantial projected 
growth potential. The area boasts good open space accessibility, ranking 2nd out of 13 local areas, 
and a strong cycling network, ranking 3rd. However, East Terrace faces challenges in public transport 
accessibility, ranking 12th out of the 13 local areas. Compared to other local areas, East Terrace’s 
infrastructure and amenities position it as a promising location for development and expansion 
opportunities.

Local Area 11: East Terrace

EXISTING PROPOSED

A significant challenge for the East Terrace Local 
Area is access to public transport. Currently  
public transport accessibility is provided by 
selective bus services. 

Delivery of the Light Rail Loop would result in 
expanding good public transport access into this 
area, along Hutt Street and connecting it to the 
City Spine and surrounding neighbourhoods.

Page 214



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 167 

EXISTING PROPOSED

Figure 5.51  Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index (Existing)

Figure 5.52  Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index (Potential)

High HighLow Low

The existing Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index highlights high scoring focused along Hutt 
Street. This is due to good access to local services 
paired with high accessibility to recreational open 
spaces.

The potential Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index analyses the impact of implementing new 
public transport connections and expanding 
cycling network, demonstrating the potential 
for better liveability scoring dispersed across the 
area.

Page 215



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 168 

Place Principles
The place principles for the local area are:
•	 Plan services for an increased population 

while maintaining the village charm and main 
street function of Hutt Street extending to 
East Terrace including social infrastructure, 
longer trading hours and diversity of activity. 

•	 Protect small businesses on Hutt Street 
and surroundings, by  maintaining small 
shopfront character and limiting the large 
tenancy spaces to one grocery offering 
centrally.

•	 Diversify housing supply by converting vacant 
or underutilised space above ground floor 
shops or small offices (shop top housing), 
repurposing existing structures, and 
revitalising heritage and character buildings 
through innovative adaptive reuse.

•	 New residential development near Hutt 
Street, East Terrace and South Terrace to 
retain the low scale historic character of the 
smaller internal streets.

•	 Maintain the festival vibrancy of the local 
area by supporting and encouraging usage of 
event spaces throughout the year.

Strengthen connectionsMaintain festival vibrancy

•	 Strengthen public transport usage by 
providing additional or more frequent bus 
routes  and in the longer term, investigate 
the development of light rail through Hutt 
Street (city wide strategy).   

•	 Maintain Wakefield Street, Pirie Street and 
Hutt Street as the main connections to the 
east and south while encouraging transport 
modal shift.

•	 Protect small businesses on Hutt Street 
and surroundings, by  maintaining small 
shopfront character and limiting the large 
tenancy spaces to one grocery offering 
centrally.

•	 Strengthen green connections between Hutt 
Street and the eastern Adelaide Park Lands 
and City Squares, including wayfinding, 
shaded active transport and biodiversity 
corridors (city wide strategy).

Local Area 11: East Terrace

Page 216



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 169 

Figure 5.53  Place Principles
City Squares

Priority Green Streets & Active Transport 
Network

Public Transport Priority

Cycling Priority

Public Transport & Cycling Connection

Key Intersection

Priority Pedestrian Connection

Existing Light Rail

Potential Light Rail Extension

Strategic Places

Place Anchor

Pedestrian Prioritised

Prioritised Greening

Strengthen 
public transport

Strengthen green 
connections to Squares 

and Adelaide Park Lands

Maintain festival vibrancy, 
encouraging usage of event 
spaces throughout the year

Maintain small 
shopfront character

Page 217



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 170 

Local Area 12:  
Whitmore 
Square

Whitmore Square

Existing Population 1,783 people

15 year Growth 
Horizon

3,000 - 3,650

5.5%  
of City Growth

139.6 
people per hectare

The Whitmore Square Local Area is primed 
for residential growth with improved 
connections to the Adelaide Central 
Market and the Adelaide Park Lands key to 
unlocking the local area’s growth potential.  

The Whitmore Square Local Area is 
predominantly characterised by lower density 
residential development with examples of higher 
rise buildings towards the northern and eastern 
ends. The southern edge of the local area borders 
the southern Adelaide Park Lands including the 
highly utilised Veale Gardens.

Morphett Street and Whitmore Square / Iparrityi 
provide primary access to the city from the inner 
south. Diverse social and community services are 
found within this local area, particularly around 
Whitmore Square / Iparrityi. Sturt Street serves as 
a major east-west connection.

The Chinatown and Gouger Street entertainment 
area has a strong multicultural character which 
adds to its local appeal and is a draw card for 
visitors locally and internationally.  

This local area has high to moderate growth 
potential through development of vacant and 
underutilised land parcels, with investment into 
social infrastructure and pedestrian connectivity 
key success factors.

Page 218



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 171 

Future investment opportunities include:

•	 Create better public transport and pedestrian 
connectivity in the local area for people to 
access local services and businesses and the 
commercial centre of the CBD.

•	 Enhance the role of Gouger and Grote Streets 
as vibrant, cultural main streets supporting 
the day and night time economies and 
reinforcing the strong sense of culture and 
community. 

•	 Support medium density infill development, 
adding to the housing and population 
diversity of the area.

•	 Prioritise investment in streetscape quality, 
greening and activation in Morphett Street, 
Sturt Street and Whitmore Square / Iparrityi.

Kaurna Context
The Kaurna historical context for this local area 
is:

Iparrityi is the daughter of Ityamaiitpinna 
and is described as the most recognisable 
representative of Kaurna Country today. Her 
knowledge of the Country has been vital in 
Kaurna’s reconnections to the landscape. Many 
places, sites and stories were told by Iparrityi to 
scholars and academics. She was the last true 
Kaurna Queen, being known as the last full-
blooded Kaurna member. She was humble and 
kind-hearted and looked after lost Kaurna kids 
while at Point Pearce Mission

Medium density shop top development 

Pop-up activation of Whitmore Square

Enhance local economy and pedestrian experience

Page 219



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 172 

Key Spatial Analysis

Figure 5.54  Active and Public Transport 
Useability Index (Existing)

Figure 5.55  Active and Public Transport 
Useability Index (Potential)

High HighLow Low

Whitmore Square showcases moderate existing liveability metrics with significant projected 
growth potential. The area benefits from moderate to high overall accessibility, with local 
services and retail scoring well above the city average. Whitmore Square boasts good open 
space accessibility, ranking 4th out of the 13 local areas, and a strong cycling network, also 
ranking 4th. Despite this, there is room for improvement in public transport accessibility, 
ranking 6th of the 13 local areas. In comparison to other local areas, Whitmore Square’s 
infrastructure and amenities present opportunities for further enhancement to fully capitalise 
on its growth potential.

Local Area 12: Whitmore Square

EXISTING PROPOSED

A significant challenge for the Whitmore Square 
Local Area is access to public transport. Currently  
public transport accessibility if focused along 
King William Street, to the east of the area.

Delivery of the Light Rail Loop would result in 
expanding good public transport access into 
this area and connecting it to the City Spine and 
surrounding neighbourhoods.

Page 220



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 173 

EXISTING PROPOSED

Figure 5.56  Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index (Existing)

Figure 5.57  Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index (Potential)

High HighLow Low

The existing Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index highlights high scoring along the eastern 
edge which transitions to below average scoring 
moving west.

The potential Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index analyses the impact of implementing new 
public transport connections and optimising 
open space usage within Whitmore Square, 
demonstrating the potential for better liveability 
scoring across the area.

Page 221



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 174 

Place Principles
The place principles for the local area are:
•	 Support the growth potential of this local 

area through protecting and encouraging 
new local services and retail amenities to 
develop, particularly towards the western 
edge.

•	 Support the redevelopment of the Salvation 
Army site on Whitmore Square into a mixed 
use development that meets the needs 
of Salvation Army clients and the broader 
community through social infrastructure, 
commercial and retail uses.

•	 Diversify housing supply by converting vacant 
or underutilised space above ground floor 
shops or small offices (shop top housing), 
repurposing existing structures, and 
revitalising heritage and character buildings 
through innovative adaptive reuse.

•	 Support medium density residential 
developing and appropriate services adding 
to the housing and population diversity of 
the area.

•	 Support pop-up activities for festivals, events 
throughout the year.

Enhance activation of Whitmore SquareGreening of Whitmore Square

•	 Increase social infrastructure provisions to 
better support vulnerable members of the 
community who access services and spend 
time in  the local area.

•	 Strengthen the identity of the local area 
by providing more supporting cultural 
infrastructure.

•	 Investigate opportunities to support 
public transport to increase connectivity 
to other areas of the city, including use of 
the City Connector bus services and tram 
connectivity.

•	 Protect small businesses by maintaining small 
shopfront character and limiting the large 
tenancy spaces within larger developments.

•	 Improve connections into the Adelaide Park 
Lands, activate Whitmore Square / Iparrityi 
and increase street greening.

•	 Improve north-south crossings for people 
walking, wheeling and cycling for increased 
accessibility.

Local Area 12: Whitmore Square

Page 222



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 175 

Activate Whitmore Square 
through prioritising 

pedestrian access 

Support key east-west cycle 
and public transport corridor

Salvation Army Site

Prioritise pedestrian 
crossings at key 
intersections

Support greater 
housing density 
around Square

Improve connections to 
Adelaide Park Lands

Figure 5.58  Place Principles
City Squares

City Spine

Priority Green Streets & Active Transport 
Network

Active and Public Transport Priority

Pedestrian Crossing

Public Transport & Cycling Connection

Key Intersection

Priority Pedestrian Connection

Existing Light Rail

Potential Light Rail Extension

Strategic Places

Place Anchor

Pedestrian Prioritised

Prioritised Greening

Prioritise Cycleway

Page 223



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 176 

Local Area 13: 
Hurtle Square

Former City Destructor Complex Heritage Adaption

Existing Population 2,547 people

15 year Growth 
Horizon

3,850 - 4,700

6.5%  
of City Growth

120.3 
people per hectare

The Hurtle Square Local Area will 
maintain its fine grain residential and 
heritage character complemented with 
local businesses and cafes and improved 
connections to Hurtle Square / Tangkaira 
and the Adelaide Park Lands.  

The Hurtle Square Local Area is characterised by 
lower density residential development with rich 
historic character from its heritage buildings and 
tree lined streets. New medium rise apartment 
buildings are beginning to frame Hurtle Square / 
Tangkaira. The western portion of the local area 
is characterised by a high rise commercial area.

Land uses in the local area include local cafes, 
hotels, and some commercial and medical 
uses. Halifax Street provides a good example 
of where residential development, commercial 
and community services and amenity work 
together to create a strong identity and sense of 
community.

The character of Hutt Street extends into the 
minor streets of the local area, contributing to 
an attractive and quiet environment for current 
residents, workers, and visitors. 

Though growth may be limited, the Hurtle 
Square Local Area can be an exemplar of 
strategic heritage adaptations and medium 
density uplift, whilst preserving its heritage 
character.

Page 224



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 177 

Future investment opportunities include:

•	 Support adaptive reuse of vacant and 
underutilised buildings to preserve the 
heritage character of the local area, whilst 
contributing to moderate increases in 
residential density.

•	 Create fine grain connectivity, greening and 
pedestrian connections throughout the area 
to support increased permeability to the 
main streets, Hurtle Square / Tangkaira and 
the Adelaide Park Lands.

•	 Improve access to Hurtle Square/ Tangkaira, 
including modifications to the service roads 
to improve access and permeability for 
pedestrians to and through the Square.

Kaurna Context
The Kaurna historical context for this local area 
is:

Another important representative of the Kaurna 
community, Tankaira of Charlotte, from the Clare 
District is known as Ityamaiitpinna’s wife. Many 
Kaurna Elders acknowledge Aboriginal people 
from various communities from across South 
Australia and the Northern Territory would camp 
at this location right up to the 1970s.

View over southern edge of Adelaide Park Lands

Recent development along Hurtle Square / Pulteney Street

Page 225



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 178 

Key Spatial Analysis

High HighLow Low

Hurtle Square presents low to medium existing liveability metrics with significant 
projected growth potential. The area requires improvements in both open space 
and public transport accessibility, ranking 9th and 8th out of the 13 local areas, 
respectively. In comparison to other local areas, Hurtle Square’s infrastructure and 
amenities offer opportunities for improvement to fully leverage its growth potential.

Local Area 13: Hurtle Square

EXISTING PROPOSED

Figure 5.59  Active and Public Transport 
Useability Index (Existing)

Figure 5.60  Active and Public Transport 
Useability Index (Potential)

A significant challenge for the Hurtle Square 
Local Area is access to public transport. Currently  
public transport accessibility if focused along 
King William Street, to the west of the area.

Delivery of the Light Rail Loop would result in 
expanding good public transport access into 
this area and connecting it to the City Spine and 
surrounding neighbourhoods.

Page 226



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 179 

EXISTING PROPOSED

Figure 5.61  Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index (Existing)

Figure 5.62  Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index (Potential)

High HighLow Low

The existing Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index highlights high scoring along the southern 
edge which transitions to below average scoring 
moving north.

The potential Overall Accessibility to Amenity 
Index analyses the impact of implementing new 
public transport connections and optimising 
open space usage within Hurtle Square, 
demonstrating the potential for better liveability 
scoring across the area.

Page 227



Section 5 - Local Area Framework • 180 

Place Principles
The place principles for the local area are:
•	 Investigate options to activate Hurtle Square 

/ Tangkaira through conversion of the service 
roads into shared, pedestrian priority spaces. 

•	 Support pop-up activities for festivals, events 
throughout the year. 

•	 Extend the Halifax Street mixed use zone 
further east to support the surrounding 
streets to densify and diversify.

•	 Investigate opportunities to support public 
transport to increase connectivity to other 
areas of the city, including considering the 
City Connector bus service and additional 
tram connectivity.

•	 Protect small businesses by maintaining small 
shopfront character and limiting the large 
tenancy spaces within larger developments.

•	 Improve connections into the Adelaide Park 
Lands and throughout the local area by 
investing in public realm and local street 
greening. 

•	 Strengthen north-south active travel routes 
in the local area, including crossings of east-
west streets for people walking, wheeling and 
cycling, for increased accessibility. 

Expand open space network 

Prioritise north-south active transport connectivity

Extend Halifax mixed use zone further east

Local Area 13: Hurtle Square

Page 228



City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 181 

Activate Hurtle Square 
through prioritising 

pedestrian access 

Support key east-west cycle 
and public transport corridor

Support pop-up activities

Prioritise pedestrian 
crossings at key 
intersections

Improve connections to 
Adelaide Park Lands

Figure 5.63  Place Principles
City Squares

City Spine

Priority Green Streets & Active Transport 
Network

Active and Public Transport Priority

Pedestrian Crossing

Public Transport & Cycling Connection

Key Intersection

Priority Pedestrian Connection

Existing Light Rail

Potential Light Rail Extension

Strategic Places

Place Anchor

Pedestrian Prioritised

Prioritised Greening

Page 229



Implementation Plan

Page 230



Page 231



Implementation Plan

The City of Adelaide recognises that it 
doesn’t control all the levers to achieve the 
strategies identified in the City Plan.  
To achieve the ambitions set out in the City 
Plan council will:
•	 Lead – City of Adelaide will invest time and/or resources.

•	 Partner – City of Adelaide will actively seek partnership 
opportunities.

•	 Facilitate – City of Adelaide will utilise levers available to 
support implementation.

•	 Advocate – City of Adelaide will seek out support and/
or partners to undertake state or nationally significant 
actions.

•	 Regulate – The city will fulfill legislative roles and 
requirements.

Section 6 — Implementation Plan • 184 
Page 232



Pr
in

ci
pl

es

Respecting our past 
acknowledges the Adelaide’s 
rich history, cultural heritage, 
and the contributions of its 

diverse communities. R
es

pe
ct

fu
l Building resilience for 

future growth recognises 
the challenges and 

uncertainties that lie ahead. R
es

ili
en

t A city that welcomes 
all people embodies 

inclusivity, accessibility, 
and social cohesion. W

el
co

m
in

g

Priority 1: A Greener 
and Cooler City Priority 2: Transit Diversity Priority 3: A City of 

Neighbourhoods
Priority 4: Housing Diversity 

for a Growing Population

Pr
io

rit
ie

s

 The city will 
invest time and/

or resources.

Lead

The city will actively 
seek partnership 

opportunities.

Partner

The city will utilise 
levers available 

to support 
implementation.

Facilitate

The city will seek 
out support and/

or partners to 
undertake state 

or nationally 
significant actions.

Advocate

The city will fulfil 
legislative roles 

and requirements

Regulate

C
ou

nc
il 

R
ol

es

Strategy 1 – A 
Green City Grid

Strategy 2 – Activating 
the Squares

Strategy 3 – Developing 
the City Spine 

Strategy 4 – Activating 
North South Laneways 

Strategy 5 – Enhancing 
East West Streets Strategy 6 – Establishing the City Loop Strategy 7 – New Housing Models 

C
ity

 W
id

e 
St

ra
te

gi
es

Green 
Infrastructure 

Index

Active and 
Public Transport 
Usability Index

Neighbourhood 
Index

Land Use 
Potential Index Growth Forecasts

C
oA

D
E

Implementation

City Plan Framework

K
au

rn
a 

C
ol

la
bo

ra
tio

n

Meaningful integration of Kaurna voices and perspectives into the planning 
and a collective vision, aspirations and co-authored roadmap.

East Terrace Whitmore Square Hurtle Square

Lo
ca

l A
re

as

Local Area Framework

Wellington Square O’Connell Street Melbourne Street North Terrace West Terrace

Light Square King William Hindmarsh Square Grote Gateway Wakefield Gateway

Figure 6.1  Plan on page

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 185 
Page 233



The City of Adelaide recognises that it doesn’t 
control all the levers to achieve the strategies 
identified in the City Plan.

There are several avenues the city can pursue to 
achieve the ambitions set out in the City Plan:

•	 Lead – City of Adelaide will invest time and/
or resources.

•	 Partner – City of Adelaide will actively seek 
partnership opportunities.

•	 Facilitate – City of Adelaide will utilise levers 
available to support implementation.

•	 Advocate – City of Adelaide will seek out 
support and/or partners to undertake state 
or nationally significant actions.

•	 Regulate – City of Adelaide will fulfill 
legislative roles and requirements.

The City Plan will work to inform the 
implementation of a broad range of the 
City of Adelaide’s complementary strategic 
documents including the Strategic Plan 2024-
2028, Integrated Climate Strategy 2030, 
Integrated Transport Strategy (in development), 
Housing Strategy – Investing In our Housing 
Future, Economic Development Strategy (in 
development), and various Action Plans and 
Master Plans.

The City Plan will be implemented over 
multiple years, beginning with local design and 
progressing to project delivery. Implementation 
of the City Plan will be subject to the Annual 
Business Plan and Budget processes of the City 
of Adelaide, its Asset Management Plans and the 
Long-term Financial Plan.

An indicative program for implementation of key 
strategies in the City Plan is provided in  
Figure 6.3. 

Implementation will be monitored and reported 
annually as part of the City of Adelaide Annual 
Report.

Stakeholder Engagement
The City Plan is the culmination of 
comprehensive stakeholder and community 
engagement. Authentic ongoing engagement 
with the city’s residents, workers, business 
communities, investors and State Government is 
critical to the implementation of the City Plan.

We will work with the State Government in 
implementation of the City Plan as a key 
contribution to the planning for Greater 
Adelaide.

Partnerships
The City of Adelaide seeks partnerships and 
investment in the implementation of the City 
Plan.

Code Amendment Program
The City Plan will include implementation of a 
comprehensive program of land use planning and 
policy amendment through the City of Adelaide 
Code Amendment Program and identified 
improvements to the State Government’s 
Planning and Design Code and state-wide 
Planning System. 

Implementation Plan

Section 6 — Implementation Plan • 186 
Page 234



City of Adelaide Digital Explorer (CoADE)
The City of Adelaide will continue to monitor 
opportunities to act in accordance with the City 
Plan using the City of Adelaide Digital Explorer 
(CoADE).

CoADE provides the evidence base and includes 
the following key indicators aligned with the City 
Plan priorities and city wide strategies:

•	 Green Infrastructure Index
•	 Active and Public Transport Usability Index
•	 Livability Index
•	 Land Use Potential Index
•	 Growth Forecasts.

Green Infrastructure Index
The Green Infrastructure Index maps accessibility 
to green spaces, parks, and other natural 
assets within the city based on distribution 
and quality of open space. This data can be 
used to monitor the city’s green grid, identify 
areas with insufficient green coverage, and 
prioritise locations for future green infrastructure 
development.

Active and Public Transport Usability Index
The Active and Public Transport Usability Index 
focuses on evaluating the efficiency and safety 
of transportation networks, particularly for 
pedestrians and cyclists. This data can be used 
to identify areas with inadequate pedestrian and 
cycling infrastructure, prioritise improvements 
to enhance safety and accessibility, and allocate 
road space more effectively to promote 
sustainable modes of transportation.

Neighbourhood Index
The Neighbourhood Index provides insights 
into the accessibility of social infrastructure and 
amenities within the city, such as community 
facilities, local services, and retail establishments. 
This data ca be used to identify areas with 
inadequate access to essential services and 
amenities and prioritise investments in 
infrastructure and services to improve overall 
livability. 

Land Use Potential Index
The Land Use Potential Index evaluates the 
development potential of different areas 
within the city, considering factors such as land 
ownership, surrounding land uses, and existing 
amenities. This data can be used to guide land 
use decisions, identify suitable locations for new 
developments, and promote a diverse mix of 
land uses that support vibrant and sustainable 
communities. 

Growth Forecasts
The Growth Forecasts serve as a framework for 
decision-making, ensuring that future investment 
decisions by the City of Adelaide contribute to 
the priorities and city wide strategies in the City 
Plan. The forecasts do not prescribe specific 
development outcomes for individual sites.

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 187 
Page 235



A Greener and Cooler City Transit Diversity A City of Neighbourhoods Housing Diversity for a Growing Population

St
ra

te
gy

 1 
- A

 G
re

en
 C

it
y 

G
ri

d

•	 Lead an accelerated greening program for 
the city streets, providing a diverse range of 
accessible quality green public open spaces and 
streetscapes (SPP2.13 & 11.10).

•	 Lead the provision of a connected network of 
green infrastructure systems, including water 
sensitive urban design across the city and 
Adelaide Park Lands to mitigate the impact of 
extreme heat events (SPP 4.4 & 15.4)

•	 Partner on the protection the Adelaide Park 
Lands social, cultural, economic, environmental 
and National Heritage values, including 
enhancing pathways and connections to and 
from the Adelaide Park Lands.

•	 Advocate for stronger provisions within the 
Planning and Design Code to reduce the 
heat island effect within the city through 
landscaping and building design such as green 
roofs and walls, heat reflective materials and 
built shade.

•	 Lead investigations to facilitate and extend 
bicycle and pedestrian networks in association 
with greening of city streets.  

•	 Partner to improve pedestrian access across 
West Terrace to the Adelaide Park Lands 
including reviewing road design and function.

•	 Advocate for contraction of the road network 
and return of roadways to active transport or 
greening to support the development of green 
transport corridors.

St
ra

te
gy

 1 
- A

 G
re

en
 C

it
y 

G
ri

d

•	 Lead public infrastructure provision and 
public realm upgrades designed to increase 
climate resilience and future liveability of city 
neighbourhoods. (SPP5.2)

•	 Lead in infrastructure projects that create 
comfortable pedestrian friendly streets that 
can be walked along safely at any time, day or 
night.

•	 Lead public infrastructure provision to improve 
neighbourhood amenity that stimulates 
housing growth.

St
ra

te
gy

 2
 –

 O
pe

n 
Sp

ac
e 

at
 Y

ou
r 

D
oo

rs
te

p

•	 Lead improvements to canopy cover and 
green infrastructure in the Park Lands and city 
Squares to enhance climate resilience within 
the city, with a focus on reducing urban heat 
island effects (Supports the delivery of State 
Planning Policy (SPP) 2.14). 

•	 Lead the enhancement of biodiversity across 
the city through native plantings and habitat 
restoration projects in the Adelaide Park Lands 
(SPP 4.3 & 4.4).

•	 Lead the provision of pedestrian priority 
crossings and cycling infrastructure to improve 
accessibility to the Adelaide Park Lands and the 
City Squares (SPP 11.5).

•	 Lead the analysis of options for adjustments to 
north-south through traffic for City Squares, to 
enable improved pedestrian access to the City 
Squares (SPP 11.1 & 11.4).

•	 Facilitate the expansion of public open space 
around the City Squares through the removal 
of slip lanes and side-roads, and adjustments to 
on-street car parking (SPP11.4). 

St
ra

te
gy

 2
 –

 O
pe

n 
Sp

ac
e 

at
 Y

ou
r 

D
oo

rs
te

p

•	 Facilitate a better balance of play, relaxation, 
and recreation with efficient vehicle movement 
around City Squares (SPP 2.10 & 11.4).

•	 Activate the Squares through enhancing the 
programming and amenity of each City Square 
to accommodate flexible, adaptable and 
diverse recreational activites. 

•	 Facilitate provision of a diverse range of local 
open spaces in the Adelaide Park Lands to 
support our growing population (SPP 2.13).

•	 Lead public infrastructure provision catering to 
a range of social and recreational activities in 
the City Squares as a stimulus for population 
growth.

•	 Advocate for a variety of housing options 
which supplement existing types of housing 
and suit the widely differing social, cultural 
and economic needs of existing and future 
residents.

•	 Advocate for changes in the Planning and 
Design Code to strengthen the requirement for 
greater housing mix and mix of uses in multi-
levels buildings to increase housing diversity 
and add to the activity and vibrancy of the city.

St
ra

te
gy

 3
 –

  
D

ev
el

op
in

g 
th

e 
Ci

ty
 S

pi
ne •	 Partner in the delivery of greening along the 

city spine and in conjunction with planning for 
a future light rail connection.

•	 Lead the delivery of improved pedestrian 
amenity along the city spine including priority 
crossings, particularly the southern end of King 
William Street.

•	 Advocate for a light rail connection from North 
Adelaide to North Terrace.

St
ra

te
gy

 3
 –

  
D

ev
el

op
in

g 
th

e 
Ci

ty
 S

pi
ne •	 Partner in the delivery of the Adelaide Aquatic 

Centre, Market Square and 88 O’Connell as key 
destinations and attractors along the city spine. 

•	 Facilitate community access to a broad range 
of convenient and affordable accommodation, 
services, employment and social opportunities 
with ease of access to the city spine.

•	 Partner in the delivery of the Market Square and 
88 O’Connell to contribute to the city’s housing 
supply.

City Plan Policy Summary

Figure 6.2  A summary of strategic land use policies in the City Plan.

Section 6 — Implementation Plan • 188 
Page 236



A Greener and Cooler City Transit Diversity A City of Neighbourhoods Housing Diversity for a Growing Population

St
ra

te
gy

 1 
- A

 G
re

en
 C

it
y 

G
ri

d

•	 Lead an accelerated greening program for 
the city streets, providing a diverse range of 
accessible quality green public open spaces and 
streetscapes (SPP2.13 & 11.10).

•	 Lead the provision of a connected network of 
green infrastructure systems, including water 
sensitive urban design across the city and 
Adelaide Park Lands to mitigate the impact of 
extreme heat events (SPP 4.4 & 15.4)

•	 Partner on the protection the Adelaide Park 
Lands social, cultural, economic, environmental 
and National Heritage values, including 
enhancing pathways and connections to and 
from the Adelaide Park Lands.

•	 Advocate for stronger provisions within the 
Planning and Design Code to reduce the 
heat island effect within the city through 
landscaping and building design such as green 
roofs and walls, heat reflective materials and 
built shade.

•	 Lead investigations to facilitate and extend 
bicycle and pedestrian networks in association 
with greening of city streets.  

•	 Partner to improve pedestrian access across 
West Terrace to the Adelaide Park Lands 
including reviewing road design and function.

•	 Advocate for contraction of the road network 
and return of roadways to active transport or 
greening to support the development of green 
transport corridors.

St
ra

te
gy

 1 
- A

 G
re

en
 C

it
y 

G
ri

d

•	 Lead public infrastructure provision and 
public realm upgrades designed to increase 
climate resilience and future liveability of city 
neighbourhoods. (SPP5.2)

•	 Lead in infrastructure projects that create 
comfortable pedestrian friendly streets that 
can be walked along safely at any time, day or 
night.

•	 Lead public infrastructure provision to improve 
neighbourhood amenity that stimulates 
housing growth.

St
ra

te
gy

 2
 –

 O
pe

n 
Sp

ac
e 

at
 Y

ou
r 

D
oo

rs
te

p

•	 Lead improvements to canopy cover and 
green infrastructure in the Park Lands and city 
Squares to enhance climate resilience within 
the city, with a focus on reducing urban heat 
island effects (Supports the delivery of State 
Planning Policy (SPP) 2.14). 

•	 Lead the enhancement of biodiversity across 
the city through native plantings and habitat 
restoration projects in the Adelaide Park Lands 
(SPP 4.3 & 4.4).

•	 Lead the provision of pedestrian priority 
crossings and cycling infrastructure to improve 
accessibility to the Adelaide Park Lands and the 
City Squares (SPP 11.5).

•	 Lead the analysis of options for adjustments to 
north-south through traffic for City Squares, to 
enable improved pedestrian access to the City 
Squares (SPP 11.1 & 11.4).

•	 Facilitate the expansion of public open space 
around the City Squares through the removal 
of slip lanes and side-roads, and adjustments to 
on-street car parking (SPP11.4). 

St
ra

te
gy

 2
 –

 O
pe

n 
Sp

ac
e 

at
 Y

ou
r 

D
oo

rs
te

p

•	 Facilitate a better balance of play, relaxation, 
and recreation with efficient vehicle movement 
around City Squares (SPP 2.10 & 11.4).

•	 Activate the Squares through enhancing the 
programming and amenity of each City Square 
to accommodate flexible, adaptable and 
diverse recreational activites. 

•	 Facilitate provision of a diverse range of local 
open spaces in the Adelaide Park Lands to 
support our growing population (SPP 2.13).

•	 Lead public infrastructure provision catering to 
a range of social and recreational activities in 
the City Squares as a stimulus for population 
growth.

•	 Advocate for a variety of housing options 
which supplement existing types of housing 
and suit the widely differing social, cultural 
and economic needs of existing and future 
residents.

•	 Advocate for changes in the Planning and 
Design Code to strengthen the requirement for 
greater housing mix and mix of uses in multi-
levels buildings to increase housing diversity 
and add to the activity and vibrancy of the city.

St
ra

te
gy

 3
 –

  
D

ev
el

op
in

g 
th

e 
Ci

ty
 S

pi
ne •	 Partner in the delivery of greening along the 

city spine and in conjunction with planning for 
a future light rail connection.

•	 Lead the delivery of improved pedestrian 
amenity along the city spine including priority 
crossings, particularly the southern end of King 
William Street.

•	 Advocate for a light rail connection from North 
Adelaide to North Terrace.

St
ra

te
gy

 3
 –

  
D

ev
el

op
in

g 
th

e 
Ci

ty
 S

pi
ne •	 Partner in the delivery of the Adelaide Aquatic 

Centre, Market Square and 88 O’Connell as key 
destinations and attractors along the city spine. 

•	 Facilitate community access to a broad range 
of convenient and affordable accommodation, 
services, employment and social opportunities 
with ease of access to the city spine.

•	 Partner in the delivery of the Market Square and 
88 O’Connell to contribute to the city’s housing 
supply.

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 189 
Page 237



A Greener and Cooler City Transit Diversity A City of Neighbourhoods Housing Diversity for a Growing Population

St
ra

te
gy

 4
 –

 A
ct

iv
at

in
g 

N
or

th
 S

ou
th

 L
an

ew
ay

s •	 Partner to extend the pedestrian link between 
the Riverbank and Adelaide Central Market to 
create a cohesive, green pedestrian laneway 
from Karrawirra Pari to the southern Adelaide 
Park Lands.

•	 Partner on the establishment of a green north-
south pedestrian spine through the connection 
of local streets and laneways in the western 
part of the city.

•	 Lead investment in the Hutt Street active 
transport corridor to connect the retail and 
recreation activity on Hutt Street with the 
commercial activity in the East End.

St
ra

te
gy

 4
 –

 A
ct

iv
at

in
g 

N
or

th
 S

ou
th

 L
an

ew
ay

s •	 Lead public infrastructure provision to 
encourage development that includes an active 
frontage and contributes positively to the 
public realm along city streets and laneways. 
(SPP2.10)

•	 Facilitate opportunities for activation of 
laneways in line with neighbourhood identity.

•	 Lead public infrastructure provision and 
upgrades to the public realm to improve 
amenity that stimulates housing growth.

St
ra

te
gy

 5
 –

 E
nh

an
ci

ng
  

Ea
st

 W
es

t 
St

re
et

s

•	 Partner on the enhancement of the Grote 
Street Gateway as an ‘entrance to the city’ 
for visitors arriving from the Adelaide Airport 
through streetscape upgrades and recognition 
of Kaurna Country.

•	 Lead a review of the existing boundaries of 
the Core and Primary Pedestrian areas in the 
Planning and Design Code with a view to 
extending the pedestrian areas.

•	 Advocate for enhancements along Wakefield 
and Grote Streets focused on improving 
infrastructure and amenity to accommodate 
increased public transport utilisation and 
vibrancy of the street experience.

•	 Advocate changes to Planning and Design 
Code to strengthen policies to ensure the 
flow of key pedestrian routes remain free and 
uninterrupted in key pedestrian areas.

St
ra

te
gy

 5
 –

 E
nh

an
ci

ng
  

Ea
st

 W
es

t 
St

re
et

s

•	 Lead public infrastructure provision to 
encourage development that includes an active 
frontage and contributes positively to the 
public realm along strategic east-west links. 
(SPP2.10)

•	 Facilitate opportunities for activation of 
strategic east-west links in line with the 
neighbourhood identity.

•	 Lead public infrastructure provision and 
upgrades to the public realm to improve 
amenity that stimulates housing growth.

St
ra

te
gy

 6
 –

 E
st

ab
lis

hi
ng

 
th

e 
Ci

ty
 L

oo
p

•	 Advocate for the longer-term planning of West 
Terrace, Hallifax and Sturt Streets, and Hutt 
Street to accommodate greening and light rail.

•	 Advocate for an investigation into Light Rail 
alignment options which provides enhanced 
connectivity to both East and West Terrace, 
connects the south of the city (to meet SPP11.1) 
and maintains pedestrian accessibility across 
the city. 
 
 
 

St
ra

te
gy

 6
 –

 E
st

ab
lis

hi
ng

 
th

e 
Ci

ty
 L

oo
p

•	 Facilitate changes to the Planning and Design 
Code to encourage mixed use development 
that supports active travel, walkability and the 
use of public transport. (SPP5.1)

•	 Partner for improved quality and diversity of 
housing in appropriate locations supported by 
infrastructure, services and facilities.

St
ra

te
gy

 7
 –

 N
ew

 H
ou

si
ng

 M
od

el
s

•	 Lead in the provision of well designed public 
places that are climate change resilient to 
ensure a comfortable environment for future 
liveability. (SPP 5.3)

•	 Lead changes to the Planning and Design Code 
to embed sustainable design principles into 
housing design, enhance energy and resource 
efficiency and improve affordability through life 
cycle and running costs.

•	 Advocate for the development of 
environmentally sustainable buildings and 
places by applying Water Sensitive Urban 
Design and energy efficiency design solutions. 
(SPP 2.3)

•	 Advocate for growth in areas connected to and 
integrated with, existing and proposed public 
transport routes, infrastructure, and services.

•	 Advocate for mixed-use development around 
activity centres, public transport nodes and 
strategic transit corridors to encourage greater 
use of active transport options such as walking, 
cycling and public transport.

St
ra

te
gy

 7
 –

 N
ew

 H
ou

si
ng

 M
od

el
s

•	 Lead investment in new social and community 
infrastructure in the western parts of the city.

•	 Partner on changes to the Planning and 
Design Code to facilitate development that 
implements the policies of State Planning Policy 
2 – Design Quality.

•	 Facilitate recognition of the unique character 
of areas by identifying their valued physical 
attributes in consultation with communities. 
(SPP2.8)

•	 Advocate for development of healthy 
neighbourhoods that include diverse housing 
options, enable access to local shops, 
community facilities and infrastructure, 
promote active travel and public transport use 
and provide quality open space, recreation and 
sporting facilities. (SPP 6.3)

•	 Lead changes to the Planning and Design 
Code to facilitate development that improves 
the relationship between buildings and public 
spaces and the interface with neighbours. 
(SPP2.12)

•	 Partner for improved quality and diversity of 
housing in appropriate locations supported by 
infrastructure, services and facilities.

•	 Partner with the State Government to pilot 
Local Design Review.

•	 Partner on the adaptive re-use of existing 
buildings to unlock dwelling potential in 
underutilised buildings and provide an 
additional mode of housing supply across the 
existing housing spectrum.

•	 Facilitate opportunities for innovative design 
and housing form in strategic locations through 
amendments to planning policy in the Planning 
and Design Code.

City Plan Policy Summary (Cont.)

Section 6 — Implementation Plan • 190 
Page 238



A Greener and Cooler City Transit Diversity A City of Neighbourhoods Housing Diversity for a Growing Population

St
ra

te
gy

 4
 –

 A
ct

iv
at

in
g 

N
or

th
 S

ou
th

 L
an

ew
ay

s •	 Partner to extend the pedestrian link between 
the Riverbank and Adelaide Central Market to 
create a cohesive, green pedestrian laneway 
from Karrawirra Pari to the southern Adelaide 
Park Lands.

•	 Partner on the establishment of a green north-
south pedestrian spine through the connection 
of local streets and laneways in the western 
part of the city.

•	 Lead investment in the Hutt Street active 
transport corridor to connect the retail and 
recreation activity on Hutt Street with the 
commercial activity in the East End.

St
ra

te
gy

 4
 –

 A
ct

iv
at

in
g 

N
or

th
 S

ou
th

 L
an

ew
ay

s •	 Lead public infrastructure provision to 
encourage development that includes an active 
frontage and contributes positively to the 
public realm along city streets and laneways. 
(SPP2.10)

•	 Facilitate opportunities for activation of 
laneways in line with neighbourhood identity.

•	 Lead public infrastructure provision and 
upgrades to the public realm to improve 
amenity that stimulates housing growth.

St
ra

te
gy

 5
 –

 E
nh

an
ci

ng
  

Ea
st

 W
es

t 
St

re
et

s

•	 Partner on the enhancement of the Grote 
Street Gateway as an ‘entrance to the city’ 
for visitors arriving from the Adelaide Airport 
through streetscape upgrades and recognition 
of Kaurna Country.

•	 Lead a review of the existing boundaries of 
the Core and Primary Pedestrian areas in the 
Planning and Design Code with a view to 
extending the pedestrian areas.

•	 Advocate for enhancements along Wakefield 
and Grote Streets focused on improving 
infrastructure and amenity to accommodate 
increased public transport utilisation and 
vibrancy of the street experience.

•	 Advocate changes to Planning and Design 
Code to strengthen policies to ensure the 
flow of key pedestrian routes remain free and 
uninterrupted in key pedestrian areas.

St
ra

te
gy

 5
 –

 E
nh

an
ci

ng
  

Ea
st

 W
es

t 
St

re
et

s

•	 Lead public infrastructure provision to 
encourage development that includes an active 
frontage and contributes positively to the 
public realm along strategic east-west links. 
(SPP2.10)

•	 Facilitate opportunities for activation of 
strategic east-west links in line with the 
neighbourhood identity.

•	 Lead public infrastructure provision and 
upgrades to the public realm to improve 
amenity that stimulates housing growth.

St
ra

te
gy

 6
 –

 E
st

ab
lis

hi
ng

 
th

e 
Ci

ty
 L

oo
p

•	 Advocate for the longer-term planning of West 
Terrace, Hallifax and Sturt Streets, and Hutt 
Street to accommodate greening and light rail.

•	 Advocate for an investigation into Light Rail 
alignment options which provides enhanced 
connectivity to both East and West Terrace, 
connects the south of the city (to meet SPP11.1) 
and maintains pedestrian accessibility across 
the city. 
 
 
 

St
ra

te
gy

 6
 –

 E
st

ab
lis

hi
ng

 
th

e 
Ci

ty
 L

oo
p

•	 Facilitate changes to the Planning and Design 
Code to encourage mixed use development 
that supports active travel, walkability and the 
use of public transport. (SPP5.1)

•	 Partner for improved quality and diversity of 
housing in appropriate locations supported by 
infrastructure, services and facilities.

St
ra

te
gy

 7
 –

 N
ew

 H
ou

si
ng

 M
od

el
s

•	 Lead in the provision of well designed public 
places that are climate change resilient to 
ensure a comfortable environment for future 
liveability. (SPP 5.3)

•	 Lead changes to the Planning and Design Code 
to embed sustainable design principles into 
housing design, enhance energy and resource 
efficiency and improve affordability through life 
cycle and running costs.

•	 Advocate for the development of 
environmentally sustainable buildings and 
places by applying Water Sensitive Urban 
Design and energy efficiency design solutions. 
(SPP 2.3)

•	 Advocate for growth in areas connected to and 
integrated with, existing and proposed public 
transport routes, infrastructure, and services.

•	 Advocate for mixed-use development around 
activity centres, public transport nodes and 
strategic transit corridors to encourage greater 
use of active transport options such as walking, 
cycling and public transport.

St
ra

te
gy

 7
 –

 N
ew

 H
ou

si
ng

 M
od

el
s

•	 Lead investment in new social and community 
infrastructure in the western parts of the city.

•	 Partner on changes to the Planning and 
Design Code to facilitate development that 
implements the policies of State Planning Policy 
2 – Design Quality.

•	 Facilitate recognition of the unique character 
of areas by identifying their valued physical 
attributes in consultation with communities. 
(SPP2.8)

•	 Advocate for development of healthy 
neighbourhoods that include diverse housing 
options, enable access to local shops, 
community facilities and infrastructure, 
promote active travel and public transport use 
and provide quality open space, recreation and 
sporting facilities. (SPP 6.3)

•	 Lead changes to the Planning and Design 
Code to facilitate development that improves 
the relationship between buildings and public 
spaces and the interface with neighbours. 
(SPP2.12)

•	 Partner for improved quality and diversity of 
housing in appropriate locations supported by 
infrastructure, services and facilities.

•	 Partner with the State Government to pilot 
Local Design Review.

•	 Partner on the adaptive re-use of existing 
buildings to unlock dwelling potential in 
underutilised buildings and provide an 
additional mode of housing supply across the 
existing housing spectrum.

•	 Facilitate opportunities for innovative design 
and housing form in strategic locations through 
amendments to planning policy in the Planning 
and Design Code.

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 191 
Page 239



A Greener and Cooler City Transit Diversity A City of Neighbourhoods Housing Diversity for a Growing Population

St
ra

te
gy

 8
 –

 D
es

ig
ni

ng
 fo

r 
 

U
rb

an
 L

ife
, D

iv
er

si
ty

 a
nd

 D
en

si
ty

•	 Lead in the provision of well-designed public 
places that improve the micro-climate at street 
level to ensure a comfortable environment that 
supports liveability and enables higher density 
neighbourhoods (SPP 5.3 & 15.4).

•	 Lead the delivery of improved pedestrian 
amenity through laneways to facilitate 
opportunities for active transport, connectivity 
and activation of laneway frontages.

St
ra

te
gy

 8
 –

 D
es

ig
ni

ng
 fo

r 
 

U
rb

an
 L

ife
, D

iv
er

si
ty

 a
nd

 D
en

si
ty

•	 Facilitate recognition of the unique character 
of areas by identifying their valued physical 
and cultural attributes in consultation with 
communities (SPP 2.8). 

•	 Lead changes to the Planning and Design Code 
to ensure development respects culturally and 
historically significant places and reflects the 
unique character of the local area (SPP 7.1). 

•	 Facilitate opportunities for activation of 
city streets and laneways in line with the 
neighbourhood identity (SPP 2.10). 

•	 Partner to stimulate investment, visitation 
and maximise opportunities for economic 
development in line with neighbourhood 
identity (SPP 9.10 & SPP 1.9).

•	 Reinforce the primacy of the city centre as the 
business, cultural, entertainment, tourism and 
economic focus of Greater Adelaide.

•	 Lead changes to the Planning and Design Code 
to facilitate development that prioritises good 
design outcomes and improves the relationship 
between buildings and public spaces and the 
interface with neighbours, particularly for 
strategic sites and places (SPP 2.5 & 2.12). 

•	 Lead changes to the Planning and Design 
Code to facilitate development at the interface 
between higher built form with more traditional 
low rise built forms, including through the 
management of streetscape character, access 
to natural light, visual and acoustic privacy, 
massing and proportions (SPP 2.11).

•	 Reinforce key city boulevards, such as King 
William, Grote and Wakefield streets through 
taller contemporary buildings that create a 
sense of entry and frame these importance 
streets.

•	 Reinforce the special character of the main 
streets of Gouger, Hindly, Rundle and Hutt 
Streets through contextual design responses 
that increase activity and vibrancy while also 
preserving the elements that make these places 
special.

•	 Create vibrant and distinctive laneways, each 
with their own individual character, with 
small bars, resturants, shops and cafes that 
constribute to city vibrancy. 

•	 Reinforce the inner and outer built form 
esge of the Adelaide Park Land terraces by 
encouraging quality medium to high-rise mised 
use developments that increase the diversity 
of housing while also contributing to, and 
activating, the public realm.

•	 Sustain the heritage, character and scale of 
valued residential precincts (including North 
Adelaide and the south-east and west corners) 
with contextually appropriate development 
that contributes to the needs of our growing 
population and provides services to the 
community.

City Plan Policy Summary (Cont.)

Section 6 — Implementation Plan • 192 
Page 240



A Greener and Cooler City Transit Diversity A City of Neighbourhoods Housing Diversity for a Growing Population

St
ra

te
gy

 8
 –

 D
es

ig
ni

ng
 fo

r 
 

U
rb

an
 L

ife
, D

iv
er

si
ty

 a
nd

 D
en

si
ty

•	 Lead in the provision of well-designed public 
places that improve the micro-climate at street 
level to ensure a comfortable environment that 
supports liveability and enables higher density 
neighbourhoods (SPP 5.3 & 15.4).

•	 Lead the delivery of improved pedestrian 
amenity through laneways to facilitate 
opportunities for active transport, connectivity 
and activation of laneway frontages.

St
ra

te
gy

 8
 –

 D
es

ig
ni

ng
 fo

r 
 

U
rb

an
 L

ife
, D

iv
er

si
ty

 a
nd

 D
en

si
ty

•	 Facilitate recognition of the unique character 
of areas by identifying their valued physical 
and cultural attributes in consultation with 
communities (SPP 2.8). 

•	 Lead changes to the Planning and Design Code 
to ensure development respects culturally and 
historically significant places and reflects the 
unique character of the local area (SPP 7.1). 

•	 Facilitate opportunities for activation of 
city streets and laneways in line with the 
neighbourhood identity (SPP 2.10). 

•	 Partner to stimulate investment, visitation 
and maximise opportunities for economic 
development in line with neighbourhood 
identity (SPP 9.10 & SPP 1.9).

•	 Reinforce the primacy of the city centre as the 
business, cultural, entertainment, tourism and 
economic focus of Greater Adelaide.

•	 Lead changes to the Planning and Design Code 
to facilitate development that prioritises good 
design outcomes and improves the relationship 
between buildings and public spaces and the 
interface with neighbours, particularly for 
strategic sites and places (SPP 2.5 & 2.12). 

•	 Lead changes to the Planning and Design 
Code to facilitate development at the interface 
between higher built form with more traditional 
low rise built forms, including through the 
management of streetscape character, access 
to natural light, visual and acoustic privacy, 
massing and proportions (SPP 2.11).

•	 Reinforce key city boulevards, such as King 
William, Grote and Wakefield streets through 
taller contemporary buildings that create a 
sense of entry and frame these importance 
streets.

•	 Reinforce the special character of the main 
streets of Gouger, Hindly, Rundle and Hutt 
Streets through contextual design responses 
that increase activity and vibrancy while also 
preserving the elements that make these places 
special.

•	 Create vibrant and distinctive laneways, each 
with their own individual character, with 
small bars, resturants, shops and cafes that 
constribute to city vibrancy. 

•	 Reinforce the inner and outer built form 
esge of the Adelaide Park Land terraces by 
encouraging quality medium to high-rise mised 
use developments that increase the diversity 
of housing while also contributing to, and 
activating, the public realm.

•	 Sustain the heritage, character and scale of 
valued residential precincts (including North 
Adelaide and the south-east and west corners) 
with contextually appropriate development 
that contributes to the needs of our growing 
population and provides services to the 
community.

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 193 
Page 241



Transit  
Diversity

Code 
Amendment 

Program

A Greener 
and Cooler 

City
Light Square Master Plan Master Plan Program for the Squares

Integrated Climate Strategy

Accelerated Greening Program; Adelaide Parklands Lands Management Strategy

Integrated Transport Strategy

Economic Development Strategy

Housing Strategy - Investing in our Housing Future

Pilot Local Design Review

A Green City Grid
Tree Canopy Cover
Urban Heat Impact

Cycle Usage
Safe Crossings

Local Employment
Visitation

Population Target
New Dwellings

A City of 
Neighbourhoods

2023 - 2024 2025 - 2026

Adult Entertainment Premises 
Historic Area Statements
Catalyst Site Policy Review 20th Century Heritage Places

Multi-unit Development Waste Collection
Transport and Movement

City Plan Code Amendments: Sustainability and Building Design

Strategic Plan  2024 - 2028 City Plan - Adelaide 2036 CoADE

Housing 
Diversity for 
a Growing 
Population

2027 - 2028

Figure 6.3  Implementation Program 

Section 6 — Implementation Plan • 194 
Page 242



Master Plan Program for the Squares

Accelerated Greening Program; Adelaide Parklands Lands Management Strategy

Housing Strategy - Investing in our Housing Future

2029 - 2030 2035 - 20362031 - 2032

City Plan Code Amendments: Sustainability and Building Design

2033 - 2034

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 • 195 
Page 243



Page 244



Page 245



Page 246



City Plan Document Status: Draft  
 

1 

                     

City Plan – Adelaide 2036 Engagement Outline 
PURPOSE OF ENGAGEMENT 
Feedback is required on the draft City Plan – Adelaide 2036, prior to formal Council endorsement in September 
2024.  

Feedback from stakeholders will be sought to: 

  Inform the community of Council’s new draft City Plan. 

  Obtain feedback from the community on the draft City Plan particularly views on city wide strategies and 
opportunities within the local areas.  

  Seek feedback from key stakeholders including government, non-government and industry bodies on 
proposed strategies and implementation opportunities. 

  Enable advocacy to the State and Federal Government.  

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

The draft City Plan will facilitate and guide future growth and development in the City of Adelaide. The City Plan 
forms part of the City of Adelaide’s suite of Strategic Management Plans as outlined in the Strategic Plan 2024-
2028. 

The draft City Plan has been informed by stakeholder engagement throughout its preparation, including: 

  ‘City Plan Studio’ with 536 stakeholders from key industry, government, non-government and 
community groups participating. The engagement tested draft urban design principles, draft 
development scenarios, and the digital tool. (September 2023). 

  An online ‘drop-pin’ mapping survey to ask residents and visitors to identify what they love about an 
area, potential sites for development and infrastructure needs. (March – April 2024). 

  Five independent neighbourhood focus groups with residents and business owners. (April 2024). 

  
  

Page 247

Attachment B



City Plan Document Status: Draft  
 

2 

STRATEGIC LINK 

The City of Adelaide Strategic Plan 2024-2028 provides the following overarching strategic directions and 
actions to support this policy. Our Adelaide. Bold. Aspirational. Innovative.   

  Outcome: Drive affordable, safe and quality housing outcomes that attract and retain residents in our 
city 

  Outcome: An interesting and engaging place to live, learn and visit 

  Outcome: An inclusive equitable and welcoming community where people feel a sense of belonging 

  Outcome: Encourage bold, interesting and purposeful development that supports the changing needs of 
our community and city 

LEGISLATIVE REQUIREMENTS 

Council has no legislative requirement to engage on the City Plan. Council’s Community Consultation Policy will 
be used to guide the process.  
TIMEFRAMES 
18 June to 16 July 2024  Community Engagement page on the City of Adelaide website  

July to August 2024  Review feedback and amend City Plan 

September 2024  Updated City Plan and engagement report to Council for endorsement. 

LEVEL OF ENGAGEMENT 

Level of 
Engagement Inform Consult Involve Collaborate Empower 

Goal One way 
communication to 
provide balanced 
and objective 
information to assist 
understanding 
about something 
that is going to 
happen or has 
already happened. 

Two way 
communications 
designed to obtain 
feedback on 
ideas, alternatives 
and proposals to 
inform our 
decision making. 

Participatory 
process designed 
to help identify 
issues and views to 
ensure that 
concerns and 
aspirations are 
understood and 
considered prior to 
our decision 
making. 

Working together 
to develop an 
understanding of 
all issues and 
interests to work 
out alternatives 
and identify 
preferred solutions 
for joint decision 
making. 

We may 
facilitate the 
process and/or 
upskill 
community. 
Places final 
decision-
making in the 
hands of the 
community.  

Approach We will share 
information about 
a decision or 
direction. 

We will explore 
options, gain 
feedback and an 
understanding of 
your concerns 
and preferences. 

We will involve 
you in the process 
so your ideas, 
concerns and 
aspirations are 
reflected in the 
alternatives 
developed or the 
final decision. 

We will 
collaborate with 
you so your 
advice, innovation 
and 
recommendations 
are included in the 
final decision that 
we make together. 

We will 
implement, or 
support you to 
implement 
what you 
decide. 

Role of 
Stakeholder/ 
Community 

Listen Contribute Participate Partner Decide 

Page 248



City Plan Document Status: Draft  
 

3 

 

EVALUATION PLAN 

Feedback received through the consultation process will be collated and reported to Council for review, and 
incorporated into the City Plan for Council’s decision. 
 
The consultation will be evaluated with the following performance indicators: 

  Support of stakeholder and community members reached.  
  Feedback about the process. 
  Timeframes and budget were met.

Page 249



City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 4 June 2024

 

Tuesday, 4 June 2024 
City Planning, Development 
and Business Affairs 
Committee 

Draft Adelaide Park Lands Management 
Strategy (APLMS) – Towards 2036 
 

Strategic Alignment - Our Environment Program Contact:  
Sarah Gilmour, Associate 
Director Park Lands, Policy & 
Sustainability 

Public 
 

Approving Officer:  
Ilia Houridis, Director City 
Shaping 

 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The purpose of this report is to advise that Kadaltilla / Adelaide Park Lands Authority (Kadaltilla) considered a 
proposal to vary, through substitution, the Adelaide Park Lands Management Plan 2015-2025 with the draft 
Adelaide Park Lands Management Strategy – Towards 2036 (draft APLMS) (Attachment A), and determined to 
undertake public consultation on the draft APLMS for an 8-week period commencing in June 2024 in accordance 
with Section 18(4)(c) of the Adelaide Park Lands Act 2005 (SA). Kadaltilla will hold a public meeting in relation to 
the proposal on 25 June 2024. 

Kadaltilla considered the draft APLMS at its meeting held on 23 May 2024 (Link 1), along with the outcomes of 
targeted stakeholder consultation (Attachment B), including feedback provided by the Council at its meeting on 9 
April 2024 (Link 2). 

The Minister for Planning provided support for public consultation on the draft APLMS pending resolution of matters 
raised by the Office for Design and Architecture (ODASA). Administration has worked collaboratively with ODASA 
to revise the draft APLMS to address targeted stakeholder feedback. In correspondence dated 14 May 2024, 
ODASA expressed support for the updated draft APLMS proceeding to public consultation.  

Kadaltilla may, on the basis of any consultation undertaken or submissions received, amend the draft APLMS. 
Kadaltilla will then prepare a report on the matter and provide a copy of the report to the City of Adelaide and the 
Minister for Planning. 

The City of Adelaide and the Minister must confer on the report and may then adopt the draft APLMS with or 
without amendment or refer the proposal back to Kadaltilla for further consideration. The APLMS is subject to 
parliamentary processes and publication. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
The following recommendation will be presented to Council on 11 June 2024 for consideration 

THAT THE CITY PLANNING, DEVELOPMENT AND BUSINESS AFFAIRS COMMITTEE RECOMMENDS TO 
COUNCIL 

THAT COUNCIL 

1. Notes that targeted stakeholder feedback, including feedback provided by Council at its meeting on 
9 April 2024 was presented to Kadaltilla at its meeting on 23 May 2024. 

2. Receives the outcomes of the targeted stakeholder consultation as contained in Attachment B to Item 7.3 
on the Agenda for the meeting of the City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee held 
on 4 June 2024. 

3. Notes that at its meeting on 23 May 2024 the Kadaltilla / Adelaide Park Lands Authority endorsed the 
draft Adelaide Park Lands Management Strategy – Towards 2036 contained in Attachment A to Item 7.3 
on the Agenda for the City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee held on 4 June 2024 
for the purposes of public consultation. 

Page 250

Agenda Item 7.3

https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/documents/s19225/Consultation%20Approval%20Adelaide%20Park%20Lands%20Management%20Strategy%20APLMS.pdf
https://cityofadelaideintranet.moderngov.com.au/documents/g936/Public%20minutes%2009th-Apr-2024%2017.30%20Council.pdf?T=11


City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 4 June 2024

4. Receives the draft Adelaide Park Lands Management Strategy – Towards 2036 contained in 
Attachment A to Item 7.3 on the Agenda for the City Planning, Development and Business Affairs 
Committee held on 4 June 2024. 

5. Notes a workshop will be held with Council Members at the City Planning, Development and Business 
Affairs Committee to be held on 2 July 2024 to gather feedback on the draft Adelaide Park Lands 
Management Strategy which will subsequently be presented to Council for decision as a formal response 
to the public consultation being undertaken by Kadaltilla / Adelaide Park Lands Authority. 

 
 

Page 251



 

City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 4 June 2024

IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS 
 

City of Adelaide 
2024-2028 
Strategic Plan 

Strategic Alignment – Our Environment  
Deliver the Adelaide Park Lands Management Strategy 

Policy 

Section 18(12) of the Adelaide Park Lands Act 2005 (SA) allows Kadaltilla to vary the 
management strategy by substituting a new management Strategy.  
Section 18(4) of the Adelaide Park Lands Act 2005 (SA), sets out requirements to vary the 
APLMS including:  
  Preparing a draft of the proposal (complete) 
  Referring the proposal to the Minister, the City of Adelaide, and any State authority or 

adjoining council that has a direct interest in the proposal (complete) 
  Public consultation and public hearing at a time to be determined by Kadaltilla (in 

progress). 

Consultation 

At its meeting on 23 May 2024, Kadaltilla determined to undertake public consultation on 
the draft APLMS for an 8-week period commencing on 17 June 2024, in accordance with 
Section 18(4)(c) of the Adelaide Park Lands Act 2005 (SA). Kadaltilla will hold a public 
meeting in relation to the proposal on 25 June 2024.  
Kadaltilla considered the draft APLMS at its meeting held on 23 May 2024 (Link 1)., along 
with the outcomes of targeted stakeholder consultation, including feedback provided by the 
Council at its meeting on 9 April 2024 (Link 2).  
The City of Adelaide is undertaking the review of the Adelaide Park Lands Management 
Strategy 2015-2025 on behalf of Kadaltilla. Input into the draft APLMS has been provided 
by ODASA on behalf of the Government of South Australia. 
Following consultation Kadaltilla may, on the basis of any consultation undertaken or 
submissions received, amend the draft APLMS. Kadaltilla will then prepare a report on the 
matter and provide a copy of the report to the City of Adelaide and the Minister for 
Planning. 

Resource Not as a result of this report 

Risk / Legal / 
Legislative 

Kadaltilla must undertake a comprehensive review of the Adelaide Park Lands 
Management Strategy at least once in every five years as required under Section 18(14) of 
the Adelaide Park Lands Act 2005 (SA). The Strategy must contain the information set out 
in Section 18(3) of the Adelaide Park Lands Act 2005 (SA). 

Opportunities The review provides an opportunity to ensure that the APLMS continues to address key 
themes contained in, and contemporises, the APLMS. 

23/24 Budget 
Allocation 

The draft APLMS will inform the City of Adelaide’s Annual Business Plan and Budget 
deliberations for 2024/25 for projects identified within the draft APLMS. 

Proposed 24/25 
Budget Allocation 

Implementation of the City of Adelaide strategic priorities identified within the draft APLMS 
are currently unfunded and awaiting budget deliberations. 
Council’s draft 2024/25 Annual Business Plan and Budget includes funding for a range of 
strategic priorities identified in the APLMS including: 
  $500,000 for lighting and footpaths renewals in Wellington Square / Kudnartu. 
  $250,000 for detailed design of the Light Square / Wauwi Master Plan. 
  $250,000 for detailed design of the Victoria Park / Pakapakapanthi (Park 16) Master 

Plan. 
  $340,000 for Botanic Catchment Water Course Rehabilitation. 
  $50,000 for an Adelaide Park Lands Strategic Water Resources Study. 

Page 252

https://cityofadelaideintranet.moderngov.com.au/documents/g936/Public%20minutes%2009th-Apr-2024%2017.30%20Council.pdf?T=11
https://cityofadelaideintranet.moderngov.com.au/documents/g936/Public%20minutes%2009th-Apr-2024%2017.30%20Council.pdf?T=11


 

City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 4 June 2024

Life of Project, 
Service, Initiative 
or (Expectancy of) 
Asset 

The APLMS timeframe is proposed to be updated to 2036. In accordance with the Adelaide 
Park Lands Act 2005 (SA), the APLMS must be reviewed every five years. Pending 
decision on the draft APLMS in 2024/25, the next review would be due in 2029/30. 

23/24 Budget 
Reconsideration  
(if applicable) 

Not as a result of this report 

Ongoing Costs 
(e.g. maintenance 
cost) 

Not as a result of this report 

Other Funding 
Sources 

The draft APLMS introduces new content relevant to the planning of, and investment in, the 
Adelaide Park Lands including consideration of funding and investment pathways. 

 

  

Page 253



 

City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 4 June 2024

DISCUSSION 
Background 
1. The purpose of this report is to advise that Kadaltilla / Adelaide Park Lands Authority (Kadaltilla) considered 

a proposal to vary, through substitution, the Adelaide Park Lands Management Plan 2015-2025 with the draft 
APLMS (Attachment A) and determined to undertake public consultation on the draft APLMS for an 8-week 
period commencing in June 2024 in accordance with Section 18(4)(c) of the Adelaide Park Lands Act 2005 
(SA). Kadaltilla will hold a public meeting in relation to the proposal on 25 June 2024 

2. Kadaltilla considered the draft APLMS at its meeting held on 23 May 2024, along with the outcomes of 
targeted stakeholder consultation, including feedback provided by the Council at its meeting on 9 April 2024 
(Link 1).  

Targeted Stakeholder Consultation 
3. At its meeting on 22 February 2024, Kadaltilla endorsed the draft APLMS for the purposes of targeted 

stakeholder consultation with the Minister for Planning, the City of Adelaide, State Authorities, and adjoining 
Councils, and resolving State Agency inputs (Link 3). 

4. Targeted stakeholder consultation on the draft APLMS commenced on 27 February 2024 and concluded on 
9 April 2024. 

5. The following stakeholders provided feedback on the draft APLMS.  

5.1. City of Adelaide 
5.2. Minister for Planning 
5.3. Office for Design and Architecture 
5.4. Renewal SA 
5.5. City of West Torrens 
5.6. City of Norwood, Payneham and St Peters 
5.7. City of Unley 
5.8. City of Prospect  
5.9. University of Adelaide. 

6. Several stakeholders indicated they would provide feedback during the public consultation period. 

7. At its meeting on 9 April 2024, the Council requested that Kadaltilla consider changes to the following 
content in the draft APLMS. A response to each point is provided below. 

Council decision on 9 April 2024 Response to targeted consultation (extract 
Attachment B) 

A proposal to allow car parking on the Park Lands if 
the need can be demonstrated or there is no 
reasonable alternative and to support markets, 
street court sports and events 

This information is broadly contained in the current 
APLMS (2015-2025) – Strategy 2.8 (page 21)  
“Provide car parking on and adjacent to the Park 
Lands only where need has been demonstrated 
and no reasonable alternative exists” 
The draft APLMS has included ‘support markets, 
street court sports and events’ as these would lead 
to carparks being used for multiple uses that could 
activate carparks with a Park Lands Purpose and 
provide additional community benefit.  

Consideration of alternative uses for the northern 
part of the City of Adelaide Golf Course 

This information is in the current APLMS – (page 
68) “Investigate opportunities for alternative future 
uses of all, or part of the North Course” 
This consideration would form part of a broader 
master plan which would seek community input into 
any future proposals for alternative use of the 
northern part of the golf course. 

The possibility of allowing private investment in the 
Park Lands in such detail as is yet to be determined 
to support community sports 

This is new content in draft APLMS and reflects 
existing practice.  
This relates to private investment, such as from 
schools or sporting clubs, in contributions towards 

Page 254

https://cityofadelaideintranet.moderngov.com.au/documents/g936/Public%20minutes%2009th-Apr-2024%2017.30%20Council.pdf?T=11
https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/documents/g921/Public%20reports%20pack%2022nd-Feb-2024%2016.30%20Kadaltilla%20Adelaide%20Park%20Lands%20Authority.pdf?T=10


 

City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 4 June 2024

Council decision on 9 April 2024 Response to targeted consultation (extract 
Attachment B) 
development of buildings, infrastructure or 
maintenance of existing infrastructure relating to 
sports buildings/surfaces. 

The inclusion of a new community building at Mary 
Lee Park (Park 27B) and Golden Wattle Park/Mirnu 
Wirra (Park 21W) as the only community building 
initiative in the Strategy Investment Priorities of the 
next 4 years 

This is new content in draft APLMS.  
These are seen as the highest priority projects for 
community buildings in the Adelaide Park Lands 
given the state of the current buildings and the level 
of participation. The City of Adelaide draft 24/25 
Annual Business Plan and Budget includes funding 
for upgrade of priority community buildings. 

The return to Park Lands of roads, including 
Lefevre Road between Main North Road and 
Lefevre Terrace 

This is new content in draft APLMS.  
The investigation into the closure of Lefevre Road 
to reconnect Kangatilla (Park 4) and Ngampa Yerta 
(Park 5) was identified through a review of hard 
stand areas, State Government owned land and 
areas of the Park Lands that could be returned to a 
Park Lands Purpose.  
Lefevre Road is a Park Lands Road under the care, 
control and management of the City of Adelaide. 
Investigations into the closure of this road would be 
informed through master planning of the Northen 
Park Lands Precinct which would include 
community input. 

 

8. The Minister for Planning provided support for public consultation on the draft APLMS pending resolution of 
matters raised by ODASA.  

8.1. Administration has worked collaboratively with ODASA to revise the draft APLMS to address the 
targeted stakeholder feedback.  

8.2. In correspondence dated 14 May 2024, ODASA expressed support for the updated draft APLMS 
proceeding to public consultation. 

9. A summary of targeted stakeholder consultation is provided in Attachment B, including the process 
Kadaltilla undertook to meet statutory consultation requirements under the Section 18(4)(b) of the Adelaide 
Park Lands Act 2005 (SA). 

10. Feedback from targeted stakeholders was supportive, with several responses congratulating Kadaltilla on a 
comprehensive strategy that anticipates the impact that changes to climate, population and open space 
demand on the Adelaide Park Lands, and sets a long-term vision to protect and enhance the Adelaide Park 
Lands.   

11. Key matters raised in the consultation included: 

11.1. Advice from the Minister for Planning summarised as: 

11.1.1. Supported the inclusions and refinements made by ODASA. 

11.1.2. There may be inconsistencies between the Draft Adelaide Park Lands Management Strategy 
and the Community Land Management Plans (CLMP) for the Adelaide Park Lands in relation 
to increased building footprint. The APLMS outlines the need for community buildings to be fit 
for purpose (which may result in an increase in building footprint) and the CLMP outlines there 
should be no increase in building footprint within the Adelaide Park Lands. 

11.1.3. Planning and Land Use Services (Government of South Australia) would be willing to engage 
in further discussion with Kadaltilla on the outcomes sought by proposed amendments to the 
Planning and Design Code that seek to introduce an Adelaide Park Lands Open Space Offset 
Scheme or Adelaide Park Lands Overlay. 

11.1.4. The Minister for Planning has advised that subject to consideration of the matters raised in 
correspondence and feedback provided by ODASA being made, the Minister for Planning 
provides endorsement to proceed to public consultation. 

Page 255



 

City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 4 June 2024

11.2. Advice from Council as set out in point 7 of this report. 

11.3. General support for the draft APLMS and progressing the document to public consultation. 

11.4. Suggestions to enhance recognition of elements such as biodiversity, Colonel Light and the role of 
City Gardeners.  

11.5. Suggestions to adjust the format and structure of the draft APLMS to improve navigation, consistency 
of expression and presentation of mapping, including consideration of an index and improvements to 
precinct level maps. 

11.6. Minor editorial changes and typographical corrections. 

11.7. The targeted stakeholder consultation has not resulted in changes to the priorities or goals.  

11.8. There was support for the draft APLMS progressing to community consultation upon consideration 
and implementation of the consultation feedback. 

Draft APLMS for public consultation 
12. The draft APLMS, endorsed by Kadaltilla on 22 February 2024 for the purpose of targeted stakeholder 

consultation, has been updated to address targeted stakeholder feedback and was presented to Kadaltilla at 
its meeting on 23 May 2024 seeking endorsement for public consultation. 

13. Based on advice from ODASA, the public consultation will be undertaken for a period of eight weeks 
commencing in June 2024.  

14. Kadaltilla may, based on any consultation undertaken or submissions received, amend the draft APLMS. 
Kadaltilla will then prepare a report on the matter and provide a copy of the report to the City of Adelaide and 
the Minister for Planning. 

15. The City of Adelaide and the Minister for Planning must confer on the report and may then adopt the draft 
APLMS with or without amendment or refer the proposal back to Kadaltilla for further consideration. The 
APLMS is subject to parliamentary processes and publication. 

Next Steps 
16. The next steps include: 

16.1. Public consultation for 8-weeks commencing on 17 June 2024, including a public meeting on the draft 
APLMS on 25 June 2024. 

16.2. Presentation of public consultation on the draft APLMS to Kadaltilla in September/October 2024 
seeking approval of the Strategy. 

16.3. Report to the City of Adelaide and the Minister for Planning seeking adoption of the draft APLMS with 
or without amendment. 

16.4. Finalisation of the Adelaide Park Lands Management Strategy – Towards 2036, including approval of 
the Council and the Minister for Planning, parliamentary processes and publication. 

 

DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
Link 1 – Kadaltilla / Adelaide Park Lands Authority - Agenda - Thursday, 23 May 2024 

Link 2 – Council – Minutes - Tuesday 9 April 2024 

Link 3 – Kadaltilla / Adelaide Park Lands Authority - Minutes - Thursday, 22 February 2024 

 

ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A –  Draft Adelaide Park Lands Management Strategy – Towards 2036 for Public Consultation 

Attachment B – Targeted Stakeholder Consultation Summary Report on draft Adelaide Park Lands Management 
Strategy – Towards 2036 

 

- END OF REPORT -  

Page 256

https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/documents/s19225/Consultation%20Approval%20Adelaide%20Park%20Lands%20Management%20Strategy%20APLMS.pdf
https://cityofadelaideintranet.moderngov.com.au/documents/g936/Public%20minutes%2009th-Apr-2024%2017.30%20Council.pdf?T=11
https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/documents/g921/Public%20reports%20pack%2022nd-Feb-2024%2016.30%20Kadaltilla%20Adelaide%20Park%20Lands%20Authority.pdf?T=10


�����������	
�����
��������������	������������������� !"
Page 257

Attachment A



�������� ��	�
��
���������
������
����
�������
������	�
� ����������
!����������
��
��"���
���
 
��
#
���
$�
%�&��

























'()�����



































'*+,������
-���
�.
�&�
"���
���
 
��
#
���



































'/"���
���
 
��
#
���
!�0�������






















'1+,�������
$�22
�3




























45������
���



































4(�������
����



































4*

"���
���
 
��
#
���








































5(6�7
��
-��
8&��
!���2���







































5/9
���

 ��%���
:
����
8����
!����2��
����
"��









5;"����7�����2���
�.
������3




















51�
����
.��
������3

































'5

"���
���
 
��
#
���
!���������

��
 ���������














<'��
�
'= �
���

��
$%
���



































<<��
�
4=�����������

��
:��7����



































('
��
�
<=:
���
�
$3���2��
������
�

#
����
%��

��
 
���2
��
>���������


































(/$��
�����
 ���������























**��	�
�?2%��2���
�����

 
������&�%��
?�����2���"���
���
 
��
#
���
 �������
 �
��
















@4 
������&�%��
 �
�����

��
?�����2���




















'(5A����%����
�
B%��
$%
��
$3���2























'(4>�����
"��
�




























'(*?�����2���
C�
2�7���






















'*5

D

Page 258



����������	��
��
����� 	��
��
������������������������������� �!���"�#��$���������%&'���������(�)�*�$����!��������������������%++���������,������������� �!���"�!��"�"�)�*�����-�� �.�/��0���"���������������������%+1������������ �!���"��������������������������234�$������5���"�6�7�/��#�7���8�7��9���7�5���������21)��"7��-�$"�"�5:�7;�������������� �!���"���������������%<=7��7�-�*����5��7��"���������������������������������&&������������ �!���"����*��*7">�=?$���"�����@�����"���+'A�"7���� �!���"����*��*7����������������������+<=5$7;BA�"7���� �!���"����*��*7���������������������<%=5$7;B)�"7���� �!���"����*��*7�������������������<&C�*75������� ����*��*7"����������������������������<D)�"7���� �!���"����*��*7����������������������1'65�7;���� �!���"����*��*7����������������������������1<@5�:�!�� "����*��*7������������������������������D%(5�E7;5����� ����*��*7���������������������D&F�/��G�� ����*��*7���������������������������%22(57���*�)"7�7��!���"��������������H55����*��*7������%2&65�7;�)�"7���� �!���"����*��*7�����������������%2D���������=?$���"�����@�����"������������������%%%C�*75����=?$���I#���7��E��--��������������������%%&!�-;7�=?$���IA�$J�����������������������%%DK$�7���=?$���I#��- ����������������������������%L'K���9��";�=?$���IM$ �7���������������������%L<A;�795���=?$���IN�����7E���������������������%'%A�����-75��=?$���I4$����7$����������������������%'&@�����"����*��*7���������������������������%'DF�7$�������"�M����������������������������%31������������ �!���"�#��$�����������������������%&'

4����7�����=7��7�-�*������������"����������������������L'������������ �!���"�@5/�����*��������������������L3���*�"�����=��*�"�O�#��-�7"���������������������������'<,5���*7�5�"�����6�7J5� "�O�#��-�7"������������3&6�7$����=E"7�9">�,$�7$����!���"*���"�����,��9�7�� �F�"�����*��O�#��-�7"��������������������������������&L��P�*��7�,5$�*���Q����=��*��,59����"5�������������%3',���7���,�7E�Q����=��*��,59����"5�����������������%3'������������ �!���"���7$�������"�GE�,�7E�5:�������������%3&������������ �!���"���7$�������"�GE�@5/���9��7�5:� ��=5$7;��$"7�����������$"7�������@5/���9��7��������������%3&F�7$�������"�=*;��$��������������������������������%3+������������ �!���"�#��$���=*;��$�����������������%&3������������ �!���"�)�*�$����!��������������������%++������������ �!���"�!��"�"�)�*�����-�.�/��0���"���%+1

R

Page 259



���������	��


���
	����
����
�����
�
����������
����������
��������

� !"#$ !�%#&'�(#) *+

Page 260



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

���	��������

� !"#$!%#&�"'�(!$)$!*$� #+�,$-$.! "$�'/!�(!$,%'/)�0+$- %+$�� !1�2 #+)345678956�:8;<�=8>5?�@8>8A6B6>C�DC;8C6AE�F�GHI8;5?�JKLM�NCO6�DC;8C6AEP�O8?�Q66>�56R67HS65�QE�T8587C9778U45678956�:8;<�=8>5?�4VCOH;9CE�9>�8WWH;58>W6�I9CO�CO6�;6XV9;6B6>C?�HY�CO6�45678956�:8;<�=8>5?�4WC�JKKZ�CH�S;6S8;6�8�@8>8A6B6>C�DC;8C6AE�CH�56C6;B9>6�CO6�45678956�:8;<�=8>5?�59;6WC9H>?�8>5�S;9H;9C96?[ �����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

\

Page 261



�����������	
���
������������	�������
�������

������������
������������������������������������� !"#

#

Page 262



�����������	
���
������������	���	���
�������������������� !��" �#�$� %�&��" ��'���! ��$���() #��� !��*��" �+���� ,-.�/"�!�! #���$��'�0�$ !�1"-��" �+���� ,-�1�!�� � 0�� �&��" ���!��$��$��2�� �$�$# �*����" ��� 0��� ����3�4�$�!&��$���" �#�$!'0�����$�'$� ���3 $�����$*��5���.�/"�!�! #���$��$#0'� !6����7�!��$�6����8% #'��� �+'55��-�6����2�� �$�$# �6����9�$!'0�����$�������������������������	�����������������:������� !��" �#�� ���� #���$!��$���������� !�*����" ��� 0��� ����3�4�$�!��!���!-!� 5��*��� $�!��# .�;��� !#��( !��" �,'���$,�!���� ,� !��"���1�00��$*��5�<���0��00�&��" �+��� �2�� �$5 $���*�+�'�"��'!���0����$���" �9��-��*��� 0��� =!�*'�'� ��0�$$�$,��*��" ��� 0��� ����3�4�$�!�'$� ���"�  �,��0!./" ���� #���$!&��������� !��$��,��0!��$*��5��$*��!��'#�'� ��$��!���� ,�#��0�$$�$,�*����" ��� 0��� ����3�4�$�!.�6������ 0��� ����3�4�$�!�>�� #���$!��$���������� !�6����2��0�?.��0�# !��$��+��# !�6����2��0�@A�9�$$ #���$!��$��B �1��3!�6����2��0�CA�B��'��0�+-!� 5!&�9'0�'��0�4�$�!#�� !��$���������90�5�� �D !�0� $# �6����+���� ,�#��������� !

�����E���FGH��G�����������H�������I�H���������G��������9��'�0�$ !�"�1��" �+���� ,-�1�00��$*��5�*'�'� ��5�0 5 $�����$&�����$ �!"��!&��$���$� !�5 $���$��" ��� 0��� ����3�4�$�!.�/" ��� #�$#���0�$!�*��5��" �(�!�!�*���*'�'� �� ���0 ��5�!� ���0�$$�$,��*����3!��$���� #�$#�!.�����9�! �!��'���" ��$� $��*����" �+���� ,-����( ��5�0 5 $� ���$�����$ �!"��&��$#0'��$,�"�1��" ��� 0��� ����3�4�$�!�1�00�" 0��!'�������" �,��1�"��*��" �#��-��$��5 �����0���$��� 0��� &���!�� 0����$!"�������" �5 �����0���$��� $�!��# �!-!� 5&��� �!��*��" ��� 0��� ����3�4�$�!��"���#�'0��� �'�$�����" �#�� ��$��#�$���0��*��" �9��-��*��� 0��� ��$���$��$� !�5 $��*��5 1��3.�/"�!�! #���$��$#0'� !6������ 0��� ����3�4�$�!��� #�$#���0�$!��6��������$ �!"��!&��0�$$�$,��$��;$� !�5 $��6����J �����0���$�K� $�+��# �+-!� 5�6����D �'�$��� �!�6����;$� !�5 $��L��5 1��3�HH����	��/" ���� $��# !������� ��" �� �� ��1��"��" �0�$��� $'� �M�1$ �!"��N��$��0 �! !��$��0�# $! !��"��� %#  ��O� �- ��!�*����" ��� 0��� ����3�4�$�!.�/" ! � 0 5 $�!��� �� P'�� 5 $�!�'$� ���" ��� 0��� ����3�4�$�!��#��@QQR.

/"�!�,'�� �"�!�(  $��� ��� ������!!�!���$�'$� �!��$��$,�"�1��" ��� 0��� ����3�4�$�!�J�$�, 5 $��+���� ,-�S�/�1���!�@QCT�#�$�( �'! ���$�������� ���, $ ��0��� ��� 1��*��" �+���� ,-=!�!��'#�'� ��$��#�$� $�.� UVWXYZ[\W]YV

Ẑ_̀a]Z_�baXc�daVZe�faVag_h_VW�iWXaW_gj�k�lYmaXZe�nopq

r

Page 263



���������	��


���
	����
����
�����
�
����������
����������
��������

� !"# �$%&'(%)�* +,-%�.,+(%�/%+%"0,# +,&#�1"% 2

Page 264



��������	
�����
��
����������
�������������������
��� 
!�"�#
�$��%���&
'����������(
�) "%*���+�#
���
��$�"�
,�%,��
�#
���
�������%"��
%*"��#
%-
���
��������
����"#
�"�
,�&#
��#,�)�
�%
.����#
,�#�
�"�
,��#�"�/
����������
��)%+"�#�#
�"�
��#,�)�#
���
)$��$���
������+�0
1����-#
�"�
������%"#��,
*��)�
���
��$�"�
,�%,��
��2�
*���
���
��"�
�"�
�) "%*���+�#
����
���&
���
%-
)%"��"$�"+
�3,%���")�
�%
���
��$�"�
,�%,��
��2�"+
�%��&/
����������
�4��"�#
����
��#,�)�
�%
%����
�1%��+�"��
!�"+$�+�
5�%$,#
�"�
%����
6��#�
7���%"#
,�%,��#/

89:;<=>?:@<9

A=BCD@=B
ED;F
GD9=H
ID9DJBKB9:
L:;D:BJM
N
O<PD;=H
QRST

U

Page 265



��������	���	
����
��������������������������������������������������������������������������� ��������!�������������"�����������������������������#����������� ��������!��$�%����������&����������'�������(�������&)�����*������"��"���'���������'������������'�)����+,��"�������*������"��"��-�������������������.�����������������������������������"�������/�����)���������������$������
���������������������"������������(������������ ��������!��$�%��������/�����)��&���#�����((����)����������������&��������������������������$���������"������������������������������������+.����(������������������*������"��"�������������������*������$������������������"��������������������(�����(�����'����� ��������!��$�%����+.��� ��������!��$�%�����(����"��������""�����������'�������������������������/�����)�'���*����������������
�������������"��"��������"�������"�������������������������������&�������������������������������������0����� ������������((����)+*������"��"��-����������$������������������������������������"�������������������������������������� ��������!��$�%���������"�����'�/�����)���������&��������������������&)�
�������������"��"���������""�������������������������������������������/�����)�'����������������������"�����������������(���"��"����+.��� ��������!��$�%�����1�����(����0������)�2�.�������3456����(�����"��(�������������������������'����� ��������!��$�%������������"����*��������������������������������&����+

78���8�9:�;:��<�:�=��<:���:=>
���(���������64�444�)������
�������������"��"���������'�����������������"�����������������������������'�#�����������'���������/�����)�?�������(�@/�����)-��������������A����'������������������������������������ &�������������.������0������B��������"��"�������������������������'����������������C+.���'��������"���������'�
�������������"��"����'��(�������������������������������������D���"�������������������������������)������������� �����������������"�+�B��������E�F����0����#����������������������������������F����B�������������'����G�������H��������'�����F���� ��������������(�����(����"��������+.����0������)�����������������("�������������'����������&������������&��������+�/��������&������������)�������������(������'�'������������������������������������&���#�����&����������������������������&�����"��������(�$������������("�������'������(���������'�������������������������'��������"�����+ �*���������������&����������������/���������)�!��$����.���������?!��$�IJC��'����� ��������!��$�%��������
����)�IK�1�)�343I+�.���&����������"����'����A�("����'�����������������+�B����������#�������������&���������� ������������"��������)���������#�������*������L�����?/�����)C�������D���"����������������+.��� ��������!��$�%�����1�����(����0������)�2�.�������3456���""�����*������"��"���/������'���/�����)���������������������������"��������������������������&�������'���(�����(�����'����� ��������!��$�%����+�.�����������������"��������������&���������&)�*������"��"����������""����'��(�����/��)��'� �������+

MNOPQRSTOUQN

VRWXYURW�ZYP[�\YNR]�̂YNY_Ẁ WNO�aOPYOW_b�c�dQeYPR]�fghi

jg

Page 266



��������������	�
������
���	���
�����������
�����	����	�������������������������
�
���������
��
��������������������� !�" �!�# $��%&����' �!�" �($)*��%+�&�% ,�* �%+� �+��)�- �% # �+$.�* /# �0+#��)1�!)" �)1��%+��. -�!�)$�"+(�$��+#)2$.�*%+��%+00 $!��)�)2#�-)2$�#,�)$��% �3. '+�. �4'+�$!56 789:;<=>9?;8

@<ABC?<A�DC:E�FC8<G�HC8CIAJA89�K9:C9AIL�M�N;OC:<G�PQRS

TT

Page 267



Page 268



��	
��
����
������	��
��������
�
Page 269



�����������	
�����
�����
��������������������������������� �!��"��������#�����$�%�&�'��(� ���������)��%����*��+���,����������� ���+��������-��.���/�.���0-��.���1����.&2������ �����+�3�����+��&��%��������� �.����41�5�.��(�678���+��.� ,����������������.9�$��� ��.�������������&���������.���������&�.�+�(�� ������"�.9��%�3�.9 4:��������������.9�$��� ,��;��.� �����1��&�$�&����3.�5��� ������(�!���������.�+�������(��!�+9����������.��� ��3������(������ ��!�� �<�����%����� �����<�����%��������� �.����,���3������%���=�.��+���������.�<�>�.��� �.������ �����<��� 4�:��������������.9�$��� �����1��&�$�&����� ��� +.�!������������ �.������?��������@�.���(��$� ��� ���3��+���%���� ������(������������.���(�� �(��A+��+��"��+��"� �%����������B�"�.��C�9�A����)�!!��D �3.��+�3�� ��%��& ��<���+�1����� �����������<!���� �1�������C�����<�$�(��D �EFG6�3������A����!&��� ���&�����%�?�.������������������������+�.3�.����(�(.������ �.����3����.��0��+�����(����.�.+�&��%�.��� 2,� �H���"�� ;��.� � �3�.�����!&������'�5�.�:�..�� I-�..�"�..����.��������+�.+����!&����������������.9�$��� 4:������� +�3��(�����!�����A+�������%����������������.9�$��� ��� ������(��� ��.&,�"���� �(��A+������J���+���%��� �(�,�%�.<���(�.��� ,��.���3������(�����<��������+��!���(���J���+���!&�C�����<�KDL.����0EF7EMEF6N2,�C�����<����(���&�0EF76MEFFG2,�O����B�����L.�"��0EF6FMEFP82�������(� ��C�����<����Q�.�0EFPPMEPGR2�"���"�.���33�������� �1��&�)�.���. 4�#��&��%���� ����J���+� ��.�� ������5����������&4�:���&����������������.9�$��� �+�� � ���%�RP�����5��������.9 ����� �H�1��&��;��.� �����"������5�.���&��%���=�.����%����.� �����%�+������ ������%�.<��������.���%�����#��.�3�������K3����3�+���& ��<�%�.�).����.�#��.�3���������������4:���1��&��%����������<���(� ��33.�H�<����&�F8�3�.+�����%����������������.9�$��� ,�"���������.�<�����(�R8�3�.+���,���+�����(��������������L�����+�)�.��� �����L�����+���.9,��.��<���(���!&������������� �.������)�5�.�<���4

:��������������.9�$��� �%�.<���+��� �5�����"�.9��%��3��� 3�+� �������.��<���(��������"������%���.9�$��� � +���,����3.�+��+� ,������������5������3�.9� +���4�S��������T�
�U��
V�W	���X�	��Y����-��.���-�.������..������0+����.���!�.�2���������������)��-��( ������.9IC�..�.�������0��.9�RG2�Y�����������-�� ����1����.&��5����Y����1.�������������+���%�'�J�+��������'&<������.9I����������#�.��"�..�3�.9��0��.9�EN2V�Z�[����\�	
��ZY����EG4F]��%����������������.9�$��� ��.��+��  �A���� ��������-�&�L����5�. ��&��.�� �Y����7�9�&�L����5�. ��&��.�� �Y����EFG�����5��3����� 3�+�� �0R88G� �.5�&2�Y����̂�3.�_B�.�3�����+���(�+���+�<<������ �Y����RG� 3�+�� �"����+�� �.5������ �(��A+��+������������	
�����
�̀	��
�abcbb��W���dY����G6,F78��.�� � �.5�&���������������������.9�$��� �Y����GG4P]��%����������������.9�$��� ��.��+�5�.���!&��������.���+���3&�Y����1���3&�+�5�.�������������������.9�$��� ��� ���������+.�� ���%.�<�R64G]����GG4P]��������3�.����R8ÊM��������R8RR�Y����6R]��%�����������1��&��%�����������.���+���3&�� ���������+�����������������������.9�$��� e���	�f
�Y����EF̂���+��.� ��%��..�(������.���������������������������.9�$��� �Y����6E�3���� �3.�5����.�+&+����"���.�%�.��..�(�����,�������"���.�%����.� �����!������( �������������������������.9�$��� �Y����66̂�<�(����.� ��%�.�+&+����"� ��"���.�� �������������..�(���������������.9�$��� ��3��� 3�+� ����R8RR�Y����K���5�.�(��RR8�<�(����.� ��%�"���.�� ��H�.�+����������%.�<�'�5�.�:�..�� I-�..�"�..����.������..�(��������������?�.������������)��%�1��. �ghijklhi�mkno�pkqhr�skqktiuiqv�wvnkvitx�y�z{|knhr�}~��

mknv�g�y��k�otn{�qh���{�inqkq�i���{qr�jvkvl{q��

Page 270



�����������	
���
������������	�������
����������������� !"#��$�% &'$ �( '! )�!*"�+#", -#"�. '/�� $#0�0&11�'!��&'�"$2-'�$3"$!)�1'�2-#"���$$"�!-�$0�!��$ !&'"� $#��4"'�1, �"0�5�'�1"�1,"�!��1 '!-�-1 !"�-$�"2"$!0)��&,!&' ,�"61"'-"$�"0� $#�'"�'" !-�$ ,� �!-2-!-"07�8"�9-,,�9�'/�!�:"!*"'�!��"$* $�"� $#�1'�!"�!�!*"�+#", -#"�. '/�� $#0�5�'�5&!&'"�:"$"' !-�$07
������������
�;�����<�����=����>������?���@�A�����BCDE

FG

Page 271



��������	
���
������				��	�������	������	�����	�				��	 �! "��	�!� #��	�				$	%��"��%���	&� !�!�!��	'�	������	 �(���)								�	 �**(�!�+	 �(���	���	�	#��&	 �(���,		�				�	���%���	&� !�!�!��	'�-	������	 �(���	���									-	 �**(�!�+	 �(���,		�				--	����!�	&� !�!�!��	'.�	������	 �(���	���	�!�#�								 �**(�!�+	 �(���,/0�����				1��	*��!(*2*�3��	�4����	#���	'-5-�,6�����	��7	8�����������				1."*	9����!��	:��"	;����	<��!�	�				1�	=�>��*��	 ���� �!��	?�������!���	9����!��	��								9����!��	:��"	;����	���	�#�	 !�+	�				@�����	���	(�������	���#A�+�67�
��7�	B��C	D��7�	8��	B��C���	EFGFF	�H7��IJ��	���"!��	��3� ���	��	�#�	9����!��	:��"	;����	�				�)$K.	��� ��	�&	��>������	���"!��	*������	%+	J!�+								�&	9����!��	�				1)�1.	��� ��	�&	��>������	���"!��	'*������	%+								��3�!�!��	 �(� !��2��#��	�(�#��!�!��,	J��	���"!��	��	�#�	9����!��	:��"	;����	�				-)�$�	��� ��	L	���!������	 ��	���"�	�				$)M-M	��� ��	L	��*�����+2�4���2���*!�	���"!��	�				1)$1�	��� ��	L	���!������	 ��	���"�	'*������	%+	��#��	�(�#��!�!��,8��N	�O	67�
��7�	P���������
	Q�����R���	�O	�S�	67�
��7�	B��C	D��7��				-�)555T	����	%(�#��	��(���	�� #	+���	�				�5)555	���(���	���A�	���	�������	�� #	+���	�				�-	���(��	������	%���	A!�#	$	�!U�����	�!����+�								�� #	+���	�				�$5	#�	�&	�(�&	*�A�	���	�4��	1�5"*	�&	�(�&	�����								�� #	+���	�				K�"*	�&	�#����	���#�	���	%!"�	��� "�	*�!���!���	�				15)�55	!��!���!��	���!�"����	*�!���!���	�				=4��	1�)�55*�	�&	�����	�����! �	�� + ���	���(���+VWXYZ[WX	\Z]̂	_Z̀Wa	bZ̀ZcXdX̀e	fe]ZeXcg	h	ijkZ]Wa	lmno

\Z]e	V	h	pZq̂c]jr̀Ws	tjuX]̀Z̀qXs	vj̀arYeZe[j̀6wH����	/���N���R��				1$xKy	�&	z!4��	<������2{����A!���	:��!	A��	 �4����								!�	�|(��! 	4������!��	!�	-51M	�				�	���!4�	��#	��� !��	&�(��	!�	z!4��	<������2							{����A!���	:��!	�				=��	���!4�	�|(��! 	*�**��)	z�"��!	'A����	���,	�				-�	�!��!� �	4������!��	���� !��!���	�				-�	���!4�	�����	��� !��}�~��	����R������				�)-�5	*����!����	�&	(�%��	����*A����	!�	�!� #�����							!���	9����!��	:��"	;����	A����	 �(����	�4��+	+���	�				-KM	������	�&	�����	����(�����	A���	 ���(���	%+								�����	%�&���	�����!��	9����!��	:��"	;����								A���� �(����	!�	-5-1	�				1$�	������	�&	�����	����(�����	'�!����)	���4��	���								%��� #��,	A���	 ���� ���	%+	�����	�����!��	�#�*								&��*	�����!��	{����A!���	:��!67�
��7�	B��C	D��7�	���7	�H�O����	��7	�H�
�	
��R	EFGF�	�H7��I�				11x$y	�&	�#�	�����	9����!��	:��"	;����	!�	#���								�(�&� �	'���	!� �(�!��	�����,	�				$x-y	�&	�#�	�����	9����!��	:��"	;����	!�	%(!��	&��*								'!� �(�!��	����#	<���� �	:�� !� ��,	�				$11	%(!��!���	'!� �(���	���	%(!��!���	!�	�#�	���!������								9����!��	:��"	;����	:���,67�
��7�	B��C	D��7�	D�����D�������	EFGF�I�				�5	9����!��	:��"	;����	������	A#! #	�� ���	�4�								+����	'!� �(�!��	�!�#��	�&	������!��,	�				�K	;����2;! �� ��	&��	9����!��	:��"	;����	�����!��								&� !�!�!��	�				1K	;�����	&��	 �**(�!�+	%(�!����	�(������	�				M	*!�!����!��	������2�! �����	�				155T	�4���	�! �����	�������	���(���+67�
��7�	B��C	D��7�	
���
������				-.	&��*��	�������	�				1�	���+���(���	�				-	�"���	���"�

�o

Page 272



���������	�
������

���
����
�������������������������� !"#$�% &'�"�"�'$�( ")!*���+ "

�#'*�+#'������,�"#)�-�"��'.'"��/����'�0���1 2��#)�3456

78

Page 273



�����������	
���
������������	�������
�������

������������
�������������������������������������� !"

#$

Page 274



�����������	
�����
����������
�������������������������� !��"������!���#���������$�� �%���&�'�����(� �$��&)�*&��%�#�����������+��� ����* &,�- ����+%��.//0� ��������#&�!����%��������%)������&���&��%�����������+��� ����* &,�- ���1��������������	
�����
�2�� %%�&� �%�����������+��� ����* &,�- ����+%��.//03�+��� ����* &,�- ����&���&���������� ����������������+��� ����* &,�- ����*� ��45678�4&���&����+##����9�+�:�+��� ����* &,�- �������$&�8� �����%�$��������;��)�(<$ &��=�>&�$�� '�5 &����?� ��$������� �4* &,�.@8� ���* �'�&�5 &����?* ��,��* ��,��4* &,�.A8=�&� ���&$��������&�$����&�"�&��&��������+��� ����* &,�- ���=� ��� �)�����&�� ���!����������&�$���&�����% &�3�%���&����&�' � ��'������3�����;&���3� ��� ��� $���&��)��&� ���% ����!�&�'����"��)1����+��� ����* &,�- �������������%�$��BC1����* &�� '����D�$��3�����#&�'�����,����� ��7����������* &�� '����D�$��3��&������ ��� ##$&��� �������������* &�� '����D�$��3��&�7���* &�� '����D�$��.1���5�!�&�'����D�$����&������ ��� ##$&��� �������������5�!�&�'����D�$��E1���+�)�� ���!�������������;�''���� ���3��&� ��������� ���%)��&�����&$'��� ���)��������;�''���� ���1���	
�������F	G�
�
�H����+��� ����* &,�- ������ ��#&�!������&�#$"��%�)�������� %%����"����#����# %����&�����"�������������#��#�������������(�$���+$��& �� � ��� &������& ��)� ! �� "����������������'���&�����&�$��� �����I�)'����H����+��� ����* &,�- ������ ���$##�&�� ���!�&���& ����������������!�&��'��� �3�%$��$& �3�&�%&� ���� �� �����%� ���������! �$��� ��� %��!�����1* &,�- ������ �� &�� ���%� ��������� �J* &,�- ����*$&#���K����$���"��#&�'����3���� �%��� ���#&���%���1

L��M��	
�������F	G�
�
�H����+��� ����* &,�- ������ ��&���&�%������& ��#$"��%����������� %%���� ��� &�������������&�����#&�' &)�#$&#��������������#&�!������ %%����"���#$"��%��#����# %��H����+��� ����* &,�- ������ ��������� ���������������������(� �$��&)�*&��%�#�����$�������$���&���%�����N4C84"8���������������+��� ����* &,�- ����+%��.//0O��P* &,�- ���*$&#��������$���"����'����� ������&�� ##&�#&� ���&��$&������� �* &,�- ���*$&#���1L�����

�Q��FR��S�T��SS�

�R��������������	
�����
�U����������V�+�������������#$"��%�)� %%����"���+��� ����* &,�- ����% ���%%$&������ �# &,��&�# &����� �# &,������������+��� ����* &,�- ����%� ������&�'�� !���� �J* &,�- ����*$&#���K���� �JO��P* &,�- ����*$&#���K�:�&��$���������&���&�%����#$"��%� %%���1��	W������L�����

��X������������	
�����
�����+��� ����* &,�- ����*� ����� �&������&���#� ����&�$�������5���& ��6�����&)�7Y%��456781+�J��������K��������+��� ����* &,�- ������$����%%$&��������"�$�� &)���������#� ����� '������&��$���������� ���%$&&����)�"�����&������&��������������*� ��"�����&�'�!����&�'�����*� �1Z��F	������FR��S�T��SS�

�R��������������	
�����
�- ���&������&��������������+��� ����* &,�- ����*� ���� ��� ��#&�!��$��)�"����$������&� �JO��P* &,�- ����*$&#���K�"�����#�&' �����)�&��$&�����������#$"��%���&� �J* &,�- ���*$&#���K1[F�����\�]���G	�������� &� ���� �"$�������'� �$&�����������$������� �������3�������%�$������ &��� ��� &� �1�̂	�
�����+&� ������'#�&!��$���$&� %��1

_̀ab�c�d�èfghaijklm�niopak̀kfpm�qikrjsb̀btik

clps̀tlp�_̀ag�ùklr�v̀ k̀hpwpkb�xbàbphy�d�zi{̀ alr�|}~�

��

Page 275



���������	
����
��������������������	��
�	�����	�����
������	�� �!"#!!�$% �!�# �	&�'(	)�* +	%,"�-'#".	/�� �!"#!!�0	#+	"��	1'#*2#1�!	� 3#+-'	"-	"��	4#".	-5	% �!�# �	�* 	"��	6-3�'*7�*"	-5	8-,"�	%,+"'�!#�	-*	"��	1'-"�2"#-*9	7�*�:�7�*"9	�*��*2�7�*"9	�* 	1'-7-"#-*	-5	"��	% �!�# �	&�'(	)�* +;	�� �!"#!!�	#+	�+"�<!#+�� 	1,'+,�*"	"-	+�2"#-*	=	-5	"��	% �!�# �	&�'(	)�* +	%2"	>??=	/8%0	�* 	-1�'�"�+	�+	�	+,<+# #�'.	-5	"��	4#".	-5	% �!�# �9	1,'+,�*"	"-	+�2"#-*	@>	-5	"��	)-2�!	6-3�'*7�*"	%2"	ABBB	/8%0;	�� �!"#!!�	�2"+	#*	�22-' �*2�	C#"�	#"+	4��'"�'	�* 	"��	% �!�# �	&�'(	)�* +	%2"	>??=	/8%0;	D*	AA	E�.	>?>F9	"��	E#*#+"�'	5-'	&!�**#*:	�11'-3� 	�	2��*:�	"-	�� �!"#!!�G+	4��'"�'	+-	"��"	#"	C-,! 	<�	<'�* � 	�+	"��	H�� �!"#!!�$% �!�# �	&�'(	)�* +	%,"�-'#".G/�� �!"#!!�0;��������	��
�	�����	I���J�����	
�
���J�	K	LM�������	% �!�# �	&�'(	)�* +	E�*�:�7�*"	8"'�"�:.	/"��	8"'�"�:.0	��+	<��*	 �3�!-1� 	<.	�� �!"#!!�$% �!�# �	&�'(	)�* +	%,"�-'#".	�* 	+�"+	"��	+"'�"�:#�+9	1'-N�2"+	�* 	1!�**#*:	2-*+# �'�"#-*+	"��"	C#!!	<�	,+� 	<.	�� �!"#!!�$% �!�# �	&�'(	)�* +	%,"�-'#".9	"��	4#".	-5	% �!�# �9	"��	6-3�'*7�*"	-5	8-,"�	%,+"'�!#�9	2,!",'�!	#*+"#","#-*+9	�* 	2-77,*#".	+"�(��-! �'+	"-	:,# �	 �2#+#-*+	'�!�"#*:	"-	"��	% �!�# �	&�'(	)�* +;	O+#*:	�	+1�"#�!	1!�**#*:	�11'-�2�	�* 	5-2,+#*:	-*	(�.	"��7�+	# �*"#P� 	"�'-,:�	+"�(��-! �'	�* 	2-77,*#".	2-*+,!"�"#-*9	"��	8"'�"�:.	1'-3# �+	�	<-! 	3#+#-*	"-C�' +	>?FQ	5-'	"��	-3�'�!!	�*��*2�7�*"	�* 	1'-"�2"#-*	-5	"��	% �!�# �	&�'(	)�* +;	R��	
�
���J�	
������	��	���	����	����J��	S�	�����	�J������T	�����
�����	���	U���	�V	��������	��	���	��������	��
�	�����	����	���	����	��WA;				&'-"�2"	"��	#*"�:'#".	-5	"��	% �!�# �	&�'(	)�* +								X�"#-*�!	Y�'#"�:�	Z�!,�+	>;			E�*�:�	"��	% �!�# �	&�'(	)�* +	#*	�*								�*3#'-*7�*"�!!.	�* 	P*�*2#�!!.	+,+"�#*�<!�	7�**�'	

F;			[*2'��+�	"��	2-77,*#".G+	,+�	-5	"��	% �!�# �	&�'(								)�* +	@;			\*+,'�	"��	% �!�# �	&�'(	)�* +	�'�	C# �!.								�22�++#<!�	"-	"��	1,<!#2	=;			8�5�:,�' 	�* 	2�!�<'�"�	"��	*�",'�!9	2,!",'�!	�* 								'�2'��"#-*�!	3�!,�+	-5	"��	% �!�# �	&�'(	)�* +	Q;			[71'-3�	"��	],�!#".	-5	!�* +2�1�+	�* 	5�2#!#"#�+	;̂				[71'-3�	"��	2-77,*#".G+	�C�'�*�++	-5	"��	*�",'�!								�* 	2,!",'�!	��'#"�:�	-5	"��	% �!�# �	&�'(	)�* +								"�'-,:�	#*"�'1'�"�"#-*;_�	M������J	V�
	���	V���
�	�V	���	��������	��
�	�����	���	
������
�	�
����M���	�V	���	��������	��
�	�����	���	̀aab	c���	���d	����	S�	�S��
���e	�;			���	!�* 	2-71'#+#*:	"��	% �!�# �	&�'(	)�* +								+�-,! 9	�+	5�'	�+	#+	'��+-*�<!.	�11'-1'#�"�9								2-''�+1-* 	"-	"��	:�*�'�!	#*"�*"#-*+	-5	4-!-*�!								f#!!#�7	)#:�"	#*	�+"�<!#+�#*:	"��	P'+"	&!�*	-5								% �!�# �	#*	AgF̂;	<;			���	% �!�# �	&�'(	)�* +	+�-,! 	<�	��! 	5-'	"��								1,<!#2	<�*�P"	-5	"��	1�-1!�	-5	8-,"�	%,+"'�!#�9	�* 								+�-,! 	<�	:�*�'�!!.	�3�#!�<!�	"-	"��7	5-'	"��#'	,+�								�* 	�*N-.7�*"	/'�2-:*#+#*:	"��"	2�'"�#*	,+�+	-5								"��	&�'(	)�* +	7�.	'�+"'#2"	-'	1'�3�*"	�22�++	"-								1�'"#2,!�'	1�'"+	-5	"��	&�'(	)�* +0;	2;			���	% �!�# �	&�'(	)�* +	'�h�2"	�* 	+,11-'"	�							 #3�'+�	'�*:�	-5	�*3#'-*7�*"�!9	2,!",'�!9							'�2'��"#-*�!	�* 	+-2#�!	3�!,�+	�* 	�2"#3#"#�+	"��"							+�-,! 	<�	1'-"�2"� 	�* 	�*��*2� ;	 ;		���	% �!�# �	&�'(	)�* +	1'-3# �	�	 �P*#*:	5��",'�							"-	"��	4#".	-5	% �!�# �	�* 	2-*"'#<,"�	"-	"��							�2-*-7#2	�* 	+-2#�!	C�!!i<�#*:	-5	"��	2#".	#*	�							7�**�'	"��"	+�-,! 	<�	'�2-:*#+� 	�* 	�*��*2� ;	�;		���	2-*"'#<,"#-*	"��"	"��	% �!�# �	&�'(	)�* +							7�(�	"-	"��	*�",'�!	��'#"�:�	-5	"��	% �!�# �	&!�#*+							+�-,! 	<�	'�2-:*#+� 9	�* 	2-*+# �'�"#-*	:#3�*	"-							"��	�j"�*"	"-	C�#2�	#*#"#�"#3�+	#*3-!3#*:	"��	&�'(							)�* +	2�*	#71'-3�	"��	<#- #3�'+#".	�* 							+,+"�#*�<#!#".	-5	"��	% �!�# �	&!�#*+;	5;			���	8"�"�	6-3�'*7�*"9	+"�"�	�:�*2#�+	�* 							�,"�-'#"#�+9	�* 	"��	4#".	-5	% �!�# �9	+�-,! 							�2"#3�!.	+��(	"-	2-i-1�'�"�	�* 	2-!!�<-'�"�	C#"�							��2�	-"��'	#*	-' �'	"-	1'-"�2"	�* 	�*��*2�	"��							% �!�# �	&�'(	)�* +;	:;		���	#*"�'�+"+	-5	"��	8-,"�	%,+"'�!#�*	2-77,*#".	#*		klmnoplm	qors	toulv	wouoxmymuz	{zrozmx|	}	~��orlv	����

qorz	k	}	�o�sxr��ul�	���mruou�m�	��uv�nzozp�u��

Page 276



�
���������	�
����
�����
�����
����
������������
�������

	�
�����������
��
� �!�"�

�
�� �#�
��������

�����$%&'()%*�+,$�-($&$(./+)0%�01�+,$�23$4/)3$�5/(6�������7/%3&�/($�+0�8$�($90*%)&$3:�/%3�/9+).)+)$&�+,/+�;/<�������/=$9+�+,$�5/(6�7/%3&�&,0'43�8$�90%&)&+$%+�>)+,�������;/)%+/)%)%*�0(�$%,/%9)%*�+,$�$%.)(0%;$%+/4:�������9'4+'(/4:�($9($/+)0%/4�/%3�&09)/4�,$()+/*$�&+/+'&�01�������+,$�5/(6�7/%3&�10(�+,$�8$%$?+�01�+,$�&+/+$@A,$�B+(/+$*<�+/6$&�)%+0�/990'%+�/�(/%*$�01�+($%3&�/%3�9,/%*$&�/=$9+)%*�+,$�23$4/)3$�5/(6�7/%3&:�)%94'3)%*C�94);/+$:�-0-'4/+)0%�*(0>+,�)%�D)+<�01�23$4/)3$�/%3�E($/+$(�23$4/)3$:�/%3�)%9($/&)%*�3$;/%3�10(�'&$@�F+�/4&0�+/6$&�)%+0�/990'%+�/�*(0>)%*�3$;/%3�10(�+,$)(�-(0+$9+)0%�3'$�+0�-'84)9�($90*%)+)0%�01�+,$)(�'%)G'$%$&&@2&�+,$�,$/(+�01�0'(�.)8(/%+�&+/+$:�23$4/)3$�)&�);;$(&$3�)%�+,$�23$4/)3$�5/(6�7/%3&�>,)9,�/($�/�3$?%)%*�1$/+'($�01�+,$�9)+<�/%3�/44�)+�,/&�+0�0=$(@�H$<0%3�+,$�

-)9+'($&G'$�4/%3&9/-$&�01�,)*,�8)03).$(&)+<�/%3�,$()+/*$�./4'$:�/(+&�/%3�;'&)9�1$&+)./4&:�()9,�9'4+'(/4�,$()+/*$:�;/I0(�&-0(+)%*�/%3�9'4+'(/4�$.$%+&:�+,$�23$4/)3$�5/(6�7/%3&�/($�/�;'9,J40.$3�%/+'(/4�/&&$+�+,/+�;'&+�8$�-(0+$9+$3�10(�1'+'($�*$%$(/+)0%&@�2&�+,$�.$%'$�10(�;/%<�01�23$4/)3$K&�/%3�B0'+,�2'&+(/4)/K&�-($;)$(�$.$%+&�/%3�+0'()&+�/++(/9+)0%&:�+,$�23$4/)3$�5/(6�7/%3&�/($�9()+)9/4�+0�-(0;0+)%*�/%3�$%,/%9)%*�+,$�&09)/4:�9'4+'(/4�/%3�$90%0;)9�4)1$�01�+,$�9)+<@LMN�OPQRPNST�UNVWQNU�PMXU�YWPWQN�RZ[�QNU\]Z[U�P]�PMN�VQXPXVR̂�VMR̂N̂ZSNU�]Y_�̀���$;8$33)%*�a/'(%/�9'4+'($��̀���($&-$9+)%*�/%3�/96%0>4$3*)%*�+,$�-/&+��̀���);-(0.)%*�94);/+$�($&)4)$%9$��̀���4$/(%)%*�1(0;�;/%/*$;$%+�01�-/(6&�/9(0&&�+,$������������>0(43@

�b

Page 277



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
����������������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

��	���������
�	������ �!�	�������"��
����������

Page 278



�������������	
��
�������������������������������
������������������������������������������������� ���!����"�#�$	%	#��#&�'�(�	)�*(#+���������
���������������������,� ����������-���������������������--�����

.#/*�(#%	#���'	�0(�%�#)	1�������������
-��������
������������������������������-���������
���������.23	���4&/*)	5���������������-�����������,�!��,�����-����,��������-
�������������������
�����
�����������
����������!�������������������������������

�6�*&*#$�'�*#)*3�	78���
�����������������������������������������,��������9��������
���������������8���
��
����������������������������9��������
����������:����������9�������;����<�����������������������������������������,����=��������
>�&���*����?����	$*)�'��#����������;��@���������
����ABAC:ABAD������������������� ������������-�����-��������-������E�6�*&*#$�'�*#)*3�	7
'*����7

FGHIJKGH�LJMN�OJPGQ�RJPJSHTHPU�VUMJUHSW�X�YZ[JMGQ�\]̂_FGHIJKGH�LJMN�OJPGQ�RJPJSHTHPU�VUMJUHSW�X�YZ[JMGQ�\]̂_

LJMU�F�X�̀JaNSMZbPGc�dZeHMPJPaHc�fZPQbIUJUKZP

8���
������� ����g���������������������������������
��������������������������!���<����������9��������������
���������8���9������������
������������������������������������
�����
���������������������������9��������
������������������������!���<���������@�����9����������h

iKSbMH�jk�lJGJIUKIIJ�VUMJUHSKa�LIJP�LKIIJMQ

\̂

Page 279



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

���� !"!#�$%&'()*)+'�%,�-.'�/0'1*20'�3*(4�5*)06�26�6.*('0�7'-8'')�6-*-'�9%&'():')-�*)0�-.'�;2-<�%,�/0'1*20'=�>*0*1-211*?/0'1*20'�3*(4�5*)06�/@-.%(2-<�26�-.'�A(2)+2A*1�*0&26%(�-%�-.'�6-*-'�9%&'():')-�*)0�-.'�;2-<�
��	������B�C
�	�D��E�F�G�	���C�E�H��
D�������

I!�J �!K�!L�M �L�#LJ�!�"!N�OJ�NJ�� PJLQ�R�!P� �"LJ�!�S#L�TUUU�VWSX Y�#"Z����� !K�!L�S#L�TUUU�VWSXSN�Z"JN��M" [�Y"!NP�S#L�\]]̂�VWSX_���	�
�
��̀��a��C���D����������������b��
�������
���������C�D����c

�	�d�	�
��������������	�����SN�JP� Q�ef!#LJ�!
g�hfZ"L� Q�"!N�"NKJ!JPL "LJ���if!#LJ�!
���� !"!#���i�Lj��SN�Z"JN��M" [�Y"!NP

kj��R�KKf!JLQ��i�SN�Z"JN��"!N�W�fLj�SfPL "ZJ"

���� !K�!L��i��W�fLj�SfPL "ZJ"�VM �l" �P�m"!"h�K�!L�MZ"!PX RJLQ��i�SN�Z"JN��VM �l" �P�R�KKf!JLQ�Y"!N�m"!"h�K�!L�MZ"!XSN�Z"JN��M" [�Y"!NP�m"!"h�K�!L�WL "L�hQ
g�l �P�!L"LJ�! g�l �P�!L"LJ�!

%,�/0'1*20'�%)�-.'�/0'1*20'�3*(4�5*)06�*)0�26�('6A%)6271'�,%(�A('A*(2)9�-.'�/0'1*20'�3*(4�5*)06�n*)*9':')-�o-(*-'9<=

p��D	����q������������	
�����
�F�G�	���C�

�r

Page 280



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
����������������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

��	���������
�	������ �!�	�������"��
��������#$%&'()*)+$%,-.�/0120.34�-25�6..7�879:1;.<�64�.=0.758>.�?:;;@7804�27<�502A.-:B<.1�.7323.;.70�C-.1.�C.�320-.1.<�0-:@527<5�:9�87<8>8<@2B�?:;;.705�27<�8<.25D�,:�<.B8>.1�:7�C-20�C.�-.21<E�0-.�/0120.34�1.02875�?:1.�50120.38.5�91:;�0-.�F<.B28<.�G21A�H27<5�I2723.;.70�/0120.34�JKLMNJKJM�C-8B50�O1:>8<873�2<<808:72B�:OO:10@7808.5�9:1�0-.�.7-27?.;.70�27<�O1:0.?08:7�:9�0-.�F<.B28<.�G21A�H27<5D,:�5-21.�0-.�/0120.34�25�C.BB�25�O1:>8<.�@OP0:P<20.�<202�26:@0�0-.�F<.B28<.�G21A�H27<5E�20�<8Q.1.70�5?2B.5E�0-.�@O<20.�C8BB�87?B@<.�27�870.12?08>.�<83802B�>.158:7�C8BB�87?1.25.�2??.55868B804�9:1�0-.�?:;;@7804D
#$RR'%+)S�*%T�&)*UVW$(TVX�V%Y*YVRV%)�+%Z('TVT�[����J�<1:OP87�5.558:75�[����LK�C:1A5-:O5�[����\7.�879:1;2B�320-.1873�[����]�:7B87.�5@1>.45�[����̂�O1.5.70208:75�[����I:70-B4�/0..1873�_1:@O�;..08735`V�WV*XT�aX$R�[����Lb�502A.-:B<.1�31:@O5�[����Ĵc�9:1@;�200.7<..5�[����]Mc�?:;;@7804�5@6;8558:75�[����JEMKK�d:@1/24�?:;;.705e+&)V%+%Y�)$�f*'X%*�[����\73:873�;..08735�C80-�g2@172�d.102�������F6:183872B�h:1O:1208:7

�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

�i

Page 281



�����������	
���	�
���������������������������������������������� ���!������"������#������$��������� %������#�&'������!�(�������&��� ���&"���������������)"'����'�������*+��,�-��
.�/0�,�-1���2�����������������3���(���$�1���4"���#��"������#"55'��� ����������#���1���65��"!���7�����$�����#�������������3�&�#�������8���	���/�-��
-9�:����	���;�
.-,�0�-��
.�:�<
����=�-<�<�
,�1���>�'���������5���$�5�������������#'��'���1���2"������'�������#���1���4��5������������#��1���?������"&�>����3���������
:�

�,�<�
-��
.�8����	@-1���)�&�� �1����#��!��������"���1���4"���#��"����"�����������5���"�"��������������+�	�
�	-�<0-9�+��

<
A��
.�B
C�-�
�
�1���D������$"!�����#��1�����"��#��&"��&'�'���$�������"���1���2"���!"�'�����������������#"55'��� ���!"�!�5����1���)��������!���5���

EFGHIJFG�KILM�NIOFP�QIOIRGSGOT�UTLITGRV�W�XYZILFP�[\]̂EFGHIJFG�KILM�NIOFP�QIOIRGSGOT�UTLITGRV�W�XYZILFP�[\]̂

KILT�E�W�_ÌMRLYaOFb�cYdGLOIÒGb�eYOPaHTITJYO[̂

Page 282



�����������	
���
������������	�������
�������

������������
�������������������������������������� !"

�#

Page 283



Page 284



��	
�	�	�
��	����	
�
�
��

Page 285



��������	�
���
���	�������

���	�����	������
���
���
�	��
��	����	�������

������	������	�
��
�������������� �!"#�$%#���%#��� &�'��%(��))* (��!����� &�'��%(�+�%#��#,#���(�+#����(��!���- #)��)!��#,#�.�/"#��� &�'��%(�+�%#�(! �!#��#(�"�,#�0##��� �*-#%�*�%# �!"#������+����!" ##�����(.�
12345623�7589�:5;2<�=5;5>3?3;@�A@85@3>B�C�DEF582<�GHIJ12345623�7589�:5;2<�=5;5>3?3;@�A@85@3>B�C�DEF582<�GHIJ

IH

Page 286



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

��	�������	��	����
����	������
�� ���


�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

!"#$%&"#�'%()�*%+",�-&(#./&0+,�%+"�'(&0(&/&#,'$%.#,�%+"�12%.#,30++#./&0+,�%+"�4#/50(),4%/6(%$�17,/#8,9�36$/6(%$�*%+",.%2#,�%+"�3$&8%/#�:#,&$&#+.#
;0%$�<;0%$�=;0%$�>

?@ABCD�EF�ABGHIHGJK�BLCAGHIHGJ�AMN�GLAMOPH@@HGJ�FEL�CICLJEMC�GQAG�DPRRELG�EPL�BQAMSHMS�@HFCDGJ@CDK�QCA@GQ�AMN�TC@@UCHMSV�EWCL�NHICLDC�@AMNDBARCD�AMN�MAGPLA@�UCAPGJ�AMN�RLEIHNC�A�LAMSC�EF�LCBLCAGHEMA@K�DCMDELJ�AMN�DGHXP@AGHMS�CYRCLHCMBCDZ[�DJDGCX�EF�BEMMCBGCN�AMN�@CSHU@C�R@ABCD�AMN�DRABCD�CMAU@HMS�DAFC�XEICXCMG�IHA�RAGQD�AMN�GLAH@D�@HM\HMS�GQC�BHGJ�GE�GQC�DPUPLUDK�QH@@D�AMN�BEADGZ
?@ABCD�GQAG�GQLHIC�HM�GQC�FABC�EF�A�BQAMSHMS�B@HXAGC�AMN�BC@CULAGC�[NC@AHNC]D�PMHOPC�MAGPLA@�AMN�BP@GPLA@�QCLHGASCZ

�̂

Page 287



Page 288



��������	
���	
����	
��
Page 289



������������	����
���
��
���	�����	����	�����������
����������
�

��
����
�����������������
�
��������
������	������� !"

#$%&�'�(�)&%*+,�%-.�/0%*+,�/12%1+34+,567�897:;<97�=;>?�@;A9B�;>7�;�C:;D7�EF�G77E�;A9�7AHFI�9<J7>B7�7KC7><7AD7B/12%1+3L�'M'��N>7;E7�;�A7EOF>?�FP�;DE<J<EI�6QRB�;EE>;DE<AS�J<B<EF>B�;A9�EFQ><BEB�;A9�BQCCF>E<AS�E67�>7D>7;E<FA;:�A779B�FP�C7FC:7�FP�;::�;S7BT�;R<:<E<7B�;A9�DQ:EQ>7BU/12%1+3L�'MV��N>7;E7�C:;D7B�;A9�;EE>;DE<FAB�E6;E�B7E�E67�897:;<97�=;>?�@;A9B�;C;>EU/12%1+3L�'MW��=>FGFE7�E67�897:;<97�=;>?�@;A9B�;B�;�J<B<EF>�;A9�EFQ><BE�97BE<A;E<FAU/12%1+3L�'MX��YQCCF>E�;DE<J;E<FA�FP�E67�897:;<97�=;>?�@;A9B�RI�QCS>;9<AS�;A9�7A6;AD<AS�RQ<:9<ASB�;A9�BE>QDEQ>7B�>7BCFAB<J7�EF�E67<>�C;>?�B7EE<ASU567�897:;<97�=;>?�@;A9B�O<::�6FBE�9<J7>B7�7J7AEBT�P>FG�BG;::�EF�:;>S7T�<A�GF>7�C:;D7B�GF>7�FPE7A/12%1+3L�'MZ��N>7;E7�BC;D7B�EF�;DDFGGF9;E7�DQ:EQ>;:T�BCF>E<AST�;>E<BE<D�;A9�>7D>7;E<FA;:�7J7AEB�FP�J;>I<AS�EIC7B�;A9�B<[7BU/12%1+3L�'M\��=>FJ<97�RFE6�C7>G;A7AE�;A9�E7GCF>;>I�<AP>;BE>QDEQ>7�EF�;EE>;DE�;A9�B7>J<D7�OF>:9�D:;BB�7J7AEB�<A�E67�=;>?�@;A9BU567�897:;<97�=;>?�@;A9B�;>7�897:;<97]B�6QR�PF>�BCF>E�;A9�>7D>7;E<FA/12%1+3L�'M̂��YE>7ASE67A�E67�>F:7�FP�E67�897:;<97�=;>?�@;A9B�;B�;�>7S<FA;:�97BE<A;E<FA�PF>�DFGC7E<E<J7�BCF>E�;A9�;�J;><7EI�FP�;DE<J7�;A9�C;BB<J7�PF>GB�FP�>7D>7;E<FAU

/12%1+3L�'M_��C̀E<G<B7�E67�DFGGQA<EI�QB7�FP�BCF>E�;A9�>7D>7;E<FA�;>7;B�FQEB<97�PF>G;:�S;G7�;A9�E>;<A<AS�E<G7BU��a+,43-�bc%&41Ld7B<SA�eQ;:<EI�AFE�FA:I�>7:;E7B�EF�E67�f:FF?�;A9�P77:]�FP�RQ<:9<ASB�;A9�C:;D7BT�RQE�;:BF�EF�6FO�BQDD7BBPQ::I�E67I�G77E�E67�A779B�FP�E67�C7FC:7�O6F�QB7�;A9�7KC7><7AD7�E67GU�g<S6heQ;:<EI�97B<SA�67:CB�EF�<GC>FJ7�FQ>�eQ;:<EI�FP�:<P7T�;EE>;DE�<AJ7BEG7AE�;A9�>79QD7�FQ>�<GC;DE�FA�E67�7AJ<>FAG7AEUi<E6<A�E67�897:;<97�=;>?�@;A9BT�E67�97B<SAB�PF>�A7O�RQ<:9<ASB�;A9�QCS>;97B�EF�7K<BE<AS�RQ<:9<ASB�GQBE�>7BCFA9�EF�E67<>�B<E7�;A9�DFAE7KE�EF�7A;R:7�E67�97J7:FCG7AE�EF�B<E�DFGPF>E;R:I�O<E6<A�;A9�7A6;AD7�E67�R>F;97>�7KC7><7AD7�FP�<EB�C;>?�B7EE<ASU567�PF::FO<AS�97B<SA�C><AD<C:7B�B6FQ:9�R7�DFAB<97>79�PF>�97J7:FCG7AE�O<E6<A�E67�897:;<97�=;>?�@;A9B�EF�7A><D6�E67�6QG;A�7KC7><7AD7T�7A6;AD7�7AJ<>FAG7AE;:�eQ;:<EI�;A9�>7<APF>D7�:FD;:�D6;>;DE7>U��jak/k�)24-*40&+,�$l�#$$.�a+,43-567B7�=><AD<C:7B�67:C�QB�>7DFSA<B7T�9<BDQBB�;A9�BQCCF>E�E67�>F:7�E6;E�97B<SA�C:;IB�<A�G;?<AS�FQ>�RQ<:9<ASB�;A9�C:;D7B�R7EE7>�PF>�C7FC:7T�E67�7AJ<>FAG7AE�;A9�7DFAFGIUm$-1+n1�oFF9�97B<SA�<B�DFAE7KEQ;:�R7D;QB7�<E�>7BCFA9B�EF�E67�BQ>>FQA9<AS�7AJ<>FAG7AET�;A9�DFAE><RQE7B�EF�E67�7K<BE<AS�eQ;:<EI�;A9�PQEQ>7�D6;>;DE7>�FP�;�C:;D7Up-*&c,4q+�oFF9�97B<SA�<B�<AD:QB<J7�;A9�QA<J7>B;:�R7D;QB7�<E�D>7;E7B�C:;D7B�PF>�7J7>IFA7�EF�QB7�;A9�7AHFIT�RI�FCE<G<B<AS�BFD<;:�FCCF>EQA<EI�;A9�7eQ<E;R:7�;DD7BBUac2%r&+�oFF9�97B<SA�<B�9Q>;R:7�R7D;QB7�<E�D>7;E7B�RQ<:9<ASB�;A9�C:;D7B�E6;E�;>7�sEhPF>hCQ>CFB7T�;9;CE;R:7�;A9�:FASh:;BE<ASU

!t

Page 290



������������	
����
����	
������������������
������
	������������

�

���

���������
�������
�
��������
����������
��� !"

#$%&'�())*�*+,-./�0**,�1023+�45�67+08-/.�*+,-7042+�9206+,�8:08�97);)8+�6);;3/-85�0/*�2)602�-/1+,8;+/8<�0,�=+22�0,�+/:0/6-/.�,)6-02�0/*�63283702�1023+>?'@AB@C$DE'�())*�*+,-./�9+7F)7;,�=+22�4+603,+�-8�7+02-,+,�8:+�97)G+68�9)8+/8-02�F)7�8:+�4+/+H8�)F�022�3,+7,�0/*�8:+�47)0*+7�6);;3/-85>I&JK$LD$M%'�())*�*+,-./�-,�,3,80-/042+�4+603,+�-8�-,�+/1-7)/;+/80225�7+,9)/,-42+�0/*�,399)78,�2)/.N8+7;�+6)/);-6�97)*368-1-85<�:+028:�0/*�=+224+-/.>O@LC'�?@'P'DKLBD�QR@B&SR�TDPL@BDC'DK$%�U'JLSD��VO?QTUW�X:+�Y*+20-*+�Z07[�\0/*,�=-22�4+�*+,-./+*�80[-/.�8:+�97-/6-92+,�)F�]7-;+�Z7+1+/8-)/�X:7)3.:�̂/1-7)/;+/802�_+,-./�-/8)�6)/,-*+708-)/<�=:+7+45�,-.:8�2-/+,�07+�,399)78+*�8:7)3.:�1+.+808-)/�9206+;+/8�0/*�;0/0.+;+/8>D̀LP'@J$%�U'JLSD�a/-1+7,02�*+,-./�97-/6-92+,�+/,37+�8:08�0,�;0/5�9+)92+�0,�9),,-42+�60/�3,+�0�,906+>�b)7�Y*+20-*+�Z07[�\0/*,�-8�;+0/,�920//-/.�0/*�*+,-./�-,�-/623,-1+<�:+028:5�0/*�,0F+�F)7�+1+75)/+�8)�3,+�8:+;�0,�9078�)F�8:+-7�+1+75*05�2-F+>OBCC&DLKc�d&L%eLDSJ�]);;3/-85�43-2*-/.,�-/�8:+�Y*+20-*+�Z07[�\0/*,�6)/,-,8�97+*);-/0/825�)F�,9)78�0/*�7+67+08-)/<�9342-6�0;+/-85�43-2*-/.,�0/*�,;022N,602+�,8736837+,>�X:+,+�F06-2-8-+,�07+�+f8+/,-1+25�38-2-,+*�45�6);;3/-85�,9)78�0/*�7+67+08-)/�.7)39,<�,6:))2,<�0/*�8:+�9342-6>Y,�6);;3/-85�43-2*-/.,�7+06:�8:+�+/*�)F�8:+-7�3,+F32�2-F+�0/*�/)�2)/.+7�7+,9)/*�8)�6);;3/-85�/++*,<�6)/,-*+708-)/�)F�8:+�F3837+�)F�8:+,+�43-2*-/.,�0/*�:)=�8:+�7+*+1+2)9;+/8�)7�7+F374-,:;+/8�)F�8:+,+�43-2*-/.,�60/�4+,8�,+71+�3,+7�.7)39,�0/*�8:+�9342-6�=-22�4+�-;9+708-1+>�g:07-/.�7+,)376+,<�,+71-6+,�0/*�F06-2-8-+,�8:7)3.:�6)2204)708-)/�=-22�:+29�67+08+�;)7+�,3,80-/042+�0/*�+h6-+/8�6);;3/-85�43-2*-/.,<�0,�=+22�0,�97)1-*+�)99)783/-8-+,�8)�-/67+0,+�*-1+7,-85�)F�068-1-85�0/*�;0f-;-,+�-/1+,8;+/8�-/�8:+�Y*+20-*+�Z07[�\0/*,

]);;3/-85�43-2*-/.,�=-22�,399)78�0�70/.+�)F�6);;3/-85�)7.0/-,08-)/,�-/623*-/.�,9)78�0/*�7+67+08-)/�6234,<�6);;3/-85�+*3608-)/�0/*�6);;3/-85�,+71-6+�97)1-*+7,>�X:-,�=-22�+/,37+�8:08�43-2*-/.,�07+�068-108+*�8:7)3.:)38�8:+�*05�0/*�+1+/-/.<�97)1-*-/.�,906+,�F)7�9+)92+�8)�9205<�2+07/�0/*�-/8+7068�=-8:�8:+�Y*+20-*+�Z07[�\0/*,>i+*+1+2)9;+/8�)F�9342-6�0;+/-8-+,�j8)-2+8,k�,:)32*�=:+7+�9),,-42+<�97)1-*+�F)7�0/�+1+/�*-,87-438-)/�)F�F06-2-8-+,�8:7)3.:)38�8:+�Y*+20-*+�Z07[�\0/*,�0/*�07+0,�)F�:-.:�3,+>�Y;+/-8-+,�,:)32*�-/8+.708+�0/*�6);92+;+/8�8:+-7�Y*+20-*+�Z07[�\0/*,�,+88-/.�0/*�=:+7+�0997)97-08+�4+�-/6)79)708+*�-/8)�]);;3/-85�l3-2*-/.,>��m&MJZ206+,�0/*�,906+,�=-8:-/�8:+�Y*+20-*+�Z07[�\0/*,�=-22�7+,9)/*�8)�8:+�/++*,�)F�.7)=-/.�0/*�6:0/.-/.�6);;3/-8-+,�-/�8:+�6-85�0/*�/+-.:4)37-/.�,34374,�8)�67+08+�.7+08�*+,8-/08-)/,�F)7�022�g)38:�Y3,8702-0/,�8)�+/G)5>�Y�:-+7076:5�)F�:34,�-,�*+H/+*�8)�-*+/8-F5�0997)97-08+�2+1+2,�)F�0;+/-85�8)�4+�97)1-*+*�0/*�0�F)7+60,8�)F�;0G)7�97)G+68,�-,�+f92)7+*�8)�.3-*+�,80.+*�-/1+,8;+/8>n34,�7+F+7�8)�6+/87+,�)F�068-1-85�8:08�;05�4+�9+7;0/+/8�)7�8+;9)7075<�207.+�)7�,;022>�X:+5�7+97+,+/8�8:+�107-+85�)F�0887068-)/,�0/*�0;+/-85�010-2042+�-/�8:+�Y*+20-*+�Z07[�\0/*,>�X:+�Y*+20-*+�Z07[�\0/*,�07+�:);+�8)�:34,�)F�1075-/.�,-o+,�0/*�-/8+/,-85>�X:+5�97)1-*+�*-1+7,+�)p+7-/.,�8:7)3.:)38�8:+�Y*+20-*+�Z07[�\0/*,>�n34�859+,�*)�/)8�97+623*+�207.+�+1+/8,�)F�0�8+;9)7075�/0837+�j+.�;3,-6�F+,8-102,k�)66377-/.�067),,�8:+�70/.+�)F�20/*,609+�859+,>Y66+,,�8)�:34,�-,�6736-02�0/*�97)1-*-/.�,0F+�0/*�2+.-42+�6)//+68-)/,�-/8)�0/*�8:7)3.:�8:+�Y*+20-*+�Z07[�\0/*,�-,�67-8-602�8)�8:+-7�068-108-)/<�022)=-/.�3,+7,�8)�066+,,�8:+�*-1+7,-85�)F�068-1-8-+,�0/*�0887068-)/,�8:08�07+�)/�)p+7>IC$%%�g;022�:34,�97)1-*+�40,-6�0;+/-8-+,�0/*�07+�859-60225�2)608+*�02)/.�908:,<�08�908:�-/8+7,+68-)/,<�)7�0*G06+/8�)9+/�,906+�=:+7+�-/F)7;02�7+67+08-)/�;05�)6637>

!q

Page 291



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

��	�������	��	����
����	������
�� ���
 ����!��������
������"���

#�$%&''�()*�%&+�,-.')/01�2����3'&+�455467)-,7,0$�2����8(&/0�964%�7600�5'&-7,-:�2����3,.-,.�$077,-:�2����#�$(0'706�2����;)**,$(�*,-�2����#�*&6*0.)0�2����<-7065607,=0�$,:-&:0�2����>&+?-/,-:�2����3)*',.�&67�2����@,.+.'0�5&6A,-:�2����B6,-A,-:�94)-7&,-C��DEFGHI�J0/,)%�()*$�564=,/0�&%0-,7,0$�&-/�9&.,',7,0$�74�.&706�946�'&6:0�:&7(06,-:$�&-/�&60�7+5,.&''+�'4.&70/�946�0&$0�49�&..0$$�&-/�&60�/0$7,-&7,4-$�K,7(,-�7(0�#/0'&,/0�3&6A�L&-/$�,-�7(0,6�4K-�6,:(7CJ0/,)%�()*$�%&+�,-.')/0�'&6:06�$76).7)60$�&-/�$%&''�%)'7,M5)654$0�*),'/,-:$C#�%0/,)%�()*�%&+�,-.')/0�$%&''�()*�&$50.7$�5')$12����L,:(7,-:�2����#..0$$,*'0�K&706�&-/�54K06�$4)6.0$�2����3)*',.�74,'07$�2����L&-/$.&50/�$077,-:�2����N50-�$5&.0O,66,:&70/�:6&$$�2����345M)5�=0-/46$�2����P4-.0$$,4-$�0:�$%&''�A,4$A�2����P4%%)-,7+�.4)67$�2����364:6&%%0/�)$0O.')*�$5467�2����P')*644%O%)'7,M)$0�9&.,',7+�2����@,.+.'0�$(&60�9&.,',7+CQRSTE�L&6:0�()*$�&60�$,:-,?.&-7�/0$7,-&7,4-$�K,7(,-�7(0�#/0'&,/0�3&6A�L&-/$�,-70-/0/�74�&776&.7�'&6:0�-)%*06$�49�5045'0�&-/�:0-06&70�(,:(�'0=0'$�49�&.7,=,7+CL&6:0�()*$�&60�',A0'+�74�(&=0�&$$4.,&70/�*),'7�946%�9&.,',7,0$�&-/�*0�49�(,:(�&0$7(07,.�U)&',7+�&-/�?-,$(�&-/�$06=,.0/�*+�5)*',.�76&-$5467C#�'&6:0�()*�%&+�,-.')/0�$%&''�&-/�%0/,)%�()*�&$50.7$�5')$1

2����8),70�49�P,7+�49�#/0'&,/0�)6*&-�0'0%0-7$�2����3&=,',4-$�46�47(06�%)'7,M)$0�*),'7�946%�74�$06=,.0��������$5467,-:�.')*644%$V�.4%%)-,7+�:64)5$�&-/��������.4%%06.,&'�4506&7,4-$�W.&9XY�2����Z0%546&6+�46�506%&-0-7�$7&:0O*&-/$7&-/O�������&%5(,7(0&760�2����[&)6-&�.)'7)6&'�5'&.0$�2����#..0$$�74�5)*',.�76&-$5467C\]SIR̂�_RS̀�a46%&'�3&6A$�4b06�(,:(�'0=0'$�49�&%0-,7+�74�&776&.7�)$06$�&-/�0-.4)6&:0�7(0%�74�$7&+V�564=,/,-:�5'&.0$�946�60$5,70�K,7(�.4%9467�&-/�9&.,',7,0$V�&-/�&60&$�946�&.7,=,7+V�5'&+�&-/�&%)$0%0-7C�Z(0+�&60�K0''�.4--0.70/�74�7(0�$)664)-/,-:�$)*)6*$�&-/�7(0�.,7+�&-/�:0-06&''+�,-.')/0�$)$7&,-&*'+�,66,:&70/�450-�$5&.0�946�&.7,=,7+�&-/�5'&+�455467)-,7,0$Ca46%&'�3&6A$�4970-�564=,/0�$06=,.0$�&-/�9&.,',7,0$�74�&776&.7V�&-/�,-�7)6-V�.&706�946�(,:(�'0=0'$�49�=,$,7&7,4-C�a46%&'�3&6A$�.4%5'0%0-7�7(0�0c,$7,-:�.)'7)6&'�'&-/$.&50$�K,7(,-�7(0�#/0'&,/0�3&6A�L&-/$�&-/�.60&70�-0K�'&-/$.&50$�7(&7�60d0.7�4)6�/,=06$0�.)'7)6&'�,/0-7,7+V�4b06�*0&)7+�&-/�/0',:(7V�&-/�564=,/0�455467)-,7,0$�946�&.7,=0�&-/�-4-M&.7,=0�60.60&7,4-C�a46%&'�3&6A$�564=,/0�455467)-,7,0$�946�$4.,&',$&7,4-�&-/�7(0�/0=0'45%0-7�&-/�$760-:7(0-,-:�49�.4%%)-,7,0$�&-/�4)6�.4''0.7,=0�,/0-7,7+Ca46%&'�3&6A$�,-.')/0�46-&%0-7&'�:&6/0-�&60&$�.4-7&,-,-:�*47(�-&7,=0�&-/�0c47,.�5'&-7�$50.,0$�&-/�%&+�,-.')/0�5&=0/�5'&e&$�&-/�455467)-,7,0$�946�0=0-7$�49�=&6,4)$�$,e0$Cfg]Sh�RiF�jEkSERhG]i�Z(0�#/0'&,/0�3&6A�L&-/$�,$�7(0�(4%0�49�%076454',7&-�$5467�&-/�.&706$�946�7(0�-00/$�49�46:&-,$0/�.4%507,7,=0�$5467V�&$�K0''�&$�%460�.&$)&'�$5467,-:�5)6$),7$�&-/�,-946%&'�60.60&7,4-�455467)-,7,0$C�85467,-:�&60&$�,-�7(0�#/0'&,/0�3&6A�L&-/$�7+5,.&''+�.4-$,$7�49�'&6:0�&60&$�49�,66,:&70/�450-�$5&.0�946�4=&'$�&-/�5,7.(0$V�(&6/�$)69&.0�&-/�.4)67$V�&-/�&60�5&67,&''+�*4)-/0/�*+�7600$�564=,/,-:�&�=,$)&'�*&.A/645�&-/�$(&/0�946�$50.7&746$C�;0.60&7,4-�&60&$�,-.')/0�6,5&6,&-�.466,/46$V�K&'A,-:�&-/�.+.',-:�76&,'$V�946%&'�&-/�,-946%&'�450-�$5&.0$C�

��

Page 292



���������������	��
�����
�����
����������	���
��
����������������
�
�������
�����	���
��������������������
����
���������
����
�������
��������������������	���������
������
�����
����������
�	�������
���������	�������

����������
����������
�	������������
���������
���
��	�������������
�������
�����	�������
���
���
��	

������������
����	�
	������
	�	�������
�����
�������
����	�
�����������
���������	�
����������
���
��	�	���	�
����������������	�������	����������
���
���
����
�	����������������	�
������������	�	���

�	�������������
�������
������
�	�

�	����������������������������� ���
�����
���!
��	�"�
�����������
��	���������������������

�������
�	��������
����

����������������

������	��������	�
��
	�
�����������������	#$%&'()�������
����
��
�
�����
�������� ���
�����
	�
������
���������
�����
	�����������������*	���	������
����
����	#�+����	�	�
���
��������

����
����������	�
���

�������	���
�������������	�����
������
�����

���
����
��
���������
����
��
�����
�	#"��� ���
�����
���!
��	��,��	�
������������

����������
�������
��������������	#�+�	������	���
���������
������������	�

�	���	���
���������	������������	�
���	

���
��������������	�
����������	# 
��������������
��
���
����	�	��
��������
�������	���
�������������


�		�����
���
��
���
��	�������� ���
�����
���!
��	���	���	���
���	�	�	�
��
	���
�����������	�

���

��#�

-./0�1�2�30/456�/78�9:/4563/;<�=�2�3;>.;><>56?�@>;54<>.76?�-./06

A850/>85�3/;B�C/786�D/7/E5F57<�9<;/<5EG�2�H.I/;86�JKLM

N'OPQR(ST URTV&( WR)&XP'&YSZZ['P(\�]QQ&)) �̂�����_�����_�����̀
����
��a"���
��
�����b�
���cdef�����
���!
��	������	� !�������
���������


�		�
����	�gR'O)QRh&�U\h&) e��
����������i����
��	

�������	�
�������
��������

���� j��������k�����
�����������	l>Em;5�n�o�30/456�/78�9:/456�o�H/;E5<6
"��� ���
�����
���!
��	������
�����������������������	�����
�����
��
�����������������	�
�����������	�������


�		�����	�

�	��������������
�������������	������������
�����	�����
�����
��
���������	#�+�����i������������
	������
���������
��
	���������,���������

�������
��
������

������	����������������	�����	�
�����	����	�


�		��������
	���
�����	�
��
	�������������	�����
���
�������
��	�
����p���������
	�������
�	�#�"��	���,�����	������������
��	���������������
�����������������	�� ���
�����
���!
��	�"�
���
��������
���
�	������������	#� 
��������������
��
���
����	�	��
��������
�������	���
��


�		�����
���
��
���
��	�������� ���
�����
���!
��	���	���	���
���	�	�	�
��
	����
��	���	�����

���

��#qXR\)hRQ&)��"��� ���
�����
���!
��	�
�����������
�������������������
�������
�	�

�	����
��
����	������
������	�����	�
�����	����	�������� ���
�����
���!
��	#���
�������������������
�������
��	�

�	���������������i������������
	������
����������
��	�
������
��
�	�
������������������������������������
�����
���
��������
�����	����
��	����
����	����

������������	�����
������
��
�����������
�	�

�	#���
�	�

�	�������� ���
�����
���!
��	�����������	��������r�����e��	�����s
���
�
�������
��������
��������t���p���
�������
��	�����


�		�����
������������

Lu

Page 293



������������	����
���
��
���	�����	����	�����������
����������
���������������� !""!#$%&�%�#�'!(�)�*+��$,�%-$.�,�-!�&/$,��$'0+!(�'�%-)�-!#*+,)�123456�7�8�9:;���:�<=>?7;:�@:�A7��B�:�<�CDEF�G�"$(�+�*�'*)-�+�0"*%�*%,�H!''�%H��+�-/+%�! �I�"�%�J*K!�L*+MN�/"K*�O*+,"$�PL*+M�1QRS�-!�*%�T,�"*$,��L*+M�U*%,)�,�)-$%*-$!%�H!%%�H-$%&�-���V!+-����++*H��I�*"-��*%,�W,/H*-$!%�L+�H$%H-�*%,�X*++*#$++*�L*+$�-!�-���H$-KYZ�[�@�\�8]��:8A�Ê�7A��8]��6��_��:7�̀�8<:a������)$-��#$""�b��,�(�"!0�,�!(�+�-���%�c-�d2�-!�de�K�*+)�*%,�+�f/$+�)�$%-�&+*-$!%�*%,�H!%%�H-$($-K�#$-�$%�-���#$,�+�g!%K-�!%�L*+M�*%,�h$(�+b*%M�L+�H$%H-)YE�\\?8��;�i?�7A�8a��j0&+*,��0+$!+$-$)�,�b/$",$%&)�#$-�$%�-���T,�"*$,��L*+M�U*%,)�-!�!k�+�0/+0!)�l,�)$&%�,m�)* ��*%,�*HH�))$b"�� *H$"$-$�)m�#�$")-�*")!�0+!($,$%&�'/"-$l /%H-$!%�)0*H�)� !+�n�c$b"��H!''/%$-K�/)�Y

oA�7:�A��op?:��q�E�8����r8��a�:���8�T�%�#�T,�"*$,��Tf/*-$H�R�%-+��#$""�b��b/$"-�$''�,$*-�"K�)!/-��! �-����c$)-$%&� *H$"$-K�*-�G�%$)��V!+-!%�L*+MNL*+,$0*+,$%K$""*�PL*+M�1S�$%�-���%!+-��+%�T,�"*$,��L*+M�U*%,)�*)�*%�*""��"�H-+$Hm�)/)-*$%*b"��*%,�H!%-�'0!+*+K�*f/*-$H� *H$"$-KY�����$%-�+&�%�+*-$!%�*%,�H!%%�H-$($-K�! �-���%�#� *H$"$-K�#$-��-���#$,�+�T,�"*$,��L*+M�U*%,)�#$""�b��*�M�K�0+$!+$-K�*%,�,�"$(�+*b"��! �'*)-�+�0"*%%$%&� !+�-���V!+-��+%�L*+M�U*%,)Y�̀â��sp?:��=@:?[��9:������7:8�G�"$(�+�*�'*)-�+�0"*%� !+�U$&�-�tf/*+�NO*/#$�-�*-��c0"!+�)�H!%%�H-$!%�*%,�H*+�� !+�H!/%-+Km�$'0+!(�,�-+���H*%!0Km�)/HH�))$!%�0"*%-$%&m���+$-*&��(*"/�)m�-+*%)0!+-m�#*"M$%&�*%,�HKH"$%&�H!%%�H-$($-Km��(�%-)m�*,u*H�%-�/0"$ -�*%,� /-/+��/0"$ -�0!-�%-$*"m�H"$'*-��H�*%&��'$-$&*-$!%m�*+-#!+M�*%,�H/"-/+*"�H�"�b+*-$!%)m�)'*+-�-�H�%!"!&K�*%,�$%H+�*)�,�+�)$,�%-$*"�0!0/"*-$!%�*%,�H�*%&$%&�,�'!&+*0�$H)Y�

v�
����
����w�x�����y���z
{
��������
z|���}	~���������

��

Page 294



������������	
����
����	
������������������
������
	������������
�������������� ��!"�#�"�����$���%�&�'()*+,-.*�/-0,*+�12-((3(4�56+�,7*�86+,7*+(�9-+.�:-()0�;9-+.0�<=�>=�?=�@=�AB�,7-,�1+6C3)*0�56+�D6(03)*+-,36(�65�E-F+(-�DF2,F+*=�3(,*+4*(*+-,36(�65�,7*�G)*2-3)*�GHF-,3D�I*(,+*=�D6(03)*+-,36(�65�,7*�D260F+*�65�:*5*C+*�J6-)=�3/1+6C*)�D6((*D,36(0�,6�0F++6F()3(4�0FKF+K0�-()�)*23C*+0�-�7347�HF-23,L�(-,F+-2�-00*,�56+�,7*�D6//F(3,LMN��O���������PQR$O��S��!$%�T�����UVW�#�"�����$���X*23C*+�-�/-0,*+�12-(�56+�Y6(L,76(�9-+.Z[F2L-�\-+)23�;9-+.�<]B�,7-,�1+6C3)*0�3/1+6C*/*(,0�,6�,7*�K+6-)*+�9+*D3(D,�3(D2F)3(4�E-F+(-�DF2,F+*=�4+**(3(4=�12-L01-D*0=�D6((*D,3C3,L�-()�3(,*4+-,36(�̂3,7�,7*�8*̂�\6/*(_0�-()�I732)+*(_0�̀6013,-2M#�"�����$��"�a�������bcR���"�9+*1-+*�/-0,*+�12-(0�56+�̀F+,2*�dHF-+*Z[-(4.-3+-=�3̀()/-+07�dHF-+*ZeF.-,-�-()�\*223(4,6(�dHF-+*ZEF)(-+,F�,6�+*016()�,6�4+6̂ ,7�3(�,7*�D3,L�-()�D7-(43(4�D6//F(3,L�(**)0M

S�%�f����bcR���Pgh���%�O%�b��&��U�gfh$�f�����%���X*23C*+�,7*�\73,/6+*�dHF-+*Zi1-++3,L3�e-0,*+�92-(�,7+6F47�-00*,�+*(*̂-2�-()�0FDD*0036(�12-(,3(4=�,6�KF32)�F16(�3/1+6C*/*(,0�-2+*-)L�)*23C*+*)�,7+6F47�2347,3(4�-()�1-,7�F14+-)*0Mj%k���%������P����h������%�T�����lmW�gfh$�f�����%���I6//*(D*�,7*�0,-4*)�3/12*/*(,-,36(�65�+*D6//*()-,36(0�̂3,73(�,7*�n3D,6+3-�9-+.Z9-.-1-.-(,73�;9-+.�oAB�e-0,*+�92-(�3(�D622-K6+-,36(�3̂,7�,7*�26D-2�D6//F(3,L=�0,-.*762)*+0�-()�2-()�/-(-4*+0�,6�3/1+6C*�-DD*003K323,L�-()�-/*(3,L�,7+6F476F,�n3D,6+3-�9-+.Z9-.-1-.-(,73�;9-+.�oABMp�%f�&%�%�&�pOf%$$�����P#R�$�q%���hR����T�����lrW�I6(,3(F*�3/1+6C*/*(,0�-234(*)�,6�,7*�JL/322�9-+.ZeF+2-̂3++-1F+.-�;9-+.�o?B�e-0,*+�92-(�3(D2F)3(4�(*̂�2-()0D-13(4�-()�,+**�12-(,3(4�-()�D+*-,36(�65�1+6/*(-)*0M�s(7-(D*�,7*�.360.�,6�3/1+6C*�,7*�HF-23,L�65�*t1*+3*(D*�56+�F0*+0�-()�+*0,6+*�,7*�6+(-/*(,-2�2-.*�̂3,7�0F0,-3(-K2*�̂-,*+�06F+D*0M

������������	
����
����	
������������������
������
	������������

u

���

����v�w��
��x���y
z
��������
y{���|�}��
��~���

��

Page 295



Page 296



��������		
��
�	���	���
������
Page 297



������������	����
���
��
���	�����	����	��������	��
���	��������
��	���

��
����
�����������������
�
��������
������	������� !"

#$%&�'�(�)$**+,-.$*/�%*0�1+-2$34/�5-3%-+6.+/789�:;9<=>;9�?=@A�B=C;D�=@9�=�C9EFG@A�GH�IGCC9IE9;�J=@AD5-3%-+6K�'LM��NOJ@GP9�E89�:;9<=>;9�?=@A�B=C;D�7@=><�<>CA>CQ�=<<�J=@AD�=C;�J@GP>;>CQ�=�J<9=D=CE�=C;�IGCP9C>9CE�IRI<>CQ�=C;�F=<A>CQ�@GSE9T789�:;9<=>;9�?=@A�B=C;D�IGCC9IE�E89�I>ER�EG�E89�>CC9@�DSUS@UD5-3%-+6K�'L'��VGCC9IE�E89�:;9<=>;9�?=@A�B=C;D�F>E8�E89�8><<DW�IG=DE�=C;�O9E@GJG<>E=C�GJ9C�DJ=I9�C9EFG@AT5-3%-+6K�'LX��NOJ@GP9�JSU<>I�=C;�=IE>P9�E@=CDJG@E�IGCC9IE>GCD�F>E8�:;9<=>;9�?=@A�B=C;DT5-3%-+6K�'LY��NOJ@GP9�D=H9ERW�SC>P9@D=<�;9D>QC�=C;�IGCC9IE>P>ER�F>E8>C�=C;�EG�E89�:;9<=>;9�?=@A�B=C;DT789�:;9<=>;9�?=@A�B=C;D�=@9�9=D><R�>;9CE>Z=U<95-3%-+6K�'L[��\9P9<GJ�=C�>;9CE>Z=U<9�<=C;DI=J9�I8=@=IE9@�HG@�:;9<=>;9�?=@A�B=C;D�9;Q9D�]S@U=C�=;;@9DD̂T5-3%-+6K�'L_��V@9=E9�=�DE@GCQW�IG89D>P9�GP9@=<<�:;9<=>;9�?=@A�B=C;D�>;9CE>ERT789�:;9<=>;9�?=@A�B=C;D�>CP>E9�9̀J<G@=E>GC�=C;�=@9�D=H9�=C;�9=DR�EG�=II9DD�=C;�OGP9�=@GSC;�>CW�;=R�=C;�C>Q8E5-3%-+6K�'La��NCDE=<<�F=RZC;>CQ�D>QC=Q9�9C8=CI>CQ�E89�<9Q>U><>ER�GH�J=E8D�=C;�IGCC9IE>GCD�=I@GDD�E89�:;9<=>;9�?=@A�B=C;DT5-3%-+6K�'Lb��\9P9<GJ�=�C9EFG@A�GH�U>IRI<9�J=@A>CQ�=C;�U>IRI<9�8>@9�

H=I><>E>9D�=I@GDD�E89�:;9<=>;9�?=@A�B=C;DT5-3%-+6K�'Lc��dDE=U<>D8�D8=@9;�F=<A>CQ�=C;�IRI<>CQ�J=E8D�E8@GSQ8GSE�E89�?=@AD�E8=E�>CI<S;9�D=H9�IGCC9IE>GCD�=C;�I@GDD>CQ�JG>CEDT5-3%-+6K�'LMe��V@9=E9�=�J=E8�C9EFG@A�F>E8>C�9=I8�J=@A�E8=E�IGOJ<9O9CED�E89�<=C;DI=J9�I8=@=IE9@�=C;�;9D>@9;�SD9�GH�E89�J=@AT5-3%-+6K�'LMM��?@GP>;9�I=@�J=@A>CQ�GC�=C;�=;f=I9CE�EG�E89�:;9<=>;9�?=@A�B=C;D�GC<R�F89@9�C99;�8=D�U99C�;9OGCDE@=E9;�=C;�CG�@9=DGC=U<9�=<E9@C=E>P9�9̀>DEDT5-3%-+6K�'LM'��NCIG@JG@=E9�DO=@E�E9I8CG<GQR�>C�J@>G@>ER�<GI=E>GCD�=I@GDD�E89�:;9<=>;9�?=@A�B=C;D�>CI<S;>CQ�E9I8CG<GQ>9D�DSI8�=D�J9;9DE@>=C�IGSCE9@DT5-3%-+6K�'LMX��gE@9CQE89C�E89�S@U=C�=;;@9DD�GH�E89�:;9<=>;9�?=@A�B=C;D�E8@GSQ8�<=@Q9�E@99�DJ9I>9D�=C;�C=E>P9�J<=CE>CQDT5-3%-+6K�'LMY��dC8=CI9�E89�:;9<=>;9�?=@A�B=C;D�7@=><T5-3%-+6K�'LM[��?@GP>;9�<>Q8E>CQ�EG�DSJJG@E�D=H9�OGP9O9CE�E8@GSQ8GSE�E89�:;9<=>;9�?=@A�B=C;D�U=<=CI9;�F>E8�J@9D9@P=E>GC�GH�9CP>@GCO9CE=<�P=<S9D�=C;�U>G;>P9@D>ERT�h$i+j+*-�kKl+/789�DJ=E>=<�J<=CC>CQ�=JJ@G=I8�HG@�OGP9O9CE�9̀J<=>CD�E89�P=@>9ER�GH�F=RD�>C�F8>I8�D=H9�=C;�<9Q>U<9�IGCC9IE>GCD�>CEG�=C;�E8@GSQ8�E89�:;9<=>;9�?=@A�B=C;D�=@9�J@GP>;9;W�=<<GF>CQ�SD9@D�EG�=II9DD�E89�;>P9@D>ER�GH�=IE>P>E>9D�=C;�=EE@=IE>GCD�E8=E�=@9�GC�Gm9@T�n3$j+*%0+/�?@GO9C=;9D�J@GP>;9�A9R�J9;9DE@>=C�=C;�IRI<9�IGCC9IE>GCD�>CEG�D>QC>ZI=CE�=IE>P>ER�I9CE@9D�F>E8>C�E89�:;9<=>;9�?=@A�B=C;DW�<>CA>CQ�EG�UGE8�E89�DS@@GSC;>CQ�

o�

Page 298



�����������		
��
�	���	���
�����������������
��
�

����
�
��
�	��������

��
��
�
��������	�����	��
�
	�������
�������������� !"

#$%$&%#�'()�*+,�-.*/0�*/.(1�.(�2.*+�3'45&�3,*&5657.*'(�6,),#*&.'(�&5$*,#��'()�%.8,2'/#�'()�-&5##9-.*/�7.(8#:�;&53,('),#�6&5<.),�.365&*'(*�-5((,-*.5(#�*+&5$1+�*+,�=),7'.),�;'&8�>'()#�-5((,-*.(1�*+,�-.*/�*5�?&,'*,&�=),7'.),�'()�%,/5():�@.*+�'�+.1+�7,<,7�5A�B(.#+�'()�'3,(.*/�'()�'�3.(.3$3�2.)*+�5A�C30�6&53,('),#�'&,�*/6.-'77/�*&,,97.(,)�2.*+�5&('3,(*'7�67'(*.(10�7.1+*.(10�#,'*.(10�2'/B().(1�'()�.(*,&6&,*.<,�#.1('1,:�D+,/�'&,�),#*.('*.5(#�.(�*+,.&�52(�&.1+*0�'()�#,&<,�'#�3'45&�35<,3,(*�-5&&.)5&#:�EFGHI�JKKFLMMD+,�$&%'(�'))&,##�6&5<.),#�'�#*&$-*$&,)0�),#.1(,)�6,&.3,*,&�*5�*+,�=),7'.),�;'&8�>'()#�2.*+�'�7,<,7�5A�'3,(.*/�*5�'**&'-*�'()�2,7-53,�6,567,:�N*�.#�'�*&'(#.*.5('7�#6'-,�),#.1(,)�*5�,(-5$&'1,�'()�,(*.-,�,O675&'*.5(�),,6,&�.(*5�*+,�=),7'.),�;'&8�>'()#:�P5&,�7,1.%7,�,(*&.,#�'()�56,(�<.,2#�Q2+,&,�'66&56&.'*,R�<.#$'77/�'()�6+/#.-'77/�-5((,-*�6,567,�*5�*+,�5665&*$(.*.,#�2.*+.(:�N*�6&5<.),#�-53A5&*�'()�'3,(.*/�A5&�$#,�'#�'�67'-,�.(�.*#�52(�&.1+*:D+,�$&%'(�'))&,##�67'/#�'(�.365&*'(*�2'/B().(1�&57,0�6'/.(1�6'&*.-$7'&�'**,(*.5(�*5�3'45&�6,),#*&.'(�'()�-/-7,�7.(8#�-5((,-*.(1�*+,�-.*/�*5�?&,'*,&�=),7'.),:N*�&,#65()#�*5�'(*.-.6'*,)�1&52*+�*5�.((,&9&.3�#$%$&%#�#$&&5$().(1�*+,�=),7'.),�;'&8�>'()#�'()�*5�5$*,&�,)1,#�5A�*+,�-.*/:�D+,�$&%'(�'))&,##�&,<,&#,#�*+,�A5-$#�A&53�*+,�-.*/�6&5<.).(1�'(�.(*,&A'-,�*+'*�7558#�5$*2'&)�*5�*+,�.((,&�#$%$&%#:�JKLSHTKL�UHFV�WHIKM�XFHTSD+,�=),7'.),�;'&8�>'()#�D&'.7�6&5<.),#�'(�.-5(.-�&,-&,'*.5('7�-.&-$.*�7.(8.(1�=),7'.),�;'&8�>'()#�;&,-.(-*#�'()�5Y,&.(1�<'&/.(1�7,<,7#�5A�'3,(.*/:�N(�#53,�75-'*.5(#0�*+,�D&'.7�6&5<.),#�-5((,-*.<.*/�*5�*+,�?&,'*,&�=),7'.),�#*&'*,1.-�2'78.(1�'()�-/-7.(1�(,*25&8:D/6.-'77/�.*�.(-7$),#�'�Z3�#,'7,)�#$&A'-,0�*&,,97.(,)�,)1,#�'()�'�-5(#.#*,(*�-+'&'-*,&�'*�6'*+�.(*,&#,-*.5(#0�&5')�-&5##.(1#�'()�&,#*��65.(*#:�>.1+*.(1�.#�#*&'*,1.-'77/�6&5<.),)�*5�8,/�#,-*.5(#�5A�*+,�D&'.7�%'#,)�5(�7,<,7#�5A�(.1+*9*.3,�$#,:�

�@+,&,�*+,�;'&8�>'()#�D&'.7�75-'*.5(�-5.(-.),#�2.*+�'(5*+,&�35<,3,(*�*/6,0�*+,�D&'.7�2.77�*'8,�6&,-,),(-,0�,O-,6*�2+,&,�*+,�5*+,&�35<,3,(*�*/6,�.#�5A�'�+.1+,&�[$'7.*/�5&�'3,(.*/0�A5&�,O'367,�'�6&53,('),:��\K]L�UĤ_M)̀1,�6'*+#�6&5<.),�&5$*,#�'75(1�*+,�=),7'.),�;'&8�>'()#�2+,&,�*+,/�.(*,&A'-,�2.*+�&5')#0�6&5<.).(1�6,),#*&.'(�'()�-/-7,�7.(8#�'##5-.'*,)�2.*+�*+,�&5')�(,*25&8:)̀1,�6'*+#�6&5<.),�-5((,-*.5(#�'75(1�*+,�=),7'.),�;'&8�>'()#�6,&.3,*,&�-&,'*.(1�'�<'&.,*/�5A�.(A5&3'7�&,-&,'*.5('7�-.&-$.*#�'()�6&5<.).(1�*&'(#.*.5(�%,*2,,(�%$.7*�A5&30�*&'(#65&*�.(A&'#*&$-*$&,�'()�6'&8:�aHSVTI]�HIK�bcIITI]�XFHTSM@'78.(1�'()�&$((.(1�*&'.7#�2.*+.(�*+,�=),7'.),�;'&8�>'()#�'&,�),<,756,)�*5�6&5<.),�'�<'&.,*/�5A�,O6,&.,(-,#�'-&5##�'�&'(1,�5A�6'&8�*/6,#:�D/6.-'77/�*+,#,�*&'.7#�6&5<.),�-5((,-*.5(#�2.*+.(�'�6'&8�5&�.(A5&3'7�67'(*.(1�'&,'�'()�-5((,-*�35&,�%&5')7/�<.'�5*+,&�6'*+�(,*25&8#:�@'78.(1�*&'.7#�'()�&$((.(1�*&'-8#�.(-7$),�2'/B().(1�'()�.(*,&6&,*.<,�#.1('1,�*+'*�3'/�&'(1,�A&53�.(A5&3'*.5(�&,1'&).(1�%.5).<,&#.*/�.(�*+,�=),7'.),�;'&8�>'()#0�*5�).#*'(-,�3'&8,&#�A5&�&$((,&#�'()�2'78,&#:�d_HFLK�UĤ_Me+'&,)�6'*+#�6&5<.),�*+,�%'7'(-,�5A�-5((,-*.5(#�.(�*+,�=),7'.),�;'&8�>'()#:�D+,/�6&5<.),�'�%'#,�7,<,7�5A�-5((,-*.5(�A5&�2'78.(1�'()�-/-7.(10�5Y,&.(1�<'&/.(1�7,<,7#�5A�'3,(.*/�),6,().(1�5(�75-'*.5(:�D/6.-'77/�*+,/�.(-7$),�'�#,'7,)�#$&A'-,�2.*+�'�-5(#.#*,(*�2.)*+�*5�,('%7,�#+'&,)�$#,:�e+'&,)�6'*+#�5A*,(�-5((,-*�*5�'-*.<,�*&'(#65&*�&5$*,#�7.(8.(1�'-*.<,�-&5##9-.*/�7.(8#�*+&5$1+�*5�1&,'*,&�=),7'.),�'()�%,/5():�D+,#,�3'/�%,�7.*�),6,().(1�5(�75-'*.5(�'()�A&,[$,(-/�5A�(.1+*9*.3,�$#,:�

f!

Page 299



������������	����
���
��
���	�����	����	��������	��
���	��������
��	���

��
����
�����������������
�
��������
������	������� !"

#$$%&&�'()*&�)+*�,)-�.)-/0+1�233455�67895�8:9�386�;86<5�=>??�8??7=�@76�645A6>3A49�B4C>3D?86�833455�>:A7�AC4�294?8>94�E86<�F8:95�=>AC�386�;86<>:G�8337HH798A49�>:�57H4�?738A>7:5I�J86�;86<>:G�8:9�833455�67895�=>??�K4�>:A4G68A49�>:A7�AC4�?8:9538;4�=>AC�54:5>A>B>ALM�>:376;768A>:G�A6445�8:9�7AC46�;?8:A>:G5M�85�=4??�85�N8A46�O4:5>A>B4�P6K8:�Q45>G:�A43C:>RD45I�SC4�945>G:�7@�833455�67895�8:9�386�;86<>:G�5C7D?9�37H;?4H4:A�AC4>6�294?8>94�E86<�F8:95�54AA>:GM�D5>:G�;46H48K?4�5D6@8345�68AC46�AC8:�K?83<�85;C8?A�8:9�8B7>9>:G�A689>A>7:8?�<46K>:GI�J86�;86<5�=>??�K4�945>G:49�A7�K4�T4U>K?4�4:37D68G>:G�HD?A>;?4�D545M�5D3C�85�H86<4A�5A8??5M�4B4:A5M�5A644A�37D6A�5;76A5�8:9�643648A>7:IV%+$0+1SC4�945>G:�7@�833455�67895�8:9�386�;86<>:G�5C7D?9�37H;?4H4:A�AC4>6�294?8>94�E86<�F8:95�54AA>:GM�D5>:G�;46H48K?4�5D6@8345�68AC46�AC8:�K?83<�85;C8?A�8:9�8B7>9>:G�A689>A>7:8?�<46K>:GI�J86�;86<5�=>??�K4�945>G:49�A7�K4�T4U>K?4�4:37D68G>:G�HD?A>;?4�D545M�5D3C�85�H86<4A�5A8??5M�4B4:A5M�5A644A�37D6A�5;76A5�8:9�643648A>7:I�J7:5>9468A>7:�5C7D?9�K4�G>B4:�A7�?7=�538?4M�7;4:�8:9�9>5364A4�@4:3>:G�7;A>7:5INC464�;755>K?4M�@4:3>:G�@76�A4H;7686L�83A>B8A>7:�7@�8�;86<�5C7D?9�K4�A4H;7686L�>:�76946�A7�H8U>H>54�37HHD:>AL�833455�A7�AC4�294?8>94�E86<�F8:95�W46>A8G4�@4:3>:G�H8L�K4�H8>:A8>:49�A7�;64546B4�C46>A8G4�37::43A>7:5I�XY)-Z�[%$\+(](1̂SC4�>:376;768A>7:�7@�5H86A�A43C:7?7GL�=>??�K4�37:5>94649�A7�855>5A�>:�AC4�;?8::>:G�8:9�H8:8G4H4:A�7@�AC4�294?8>94�E86<�F8:95M�>:3?D9>:G�54:5765�A7�38;AD64�B>5>A76�:DHK465M�;8AC�D58G4M�9=4??�A>H4�8:9�H>367_3?>H8A4�98A8I���.-0(-0Z0%&SC4�@7??7=>:G�;6>76>A>45�=>??�4:C8:34�8:9�;67A43A�AC4�294?8>94�E86<�F8:95I

-̀%%+\0]]�'()*�,(--0*(-�E67B>94�>H;67B4H4:A5�A7�AC4�a644:C>??�b789�J766>976�>:3?D9>:G�8:�4U;8:949�485A_=45A�=8?<>:G�8:9�3L3?>:G�37::43A>7:M�=8Lc:9>:G�8:9�5A76LA4??>:GM�58@46�6789�36755>:G5M�5C894�8:9�8H4:>A>45-̀%)Z�,(++%$Z0(+&�dH;67B4�;4945A6>8:�8:9�3L3?>:G�:4A=76<5�=>AC�64GD?86�8:9�58@4�36755>:G�;7>:A5M�8H4:>AL�8?7:G�AC4�67DA4�8:9�;8AC�?>GCA>:GI[\%�e-f)+�#**-%&&�E67B>94�8:�>:3648549�?4B4?�7@�8H4:>AL�8:9�8AA683A>7:�8?7:G�294?8>94�E86<�F8:95�@67:A8G45�A7�K7AC�AC4�3>AL�8:9�>::46_6>H�5DKD6K5�=>AC�8�@73D5�7:�;86<�4:A6>45�A7�4:37D68G4�8:9�4:A>34�@D6AC46�4U;?768A>7:�944;46�>:A7�AC4�;86<5I#Y)g0+1�#-Z�J7:5>946�;46H8:4:A�8:9�A4H;7686L�9>5;?8L5�7@�86A�>:3?D9>:G�86A�A68>?5�8:9�>:A4683A>B4�86A=76<5�836755�AC4�294?8>94�E86<�F8:95Ih01\Z&i�h01\Z&i�h01\Z&�E67B>94�=>?9?>@4�8;;67;6>8A4�?>GCA>:G�8?7:G�<4L�;8AC5M�8A�643648A>7:�CDK5M�5;76A>:G�7B8?5�8:9�AC4�D6K8:�8996455�A7�5D;;76A�>:3648549�:>GCA_A>H4�D54�8:9�>H;67B4�58@4ALIX\)*%�#j%+k%&�b4>:5A8A4�C46>A8G4�;?8:A>:G�8B4:D45�8:9�64B>4=�7;;76AD:>A>45�@76�:4=�8B4:D4�;?8:A>:G�A7�;67B>94�5C894�@76�D5465Il)̂m+*0+1�)+*�n+Z%-o-%Z)Z0(+�J7:A>:D4�A7�>:5A8??�=8Lc:9>:G�8:9�>:A46;64A>B4�5>G:8G4�836755�8??�;86<5�85�:4345586LM�;86A>3D?86?L�=C4:�85573>8A49�=>AC�7AC46�;86<�D;G68945M�>:3?D9>:G�7;;76AD:>A>45�@76�AC4�4U;6455>7:�7@�p8D6:8�3D?AD64I#*%])0*%�.)-/�h)+*&�[-)0]�q:C8:34�AC4�294?8>94�E86<�F8:95�S68>?�AC67DGC�=8Lc:9>:GM�58@46�6789�36755>:G5M�5C894�@76�D5465�8:9�>:376;768A4�5A76LA4??>:G�8:9�8H4:>A>45�8?7:G�AC4�=8LI

rr

Page 300



�����������		
��
�	���	���
�����������������
��
�

����
�
��
�	��������
�������� !� "#� $�%#&��#'&#� �(��)�)�# � �)*��� �%%�+�#&���#�,� -�.���% /012345�67580�98:;�;35086;<�=10�877�>5?�901@56:A�=01B�CDCEF G419:�8>�G4578345�/80H�I8>4A�98:;�8>4�:0837�8AA5:�;350806;<FJ�K#� ��������(��)�� �%%��"�(����% L>450:8H5�A8=5:<�M9N0845A�:1�877�0184�601AA3>NA�O<�CDPQF /03103:3A5�601AA3>NA�?3:;�:;5�;3N;5A:�:08R6�217MB5A�1250�CDSDDD�25;3675A�950�48<F+���T#�� ��%(� ��U%# % V>6058A5�>MBO50�1=�86:325�:08>A910:�MA50A�O<�3B90123>N�G4578345�/80H�I8>4A�98:;?8<AS�73N;:3>N�8>4�A3N>8N5F WSPEC�B125B5>:A�XCDCC�YM950�ZM5A48<�61M>:A['� �(� -��" \54M65�5]3A:3>N�680�980H3>N�1>�61M>637�B8>8N54�78>4�O8A54�1>�90563>6:A�MA8N5�8>4�8AA5:�05>5?87A�586;�<580FV>25A:3N8:5�71>N�A:8<�G4578345�/80H�I8>4A�980H3>N�8>4�45̂>5�054M6:31>�:80N5:A�:1�CDPQF CSPEQ�680�980H3>N�A9865A�XCDCC�GM43:['���#���T��*�_��)�%U  �U����"�̀��*�&#��#�_� -% a>AM05�61>>56:31>A�805�B83>:83>54�8>4�?;505�91AA3O75�3B901254�?3:;�877�AM001M>43>N�O36<675�>5:?10HA�?3:;�8�905=505>65�=10�1bc0184�61>>56:31>AF\3250�Z1005>A�I3>580�/8:;�d803>1�\16HA�e055>?8<f�d3H5�ZM0:M0�g3H5?8<�\MNO<f/10:50�g3H5?8<�hM:50�i80O10�e055>?8<

j�
��
�
������k�	���l�	�m
n
	��o����
mp���q��������rstj�
��
�
������k�	���l�	�m
n
	��o����
mp���q��������rstj�
��
�
������k�	���l�	�m
n
	��o����
mp���q��������rst

u
mv�
�w�x���		
��
�	���	���
�������x�q��m
��

yw

Page 301



Page 302



��������	
����
��	������
�	
������������������������	�������������
Page 303



������������	����
���
��
���	�����	����	�������������������
���������������������
������������
��
����
��


��
����
���������������� 
�
��������
 ����!	"�����#$�%

&'()�*�+�,(-./()�012-3425��6.)-./()�7(892:(;32�(89�6)<4(-3�=32<)<38:3�0-/(-3><32?@A�BCADEFCA�GEHI�JEKCL�EHA�E�MDENA�OP�KEQRHED�SAERQT�EKC�UERHKE�NRDQRHED�LFVKFWNEKNA0-/(-3>1�*XY��ZANOVKFLA[�MHO\OQA�EKC�MHOQANQ�LFQAL�OP�UERHKE�NRDQRHED�@AHFQEVA�EKC�LFVKFWNEKNA�EKC�]OHI�]FQ@�UERHKE�MAOMDA�QO�MHÔFCA�ACRNEQFOK�QO�Q@A�NO\\RKFQT�ESORQ�Q@ALA�LFQAL�_0-/(-3>1�*X̀��GHÔFCA�E�MOLFQF̂A�̂FLFQOH�AaMAHFAKNA�OP�LFQAL�OP�NRDQRHED�LFVKFWNEKNA�_0-/(-3>1�*X*�bLQESDFL@�E�HEKVA�OP�KEQRHED[�OHKE\AKQED�EKC�NRDQRHED�DEKCLNEMAL�NADASHEQFKV�Q@A�CF̂AHLFQT�OP�Q@A�BCADEFCA�GEHI�JEKCL_�?@A�BCADEFCA�GEHI�JEKCL�NADASHEQA�SFOCF̂AHLFQT0-/(-3>1�*Xc��?@HORV@�dFOCF̂AHLFQT�eAKLFQF̂A�fHSEK�gALFVK�AK@EKNA�SFOCF̂AHLFQT�FK�Q@A�BCADEFCA�GEHI�JEKCL�EKC�MHÔFCA�POOC�HALORHNAL�EKC�@ESFQEQ�POH�QEHVAQL�LMANFAL_0-/(-3>1�*Xh��iOKQFKRA�QO�MHOQANQ�EKC�LAAI�QO�AaMEKC�UAT�dFOCF̂AHLFQT�BHAEL_0-/(-3>1�*Xj��eAAI�OMMOHQRKFQFAL�QO�F\MHÔA�Q@A�NOKCFQFOK�OP�HA\KEKQ�̂AVAQEQFOK_0-/(-3>1�*Xk��GEHQFNFMEQA�EKC�DAEC�FK�VDOSED�RHSEK�SFOCF̂AHLFQT�FKFQFEQF̂AL�EKC�HALAEHN@_?@A�BCADEFCA�GEHI�JEKCL�EHA�]EQAH�LAKLFQF̂A[�]FQ@�@AEDQ@T�]EQAHNORHLAL0-/(-3>1�*Xl�bK@EKNA�Q@A�ANODOVFNED�@AEDQ@�OP�BCADEFCA�GEHI�JEKCL�]EQAHNORHLAL[�FKNDRCFKV�]EQAH�mREDFQT�F\MHÔA\AKQ_

0-/(-3>1�*Xn�bKLRHA�LRLQEFKESDA�]EQAH�RLA�ENHOLL�Q@A�BCADEFCA�GEHI�JEKCL_?@A�BCADEFCA�GEHI�JEKCL�EHA�NDF\EQA�HALFDFAKQ0-/(-3>1�*XYo��eQHAKVQ@AK�Q@A�BCADEFCA�GEHI�JEKCLp�HODA�FK�CÂADOMFKV�E�NDF\EQA�HALFDFAKQ�NFQT_�0-/(-3>1�*XYY�gALFVK�EKC�\EKEVA�Q@A�BCADEFCA�GEHI�JEKCL�QO�SA�HALFDFAKQ�QO�FKNHAELAC�RLA�CRA�QO�MOMRDEQFOK�VHO]Q@_0-/(-3>1�*XỲ�ZAQEFK�EKC�LQHAKVQ@AK�CFLQFKNQF̂A�\EQRHA�QHAA�LMANFAL�Q@HORV@�LRNNALLFOK�MDEKQFKV�_0-/(-3>1�*XY*�eAAI�OMMOHQRKFQFAL�QO�FKNHAELA�VHAAKFKV�EKC�QHAA�NEKOMT[�FKNDRCFKV�Q@HORV@�NO\\RKFQT�MEHQFNFMEQFOK_0-/(-3>1�(2�*XYc�fKCAHLQEKC�Q@A�HFLIL�POH�QHAA�LMANFAL�EKC�SFOCF̂AHLFQT�PHO\�MALQL[�CFLAELAL�EKC�NDF\EQA�N@EKVA�EKC�CÂADOM�ECEMQEQFOK�HALMOKLAL_?@A�BCADEFCA�GEHI�JEKCL�EHA�ÊDRAC�EL�E�qEQFOKED�rAHFQEVA�LFQA�]OHQ@T�OP�sOHDC�rAHFQEVA�JFLQFKV0-/(-3>1�*XYh�bKLRHA�Q@A�̂EDRAL�OP�Q@A�qEQFOKED�rAHFQEVA�JFLQFKV�EHA�MHOQANQAC�EKC�MHO\OQAC_0-/(-3>1�*XYj�GHOVHALL�sOHDC�rAHFQEVA�JFLQFKV�OP�Q@A�BCADEFCA�GEHI�JEKCL�EKC�iFQT�JETORQ_��0-/(-3>1�*XYk�gA\OKLQHEQA�SALQ�MHENQFNA�FK�\EKEVFKV�@AHFQEVA�ELLAQL�_0-/(-3>1�*XYl�ZAQEFK�AaFLQFKV�LMEQFED�DETORQL�EKC�MEQ@]ET�EDFVK\AKQL�]@FN@�EHA�MEHQ�OP�Q@A�qEQFOKED�rAHFQEVA�tEDRAL�OP�Q@A�BCADEFCA�GEHI�JEKCL_

uv

Page 304



������������	����
���
��
���	�����	���

��
����
�����������������
�
��������
������	��������� 

!"#$"%&'�()*+�,-./0-./�-/1�2/3-/42�5.267�-/1�5.70-7�08�032�79:;./2�-/1�<12;-.12�=.;;7�03>8?@3�4->2A?;;:�B;-//21�0>22�B;-/0./@�-/1�7B-0.-;�->>-/@2C2/07�08�>2./A8>42�032�8B2/�-/1�2DB-/7.52�43->-402>�8A�032�<12;-.12�E->9�F-/17GH32�<12;-.12�E->9�F-/17�->2�-�B;-42�8A�73->21�-BB>24.-0.8/�-/1�9/86;21@2!"#$"%&'�()I��J3->2�9/86;21@2K�B>85.12�21?4-0.8/�-/1�B>8C802�<12;-.12�E->9�F-/17�5-;?27�08�2/7?>2�032�<12;-.12�E->9�F-/17�->2�-BB>24.-021�-/1�>248@/.721�-7�-�?/.L?2�-7720�A8>�J8?03�<?70>-;.-G�MNOPNQ%#RN"'��H32�/-0?>-;�32>.0-@2�-/1�S.81.52>7.0:�6.03./�032�<12;-.12�E->9�F-/17�.7�8/2�8A�.07�C870�5-;?-S;2�48CB8/2/07G�T2�->2�A8>0?/-02�08�3-52�B849207�8A�52@20-0.8/�03-0�3-52�;./2-@2�S-49�08�B>2UV?>8B2-/�0.C27�632/�W-?>/-�,.:?>/-�62>2�B>.C->:�4?7081.-/7�8A�032�<12;-.12�E;-./7G��H3272�52@20-0.8/�B849207K�-;8/@�6.03�78.;�./1.4-08>7K�B>85.12�.CB8>0-/0�4;?27�08�386�62�4-/�C-/-@2�032�;-/1�-/1�2/48?>-@2�-/1�7?BB8>0�C8>2�/-0.52�7B24.27�-/1�S.81.52>7.0:�08�>20?>/�08�032�4.0:G�E;-/0./@�8A�1.52>72�/-0.52�7B24.27�6.;;�S2�-448>1./@�08�032�X52�B>2UV?>8B2-/�B;-/0./@�-7784.-0.8/7�844?>>./@�./�032�<12;-.12�E->9�F-/17�08�2/3-/42�-/1�2DB-/1�W2:�Y.81.52>7.0:�<>2-7G�Z%'�MNOPNQ%#RN"'�[#%$R�<�W2:�Y.81.52>7.0:�<>2-�.7�-�C-/-@2C2/0�S8?/1->:�03-0�B>.8>.0.727�3.@3�5-;?2�/-0.52�S.81.52>7.0:G�<0�;2-70�8/2�W2:�Y.81.52>7.0:�<>2-�.7�./�2-43�8A�032�X52�>248@/.721�B>2UV?>8B2-/�52@20-0.8/�48CC?/.0.27�-4>877�032�<12;-.12�E->9�F-/17GW2:�Y.81.52>7.0:�<>2-�@>8?B7�->2�8A�C21.?C�-/1�3.@3UL?-;.0:�S.81.52>7.0:�6.03�>2C/-/0�52@20-0.8/�8>�

/-0.52�>252@20-0.8/G�H3.7�.CB>8527�248;8@.4-;�48//240.5.0:�-/1�A-4.;.0-027�C852C2/0�8A�-/.C-;7�-/1�B;-/0�C-02>.-;�\2@�7221]�-4>877�-/1�S20622/�W2:�Y.81.52>7.0:�<>2-7G�̂>2-0./@�7B-42�A8>�B;-/07�-/1�6.;1;.A2�08�C852�C-927�8?>�E->9�F-/17�C8>2�>27.;.2/0�08�03>2-07�B>272/021�-7�4;.C-02�43-/@2K�1.72-72K�B2707�-/1�C8>2GE;-/0�7B24.27�03-0�3-52�-1-B021K�S22/�72;24021K�8>�7?>5.521�032�;84-;�48/1.0.8/7�8A�78.;K�02CB2>-0?>2�-/1�>-./A-;;�->2�C870�;.92;:�08�7?>5.52�6.03�;.00;2�-11.0.8/-;�./02>52/0.8/G�H3272�B;-/07�-;78�-00>-40�-/1�7?BB8>0�032�/-0.52�A-?/-�7B24.27�03-0�-77.70�6.03�B8;;./-0.8/K�>2;:./@�8/�032C�A8>�A881�-/1�732;02>GW2:�Y.81.52>7.0:�<>2-7�2CS>-42�032�8B2/�6881;-/1�-/1�@>-77;-/1�-270320.4�8A�032�8>.@./-;�<12;-.12�E;-./7G�H32:�2/3-/42�-/1�B>80240�->2-7�8A�7.@/.X4-/0�S.81.52>7.0:�-/1�>2C/-/0�52@20-0.8/�63.;2�B>85.1./@�-�>24>2-0.8/�8BB8>0?/.0:�08�274-B2�A>8C�032�4.0:�-/1�7?S?>S7�./08�-�/-0?>-;�;-/174-B2�2DB2>.2/42��A8>�6-;9./@�-/1�1.74852>:K�B.4/.49./@�-/1�B;-:./@K�>8-C./@�-/1�>2;-D./@GT881;-/1�-/1�@>-77;-/17�7229�08�>2�.C-@./2�-/1�B>85.12�-44277�-/1�2/@-@2C2/0�6.03�032�;-/174-B2�03>8?@3�8BB8>0?/.0.27�A8>��./02>B>20-0.8/�08�@-./�-�122B2>�?/12>70-/1./@�8A�<12;-.12_7�B>2UV?>8B2-/�52@20-0.8/�-/1�2487:702C7G�#̀%%�a$bOc'�$bP�&#%%bNb&H32�<12;-.12�E->9�F-/17�3-7�5->.21�;252;7�8A�0>22�4-/8B:�4852>G�H32�-.C�.7�08�B>85.12�-/�852>-;;�./4>2-72�./�4-/8B:�4852>�03-0�.7�S-;-/421�6.03�032�8B2/�7B-42�-/1�>24>2-0.8/-;�>2L?.>2C2/07�8A�032�48CC?/.0:GH3.7�6.;;�./4;?12�7?44277.8/�B;-/0./@�./�2D.70./@�->2-7�-7�62;;�-7�/26�4;.C-02�>27.;.2/0�4-/8B:�0>227G�d-0?>-;�73-12�6.;;�S2�B>85.121�-1e-42/0�0>-.;7�-/1�B-037�08�.CB>852�-C2/.0:�-/1�488;./@G�fNc$#N$bg.B->.-/�;-/174-B27�./�032�<12;-.12�E->9�F-/17�./4;?12�4>2297K�>.52>7K�620;-/17K�;-927K�708>C6-02>�1202/0.8/��

�	�������h��i��������
����ji��i�����������k
������j�����
�l
����
��
 mn

Page 305



������������	����
���
��
���	�����	����	�������������������
���������������������
������������
��
����
��


��
����
���������������� 
�
��������
 ����!	"�����#$�%

&'()*(�'*+�(,'-.(/�012)3'--1�45.1�46'7.6(.�845.6�-'*+(3'2.�412.(�'*+�6.(28*+�48�45.)6�38*4.94�)*�4.6:(�8;�35'6'34.6<�':.*)41�'*+�=(./�>)2'6)'*�-'*+(3'2.(�(..?�48�):2687.�'*+�.*5'*3.�,'4.6�38=6(.(�'*+�&8+).(�48�6.5'&)-)4'4.�'@='4)3�5'&)4'4(�45'4�(=22864�.38(1(4.:�(.67)3.(�'*+�&)8+)7.6()41/�05.1�2687)+.�822864=*)4).(�48�.*A'A.�,)45�,'4.6�'*+�36.'4.�:86.�'33.(()&-.�&'*?(<�&8'6+,'-?(�'*+�&6)+A.(/�B5.6.�28(()&-.�45)(�'-(8�)*3-=+.(�,'4.6�6.-'4.+�6.36.'4)8*'-�'34)7)4).(<�(=35�'(�?'1'?)*A�'*+�&)6+C,'435)*A/�D:2687.:.*4(�48�,'4.6�@='-)41�'6.�'-(8�'35).7.+�4568=A5�'226826)'4.�6)2'6)'*�2-'*4)*A<�(486:,'4.6�:'*'A.:.*4�'*+�B'4.6�E.*()4)7.�F6&'*�G.()A*�HBEFGI�4.35*)@=.(/�JKLMN�OPQQ�RSTMPUV�WKSSV�WXYUZ[SNY�05.�(8=45.6*�'6.'�8;�\+.-')+.�)(�'�3'435:.*4�8;�45.�]68,*�̂)--�_.(,)3?�̀6..?�(1(4.:�,5.6.�a-..(8*�̀6..?�'*+�845.6�,'4.6,'1(�,.(4�8;�b8=*4�c(:8*+�.*4.6�45.�)̀41�8;�\+.-')+.�)*�d)3486)'�e'6?fe'?'2'?'*45)�He'6?�ghI�'*+�i8,�'-8*A�45.�(8=45.6*�e'6?�j'*+(�,.(4,'6+�48�]-=.�a=:�e'6?f_=6'*AA'�He'6?�klI�48�m8)*�a-.*�c(:8*+�̀6..?�'(�2'64�8;�45.�=6&'*�+6')*'A.�*.4,86?�,)45)*�45.�̀)41�8;�F*-.1/�D*�45.�,.(4.6*�e'6?�j'*+(<�45.�3)41�'-(8�38*46)&=4.(�(486:,'4.6�6=*8n�48�_.(,)3?�̀6..?�;68:�'(�;'6�'(�45.�.̀*46'-�b'6?.4(<�7)'�aE�_)*A(48*�e'6?fB)66'6*)*45)�He'6?(�koI<�p--)(�e'6?f0':2','6+-)�He'6?�kqI�'*+�a-'+1(�p-25)3?�e'6?fr'6*=*AA'�He'6?�ksI�+6')*'A.�*.4,86?(/�tPuSK�vLKKSNTwRXKKXMPKKP�xXKP�WXYUZ[SNY�05.�>)7.6�0866.*(f_'66',)66'�e'6)�3'435:.*4�i8,(�;68:�45.�=22.6�3'435:.*4�)*�45.�0866.*(�d'--.1�;68:�45.�*8645<�.'(4�'*+�'-(8�7)'�(:'--.6�36..?(�8*�45.�(8=45�.'(4.6*�()+.�8;�45.�3)41�=-4):'4.-1�+6')*)*A�4568=A5�45.�3.*46.�8;�\+.-')+.<�y--)*A�45.�0866.*(�j'?.�'*+�+)(35'6A)*A�+8,*(46.':�&.18*+�]8*1458*�e'6?f0=-1'�B'6+-)�He'6?�kzI�48�45.�38'(4�7)'�45.�̀)41�8;�B.(4�0866.*(/�

]84'*)3�̀6..?<�'-8*A�45.�3)41{(�.'(4�()+.<�)(�45.�8*-1�46)&=4'61�)*�45.�̀)41�8;�\+.-')+.�,5)35�i8,(�)*48�45.�>)7.6�0866.*(f_'66',)66'�e'6)/�|YLK[MXYSK0568=A58=4�45.�\+.-')+.�e'6?�j'*+(<�(486:,'4.6�+)(35'6A.�28)*4(�+)6.34�6=*8n�;68:�3)41�(46..4(�48,'6+(�45.�:')*�,'4.6�38=6(.(/�e6):'61�,'4.6�(1(4.:(�)*3-=+.}��~����>)7.6�0866.*(f_'66',)66)�e'6)��~����e'6?�j'*+(�̀6..?��~����]84'*)3�̀6..?��~����B)66'6*)*45)�B.4-'*+(��~����e'?'2'?'*45)�B.4-'*+(�E486:,'4.6�(1(4.:(�,)--�&.�+.()A*.+�48�:)*):)(.��=6&'*�(486:,'4.6�38*4':)*'*4(�;68:�28--=4)*A�,'4.6,'1(/��XYSK��SXY�KST�̀8*(46=34.+�,'4.6�;.'4=6.(�'6.�-83'4.+�4568=A58=4�45.�\+.-')+.�e'6?�j'*+(�;86�':.*)41�2=628(.(�'*+�(486:,'4.6�+.4.*4)8*/��_.1�,'4.6�;.'4=6.(�)*3-=+.}~����>1:)--�j'?.�'*+�;8=*4')*�~����]8*1458*�e'6?f0=-1'�B'6+-)�He'6?�kzI�]8'4�e8*+��~����d.'-.�a'6+.*(�36..?�~����̂):.m)�a'6+.*(�~����d)3486)'�E@='6.f0'6*4'*1'*AA'�;8=*4')*/��XYSK��TSB'4.6�=(.+�)*�45.�\+.-')+.�e'6?�j'*+(�)*3-=+.(�284'&-.�:')*(<�A68=*+,'4.6<�6.313-.+�,'(4.,'4.6�'*+�(=6;'3.�,'4.6�;68:�45.�>)7.6�0866.*(f_'66',)66'�e'6)/�05.�̀)41�8;�\+.-')+.�)(�45.�:'m86�=(.6�8;�45.�a-.*.-A�48�\+.-')+.�e'6?�j'*+(�6.313-.+�,'4.6�*.4,86?�=()*A��l��8;�*8*C284'&-.�,'4.6�;86�)66)A'4)8*/��p92'*+)*A�45.�=(.�8;�(=(4')*'&-.�,'4.6�*.4,86?(�48�(=22864�\+.-')+.�e'6?�j'*+(�':.*)41�'*+�6.36.'4)8*'-�(2'3.(�;86�'�A6..*.6�'*+�388-.6�\+.-')+.�e'6?�j'*+(�)*�45.�;'3.�8;�'�35'*A)*A�3-):'4.�)(�8=6�26.;.66.+�(46'4.A1/

�$

Page 306



���������	
��
��
�������
����
��������

����������
������
��

�
����
�����
������������
�������������
��
��������������
��
��
�������
��
�
������
���
 �
������
��
�����
�
����������

�
�������
�
�!�
����
�"��#�$�����
��
����
�����
����
��

���
����
��
�
���
��
�%�
����
����������&����
����������
�����
&�
�����
�
��
�
�

��'����
����'����
�
�&�'�������'���������
��������
��������
'���
�
�
'������
��
��
�
��
������(
����
�����
�����
�
�����
��
�
��'�����
��������'��
���


���'��
�����

�
�'����
�
��������

�������
�
�'�����
����
'���������
���
)���
����
�������������
������
��
�
�����
��*+�,-���������%�
�.�
 ����!�
����
'�������
�
��������
��!�
����
�	�����.�������/�
��
�
�
��������������������
�
�0���
�$��
 �1���
�2�������#���������3���
���������4�����	
��
��
�5
�
�������
�
�!�
����
�"��#�$���������.�
 �$� ��
'���������
��
�
��������


�
�
�
���������
�����
�
�0���
�$��
 �1���
���%�
�������
��
�
��
��������
�

����
���
�
������������
�
����������
�����#�
��

�
����
�����&�
��
�
��������
�
�
��6����������
�
�
���
������


��
��
�
�4�����	
��
��
�.
�
�
��7���+8�,���������%�
�!�
����
�"��#�$���������.�
 �$� ��
�����������
�����
�
�9�
������	
��
��
�$��
�� �
�
�0����

��������������
�
'�	
��
��
�����
�
�!�
�����:�9��
��
��;<<=��%�
�����������9�
������	
��
��
�����
���
�������������
������ �
��
�
�!�
����
�"��#�$����>�?����%�
�9�
������	
��
��
�����
����
�
�
�����������
�
����������
��
�����
���
�������������
�
�
����
�
��������!�
����
�"��#�$���������.�
 �$� ��
��?����.���
��
�
�
�!�
����
�"��#�$���������.�
 �$� ��
��������������������
���
��
�
���������
����������
��
������������
�
�!��
������(.@0@5�.���

�����"���
�����.��
������������5����&����
�/
�
�A�����.���

�2������
����
��
��
���������?����1

���'�����
��
'������
�
��
�
�
���
�
�&
���

BCDE�F�G�BDHIDHEHJKL�MHDJNEHIOKL�PICQK

RSJQCHSJ�BCDT�UCOSK�VCOCWJXJOE�YEDCEJWZ�G�[I\CDSK�]̂_̀

�������
��
��
��

����

�����
�
�"��#�$���������.�
 ��������$� ��
'�����������
�
�������'����
����������
�
�
���������������������?����1

����
�
�"��#�$���������.�
 �5a���
����������������������������
�
���
�����
�3� �
�
���������������5��
��!��
���������?����"����

���������������������
'������
'���������
�
����
�
���������

����
����
�
�"��#�$����������������.�
 �5a���
�������
��

�������
�
������
�������������
��
��
������&����
��?����b��&��
�
���3
�
��
�������
�
�
�� ���������
�����
�
��������!�
����
�"��#�$�����!�
�;<<c��?����@��
��
���������� ���
��
�
��
�����
��
���������
a���
�
�
���������������
�
��"A.�!�
�deee'��������	
��
��
�"���
��!�
�deef�����"�������'��������g
�
����
�
�����(�����
���
��
�!�
�;<dh��?����"����

�
�
�9�
������	
��
��
�i���
�����
�
��������!�
����
�"��#�$���������.�
 �$� ��
�
��������������
����
����������

���

�
�������������
��
�����
������������
���
�������
�
��������&����
�
������!��
���������?����1
����������
��
��
�
�!�
����
�"��#�$����������������.�
 �$� ��
��������j
�
�
�
���9�
�������������	
��
��
�����
��?����1
������ �����
���
�
������
����������

���
 �����������
�
�9�
������	
��
��
�i���
���k�������������%�
�5��
��!��
�������	
��
��
�.������������
����
��
��
�
�!�
����
�"��#�$����'�5a���
������.�
 �$� ��
��
��
����
��
��
��
�
�0����

������"������������5
�

�	
��
��
�!�
��������
��
����5
�

�����$������
��
��
��

�����
�������
��������
�
�
�!�
����
�"��#�$������lm,�m��,���������%�
�!�
����
�"��#�$�������
�����

�����n������o��
��/.���
� 2��%�
������
��
�������
�
�!�
����
�"��#�$���������
�
�1��
��%���
��pn����������"�������
������&���
����
��������������
��������
�����
�
�n������"
���
��(������
�����
��������
�
�n�������
��
��
����
�
�!�
����
�"��#�$��������������
�����
�
�"�
����
�"������
�
�������
����5
��

� �

PICQ�_�G�qCErDCQ�YZKEJXKL�srQErDCQ�UCOSKNCtJK�COS�sQHXCEJ�uJKHQHJONJ vw

Page 307



������������	����
���
��
���	�����	����	�������������������
���������������������
������������
��
����
��


��
����
���������������� 
�
��������
 ����!	"�����#$�%

&'()*+,-. /+.01, 2+314)'15+6.'+�5'-741(01�+'(�8+9+*),:�26)4()'0 ;<=>?@?ABC�DE=DCE�EFDC=GEH�I=�J=>K�?A�ILE�;HECB?HE�MB>K�NBAHOP ;<=>?@?ABC�>BA@E>O�EA@B@EHQ17�51:�2)-()R1.3),:�S.1+�)'�T+.U�VW XFD>=YE�ILE�>EYE@EIBI?=A�BAH�LB<?IBI�Z[BC?I?EO�=\�]̂�_?A@OI=A�MB>K̀a?>>B>A?AIL?�bMB>K�cde�I=�O[DD=>I�>EfCBOO?gfBI?=A�BO�B�_EG�h?=H?YE>O?IG�;>EB�b_h;e�<G�cicjP ?̂k�Ek?OI?A@�_h;Ol+,1.�m6+4),: ;f>=OO�ILE�IL>EE�>EfE?Y?A@�JBIE>�<=H?EO�?A�ILE�n?IG�=\�;HECB?HEo��piq�>EH[fI?=A�?A�O[ODEAHEH�O=C?HO�riq�>EH[fI?=A�?A�@>=OO�D=CC[IBAIO�siq�>EH[fI?=A�?A�DL=ODL=>[O�tjq�>EH[fI?=A�?A�A?I>=@EAP uvuccvcpc�K@̀G>�diwvrdr�K@̀G>�cvdru�K@̀G>�udvisp�K@̀G>x)R1.�y1+4,z {EH[fE�|=>>EAO�NBKE�fB>D�HEAO?IG�I=�ji�K@̀LB�<G�cics�BAH�FB?AIB?A�ILE�HEAO?IG�<EC=J�IL?O�IL>EOL=CH�I=�cidiP sj�K@̀LB

�T.)-.),)13|LE�\=CC=J?A@�D>?=>?I?EO�J?CC�EALBAfE�BAH�D>=IEfI�ILE�;HECB?HE�MB>K�NBAHOo5+6.'+�8-6',.:�8z+.,1.�n=}HEYEC=D�B�_B[>AB�n=[AI>G�nLB>IE>�J?IL�?AD[I�\>=F�_B[>AB�ME=DCEv�n?IG�=\�;HECB?HE�BAH�]=YE>AFEAI�=\�=̂[IL�;[OI>BC?B�I=�?A\=>F�HEf?O?=A�FBK?A@�\=>�ILE�;HECB?HE�MB>K�NBAHO�ILBI�D>=Y?HEO�@[?HBAfE�I=�O[DD=>I�ILE�?FDCEFEAIBI?=A�=\�B�n=AAEfI?A@�J?IL�n=[AI>G�~>BFEJ=>KPx13,-.1�x)9+.)+'�8-..)(-.3�{EBC?@A�BAH�ABI[>BC?OE�f>EEK�AEIJ=>KO�I=�?FD>=YE�JBIE>�Z[BC?IGv�<?=H?YE>O?IG�F=YEFEAI�BAH�\B[AB�LB<?IBIP�XAf=>D=>BIE�=DD=>I[A?I?EO�\=>�?A\=>FBC�>Ef>EBI?=A�BAH�ABI[>E�DCBGv�<=B>HJBCKO�BAH�JBCK?A@�I>B?COv�BAH�JBGgAH?A@�BAH�?AIE>D>EI?YE�O?@AB@EP

�,.+,10)*�l+,1.�x13-6.*13�XFD>=YE�ILE�O[OIB?AB<CE�O=[>f?A@�BAH�[OE�=\�JBIE>�IL>=[@L=[I�ILE�;HECB?HE�MB>K�NBAHO�\=>�OD=>Iv�>Ef>EBI?=Av�DCBAI?A@v�BFEA?IG�BAH�f==C?A@P�.11')'0�+'(�8+'-9:�8-R1.�XAf>EBOE�I>EE�fBA=DG�f=YE>v�>EH[fE�LB>H�O[>\BfEO�?A�ILE�;HECB?HE�MB>K�NBAHOv�D>?=>?I?O?A@�B>EBO�ILBI�B>E�ILE�F=OI�Y[CAE>B<CE�I=�LEBI�BAH�JLE>E�I>EE�fBA=DG�?O�BI�>?OK�\>=F�fC?FBIE�fLBA@EP�Q��8��l-.4(�y1.),+01�2)(�{Ef=@A?OEH�BO�=AE�=\�ILE�F=OI�f=FDCEIE�EkBFDCEO�=\�A?AEIEEAIL}fEAI[>G�f=C=A?BC�DCBAA?A@v�BfL?EY?A@����̂n��a=>CH��E>?IB@E�OIBI[O�\=>�ILE�;HECB?HE�MB>K�NBAHO�BAH�n?IG�NBG=[I�J=[CH�<>?A@�?AIE>ABI?=ABC�>Ef=@A?I?=A�BAH�BIIEAI?=A�I=�=[>�>E@?=Av�<E�B�O=[>fE�=\�C=fBCv�OIBIE�BAH�ABI?=ABC�D>?HEv�BAH�<==OI�=DI?F?OF�BAH�?AYEOIFEAIP

�� ��
�%���������������
���������������������
������������
��
����
��
���!�� 
���

�#

Page 308



������������	����
���
��
���	�����	���

��
����
�����������������
�
��������
������	��������� 

�	�������!��"��������
����#"��"�����������$
������#�����
�%
����
��
 &�

Page 309



���������		 
��
����

��������������������������������������

 !����!�����"�#��!��$���%�&����'�����%(���)�*��!��+,-.

/���0�11�2
���34�54��
��6�
��
4
�	��5���7����
���4
8���4���9���4�������1��:��4��0�4�
	�34�54��;<�/�����
��
4
�	��5���7����
���4
8���4���9�����::9�
4;�5���	45=���1�������	91454
���5���4���9���4���>�����:��4��0�3�94��
9	4�51
5�5���?
4;��0�
��15
�����
��
4
�	<@ABC�DEFDAEFDGHI�JKH�LGKJGHFEM�NKECKEGEHB�ODEMD�JKH�MPKKHQGAR�SQ�NKCFKHBB�CK�DJTH�UHHQ�@MDEHTHI�GDJG�OHKH�EIHQGEVHI�GDKCPFD�GDH�@IHAJEIH�NJKW�XJQIB�YJQJFHZHQG�LGKJGHFR�[\]̂_̀\]\_a�CK�GDKCPFD�BGJGH�FCTHKQZHQG�bKECKEGEHBc�NKCdHMGB�OEGDCPG�QPZUHKB�JKH�QCG�ACMJGECQ�BbHMEVMe�GDHR�JKH�@IHAJEIH�NJKW�XJQIBfOEIH�bKECKEGEHBcg�2�:���	

'�����%�������������hi

Page 310



�
�

�
�

�
�

�

�

�
��

�	

���	

���� ��
�
��

��

��

��
�������
��
���������
������������������� !"#�$�"%�"�" &

'(����(����
)�*��(��+���,�-����.�
���,/���0�1�
(��2345

.�
���,����
��
����� 66

Page 311



������������	����
���
��
���	�����	������������
� ����������� �!"#$%����&�!'�(�) �!"�*+,-

. ,���%�(/��0%(�'(�1�
2 ����&����3����'�,4(�'!��3�����5(/���6(�"�1�
7 0���/4��� �!"#�$%����&�!'�(�) �!"�*+-����/�!� ���8 9'���('��9:%�/(;�,��/!��<�����5���/

= 6(14/�>:%�!�#�&�%�(����/�!� ���
? @!���4(���A��'�,�!!('�!

>/!�/�1(;�&�/�!�A���%!;��
B�%!���,�%�/!��,4�!/�!

CD
���D
����E�F��D��G���H
I
���J����
HK���L	M��D��NOPQ

RQ

Page 312



��������	�
��
�
��
����
���������
����
�
�
�� �������
��
����
�
�
�
�������
�������� ��
 
��
����

�! "
� 
	����	�"# �����
�������
$���
����
���
����%�

�& '��� ��
����
�
���
����#����
	
�(

) *+
�
�+
�,���
�+�-��
����.
�+
����
��
����
��� ��
 
��
����
/ 0���1����

��� ��
 
��
����
.�

��2���
������ 0�	����0�	����0�	���
*+
�
�+
��
���0
�+��3�
��

456�27�'���+�8
���
	
�-�+

* 
9��	�*��

'
#:�+��	�
�+����
���
�
����

.�

���	�
�+�2
���#�2�;
�
3�
�4�<
��*++�
����
+
�*;
��
�"
����
�"��
��
��2����+���

=>?@�A�B�=?CD?C@CEFG�HC?EI@CDJFG�KD>LF

MNEL>CNE�=>?O�P>JNF�Q>J>RESEJ@�T@?>@ERU�B�VDW>?NF�XY�Z

[\

Page 313



������������	����
���
��
���	�����	�����������

��
����
�����������������
�
��� ����
�!���"	#�����$%&'

() *+,�-.��/012����2���23�415
67�89:;7<8<�=>?�@A;BC�D7BEF<D7G�HFE@D:E8�ICDEE�E8J8E�@A;D7D7G�@A;BCI�BA8;@D7G�;�IDG7DKB;7@�<8I@D7;@DL7�D7�=EF8�MFH�N;ACOPFA;7GG;�QN;AC�RST�UD@V�;IILBD;@8<�;@@A;B@DL7I�D7BEF<D7G�7;@FA8�;7<�;<J87@FA8�:E;W�BLH:E8H87@8<�XW�@V8�;<Y;B87@�ZA88�[EDHX�BLFAI8�;7<�CDLIC\

(] �̂23�_̀-2��ab-c-
dLB;@8<�789@�@L�e8I@�Z8AA;B8�;7<�78I@E8<�D7�@V8�6<8E;D<8�N;AC�d;7<If�[D@W�gC;@8�DI�;�h;BDED@W�XFDE@�hLA�IC;@D7Gf�=>?�;7<�L@V8A�UV88E8<�I:LA@I�hALH�E8J8EI�X8GD778A�@L�;<J;7B8<�ICDEE�E8J8EI\[D@W�gC;@8�DI�@V8�E;AG8I@�IC;@8�:;AC�D7�gLF@V�6FI@A;ED;�;7<�;@@A;B@I�ELB;Ef�7;@DL7;E�;7<�D7@8A7;@DL7;E�8J87@I

(i �̂.2j-b�a-j̀��.�2���_012�
k8I@E8<�F7<8A�@V8�:AL@8B@DJ8�XLFGVI�Lh�;7�89:;7IDJ8�>LA8@L7�=;W�KGf�@V8�HFBV�ELJ8<�N8El8A�N;ACOND@W;ADEE;�QN;AC�mnT�:E;W�I:;B8�V;I�F7<8AGL78�;�H;YLA�A8hFAXDIVH87@\�o7@8A;B@DJ8�U;@8A�:E;W�8E8H87@I�;EELU�BVDE<A87�@L�U8;J8�;�pLU�Lh�U;@8A�@VALFGV�ALBC�;7<�I;7<�:;@VI\�ZA;<D@DL7;E�:E;W�8qFD:H87@�ID@I�;EL7GID<8�BFXXW�VLFI8�I@AFB@FA8I�D7I:DA8<�XW�6XLADGD7;E�eFAED8I\ZV8�BA88C�X8<�U8;J8I�@VALFGV�@V8�B87@A8�Lh�@V8�VFX�VLH8�@L�@VLFI;7<I�Lh�78U�:E;7@I\

(r s�tu-j̀�2�vj5-.�a-j̀
ME;<WI�wE:VDBC�N;ACOk;A7F7GG;�QN;AC�RxT�7LU�:ALJD<8I�;�UD<8�A;7G8�Lh�FI8A�89:8AD87B8I�I8AJDB8<�XW�VDGV�qF;ED@W�D7hA;I@AFB@FA8�D7BEF<D7G�@V8�I:LA@I�VFX�;7<�78U�IC;@8�h;BDED@W\ZV8�:;AC�V;I�X887�@A;7IhLAH8<�UD@V�VDGV�qF;ED@W�DAADG;@8<�E;U7�;A8;I�@LG8@V8A�UD@V�7;@FA;E�I8@@D7GI�:ALJD<D7G�;�A;7G8�Lh�:;IIDJ8�;7<�A8BA8;@DL7;E�:FAIFD@I\�ZV8�FAX;7�;<<A8II�V;I�X887�87V;7B8<�;@@A;B@D7G�:8L:E8�;7<�:ALJD<D7G�;�@A;7ID@DL7�X8@U887�@V8�N;AC�d;7<I�;7<�@V8�7LA@VyU8I@�I8B@LA�Lh�@V8�BD@W\

z{

Page 314



���������	���
��
�
�
���
����
��
������


�����
������������
���������������������	�������
�� �!"# $%&'()*�$+(,+
-./0.�1/23.456�078/9.3�:;9<;4�-./0.�=/2>?@/0AB�C/29/�D=/2>�EFG6�8749;4B.5�97�H.�/�I7IB0/2�I0/8.�J72�:.33;4K�8.2.L74;.5�/5�:.00�/5�;4J72L/0�2.82./9;74MN88.55;H;0;9A�</5�H..4�;LI27O.3�:;9<�2.I0/8.L.49�J779H2;3K.56�/43�;LI27O.L.495�97�9<.�82..>�:.2.�L/3.�97�I2.O.49�:/9.2�7O.2P7:�/43�57;0�.275;746�.45B2;4K�B5.25�8/4�8749;4B.�97�.4Q7A�9<.�K/23.45M

RS T+UV,+WX�T('Y�UZ�*[+�\+X*
]00;5�=/2>?̂/LI/:/230;�D=/2>�E_G�8749;4B.5�97�H.�B5.3�J72�/�:;3.�2/4K.�7J�5I729;4K�/43�8B09B2/0�B5.5M�@;9<�/�0/2K.�/L7B49�7J�7I.4�5I/8.�9<.�I0/9./B�8749;4B.5�97�I27O;3.�/4�;3./0�078/9;74�J72�0/2K.�.O.495�/43�8748.295ML̀I27O.L.495�97�B5.2�.aI.2;.48.�;480B3.3�874570;3/9;74�7J�HB;03;4K56�BIK2/3.5�97�O.<;8B0/2�/43�I.3.592;/4�/88.55�/43�5/J.9A�97�9<.�N3.0/;3.�b;K<�c8<770�/43�4.:�87LLB4;9A�5I7295�HB;03;4KM

Rd $%e*U'%(�T('YfT(Y(V(Y()*[%�gT('Y�hij��k(X*+'�T,()
<̂.�-;8972;/�=/2>?=/>/I/>/49<;�D=/2>�FlG�m/59.2�=0/4�5.95�/�O;5;74�J72�-;8972;/�=/2>�97n�o���p.�K2..4.26�8770.2�/43�L72.�80;L/9.�2.5;0;.49�o���q.0.H2/9.�8B09B2/0�/43�578;/0�O/0B.5�o���=27O;3.�5I/8.�J72�87LLB4;9A�B5.�/43�8744.89;74�97�o���p.�H;73;O.25.�/43�;LI27O.�N3.0/;3.r5�7I.4�K2/55A�������:7730/43�0/4358/I.�8</2/89.2�o���=27O;3.�sB/0;9A�87LLB4;9A�5I7295�/43�2.82./9;74�o���N992/89�/43�5BII729�3;O.25.�.O.495�/43�/89;O;9;.5M

Rt uU'*[+')�ve*%w%*x�yz&
<̂.�{729<.24�N89;O;9A�bBH�;480B3.5�BIK2/3.3�9.44;5�87B2956�4.:�J.48;4K6�H/5>.9H/00�2;4K5�/43�9.44;5�4.95MN�87LLB4;9A�<BH�I27O;3.5�/�5L/00�I0/|/6�5./9;4K6�pp}56�/43�7B93772�.a.28;5.�J/8;0;9A{.:0A�I0/49.3�92..56�.492A�59/9.L.49�I0/49;4K5�/43�0/4358/I.�92./9L.495�82./9.�/�5</3.3�5.99;4K�:;9<�;LI27O.3�5</2.3�I/9<5�/43�I.3.592;/4�0;K<9;4K�;482./5;4K�/88.55;H;0;9A�J72�9<.�87LLB4;9AM

~�

Page 315



Page 316



��	
����
�
�������
������	�������
���

Page 317



����������	
���
	������	���	��������	����	����
	����	����	����
��	����	
�������
	�����	���	������	��	���	��������	����	����
	����������	��������	���	�����	���	
�������	���
���������
	��	��	
�������	��	���	��������	������	 !"	#$%&'()*"+	$,	-!"	..	/)"0*&0-+1	23%()"+	(&'	4()'"&+	5")"	'"-")6*&"'	%+*&7	-!"	,$88$5*&7	,(0-$)+9	:				;<�
����	���	
��
�
��	����
��
�	���������	:				=���������
	��	������
�	��	���	����	���	�����								
�����
	:				��>�����	�������	���������
	:				��>��	�����
��������	���	����

���	��������
	:				����������	�����������
	���������	�����								
����	��

��
��������
����	��������
	���	��������	����	���������	��	�<�
����	
����	���	�����	����������	
��������
	���	
���
�;���	��������	����	
������
	�	����	�����	��������	��	
���	�����<�?	��������	���	�������	
�
���
	���	������@�
	������	������
	���	���������
���	
�������	����	���������	��	���	��<�	
����	��	
�������	���	���	��������
�	A��	��������	=��
���������
	������@��	��	���	��������	����
	����	�

�
�	��	
���	�����
�
	���	�����������	������	�

���������
�	B���	�	��
���	
���	�
	�

�����	��	���	��������	���������	���	�	����	��	��������?	���
	�����������	����	����		
����������C"+0)*D-*$&+	$,	E(%)&(	(&'	F%)$D"(&	0%8-%)(8	!")*-(7"	')(5+	$&	-!"	5$)G	$,9	:				H�������	I�������	����������	����	���	���								��������	����	����
	���	=���	������	:				=��������	����	����������	����	���	���								��������	����	����
	:				��������	����	����
	���	������
	����������								I�������	J��
�������	=�������	I�������								����������?	KLLMN	:				��������	����	����
	���	������
	=�������								����
��
�	�

�

����	�����	JO����	P���
	KLLQN								�����	���������
	���	����
	��	����
��
�	��
�����
								���	��������
	P���	;����	R����?	����
�	���S��								���	T������	���������UVWXYZVW	[Y\]	̂Y_V̀	aY_YbWcW_d	ed\YdWbf	g	hijY\V̀	klmn

[Y\d	o	g	pcqXWcW_dYdZi_r	[Y\d_W\̀sZq̀r	p_tẀdcW_du'"8(*'"	/()G	v(&'+	/)"0*&0-	/8(&+ !"	/)"0*&0-+	()"9:			T�
�	����	����
	��������:			�����wT�
�	����	����
	��������:			�����w;�
�	����	����
	��������:			x�������	����	��������:			;�
�	����	����
	��������:			H����	����	����
	��������:			y���	����
	��������:			R�������	����	����
	��������:			z����	R���	��������:			R������	;
����	����
	���							��������	{��	��������:			H����w;�
�	����	����
	��������:			������
	���	y�����


nk

Page 318



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

����� !"#�$!%&�
'()�*+����� !"#�$!%&� '()�*+,!��� !"#�$!%&� -./�(".!� !"#

,!��� !"#�$!%&�
0(�!%./�,��!���$!%&��!%&�1&�2!.&��3((� "�/.%/�4.5�"6!%#� "�/.%/�0(%7�*(%� !"# 8("�*+,!��� !"#�$!%&�

8("�*� !"#�$!%&�
9(2:�$.%#�
��22.%;�(%�'<)!"�

$.;*��'<)!"� =.%&>!"�*�'<)!"�-./�(".!�'<)!"��*.�>("��'<)!"� =)"�2��'<)!"�

 !2>�"�9!"&�%� 0"();*!>�9!"&�%� �%%.%;�(%�9!"&�%�

��	��?���@�A�����������B���	���	
C�A
B�@�D�
�����1&�2!.&�� !"#�$!%&�� "�/.%/��E�'<)!"���!%&�9!"&�%� ��

Page 319



���������	�
��
���
���������������������������������������������� !"���������#��$��� �%&'������())������ !*�+,�-��.)��$��� �%/'�������)�.0��(),#�1 ���� !2���3�����$��� �%4'	�5���6����������7%7�#81���8�����7&9��:��#8�����)���8���:��#8�;.8)��.8���� �<��.�=����>�����
���>
���?�%%@49�1���,0�1�A8��,��A�.8.�B0�CDE/C���88�F�?����������G����H�I�
��������������������������� !"���������#��$��� �%&'������"8���*8���18��)�0���3�.������())������ !*�+,�-��.)��$��� �%/'D�J��0�� ��8������2���3�����K�B���L��8�����������8��M�)����NA�)������"���������#��"8�)��.���.�(.31������*���)������"8���*8���18�J8+8�8�0������;.8)��.8�O��#��1#��)

>����P�*#8�"8������ �<��.����81��1�����B��.8�8.�B0����)�)��8������#8�-8��D�"8���*8���18�����#8�8������.��8A8��)����8���)����.��.���81������#8���81��1�@�Q8�,��8�1������������.�A8��8�����8��:�,)�18����.�)��.�1�,8�D���1)3.�����-������8�O8�����8��)�18��$;.8)��.8�O��#��1#��)���.�"8���*8���18�J8+8�8�0'D�:�3��1��0����8-�0�D���)���8�.8.�1��8.�8A8�����,�18D��A8��7E�#81���8���:�,)�0����R8).�D��#�88��+,�������B��.�A8����0����8����.����3�.�/E�#81���8���:��,8��-��.)��.D��#8�"8������ �<��.����81��1��#�����8��:��#8�)�-8���)8A8)���:�A�����������:��))��#8�;.8)��.8���� �<��.����81��1��@F
���
�*#8�8���8��8�8��)��8:8�8�18������8�3)���3�8��:��#�����8�������1�+,����A8�38�B0�;B�������)�,8�,)8��,�8S1����1����.�,���S1����1����.��#8�8�����)������81��.��:�������8�T� 8����8:�1��:�3�.�����#8�8����3�.�@�U��7E//�())������ !*�+,�-��.)��$��� �%/'�-����#8����8��:���,)���8.�R�#��B8�-88����3����,8�,)8���.�2������.V8���,8�,)8�-#�1#�-���,�8A8��8.�B0�,�)�18@;B�������)�,8�,)8���8�B3��8.����"8���*8���18�J8+8�8�0���.��#8�,)�0���3�.�������������������� !"���������#��$��� �%&'�-���:�8W38��8.�B0�;B�������)�1#�).�8��)�A��������#8�"8���(�.��:�;.8)��.8�.3������#8�7X&Y�����7X4Y�@Z�����
������������������� !"���������#��$��� �%&'��8�����������8�8��)��#�,8���.�:��+����,)���8.�B0�J�)��8)�"�))��+�<��#�D���.�#����3B�������)�8��)0���88�,)���������1)3.����,8��+8�8��,)���������@�*#8�,�� ����.�+����8.�B0��#8�#��#)0������R1����"8���*8���18�J8+8�8�0D�������8�O8�����8��)�18�-#�1#�1���������8+�����8[���1���.���.��8��3��A8�8����������-8))����B3�)��:8��3�8�@())������ !*�+,�-��.)��$��� �%/'���.��)�.0��(),#�1 ���� !2���3�����$��� �%4'��8������#8����������)��#�,8���.�:��+����.8A��8.�B0�J�)��8)�"�))��+�<��#�@�*#80��8T81���#8�,#�)���,#�8�D��,����)���.�,)�������.8��������8��D���1)3.�����,81�8��,)����������.�,��#-�0��)���+8���D��:�8��)0�)��.�1�,8�.8����8��D�\��-����.��8)]8�@())������ !*�+,�-��.)��$��� �%/'���.��)�.0��(),#�1 ���� !2���3�����$��� �%4'�-8�8��������))0�3�8.�:������)���.�����8�8[���1����D������+8��D��8+,����0�

^�����
���_
������������

àbcdeab�fdgh�idjak�ldjdmbnbjo�pogdobmq�r�studgak�vwxy

fdgo�z�r�{n|cbnbjodoetj}�fdgojbgk~e|k}�{j�bkonbjoy�

Page 320



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

��	������������������������	���	
 ��
����!�
�����
"#$%&'&"#(�%#)�$*+#$,-�.*/01�2"3*/"�2",#4�+1")�3*/�/"$/"%(,*#%-�'+/'*1"1�%#)�&*/"�*/4%#,1")�1'*/(,#4�4/*+#)1�,#�(5"�67891�%#)�2":*#);�<�(/""�'-%#(,#4�'/*4/%&�,#("/&,(("#(-:�*$$+//");=>?@AB>CD��<�#+&2"/�*3�1'"$,&"#�(/""1�%/"�1$%(("/")�(5/*+45*+(�(5"�E/"$,#$(;�F5"�)"1,4#")�G,#41(*#�H%/)"#1�.,(5�,(1�2%#)1(%#)�%#)�/"&#%#(�"I*(,$�(/""�'-%#(,#41J�,1�%�1,4#,K$%#(�$+-(+/%-�5"/,(%4"�3"%(+/"�,#�H�L�G,#41(*#�E%/0MN,//%/#,#(5,�OE%/0�8PQ;�F5"�N"1(�F"//%$"�E-%:4/*+#)�.%1�)"1,4#")�2:�E"-R"/�,#�676S;T+//"#(�%$$"11�,#(*�(5"�'%/01�%#)�&*U"&"#(�(5/*+45J�'%/(,$+-%/-:�#*/(5V1*+(5J�,1�-,&,(");G%/"#�W*-(*#�XU%-�%#)�(5"�T,(:�L0%("�E%/0�'/*U,)"�0":�%$(,U,(:�5+21;�<&"#,(:�%#)�%$(,U,(:�%/"�1'/"%)�(5/*+45*+(�(5"�E/"$,#$(�.,(5�%�),U"/1,(:�*3�*Y"/,#41��Z[\]D[A�̂_[�̀a>?bDL,(+%(")�2"(.""#�%�4/*.,#4�$,(:�%#)�/%',)-:�4/*.,#4�/"1,)"#(�%#)�.*/0"/�'*'+-%(,*#1�,#�N"1(�F*//"#1J�(5"�*''*/(+#,(:�(*�$/"%("�%((/%$(,U"�'-%$"1�%#)�1'%$"1�(5%(�)/%.�'"*'-"�(*�%#)�%$(,U%("�(5"�N"1(�E%/0�c%#)1�

5%1�#"U"/�2""#�4/"%("/;�F5"�)"U"-*'&"#(�*3�(5"�#".�W*:%-�<)"-%,)"�d*1',(%-�%#)�2,*�&"),$%-�'/"$,#$(J�/"U,(%-,1%(,*#�*3�(5"�."1("/#�"#)�*3�d,#)-":�L(/""(�%#)�(5"�e#,U"/1,(:�*3�L*+(5�<+1(/%-,%f1�T,(:�N"1(�$%&'+1�.,--�1""�%�1+21(%#(,%-�,#$/"%1"�,#�(5"�#+&2"/�*3�'"*'-"�%$$"11,#4�(5"�#*/(5V."1(�$*/#"/�*3�(5"�$,(:J�.5,-"�(5"�/"1,)"#(�'*'+-%(,*#�,#�(5"�."1(�%#)�1*+(5V."1(�1"$(*/1�*3�(5"�T"#(/%-�g+1,#"11�h,1(/,$(�,1�3*/"$%1(�(*�4/*.�&*/"�(5%#�%#:�*(5"/�%/"%�,#�(5"�$,(:�*U"/�(5"�#"I(�(."#(:�:"%/1;T/"%(,#4�#".�%((/%$(,*#1�%#)�3%$,-,(,"1�(*�&""(�(5"�#"")1�*3�(5,1�,#$/"%1")�'*'+-%(,*#�%#)�,&'/*U,#4�$*##"$(,*#1�(*J�2"(.""#�%#)�.,(5,#�"%$5�'%/0�'/"1"#(1�2*(5�$5%--"#4"1�%#)�*''*/(+#,(,"1�(*�(/%#13*/&�(5"�%''"%/%#$"�%#)�,#$/"%1"�%$(,U%(,*#�*3�(5"�N"1(�E%/0�c%#)1�E/"$,#$(;�F5"/"�,1�*''*/(+#,(:�(*�,#U"1(,4%("�%�15%/")�+1"�2/,)4"�*U"/�(5"�(/%,#�-,#"1�(*�$*##"$(�(5"�L*+(5�<+1(/%-,%#�L'*/(1�i#1(,(+("�.,(5�<)"-%,)"�E%/0�c%#)1�F/%,-;�F5,1�*''*/(+#,(:�-,#01�0":�1(%("�4*U"/#&"#(�,#U"1(&"#(�(*�(5"�<)"-%,)"�E%/0�c%#)1�.5,-1(�%-1*�'/*U,),#4�(5"�&,11,#4�-,#0�(*�(5"�."1("/#�1+2+/21�3*/�$*&&+("/�$:$-,1(1�%#)�'")"1(/,%#1;

�j

Page 321



��������	
���
	��������	
������	�������������	���	��������
�
����	���	������

��������	�����������������	������� !	"� #�$�%&'�� #	����	(%�)�$�	!*�$& "�	��%	(�&  � !	&'	'��	+%�"� "'	��)��	& $	#��*�$	,�	"� #�$�%�$	&�� !	��'�	'��	-$��&�$�	+&%.	/& $#	��$�		(�&  � !	"� #�$�%&'�� #0���1��
	�2���3�4	�1
�1��
	
���������		���	�
�3���	5���
�����	���	+%�"� "'	"� '&� #	"*�'*%&�	��%�'&!�	�& $#"&(�	& $	"� '%�,*'�%6	��&'*%�#	#*"�	&#	�7�'�"	#(�"��#8	&)� *�#	& $	"�%%�$�%#09		:�%%&% � '��	��'�& $#;		<�#�%'	-#�	(�& '� !#=		>%�)�	��	?�%�'� 	@&6	A�!#B		C��	��	<�#�%'	-#�D		E& &%6	F#�& $	+&�G#H		C��	��	<�#�%'	-#�I		J���K#	A�!L		C��	��	?�%'� 	@&6	A�!#M		C��	��	+�((�%	�%��#9N		A�%G�%	'%&G	�� �#
OPQRSTPQ	USVW	XSYPZ	[SYS\Q]QŶ	_̂VŜQ\̀	a	bcdSVPZ	efgh

i �& "�	�& $#"&(� !	��	j�%	<� &�$	@%&$G& 		<%�)�	& $	>��)�%	-)� *�	��'�	(�& '� !	��		�&%!�	�*"&�6('*#FG(%�)�	&""�##	& $	&G� �'6	'�	'��	%�)�!�'&'�� 	&%�&	'�	� "�*%&!�	)�#�'&'�� 	& $	G& &!�	&#		&	k�6	@��$�)�%#�'6	-%�&	� '�	'��	�*'*%�

		k� !#'� 	>&%$� #	& $	,& $#'& $		iG�!%&'�� 	jl*&%�m@*%�&*	��	?�'��%���!6	?�G�%�&�	� '�%(%�'�)�	#�'�-$��&�$�	J�!�	j"����		?& &!�	"&%	(&%.� !	&)&��&,���'6	� 		:6�$�	C�&$	'�	� #*%�	*#�	��%	(&%.	*#�%#i �& "�	'��	:�%%&% � '��	F '�%(%�'�)�	�%&��F )�#'�!&'�	�((�%'* �'6	'�	"�  �"'	-$��&�$�	+&%.	/& $#	�%&��	'�	j�*'�	-*#'%&��& 	j(�%'#	F #'�'*'�		)�&	#�&%�$	*#�	,%�$!�E%�&'�	& 	*%,& 	&$$%�##	&#	&	%�#(� #�	'�	&	!%��� !	(�(*�&'�� 	� 	'��	"�'6K#	��#'	FG(%�)�	"�  �"'�)�'6	&"%�##	j�%	<� &�$	@%&$G& 	<%�)�	)�&	�& $	,%�$!�#m���$����	,%�$!�#	/� .	'��	-$��&�$�	+&%.	/& $#	'�	'��	jl*&%�#	F )�#'�!&'�	�((�%'* �'��#	'�	"� #'%*"'	&	���',%�$!�	�)�%	>��)�%	��%%&"�		C�)���	"�GG* �'6	,� �n'	��	:�#'	��%%&"�	+�&6!%�* $	?& &!�	E�'6	j.&'�	+&%.	&#	&	%�!�� &�m	#'&'�	��)��	�&"���'6E� #�$�%	�*'*%�	%�l*�%�G� '#	��%	'��		E�G�'�%6	'�%�*!�	G&#'�%	(�&  � !E� '� *�	'�	� �& "�	'��	o&% * !!&		p%,& 	A�%�#'0	i7(��%�	&$$�'�� &�	*#�#	��	'��#	#(&"�8	�#(�"�&��6	%�!&%$� !	�'#	(�'� '�&�	,��$�)�%#�'6	)&�*�#F )�#'�!&'�	%�G�)&�	��	�&%$#'& $	&%�&#	� 		i$�&%$#	+&%.m:�%%&% � '��	q+&%.	rs	j�*'�t
99

9=
9H

;=;B;D;H;I9;

9B
9I9D9M;N;9;;
9L

USV̂	u	a	v]wRQ]QŶŜTcYx	USV̂YQVZyTwZx	vYzQẐ]QŶhh

Page 322



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

����� !"#�$!%&�� "�'(%'� ��	��)���*�+�����������,���	���	
-�+
,�*�.�
����� �/

Page 323



���������	�
��
���
���������������������������������������������������� !��"�����#$�%&' !(������)&��*�+,�'�����������-��� '�������"�����##(������.&/�*����  /*������0���'�������"�����#1��*� (������2*�/*��������/3'�4�� ��"�����#1(	�5���6����������77�!*8 ��*��&��119:;�&<� !*� & �/���*��&<� !*��+�*/���*������=����>����?�����
���?
���@�$#;�8��&-3�8&A*��-�&A��*��B3�CD###� �**�E�@����������F���GH�
�����������2*�/*�.���*��������I&��*�A� &�3����������8*����/�J�B* !��/�3�-�8*������K*,�&��/�L* B�//�M�8�/� 3������N*3�O�&��A*��� 3�+�*�������='���*�.���*��������+�*/���*���A�//�&���������/3'�4�� ��I&PP'�� 3�.���*�

?����Q�R!*�%&' !S�*� ������=�������*8��8 ����B&��*�*��B3�%&' !�R*���8*D�+�J�8�T�,!��3D�.�**�!�//�K&��������*�8&8��K&��9�R!*�/���S'�*�����*/� �A*/3�B�/��8*��B* �**��!�,!� &�P*��'P�U'�/� 3��*P��� ��� �A*�,����/���������&&�/����������P�V '�*�&<��*��8� *���-&� ��"�* B�//D��&88*�D� *���������P'/ �S'�*�W*/��(9�R!*��&� !*����*8 �&��!���!�,!SU'�/� 3�-/�3��-�8*������<&�P�/�,���*����!�/*� !*�<�8�/� �*�������&P*�/����8�-*��A�/'*������&' !*����*8 �&����*�����**��&<��*A� �/��� �&�9E
���
�R!*���*8��8 ������*,'/��/3�'�*�������8�P-��,�A*�'*D�����&'�8*�&<�<&&�������� *�<&��B'���/�9�R���� �&��/�8�P-��,�� &--*����� !�����*����� !*�17XY���!*��+B&��,���/�-*&-/*���*�*�<&�8*��<�&P� !*��&' !������=����9%&P*�N�'����-*&-/*����&8�� *���*������.&/�*����  /*������0���'�������"�����#1��*� (��� !��-��� '�/����,*������B*/�*A*� !���-����!���!�� &��8�/�/����� &��'�-*8 *��8&/&���/�A�&/*�8*���� !*����-&��*���&��&<� !*�����8*� &��Z�����
���.&/�*����  /*������0���'�������"�����#1��*� (�����2*�/*��������/3'�4�� ��"�����#1(��*�*�&�8*�8&����*�*�������,/*�-���D�!&�*A*��'-&�� !*��� �&�'8 �&��&<�%���=*����I&!*��+A*�'*�"1[Y#\1[Y$(� !*� �&�-������*�*��*-��� *�9�R!*���*�����B&'���B3��*�8&8��K&��D�.�**�!�//�K&��D�%&' !�R*���8*�����%���=*����I&!*��+A*�'*9R!*��*P����*��&<� !*���*8��8 ��* ������ ��&��,���/��!�-*�����<&�P�����*A��*��B3�I&/&�*/���//��P�=�,! 9%'B� �� ��/� �**�-/�� ��,� !� ��88&������ !� !*��*��,�������-*8�*���� *� �&<�O�&��������*/J*�D��'8!�����-*8�*��-/�� ��,������-� !��3��/�,�P*� ����*��� �8 � &��39

	���
]̂�����
���_
������������

àbcdeab�fdgh�idjak�ldjdmbnbjo�pogdobmq�r�studgak�vwxy

fdgo�z�r�{n|cbnbjodoetj}�fdgojbgk~e|k}�{j�bkonbjoy�

Page 324



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

���� !�"#��$%&'()*+,�-&),%�&)%&.�/0�/1%+�2//3-&+34�.5&--%)�3*.1%).%3�&)%&.�/0�)%5+&+'�+&'*6%�6%,%'&'*/+�&+3�1-&7*+,�8%-3.4�'9%�:/('9;<%.'�=)%>*+>'�&>>/55/3&'%.�&�5*?�/0�3%3*>&'%3�.1/)'�0&>*-*'*%.�0/)�+%'@&--4�./>>%)�&+3�'%++*.�2*'9�-%..�%519&.*.�/+�5(-'*;(.%��1-&7*+,�8%-3.AB%&-%�C&)3%+.�@/&.'.�9*,9-7�)%8+%3�-&+3.>&1*+,�0%&'()%.4�*+>-(3*+,�>)%%D.4�0/(+'&*+.�&+3�%?/'*>�6%,%'&'*/+A�E9%)%�&)%�.%6%)&-�>/+'%51/)&)7�.')(>'()%.�2*'9*+�'9%�,&)3%+.4�*+>-(3*+,�'9%�<&-7(�F&)'&�G/55(+*'7�C&)3%+4�&+3�'9%�H3%-&*3%�=&6*-*/+AE9%�G/+.%)6&'/)7�&+34�0()'9%)�'/�'9%�2%.'4�'9%�)%3%6%-/1%3�=)*+>%..�I-*J&@%'9�=-&7.1&>%�%?1%)*%+>%�9*,9%)�6*.*'&'*/+�)&'%.�'9&+�&)%&.�0()'9%)�./('94�&-'9/(,9�'9%�0&>*-*'*%.�*+�'9%.%�.1&>%.�+%%3�'/�@%�5/3%)+*.%3�'/�*51)/6%�'9%*)�0(+>'*/+&-*'7�&+3�@%''%)�5%%'�'9%�/1%+�.1&>%�&+3�)%>)%&'*/+�+%%3.�/0�&�,)/2*+,�&3K&>%+'�>*'7�>/55(+*'7AL/)'9;./('9�&+3�%&.';2%.'�)/('%.�&)%�-*5*'%3�&+3�3/�+/'�>/++%>'�2%--�'/�'9%�>*'7�/)�'9%�.(@()@.AH>'*6&'*/+4�/'9%)�'9&+�'9&'�1)/6*3%3�@7�.1/)'*+,�(.%.4�B%&-%�C&)3%+.4�&+3�=)*+>%..�I-*J&@%'9�=-&7.1&>%.�-*5*'%3A

E9%�5&+&,%5%+'�/0�M%7�N*/3*6%).*'7�H)%&.�2*--�@%�1)*5&)*-7�0/>(.%3�/+�'9%*)�>/+.%)6&'*/+�&+3�.(.'&*+&@-%�%?1&+.*/+�)&'9%)�'9&+�&>'*6&'*/+A�E9%�=)%>*+>'�2*--�>/+'*+(%�'/�.(11/)'�%+6*)/+5%+'&-�%3(>&'*/+�&+3�1)/6*3%�&�.1&>%�0/)�'9%�%+,&,%5%+'��/0�>/55(+*'7�6/-(+'%%).�&+3�%3(>&'*/+�,)/(1.A��OPQR#P �STP�UV��W#L%.'-%3�@%'2%%+�&�.')/+,�&+3�,)/2*+,�./('9;2%.'�>*'7�>/55(+*'7�'/�'9%�+/)'9�&+3�&+�*+>)%&.*+,-7�*+'%+.*6%�>/))*3/)�/0�5*?%3;(.%�3%6%-/15%+'�&-/+,�C)%%+9*--�X/&3�*+�'9%�./('94�'9%�:/('9;<%.'�=)%>*+>'�*.�2%--�1/.*'*/+%3�'/�&'')&>'�>*'7�&+3�.(@()@&+�)%.*3%+'.�&+3�2/)D%).�0)/5�M%.2*>D4�<&76*--%�&+3�Y+-%7�*+'/�'9%�H3%-&*3%�=&)D�Z&+3.�0/)�&�6&)*%'7�/0�)%>)%&'*/+&-�&+3�.1/)'.�&>'*6*'*%.A�E9%�>/55(+*'7[.�1/.*'*6%�)%.1/+.%�'/�'9%�)%3%6%-/15%+'�/0�'9%�=)*+>%..�I-*J&@%'9�=-&7.1&>%�&''%.'.�'/�'9%�1/'%+'*&-�@%+%8'.�'/�@%�)%&-*.%3�0)/5�*51)/6*+,�'9%�&11%&)&+>%�&+3�0(+>'*/+&-*'7�/0�&)%&.�0)/+'*+,�:/('9�E%))&>%AI+.()*+,�'9&'�'9%�()@&+�&33)%..�1)/6*3%.�&+�&'')&>'*6%�0)/+'&,%�'/�'9%�H3%-&*3%�=&)D�Z&+3.[�+/)'9%)+�&+3�./('9%)+�%3,%.�2*--�@%�>)*'*>&-�*+�%+'*>*+,�5/)%�1%/1-%�*+'/�'9%�=)%>*+>'4�%.1%>*&--7�*+�'9%�./('9�&.�'9%.%�.%>'*/+.�/0�'9%�H3%-&*3%�=&)D�Z&+3.�&)%�>())%+'-7�(+3%);('*-*.%3�2*'9�-/2�6*.*'&'*/+�)&'%.A

��	��\���]� �̂����������_���	���	
̀�̂
_�]�a�
����� �b

Page 325



�����������	
��	���
����

��
���	
��	��
���
��������	��������
��������	���������	����� �!"#����		����	$!�%� �	�&� "���	��!	$�"�����	"#	#��	'!�����#	��%��	"� 	���&� 		(�	����� �!� 	"����	��#�	#��	) ��"� �	'"!*	+"� �	�� �		$�"�����	����� �!"#����,�
�-�
�	�.���/�0	�-��-�
�	1
����
���		
��	���/
��	2���������	���	'!�����#	���#"���	�&�#&!"�	��!�#"��	�"� ��"$�	"� 	���#!�(&#�!3	��"#&!��	�&��	"�	�4�#��	�$�����5	"%��&�	"� 	��!!� �!�5	!�6�"�#	$�"�#	�$�����	"� 	"�����"#� 	(�� �%�!��#3	�!�6	#��	7"����	8�4	9�� �"� 	"� 	:!�3	8�4;<)	8�&�	:&6	9�� �"� 	#�"#	�"�	6"�"�� 	(3	="&!�"	7�3&!�",>		'���	#!���	��&#�	��	#��	'!������		?��@"(�#�	'�"3�!�&� A			���	<&�"!	:&6	"%��&�B		C�6�"�#	�"##��	"� 	���#�	�3$!���	$����	�!�%�	$�"�#����D		+&� ��	:"! ��E		'�!�6�#�!	��� �"� 	$�"�#���F		G�"��	:"! ���H			7�!�#��	8"3	I��	)%��&�J		K&!���	7�6�!�"�	:"! ����������	1��
�	L����
M�	1�����M	�N
OPQRSTPQ	USVW	XSYPZ	[SYS\Q]QŶ	_̂VŜQ\̀	a	bcdSVPZ	efgh

		'!������	?��@"(�#�	'�"3�$"��5	����& ���	����5	�!����"�	#!���	"� 	����#�!	��� 

	i�%��#��"#�	#��	!�6�%"�	��	"�����	!�" 	"� 			!�#&!�	#�	"	'"!*	+"� �	'&!$���	j!�"#�	"�	&!("�	"  !���		)����	��"!� k&��	$"#�	��#�	����#���	#�"#	��	"$$!�$!�"#�;�����#�%�	#�	(�� �%�!��#3			+��*	#��	) ��"� �	'"!*	+"� �	#�	#��	��#3	"� 	�&(&!(�	(3	 �%���$���	�#!���	l�!���	�#!��#m	������#����

7"�"��	�"!	$"!*���	��!	#��	C�3"�	) ��"� �	<���	"���! ���	#�	#��	n�� 	��	)�!��6��#	��#�	#��	C�3"�	)�!��&�#&!"�	"� 	o�!#��&�#&!"�	<����#3	��	<)

>E 		7"�"��	=�3	8�� �%�!��#3	)!�"�	#��"! �	#���!	��!!��$�� ���	$!�k?&!�$�"�	%���#"#���	��66&��#���	p��6$���#���	"� 	�#!&�#&!�q>F 		7"�"��	#��	'!������	?��@"(�#�	'�"3�$"��5	" r������	$�#"�s&�	"� 	88t	�"����#���	"�	"	!�����"�	"�#�%�#3	�&(	��!	����!6"�	!��!�"#���>H 		7"�"��	G�"��	:"! ���	"� 	���#��&�	�$�!"#����		"#	) ��"� �	'"%�����	"�	�����u�"�#	$&(���	"##!"�#����	��	#��	'!�����#>J 		j��#��&�	#�	�&$$�!#	#��	j�66&��#3	:"! ��>v 		i�%��#��"#�	#��	!�6�%"�	��	#�����	��&!#�	"� 	(&�� ���	"� 	!�#&!�	#�	'"!*	+"� �	'&!$���Aw 		C� �%���$	(&��#	��!6	"� 	"�����"#� 	�"����#���	#�	��!%���	(�#�	�$�!#���	"� 	��66&��#3	��� �	#�"#	"!�	���#�6$�!"!3	"� 	u#	��!	$&!$���A>		j!�"#�	"	6� �&6	�&(	#�"#	$!�%� ��	�"����#���	"� 	"6���#���	��!	"	���	I�!6"�	'"!*5	(&�� ���	��	#��	'!������	?��@"(�#�	'�"3�$"��	"� 	�6$!�%� 	"�����	#�	#��	��&#�AA		'!�%� �	"	����� 5	�xk��"��	 ��	$"!*	#�"#	��	"(��	#�	&#�����	�"����#���	"� 	�"!	$"!*���	"�����"#� 	��#�	#��	" r"���#	��#("��	�&(AB		j!�"#�	"	6� �&6	�&(	#�	��!%���	" r"���#	�$�!#���	"� 	!��!�"#���"�	�"����#���AD		j��#��&�	#�	6"�"��	"�	"�	����!6"�	!��!�"#���	"!�"v>w

>A>B>D
>>

USV̂	y	a	z]{RQ]QŶŜTcY|	USV̂YQVZ}T{Z|	zY~QẐ]QŶ�f

Page 326



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

���� !"#$��%&'(�)&*+$�%'#,-*,���	��.���/�0�����������1���	���	
2�0
1�/�3�
����� 45

Page 327



���������	�
��
���
����������������������������������������������������� !"#�$�%����&��� �'()��������**��+�%����� !,����,�����&��� �'-)��������./������ !�������..��&��� �'0)������1.#��2#+���� !3#��%����&��� �45)	�6���7����������8(�$�9����:����8;8<�����$������.����������$���=>�.��>����� �?�%>:@����A�����
���A
���B�C0<�9�%�*��9�D���*��D�>�>�E��F;554�����:G�B����������H���IJ�
�����������K*����%��L�.>:��%>�9�#��:����������%M#��*�:��������2.�D����.�����#%>������N��:$+�..������ ��%>�OPE���*.��:*�9������������Q����R�1NS���� ������T�%9�>�>���*�� ������"����.�+E�=>�.��>�������U�+�V��2��>�%:������O:+�%>�2��>�%:������K�#�$���� �?�%>:����� ��������%���E#�����$�:����9�����#��:�:#9$��:��������+�+����.:W��P���9�:*�9��:W��D�%#�:��%>�9����>��

A����X�"$��K�#�$YZ�:����� �?�%>:��99#*���$�������E�����%����9�9 �[��>��%>�U#���K�����;�"$�:��*�� :�*��+���.���99�++�>����:*����%��L�.>:��$�9$�����#:�>�E��:9$��.:��%>�9.#E:�����$�9 ��W�:�99��W���%%�:W�=#:���.��%�[#.�:�T���E�..W�E�: ��E�..W�9��9 ��W���$.���9:W�:���E�..��%>�*���%M#�;�\%���>������:#**�����$�:���9��D����:W���$��#:�E�.�������:*���:�L�.>:��%>�*.���%��9�#��:���9��::��$�����9�%9��%��>:����E���+*��D�>����$��$�����::�9����>�E#�.>�%�:���D���.�:�>;�=���:�����*�%����>.�%>�:#���#%>�%���$��:*���:�L�.>:��%>�9�#��:������*��+�%�%��.�%>:9�*������#��:����$�+�%��.����W�E��#���#.�����:����%��%����� �?�%>��>��:;G
���
�"$�����9�%9����:����#.��.��#:�>��:���9�+*�%��D�%#�W����:�#�9��������>��%>�:��������E#���.:;�"��>����%�.�9�+*�%��:��**�>��%��$�:�������%��$��'-]5:��$�%�=E�����%�.�*��*.�:���������9�>����+��$��:�#�$���� �?�%>:;�̂����
���"$�����9�%9��+��%���%:��$��:$�*��>�:��%�>�E�����.�%�.�,�..��+�?��$���%>�:#E:��%���.������*.�%��%�W��%9��*�����%��*���+�����*��$���:��%>�:���*�%��*��$:W��%9.#>�%����.�����+�::�*.�%��%���%��$��:�#�$��%�9��%��;"$���%���>#9���%����O:+�%>�2��>�%:��%�'05(W�*��D�>�>������+�.����>�%�:M#��.�%>:9�*���%>�9�%:�>���E.��9$�%����$��.�%>:9�*�;"$��U�+�V��2��>�%W��*�%�>��%�'0-8W���*��:�%�:�_�*�%�:�����>�%�>�:��%�*��%9�*.�:;�"$�����#%>:��������M#�%�.��#:�>��������+�.��D�%�:��%>���>>�%�:;"$�����:��D�>�%9�����1���%��%>���./��̀:�>�:��%���%��%���$��#�$�#���$�����9�%9�;

	���
â
����
���b
������������

cdefghde�igjk�lgmdn�ogmgpeqemr�srjgrept�u�vwxgjdn�yz{|

igjr�}�u�~q�feqemrgrhwm��igjrmejn�h�n��~m�enrqemr�y

Page 328



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

���� !�"#��$%&�'(&)*+),�*-�)%.(.),&(*-&/�01�.�)230*+.,*2+�24��25&+�622/7.+/-�.+/�-52(,-�8&7/-9�$%&�7.+/-).5&�*-�)%.(.),&(*-&/�01�7.(:&�25&+�:(.--&/�-5.)&-�-&3*;&+)72-&/�01�5(&/23*+.+,71�+.,*<&�:(2<&-�24�,(&&-=��6*,%�25&+�-5.)&-�:&+&(.771�>-&/�42(�-52(,*+:�.),*<*,*&-9$%&�.(&.�*-�(&+26+&/�42(�*,-�-*:+*8).+,�<&:&,.,*2+�&7&3&+,-=�5.(,*)>7.(71�.<&+>&-�->)%�.-�?>((.@2+:�A<&+>&=�B&77.(�A<&+>&�24�C%*,&�D&/.(-=�E230.(/1�'257.(�A<&+>&=�.+/�C%*,&�'257.(�A<&+>&9B*:+*8).+,�)%.+:&-�%.<&�0&&+�3./&�,2�,%&�)(&&F�-1-,&3�*+�.+�.,,&35,�,2�+.,>(.7*-&�*,�.+/�&+)2>(.:&�5>07*)�<*-*,.,*2+9�$%*-�*+)7>/&-�0.+F�7.1;0.)F-�.+/�+.,*<&�(&<&:&,.,*2+�,2�*+)(&.-&�0*2/*<&(-*,1=�4.)*7*,.,&�6*7/7*4&�32<&3&+,=�.+/�*35(2<&�6.,&(�G>.7*,19
HIJK#I �LMI�NO��P#Q(26*+:�(&-*/&+,�.+/�62(F&(�525>7.,*2+-�*+�,%&��-2>,%�24�,%&�)*,1�.+/�,%&�+2(,%�24�R+7&1=�'.(F-*/&��.+/�S.-,622/�5(2<*/&�,%&�*35&,>-�42(�.�(&*3.:*+&/�A/&7.*/&�'.(F�E.+/-�&+<*(2+3&+,�,%.,�6*77�&+.07&�32(&�5&257&�,2�5.(,*)*5.,&�*+�.�<.(*&,1�24�(&)(&.,*2+.7�.+/�-52(,-�.),*<*,*&-9$%&�>(0.+�.//(&--�57.1-�.+�*352(,.+,�(27&�*+��/(.6*+:�5&257&�*+,2�,%&�'(&)*+),�6%*7&�.))&--�,2�,%&�<.(*2>-�.3&+*,*&-�->552(,*+:�(&)(&.,*2+�.+/�-52(,�6*77�0&�&+%.+)&/�,2�.),*<.,&�,%&�5.(F-=�4.)*7*,.,&�%*:%&(��7&<&7-�24�-2)*.7�*+,&(.),*2+�.+/�5(2<*/&�42(�).->.7�->(<&*77.+)&9A-�.�5(&;&3*+&+,�-52(,�.+/�(&)(&.,*2+�5(&)*+),�*+��,%&�A/&7.*/&�'.(F�E.+/-=�*35(2<&3&+,-�,2�57.1*+:�8&7/-=�)2>(,-�.+/�-52(,-�*+4(.-,(>),>(&�6*77�4>&7�,%&�)233>+*,1T-�).5.)*,1�,2�5.(,*)*5.,&�*+�.�6*/&�(.+:&��24�5%1-*).7�.),*<*,*&-�6*,%�52-*,*<&�%&.7,%�.+/�6&770&*+:�2>,)23&-9

��	��U���V�W�����������X���	���	
Y�W
X�V�Z�
����� [�

Page 329



���������	
������
��
���������������������������������������������� ���������������������������!��������������������� ����"����������������������������#��������!��$�%����������������������������������&'
�(�
)�*+���,�-�	()�(�
)�.
����
/����
���	)�,
���0���)����������!������������������ �� ���������������������������������" ���1����� ����� �������2������������3����� ���������������&4��5 ����6 7�#��� ��8�!������#��� �9����:�������:�7������;������#���������1��� ��<��5�����!����=���> ���?����#��� �@��5������#��� ��AB�����C����DE����F������G�7����6�����������H�7�?��6����������������I������ "���������������J ��:2������������ ������������� �������������������������������6����G�7����K����������������������7��������������������� ���L ��M7��������������N���7�7�����7�����������$��������������������"1���7���������������������� ������������"��$�����$�"��$�������������� ��������������������O ��C����� ������7������7�����7��������P����7���������	
�������.
�
)�Q����
R��.�����R�
S4T ��G�7����6������44��H�7�?��6������49 ��6������!��1��� ��UVWXYZVW�[Y\]�̂Y_V̀�aY_YbWcW_d�ed\YdWbf�g�hijY\V̀�klmn

	
������
���
���'��o
�p��4< ��! �� ��������������������������������������?�������7����������A6���������K���D4= ��F�������������$����������"����1�����!����������������4@ ��C�����������7�����4E ��C��������� �"����������4J ��%��$�����#��������!��$�%���������������1������ " �"��"1�������������������q������������r�������������)
����
���*/
���4L ��F������F����7������!��$������7�?�������������������1�� "����������7�������������4O ��F����������sFt�����$���������������1� ����������1�� "��������$������� �����������2��������� ����������������7�������9T ��M�����������77 ���1��� ����� ���������������!���������������7������77 ���1� �������� ���94��C��������7��� 7�� "������������������ �"���������1����u������������199����������7������������������v��7���!��$��������� 7"���������7�������� ��� ���9<��:�������" �������7��������������������������������������"�������������������77 ���1������

[Y\d�w�g�xcyXWcW_dYdZi_z�[Y\d_W\̀{Zỳz�x_|ẀdcW_d}~

Page 330



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

���� !"#$��%#&'�(#)*$�%&+,-),���	��.���/�0�����������1���	���	
2�0
1�/�3�
����� 45

Page 331



���������	�
��
���
������������������������������������������������������ ��!�����"#$������%�����&'(�)������*+� ��&&��!�����",$	�-���.����������/0� '����'1����2324��5�� '�����6���'���5�� '��78'6��8'������9��81:����;�����
���;
���<�0#4������)���='�����=�8'8�>)�/?@/2���''1A�<����������B���CD�
�����������E�F���'='���1���'�5���G����������&���8��������78'6��8'�HI+'1������J'1��=�6������%���'��+G��)�6��&������������K���������8������9��81�%�''����������������� ��L'�6��81������M������&�N'681������L�6���&���8��+����&�6���1����������������������'������O� '����&'�6�1�'8��������&���81���8���8�1+���+�8��&�>+�68��&1������P�1������H6G�%�����&'(�)������P�1������Q6'�'6&�M'�=��'�L��'��R'1'�=���������%�����>+���)� �1������5'��+�'1�1+� ��1�G'G����61?������������'S�����1�'��'1?��='�+'1���8������8��

;����T�* '�����������������'���������+��'1�� '���'��>'�(''��P+���M��''�?�Q�''� �66�R��8?�J+66������R��8���8�L��'N'68�R��83* '���'���������=�8'1�5�����8�='�1'����&'��5�5��G�6���8���5��G�6�����=���'1?�(�� ������������������������� ��!�����"#$����=�8��&�����G���������'&����6���'��1���'3* '���'�������6�)1�����G����������6'�����U��8��&�+����'��+��'8�=�'(1�5��G�� '����)����� '�78'6��8'��P�661�O���'��5�� '��')�V������6�P'����&'���6+'13��'=��+16)� �G'���� ��1'������&?�� '���'������ �1�1�G�����1�����'='��1���8�� '��)�6��&�����'��+G������?�>�� �+��I+'��11'�1��5��'&����6��G�������'3A
���
�P�1���)� '68�>)�G'G>'�1��5�� '�W�+������GG+���)���8����'1�� ���� '���'��(�1�+1'8�5�����G���&���8������>��''13X��"YZ@?�G'G>'�1��5�� '����F���F��F���?�[���+�)�F��F���?���8��� '��7>���&���6�H68'�1�5��G�� '����� \('1���5�� '�1���'����='�&'8� '�'��������'1��5���7>���&���6�9��8�R�& �13�* �1�1���8�+6��G��'6)�6'8����� '���11�&'��5�� '�M7����F���F��F����9��8�R�& �1�7��?�"YZ"���8�� '�'1��>6�1 G'����5�� '�5�'' �68�7>���&���6�9��81����� '�����\('1���5�� '�1���'3]��"/�E�)�0@0"?�� '�W�+������GG+���)���8�� '�%��)��5�78'6��8'���66�>�����='6)�8'6�='�'8�� '�N�1��W�+����W��86��������� ��%+6�+��6�K+������F'������%�����&'(�)������*+� ��&&��!�����",$3�̂����
���* '���'�������'����1���1����&���6�1 ��'���8�8'1�&���5��G�%�6��'6�L�66��G�9�& �_1��6��3* '���'��1�+� ��5�K�������%�''�� �681�1���'���8��������6�1�&��N����'?� �1���&�� '����+&+��6�7�>���̀�)��6�����&1����"ZZY���8��'=�=��&�� 'G����� '�6��'�"YZ@13�* '�"ZZ@1�Q���81���8?���������������R��'��+�1'��1��'&�1�'�'8��1���M���'�P'����&'�9�1�'8��6��'3a
����
����* '���'��������G���1'1��5���'��(��86��81���8�1����1�(�� �����������������8��3�* '�'���'��(��(��'���+�1'1�

b������
��
�����������

cdefghde�igjk�lgmdn�ogmgpeqemr�srjgrept�u�vwxgjdn�yz{|

igjr�}�u�~q�feqemrgrhwm��igjrmejn�h�n��~m�enrqemr�|

Page 332



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

���� !����"�#�"$%&$��%&$' (%&!���"�#)�*�+)&(,�-�""*�)&(�.��)&%$�-�""*/0��%,�$�)�)$�"�%,"(�12�')�!"��3"&�!�),,"(�,3)$",4�!"&"�)''2� ,"(�5���,3���%&!�)$�%6%�%",4���)��)�"�,"7%8"&$'�,"(�12�3�"(�7%&)&�'2�&)�%6"�!��6",��5���"",/9%$���%)�#)�*:#)*)3)*)&��%�;#)�*�<=>�$�&�)%&,�)�?"2�.%�(%6"�,%�2�@�")�A%����"7&)&��)&(��)�"�6"!"�)�%�&�%&$' (%&!�%73���)&��!�),,')&(,/�BC3)&,%�&��5���"�?"2�.%�(%6"�,%�2�@�")�)%7,�����",���"���"�,%�"����)�D�"2�.�C�D�),,2�E��(')&(/F�"�"�A%''�1"�)&��&!�%&!�$�77%�7"&�������"�7)&)!"7"&���5���"�$�&,"�6)�%�&�6)' ",�5�����"��"7&)&��6"!"�)�%�&�,%�"�)&(���"�3���"$�%�&��5���"�-�"G "�"(�-�33"��. ��"�H2�;+ $%)�'%71)�%)>��)1%�)���%&���"�3)�*/-)��%)!"A)2�#)�*:F ��)&!!)�;#)�*�<I>�$�&�)%&,�,%!&%J$)&��)�"),��5��"7&)&��&)�%6"�6"!"�)�%�&�$ ��"&�'2�7)&)!"(�12�$�77 &%�2�6�' &�""�,4�)&�)6"& "��5�7)� �"�B'7���"",�)&(���"� 33"���")$�",��5���"�#)�*�+)&(,�-�""*�&"�A��*/�F�"�#�"$%&$��)',��)$$�77�()�",�3')2%&!�J"'(,4�$� ��,�)&(�,3)$",�5���)$�%6"�)&(�3),,%6"�)$�%6%�%",/F�"�K/L��"$�)�"�#)*)3)*)&��%�E"�')&(,�%,�)�*"2�5")� �"��5���"�#�"$%&$��)&(�3��6%(",�A)�"��G )'%�2�%73��6"7"&�,4�5) &)��)1%�)�4�H��(��%,*�7%�%!)�%�&�)&(�)��%!�8G )'%�2�&)� �)'�),,"��5���� �(�����"$�")�%�&�)&(�5) &)��)1%�)�/�

@�&"�A��*��5�3)��A)2,�3��6%("�)$$",,����)&(����� !����"�#�"$%&$��%&$' (%&!�3�%7)�2�$�77 �"���� �",�5��7���"�"),�"�&�, 1 �1,/@$�%6%�2��$$ �,����� !�� ����"�#�"$%&$��A%����%!��("7)&(�( �%&!�"6"&�,�)&(�5",�%6)',/@7"&%�2�)&(�)$�%6%�%",�A%''�1"�%&���( $"(�7��"�1��)('2�)$��,,���"�#�"$%&$��%&�)$$��()&$"�A%�����"�LMLK�N),�"��#')&�5���9%$���%)�#)�*:#)*)3)*)&��%�;#)�*�<=>�A�%$��3�%��%�%,",���"�5�''�A%&!�3�%&$%3'",OP����."�!�""&"�4�$��'"��)&(�7��"�$'%7)�"��",%'%"&��P����-"'"1�)�"�$ '� �)'�)&(�,�$%)'�6)' ",�P����-�&�%& "����3��6%("�,3)$"�5��� &3��!�)77"(�������$�77 &%�2� ,"�)&(�$�&&"$�%�&����&)� �"�P����."�1%�(%6"�,"�)&(�%73��6"�@("')%("Q,��3"&�!�),,2�������A��(')&(�')&(,$)3"�$�)�)$�"��P����#��6%("�$�&,%,�"&��G )'%�2�$�77 &%�2�,3���,�������)&(��"$�")�%�&�P����."�)�3)�*���)��)���)$�,�)&(�, 33���,�)�(%6"�,"��������)&!"��5�"6"&�,�)&(�)$�%6%�%",/��RSTUVSW�XYS�Z[\]̂V+�$)�"(��33�,%�"�)&�%&$�"),%&!'2�(%6"�,"�,� ��8"),��$�77 &%�2�)&(�"C3)&(%&!��")'���)&(�7"(%$)'�3�"$%&$��%&���"�$%�24�)&(�%&$�"),%&!�%&&"�8, 1 �1)&��",%("&��)&(�A��*"��3�3 ')�%�&,�%&�_&'"24�B),�A��(�)&(�̀ 'A%$�������"�,� ���)&(�"),�4���"�9%$���%)�#)�*�#�"$%&$��A%''�$�&�%& "����)���)$�� ,"�,�5���)�(%6"�,"��)&!"��5�,3����)&(��"$�")�%�&�3 �, %�,

��	��a���b�c�����������d���	���	
e�c
d�b�f�
����� gg

Page 333



���������	
������
��
���������������������������������������������� ���������������������������!��������������������� ����"����������������������������#��������!��$�%����������������������������������&'
�(�
)�*+���,�-�	()�(�
)�.
����
/����
���	)�,
���0���)����������!������������������ �� ���������������������������������" ���1����� ����� �������2������������3����� ���������������������������4������������������������&5�6�7�������������8�����8���9 :�;�����< ����9 :�#��� ��=�!������#��� �>���?�����9���������������������� �@����#�"���A�1������!�������B ����8�������2�����������:�������������������������������� ���������������������������������2�������C�����������!��$�%�����D���$���������� ��E ����D����� �����:������!�$���$������F���������������$�� ������������ �������������:: ���1��������������������������������G ��8�����������������������������������H��������!��$I!�$���$������J!��$�KLM����� �������������������������������������1������"����������1����������������������������N ����D�������������O�:�#��� �P ����6������������������������������� ������ ��������:: ���1������������	
�������.
�
)�Q����
R��.�����R�
S5T ����� ��������C �����������9����������O��������9����55��U��������9���������5; ��V��:����W�����������#��������8������D� "XYZ[\]YZ�̂\_̀�a\bYc�d\b\eZfZbg�hg_\gZei�j�klm\_Yc�nopq

5> ��r���$��������s�5@ �����������������������������"����J�������������������1M5B ��V��:���9�������8��������������������5E ��� ��������< ���1�C����:��$5G ��!������������������� �� ����������1��������������������������:�������5N ��O�������r� ����r������!���������=�� �� ����" �������5P ��C ����t1��������������u���;T��U����v ����1�9��1w"�2�F����������:���������������	
������
���
���'��x
�y��;;��z:���������������������$������� ������t�����"������������������3��1�����������7����������� ������������:�������������1�;>��D���������������������������2�������������������$�1����������������������������������������������������1�������������1����:������"� ������ " �"�;@��D�������������{������������|����������������$���������$�1����$���������1������������$�;B��z�������������������������������������������1����#��������!��$�%�����������)
����
���*/
���;E��D�����������������1������������� ��������������"�����������9��������������������7������#��������!��$�%������������"1������������������:: ���1�� ";G��D��������V��:���!��$�������:��9����?�:����8��������U ���<������������1�;N��D����������� ������1�U "����������������������������������$�����;P��z:���:�����:����������������������������:������:���������>T��D����� ��������$������<#�6�����<�����C��������:���:�������� �����������:: ���1������������ �����������������������������:���:�����������:�������:����>5��8������������:��������"���$���������������!�$���$������F������

\̂_g�}�j�~f�[ZfZbg\g]lb��̂\_gbZ_c�]�c��~b�ZcgfZbg��

Page 334



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

���� !�"�#"!$�#!%��&�� ��	��'���(�)�����������*���	���	
+�)
*�(�,�
����� -.

Page 335



���������	�
��
���
���������������������������������������������� !" ���#�����$%&�������'( ��������)����* ���"�����#�����$+&������� �,��-���'������.!'�(� / !" ���#�����$0&	�1���2����������+3�4�5!���6�-��0708�-9�!4��!-!��������-9�!4���:���� ��������;���6<����=�����
���=
���>�%?8�5��-"'�5-@���"�-@ ����A'�3BC%D�!���6E�>����������F���GH�
�����������)�I-���@��!�6"�5�6������J-!�� 5�K�����������'( ���;���������L���! ����� 4���.�5��6 @�����'6"�5���������!��M���" 6!����������5������N� ���64 "�O�����������:���� ���J-*� �,�K��A������P"-�! �,�Q���6������O�-@���R�6!����',�-���������S/J�4��A�6*�'�!��������!���5���T !������J�6��!A����5-��!6�����6��!��"���������K-�!� A�!-�'�4 6!-� 5�9��!���6�6�54��6�(�(-� ��6B��������T-! 5�6"�5 �6B��@����6�����5-�� �-�6

=����U�S���-9�!4��(-6!�@ 6 !������5 �5!6�-9�!4��:���� ��������;���6B�!4��R�6!������;���6�4-6!6���� @��6�����,��-9��@��!6� �5��� �,�!4��:���� ���N� �,��N�6! @��B�(-!-����5 �,B�!4��:�6!��� ���.�!����! -����V4����W�'�#RM��6!� ��&�R@��!�����@�� -�6�9--������5-((�� !'�9�6! @��67V4�6���@��!6��!!��5!����,����(A��6�-9��-5��B���! -�������� �!����! -����@ 6 !-�6�!-� !6�,������6M��������!!��5! @��6�( /��!���������65�"�67V4�����5 �5!�"�-@ ��6�����'�,�!�*�'� �!-�!4��5 !'�9�-(���6!����:���� ��7E
���
�V4�����5 �5!�*�6���(�I-��5�(" �,������#$X+C6Y$ZCC&�9-�����������-"�������*-����4�@��A������������-9�6*�("����� �,� �!-�!4��*�!��4-��� ��!4��J-!�� 5�O�����6�"�-@ � �,���*���!4�-9�9--��������6-��5�67V4��[���5��-9���\�5! -�]� ���'( ��������)����* ���"�����#�����$+&� 6������ 5�!���6"�5��9-��(�(A��6�-9�!4��P!-����O�����! -�6B�����!4� ��9�( �'B�9� ���6�����* ����5-((�� !'�!-�(��!�����6�""-�!���54�-!4��7�V4��6"�5�� 6���6 ,����!-�4 ,4� ,4!�!4�� ("-�!��!�� ��6�A�!*����!4����!�����*-��������5��!������ @�6�-9�:A-� , ��������V-���6�P!�� !�.6�������"�-"��67�̂����
���S@���������������������� !" ���#�����$%&B��'( ��������)����* ���"�����#�����$+&������ �,��-���'������.!'�(� / !" ���#�����$0&���!� ��!4� ��-� , ����64�"������9-�(��6���@ 6���A'�K-�-����_ �� �(�; ,4!7�V4���� 6��@ ���5��-9�6�A6!��! ���!����"���! �,�!4�!��55-��6�* !4�!4��,�������6"�! �������6"�5 �6� �!��!�-9�J�-*�B����̀����������, ��'B� �5��� �,�"�!4*�'��� ,�(��!6�����6"�5 �6�"���! �,6�!4�!��� �9-�5����6�( /9-�(���a 5!-� ���6!'��7:�5�-66/�T ���"�!4*�'�� ����* !4�*4 !��5����6�� 66�5!6����������������� !" ���#�����$%&�����4�6�A�����@ ���!�6 �5��!4��$X?C67V*-�5�-66/�T ���"�!4*�'6B��@ ���!�6 �5��!4��$X?C6B������ ����* !4�S� ��!��������6�����_4 !��K����6B�� 66�5!��'( ��������)����* ���"�����#�����$+&7�J-!4�"�!4*�'6�5-�6! !�!�� ("-�!��!����5 �5!���6!4�! 5�������6 ,�����(��!67


̂����
���b
������������

cdefghde�igjk�lgmdn�ogmgpeqemr�srjgrept�u�vwxgjdn�yz{|

igjr�}�u�~q�feqemrgrhwm��igjrmejn�h�n��~m�enrqemr�z

Page 336



���������	
����

������������������������������������������
�����
 !���"��!��##!��!"��������������#��#���"���#�����!��$�!��"
���
�������
������$�� !������!
��$��"����������$����!��
%&������#��#��#!�����
�'!#���(�����$�����#�
�! �
�$��)#��#�%�&���*���(!�
�����!�����&�!�$����"�+,���
�������!#���"������*���)��"��!�"%�&���-��.��(!�
������#����
��!.�"���"���,��������������
�������"�! ����"�������/�"���������������0����
�������
����������$�
���#����� �!������/����&!���*�����!��
��"��!��
��"����������1

%&���2��#�����*!�"�����"�3��������"�������#�������3���������������������������������������������������#!�
�"���"��!�,��! �#����������"���
�!��#����!����#����"������!��������'!#���(�����$�����#�
%&����������������������������������������������"�
�$�� ������
���#��"��$����������� !!�,��"$�
��
�$����!
��$��"��
���"�
��"�����������
!�#!�
�"���"��!�,��! �#����������"���
�!��#����!����#�%4567895:;�����"��������/�"���������������0����"�������������������������������������������
���#����"���"���$���������
�"�����
%/��$��!"����������������<��������������	���
�#����#����
�"�,�����$��!����$��

�"�
��#�
�
���<��#�!
�"�,�����"!�������������.��$�!.�
�! �����
%�+����
��#�
�����$����������
�"� !��
�!����$��#��.����
%�3�$��)#��������
�! �����.��.�$�����!����"���.�$�����!���=�
��������
��������#��"��$�����.��$��

�
%

&���
!�������
�#��!��! ����"��������/�"���������������0�� ��#��!�
��
����!������,��#�$��"����#!�������$���������<���������"��������������!
��>��"�����"���#��#� �#������
%?����#������! �2"����"�������'��"
�&�������"�������!����"�
������ ����������� !�#�����������!���<
!������"���
�<��
��#!���#��!�
%�&��
������!##������������"�)��"������������#��%2#��.���"�����!�������,������2"����"���.���
���������#��#����
�����!�������,
��
�������
�"�)��"�
�!����$���,
%&����������'��������������!@�#�����!�����$�! �����������������/�!
����"�A!����#�B���������,�������!������� ��������#��.������������"��������!.�"����#��#�%��CDEF;D8�GHD�IJ56K;�!������!��$�!�����������#���L
���
����"����/�����&!�����"�M!��!!"���!.�"����
��!�$�������
� !�������$����$����� ������! �����?�
�������'��"
���"�,���"��$�!����
���!=�������!������,���! �����
�����$!.����������.�
������
���
%&���+<A����,�
�����=���
�!��������$���"����������"����!�$����������������������������������������������#!��������!���.����
�$��)#��������#��!���!���������#��#�������"�.��!��������� �������������'!��N!������������
����������! ������#��.����
�!##�����$�������"��������/�"���������������0�%

OPQRSTPQ�USVW�XSYPZ�[SYS\Q]QŶ�_̂VŜQ\̀�a�bcdSVPZ�efgh

USV̂�i�a�j]kRQ]QŶŜTcYl�USV̂YQVZmTkZl�jYnQẐ]QŶ op

Page 337



���������	
������
��
���������������������������������������������� ���������������������������!��������������������� ����"����������������������������#��������!��$�%����������������������������������&'
�(�
)�*+���,�-�	()�(�
)�.
����
/����
���	)�,
���0���)����������!������������������ �� ���������������������������������" ���1����� ����� �������2������������3����� ���������������������������4������������������������&5��#������!���������6��7�����8��������� ��9��8�:�����%� ����������;��<��������=����>�����?��@� ������=����>�����A��%������!�������������� �B��C����������D��@#�E� ��> :����� �F��!��������������� �5G��8�:����������=1:����%�$�������������H���55����=�������2�����������:�������������������������������� ���������������������������������2�������E�����������!��$�%�����8���$���������� ��
IJKLMNJK�OMPQ�RMSJT�UMSMVKWKSX�YXPMXKVZ�[�\]̂ MPJT�_̀ab

	
�������.
�
)�c����
d��.�����d�
e56 ��f������� ��59 ��#��������7�������������� �5; ������ghig���������������������=1:����!��$jk ��������� �$��l!��$�gmn����� �����������$�3�����"������3�����3������������������� �����5? ��>������!��1��� ������� �����������������3������������������������5A ��k��������������:�:��������������� ��������"����$	
������
���
���'��o
�p��5B ��k�������������$����������"����1������� ��� ���"1����������������������!������������ ���������� "�����������$���H����������#��������E�������8� "5D ��8�����������:��������������������������������q��������$�5F ��8�������������r������������s������������6G ��%��$�����#��������!��$�%���������������1�)
����
���*/
���65��t��������:: ���1���������������������2������������������ "���:�66��@ ������������q���������������=1:����!��$�u���$69��=��������:: ���1�����������v ������u�������w��� �����!��1������������1�������� ���� �������������:��6;��k����������>������x����!��1��� �������������������������������� ���:"�����������:�����������������������������������6?��w����������������� ���1�������:�����������$�������$����u����=����1�!��$jw�1�:��q�������l!��$�gyn6A��C���� ������"��������� "��������������������#��������!��$�%������ ��� ������

OMPX�z�[�{W|LKWKSXMXN]S}�OMPXSKPT~N|T}�{S�KTXWKSX�_

Page 338



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

����� �!"�#�$%�� !&'($'� ��	��)���*�+�����������,���	���	
-�+
,�*�.�
����� /�

Page 339



���������	�
��
���
������������������������������������������������ ���!�"��!��#�$$��%�����&'������(�)�����#����� *������$$��%�����+'������,����-�������� *��.���$$��%�����/'������0��..����� �.�)"��(�����%�����1'������2�3�-������� ����4�5�)��%�����6'������78��9$�-��:��-�� *4����..��%�����;'������78��9$�-��:��-�� ����.4��$$��%�����<'	�=���>����������</�8�?���������@@A��3��8������$�������3��8���B!�$��!�������2��!�C����D�����
���D
���E�++A�?���"#�?�-���"��-�!�!�F#�1G+H+������I�E����������J���KL�
�����������04�8�M�.�?��$�#.��4�!������:$�-����$�#.��4�!������B!�$��!��BN4���?�O���������������8�B!�$��!����.�����������P"������!���?��������"$�#��.�Q�$!�������R�����!�"���4���.������*�#�0��!�-�����#�B����������0��!�-�����O��F���9S�����$�����.������O�����F4���#�8������?�3���4�����4?8�����T���?��������"�?���G��-��4�����!�?����!���

D����U�78������8������2��!����?�)"�����8�������F��V����W�S?����P����������8��V��������8���������?������3�M�?*����������!��V��8�R�?���#�,��!�����8������X��78��"��?��?���??�))�!�������!�-��������.���3�3�?�$��������!��?��-������3���"4F$�?�4��X�78������?$4!���8����?������.$#�"�"4$�������8�B!�$��!����.�����G��8��$��.��8�����"�!!�?�����!��8��P�����8�����.��$����!�9$�-��:��-����S�M����7����?����!��8����!�-�$�")�����3��8��B!�$��!��BN4���?�O�����X�R�.8�N4�$��#���?���������"�?����T����V��8����8�����?��?��������-������8�B!�$��!����!��8���"����"�?�����!���3��!Y�����.�?�))4������XI
���
�78�������.�����$���3����?���8���"����������8����.4$���4����3��8��B!�$��!�������2��!�������?�)"��.��������!��8����"��F�F$#�V�4$!�8�-��F����?�)"�����������8�����?��?�X�Z��8���F��������!��8���������$���$#��8���BF���.���$����!����4����"����!��8��4.8������������������� ���!�"��!��#�$$��%�����&'G�(�)�����#����� *������$$��%�����+'G�,����-�������� *��.���$$��%�����/'���!�0��..����� �.�)"��(�����%�����1'���!��8����8�#�V�4$!�8�-��F�������!������$�84����.�?�4���#X�P�)������������8�����?��?��)�#�?�������BF���.���$�F4���$�X[�����
���78�����?��?��!��������?���������#�P��������2�?�$�R�����.���$�?��G�8�V�-���*��.���$$��?���������8���PB�5�����,����-���������V8�?8�V�����)�����!������P�����R�����.���$�?��F#��8��O��#��3�B!�$��!�X9-���$$��8�����?��?�����������8�����.���$��8�"����!�3��)����!�-���!�F#�O�$���$�5�$$��)�2�.8�X�78����$#�-�������������8�����$�.�)�����3�2�3�-���,��!�����������?��V��8�M��������8�,��!G�F4���������.���$��$�.�)����������$$��-�!����F#��8�������������3���)����3��8�����.���$�������������"$�����.�X78��������-�!��?���3�4�!��$#��.�"$�����.����4?�4�����F#�0��V����!���$\����8��4.8�4���8�����?��?���V8�?8�?����������-�����#��3�-�.����������!����4��$��$�)������3�8�����.��-�$4�X

]���
��
���̂
������������

_̀abcd̀a�ecfg�hcìj�kciclamain�onfcnalp�q�rstcf̀j�uvwx

ecfn�y�q�zm{bamaincndsi|�ecfniafj}d{j|�zi~ajnmain��

Page 340



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

���� !�"#��$%&�'(&)*+),�*-�)%.(.),&(*-&/�01�2.(3&�45&+�3(.--&/�-5.)&-�-&6*7&+)24-&/�01�5(&/46*+.+,21�+.,*8&�3(48&-�49�,(&&-:�;*,%�45&+�-5.)&-�3&+&(.221�<-&/�94(�-54(,*+3�.),*8*,*&-=>*3+*?).+,�.(&.-�49�+.,*8&�8&3&,.,*4+�.+/�(&8&3&,.,*4+�&@*-,=�$%&(&�.(&�,;4�A&1�B*4/*8&(-*,1�C(&.-�;*,%*+�,%&�'(&)*+),�;%*)%�;*22�)4+,*+<&�,4�0&�&+%.+)&/�.+/�5(4,&),&/=D*+&,&&+,%7)&+,<(1�5&(*6&,&(�52.+,*+3�)4+,.*+-�-46&�49�,%&�2.(3&-,�.+/�64-,�-*3+*?).+,�,(&&-�*+�,%&�'(&)*+),=E&+-&21�52.+,&/�5*+&-:�F&/�G<6-�.+/�><3.(�G<6-�-,.+/�*+�&@)&22&+,�)4+/*,*4+�.24+3�,%&�+4(,%�.+/�&.-,�5&(*6&,&(�49�,%&�'(&)*+),=$%&�G248&(�'2.13(4<+/�*-�-*,<.,&/�)&+,(.2�,4�,%&�;&-,&(+�5&(*6&,&(:�&-,.02*-%&/�*+�HIJK�;*,%�.�/4+.,*4+�9(46�,%&�,%&+�L4(/�M.14(�N%.(2&-�G248&(=�O+%.+)&6&+,-�,4�,%&�C/&2.*/&�'.(P�L.+/-�$(.*2�.+/�.2*3+6&+,�;*,%�,%&�+&;�C/&2.*/&�CQ<.,*)�N&+,(&�5(48*/&�,%&�6.*+�5&/&-,(*.+�.+/�)1)2*+3�.))&--�,4�,%&�'(&)*+),=$%&(&�*-�-46&�/*-,.+)&�0&,;&&+�,%&�9&;�54*+,-�49�.),*8*,1�,%.,�.(&�5(&/46*+.+,21�94)<-&/�.(4<+/�52.1-5.)&-:�,%&�D4(,%�C/&2.*/&�E43�'.(P�.+/�,%&C/&2.*/&�CQ<.,*)�N&+,(&=�R4(P-�.24+3�'(4-5&),�F4./�%.8&�*65(48&/�.))&--�,4�,%&�52.1*+3�)4<(,-=$%&�(&/&8&2456&+,�49�,%&�C/&2.*/&�CQ<.,*)�N&+,(&:�(&+&;.2�49�,%&�B<-%�M.3*)�'2.13(4<+/�.+/�,%&�C/&2.*/&�'.(P�L.+/-�*+,&(9.)&�;*22�5(48*/&�94(�.��2.(3&�%<0�;*,%*+�,%&�'(&)*+),=��STUV#T �WXT�YZ��[#$%&�C/&2.*/&�CQ<.,*)�N&+,(&�*+�E&+*-&�D4(,4+�'.(P\'.(/*5.(/*+1*22.�]'.(P�Ĵ�*-�)<((&+,21�<+/&(�(&/&8&2456&+,�01�,%&�-,.,&�348&(+6&+,=�$%&�+&;�9.)*2*,1�;*22�&+-<(&�,%*-�5.(P�(&6.*+-�.�P&1�/&-,*+.,*4+�*+�,%&�D4(,%�'.(P�L.+/-�'(&)*+),�.+/�;*22�5(48*/&�-,.,&�49�,%&�.(,�.Q<.,*)�9.)*2*,*&-�.,�.�(&3*4+.2�-).2&=

E&+*-&�D4(,4+�'.(P\'.(/*5.(/*+1*22.�]'.(P�Ĵ�.2-4�)4+,.*+-�.�(.+3&�49�(&)(&.,*4+.2�.+/�-54(,*+3�2.+/-).5&-�94(�94(6.2�.+/�*+94(6.2�9.)*2*,*&-�94(�)(*)P&,:�,&++*-�.+/�9.6*21�5*)+*)-=�$%&�B<-%�M.3*)�'2.13(4<+/:�;%*)%�*-�/<&�94(�(&+&;.2:�;*22�94(6�5.(,�49�.�;*/&(�<(0.+�/&-*3+�<53(./&�,4�E&+*-&�D4(,4+�'.(P\'.(/*5.(/*+1*22.�]'.(P�Ĵ�.-�5.(,�49�,%&�C/&2.*/&�CQ<.,*)�N&+,(&�(&/&8&2456&+,=G(4;*+3�(&-*/&+,�.+/�;4(P&(�545<2.,*4+-�*+�_*,̀(41:�'(4-5&),:�M&/*+/*&:�G*20&(,4+�.+/�D4(,%�C/&2.*/&�5(48*/&�.�-*3+*?).+,�4554(,<+*,1�,4�*+)(&.-&�.),*8.,*4+�49�,%&�'(&)*+),�01�.//*+3�8.2<&�,4�&@*-,*+3�9.)*2*,*&-�.+/�)(&.,*+3�+&;�.,,(.),*4+-=$%&�(&/&8&2456&+,�49�,%&�C/&2.*/&�CQ<.,*)�N&+,(&�*-�2*P&21�,4�/(.;�5&452&�*+,4�,%&�'(&)*+),�9(46�.)(4--�,%&�6&,(4542*,.+�.(&.=�$%&�54,&+,*.2�/&8&2456&+,�49�.�2*3%,�(.*2�)4++&),*4+�,%(4<3%�D4(,%�C/&2.*/&�&@,&+/*+3�+4(,%�.24+3�'(4-5&),�F4./:�,43&,%&(�;*,%�52.++&/�*65(48&6&+,-�,4�3(&&+;.1-�.+/�0*P&;.1-�)4++&),*+3�,%&�)*,1�;*,%�,%&�+4(,%&(+�.+/�;&-,&(+�-<0<(0-:�;*22�(&-<2,�*+�3(&.,&(�+<60&(-�49�5&452&�648*+3�,%(4<3%�,%&�'(&)*+),=$%&�(&+&;.2�49�,%&�B<-%�M.3*)�'2.13(4<+/�;*,%�)4+,&654(.(1�/&-*3+�.+/�,%&�*+)2<-*4+�49�4<,/44(�2&.(+*+3�4554(,<+*,*&-�;*22�5(48*/&�9<(,%&(�.),*8.,*4+�49�,%&�'(&)*+),=

��	��a���b�c�����������d���	���	
e�c
d�b�f�
����� gh

Page 341



���������	
������
��
���������������������������������������������� ���������������������������!��������������������� ����"����������������������������#��������!��$�%����������������������������������&'
�(�
)�*+���,�-�	()�(�
)�.
����
/����
���	)�,
���0���)����������!������������������ �� ���������������������������������" ���1����� ����� �������2������������3����� ����������������&4��5�����5���6 7������8#�9� ��6 7�:��;�����$�<������!����=��>����1�<������?����!��7�@��#������!����A��!����B��$����C��D���������������������B�E�����5���F��G����������� ���������������$����H� ������I��!����������������1�J��5�7����������������������4K��L������������������������44��8 ����6 7�����������4:��#������!��������������4=��M������������7����������������"��������N������5�"���������4@ ��8 ����������������������������������������������������� ���8#�O���������8#!;�����������4A��P���������������!��$�Q�����R	
�������.
�
)�S����
T��.�����T�
U4D ���8#�O��������������4F ��6������!��1��� ��VWXYZ[WX�\Z]̂�_Z̀Wa�bZ̀ZcXdX̀e�fe]ZeXcg�h�ijkZ]Wa�lmno

4I����M������L�1�9����������1�#���������M������9�2�O�������4J����G�"�������������>��p �����>������9 ����q1�r% ������7"����s:K��9����������>��"���PE����!���������?�7�����������8���:4��L�1�9����������1�#����tu�����tv::���!���������>������������w����x��5�7�����M������9�2�O�������	
������
���
���'��y
�z��:=����<������������������� ������%�������5����������� ��������!��$�%�����! �����:@��{������$���������7����������p ������ �������7�����������#��������!��$�%������������ ���� ������7���7����������������������!��������)
����
���*/
�����:AM������6������!��1��� ������������������������1��������� "����������7�������������:D��5���������������������7��������������p ������������1�r�������������� ���������������������������������$������ ��� �����������s��������?������;������!��$|!����������1�����r!��$�}s:F��5�� ������7���#��������#p �����>�����������!��$�%�����! �����:I��5���������9 ���M�����!��1��� ������� ��������7�����1�������������������� ��������� ��������������������� ������:J��8 �������������7��������������7����������H�������5���������!��$|L����������r!��$�vs��������"����������1~��� �������������� "��������������������77 ���1� ��=K ��<�����������������7�������� ����~ ����������������� ����������� ��������!��$�%�����! �����

\Z]e���h��d�YXdX̀eZe[j̀��\Z]èX]a�[�a���̀�XaedX̀e�o

Page 342



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

���� �!"�#�$"%&'�!�()*%)� ��	��+���,�-�����������.���	���	
/�-
.�,�0�
����� 12

Page 343



���������	�
��
���
������������������������������������������������ ��!���"�����#$	�%���&����������'()*�+,-���,�����.)'/��0��+,���������,���0���+,�1!,���!,������2�3!�4����5�����
���5
���6�7*)*/�-�3�89�-�:,��8��:�!,!�;9�7<(=.���,,�>�6����������?���@A�
�����������B ��0���C��D,<�#=C+��,�E��0�-����,���� "�,0,��,!�������FG���+�H����,I��3!�FJ���+�H����,I$����������7�E��0�-����,������G���+�1!,���!,�K��0�H��;+���,������L�����B,���-,�-����3��9��,33���-�����������M������-�J���3E �9��B,���-,�0,3-,�8����������H�3���;����9�+������-�0,����,����-+����,N���-��� �8,-�,�<��:,3�,���3!�-����!���������O,�3�3��:,E,�����3������P�, ���3!�:�����5����Q�B+,�K��0�2�3�����,-�3-���--�8�,���+,���,��;��!,�,!��;9�R���L,�������S��:,<������B,���-,<�T,U-����O��!<�V����3�B,���-,<�L�����B,���-,<�J���3E �9��B,���-,<�O��� �9���3,���3!�L�3�,W��,�O��!)

1--����!���3E������9�E��W3E��-��:���,������-���,!� ��+��+,�H��9��0�1!,���!,�K��0�2�3��<������������������� ��!���"�����#$����-+���-�,���,!�;9� �!,��8,3��8�-,��������3!,!�;9���E3�W-,3��;���,:��!����0����E,���,,�)�>
���
�1��8�����0��+,�O,!�X�3E�����S�,���3E��+�����,�������E3�W-�3�����X���3��8,�8�,��3!�8��9����-,3��������,��3������+��,!�+�����9)1�8�����3��0������� ��!������FG���:,�2�-����3I� �����-��,!��3��+���8�����3!�+�����8����3-,�����+,�X���3��-����3��9)�J�;���0�-,���-+�,���E�-���!,8��������9�,N���)�M�����9�+,�!�;9��,�;,����0��+,�X���3��-����3��9��3!�-��,���+����+��� ��������,�0���;�N�3E�����3��,3����8��3�����+,�#.YZ�)�G���+��0��+,� ,������ +,�,�1;���E�3���8,�8�,���,!����E��+,���3!� ,�,�3������� ,!����-���������+,�����+���!,��0��+,���:,���3��+,�,���9�#.ZZ�)[�� ����+,�8��-,��0��+,�W����H���3����[��3�J���,<�B�33�39� �!����3!����,��;,-��,���8��-,��0�+�3E�3E��0���1;���E�3����3!�\���8,�3�8,�8�,)���������\���8,�3��,���,�,3�<��+,���3!�-�8,��0��+,���,�� ���!�+�:,�;,,3�-+���-�,���,!�;9�O�:,��O,!�K����3!�J1�V��,�K���R��!��3!��3��+,�����+,�3��,-���3��0��+,�������3!�L���,,�V�N�R��!��3!��3��+,�3���+,�3��,-���3��0��+,�����)]�����
���G���+�1!,���!,�K��0�H����,�!,:,��8,!�,���9��3��+,�� ,3��,�+�-,3���9<�,N8�3!,!��3��+,�#.(Z�<��3!�0���+,��,N�,3!,!�3���+ ��!���3��+,�#.*Z�)�1������,������7�-����,�����+,�����+� ����!!,!��3��+,�#.YZ�)B+,�8��3��3E���8�,�,3�,!�����,�:�-,��+,�E��0�-����,� ����3���!�-,!�;9�1�E�����,�D,�<�0���� �3E�0����V�� 3I���8,-�,���,�,-���3�8��8����<�;����!�8�,!�����������+,�E��0�-����,�!,��E3)B+,���,�����+�E+�9���E3�W-�3������+,�,���9�+�����9��0�1!,���!,I��,���;���+�,3�<�;,�3E���-��,!��3��3,��0��+,����3����3�8��������,��0���������1!,���!,)

�̂�&�_�������������

àbcdeab�fdgh�idjak�ldjdmbnbjo�pogdobmq�r�studgak�vwxy

fdgo�z�r�{n|cbnbjodoetj}�fdgojbgk~e|k}�{j�bkonbjo��

Page 344



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

���� !�"#��$%&�'()*+,(-&�.+�-/&*01.)()2'3�.//.4(2&*�40'5�5(./6(3+�()*�4/&&)+�+&2�(10)4+2�()�0-&)�600*'()*78/&(2&/�9(/.&23�.+�-/0-0+&*�2%/0:4%�2%&�.)2/0*:,2.0)�05�;0/1('�<(/=+�()*�()�:/>()�(**/&++�20�2%&�&*4&+�05�2%&�</&,.),27$%&/&�.+�,://&)2'3�9&/3�'.22'&�(,,&++�(/0:)*�0/�2%/0:4%�2%&�40'5�'.)=+7?�):1>&/�05�=&3�,0))&,2.0)+�(/&�-/0-0+&*�-/09.*.)4�'.)=+�20�@0/2%�?*&'(.*&A�B0)32%0)�<(/=C$:'3(�D(/*'.�E<(/=�FGH�()*�B06*&)7�;0/1('.+&*�&*4&�-(2%+�(/&�-/09.*&*�50/�.1-/09&*�-&*&+2/.()�(1&).237$%&�50,:+�6.''�>&�0)�.1-/09&*�&I.+2.)4�%:>+�+:,%�(+�2%&�@0/2%�?*&'(.*&�80'5�J0:/+&�J':>�K0:+&�20��.),/&(+&�(1&).23�6.2%.)�2%&�</&,.),27
LMNO#M �PQM�RS��T#UI-()*.)4�/&+.*&)2�()*�60/=&/�-0-:'(2.0)+�.)�B06*&)�()*�B/01-20)A�()*�(�1(2:/.)4�-0-:'(2.0)�.)�@0/2%�?*&'(.*&�6.''�5:&'�2%&�*&1()*�50/�(�>/0(*&/�/()4&�05�/&,/&(2.0)('�()*�+-0/2.)4�(,2.9.2.&+A�-(/2.,:'(/'3�.)�2%&�)0/2%&/)�+&,2.0)+�05�2%&�</&,.),27�$%&�B06*&)�V/>()�W.''(4&�*&9&'0-1&)2A�&I2&)+.0)�05�2%&�?*&'(.*&�?X:(2.,�J&)2/&�()*�/&9.2('.+(2.0)�05�2%&�Y.9&/>()=�.+�'.=&'3�20�(22/(,2�10/&�-&0-'&�E'0,('�/&+.*&)2+�()*�9.+.20/+H�.)20�2%&�</&,.),27�U+2(>'.+%.)4�>&22&/�5(,.'.2.&+�()*�,0))&,2.0)+�6.''�>&�()�.1-0/2()2�6(3�05�&),0:/(4.)4�-&0-'&�20�+2(3�'0)4&/�()*�&I-'0/&�2%&�*.9&/+&�,:'2:/('�()*�)(2:/('�'()*+,(-&+�2%(2�,%(/(,2&/.+&�<0++:1�<(/=C<./'2(6(/*'.�E<(/=�ZH7

��	��[���\�]�����������̂���	���	
_�]
̂�\�̀�
����� ab

Page 345



���������	
������
��
���������������������������������������������� ���������������������������!��������������������� ����"����������������������������#��������!��$�%����������������������������������&'
�(�
)�*+���,�-�	()�(�
)�.
����
/����
���	)�,
���0���)����������!������������������ �� ���������������������������������" ���1����� ����� �������2������������3����� ����������������&4��5�������6�1�7������� ��8��9��������!��������� �������:������������������� ������ "�� ��;��<�������!���������� ��=��>�������1��������������������������������?�@ABC�D��%�?��:>�������E ?������F�G�����H� ����<���"��$�I��E������ ���� ���������1� �J �K������$��� ������������������"����������������� �� ����������1��������������������1���?��� ���������3�?������"����������1���� ��3������ ������������ ����?����1L ��M2������������ ������������� ��������������������������������!��$�������������������������������?���?���3������?�����������1���������������4N�G�����H� ����<���"��$�44����>�������H��������<����>����
OPQRSTPQ�USVW�XSYPZ�[SYS\Q]QŶ�_̂VŜQ\̀�a�bcdSVPZ�efgh

	
������
���
���'��i
�j��48 ����5�������������$����������"����1��������$��������������� ����� ��������������� ���������������������������4; ��!������������?������"�������5����k����l������ ����l����>���������$�����������G�����#����������E����H� ������ "���?�4= ����>������������������������?�m����>�����������������E����H� �������������������6��1�����!��$n� �1��m������o!��$�pBq���������������������"�����4D ����H�������H��������>�������������G�����#��������r�����1�>������3����s�����"�1�������������?? ���1����������������6��1�����!��$n� �1��m������o!��$�pBq�����6������)
����
���*/
���4F ���<?������������������?����1����������?? ���1��� ������t������5������������4I ���> �������������?������������������ ������������G�����#��������E����%��$��������� ����3��� "�� �������� �����������������������"������������� �������������������������1������������������������������4J ����<����������������� ������������������������ � ��� ����������3����������������G�����H� ���4L ���#������$����������������?���������������������������������������?�����?���

USV̂�u�a�v]wRQ]QŶŜTcYx�USV̂YQVZyTwZx�vYzQẐ]QŶ{f

Page 346



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

����� !"#$�%&'(!"() ��	��*���+�,�����������-���	���	
.�,
-�+�/�
����� 01

Page 347



���������	�
��
���
��������������������������������������������� !���"��#!$�%�����&'(	�)���*����������+,��-.���-/����'0'1��2���-�����!���-���2�3#-!�$#-����-������4��#/5����6�����
���6
���7�8'091�.���:��.�;-��:��;$#-#�<��&=8,+���--/>�7����������?���@A�
�����������B$;-������-�/�%C����D$�������$(=�����-�/�4��-=��� ����-�/�"-$�������4��E-��:-��D��#!��#���-�/���#�/���#/��2���--/��� �2��$/���$.=�<����$.�!���#��-/��-�$.�F-�$�������G;-���/:�.-�2���!��E-�F /$.�2-/�$;�!/=�;$/$�$�E�� .$�. /-/���#�F����/F�!!-��.�FF �$���-;-��/������H�#-!�<����:��#=�:!��/:�.-/=�:$.�$.�E�� �#/=��$�/�������4-��������$#-�2�.$!$��������I����$< ������$/���$.�2-�� �-/�/ .���/�-J��$.�� /:-.$-/=��;-� -/���#�.���$#��/������B-F�����;-E-���$����������!$.-������.�/������K!#�3#-!�$#-�L��!

6����M���-���-.$�.���.. :$-/���-���-��<��#-�-#�<��������-���.-=������B��#=���-�B���!�3#-!�$#-�N�/:$��!���-.$�.�=�H���-O��-�B��#=�"���H-F��$�!�P�$;-=�H$!#�-#�B��#���#��������B��#0���#$�$���!!��/-�;$�E��/����-.�-��$���!�/:�.-�2���<������-�D$#-��F-���:�!$����.�FF �$�����#�!�.�!/�2��F���-�I$�$-/��2�"-/������-�/���#�I���!-/�Q� ��=���-���-.$�.��<��/�/�:��F$�-������ ��!�2-�� �-/0��-�/ ��� �#$�E����#���#���$!�$�2��/�� .� �-=���/�D-!!��/���-�B$;-������-�/�C����D$�������$�$�/-!2=��:�/-��..-//$<$!$���.��!!-�E-/�2���F�����2���-�:���R/������.�$��/=�:���$. !��!��2����-��<��.�FF �$�$-/�$��S�����3#-!�$#-=���-<�����=�N$�#F��/�=����F:���=���#���D#-�0���$/�$// -�$/�:���$. !��!��/$E�$O.����.��/$#-�$�E���-�!$F$�-#��;�$!�<$!$����2�T �!$����:-��/:�.-/�2�����-/-�.�FF �$�$-/0��-���-.$�.��/-�;-/���-�!-$/ �-���#��-.�-��$����--#/��2���-�.�FF �$������� E����-�:��;$/$����2�2�.$!$�$-/�$�.! #$�E����--�/�..-��:$�.�-/=��D��:!��E�� �#/=�<���$�E�!��-=�Q���-�����=���-�3#-!�$#-������4��#/����$!���#���-�B$;-������-�/�4$�-��������:���0�U����/�/���� F<-���2�!$.-�.-���!#-�/���#�$/�F�V�����#� �$T -�!�.��$���2��������E-��2�.�FF �$���-;-��/0>
���
���-������$/����D���/���������������� !���"��#!$�%�����&'(=���-�C� ����.�F:��-����2�D�$.��!��/-!������/!��-/��/�W<! -�E F�:!�.-R0�� !���"��#!$���/�/$E�$O.��.-��/���-��2���-�F����:���/�D�$.��.�F:�$/-���-�3#-!�$#-������4��#/��/���:!�.-�D�-�-���-�C� ����:-�:!-�!$;-#03!��E���-�C����D$�������$������!�.��$���.�!!-#��$!���"�#!$=���-�O�/����-�X��F-#�WS��$;-�4�.��$��R����W3<��$E$��!�4�.��$��R�D�/�2��F�!!��-/��<!$/�-#���#�$��-�#-#�<��.�!��$�!�E�;-��F-��/����.��.-�����-�!�.�!�3<��$E$��!�:-�:!-�$����-�:!�.-���#�:��;$#-�-# .��$��0�L$;-����-��-/��$.�$��������-$��D����2�!$2-=�C� ������#�SE���$�#V-�$�:-�:!-�#$#�����.��:-���-0�3����$/�!�.��$��=�$��YZ9+=�.�$!#�-��D-�-�/-:����-#�2��F���-$��:��-��/���#��-!�.��-#=�.�-��$�E���-�O�/���2���-�Q��!-��L-�-���$��/0���$/�!�.��$�����/�/����E�. !� ��!�;�! -/������-�C� ������#�Q� ���3 /���!$���3<��$E$��!�.�FF �$�$-/0���-���-.$�.��$/�. !� ��!!��/$E�$O.�������C� ����:-�:!-=�$�.��:����$�E�/-;-��!�-!-F-��/��������-��-!-;��������-�$��E-�F���E-F-���:!���$�E=�$�.! #$�E[

\��7�
����
�����������

]̂_̀ab̂_�cade�faĝh�iagaj_k_gl�mldal_jn�o�pqrad̂h�stuv

cadl�w�o�xkỳ_k_glalbqgz�cadlg_dh{byhz�xg|_hlk_gl}s

Page 348



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

��������� �!"#$%&�"'%'("�)*�'���+#,�+-�.%/0"�%/1��/,#+)/"��� #/$&(1#/2�/%'#,��,�2�'%'#)/-�%"")$#%'�1� �!"#$%&�� �,#1�/$��3"($��%"�'+%1#'#)/%&�.(+#%&"�%/1�� %+$�%�)&)2#$%&�"#'�"4������5#"')+#$�%"")$#%'#)/"�)*�'���%+�%�%"�%/�#6 )+'%/'��  &%$��)*� +�7$)&)/#%&��%.#'%'#)/-�$�+�6)/!�� %/1��(/'#/28���"��*%$')+"�6%0��'���9%+0��:(%&&!�#6 )+'%/'�*)+�'���*('(+��%"�%/�)/2)#/2� %+'�)*�;%(+/%�$(&'(+%&�&#*��%/1�+�&%'#)/"�# �')�'��#+�$(&'(+%&�&%/1"$% �-�%/1�"�)(&1�.��$)/"#1�+�1�#/�6%/%2�6�/'�)*�'���9%+0�%/1� +)<�$'� &%//#/28=>?@ABCD��E)/!'�)/�9%+0F�(&!%�G%+1&#�39%+0�HI4�$)/"#"'"�)*�%��#2�&!�6)1#J�1�&%/1"$% ��'�%'��K �+#�/$�1�$)6 &�'��$&�%+#/2�1(+#/2�'���#/#'#%&�!�%+"�)*�$)&)/#%&�"�''&�6�/'8�G�#&��'���9%+0� )""�""�"�2�/�+%&�" %'#%&�#/'�2+#'!�)*�'���*)+6�1�,#"�1�.!�L)&)/�&�G#&&#%6�M#2�'�#/��#"�N1�&%#1��9%+0�M%/1"�%/1�L#'!�M%!)('��%"�.��/�"&)O&!�+�1($�1�),�+�'#6�8����)&#,�� &%/'%'#)/-�N1�&%#1��P%)&-�Q%#&O%!�&#/�"�%/1�6%+"�%&&#/2�!%+1"�+�R�$'�2),�+/6�/'�#/*+%"'+($'(+���#"')+!�'�%'�(/1�+ #//�1�'���1�,�&) 6�/'�)*�'���"'%'�8E)/!'�)/�9%+0F�(&!%�G%+1&#�39%+0�HI4��%"��#"')+#$�"#2/#J$%/$��%/1�O%"�'���,�/(��*)+�$%''&��%/1�"��� �')�.��%2#"'�1-�O%'�+�1�%/1�2+%S�1�%O%#'#/2�"%&��)+�"&%(2�'�+#/2�#/�'���T&%(2�'�+�5)("�8�U&#,�"�O�+��%&")��K'�/"#,�&!� &%/'�1-�6%#/'%#/�1�%/1��%+,�"'�1�.!�N1�&%#1��P%)&� +#")/�+"8����U&#,��9&%/'%'#)/"�%+��%�"#2/#J$%/'�6%/#*�"'%'#)/�)*�'����)+'#$(&'(+%&�%1,%/$�6�/'�%/1�,#"#)/�)*�'����6�+2#/2�$)&)/!8����9+�$#/$'�$)/'%#/"�T'%'��5�+#'%2��9&%$�"�%/1�#6 )+'%/'�;%(+/%�%/1�V(+) �%/�%+$�%�)&)2#$%&�*�%'(+�"8WCDXYZCAB��E)/!'�)/�9%+0�9+�$#/$'�#"�$(++�/'&!�"�2+�2%'�1�#/')�&%+2��%+�%"�)*�) �/�" %$��("�1�*)+��,�/'"-�'��� &%!" %$��%/1�"(++)(/1"-�U&1�N1�&%#1��P%)&�%/1�'���+#,�+�$)++#1)+8����9+�$#/$'�#"�$(++�/'&!�"�2+�2%'�1�#/')�&%+2��%+�%"�)*�) �/�" %$��("�1�*)+��,�/'"-�'��� &%!" %$��%/1�"(++)(/1"-�'���U&1�N1�&%#1��P%)&�%/1�'���+#,�+�$)++#1)+8

P+�%'�+�#/'�2+%'#)/�)*�" %$�"�#"�%$�#�,�1�'�+)(2��*)+6%&� %+0"-�O#'��#/$+�%"�1�%$'#,%'#)/�')�'���/)+'��%/1�$)//�$'#)/�O#'��'���U&1�N1�&%#1��P%)&�')�'���")('�8L(++�/'�6),�6�/'�#"�/)'�O�&&�1�J/�1�%/1�%$$�""�')�")6��%+�%"�#"� +).&�6%'#$8�;�!�$)//�$'#)/"�$%/�.��#/,�"'#2%'�1�&#/0#/2�;%++%O#++%�9%+#�')�9)+'�Q)%18[6 +),#/2�'���6),�6�/'�/�'O)+0�%/1�$)//�$'#)/"�&#/0#/2����.%+')/�')�\)+'��N1�&%#1��O#&&�.��%/�)/2)#/2� +#)+#'!85(."�%+��$(++�/'&!�*)$("�1�')�'���/)+'��+/�%/1�")('��+/� )+'#)/"�)*�'���9+�$#/$'�O#'��6#/#6%&��(."�#/�'���$�/'+�89+),#1#/2�%�2+�%'�+�/(6.�+�)*�R�K#.&���(."-�" �$#J$%&&!�+�"'�/)1�"-�O#&&�.��%/�)/2)#/2� +#)+#'!�')�"�+,��'����K %/1#/2�L#'!�)*�G�"'��)++�/"-�L#'!�)*�L�%+&�"�T'(+'�%/1�E)O1�/�]+.%/�̂#&&%2��$)66(/#'#�"�%/1�%$'#,%'��'���+#,�+��12��%/1�$�/'+��)*�'���9+�$#/$'��_?̀aB?Y�b@?�cdCDeB����E)/!'�)/�9%+0�9+�$#/$'�O#&&�$)/'#/(��')�"���"#2/#J$%/'�$�%/2��1+#,�/�.!�'���"'%'��2),�+/6�/'f"�\�O�G)6�/g"�%/1�L�#&1+�/g"�5)" #'%&�)/�'���*)+6�+�9)&#$��E%++%$0"�"#'�8G�#&���K %/1#/2�+�"#1�/'�%/1�O)+0�+� ) (&%'#)/"�#/�'���#//�+�O�"'�+/�"(.(+."�%/1�\)+'��N1�&%#1�� +),#1��%�")&#1� &%'*)+6�*)+�+�#6%2#/#/2�'���*('(+��)*�E)/!'�)/�9%+0F�(&!%�G%+1&#�39%+0�HI4-�#'�#"�'���/%'(+��%/1�"$%&��)*�'���1�,�&) 6�/'�)$$(++#/2�#/�$&)"�� +)K#6#'!�')�'��� %+0�'�%'�O#&&� &%!�%�6%<)+�+)&��#/�#'"�)/2)#/2�%$'#,%'#)/8����1�,�&) 6�/'�)*�'���/�O�G)6�/g"�%/1�L�#&1+�/g"�5)" #'%&-�E)O1�/�]+.%/�̂#&&%2�-�%/1�'���(+.%/�$)++#1)+�%&)/2�9)+'�Q)%1�#/$&(1#/2�'���*)+6�+�G�"'�V/1�E+�O�+!�"#'�-�O#&&�&�%1�')�%�"(."'%/'#%&�#/$+�%"��#/�'���/(6.�+�)*� �) &��%$$�""#/2�%+�%"�%1<%$�/'�')�E)/!'�)/�9%+0F�(&!%�G%+1&#�39%+0�HI48L+�%'#/2�%  �%&#/2�%''+%$'#)/"�%/1�*%$#&#'#�"�'�%'�'�+)(2��$)&&%.)+%'#)/�.�'O��/�L#'!�)*�N1�&%#1�-�%1<)#/#/2�$)(/$#&"�%/1�'���"'%'��2),�+/6�/'�O#&&�.��$+#'#$%&�#/�*%$#&#'%'#/2�2+�%'�+�("��)*�'���9+�$#/$'�%/1� +),#1#/2�,%&(%.&��) �/�" %$�"�')�'��"��$)66(/#'#�"8

��	��h���i�j�����������k���	���	
l�j
k�i�m�
����� n�

Page 349



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

����� !"#�$#%�&��'#(#)!*+,"�$#%�-��$!."%!/�0(.+1,23���4#(),(�5#%+,(�)!1!6.*,�!*+�7#%+,(�8,,5,(9:�;#<<!1,2�����'#*<.*�,�:�;;,::.#*�5"!*<.*1�%.<=�$.>,(�$,+�?�)�!*+�@A��"�,�?�)�<#�(,5"!;,�%.""#%:�!*+�5#5"!(:22����*/.5�B(!."�!*+�%##+"!*+�(,>,1,<!<.#*�:.<,2C������'(,!<,�!�*!<.>,�1(!::�),!+#%�%.<=�:,",;<,+�"#;!"�*!<.>,�:5,;.,:�D#(�0.#+.>,(:.</�!*+�:,,+�5(#+�;<.#*2E��F!*!1,�8,/��.#+.>,(:.</�A(,!�GH�!:�!�$.>,(�$,+�?�)�I##+"!*+JKLLMNOPKLQ�RLS�TMOUKVWQ�2X���I#(Y�%.<=�!+Z#.*.*1�;#�*;.":�<#�5(#>.+,�, ,;<.>,�%!"Y.*1�!*+�;/;".*1�;#**,;<.#*:�<=(#�1=�<=,�A+,"!.+,�7!(Y�[!*+:2\������$,.)!1.*,�<=,�,].:<.*1�(#!+�!;;,::�5(#>.+.*1�.)5(#>,+�!;;,::�!*+�<=,�5#<,*<.!"�D#(�;!(�5!(Y.*1�<#�:,(>.;,�!;<.>.<.,:�!*+�,>,*<:�%.<=.*�<=,�5!(Y2�������7(#>.+,�%!"Y.*1�<(!.":�!*+�0#!(+%!"Y:�!"#*1�!*+�#>,(�<=,�(.>,(�%.<=.*�!�(,1,*,(!<,+�(.5!(.!*�,*>.(#*),*<2&����7(#>.+,�5,+,:<(.!*�!*+�0.;/;",�5(.#(.</�!<�>,=.;",�,*<(/�5#.*<:�.*<#�<=,�5!(Y�<=(#�1=�.)5(#>,+�:.1*!1,�!*+�.*<,(:,;<.#*�+,:.1*_̂RNMQ�RLS�̀aRNMQ2-�����I#(Y�%.<=�!+Z#.*.*1�;#�*;.":�<#�5"!*�!*+�+,".>,(�7(,;.*;<�,*=!*;,),*<:�<#�(,:5#*+�<#�<=,�5#5�"!<.#*�1(#%<=�!"#*1�7#(<�$#!+C3 ���b,%�;#*<,)5#(!(/�5"!/�:,<<.*1:�!(#�*+�<=,�b,%�I#),*9:�!*+�'=."+(,*9:�c#:5.<!"C����d51(!+,�!*+�,*=!*;,�'#))�*.</�0�."+.*1:C2�����'(,!<,�!�),+.�)�=�0�!++(,::.*1�0#<=�:.+,:�#D�<=,�(.>,(�.*;#(5#(!<.*1�!�*,%�0(.+1,�;(#::.*1�!*+�;#*>,(1,*;,�#D�5!<=%!/:e�.*;"�+.*1�!�*,%�:=!(,+�5!<=�;#**,;<.*1�<#�b#(<=�A+,"!.+,CC���@�55#(<�<=,�+,>,"#5),*<�#D�<=,�*,%�I#),*9:�!*+�'=."+(,*9:�c#:5.<!"

V̂MNPLNO�JKLQPSMVROPKLQB=,�D#""#%.*1�;#*:.+,(!<.#*:��%.""�5(#>.+,�1�.+!*;,�D#(�5"!**.*1�!<�<=,�7(,;.*;<�",>,"�!*+�:=#�"+��0,�;#*:.+,(,+�!"#*1�%.<=�<=,�A+,"!.+,�7!(Y�[!*+:�%.+,��5"!**.*1�;#*:.+,(!<.#*:fTROgVR_�̀hQOMiQj�Jg_OgVR_�kRLSQNRaMQ��RLS�J_PiROM�lMQP_PMLNM�B=,�7(,;.*;<�;#*<!.*:�;�"<�(!"�=,(.<!1,�"!*+:;!5,�!*+�;#*<(.0�<#(/�D,!<�(,:�:�;=�!:�,]#<.;�:5,;.,:e�!>,*�,:�!*+�;#((.+#(:f���@�1!(�?�)�5"!*<!<.#*2��F#(,<#*��!/�4.1e�c!;Y0,((/�!*+�[,)#*m@;,*<,+�?�):C��n".>,�7"!*<!<.#*�AE��n".>,�7"!*<!<.#*�'X��n".>,�7"!*<!<.#*�c,+1,\��$.>,(�$,+�?�)�?(#>,���@=,#!Y�1(#>,&��A:=�5"!*<!<.#*-��7(,mo�(#5,!*�>,1,<!<.#*�.*�0.#+.>,(:.</�;#*:,(>!<.#*�!(,!�3��'#*<.*�,�<#�:�55#(<�<=,�(,:<#(!<.#*�!*+�(,=!0.".<!<.#*�#D�<=,�$.>,(�B#((,*:p8!((!%.((!�7!(.�����o*;#�(!1,�.**#>!<.>,�%!<,(�)!*!1,),*<�5(!;<.;,:�!*+�, ,;<.>,�:<#()%!<,(�)!*!1,),*<�.*;"�+.*1�;#**,;<.#*:�%.<=��'.</�#D�I,:<�B#((,*:�2 ��q*>,:<.1!<,�<=,�(,)#>!"�#D�<=,�D#(),(�*,<0!""�;#�(<:�!*+�(,<�(*�<#�!�7!(Y�[!*+:�7�(5#:,B=,�7(,;.*;<�.*;"�+,:�"#;!<.#*:�#D�;�"<�(!"�!*+�=.:<#(.;�.)5#(<!*;,�.*;"�+.*1�C�@"!�1=<,(=#�:,�E��'!<<",�F!(Y,<�X���@"!�1=<,(=#�:,�F!*!1,(9:�(,:.+,*;,�\���8!�(*!�"#;!<.#*�r�(#)",/9:�'!)5s

��	��t���u�v�����������w���	���	
x�v
w�u�y�
�����z{

Page 350



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

���� !���"#$%�"$&'(�' ��	��)���*�+�����������,���	���	
-�+
,�*�.�
����� /0

Page 351



���������	�
��
���
������������������������������������������������� !"����#$����%��� �&'(������)��*��*+��,����%��� �'-(��������������.�*+�/�*���� !)�0+��,���0$�%��� �'1(������2�������� !3�00$�����$*+�����$*���� 	�4���5����������&6'�/�7����8����&19�����/������0���������:��0�$������ �;�*�8<����=�����
���=
���>�&?9������7�*�@+�7�A���@��A$����B+�6C1D6�����8E�>����������F���GH�
�����������I���/�:�8���0$�*����0$���*�������:��0�$���2�8�$A�0�J�*���������:��0�$�����$0#�+�I���$�*������:��0�$���J�*A�*�$�*�J�*���������K0������� ������:��0�$���LA�0������M����$�0�N�$A��)�**$8�J�*���������I���/�:�8���0$�*�M�8���������M$O���$�*�M�8�������I���/�:�8���0$�������:�����00��+����I���/�:�8���0$�������I�����;$B���+����I���/�:�8���0$�������P��0�/��*�����$7�0���8���7/��*��8��A$7�8������:��0�$���.���*$7�P$O/�I7/��0������;���2������*������L0��:��0�$������0��0$7��.����7 8������)/��Q*$A��8$�+����:��0�$��������Q*$A��8$�+����I���/�:�8���0$�

=����R�L77�@+$*O��/�������B��#��*�����������$*��/��#�8���*��P�7 *�+������$*��/����8�C�)/���$A��B�* ����7$*7��$8���8�����O$7�00+�$�@����*��@��������/��:��0�$������ �;�*�8S�T�8�0�7��$�*�B��#��*��/��J�*���0�.�8$*�88�N$8��$7���*��3���/�:��0�$��C��*��$�8��77�������$�*�����/���$A���)����*8C�2�8�$A�0�J�*�����*�����0$���*��P��8�C��� ��$���*�$�@����*��@��������/��0$A�8�����00�I���/�:�8���0$�*8S)/���$A��B�* ����7$*7��$8��/��8�BU�7���������U���8�����O�A��*��*����A$��0$8��$�*�$*$�$��$A�C�#/$7/�8�� 8�������*8������/�����7$*7��$*������$V��W�8�����7$*7���77�������$*O���/�8�����/��0�/C���8���7/C�7�0����0C��*�����$*��*�C�O�A��*��*�C�7�����7$�0C�����$8�C����7��$�*�0C���7����$�*�0��*��8@���$*O��7�$A$�$�8���8$O*�������7�$A�����/��������*��8/�#7�8��$�8�*�����0�����$B���8S,$�/$*��/���$A��B�* ����7$*7���/��I���/�:�8���0$�*���A��*��*��/�8�$��*�$X���������$8�$*7��8�BY�*�8C�$*70��$*OZ�����P��0�/�I�BY�*��7�*������*��/����+�0�:��0�$���� P�8@$��0C�I���/�:�8���0$�*�M��$7�0���8���7/�� T*8�$�����%I:PM�T(��*���#��#��0�W70�88����$7�0�� ��8���7/�7�*���8���A�0�@���B+��/��Q*$A��8$�+����� :��0�$����*��Q*$A��8$�+����I���/�:�8���0$�S������K*�����$*��*��I�BY�*���������8�������A�0�@���� @0�Y������C�#$�/���8�����*�8C�7��[8C�#������������8C�� @�B0$7����#�� C�8���$*OC�8/�0���8��*��$�@��A���� 0$O/�$*OC�0$* $*O�K0������� ��*���/���$A��B�* �� 2���B�$�O������/��:��0�$�����$0#�+�I���$�*��� �*��3���/�)����7�S������J�0����0�T*8�$���$�*8�I�BY�*���77��������8�� �*$A��8$�$�8C�:�����00��+����I���/�:�8���0$�C�I���/�� :�8���0$�*�M�8���C�M$O���$�*�M�8�����*��� I�����;$B���+S������T**�A��$�*�I�BY�*��7�*��$*8�;���2������*C�� :��0�$���.���*$7�P$O/�I7/��0C��*��2�������� �� 3�00$�����$*+�����$*���� S2����/��@��@�8�8�����/$8�I�����O+C��/���$A��B�* ����7$*7���77�@$�8��/�������B��������B+�M�*��X��������C���**$*O��*�)����7�C�"$*O�,$00$���������*��3���/�)����7�S�T��$*70���8���8������/��P��0�/�I�BY�*�C��/��K*�����$*��*��I�BY�*�C�J�0����0�T*8�$���$�*8�I�BY�*���*��T**�A��$�*�I�BY�*�S�)/��7�*���0�������������/�����7$*7��$8��/���$A���)����*8!"����#$�������$C����8$O*$X7�*��7�0����0�/��$��O��A�0������"���*��@��@0���*��0�*O���7�O*$8����8�����U�����7�0�@�$*������/��7$�+\8�/$8���$7�0���A�0�@��*�S�

]�̂��_
�����������

àbcdeab�fdgh�idjak�ldjdmbnbjo�pogdobmq�r�studgak�vwxy

fdgo�z�r�{n|cbnbjodoetj}�fdgojbgk~e|k}�{j�bkonbjo�y

Page 352



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

���� �!�"#��$%&'( )*+�,-.+/0123�4/+5-256�-7�16�6*+�5+26/+�89�1�:1;8/�7616+�<8.+/2:+26�-2-6-16-.+�68�/+.-61=-7+�6*+�1/+1�-25=>?-2<�6*+�?+.+=8@:+26�89�6*+�2+A�B8:+2C7�12?�D*-=?/+2C7�E87@-61=F�5826-2>+?�?+.+=8@:+26�89�G86�H8>/6++2��12?�6*+�/+.-61=-716-82�89�H+76-.1=�4=1I1J)*+7+�?+.+=8@:+267F�17�A+==�17�6*87+�+2.-71<+?�-2�6*+�9>6>/+F�A-==�7++�1�7>076126-1=�-25/+17+�-2�6*+�2>:0+/�89�@+8@=+�K=851=7�12?�.-7-68/7L�155+77-2<�12?�>7-2<�6*+�,-.+/0123�4/+5-256�98/�1�?-.+/7+�/12<+�89�785-1=F�/+5/+16-821=F�7@8/6-2<F�+26+/61-2:+26F�58::+/5-1=�12?�<8.+/2:+26�156-.-6-+7J�M27>/-2<�6*16�@+8@=+�512�719+=N�12?�582.+2-+26=N�155+77�12?�+2;8N�6*+�.1/-8>7�166/156-827�82�8O+/F�A*-=+�7*8A517-2<�6*+�+2.-/82:+261=�-:@8/6125+�89�6*+�/-.+/C7�216>/1=�166/-0>6+7F�A-==�0+�5/-6-51=�-2�915-=-616-2<�6*+�7>761-210=+�>7+�89�6*+�4/+5-256JP&�'Q&'R&�S&T&�UV&�W�XYZ�[�/+-:1<-2+?�/-.+/�9/8261<+F�-258/@8/16-2<�1�7+/-+7�89�156-.-6N�*>07�82�-67�28/6*+/2�12?�78>6*+/2�01237F�A-==�+210=+�@+8@=+�68�-26+/156�A-6*�6*+�/-.+/�12?�+2<1<+�-2�:12N�?-O+/+26�82�12?�8O�A16+/�156-.-6-+7J\@@8/6>2-6-+7�68�?+.+=8@�A+6=12?7�68�-:@/8.+�A16+/�]>1=-6N�12?�-25/+17+�@+8@=+C7�+2<1<+:+26�A-6*�12?�>2?+/7612?-2<�89�6*+�-:@8/6125+�89�6*+�/-.+/�+587N76+:�A-==�1=78�0+�+̂@=8/+?J�)*+�*>07�A-==�8O+/�1�/12<+�89�915-=-6-+7�12?�166/156-827�98/�=851=�@+8@=+�12?�.-7-68/7�68�6*+�4/+5-256F�-25=>?-2<�@=1N�8@@8/6>2-6-+7F�-26+/@/+6-.+�6/1-=7F�081/?A1=37�12?�A+==_@/8.-7-82+?�.-+A-2<�1/+17F�+258>/1<-2<�=82<+/�761N7�?>/-2<�6*+�?1N�12?�2-<*6J[�2+AF�5+26/1==N�=8516+?�7*1/+?_>7+�@16*�+̂6+2?-2<�9/8:�6*+�̀8612-5�a1/?+2�-2�6*+�+176�6*/8><*�68�8̀2N6*82�41/3b)>=N1�B1/?=-�K41/3�cdL�-2�6*+�A+76�A-==�7+1:=+77=N�5822+56�6*+7+�156-.-6N�*>07�12?�@/8.-?+�1??-6-821=�=-237�68�7*1?+?�@16*7�/>22-2<�28/6*_78>6*�0+6A++2�e8/6*�[?+=1-?+�12?�e8/6*�)+//15+J)8�6*+�28/6*F�12�+2*125+?�-26+/915+�1=82<�4+22-2<682�)+//15+�A-==�?/1A�@+8@=+�-268�1�=1/<+�*>0�+7610=-7*+?�1/8>2?�[?+=1-?+�\.1=J�f:@/8.+?�155+77�0+6A++2�4+22-2<682�)+//15+�12?�6*+�[?+=1-?+�\.1=�A-==�1=78�0+�5/+16+?�68�-:@/8.+�155+77-0-=-6N�68�6*+�[?+=1-?+�\.1=�*>0�12?�68�+258>/1<+�</+16+/�>7+�89�-67�28/6*+/2�@1/3�7+66-2<J

)8�6*+�78>6*F�12�+̂6+2?+?�9/8261<+�1=82<�e8/6*�)+//15+�0+6A++2�6*+�2+A�,8N1=�[?+=1-?+�E87@-61=�12?�g-268/+�[.+2>+�-2�6*+�+176�A-==�156-.16+�6*+�78>6*+/2�+?<+�89�6*+�4/+5-256�0N�@/8.-?-2<�719+�12?�582.+2-+26�5/877-2<7�68�1�/+_?+7-<2+?�H+76-.1=�4=1I1F�7>@@8/6+?�0N�1�*876�89�/+761>/1267b519h7�12?�/+61-=�8>6=+67J�)*+�9/8261<+�68�e8/6*�)+//15+�A-==�1=78�1==8A�98/�6*+�?+.+=8@:+26�89�6/127-6-821=�7@15+7�-268�6*+�D+26/1=�>̀7-2+77�i-76/-56F�*-<*=-<*6-2<�6*+�5822+56-.-6N�0+6A++2�6*+�,-.+/0123�A-6*�6*+�0>7-2+77�12?�68>/-76�?-76/-567�89�6*+�5-6N�5+26/+JM176_A+76�5822+56-827�9/8:�6*+�4/+5-256�-268�)>=N1�B1/?=-F�6*+�2+A�,8N1=�[?+=1-?+�E87@-61=�12?�6*+�\=?�[?+=1-?+�a18=�A-==�0+�>@</1?+?�12?�A-==�-25=>?+�=-<*6-2<�68�-==>:-216+�6*+�0/-?<+�76/>56>/+7�12?�86*+/�@/8:-2+26�9+16>/+7�89�6*+�0>-=6�+2.-/82:+26�17�A+==�17�-25/+17+�6*+�719+6N�89�6*+�@16*�5822+56-827J�)*+�,-.+/�)8//+27�G-2+1/�416*�A-==�1=78�0+�-:@/8.+?�68�=-23�6*+�*>07�1=82<�6*+�/-.+/9/826�A-6*�1/+17�9>/6*+/�+176�12?�A+76J�f?+26-9N-2<�A1N7�68�-:@/8.+�5822+56-82�0+6A++2�6*+�2+A�,8N1=�[?+=1-?+�E87@-61=�12?�6*+�,-.+/�A-==�0+�-2.+76-<16+?Jj#Q�k#l�Q  '�G86�H8>/6++2�-7�1�</8A-2<�-228.16-82�?-76/-56�A*-5*�61/<+67�7+568/7�A-6*�12�+:@*17-7�82�6+5*28=8<N_+210=-2<�12?�5/+16-.+�-2?>76/-+7J�)*+�8@@8/6>2-6N�+̂-767�68�5/+16+�1�2+A�12?�+̂5-6-2<�+2.-/82:+26�16�G86�H8>/6++2�-25=>?-2<�5826/-0>6-2<�@>0=-5�7@15+�68�6*+�[?+=1-?+�41/3�G12?7�12?�6/12798/:-2<�1?;15+26�1/+17J�e+A�?+.+=8@:+26�A-6*-2�6*+�4/+5-256�7*8>=?�0+�-26+</16+?�-268�6*+�[?+=1-?+�8̀612-5�a1/?+27F�[?+=1-?+�,-.+/0123�12?�6*+�[?+=1-?+�41/3�G12?7�:8/+�0/81?=NJ�)*+�G86�H8>/6++2�7-6+�7*8>=?�0+�@=122+?�12?�:121<+?�68�8@6-:-7+�6*+�8@+2�7@15+F�58::>2-6N�12?�5>=6>/1=�0+2+m67�<+2+/16+?�0N�6*+�?-.+/7+�58::>2-6N�12?�5>=6>/1=�166/156-827�12?�+.+267�15/877�6*+�0/81?+/�e8/6*�)+//15+�12?�M176�M2?�@/+5-2567J�f?+26-9N-2<�8@@8/6>2-6-+7�68�5+=+0/16+�H-/76�e16-827�5>=6>/+�A-==�5826/-0>6+�68�7*1/-2<�6*-7�1/+1�A-6*�1�/12<+�89�1>?-+25+7J�\.+/1==F�@=127�98/�6*+�7-6+�7*8>=?�:1̂-:-7+�6*+�=12?�/+6>/2+?�68�n+̂-0=+�58::>2-6N�8@+2�7@15+Jf228.16-.+�1?1@6-.+�/+>7+�89�*+/-61<+�0>-=?-2<7�A-==�:1̂-:-7+�6*+-/�5826/-0>6-82�68�6*+�+5828:-5�.-10-=-6N�89�6*+�7-6+�12?�6*+�M176�M2?�17�1�A*8=+J

��	��o���p�q�����������r���	���	
s�q
r�p�t�
����� uv

Page 353



���������	
����
�����
�������
�����	�������������������������������������
������������
�
�������������������
���������������
���������������
��������������
�����������������������������������
�������������������
�����	�� ����
��
!������
�����
�����������������"�
����
#������������$�
����
������%����
�������������
�����	�������������
������������������#����
���
�����&'()*'� �����+��������
�
���������������#��
�����������������#����#��	����������
���� ������
,����+
�������
�����������
�����
���������
�������#��
�����������������
�����
�������#���
����#���#����������
������������+��	��������#�����
������������
����� ���������
�
�����,����������
��������������
������������������������!��+�����������������
����
�#����+��������
���
��������#���������+������%����
��������������������+�������
����������������
����#����������������
��	��-�
�	������.�+������
�������������
�
�����������
���+
���������������
��
����������������������+��������
��
!��������������
���� ������
,����+
�������
��/��+���������
�
������������
������������#��������������#������������������������#�
��������������0
������%����
��� ����������
������
��
!���������������
�������������
��
����
�������������������
�������������������1��������!����
��������������#��������������
���������
�����	�
����������
��������
��������������
���23)'34567�8)69)6364:;':34)�<='*:�>'?4�@44*�A4?4=9<4A�B9)�C(7>�9B�3>4�8)476*73�'*A�:3)'34567�C9?4:�6*7=(A4�39D ����E��
���������
���#��	�F����������G �����E��
���������������������F����������

8)476*73�H9*:6A4)'369*: ��������+
�������
�����
����+
�������
�����
����������������
��������������
���������������������#������
������������+
�������%����
������	��������+
��������
�������
�����
����I'3()'=�2J:34C:K�H(=3()'=�L'*A:7'<4:��'*A�H=6C'34�M4:6=64*74 �������
���������
���������������
������������������������
#������������������������1��
������
��������������������
����N���O���F����
���P�	Q�����������O�
���0���������+��R�F������������
��S����
������������T�������
��������������O���U�0���+�����������V��"��������+������	DW��X��������	�����X��������	��������DD�����E��
������F���������������Y�����F�������	
 �����O����
�-���	�Z[0.DG �������/�����
�����������
�����������������������������������������	�
��Y�����F�������	
 �����O����
�-���	�Z[0.�������	�����DN������
���\��]
�
��DQ�����"���������Y�������DR���F����
������0����
�������"�
��DS �����0�����������+�����������������P��������ZDT ����/�������+�����̂���
�������#
��
����
����������� � ��
���� ������
,����+
�������
�����
������������ � ���������
�
�������������+
��������
���DU ����0���
��������
���������������_��������
������� � ������+��	���������������������
��
!������
��àbcdeab�fdgh�idjak�ldjdmbnbjo�pogdobmq�r�studgak�vwxy

fdgo�z�r�{n|cbnbjodoetj}�fdgojbgk~e|k}�{j�bkonbjo��

Page 354



������������	��
���
��
����������
���	��������������
���������������
	�������	��������������������������������	��	

���	���

���
�������	���
���� ���!	
�	���� ��"�
����
������
�������
��������
��	�"�
��
	������#	����	������� ��
����������#�������	
��
��	��
��$	��� � �%�#���	�����&�����

�
���
�'���	���	
��� � �%�
��(���� �	��������%	�
�	�
�
�������
�����#�)��#���	�"*+������� 	#�
,�##���
��	�"-.//0123./4�5/6�7028.9:4��;����<
�	
����
����	���	��
����

�
���
�'���	����� � ������	=���������
���'	�
�	
,	�$	#	�>�	�"�?@A�B������ �
�����������C�
��
����	�=	,������
������
��=�����	
��	���
#�
��	
���C������	
,�
�=�������
�
����#�D&	��+�E�?�F����� �&���	
"������
���)����������G�H	���I#����$	�"�J����K#���&����

����&��,�	
��	���

������,����������� � ������
��
�	
����
��	��H�
�
�

���
�����LM5104�5/6�NO5104��P����)���#	
�Q	���
��R
�%�#���	��)��
�	�
�������

�
���
�Q	���

�)��
�	�
;�� ���#	
�%�#���	�����
"�
��)��
�	�
;�������
=����Q	���
�I��
;����I�����
	���H�	�#	
�
�	���;;�'	�"�
������$	,���#��	��=��"��,�I�	�
�!���,S������!	��
	�<���������
�%	,�Q�	�	#�%�#���	���,���� ���

	��������������S������T���	���I�	
��
���
�!	��
	�U	
��#��	��S������'�������
����������,�H����)�����#	


;B���� ��#	���������&������
�	�������
	�������	����� � ��
���	����
�=����������&���	
���
����	���� � ���&��
��	���&����
�	
�������
#;F����� ��	�
�	�#�C�������#	��	
���
���#	��������	���
	���
��������� �&���'����

��!	��	=���	��	���	
�����&�������	������
��	
��������;G��������&���������
���#	�������	���
����
�����
������ �&���'����

�U�
�	��'�	��;J��������&������������	�������
�����
������	
���	#�
����
����
�������	���&����
�	
���&�
�
���������
�'	�
�	
,	�$	#	�>�	�"�?@A;P������ ��	�
�<������	�"�	
�	�#	V����&�
��&�
���������#���	�,���##�
��,�������	��	
��
�����
���&�
�
;�����������&����
�	����������	
��
�
������(
��������
�"��>��
",�)�	�A�
�	��B���������
	��	
��'����
�I��	���K
�	
����%�#���	�B��W���
	#�$	��%�#���	�B�������
����$�#�
R
�%�#���	��Q	���
B;�������K
&�
���	����������
����
���������
��	����������'����

��	�	���Q���
����������	���	
����
���������������,��������	���

XYZ[\]YZ�̂\_̀�a\bYc�d\b\eZfZbg�hg_\gZei�j�klm\_Yc�nopq

\̂_g�r�j�sft[ZfZbg\g]lbu�̂\_gbZ_cv]tcu�sbwZcgfZbg xx

Page 355



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

���� !"#$�% �&�#&'��	��(���)�*�����������+���	���	
,�*
+�)�-�
�����.��

Page 356



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

��	������������������������	���	
 ��
����!�
����� "�"

Page 357



���������	�
��
��	������������������������������������������������ ����������!"� �#"������$��%�&�'"�(����)�*���
�+�)
���,�-.�/����'�01���2���0��2#"�"�31�.4/��������5�,����������6���78�
�*����9����!"� �#"��:���9����!"� �#"��;���'#��<��"�'�9����;���'#��$��%�9����=��#�'� �>#'��?�'���

)����@�?�A0�#��"������2��� �������B�2��'A�'��A�'�B�"������4�����;���'#��C������&�'"���'"�!"� �#"��:���$���#'���#'� D"�������!"� �#"��:��4�!"� �#"��;���'#��<��"�'4�;���'#��$��%��'"�=��#�'� �>#'��?�'����!����A�E���"��F���"�������D�#�����'"�2#�#��������!"� �#"�4�����$���#'����G0��#�'���������#B���������������2#�#���#�'�����  �����!"� �#"��$��%�&�'"��F#�������!"� �#"��:��4�!"� �#"��;���'#��<��"�'��'"�=��#�'� �>#'��?�'��������#'B��#B� 1��'��2���  � �2� ��������#�����#�'��A�'B���2#�#������>�# ��#��#��#A0����'�������D���#'��'"�3D# "��'�����HD� #�1�����G0��#�'�����2�# �3 �4�#��#���HD�  1�#A0����'������00 1���I #B�����D��J�����'1��D�D���"�2� �0A�'��F#��#'�����$���#'������A�#'��#'��'"��'�D���#����'B�#'B�0�0D ��#�1�������0��#� �0 ����F#��#'�����!"� �#"��$��%�&�'"��5
*��
�K���;���'#��?���%�F����F�1��'"�0���#�D �� 1�����F������ �������#��'�F�����L�#'�&�%��!"� �#"��;���'#��<��"�'MN�#'%��>#����F����#A0����'������N�D�'��0��0 ���N�#'%��>#����F�������A�#'�F������ �����$��'����1��IN#'B�O�"'�14J��'��������� ��"#'B�N�D�'��A�'��������!"� �#"��$ �#'�4������ "�31��#���"�DB�����P0���#�1#�K���������F#��#'�����!"� �#"��:��4�!"� �#"��;���'#��<��"�'4�;���'#��$��%��'"��D���D'"��F�����D �D��  1��#B'#Q��'�����N�D�'��0��0 ���'"�F����D��"������3D�#� �4���A0#'B4�����A�'#����'"����������#2#�#���R��S��������)

�T�K���"� #2��1��������!"� �#"��;���'#��<��"�'�L������$ �'4�;���'#��$��%�L�'�B�A�'��$ �'��'"�:�����L������$ �'�����%�1�#'#�#��#2���B�'����#'B����'B���#'�����$���#'���

U��
����V��
���W
�+��
�+�X+�Y
�+��Z�����������

[\]̂_̀\]�a_bc�d_e\f�g_e_h]i]ej�kjb_j]hl�m�nop_b\f�qrst

a_bj�u�m�viŵ]i]ej_j̀oex�a_bje]bfỳwfx�vez]fji]ej{rq

Page 358



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

���� !���"#$ %!&�' (��%��)*+�,-+./0-+�123/405�6/7-+4�8/93+7:./4�;<;=�>/9�-+?+.2:+-�>03*�/�-++:�@4-+793/4-04A�2B�3*+�72.+�2B�C23/405�A/7-+49�04�5243+D:27/7E�9250+3E�/4-�3*+�903+9�4/3@7/.�32:2A7/:*EF�039�937@53@7+�/4-�*+703/A+�/4-�039�D/4/A+D+43�CE�3*+�12/7-�2B�3*+�123/405�6/7-+49�/4-�G3/3+�H+7C/70@D�@4-+7�3*+�123/405�6/7-+49�/4-�G3/3+�H+7C/70@D�,53�I;<;JK�/4-�L+A@./30249�I;<;=KMN+E�04030/30?+9�04�3*+�8/93+7:./4�045.@-+O�P����)*+�8/04�Q/R+SG0D:924�N029R�:7+50453�@:A7/-+�P����T273*�Q2-A+�/4-�U/93�Q2-A+�*+703/A+�7+9327/3024��� /4-�/530?/3024�:72V+539�P����W./99A72@4-9�/4-�G0D:924�G*/-+�H2@9+�@:A7/-+-�P����105+43+440/.�W249+7?/327E�7+9327+-�/4-�7+42?/3+-�P����X43+74/3024/.�L29+�6/7-+4�@:A7/-+�32�Y27.-�� Z+-+7/3024�2B�L29+�G250+30+9�6/7-+4�2B�� U[5+..+45+�93/3@9�P����8/4/A+-�/\@0B+7�9327/A+�/4-�7+52?+7E�� 9E93+D�+4*/45+D+439��P����W24304@+-�0D:72?+D+439�32�3*+�4+>�U/93+74�� U437/45+�3*72@A*�3*+�]@3C/5R�6/7-+4�P����N035*+4�6/7-+4�+[3+4-+-�P����T02C+�H0..�:7+50453�@:A7/-+9�P����T+>�3*+D+-�/4-�043+7:7+3+-�7/7+�/4-�+4-/4A+7+-��� 9++-�:72-@53024�A/7-+4�P����T273*�)+77/5+�+437/45+�+437E�/4-�:7+50453�P����Z7/4509�,7C27�C@0.-04A�@:A7/-+�:72?0-04A�4+>�� +437/45+�32�3*+�903+��P����G@93/04/C.+�.24A�3+7D�>/3+7>/E9�D/4/A+D+43�P����̂090327�+[:+70+45+�/4-�B/50.030+9�� 04B7/937@53@7+�@:A7/-+-�P����N+E�.0?04A�52..+530249�+[:/4-+-�/4-�+4*/45+-�P����045.@-04A�.25/.�:72?+4/45+�9:+50+9M�)*+�-+3/0.9�2B�3*+�==<�:702703E�/530249�/70904A�B72D�3*+�,-+./0-+�123/405�6/7-+4�8/93+7:./4�;<;=�5/4�C+�7+/-�/3�,-+./0-+�123/405�6/7-+4�8/93+7:./4M

"#$ %!&�_ (̀��123/405�a/7R�>/9�A/b+33+-�/9�/�C23/405�+93/3+�@4-+7�3*+�5/7+�/4-�524372.�2B�3*+�93/3+�04�=cdd�/4-�09�24+��2B�B2@7�C23/405�+93/3+9�D/4/A+-�CE�3*+�12/7-�2B��3*+�123/405�6/7-+49�/4-�G3/3+�H+7C/70@D�@4-+7�3*+�123/405�6/7-+49�/4-�G3/3+�H+7C/70@D�,53�I;<;JK�/4-�L+A@./30249�I;<;=KM�,9:+539�2B�B@3@7+�:7027030+9�B27�123/405�a/7R�/7+�045.@-+-�04�3*+�,-+./0-+�123/405�6/7-+4�8/93+7:./4�;<;=F�/�123/405�a/7R�8/4/A+D+43�a./4�I;<<;K�/4-�123/405�a/7R�U?+43�̂+A+3/3024�8/4/A+D+43�a./4�I;<<;KM�123/405�a/7R�5243/049�/�93/3+�90A40e5/43�.0?04A�37++�52..+53024F�-09:./E+-�04�/4�/7C27+3@D�./4-95/:+M��X3�/.92�*/9�/�L0?+7�)277+49SN/77/>077/�a/70�B7243/A+�>*05*�09�3*+�B25@9�2B�/4�24A204A�:72V+53�32�7+?+A+3/3+�>03*�.25/.�:72?+4/45+�9:+50+9M�)*+�:/7R�09�/�:2:@./7�7+57+/3024�B/50.03E�B27�B/D0.E�A/3*+704A9�/4-�3*+��?+4@+�B27�90A40e5/43�D/V27�2@3-227�+?+439F�9@5*�/9�Y]8,f+./0-+F�>*05*�42>�@30.09+�/..�/7+/9�2B�3*+�:/7RM�)*+�903+�09�/4�043+A7/.�:/73�2B�3*+�2:+7/30249�2B�3*+�,-+./0-+�123/405�6/7-+4M�123/405�a/7R�09�D27+�7+5+43.E�3*+�.25/3024�2B�3*+�A7+Eg*+/-+-�hE04AgB2[�52.24E�04�,-+./0-+F�/4-�B@3@7+�/530?/3024�5245+:39�@4-+7�52490-+7/3024�045.@-+�3*+�57+/3024�2B�i123/405�Q22:jF��/�*0A*�37++32:�.+?+.�>/.R�32�+4/C.+�?0903279�32�.+/74�/C2@3�3*+�0D:273/45+�2B�3*+�>27R�2B�3*+�123/405�6/7-+4�/4-�3*+�3*7+/3+4+-�hE04AgB2[M�

��	��k���l�m�����������n���	���	
o�m
n�l�p�
����� q��

Page 359



����������		�
����
�������������������������������������������� �!�"##�$�%�&��'��������(����������(��)��������(�*����+�,������������%�$�%��!�'���*�����(��-�,�������(�*�����(���.����((�����*��'����(�'���(+����������������(�*��������%��!��*�'���������(�'��/������*��������*��$���*���'����������������-����*�($�'�.��'������(�!����������*����*��-���(��0�+�1��(����!2��(���)����������(���'��������*�(��-�3�*&�4���(������(���%�����%�*��������56�(�����(���-��7�������������.�����%��(+�8���6"5$����62!��*�%�(��*������0�(���.�������-�*��������������9���(�,��� �(��*�3�����6"5:�6�5;$�0������%��2��*%�*�.��0������������%���.�����������6���9������������� �(��*�3�����������%��6��;+�1���%�(��*�������(�-���(���������.����%���(�*�<����.���-���.��*�������!���(�(�(��0��(��'���-�=(���.�*(��!$������>�*��'�.�(���*(��������((����$�����%��������*�����7��*�������������%���%���������>�*��'(��-�������?�������@�.�*���&�3*������+�A�����B���
��	�����C �(��*�3���(���.���������.�������-�*�%�����-�����3*�����������(�*���'���%�.�(�����������D �����E���.�*��������(�,�������(�*����� �(��*�3���F ����E���.�*��������������G�������H�*���(� �(��*�3���I �����E���.�*�����G�������3�*&� ���'�%����3���


����
���J	
C�������	
C1���-����0��'����(���*�����(�0�����*�.����'���������-�*��������'��������3*���������.�������(������������(���*�������'�0�����������������3�*&�4���(��0�����������'����(���*�����(+J	

����	
C��
��K��L	�MC��N ���((�((�������(�������*��(��(�-���*�((��'���*�((�� O��&��!�@�����������G�������H�*���(������ G�������3�*&�-�*�0��&�*($��!���(�(������(�*(��� �-�%������!����
����C��
��AP���C��N ����8�.�(��'��������*�����!�����*��(-�*���*���-�G�������3�*&����������*�$�����*�������%���'�%�����-�Q��!��-���������R �����E���.�*������*���(������������G��������H�*���(�����4���S��*���������*-�����*�?���(��������������������.��������������(��*�������-�����T�*���1�**���������*��������.�*�

UVWXYZVW�[Y\]�̂Y_V̀�aY_YbWcW_d�ed\YdWbf�g�hijY\V̀�klmn

[Y\d�o�g�pcqXWcW_dYdZi_r�[Y\d_W\̀sZq̀r�p_tẀdcW_dulv

Page 360



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

���� !"�#$���%�&� '$�� '�('%)�!'%�*���+,%"! "���	��-���.�/�����������0���	���	
1�/
0�.�2�
����� 3�4

Page 361



���������	�
��
���
��������������������������������������������� !"#�$��%%��&��' �()��������$$'��*���' !+�'�,��%%��&��' �-.)������/#�0$�0�����' !"�#�1��0#$$��&��' �--)������2���3�1���' !4�''�5#''��&��' �-6)�	�7���8����������9:�*��0�'����'�;<=>��?�0*��0�0�$��'����?��0*��@��$�#�����' �A����B����C�����
���C
���D�69>�����,����E�'�,'�E#����F��-G-;(�0'���H�D����������I���JK�
�����������L#%�#M���0��,�'0���E�$�������F��$#�������������A�5�'�N�'0*�@��$�#����$��%'������������0��O���,#�0�������@'�*�'��M�$�������3'����0���#�����'0�������P#0���?�@��$�#���N�'��'�������4����#��#E�'�#0��@'��������P��0'#F�0�'��*#�0�'#��?��0�'������*������ �Q�0#���,��#��G��E������������''#��'�������2�1���0�E�%�0�0#��

C����R�"*��N�'0*ST��0���' �A���������,��0*���'���F�05����4#�%�+#$$#�1�2��������L#'�T�5#��L1#0*�@E�����0��0*��5��0G�U#��#���L0'��0�����/��4#�������'����0��0*����'0*G�/��������V�� ����2�����0��0*�����0�����0*��2#E�'�"�''���!4�''�5#''����'#�0��0*�����0*<�"*#���'��#��0����0�#����,�'0#�%�%'������*�$������'�$#������F��0*��W�#E�'�#0���?�@��$�#�����������1F�'��?�,�,�$�'�'��'��0#���$�?��#$#0#��G�#��$��#�%�0*��A�5�'�N�'0*�@��$�#����$��%'����G���������' G�����1#S�'��1��0�$��'���G�,�0��O���,#�0�������'�*�'��M�$�<H
���
�2#E�'�"�''���!4�''�5#''����'#�X�5��0*'��%*�0*���'��#��0�5*#�*�,'�E#�������#1,�'0��0����'����?�?���G�������,$����0��1��0�������1,<�2���3�1���' !4�''�5#''��&��' �-6)�*���F�������#%�#M���0�1��0#�%��#0��?�'�@F�'#%#��$�,��,$���#��$��#�%G�#��'����0�0#1��G�1��0#�%��'�$�0���0��2�����#$#�0#�������N�0#E��"#0$�<Y�����
��ZE�'�$$G�0*���'��#��0�'�0�#���0*���'#%#��$��*�,������?�'1��?�0*����' �������E#����F��P�$���$�+#$$#�1�A#%*0<U'�1�0*��-[\.��0��0*��$�0��-[=.���'�����?�0*���'��#��0�5�'�������?�'�%'�]#�%G�M'��5������$$��0#��G������%#�01��0<"'���,$��0#�%�0*�0��$#%���5#0*�0*��%���'�$��,�0#�$������,��#���#�0��0��?��'�5����0'��0#������L��0*�@��0'�$#���0'�����$0�'��&-[[.)�#��$��#�%�,�0*5����$#%�1��0���'���0#$$��E#���0�0*'��%*�0*���'��#��0<

�̂��
_Y
����
���̀
������������

abcdefbc�gehi�jekbl�mekencockp�qphepcnr�s�tuvehbl�wxyz

gehp�{�s�|o}dcockpepfuk~�gehpkchl�f}l~�|k�clpockp�xz

Page 362



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

���� !�"#��$%&'(�)*+,(-./�01,,23456&,'1+771�80194�:;<�)*''9*/%�01945$19+=1+771�80194�>?;�1+,�@(,�A*B�01945C1991D&991�80194�>E;�%1F(�1�=9(,2B&+1+G'-�/G9*3G*9(,�9(39(1G&2+1'�1+,�/=29G&+7�3%1913G(9<�H&/G'(G2(�0194561&+B*+G&''1�80194�>>;�&/�3%1913G(9&/(,�I-�1�/(B&J+1G*91'�'1+,/31=(�32+G1&+&+7�&B=29G1+G�19(1/�2K�9(B+1+G�F(7(G1G&2+�1+,�/&G(/�2K�/&7+&L31+G�9(/G291G&2+�1+,�9(F(7(G1G&2+M)*+,(-./�01,,23456&,'1+771�80194�:;�1+,�)*''9*/%�01945$19+=1+771�80194�>?;�19(�3%1913G(9&/(,�1/�/G9*3G*9(,�1+,�B1&+G1&+(,�/=29G/�792*+,/MH&/G'(G2(�0194561&+B*+G&''1�80194�>>;�32+G1&+/��1+�&,(+G&L(,�C(-�)&2,&F(9/&G-�N9(1MH&+29�32++(3G&2+/�1+,�(,7(�=1G%/�19(�1'9(1,-��D(''�(/G1I'&/%(,�D&G%&+�G%(�09(3&+3GMN�,(L+(,�9&F(9�=1G%D1-�32++(3G&2+�1'2+7�G%(�9&F(9�K92+G�D2*',�=92F&,(�1+�&B=92F(,�32++(3G&2+�G2��G%(�@&F(9�6299(+/5C1991D&991�019&MO*I/�19(�1'9(1,-�D(''�,(L+(,�&+�G%(�09(3&+3G<�=19G&3*'19'-�/=29G/�K13&'&G&(/�1+,�9(/G�/=2G/�1'2+7��G%(�9&F(9�(,7(M

PQRS#Q �TUQ�VW��X#N/�/=29G&+7�13G&F&G&(/�32+G&+*(�G2�(Y=1+,�&+�G%(�09(3&+3G�G%(9(�&/�'&4('-�G2�I(�K*9G%(9�,(B1+,/�K29�K13&'&G&(/�/*3%�1/�3'*I922B/�G2�/*==29G�G%(/(�*/(/MZ19(�D&''�I(�+((,(,�G2�(+/*9(�K13&'&G&(/�,2�+2G�1,F(9/('-�1[(3G�9(/&,(+G&1'�19(1/�&+�\29G%�N,('1&,(�1+,�G%1G�G%(-�19(�1F1&'1I'(�K29�I921,(9�32BB*+&G-��*/(�2*G/&,(�K29B1'�/=29G&+7�G&B(/M$%&'(�1,]13(+G�9(/&,(+G&1'�19(1/�&+�\29G%�N,('1&,(�%2*/(�1�9('1G&F('-�/G1I'(�=2=*'1G&2+<�1+�&+G(+/&L31G&2+�2K�,(F('2=B(+G�&+�62D+�2K�$1'4(9F&''(�D&''�/((�B29(�=(2='(�133(//&+7�G%(�09(3&+3G�K92B�G%(�(1/G�G2�=19G&3&=1G(�&+�G%(�F19&(G-�2K�9(39(1G&2+1'�1+,��/=29G&+7�13G&F&G&(/M2̂G�_2*9G((+�1+,�N,('1&,(�)2G1+&3�O&7%�̀3%22'�19(�'&4('-�G2�1GG913G�B29(�=(2='(�&+G2�G%(�\29G%Ja1/G��0194�̂1+,/M�a+/*9&+7�G%1G�G%(9(�19(�/1K(�32++(3G&2+/�G%92*7%�G2�G%&/�09(3&+3G�K92B�G%(/(�,(F('2=B(+G/��D&''�I(�1�4(-�,9&F(9M

��	��b���c�d�����������e���	���	
f�d
e�c�g�
����� h�i

Page 363



���������	
������
��
���������������������������������������������� ���������������������������!��������������������� ����"����������������������������#��������!��$�%����������������������������������&'
�(�
)�*+���,�-�	()�(�
)�.
����
/����
���	)�,
���0���)����������!������������������ �� ���������������������������������" ���1����� ����� �������2������������3����� ����������������4���#������!��������5�����5���6 7���������������8���9�������9�7�����������:���6�� ����������������; ����6 73�<����3���<����� ������&3�=�������>�����"� ��3������;���?�$@��9�������9�7�6����A��5�����5���6 7�����������B��C�1�>����������1�#���D����;� ��� ���������������������������5������������E��C����������!����"��$�F���G�����������������������#��������H��������1�?���I���5������������EC����������!����=������ ����������$�4J��#������!������������������������� ������K��$����� <��C������!�����44��<�������>�1�L������������������������������ ;���9�����;7����#��� �48��C���#�����������"����������H��������1����� #��������M��������N�4:���5�7�����<�9����#�"���� 7��������OPQRSTPQ�USVW�XSYPZ�[SYS\Q]QŶ�_̂VŜQ\̀�a�bcdSVPZ�efgh

ij��������������)(����)
�
��
���
k��()�(�
)�
���j���
�����,/
��
�������)(���l4@�����������������������������������������������������<��C������!�����4A����%�����m�����#��������=���<�7�����4B���L��7���������������������n�������6���������4D����#��������>���������������5������������EC����������!���4F������#�"����>���������������5������������EC����������!���4I��������H��������1����#��������L���"�����8J��H��������1����#��������6���������3��� =���<�7������G����3�m�����#�������84��<�7���������6&L&�#���������o&p&�#����88��<������C�1�>����������1�#����qr�������� 5�����5���6 7�=�������8:�����;���7����������������"��������� �"����������	
������
���
���'��s
�t��8@��<�������������$����������"����1����<��C������� !������������ ���������"����1����� ��������� ���$�����������8A����<��������� ����������u��������������������������������������)
����
���*/
���8B��n��������7��� 7�� "8D���<�������� ����������77 ���1� ��������� ����������������������������������1�� "8F�����v����������������� �����������������������7���������77 ���1�" �������8I���=��$�������������������������7�������������������������������� � ������������������������������

USV̂�w�a�x]yRQ]QŶŜTcYz�USV̂YQVZ{TyZz�xY|QẐ]QŶ}f~

Page 364



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

���� !"#$��%#�&�'#()$�%�*+,(+���	��-���.�/�����������0���	���	
1�/
0�.�2�
����� 3�4

Page 365



��������	
���
���
�����������
�����������������
����������������������	
��������������
���
��������������������
��������
���������������������
�����������
�����������
����

��������������������
����������
����������
����������������������
���
�����������
����������������� ��
�������������
���������� ��������������
�����������
�����������
��������������������������� ����
������
��
����� ������
����
����������������
���������
�����������
���
�����������
������������
�����������������������������������

������ �������

�
����������������
������� ��!���������
��������
������
�������
�����

�������������
��������

��

"#$%&'#$�(&)*�+&,#-�.&,&/$0$,1�21)&1$/3�4�567&)#-�89:;

<=>?@AB�?CD�E?@DACB ���������������
���
�����������
� ���������
�������������������������������������������������������
��
��
���������������������������������������������������������������
�
���������������F�������� �������������
����������������
����������� ������G������������ ��
��H���������������
�������������������������������������
���
� ����
��������
���
�����������
�
���
������
������
�I�������������������
����������������
���
���������� ��������J��������K��������H��
�
��
���
�������L������
����������������
����
����������
���
����������������������������
�����
�������
����
��
������������
����� ���������������

"#$%&'#$�(&)*�+&,#-�.&,&/$0$,1�21)&1$/3�4�567&)#-�89:;

(&)1�M�4�N0O%$0$,1&1'6,P�(&)1,$)-Q'O-P�N,R$-10$,1SS9

Page 366



����������	
������
�������
�

�������������������������������������� �!�"#$�����%&'(

)����
*+,
��	
���-.
�
��+


/�*0+��	
���-)�
1� 2�
�3���0��	
���-4
5�+�6�7+,�����	
���-8��
+�
9�
**�)0�+3,����	
���-:;;���+9�� 2
�+����	
���-8�
*5����

<��3��������
�-<�
*5��<�
*5�=�,
*0�3������
�-8�
+
+�+�
**�<�

�
*+,
������
�

�������������������������������������� �!�"#$�����%&'(�������������������������������������� �!�"#$�����%&'(

�����>�!�?�@���������#�A���������B�@�A�?�C������� DDD

Page 367



���������	�
��
��	������������������������������ ��������!"#$��"%���#�"%&'�'�($��)�������*�+����������,���-.�
������/����0�1"���%�!���#�����/����2"�!�3"4&�5��67�����8&%���5�9":!��&!�/����;:����<&�!�;("�&=&!�<�><�=�/����;:����<&�!�?��&"!�<�><�=�/����@:��!�A&��"�&��B���:��/����2"�!�0�3":�<<�B�:����B���:��/����C�#��&!�C���<���B�:���B���:��/����C���<���C�D��"!�E&!=��"!�B���:��/����F:(<&���"&<���/����3������;���C"��&'"��/����?=��:�D:<����GC��<H�B�&�H��/����A&��"�&��BI:���G7��!��!$�!==��>":!��&!

�����J�A&��"�&��BI:���G7��!��!$�!==��&������=�"=��#�&���!'��&%&����!����"9������&�$��!'���=��'�'����"!��"9�&���=�����#:(<&��#<�����7���K�������=��"9�����A&��"�&��BI:���G7��!��!$�!==��0������F<�!�������&!9"���'�&�������:�����;'�<�&'�5��#��D&���=�����&!=�#<�����!'�%�!:��9"����'&%�������!=��"9�<"��<L�!��&"!�<��!'�&!���!��&"!�<��%�!���7������"!'����=��"9�����0������F<�!�4&<<��!��!����"!!���&"!��(��4��!�����BI:�����!'�C�!���<�0��H��L����&%����&���4�����!��!'�������!��'=����!'�#�"%&'��9"����D"����##��<&!=��!'�%�����&<��#:(<&���#����*
���
�A&��"�&��BI:���G7��!��!$�!==��&��"9��&=���:<�:��<L��#&�&�:�<��!'�#�$�&��<��&=!&K��!����"�����E�:�!��#�"#<���!'��"�����4&'���;("�&=&!�<��"DD:!&�$�A&��"�&��BI:���G7��!��!$�!==�������#��&�<����"�&��&"!�����������!���<���D#��!'����'&�&"!�<�D���&!=�#<����"9�����7��!��!$�!==��C<�!�"9�E�:�!���"DD:!&�$��!'�9"��;("�&=&!�<�%&�&�"���7���BI:����&��<&!H�'��"�7��!'��E�!$�L�����8�'�E�!=��""��"�H��&���"!������":����&'��"9�����8&%���7"���!�GE����4&����F��&L����&=�<$��&=!&K��!���:<�:��<����&��=���&����"!���!�'�4&�����&��C����&"!�;!����"���>�"D�������MN��A&��"�&��BI:���G7��!��!$�!==��(���D����9"�:��9"��;("�&=&!�<����&%&�&����7��������&%&�&���&!�<:'�'�&����"<���������!���<�D���&!=�#<����9"��;("�&=&!�<�#�"#<��9�"D��<<�"%���;:����<&�L�(��"D&!=����"�&�<��!'�=�����&!=�#"&!��":��&'��������!���<�F"<&���B���&"!�O!"4�����C"DD"!4��<���P�4�C":����(:&<'&!=Q��!'�C":���R":���A&��"�&��BI:���G7��!��!$�!==��&��4���������?��&"!�<�;("�&=&!�<�><�=�O������'L�(<��H��!'�$�<<"4�;("�&=&!�<�S�=Q�'��&=!�'�($�R��"<'�7�"D��L�4���S"4!�9"������K�����&D���!$4�����"!�?��&"!�<�;("�&=&!�<��!'�T�<�!'���3�$�"!���2:<$���)���T��!"4�S&���#��D�!�!�<$��<"!=�&'������;:����<&�!�S�=�"!�"!��"9������4"���<<�S�=#"<���&!�������!����"9�����BI:����

U������
�	V�
��-�
���
�+
�WW


XYZ[\]YZ�̂\_̀�a\bYc�d\b\eZfZbg�hg_\gZei�j�klm\_Yc�nopq

\̂_g�r�j�sft[ZfZbg\g]lbu�̂\_gbZ_cv]tcu�sbwZcgfZbgxxn

Page 368



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

���� !"#��$%&'()%*�+,-*)./0*)1'*12*133*�4*5�&).*'.6�%1�7(8(1.8�9%88%*:�;%3<'=5�>6.8*%6.�?*)@�;*165�*16�7%'2�;*2(-'�(A�BCDE�).5-8'%13�%1�*1�*).*�(A�*FF)(G%:*'.82�1(4�5%G�<.&'*).5H�%1&8-6%13�*�F*)@�*16�)(*64*2H�&(:F)%5%13�'<.�+,-*).I�0<.�6.5%31�%1&()F()*'.6�*�&.1')*8�5,-*).�'(�A-1&'%(1�*5�>6.8*%6.=5�A(&*8�F(%1'�*16�F)(J%6.�(F.1�5F*&.�A()�).&).*'%(1*8�*&'%J%'%.5I�K1�<%5�L)5'�:*FH�;%3<'�&*88.6�'<.�?).&%1&'�M0<.�N).*'�+,-*).=I�O'�4*5�.J.1'-*882�1*:.6�%1�<(1(-)�(A�?)%1&.55�$%&'()%*�P.A().�<.)�*&&.55%(1�%1�BCDQI;%3<'�5-)J.2.6�'<.�+,-*).�*5�*�).&'*138.�(1�*�1()'<R5(-'<�*G%5�*16�5@.'&<.6�*1�*FF)(G%:*'.�%1'.)1*8�5F*'%*8�&(1L3-)*'%(1�(A�'4(�).&'*13-8*)�F*)@�*).*5�4%'<�*�).&'*13-8*)�.1&%)&8%13�*1�.*5'R4.5'�:(J.:.1'�525'.:I�0<%5�5F*'%*8�&(1L3-)*'%(1�).:*%1.6�A)(:�BCES�-1'%8�BCCD�4<.1�T%13�9%88%*:�+')..'�4*5�&(15')-&'.6�1()'<R5(-'<�'<)(-3<�'<.�+,-*).H�4%'<�'<.�U-..1�$%&'()%*�5'*'-.�P.%13�-1J.%8.6�%1�%'5�F).5.1'�8(&*'%(1�%1�BCVSI�0<.�+,-*).�4*5�*�6-5'2H�')..8.55�F*66(&@�-1'%8�BCWSH�4<.1�'<.�7%'2�(A�>6.8*%6.�.:P*)@.6�(1�*�F8*1'%13�F)(3)*:H�&(15')-&'.6�A(-)�P)(*6�6%*3(1*8�F.6.5')%*1�F*'<5�*16�.).&'.6�*�4((6.1�A.1&.I�K'<.)�4()@�(1�'<.�+,-*).�%1&8-6.6�&(15')-&'%(1�(A�*1�.*5'R4.5'�)(*64*2�'<*'�&).*'.6�'4(�3*)6.1�*).*5I�>�A(-1'*%1�4*5�*85(�&(15%6.).6H�P-'�%'�'((@�BXX�2.*)5�A()�'<%5�%6.*�'(�&(:.�'(�A)-%'%(1I

Y2�BCCDH�F8*15�4.).�-16.)4*2�'(�.G'.16�T%13�9%88%*:�+')..'�6%).&'82�'<)(-3<�$%&'()%*�+,-*)./0*)1'*12*133*H�6%J%6%13�%'�%1'(�A(-)�3*)6.1�*).*5I�0<.�()%3%1*8�4((6.1�A.1&.�4*5�).F8*&.6�P2�()1*'.�%)(1�)*%8%135�4<%&<�4.).�).8(&*'.6�'(�'<.�Z1%J.)5%'2�(A�>6.8*%6.I�>�5'*'-.�(A�U-..1�$%&'()%*H�4<(�<*6�*5&.16.6�'(�'<.�'<)(1.�%1�[-1.�BCDQH�4*5�.).&'.6�%1�'<.�&.1').�(A�'<.�+,-*).�%1�BCVSI�0<.�8*2(-'�).:*%1.6�-1&<*13.6�-1'%8�BVEQ�4<.1�'<.�+,-*).�*55-:.6�%'5�F).5.1'�6%*:(16�A():�;*165&*F.�6.5%31�).:(6.88%13�4()@5�*3*%1�')*15F%).6�%1�BVSW\SE�*16�BVEEI�]"#̂ _̀" !��$%&'()%*�+,-*)./0*)1'*12*133*�).a.&'5�'<.�5'*3.6�%:F8.:.1'*'%(1�(A�'<.�$%&'()%*�+,-*)./0*)1'*12*133*�b*5'.)�?8*1I�KF.1�'-)A�5F*&.5�*).�).3-8*)82�).1.4.6�A(88(4%13�%:F*&'5�A)(:�:*c()�.J.1'5�*16�A.5'%J*85��d�ef!�_�g���hi"#j!b*5'.)�?8*1�).&(::.16*'%(15�*).�'<.�F)%:*)2�6)%J.)5�(A�&<*13.�*8'<(-3<�'<.�5'.*62�6%J.)5%L&*'%(1�(A�-5.5�5-))(-16%13�'<.�+,-*).H�%1&8-6%13�:().�).5%6.1'%*8�6.J.8(F:.1'�*16�'<.�.5'*P8%5<:.1'�(A�8(&*8�*16�%1'.)1*'%(1*8�.6-&*'%(1�F)(J%6.)5H�%5�5..%13�%'5�%1&).*5.6�-5.I�?)(P*P82�(A�3).*'.)�5%31%L&*1&.�%5�'<.�+,-*).=5�F)(G%:%'2�'(�'<.�7.1')*8�b*)@.'H�(1.�(A�'<.�&%'2=5�:(5'�').*5-).6�A*&%8%'%.5I�0<%5�&).*'.5�(FF()'-1%'%.5�A()�$%&'()%*�+,-*)./0*)1'*12*133*�'(�<(5'�*�F)(3)*:�(A�.J.1'5�*16�*&'%J%'%.5�'<*'�4%88�*'')*&'�F.(F8.�'(�'<.�8(&*8%'2�4%'<�P.1.L'5�'(�8(&*8�).'*%8.)5�*16�P-5%1.55.5I

��	��k���l�m�����������n���	���	
o�m
n�l�p�
����� qq�

Page 369



���������	
������
��
��������������������������������������������� ���������������������������!��������������������� ���"����������������������������#��������!��$�%����������������������������&'
�(�
)�*+���,�-�	()�(�
)�.
����
/����
���	)�,
���0���)����������12 �������������� �� ���������������������������������" ���3����� ����� �������4������������5����� ����������������&

6789:;78�<:=>�?:@7A�B:@:C8D8@E�FE=:E8CG�H�IJK:=7A�LMNO

P��Q����R����S��T������U�����S��� �����V��# ���������#"���������W���X��# ���������Y��������W���Z��[ ����\��������1��� �]��Q����̂�R� ����1� ����1��� �_��̀�������̀�������1� ���1��� �a��̀�������̀�b�����c��������1��� �d��! "����������e��R������#���̀�������Pf��Y��� �b �����g̀���$�1���$�PP���\��������12 ���h�������3������W� �����

	
������
���
���'��i
�j��PV ��kb�������������������������̀�������̂��$���!����������������������������� �����������̀��������̂�$���������������� ���������12 ���PX ��l���"����������������b���������������� ����������12 �����������������������������������m���4�������������������b������PZ ��U������������ ��� �������������������������������������12 ���P] ��̀�����������������������������������������������)
����
���*/
���P_ ����!������������� ��������������������������� ����������12 �������� ���������"�����������c� ����� �� ��

<:=E�n�H�oDp98D8@E:E;J@q�<:=E@8=Ar;pAq�o@s8AED8@Ettu

Page 370



���������	
����
�������������

�������������������������� ��!�"!��!��#�$�%&'�����()*+

���!�,�$�- .�� ��!�!�&�/����!����0�.�/�-�1��! ��! 223

Page 371



���������	�
��
��	������������������������������ ��������!"#$��"%���#�"%&'�'�($��)�������*�+����������,���-.�
������/����0"1"!�1�2&3���4"!56�!���!'�7��%��/����8��9"�:��/����;<���=���!�1�>5���&"!?�@&����'�<&##&!3�/����;A!"�?�B����C153�16�!�/����;0�����&!��D�1�!�E#�!��?�F�G�%��H"�5&��/����@�&!("9�I�1:

�����J�K��#&�����%&!3��"6����LMMM�%��&�1������%�11&!3����"53���!'���"5!'�����EN5���������'�$L�2&3���EN5���OI�59&�#�"%&'����&3��N5�1&�$�"#�!��#����������&!3�P"��6�Q"���%�!������"53���"��6�11��"665!&�$�3�����&!3���C���5�&!3�����!3��"P�'&��&!��&%��6��5���������#��&��L�&6#"���!��#5(1&������&!���11��&"!���!'��������&��3��1&���'�0"1"!�1�I&11&�6�2&3���E���5���!'�C"5!��&!L�2&3���EN5���OI�59&�&��9�11�5��'�($��5��"5!'&!3����&'�!����!'�9"�:����#�"%&'&!3�9�11R'�S!�'�#���9�$��1&3!6�!���9�&����11"9�#�"#1�����$���������"��'Q���!��������*
���
�<���EN5�������%�'��������6�&!��"665!&�$�6���&!3�#1����P"��C&����T��&"!��#�"#1��L�&!�15'&!3�1"��1�A�5�!��H�"#1���!'�!�&3�("5�&!3�T��5!33���!'�T3���&!'Q��&�H�"#1���P�"6������)MM��9�����#�"#1���"�&�1&��'L������'���"�&����!'�"�3�!&��'���11&����!'�#�"�������I�59&�9���!�6�'��"��"66�6"���������9&P��"P�A�'1&�#&!���I�59&�&������A�5�!��!�6��P"��P�6�1��A�!3��""�U�����
���2&3���EN5���OI�59&�9���!�6�'��P����0"1"!�1�I&11&�6�2&3��L�����S�����5�%�$"�R7�!���1�"P�8'�1�&'�L����#"!�&(1��P"��&���#1�!!&!3��!'�1�$"5���I��!����'&�'�&!��VW)L����9���(5�&�'�&!�����EN5�����X%����&��3��%��������!"9����!'����6�6"�&�1�&!�����P"�6�"P���6��(1���"156!��5�6"5!��'�($�������#����!���&"!�"P����5�%�$"�?�����"'"1&���Y
�Z��
����<���"�&3&!�1�1�$"5��9����"6#�"6&��'�&!��)�M�9��!�05��&��E������9����5�����"53������EN5������<���EN5����&��!"9��#1&��&!�"��9"�#������!'��"!�&����"P���1��3���"5����!������!31���!'����6�11�!"�����!���6&R�&��1��G!��)VW��"5!�&1��6(��:�'�"!��!�&6#�"%�6�!��#�"3��6�"P�2&3���EN5���OI�59&��!'�����'��&3!�#1�!�9���'�%�1"#�'��!'�1�����&6#1�6�!��'��<���#�"3��6�&!�15'�'�����5!'��3�"5!'&!3�"P�#"9���1&!��L�����9&'�!&!3�"P�P""�#�������"5!'�����#��&6����L�#1�!�&!3�"P��[����������������L��!'��16����"5!'�����#��&6����L�9"�:�"!�����6�6"�&�1L��"!���5��&"!��!'�1�!'���#&!3�

Y�\
��	]�
��-̂ 
�_�

àbcdeab�fdgh�idjak�ldjdmbnbjo�pogdobmq�r�studgak�vwxy

fdgo�z�r�{n|cbnbjodoetj}�fdgojbgk~e|k}�{j�bkonbjo��y

Page 372



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

����� �!�"�� #$�% &'($�!�#')!�($&��� �$�#�� #$�*"(&#($�+�'$,�#)�#(�'�$������ �-(�� #'$ �. / $�0) $, �0�(�" �($&��� �# !"#�(,'$1����(//�'$� #$(/�����)(��!23%)#�4'$1�5(/6'$1�($&�,7,/'$1�,�$$ ,�'�$!���+���#�"1��($&��#�%��� �0*"(# �5'//� $,�"#(1 �/�,(/�# !'& $�!�($&�5�#6 #!����(&�)��%�# �(,�'4 ��#(4 /��)�'�$!+�5�'/ �'$,# (!'$1��� �!(� �7����,#�!!'$1!������ �$�#�� #$�! ,�'�$������ �0*"(# ��#�%��� �(&8(, $��9#�!�09�($&�:9;<�!'� !�'!�(�)#'�#'�72��=>?@A>B�CD>�EFGHIA:� # ��(!�J  $�(�!"J!�($�'(/�'$,# (! �'$��� �$"%J #�($&�&'4 #!'�7����# !'& $�!�/'4'$1�'$�($&�(#�"$&�K'1���0*"(# �'$�# , $��7 (#!+�)#�4'&'$1�(�!�#�$1�)/(���#%���#�# 4'�(/'!'$1����! � / % $�!���(��5'//� $�', �) �)/ �'$����� �0*"(# ���#�/�$1 #�) #'�&!2�9/# (&7�(�)�)"/(#�4 $" ���#�'$&'4'&"(/�($&�1#�")LJ(! &�M�$ !!�(,�'4'�' !+��� �,()(,'�7���#�K'1���0*"(# NO("5'����%  ���� �&'4 #! �$  &!����$ (#J7�# !'& $�!�5'//�J ,�% �'$,# (!'$1/7�'%)�#�($�2�9�%(!� #�)/($�'!�J '$1�& 4 /�) &����1"'& �'$4 !�% $��($&�# $ 5(/2

��	��P���Q�R�����������S���	���	
T�R
S�Q�U�
����� VVW

Page 373



���������	
������
��
��������������������������������������������� ���������������������������!��������������������� ���"����������������������������#��������!��$�%����������������������������&'
�(�
)�*+���,�-�	()�(�
)�.
����
/����
���	)�,
���0���)����������12 �������������� �� ���������������������������������" ���3����� ����� �������4������������5����� ���������������&

6789:;78�<:=>�?:@7A�B:@:C8D8@E�FE=:E8CG�H�IJK:=7A�LMNO

P��Q������R���������S��R���"T��1��U��1����$V��W������X�3�Y��Z��[�����\�������Y��]��Q�������!������#��� �^��Q�����1����"���3_��R�������̀�U�#��� �a��b������#��Pc��R�������\�����U�%�����b���������W�� U���PP������̀�������d ��������� ��� ���"3�e��������������PS��f������ ��� ���"3�X����Y� ���U��PT��R���������[�����1�������� ��� ���"3�Q����!�� ��PV��e���"���\��$

	
������
���
���'��g
�h�PZ ��1 ������������ �����������U����������������������������12 �������������#��������!��$�%����P] ��W���U�������$������� �������12 ���P̂ ������ ���U������������������$������� ���������������i� �������� ��� �����������������������3���3������� ������������� ���#��������!��$�%�����e��������!��$�%�����! ������)
����
���*/
���P_ ��R�����������j�������������������4�������R�������\�����U�%�����1��� ��������������U�������U���������������k�4�"���������������������������������Pa ��QU�����������U����3���������������������������������������������������� ������������������������"��"�� ��Sc ��R�������������� ��������������3������������12 �������� ��� ��������������������������� ������� ��� ������� "���������������������� ��

<:=E�l�H�mDn98D8@E:E;J@o�<:=E@8=Ap;nAo�m@q8AED8@Errs

Page 374



��������	
��
�
	��

������������������������������� ������!�"�#$%�����&'()

�����*�"�+�,���������$�-���������.�,�-�+�/������� 001

Page 375



���������	�
��
��	������������������������������ ��������!"#$��"%���#�"%&'�'�($�)�)������*�+����������,���-.�
������/����0��1"�2��/����34���5"�����"6�7���8�3�9�0!�"!�:����/����;���8&��<&�'(����9�=��#��!�<"1����/����:>��?��=@>�����&A!��!'�#?&!�������B�C"����'�1&��&!������">��D�����"6������&�$E�:>��?��=@>���F4�!A2�&���&���>��">!'�'�($�#��'"8&!�!�?$����&'�!�&�?�>����$����G#��&�!����?"1�%&�&���&"!��:>��?��=@>���F4�!A2�&���&�����%&?$�'"8&!���'�($����">A�D���H���>!!&!A�!"���D�">����?"!A�I>?��!�$�=�������!'�����D1�����?"!A�:�?&6�G�=������4���&8#����"6���&�����H���''���"�����'&��"!!���&"!�(��1��!����&'�!����!'�1"�2�����!'�����"#�!��#����"J��&!A��"6�����=@>���E�'��#&���&���6"�8�?�A��'�!������������!'�8�A!&K��!��������

L���M��	N�
��-�
�OP
��


QRSTUVRS�WUXY�ZU[R\�]U[ÛS_S[̀�àXÙŜb�c�defUXR\�ghij

*
���
�4���I���&!��������?�"�(��!���6����'��"����kl�8"�$�=@>���m�($�n�>�!��#�"#?���o��1�������!���?�8���&!A�#?����6"��o!'&A�!">��#�"#?���6�"8������p�q���!'��prq��(>��!"�����#"#>?������s&��"�&��=@>���F4��!��!$�!AA�E�C&A���=@>���Ft�>1&�"��t�&�8"���=@>���Fo#���&�$&�'>���"��&A����!>8(���"6�0("�&A&!�?����&'�!���&!�����1�����!'�"6�0'�?�&'��4�!A2�&���1���!�8�'��"��"88�8"���������1&6��"6�o�$�8�&D&�#&!�E�4�!A2�&���"��k;���?"���E�6�"8�����;?����7&���&��m�u�����
��:>��?��=@>���F4�!A2��&�1���!�8�'��6����=&��v�8���:>��?��5&����E�����K����w��&'�!��;"88&��&"!����!'�#&"!����6">!'���"6������"?"!$�"6�=">���0>����?&���4���=">���0>����?&�!�;"88&��&"!�����##"&!��'�5&������"�"�A�!&�������?"��?��"!��&�>�&"!��o!�����E�5&�������%�'�����0'�?�&'��I��2�C�!'��6�"8�?�!'��#��>?��"����5&�����1����?����'�����K����C"�'�l�$"��"6�����;&�$�"6�0'�?�&'��x��)q9��)�y�z
�{��
����4���"�&A&!�?�?�$">��6"������=@>����1����"8#�"8&��'�&!��pqp�1��!��?����&�����8�����2��1����?�&'E�'&%&'&!A�����=@>����&!�"�&����>���!��6">��@>�'��!���:>��?��=@>���F4�!A2�&�������(��!���6"�>��6"��#>(?&�����E�1&�������&!�?>�&"!�"6���#&A�"!�6">!��&!��!'�k4���5"�����"6�7���8�m�����&!���??��&"!���|��}����~����

�O�0�������">��D���������"��"6������&�$��"!�&!>����"�A�"1�&������&'�!��#"#>?��&"!E�����#"��!�&�?�6"��:>��?��=@>�����"��"����"88>!&�$��%�!����!'�#�"%&'��8"����"!��8#?��&%���#������1�$�6�"8������%&?$����H�2�'��!%&�"!8�!��1&??�&!��������I�"%&'&!A��8�!&�&����!'��������&%��%&�����&!�"��!'�">��"6�����=@>����1&??�(������!�&�?�&6���&��#"��!�&�?�&���"�(�����?&��'�

WUX̀���c��_�TS_S[̀ÙVe[��WUX̀[SX\�V�\���[�S\̀_S[̀�gh

Page 376



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

��	������������������������	���	
 ��
����!�
����� "�"

Page 377



���������	
������
��
��������������������������������������������� ���������������������������!��������������������� ���"����������������������������#��������!��$�%����������������������������&'
�(�
)�*+���,�-�	()�(�
)�.
����
/����
���	)�,
���0���)����������12 �������������� �� ���������������������������������" ���3����� ����� �������4������������5����� ���������������&

6789:;78�<:=>�?:@7A�B:@:C8D8@E�FE=:E8CG�H�IJK:=7A�LMNO

P��Q�������Q��$�!����R��S������#���%����T��!�����������U��V������W�3�X���Y������X���������S���Z��������$�"3�#�����[���\��]���������� ��� ���"3�1�������W�����^��[ �����12 �������������������

	
������
���
���'��_
�̀�a ��b��Z��������������5������������ ����������Z��������������Z�������������$���������������������������������c ��d����������������Z������������[�����4�1����������������������"����������������������������12 ����������� ���3���������������������������� �����������Pe ��!������������� �������������������������������������� ������������������������������������� ��� ��������ZZ�����������������PP��1 ������������ �����������Z����������������������������12 �������������#��������!��$�%����PR ��V���Z�������$������� �������12 �����)
����
���*/
���PT ��Q���������������� �����������������3������� ����������� ��������������3��������Z"�"���������$�PU ��S���������Z�������������������12 �������� ��������������3������ �����������������5������������������� ���������������f� �������� ��� �����������������������3������� ������������� ���#��������!��$�%��������������!��$�%�����! �����

<:=E�g�H�hDi98D8@E:E;J@j�<:=E@8=Ak;iAj�h@l8AED8@EmLL

Page 378



��������	�
����

��
��


����������������������������� �! �� ��"�#�$%&�����'()*

��� �+�#�,�-����� � �%�.���� ����/�-�.�,�0�� ��� 1')

Page 379



���������	�
��
��	�������������������������������������� !"#��!$���"�!$%&�&�'#��(�������)�*����������+���,-�
������.����/��0!�1��.����23 �%�4�&5�6�7�84�9��""��:���8��.����;% &<�����:=8���>?81����74�#�"��������@�:8��!8 &�&�� &�'%�����&�'#�0%&���!�&0�#��0�%����A���%$�4#��8������:=8����% �!�B!8��&%�����������%! �C�;% &<�����:=8���>?81����%��&!<% ���&�'#���D�����"��1�������� �%��4�������!8���� �����%! ��!B�����:=8�����E! ����4��������:=8����!A������'��8�%B84�F��&� ��=8��� &��84�8��4����%��F��4� &���"��B���8�% F�4��F��?!���! �G�#�H%F�C�I����� &�������"4� ��&�% �<�<!�#�!B�?��F�����9!'% C�;��1'���#C�:%41#�J�1�C�K�"��% �K!!1�7% ��C�L!4&� �/������ &�M������/������9����&&%�%! �!B�����;% &<�����:=8���>?81����74�#�"����� &�7�84�9��""��:���8����$��� �� ��&�����8��'%4%�#�!B�����:=8����� &�'�!�&� �&�%����""��4��!����%&� ��C�0!�1����� &�$%�%�!����!������%�#�

N��OP
��
�	Q�
��,R�S
�


TUVWXYUV�ZX[\�]X̂U_�̀X̂XaVbV̂c�dc[XcVae�f�ghiX[U_�jklm

)
���
�;%��!�#���4&�'#�<�<'����!B�����/'!�%F% �4��!<<8 %�#�% &%��������������7���% ���0���� �%<"!��� ��<���% F�"4����B!��/'!�%F% �4�n4&����"�%!���!��!4! %���%! �?81����0���o% F�I!� 5��0%B�C���"�!<% � ��<�<'���!B�����o�8� ���!<<8 %�#�p�����
��/ ��&!��4��$%&� ����8FF�������%��%������<!������$%4#q8��&�:=8������r���% F�%���"�!s%<%�#��!�t8 &4��?�44C�����n����n &�� &��8��!8 &% F�!u���'8%4&% F���9���!�%F% �4�4�#!8��!B�����:=8����������� F�&��v�� �����'4%���&�'#�w%F��C�����:=8����0���! ��4��F��F�����&�����C��8�$�&��!����� !�����!����!<<!&�����������<�� &������!�&���x��%�� !0��!<"�%��&�!B�B!8��=8�&�� ���&%$%&�&�'#�L�� B�44�� &�784�� �#�:�������y
�O��
����9���;% &<�����:=8���>?81����?������74� ��!<<� ��&�%<"4�<� ���%! �0%�����<!$�4�� &���"4���<� ��!B����������"����!B�����8"F��&��!B�784�� �#�:�����C�� &���<!$�4�!B������!%4���� &�F��&� ���5�B��%4%�#��:% ������ C�����;% &<�����:=8����74�#�"��������'�� �% ���44�&�0%����8'��=8� ��4� &���"% F�!B����� !���q0����=8�&�� �C�� &�4� &���"% F�!B����� !���q�����=8�&�� ����z��{����|����

�}�9��!8F��B8�8���<������"4�  % FC�����% $���%F��%! ��% �!����� ���!0% F�!B��!�&0�#��� &�����&8��%! �% �����"��1% F�� &�"�%!�%�%�% F�"�&����%� ��������0!84&���4"�����% ���B����!B�����:=8����0%����8��!8 &% F�4� &�8����� &�"�!$%&����<!���� �%�% F�� $%�! <� ��B!��"�!"4��

ZX[c�~�f��b�WVbV̂cXcYĥ��ZX[ĉV[_�Y�_���̂�V_cbV̂c�j�

Page 380



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

��	������������������������	���	
 ��
����!�
����� "�#

Page 381



���������	
������
��
��������������������������������������������� ���������������������������!��������������������� ���"����������������������������#��������!��$�%���������������������������������&'
�(�
)�*+���,�-�	()�(�
)�.
����
/����
���	)�,
���0���)����������12 �������������� �� ���������������������������������" ���3����� ����� �������4������������5����� ����������������&

6789:;78�<:=>�?:@7A�B:@:C8D8@E�FE=:E8CG�H�IJK:=7A�LMNO

P��Q�������R�3�S���T��U������V��$"������W��X�� �����1��$3�Y�$����������Z��������2 ������[��\�������\��$�!���]��̂������#���#��� ��_��̀���������� ��� ���"3�!� ��������a��V���b�����12 ���cQ $����!��3�����

	
������
���
���'��d
�e�f ��U�� ��������b�����������$�������������������������������������)
����
���*/
���g ��\��������b������� �� �������������$����� ������������������5��������������������Ph ��1 ������������ ����������������������i������� ��������" ������������������"����3������b������ �"����������b���PP��̂����������������3������ ���������������������������������������� ���������������j� �������� ��� �����������������������3���3������� ������������� ���#��������!��$�%����������������!��$�%�����! �����PT ��k4������ ����������������������������bb������������������b��������b��� bZ��l���������

<:=E�m�H�nDo98D8@E:E;J@p�<:=E@8=Aq;oAp�n@r8AED8@EsLO

Page 382



��������	
��
�����
����

��������
����
�����
���� �!��"
#"��"� $
%
&'(����
)*+,

���"
-
%
.!/��!��"�"�'�0
���"����1�/�0
.�2��"!��" 3)4

Page 383



���������	�
��
��	��������������������������������������� !"#��!$���"�!$%&�&�'#�(��������)�*����������+���,-�
������.����/��0!�1��.����2!334 %�#��"�����.����2!334 %�#�'��1��'�55��!4���� &���'5����  %����'5�

6
��7����	8�
��,9�
����*�

:;<=>?;<�@>AB�C>D;E�F>D>G<H<DI�JIA>I<GK�L�MNO>A;E�PQRS

�����T�U���5�&�0%��% ������!4��V0����!W������%�#X�Y�%�3!���Z[4���\]"���%�#%��������&%�%! �55#����$�&�����!"� ��"���� ��&��!W������!334 %�#��2��������%��&�'#����̂�&� ��[4��5� &���"���! ��% % ̂�3�̂ %_�� ��������% �54&% ̂�̀!���! �a�#�b%̂�X�/�%c! ��2#"������X�d�""���e����X�f������/����X�2�3"�!��g�4��5��� &�h!53�i�1�X�Y�%�3!���Z[4���\]"���%�#%�����'�� �%&� �%_�&������"5����"�!$%&% ̂����� ̂��!W�"5�#�!""!��4 %�%���W!��5!��5����%&� ���/3� %�%����4������������'5����  %����'5���� &�(V! V(�'��1��'�55��!4������$����% W!���&������!5��!W�����Z[4�������� �%3"!��� ��W!��5�"!% ��W!�����%$��"5�#X�5!��5��$� ���� &��!334 %�#�̂�����% ̂��W!�������!4��V0�����%�#��!334 %�#�e���Y�%�3!���Z[4���\]"���%�#%�̀������d5� �����'5%��������%̂�V5�$�5�$%�%! �W!������W4�4���!W�����Z[4���X�� &���"5� �W!��%3"�!$�3� ����!����%�$�������$%�%! ��e����̀�����d5� �%����W��3�0!�1�W!��"5�  % ̂�� &�&��%̂ ������0%55j�.����h�5"��!�̂4%&��W4�4���0!�1��.����h�5"�����"4'5%��$%�4�5%�������Z[4���k��"!�� �%�5�.����l �'5������2%�#�!W�/&�5�%&���!�"5� �� &�%3"5�3� ������������̂�&�%3"�!$�3� ���f�5%$��#�!W�����̀������d5� �0%55�'��"�!̂�����&�!$����� 43'���!W�#��������!4̂���������� �0�5�� &��4�����%! �"5� �% ̂�)
���
�] ����(�����Z[4����0����� �3�&�Y�%�3!���Z[4���\]"���%�#%��!��! !4��]"���%�#%X���m�4� ��� ����!��'!� �% �����nop���� &����!̂ %���%����%̂ %_�� ��������3���% ̂�"5����W!��/'!�%̂% �5�"�!"5��X�"���%�45��5#�% �����nq(�rnqp���]""���%�#%�0�����"�% �%"�5�W�3�5��m�4� ��% W!�3� �X�����% ̂�����1 !05�&̂���'!4��m�4� ���45�4���� &�5� ̂4�̂��% �54&% ̂�"5���� �3���� &�%3"!��� ���%�������!4̂�!4��/&�5�%&���]"���%�#%�&%�&�% �nq�q�� &�%����W����&��!����s����5����0!3� �!W�����/&�5�%&��e�%'�k�

@>AI�t�L�uHv=<H<DI>I?NDw�@>AID<AEx?vEw�uDy<EIH<DIzP{

Page 384



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

���� !"#�$%&'()*+�,-./*+012/**&'3&�4/5�6/(+7�/8'+*�9*�$&::&/(�$)):*3;%+�$%&'()*+<�)6+�)8�'%+�=):)6&5/'&)6�=)((&55&)6+*5�8)*�,).'%�>.5'*/:&/�/67�/�(+(?+*�)8�'%+�@).5+�)8�=)(()65A�B%+�)*&C&6/:�:/3).'�)8�'%+�,-./*+�%/5�*+(/&6+7�*+(/*D/?:3�&6'/;'�8*)(�4%+6�E*5'�:/&7�).'�&6�=):)6+:�$&::&/(�F&C%'G5�2:/6A�B%+�)6:3�;%/6C+5�/*+�'%+�*+7.;+7�/6C:+5�)8�'%+�;)*6+*5�)8�'%+�,-./*+<�:+/H&6C�5)(+�5(/::�'*/I;�&5:/675AJ"#KLM" !��B%+�,-./*+�2*)H&7+5�/�:/*C+�)2+6�52/;+<�5.**).67+7�?3�(/'.*+�+N)'&;�'*++5�/67�&5�4+::O.5+7�?3�*+5&7+6'5A�B%+�,-./*+�%/5�/:5)�?+;)(+�/�8);.5�8)*�2.?:&;�/*'�&6&'&/'&H+5�&6�'%+�;&'3<�&6;:.7&6C�'%+�,%/.6�P&*?3�5;.:2'.*+�QR)3/C+*5GA��S�TU!�L�V���WX"#Y!>5�'%+�*+5&7+6'�2)2.:/'&)6�&6�'%+�5).'%O4+5'�5+;')*�)8�'%+�;&'3�&5�8)*+;/5'�')�C*)4�'%+*+�&5�/�5&C6&E;/6'�)22)*'.6&'3�')�?.&:7�)6�'%+�*/6C+�)8�8/;&:&'&+5�/H/&:/?:+�&6�'%+�,-./*+�')�+6%/6;+�&'5�*):+�/5�/�2:/;+�'%/'�'%+�:);/:�;)((.6&'3�H/:.+5A�1'5�/;;+55&?&:&'3�')�'%+�>7+:/&7+�=+6'*/:�9/*D+'�/775�')�'%+�,-./*+G5�/22+/:�/5�/�736/(&;�)2+6�52/;+�;/'+*&6C�8)*�/6�&6;*+/5&6C:3�7&H+*5+�2)2.:/'&)6A

��	��Z���[�\�����������]���	���	
̂�\
]�[�_�
����� �̀a

Page 385



���������	
������
��
��������������������������������������������� ���������������������������!��������������������� ���"����������������������������#��������!��$�%���������������������������������&'
�(�
)�*+���,�-�	()�(�
)�.
����
/����
���	)�,
���0���)����������12 �������������� �� ���������������������������������" ���3����� ����� �������4������������5����� ����������������&

6789:;78�<:=>�?:@7A�B:@:C8D8@E�FE=:E8CG�H�IJK:=7A�LMNO

	
������
���
���'��P
�Q�R ��!����������������������$��������������������������������S����������������4����������������������"�������S���S�������������������3����������������������S�����������������S���S����T ��U�� ���"�� S������������� �������12 �����������������������"��������������������������3���S�VW ��X���������������������S���������������������$�3�S���S������������������������12 ������������������������������������S�����������12 ���Y�����������������S���������"������������)
����
���*/
���VV��Z4��������������SS ���3�"��$��"������ ���������"����������������������S��� S�� "�������S�3����� ����������������[����������������������� �������������SS ���3�����������5����� �������������Y�����3V\ ��X��������S������� �� �������������$���������������������� ���������S������ ������������������5��������������������
V��]�������̂�3�_���\��#��[����X3�������`��!�����������#��� �a��b������#���%����c��d��S�e�$f��g�3������������$�"3�1�� ��h��"3i��j����Z�����̂�����]�S�����

<:=E�k�H�lDm98D8@E:E;J@n�<:=E@8=Ao;mAn�l@p8AED8@EqNM

Page 386



��������	
��
�����
������

��������	����	�����	������ ��!	"!��!��#	$	%&'����	()*+

���!	,	$	- .�� ��!�!�&�/	���!����0�.�/	-�1��! ��! 2*2

Page 387



���������	�
��
��	��������������������������������������� !"#��!$���"�!$%&�&�'#���(������)�*����������+���,-�
������.����/��&� ������0�1����2�#�3!��4�"!% ��3!���������%&� ���� &�5!�2����!3�6!����1&�4�%&�7�8�44% 9�! �:;<���=><& ���<�����'�� �%&� �%?�&����"�!$%&% 9�!""!��< %�%���3!���&&%�%! �4�"4�#�� &� ��<���"4�#��4�@� ������5�44����@!����! ��@"4��%$���"�����3!�������!@@< %�#��)
���
�> !54�&9����4&�'#�@�@'����!3�����>�<� ���!@@< %�#�% &%���������������A���% ���<��&��!��!  ����5����%�� !5�����9!43��!<���7����"����!3������$�44% 9�� &��< �% 9������<��&�'#�1'!�%9% �4�"�!"4���B���>�<� �� �@��3!������:;<�����!@@�@!������><& ���<7���>�<� ��5!@� �3�!@�����C�#���4�D�!!2������% ����� !����� E@!�����9%! �!3�>�<� ���!< ��#��F���@���%�9��% �GH�H��!�B�!@���1&�@�7������"���&7�

I�JJ��K����	L�
��,)�M�
���

NOPQRSOP�TRUV�WRXOY�ZRXR[P\PX]�̂]UR]P[_�̀ �abcRUOY�defg

5�������?����!h�%�4�@���%�9��'��5�� �������4���� &�� �1'!�%9% �4�"���! �% �:!<���1<����4%���:���'���@��2 !5 ����i��#�1  ��1&�@��j�����
��8�44% 9�! �:;<���=><& ���<�����k<�!"�� ��<4�<��4��%9 %?�� ������� �% ��9��4�"����!3�����1&�4�%&��A��2�l� &��� &�C%�#�l�#!<�7�� &�%��%���4�!�����! 4#�:;<����4!����&�% �6!����1&�4�%&���B����"��%�4����� 9�@� ��� &�"4� �% 9�������<'��� �%�44#�������@�����5�� ������%�#�5���4�%&�!<��'#�C!4! �4�8%44%�@�l%9���% �GHm(��B���:;<����5��� �@�&��3����n%�4&�i�����4�����o<2��!3�8�44% 9�! 7�5�!����!@@� &�&������""!% �@� ��!3�l%9����B���4�#!<��!3�����:;<����p���!�&% 9��!�����:@%���:<�$�#�!3�����GHHq�r������4����&�4%��4���% ���%��5�������'4%���&7�5%���������@��"����"����� �� &���#4��!3�s%��!�%� ������"4� �% 9��t
�M��
����n���<�% 9����� 9��!3��u!�%��� &� ��%$��������"��%�������5%��% �� �!"� 7���@%E ��<��4�� &�9��&� ��;<��4� &���"�7�8�44% 9�! �:;<���=><& ���<�&%�"4�#����&%��% ���v$%44�9��9��� w������������!@"4�@� ��&�'#��%9�4#����<��<��&�"4� �% 9��� &�"���5�#��4%9 @� ������x��y����z����

�K�8�44% 9�! �:;<���=><& ���<�5%44�% �����% 94#�'��!@����"4����3!���!@@< %�%����!�� 9�9��% ���&%$������� 9��!3��������%! �4����%$%�%���ku"� &% 9��������%$%�%���! �!{���p5%��% ������! ��!4��!3�%����%��!�%���! ���$��%! �|! % 9r�� &�%@"�!$% 9���������!�������!""!��< %�%���5%44�� �� ���������"��%�#�!3�����:;<�����!����"! &��!�� &�@����4!��4��!@@< %�#� ��&��

TRU]�}�̀ �~\�QP\PX]R]SbX��TRU]XPUY�S�Y��~X�PY]\PX]�fd

Page 388



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

��	������������������������	���	
 ��
����!�
����� "��

Page 389



���������	
������
��
��������������������������������������������� ���������������������������!��������������������� ���"����������������������������#��������!��$�%���������������������������������&'
�(�
)�*+���,�-�	()�(�
)�.
����
/����
���	)�,
���0���)����������12 �������������� �� ���������������������������������" ���3����� ����� �������4������������5����� ����������������

6789:;78�<:=>�?:@7A�B:@:C8D8@E�FE=:E8CG�H�IJK:=7A�LMNO

P��Q ���R����S��#��T����U3�����V��U����3�W������!���X��U���"Y��Z�[�\��]� �������$��"��������"�������

	
������
���
���'��̂
�_�` ��a���[�������$������� �������12 ���b ��1��$������� ������������� ���"�� [������ �������12 ���c ��1����������������� �� ����������12 ����������$����������������[�����3� ��"3��[���[�������������������������d��������[�����Pe ��W��������������f�������������������� �����������[���������[����������������������3���������������PP��1 ������������ �����������[����������������������������12 �������������#��������!��$�%�����)
����
���*/
���PS ��!����������3������� ��������������������������PV ��U������[������� �� ����� ����������������� ����������������������������������g�����������������4�������������[�������

<:=E�h�H�iDj98D8@E:E;J@k�<:=E@8=Al;jAk�i@m8AED8@EnNo

Page 390



����������	
��	�
�����
������
�����
����
����	�
���������������� �!"�#�� ��

$%����%�����&�'�
%��(�
�)�	�
��*�����)+���,�-��%��./01

203

Page 391



���������	�
��
���
����������������������������������������������� !"��#�#$#$�����%&��'�()*������&�+���������� !&���'$�&���'$�%&��'�(,*������&���$��#��������� 	�-��./0���1#��� ����23��4�#���#�#�+�������4�#���5��+�$���&��'�6��� 7����8�����(23�1���9:�1�;���9��;$����<:�=>)�#��� ?�@����������A���BC�
�����������D����+������� ������6�E������ ������F�#�<+��9+��#� 9�1$��� ������G����H �G���I����$�+�������J�K��  ��4�L�1�$M1�������������L#�����4�N����<���1�

�
��������������

OPQRSTPQ�USVW�XSYPZ�[SYS\Q]QŶ�_̂VŜQ\̀�a�bcdSVPZ�efgh

8����i���������������� !"��#�#$#$�����%&��'�()*�����&�+���������� !&���'$�&���'$�%&��'�(,*�����4����+������� �9��;$�$����##��1#$;�������$���j��+$#:��9��� 9�1� �E$#�$��#����� #���� �+:�9�9�+�#������� ��4�#���1$#:/���#�������� ���;��+����+:���#�$����#��$����$�$��+� ��9������4������������1����1#��$ ���<:� �< #��#$�+�#����9+��#$��J�$�1+��$����� $��$M1��#�9�+��1�++�1#$��J���$�4��1$�����k$1#��$���������� j���+��� 1�9�/�"��������� ��+ ���11������#�����$ #$�1#$;���l$�+�9�#�E�:� : #�����#$���4����#���2,.m �E�$1��1��9+����# �#����$��#���#��1��#��:�1����1#����4�#��� �������$���k$1#��$������ $�� J�1���1�� ����� +�#��'��<$��/?
���
�n��2).(����5<��$�$��+�"��#�o�<�  :�E� � �#��9�$��#���&��1$�1#�$�� �99��#��4�#�����#$���+�#��#� �#��9����#���+�E� ��4�&��+$����#�p�� �/"���q������#��� +�#$����4�"��#�#$#$�����$ �F�#$;��6$+�1�&+�1��%p�����<���$��;$�+�1��*/�&���'$�&���'$�E� ���q������#��1'���������$��/r�����
��s;���++J�#���&��1$�1#���#�$� �#�����$�$��+� ��9������4�����4�#���&��' �� ���;$ ���<:�K�+���+�G$++$���6$��#/&�+���������� !&���'$�&���'$�%&��'�(,*�������������������� !"��#�#$#$�����%&��'�()*������#�1��#�$����:�L#�#�����6�1�+�p��$#����&+�1� /"���G����H �G���I����$�+�������J�K��  ��4�L�1�$M1������L#�����4�N����<���1������+�1�#���$��&���$��#��������� �o� #�����L#�#��p��$#����6$ #��/�"�$ �������J���#$���4����#������+:�2)(m �$ ���#�$<�#��#��#���E������4�L��#��5� #��+$������#��$��1��#�$<�#$�� ����$���#���D$� #�G��+��G��/t
����
������������������� !"��#�#$#$�����%&��'�()*��� �;���#�#$���������#���+��+����# ��4����$#�$�1+��$��u�����&�+��%&����$l� 9�1$� *�1�++�1#$�����#$���4����������2,)m ���$ $���4����������#$���4����L$��L����+�G�:

USV̂�v�a�w]xRQ]QŶŜTcYy�USV̂YQVZzTxZy�wY{QẐ]QŶ|gh

Page 392



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

�������� !�"�#$%&'(('(�)#*%&'((*(�('+%'&,!&'"(-��.���(����������/&�+'��0��1'�'"�&$�%��1�0"��1'�"0&�1'&"�2�"3(�0/���������1'�4�&5'"������#�&06�)#'&��0"!��(! !7*�-�0"�'�(�'&"��&!�"8 '�0/��1'��������8�&5'"(9:� +'&�4�&5'"(;:�"83!�:�"83!�):�&3�<=-�.0"��!"(��1'�/0  0>!"8�,'8'���!0"��"5�"��*&� �' '+'"�(�0/�1'&!��8'�,� *'?�����#�+%10&�@�*&' �)#!""�+0+*+�.�+%10&�-� 0.��'5��������!"��1'�"0&�1A>'(��.0&"'&�0/��1'�8�&5'"(�5��'5���������&0*"5��1'�BC<D(�!(�0/�+'5!*+�(!8"!E.�".'�,!(*�  $���������"5�60��"!.�  $9������F1'�%� +�.0  '.�!0"�5��!"8�/&0+�B=CD(��&!(!"8�/&0+����������50"��!0"�/&0+�G!&�G�+*' �H�$9�I0*&�5��'�%� +(���������&'�(�!  �',!5'"���"5��1'('�1�,'�(0+'�1!(�0&!.��"5��������60��"!.�(!8"!E.�".'9:'""!"8�0"�4�&5'"(�>�(�5'(!8"'5�6$�:' J'&�!"��1'�8�&5'"'(7*'�(�$ 'K�>!�1�/0&+� �%��1(��"5�8�&5'"�6'5(9�F1'�&'5',' 0%+'"��0/�L5' �!5'�M,� �1�(�.1�"8'5��1'� �$0*��6*��!��&'��!"(�!�(�/0&+� !�$�('��>!�1�1!(�0&!.�(���*'(��"5���/0*"��!"9��

NOPQROS�TUO�VWXYZRG*&&0*"5'5�6$�8&0>!"8�&'(!5'"���"5�>0&3'&�%0%* ��!0"(K�[&0*81�+�4�&5'"(;F�"�*�!�!"88��):�&3�<C-��"5�:� +'&�4�&5'"(;:�"83!�:�"83!�):�&3�<=-�>!  �.0"�!"*'��0�%&0,!5'��%%'� !"8�% �.'(�0/�&'(%!�'�/0&� 0.� �&'(!5'"�(��"5�,!(!�0&(�� !3'9�F1'�%&0%0('5�&' 0.��!0"�0/��1'�H0+'"\(��"5�#1! 5&'"\(�]0(%!�� �+�$�.1�"8'�,!(!���!0"��0��1!(��&'�9�]0>','&K�&'(!5'"�!� �.0  '8'(��5̂�.'"��[&0*81�+�4�&5'"(;F�"�*�!�!"88��):�&3�<C-��"5�:� +'&�4�&5'"(;:�"83!�:�"83!�):�&3�<=-�>!  �.0"�!"*'��0�(''���"''5�/0&�!"/0&+� �&'.&'��!0"�(%�.'(�/0&�(�*5'"�(��"5�+'+6'&(�0/��1'�%*6 !.9_"1�".!"8�60�1�4�&5'"(�>!�1����&�.�!,'�% �"�!"8�&'8!+'(�.0+%&!(!"8���+!̀�0/�'̀0�!.��"5�"��!,'��&''(�>!  �%&0,!5'�&'(!5'"�(��"5�,!(!�0&(�>!�1��"��%%'� !"8�('��!"8�/0&���&�"8'�0/�'"&!.1!"8�0*�500&��.�!,!�!'(��"5�&' �̀��!0"9

��	��a���b�c�����������d���	���	
e�c
d�b�f�
����� g�h

Page 393



� ���������������	
����	

���
���	�
��	
�������	���������
��
�
��	�
�
	��������������������� !�" ��#	
��
����	��
���
���	��$��%���
	�&�	�
��'%��$(��%��$(��)%�	(�*+,���$���$����$���
�(
-�	���
���	��$����
���	(. ��/��	�0
������
���

������$
�
	���-�������
	
��
���
����1
	������	��$��	���
�2 ��/��	�0
�
���

������1
�3

��%���
	�&�	�
��'%��$(��%��$(��)%�	(�*+,�����4	��$����&�	�
��'5���������$$��)%�	(�*6,7 ��/��	�0
�
���

������3��������
8�	
�9��������:�$��;��<�����= ��/��	�0
������
���

�����������
��0
	���
����
������$���
�3�-�3��
��
��������
������
�0�
3�

> �������������� ������5�
������3��$�
�����
	�������3�����	�0��
�$�����

���	��������$������
�%	

��
���
0
�������������1
�
�����
	
������$�3������
�?�
����
�%�	(�:�����3��
��������$�
�����
	������@���A �B�CD���E�F��AB�A �B�G������H���������B�E����I���B������5�
�&�	�
���
�������
����	����
	���$
������
��
�����
���	�1���	-��
���	
����
�����
J���
���

�
�K��0
��
������
�		���	�@

LMNOPQMN�RPST�UPVMW�XPVPYNZNV[�\[SP[NY]�̂ �_̀aPSMW�bcde

>B���������CH����f ��%	�0��
���	
����

���������

����	�	
��J��$�������
�������$�����$���
���	��
	�����
	��

g ��%	�0��
���	
���	��
$�
���-���
��
���
����$�3��������
�$�	�
��������������
�$
�h ��/�0
���$��
����
��������
���������	�����$��8
������


������1��
��	��i ��%	�0��
�����1�3������
��
	K��
����$���������	������
����	�
��$	
$������������0
���$��
�����	������
����	����j��'���$����
��
	��$

RPS[�k�̂ �lZmONZNV[P[Q̀Vn�RPS[VNSWoQmWn�lVpNW[ZNV[qdr

Page 394



��������	��
��
�


����������������������������������������� !"�����#$%&

�����'���(�)���������!�*���������+�)�*�(�,������� -%.

Page 395



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

���� !�"#$%"&��'�  $ (�� )�* +!"�,! �-.�/01..2.3�456�789�4:7:69�54�789�;<9012<9�=16>�?1.<@A�789�45005B2.3�/01..2.3�/502CD�<5C:E9.7@�169�6909F1.7GH����!($I��'�  $ (�JK �!L�M� �(!,! ���'� "�NK��O)!'�$)!����P�Q� )"R89�S5F96.E9.7�54�T5:78�;:@761021�1.<�U27D�54�;<9012<9�169�69V:269<�75�/69/169�W1.139E9.7�=01.@�456�789�;<9012<9�=16>�?1.<@GR89�U27D�54�;<9012<9�U5EE:.27D�?1.<�W1.139E9.7�=01.@�XU?W=Y�456�789�;<9012<9�=16>�?1.<@�@97�5:7�5Z[9C72F9@A�/502C29@�1.<�/65/5@10@�456�E1.139E9.7�54�789�;<9012<9�=16>�?1.<@A�@7179@�/96456E1.C9�716397@�1.<�E91@:69@A�/65F2<9@�2.456E1725.�5.�1.D�69@762C725.@�75�/:Z02C�:@9�56�E5F9E9.7�7865:38�789�;<9012<9�=16>�?1.<@A�1.<�2.C0:<9@�@/9C2\C�2.456E1725.�5.�6909F1.7�/502C29@�456�789�361.72.3�54�091@9@�1.<�02C9.C9@GR89�U?W=�E:@7�Z9�C5.@2@79.7�B278�789�;<9012<9�=16>�?1.<@�W1.139E9.7�T761793DGR89�@7179�35F96.E9.7]@�W1.139E9.7�=01.@�456�789�;<9012<9�=16>�?1.<@�5:702.9�789�E1.139E9.7�456�789�;<9012<9�=16>�?1.<@�:.<96�@7179�35F96.E9.7�56�;39.CD̂;:785627D�5B.96@82/G�'�  $ (�� )�_!"$( �JK)!�̀�O)!'�$)!����P�Q� )"�aK !b9F905/E9.7�2.�789�;<9012<9�=16>�?1.<@�2@�1@@9@@9<�1312.@7�789�@7179�35F96.E9.7]@�=01..2.3�1.<�b9@23.�U5<9GR89�;<9012<9�=16>�?1.<@�c5.9�/65F2<9@�789�0932@0172F9�/01..2.3�461E9B56>�1.<�693:01725.@�456�<9F905/E9.7�B2782.�789�;<9012<9�=16>@�?1.<@G�R89�c5.9�C5F96@�100�54�789�;<9012<9�=16>�?1.<@A�1.<�2.C0:<9@�1.�;V:172C�U9.769�@:Zd5.9�456�/167�54�b9.2@9�e5675.�=16>̂=16<2/16<2.D2001�X=16>�fYG

g�!��!��O)!'�$)!�h!($K �'��'� �igOh�jR89�T7179�=01..2.3�U5EE2@@25.�2@�/65369@@2.3�789�S691796�;<9012<9�k9325.10�=01.�XS;k=Y�7817�B200�69/01C9�789�C:669.7�/01.A�>.5B.�1@�789�lmno916�=01.�456�S691796�;<9012<9Gp.C9�\.102@9<A�789�S;k=�B200�/65F2<9�789�5F96100�/01..2.3�461E9B56>�456�789�365B78�1.<�<9F905/E9.7�54�789�S691796�;<9012<9�k9325.GR89�S;k=�5:702.9@�1�C5EE27E9.7�75�Z:20<�5.�789�W9765/50271.�p/9.�T/1C9�TD@79E�XWpTTY�461E9B56>�B82C8�B1@�456E100D�2.272179<�2.�789�9160D�qrrm]@�7865:38�789�<9F905/E9.7�54�1�.9B�p/9.�T/1C9�T761793D�456�S691796�;<9012<9Gp.C9�2E/09E9.79<A�789�S;k=�B200�1005B�456�1�8502@72C�F29B�54�365B78�456�789�S691796�;<9012<9�k9325.�B82C8�E:@7�Z9�C5.@2<969<�2.�789�/01..2.3�456�789�;<9012<9�=16>�?1.<@A�1@�1.�5/9.�@/1C9�@D@79E�456�100�T5:78�;:@761021.@GJ$�s�KN�O)!'�$)!�̀�J$�s��'� U27D�=01.�2@�1.�:6Z1.�<9@23.�1.<�@7617932C�/01..2.3�/65C9@@�7817�5:702.9@�789�@/17210�F2@25.A�3510@A�1.<�@76179329@�456�4:7:69�@:@712.1Z09�365B78�1.<�<9F905/E9.7�1C65@@�789�U27D�54�;<9012<9�2.75�789�.9t7�<9C1<9GR89�U27D�=01.�02.>@�B278�782@�T761793D�75�2<9.724D�5//567:.2729@�1.<�1691@�54�789�;<9012<9�=16>�?1.<@�7817�B200�.99<�75�69@/5.<�75�2.C691@9<�/5/:01725.�1.<�F2@271725.G�U27D�=01.�B200�C5.712.�<171�1.<�2.@2387@�456�789�;<9012<9�=16>�?1.<@�7865:38�1�61.39�54�@/17210�01D96@G�R89@9�01D96@�B200�/65F2<9�C5.79t7:10�@7617932C�/01..2.3�2.456E1725.�7817�B200�1@@2@7�2.�9F2<9.C9nZ1@9<�<9C2@25.�E1>2.3�456�789�;<9012<9�=16>�?1.<@G

��	��u���v�w�����������x���	���	
y�w
x�v�z�
�����{|�

Page 396



����������	
��	�
�����
������
�����
����
����	�
�

����������������
�����
���	�
����������������������� !

"#"

Page 397



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

���� ! "#�$%�&!�%�'!$(��')*��+,-./�01�2/34�53678�9:7;3<:7�8-./�3�-=<>-7�3=:�?73-4<1-;�.<4@�<8�<48�0A7=�8A3.78�3=:�;3=:8.3A78B�<=.;-:<=C�4/7�9:7;3<:7�D3E6�F3=:8GH/7�-=:7EA<==<=C�84E7=C4/�01�0A7=�8A3.7�<=�9:7;3<:7�<8�4/7�,74E0A0;<43=�IA7=�JA3.7�J@8475�K,IJJL�2/<./�<8�3�=7420E6�01�A3E68�3=:�0A7=�8A3.78�;0.347:�4/E0-C/0-4�574E0A0;<43=�9:7;3<:7GH/7�9:7;3<:7�D3E6�F3=:8�3=:�4/7�M<N7E�H0EE7=8OP3EE32<EE3�D3E<�3E7�34�4/7�/73E4�01�4/7�,74E0A0;<43=�IA7=�JA3.7�J@8475GH/7�9:7;3<:7�D3E6�F3=:8�3E7�3�-=<>-7B�Q34<0=3;;@�R7E<43C7�F<847:�;3=:8.3A7�4/34�E7>-<E7�3�/0;<84<.�3AAE03./�40�<=.E7387:�CE77=<=CB�2347E�87=8<4<N7�-E?3=�:78<C=B�840E52347E�53=3C757=4B�2347E�>-3;<4@�3=:�.;<5347�E78<;<7=.7�80�4/34�4/7�9:7;3<:7�D3E6�F3=:8�.3=�?7�E78A0=8<N7�40�4/7�=77:8�01�3�CE02<=C�A0A-;34<0=�<=�4/7�.<4@B�3=:�.0=4<=-7�40�8-AA0E4�4/7�,74E0A0;<43=�IA7=�JA3.7�J@8475GS !T"$�# %�U� V�WH/7�<5A0E43=.7�01�7=/3=.<=C�3=:�AE047.4<=C�4/7�9:7;3<:7�D3E6�F3=:8�2<;;�<=.E7387�38�XE7347E�9:7;3<:7�CE028G�98�2<;;�4/7�=77:�10E�4/7�7YA3=8<0=�01�4/7�,74E0A0;<43=�IA7=�JA3.7�J@8475�2<4/�>-3;<4@�;0.3;�3=:�E7C<0=3;�0A7=�8A3.7�<=�8-EE0-=:<=C�574E0A0;<43=�9:7;3<:7�3E738GH/7�9:7;3<:7�D3E6�F3=:Z8�8-EE0-=:<=C�8-?-E?8�01�[02:7=B�[E05A40=B�H/7?3E40=B�P7=4�H02=�3=:�X;7=8<:7�3E7�7YA7E<7=.<=C�0E�3=4<.<A34<=C�8<C=<\.3=4�A0A-;34<0=�CE024/G]-E4/7E�CE024/�3;0=C�3=:�80-4/�01�XE77=/<;;�M03:�3=:�87;7.47:�;0.34<0=8�<=�[-E=8<:7B�̂3;67EN<;;7�3=:�DE08A7.4�F0.3;�X0N7E=57=4�9E738�2<;;�<=.E7387�:753=:�10E�-87�01�4/7�9:7;3<:7�D3E6�F3=:8�3=:�;0.3;�0A7=�8A3.7�AE0N<8<0=8GDE<0E<4<8<=C�20E68�<=�4/7�9:7;3<:7�D3E6�F3=:8�87EN<=C�4/7�;3EC784�A0A-;34<0=�.0=.7=4E34<0=8�3=:�3E738�01�;3EC784�A0A-;34<0=�<=.E7387�2<;;�?7.057�<5A0E43=4�0N7E�4/7�=7Y4�_�40�̀a�@73E8G�

b +!$�#* %� c�&!�%�'!$(��')*��+*d=�J0-4/�9-84E3;<3�4/7E7�<8�3�;7C<8;34<N7�E7>-<E757=4�10E�=72�:7N7;0A57=48�40�.0=4E<?-47�̀eG_f�01�;3=:�4023E:�A-?;<.�0A7=�8A3.7G�9�A0A-;34<0=gE34<0=�843=:3E:�<8�3�574/0:�2/<./�.3=�?7�3AA;<7:�40�:78.E<?7�4/7�AE0N<8<0=�01�0A7=�8A3.7�E7;34<N7�40�4/7�;7N7;�01�A0A-;34<0=G�H/7E710E7B�̀eG_f�01�0A7=�8A3.7�3AA;<7:�40�h_�/7.43E78�01�3�;02�:7=8<4@�:7N7;0A57=4�3E73�7>-3478�40�3E0-=:�i�/3�A7E�̀Baaa�A70A;7�K?387:�0=�̀_�:27;;<=C8�A7E�/7.43E7�3=:�̀Gj�A7E80=8�A7E�/0-87/0;:LG�H/<8�\C-E7�<8�.0=8<847=4�2<4/�?7=./53E68�-87:�<=�4/7�9-84E3;<3=�k3A<43;�H7EE<40E@�Ki�/3L�3=:�l-77=8;3=:�Kim_�/3L�?-4�CE7347E�4/3=�4/7�Q72�J0-4/�̂3;78�?7=./53E6G]0E7.384�A0A-;34<0=�<=.E73878�N3E@�1E05�hf�<=�k<4@�01�n=;7@�40�ihf�<=�4/7�k<4@�01�9:7;3<:7G�DE0o7.47:�CE024/�0=�4/7�27847E=B�80-4/7E=�3=:�=0E4/7E=�?0-=:3E<78�01�4/7�9:7;3<:7�D3E6�F3=:8�<8�;<67;@�40�/3N7�3�8<C=<\.3=4�<5A3.4�0=�:753=:�10E�>-3;<4@�3=:�3..788<?;7�0A7=�8A3.7G98�XE7347E�9:7;3<:7Z8�A0A-;34<0=�CE028�4/7�AE0A0E4<0=�01�0A7=�8A3.7�A7E�̀Baaa�A70A;7�2<;;�E7:-.7B�<4�<8�4/7E710E7�<5A7E34<N7�4/34�4/7E7�<8�8/3E7:�<=N78457=4�<=�4/7�9:7;3<:7�D3E6�F3=:8�3=:�<=.E7387:�<=N78457=4�<=�0A7=�8A3.7�AE0N<8<0=�4/E0-C/�4/7�7YA3=8<0=�01�4/7�2<:7E�,74E0A0;<43=�IA7=�JA3.7�J@8475G�H/<8�A-?;<.�0A7=�8A3.7�<8�E7>-<E7:�40�8-AA0E4�.055-=<4<78�3=:�3E7�7887=4<3;�40�4/7�A/@8<.3;�3=:�80.<3;�/73;4/�3=:�27;;?7<=C�01�4/7�.055-=<4@G

��	��p���q�r�����������s���	���	
t�r
s�q�u�
�����vw�

Page 398



����������	
��	�
�����
������
�����
����
����	�
�
���������������� ����!�����"���������#����������$���"$�#����%�����&��'����()����)��*()����)��+�%,�-��)".���)������)/�������#�!�#��"0������� ������������"������)/�������#�!�#��"������#!%%����'�1�������� ��#�1�%,����2���#��%�"�$�%�34555�$��$��0
���������������� ����!�����"���������#����������$���"$�#����%���!%�#�$�����#����"����(!"�%����0�����#�1$�%�"������������"�����"����6#��#����������$���"$�#��$%�7�"��������!��#�$�����#��'4����#���"�����"����6#������#��%����������7�� ����'��������&��'����()����)�0
89:;<=9:�><?@�A<B9CD�EBF:DGH:BG�I�7�"������4���%�!�������1��)1�����������+����������)�J�"����&�)�4��������%�)!#�����������()����)��+�%,�-��)"�K$���L$�#��KM"���L#��1���%�()����)��+�%,�-��)"�K7�%��'����!���#,���7�"�1�����������()����)��+�%,�-��)"0����"���������7����!�)��$$�'�����!�!%��)�7���$1���"�����������%��'��������()����)��+�%,�-��)"���%��$���"$�#��$%�7�"���� !���%��������#���)������������&��'����()����)�0

89N<O:BG�PQRBO=;�PQHS<?=DQB TS:B�US<O:�VW:OG<?:DX W<�S:?�YZ[[[�S:QS;:P=G\�Q]�89:;<=9: _̂5 à03P=G\�Q]�bQ?cQQ9Z�><\B:d<H�<B9�UG�>:G:?D 3e5 20efgQcB�Q]�h<;@:?F=;;: ii 20ìP=G\�Q]�jR?BD=9: 3a5 203eP=G\�Q]�Pd<?;:D�UGR?G 25i i0iaP=G\�Q]�h:DG�gQ??:BD 3̂i 0̀e2P=G\�Q]�>?QDS:OG ì 303fP=G\�Q]�kB;:\ i5 50̂_l�mn���o�p�qrs�t�
����n
t���u
�
�v
�t����	
�����

P<S=G<;�P=G\�PQHS<?=DQB TS:B�US<O:�VW:OG<?:DX W<�S:?�YZ[[[P=G\�Q]�89:;<=9: _̂5 à03�P=G\�Q]�w:;xQR?B: fff 0̂ieP=G\�Q]�>:?Gd f2̂ i03eP=G\�Q]�U\9B:\ î^ 0̀i_l�mn���y�p���
��������z�u
�
�v
�t����	
�����


qr����r�����{�|�
r��}�
�m�	�
��v�����mz���~����r������

���

Page 399



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

��	������������������������	���	
 ��
����!�
�����"##

Page 400



����������	
��	�
�����
������
�����
����
����	�
���������������� !�"#� ��!$#� !%&�'(�$�)! *!�� *#�+$#'(!$#�,(-.�/(�$0� *( �!0�1"--#� '&�1��0!$#-#$�(0�*(2!�3�(�45��6�,(-.�/(�$0�,"-7�0#8�(�$��9#-0�'!:! #$��-�-#0 -!1 #$�7";'!1�(11#00<�= �!0�(�.#&�7-!�-! &� *( � *!0�'(�$�;#�-# "-�#$� ��(�4,(-.�/(�$0�,"-7�0#8<��>?��@A����������?�B��C�D��E������F" '!�#$�;#'�)�(-#��� (;'#�-# "-�� ��,(-.�/(�$0�+-#(0<
G� ('�(-#(�-# "-�#$� ��+$#'(!$#�,(-.�/(�$0�;&��! &��%�+$#'(!$#�!0�(77-�H!:( #'&�I<J�*(

G� ('�(-#(�-# "-�#$� ��+$#'(!$#�,(-.�/(�$0�;&� *#�K�2#-�:#� ��%�L�" *�+"0 -('!(�(�$�+"0 -('!(��K�2#-�:#� �!0�(77-�H!:( #'&�MN<O�*(< PQ����Q�����R�S�
Q��T�
�U�	�
��V�����UW���X�Y��Q��Z[\]

�?�E�̂�?_�̀aAA��b����c�de�����E�f���?�>?��g��E�A�aE��f���a?���?�E�hijkjlmjn o<p�*(�qac�?�a��B��C���c�c?�����@�aA��̂?�_���E�c���r��C s<N�*(�ta�u�?v�w�?x����wA�@ o<s�*(w?����y��?�vz�q��A��{��E��� pM:|}�U~�������PQ����Q�����R�S�
Q�����~�
��������W����W����PQ����Q�

}�U~����[���PQ����Q�����R�S�
Q�����~�
��������W������
	�
�����V�~���P~���������
Q�P~�������
������
	�
�
f��������A��E�a��{A�Ev���ArgacC�B��Cd>���������hr��C���n p<I�*(��cC��v�e�����r?� p<IO�*(D��E������?̂�̀?�rg����f������@�aE���l���A���̀�v?�B��Cdb�Av�����EAa�hB��C��kwn s<|�*(t�?_��B��C�ĥ?�_����?v�A��E�A�aE���?�ra��A�c���r��Cn M<��*(���f�E�r?��a�����EA��B��C M<s�*(�AE�e������?̂�̀���?�?A?�vl�c?�����{A?y����y����d�����b����c� o<s�*(B?�����A���c����a?��A�����a�����h�����b����c�n o<��*(D��E��a�g����aE��?̂�>?��g��E�A�aE��f���a?���?�E�ha�cA�Ea����??Ev��E��a��n�ijj� M<M�*(>?��g��E�A�aE����aA��v�f���a?� o<|�*(

���

Page 401



����������	
���
������������������������������������������� !��""���������������������������� ��������#�����$����%�����&������#!�&#����'�����������(���)*��+$����%�����$��"���,������)$����%�����$��"���,-�.��� �##����(�������/����&�������������������������"����� ������������-�0�����%������������&������#!�����������&���1�&�����#�����������/���(�/����� �����2����������3�������������!�������������&��#���������� �������������&���1�&�����#������������/���(�/����� �����2��!�� ����#���������##��� ������������&�������"��#�&��&&�����0����.�������� ���� ���!�#���� ��/������������������(�����/�����������2��!�� ����#��������#���������������"������������&��������(�/���������#���������������(��������&���������� �����#����������"�������������������#������ ��/������4������� �$��#��/����0����4���������������������������#��(���&����������'��������� ���"��"��������&��#�����������������"��#�&#!���������&&�����#��(������"�&��5$����%�����$��"���6-�

789:;<89�=;>?�@;A8B�C;A;D9E9AF�GF>;F9DH�I�JKL;>8B�MNOP

�Q���RST U	�V�RST W�
�S�Q	� W�������X�
��QY�QS� ZYYS����Q�[ U�QS�Q�[\�]Q̂Q�_` ab 2��"��������� �����2��!�� ����#���� c�&����#����5��d�����*��������#�����.������������6 e������(�����""��������������������������$����%�����"��"��� f����/�ghij�k����l ab 2��"��������� �����2��!�� ����#���� c�&����#��� e������(�����""��������������������������$����%�����"��"��� f����/�ghij�k����m ab 2��"��������� �����2��!�� ����#���� n��/����"�����&����� e������(�����""��������������������������$����%�����"��"����h���/���#�� �������������� �&� 4�(��ihg�k����o ab 2��"��������� �����2��!�� ����#���� 3�$p%�q����3� ��!�2����� r��������� ������#��!����/��������f�&��q�����!��������������$����%�����$��"���� �##����(�������#�&������� �3�$p%� �&�#���������ajas 4�(��ihg�k����t ab 2��"��������� �����2��!�� ����#���� 3�$p%�h��������(���/�������� e������(�����""��������������������������$����%�����$��"����"������������u�/��,������2��#����,��4��"���#�&�/"#����� f����/�ghij�k����v ab f�������� ���2#�/���1�w������/��������u���� ���#�����x��#�����$������f�(�y��� e������(�����""������������������������2��!�� ����#�����������&������� �"��#�&��&&������#��!�"������������u�/��,������2��#����,��4��"���#�&�/"#����� f����/�ghij�k����

=;>F�z�I�{E|:9E9AF;F<KA}�=;>FA9>B~<|B}�{A�9BFE9AF��P

Page 402



����������	
��	�
�����
������
�����
����
����	�
�

����������������
�����
���	�
����������������������� !"��#���$$�%�&��#�
��������'���#��

()*+�,-. /012�,-. 345*-6)07 3411+7*�8+591):*)-7 ;::-1*47)*< /1)-1)*<=�>)?)7@A BC DEFEGHIJ�KLJ�MNEOPHIQ�RFSEJLFOIFH�PFT�UPHIJ VPWPFH�NPFT XFSIGHEYPHI�LZZLJH[FEHEIG�HL�JIH[JF�HL�MEH\�LK�]TINPETI DITE[O�_̂̀a�bIPJGc BC MLJZLJPHELF�LK�HdI�MEH\�LK�]TINPETI eINIF�DP\L�fPJghi[N\P�UPJTNE��jfPJg�BCk idJL[Yd�OPGHIJ�ZNPFFEFYQ�JIH[JF�HL�fPJg�lPFTG�f[JZLGI�PFT�EFWJIPGI�Z[mNEW�PWWIGGEmENEH\ eEYd�_̀̂�bIPJGn BC MLJZLJPHELF�LK�HdI�MEH\�LK�]TINPETI MPJ�fPJg XFSIGHEYPHI�LZZLJH[FEHEIG�HL�JIH[JF�HL�MEH\�LK�]TINPETI�PFT�JIH[JF�HL�fPJg�lPFTG�f[JZLGI eEYd�_̀̂�bIPJGop Bq MLJZLJPHELF�LK�HdI�MEH\�LK�]TINPETI rLJOIJ�GZLJHG�WL[JHG XFSIGHEYPHI�LZZLJH[FEHEIG�HL�JIH[JF�HL�P�fPJg�lPFTG�Z[JZLGI� eEYd�_̀̂�bIPJGoo BB MLJZLJPHELF�LK�HdI�MEH\�LK�]TINPETI rLJOIJ�GZLJHG�WL[JHG XFSIGHEYPHI�LZZLJH[FEHEIG�HL�JIH[JF�HL�P�fPJg�lPFTG�Z[JZLGI�_�JIOLSPN�LK�dPJTGHPFT�G[JKPWI eEYd�_̀̂�bIPJGos B̀ MLJZLJPHELF�LK�HdI�MEH\�LK�]TINPETI ]WWIGG�TJESItP\ XFSIGHEYPHI�LZZLJH[FEHEIG�HL�JIH[JF�HL�P�fPJg�lPFTG�Z[JZLGI�_�JIOLSPN�LK�dPJTGHPFT�G[JKPWI eEYd�_̀̂�bIPJGou B̀ MLJZLJPHELF�LK�HdI�MEH\�LK�]TINPETI rLJOIJ�GZLJHG�WL[JHGhWN[m�JLLO XFSIGHEYPHI�LZZLJH[FEHEIG�HL�JIH[JF�HL�P�fPJg�lPFTG�Z[JZLGI�_�JIOLSPN�LK�dPJTGHPFT�G[JKPWI�PFT�EFSIGHEYPHI�PTPZHESI�JI[GI�LK�WN[mJLLO eEYd�_̀̂�bIPJGov B̀ DEFEGHIJ�KLJ�XFKJPGHJ[WH[JI�PFT�iJPFGZLJH iLJJIFG�fPJPTI�wJL[FT XFSIGHEYPHI�LZZLJH[FEHEIG�HL�JIH[JF�HL�MEH\�LK�]TINPETI�PFT�EFWJIPGI�Z[mNEW�PWWIGGEmENEH\�PFT�[GPYI lLt�à_Ba�bIPJGox `̂ MLJZLJPHELF�LK�HdI�MEH\�LK�]TINPETI iIOZLJPJ\�GgPHI�ZPJg XFSIGHEYPHI�LZZLJH[FEHEIG�HL�KLJOPNEyI�HdI�HIOZLJPJ\�GgPHI�ZPJg�LJ�JIOLSI�dPJTGHPFT�PJIPG�PFT�JIH[JF�HL�P�fPJg�lPFTG�Z[JZLGI eEYd�_̀̂�bIPJGoz `̀ MLJZLJPHELF�LK�HdI�MEH\�LK�]TINPETI fLJHELF�LK�{LHPFEW�fPJg�_�W[JJIFHN\�P�HdLJL[YdKPJI XFSIGHEYPHI�LZZLJH[FEHEIG�HL�JIH[JF�HL�MEH\�LK�]TINPETI�PFT�EFWJIPGI�LK�Z[mNEW�PWWIGGEmENEH\�PFT�EFHIJKPWI�tEHd�|ESIJ�iLJJIFGh}PJJPtEJJP�fPJE DITE[O�_̂̀a�bIPJGoA ~ MLJZLJPHELF�LK�HdI�MEH\�LK�]TINPETI �ZLJHG�WL[JHG XFSIGHEYPHI�LZZLJH[FEHEIG�HL�JIH[JF�HL�P�fPJg�lPFTG�f[JZLGI�_�JIOLSPN�LK�dPJTGHPFT�G[JKPWI eEYd�_̀̂�bIPJGoc ��PFT�̂ MLJZLJPHELF�LK�HdI�MEH\�LK�]TINPETI lIKISJI�|LPT XFSIGHEYPHI�LZZLJH[FEHEIG�HL�WNLGI�HdEG�JLPT�PFT�JIH[JF�HL�P�fPJg�lPFTG�f[JZLGI�_�WLOmEFEFY�fPJg���PFT�̂ lLt�à_Ba�bIPJGon B MLJZLJPHELF�LK�HdI�MEH\�LK�]TINPETI ]TINPETI�]�[PHEW�MIFHJI fLGH�WLOZNIHELF�LK�HdI�FIt�]TINPETI�]�[PHEW�MIFHJI�_�JIH[JF�I�EGHEFY�]TINPETI�]�[PHEW�MIFHJI�HL�P�fPJg�lPFTG�f[JZLGI eEYd�_̀̂�bIPJGsp VEWHLJEPhiPFHPF\PFYYPQ�eEFTOPJGdhD[gPHPQ�e[JHNIhiPFYgPEJPQ�lEYdHhUP[tEQ�UINNEFYHLFh}[TFPJH[Q�UdEHOLJIhXZPJJEH\E
MLJZLJPHELF�LK�HdI�MEH\�LK�]TINPETI ]TINPETI�fPJg�lPFTG�JLPTtP\G idJL[Yd�OPGHIJ�ZNPFFEFYQ�EFSIGHEYPHI�LZZLJH[FEHEIG�HL�JIH[JF�ZLJHELFG�LK�]TINPETI�fPJg�lPFTG�JLPTtP\G�PJL[FT�HdI�fPJg�lPFTG���[PJIG�HL�P�fPJg�lPFTG�Z[JZLGI�HdJL[Yd�HdI�FPJJLtEFY�LK�fPJg�lPFTG�JLPTG lLt�à_Ba�bIPJG

$��

Page 403



����������	
��	�


����������������������������������������� !"�����#$%&

�����'���(�)���������!�*���������+�)�*�(�,�������-./

Page 404



����������	
��	�
�����
������
�����
����
����	�
�

����������������
�����
���	�
����������������������� !����������������
�����
���	�
����������������������� !����������������
�����
���	�
����������������������� !

�"#$%&'�(&#)�*&+,&+$+#-�$,�./0/1#2#'�3)4,�*)&567%24)�8)&92+�:*)&5�.;<=�>?@?A�BCDE�FCGHIJK@DC�LCGM@N�OFCGH�PQRS�NT�CA�KAM?GUKVN@NT?M�WCGH�XNVY�@NVV@?�CZ?ANVD�E[?G?M�\EG�]EZZKANVD�?̂A?_V̀�a�ZCTV?G�W@CA�NT�G?bKNG?M�VE�cKNM?�VY?�TVGCV?cN]�NZWGEd?Z?AV�E\�VY?�TNV?�CAM�NAV?cGCVNEA�XNVY�VY?�]NVD�CAM�TKGGEKAMNAc�̂KN@V�CAM�ACVKGC@�\EGZ`e(*fg�1,&-#�(h+-$i#'$�(&#)�JY?�WGEWET?M�G?@E]CVNEA�E\�VY?�jEKVY�aKTVGC@NCA�BEKAV?M�FE@N]?�kANV�WGEdNM?T�CA�EWWEGVKANVD�VE�G?VKGA�VY?�\EGZ?G�YEGT?�CcNTVZ?AV�CG?C�VE�C�FCGH�lCAMT�FKGWET?�CAM�VE�NAV?cGCV?�XNVY�VY?�TKGGEKAMNAc�EW?A�TWC]?m�G?]G?CVNEA�CAM�Y?C@VY�WG?]NA]VT̀n,&i#&�1)&9�<,%&$-�:7#''+-o�p#$q)22o�r)-5#$q)22=�>CGM�]EKGV�TWC]?T�VYCV�CG?�AE�@EAc?G�NA�KT?�WGEdNM?�CA�EWWEGVKANVD�VE�NA]G?CT?�W?GZ?Ĉ@?�TKG\C]?Tm�XCV?G�M?V?AVNEA�CAM�VG??�]CAEWD�NA�VY?�aM?@CNM?�FCGH�lCAMT̀

stu

Page 405



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

���� !"��!�#$%"�&'$()*�+,-./0/�1-/�213+1/4567�*81,*9/7:�,;/+3�<+1-=+57�>*3�.?0/719/?1�+3/�3/@8.3/AB���� !"��!�'CC'$!D�E!E� FG��H'II'&E�J�%$��EK��!EL�K�% �!G��(�M�HD�KE�J� 'D$N� �H'$�E��� !"��!�E��!G��OK�I%EK��P%$(�Q%�K RS�����T+<.1+;�T.15�T*99.11//�S�����U*0/3?9/?1�*>�2*81-�V8713+;.+�S�����T.15�*>�VA/;+.A/�S�����VAW*.?.?4�,*8?,.;7�S�����X+?A�Y=?/37�.?�1-/�VA/;+.A/�Z+3[�X+?A7P%$!��$ GEC \]'̂���� !"��!�_%II�'$�N'" È�%!E'��'HaS�����T.15�*>�VA/;+.A/�+?A�U*0/3?9/?1�*>���������2*81-�V8713+;.+�S�����T.15�*>�VA/;+.A/�+?A�<3.0+1/�A/0/;*</37�S�����T.15�*>�VA/;+.A/�+?A�+AW*.?.?4�,*8?,.;7�S�����T.15�*>�VA/;+.A/�+?A�,*998?.15�*34+?.7+1.*?7�S�����T.15�*>�VA/;+.A/�+?A�V8713+;.+?�U*0/3?9/?1�S�����Z-.;+?1-3*<5�S�����T*998?.15�*34+?.7+1.*?7�b�2<*31.?4�T;8c7�S�����d*;8?1//3.?4�S�����Z3.0+1/�.?0/719/?1P%$!��$ GEC )-/�.9<;/9/?1+1.*?�*>�1-.7�213+1/45�=.;;�c/�*0/37//?�c5�e+A+;1.;;+�.?�,*?W8?,1.*?�=.1-�1-/�T.15�*>�VA/;+.A/�+?A�1-/�U*0/3?9/?1�*>�2*81-�V8713+;.+�+?A�.?0*;0/�1-/�<+31.,.<+1.*?�*>�9+?5�A/;.0/35�<+31?/37:�.?,;8A.?4�e+83?+�f/31+�Vc*3.4.?+;�T*3<*3+1.*?:�U*0/3?9/?1�*>�2*81-�V8713+;.+�A/<+319/?17:�+4/?,./7:�+AW*.?.?4�;*,+;�,*8?,.;7:�0*;8?1//37�+?A�1-/�c3*+A/3�,*998?.15B����� !"��!�P%!G&%M ���� !"��!�E��K�IE��$E�J�!GE �g!$%!�JM�&EII�̀��CD$ D�K�% �H'II'& hV77/1�3/?/=+;�*3�.9<3*0/9/?17�S�����T.15�*>�VA/;+.A/iU*0/3?9/?1�*>�2*81-�V8713+;.+�S�����Z+31?/37-.<7iT*j.?0/719/?1

k?0.3*?9/?1+;il+183+;�2571/9�S�����T.15�*>�VA/;+.A/iU*0/3?9/?1�*>�2*81-�V8713+;.+�S�����Z+31?/37-.<7iT*j.?0/719/?1�S�����d*;8?1//3.?4�S�����Z-.;+?1-3*<5T*998?.15�2<*317�S�����Z+31?/37-.<7iT*j.?0/719/?1�S�����T*998?.15�*34+?.7+1.*?7i2<*31.?4�,;8c7�S�����Z3.0+1/�.?0/719/?1�S�����Z-.;+?1-3*<5)*83.79�+?A�m/3.1+4/�S�����T.15�*>�VA/;+.A/iU*0/3?9/?1�*>�2*81-�V8713+;.+�S�����Z+31?/37-.<7iT*j.?0/719/?1�S�����Z-.;+?1-3*<5n+W*3�<8c;.,�.?>3+7138,183/�S�����T.15�*>�VA/;+.A/iU*0/3?9/?1�*>�2*81-�V8713+;.+�S�����Z+31?/37-.<7iT*j.?0/719/?1���� !"��!�O  �  "��!�]$E!�$E%FG��H'II'&E�J�N$E!�$E%�&EII�̀��D �K�!'�%  �  �E��� !"��!�C%!G&%M R�OK�I%EK��P%$(�Q%�K �&EIIhS�����o/p/,1�43*=1-�.?�1-/�,.15�+?A�+AW*.?.?4�,*8?,.;���������+3/+7�S�����Z3*0.A/�13+.;:�<+1-�,*??/,1.0.15�+?A�.9<3*0.?4���������+,1.0/�13+?7<*31�+,,/77�1*�1-/�VA/;+.A/�Z+3[�X+?A7�S�����o/7*;0/�4+<7�.?�1-/�@8+?1.15:�@8+;.15:�9.q�+?A���������15</�*>�*</?�7<+,/7�S�����Z3*0.A/�*<<*318?.1./7�1*�/?-+?,/�,*??/,1.0.15���������1-3*84-�=+1/3=+57�+?A�c.*A.0/37.15�,*33.A*37�S�����Z3*1/,1�+?A�/?-+?,/�Vc*3.4.?+;�+?A�k83*</+?���������,8;183+;�-/3.1+4/�+?A�<3+,1.,/7�S�����r9<3*0/�T*??/,1.*?�1*�T*8?135�+?A�3/,*?,.;.+1.*?�S�����Z3*1/,1�+?A�/?-+?,/�l+1.*?+;�m/3.1+4/�d+;8/7�S�����2/30.,/�1-/�2*81-�V8713+;.+?�,*998?.15�S�����V,[?*=;/A4/�,833/?1�13/?A7�+?A�>8183/���������<*<8;+1.*?�+?A�A/9*43+<-.,�<3*W/,1.*?7�S�����r9<3*0/�*83�3/7<*?7/�1*�,;.9+1/�3/7.;./?,/�S�����n//1�,*?7/30+1.*?�+?A�c.*A.0/37.15�<3.*3.1./7:���������c+7/A�*?�,*9<3/-/?7.0/�c.*A.0/37.15�7830/5�A+1+�S�����r9<3*0/�0/4/1+1.*?�@8+;.15�+?A�.?,3/+7/�13//���������,+?*<5�,*0/3+4/�

��	��s���t�u�����������v���	���	
w�u
v�t�x�
�����yz�

Page 406



����������	
��	�
�����
������
�����
����
����	�
�
��������������������������� !���"�����#���$�������%�& '(��)��� �*��+��,�����-''����������'��������.+����)��"�$���������/��� �+�$� �������'&���$&�����������'!0����(�$1234567�89:5;<=59<�>7?@7?<?5;A �' ��,�& '0���$�"�(��!����������B����'�������/��� ����(�$����������"����"�������������& '�����'��'/��"��.��+�����A� C�D���$1�A '0���$�$"'�+��+�(� ����$���������/��� �+���(�$����������'������,���/ �$� ���� ���'���� �$$�$'�����+��"����E�&'&�+���'����� ��$�������"�������/' ��+������ �$�+�����1>7@F5G<;������H� �������I��� ���$'� ��$�������J�+���K�,'�A� CLM�+,��I� �+��NA� C�OPQR�������S���' ���A� CLA�C�&�C���"��NA� C�TUR�K�$�� �A+�������������&+��������'��������.��+�����.*������Q��� ��V�(�+'&�����������A� C�D���$�M ��+���& '(�����$�

WX����X�����Y�Z�
X��[�
�\�	�
��]�����\̂���_�̀ ��X��abcdWX����X�����Y�Z�
X��[�
�\�	�
��]�����\̂���_�̀ ��X��abcdWX����X�����Y�Z�
X��[�
�\�	�
��]�����\̂���_�̀ ��X��abcd

������e�)�I'���f$�����Q"�+� ��f$�J'$&���+�������g'�,�"'��A� CLM�+,��I� �+��NA� C�OPR�K�$�� �A+��������������+������h����Q'�C$�A� CLA' ���'���V�(�+'&�����������i'+����I���+��A� CLK� ���I�  ��NA� C�OT�I�$�R��������Q'������,�j���'��$LQ'������,���������g��+����$�A'+��,�������K� ,�D���A� CLM�+,��I� �+��NA� C�OPgR�Q'������,���������g��+����$�A'+��,�������%�� ��$����� ��������������'&,��'(� �������D��"��H*�� �LI��)���(������/ �$� ���� ��������i ���"�++��'���Q'  ��' �������e' �"� ��A� C�D���$�K�$�� �A+�������������I"���' ��H*�� �L%&�  ��,��H�����O���������(� �M'  ��$Lh�  �)�  ��A� ����$�' ���'�

klk

Page 407



Page 408



�����������	����
�������
������������
�

������������������������ �!��"�#"��"� $�%�&'(�����)*+,

�--����.�� /0+

Page 409



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

���������
��� !"#$���%��" &'#" �(')*�+'!",�- !.) (')/ &�0" !1#2/'1#3! -#1& 4//.�'1#3! 5$#,1#!6�7, 8.1.) �(&'!,�3)�8 ',#9& �4�1#3!,:;<=;>?= @ABCCDEBFB GHI�@JKLJKMNOJP�JQ�GHI�@ONR�JQ�STIUMOTI V�W�XOPYZNJP�[MK\E]OKKMKPOPNHO�̂[MK\�_̀a @JPNOPbI�IcOZNOPY�bZI:;<=;>?; @ABCCDEBFB GHI�@JKLJKMNOJP�JQ�GHI�@ONR�JQ�STIUMOTI V�W�XOPYZNJP�[MK\E]OKKMKPOPNHO��[̂MK\�_̀a @JPNOPbI�IcOZNOPY�bZI:;def;�ee @ABD̀FEggB hOPOZNIK�QJK�iPjOKJPkIPN�MPT�]MNIKlJPRNHJP�[MK\EGbURM�]MKTUO�[̂MK\�_Da�mOPIMK�KIZIKjI�MPT�JUOjI�YKJjI�MTnMoIPN�NJ�NHI�AOjIK�GJKKIPZEXMKKMpOKKM�[MKO�MPT�KMOU�oJKKOTJK�MPT�qINpIIP�NHI�pIOK�MPT�KMOU�qKOTYI [JNIPNOMU�NKMPZQIK�NJ�@ONR�JQ�STIUMOTI�QJK�oMKIr�oJPNKJU�MPT�kMPMYIkIPN�ZbqnIoN�NJ�KIZJUbNOJP�JQ�LJNIPNOMU�oJPNMkOPMNOJP�oJPoIKPZs:;defe�= @AC_tBEFù hOPOZNIK�QJK�iTboMNOJP STIUMOTI�lJNMPOo�vOYH�WoHJJU @bKKIPN�bZI�NJ�oJPNOPbI:ewe;x�>= @ACuy_EDyF GHI�@JKLJKMNOJP�JQ�GHI�@ONR�JQ�STIUMOTI hMKR�mII�[MK\EGbURM�]MKTUO�̂_Dla @bKKIPN�bZI�NJ�oJPNOPbI:ewe;x�>e @AB_CyE_ut GKMPZMTIUMOTI AMOUpMR�oJKKOTJK�qINpIIP�NHI�AOjIK�GJKKIPZEXMKKMpOKKM�[MKO�MPT�zJKNH�STIUMOTI�AMOUpMR�WNMNOJPs�{IZNIT�QJK�KMOUpMR�LbKLJZIZ�LbKZbMPN�NJ�NHI�AMOUpMRZ�SoN�ugDgs @bKKIPN�bZI�NJ�oJPNOPbI:eexx;�=w; | hOPOZNIK�QJK�iPjOKJPkIPN�MPT�]MNIKAOjIKZOTI�AJpOPY�@Ubq�}�pIZN�JQ�hJKLHINN�WNKIIN�qKOTYI @bKKIPN�bZI�NJ�oJPNOPbIs�GKMPZQIK�NJ�@ONR�JQ�STIUMOTI�MZ�LMKN�JQ�STIUMOTI�lJNMPOo�vOYH�UMPT�ZpML�}�~bNbKI�oJPZOTIKMNOJP�JQ�ZONI�MZ�LMKN�JQ�kMZNIK�LUMPPOPY�QJK�vIUIP�hMRJ�[MK\EGbURM�]MKTUO�[̂MK\�_D@a:eexx;�=we @mCugBÈt��hy_ùyF@AB__yEDyD AOjIKZOTI�AJpOPY�@Ubq��PoshOPOZNIK�QJK�iPjOKJPkIPN�MPT�]MNIK[bUNIPIR�lJMN�@Ubq�}�pIZN�JQ�hJKLHINN�WNKIIN�qKOTYI @bKKIPN�bZI�NJ�oJPNOPbIs�GKMPZQIK�NJ�@ONR�JQ�STIUMOTI�MZ�LMKN�JQ�STIUMOTI�lJNMPOo�vOYH�UMPT�ZpML�}�~bNbKI�oJPZOTIKMNOJP�JQ�ZONI�MZ�LMKN�JQ�kMZNIK�LUMPPOPY�QJK�vIUIP�hMRJ�[MK\EGbURM�]MKTUO�[̂MK\�_D@a:e<e<>�> @GB̀_yÈC_ hOPOZNIK�QJK�GKMPZLJKNr��PQKMZNKboNbKI�MPT�mJoMU�VJjN AMOUpMR�oJKKOTJK�PJKNH�JQ�zJKNH�STIUMOTI�AMOUpMR�WNMNOJPs @bKKIPN�bZI�NJ�oJPNOPbIs

���

Page 410



����������

���	
�����

���
�����
�
���������

����������

�������

�� !"#�$%"&'()!�'(*& +('#" ,!!-.�'(*& /0(1'(&2�31" 4-'- "��#�&1�* �4"�1(5#"�,.'(*&1678789:; <=>?@?AB?C DEF�<GHIGHJKLGM�GN�DEF�<LKO�GN�PQFRJLQF SGHKE�PQFRJLQF�=JLRTJO�UKJKLGM VIIGHKWMLKO�KG�HFIWHIGXF�SGHKE�PQFRJLQF�=JLRTJO�UKJKLGM�YWLRQLMZ�JMQ�HFKWHM�XGWKEFHM�IGHKLGM�GN�JRRGK[FMK�KG�JM�PQFRJLQF�\JH]�̂JMQX�IWHIGXF6799__:̀aa <=>CCbAcCB DEF�<GHIGHJKLGM�GN�DEF�<LKO�GN�PQFRJLQF dMRFO�eLZE�UfEGGR�JMQ�SGHTGGQ�gMKFHMJKLGMJR�eLZE�UfEGGR�=GTLMZ�UEFQ <WHHFMK�WXF�KG�fGMKLMWF6799__:̀à <̂�hCCiA>hi PQFRJLQF�=GTLMZ�<RWY�gMfj PQFRJLQF�=GTLMZ�<RWY <WHHFMK�WXF�KG�fGMKLMWF�k�\GKFMKLJR�KHJMXNFH�KG�<LKO�GN�PQFRJLQF�NGH�fJHFl�fGMKHGR�JMQ�[JMJZF[FMK6799__:̀am <=>CCbAcCC DEF�<GHIGHJKLGM�GN�DEF�<LKO�GN�PQFRJLQF PQFRJLQF�=LnFHYJM]�̂JTMX <WHHFMK�WXF�KG�fGMKLMWF67ò7;:̀a8 <DhChbAhci pLMLXKFH�NGH�DHJMXIGHKl�gMNHJXKHWfKWHF�JMQ�ĜfJR�qGnK <JH�IJH] VIIGHKWMLKO�NGH�KHJMXNFH�KG�<LKO�GN�PQFRJLQF�JX�IJHK�GN�[JXKFH�IRJMMLMZ�NGH�eFRFM�pJOG�\JH]ADWROJ�rJHQRL�s\JH]�C@<t69̀7;_:̀` <Dhb@@Au DEF�dMLnFHXLKO�GN�PQFRJLQF DEF�vJfWRKO�GN�eFJRKE�JMQ�pFQLfJR�UfLFMfFXl�dMLnFHXLKO�GN�PQFRJLQF�w�eFRFM�pJOG�SGHKE�JMQ�UGWKE�xWLRQLMZ <WHHFMK�WXF�KG�fGMKLMWF69̀7;_:̀m <D�hCb?Ac@u dHYJM�=FMFTJR�PWKEGHLKO eJMXGM�gMXKLKWKFj�yFQLfJKFQ�JX�J�HFXFHnF�NGH�KEF�IWHIGXFX�GN�KEF�gMXKLKWKF�GN�pFQLfJR�JMQ�zFKFHLMJHO�UfLFMfF�IWHXWJMK�KG�Xj�>�GN�KEF�<HGTM�̂JMQX�PfK�BiCi <WHHFMK�WXF�KG�fGMKLMWF69̀7;_:̀7 <D�hCb?Aci? dHYJM�=FMFTJR�PWKEGHLKO {|L\JH]�<JH�\JH]j�yFQLfJKFQ�JX�J�HFXFHnF�KG�YF�WXFQ�NGH�KEF�IWHIGXFX�GN�fJH�IJH]LMZ�IWHXWJMK�KG�Xj�>�GN�KEF�<HGTM�ĴMQX�PfK�BiCi <WHHFMK�WXF�KG�fGMKLMWF69̀7;_:̀8 <D�hCb?A>uC dHYJM�=FMFTJR�PWKEGHLKO ĜK�vGWHKFFM�QFnFRGI[FMK ĜK�vGWHKFFM�QFnFRGI[FMK69̀7;_:mm <D>hihAu>b DEF�<GHIGHJKLGM�GN�DEF�<LKO�GN�PQFRJLQF vHG[F�\JH]ASFRRLF�=J[LMOF[[FHLM \GHKLGM�GN�JRRGK[FMK�NGH�PQFRJLQF�xGKJMLf�eLZE�F}IJMXLGM

~��

Page 411



����������	
��
����
�����
���� ����
 �����
���� �����������
  ����
�	�
������ 

��!�
��������"#$%&'(#) *+,-,,./00 123�*456457894:�4;�123�*98<�4;�=>3?79>3 @4:<824:�A75B.1C?<7�D75>?9�EA75B�FGH�I�J7K7:8�?7:>�37L8�4;�M=ANO�@7557KBL 14�;45P�6758�4;�823�Q3R�D4P3:SL�7:>�*29?>53:SL�T4L6987?�M983�EK75�675BH"#$%&'(#U *+,-,,./00 123�*456457894:�4;�123�*98<�4;�=>3?79>3 V?7><L�W?629KB�A75B.Q75:C:XX7�EA75B�F/H *C553:8�CL3�84�K4:89:C3"#$%&'($' *1/YYY.Z0G [9:9L835�;45�157:L6458\�]:;57L85CK8C53�7:>�O4K7?�V4J8 +79?R7<�?7:>�C:>35�A458�+47>�̂59>X3 *C553:8�CL3�84�K4:89:C3"#$%&'($_ *1/YYY.ZYZ [9:9L835�;45�157:L6458\�]:;57L85CK8C53�7:>�O4K7?�V4J8 +79?R7<�?7:>�C:>35�A458�+47>�̂59>X3 *C553:8�CL3�84�K4:89:C3"#$%&'(&' *1,-G-.F-Y [9:9L835�;45�157:L6458\�]:;57L85CK8C53�7:>�O4K7?�V4J8 +79?R7<�?7:>�C:>35�A458�+47>�̂59>X3 *C553:8�CL3�84�K4:89:C3"#$%&'(&U *+,--F.̀GG 123�*456457894:�4;�123�*98<�4;�=>3?79>3 V?7><L�W?629KB�A75B.Q75:C:XX7�EA75B�F/H *C553:8�CL3�84�K4:89:C3"#$%&'(%a *+/YYY.Z0Y 123�*54R: M4C82�=CL857?97:�A4?9K3�@7557KBL 14�;45P�6758�4;�823�Q3R�D4P3:SL�7:>�*29?>53:L�T4L6987?�M983�E[79:�@C9?>9:XH"#ba##c)a) *1�,F,d.,/- e5̂7:�+3:3R7?�=C824598< +47>R7<�37L8�4;�[4:83f453�+47> *C553:8�CL3�84�K4:89:C3"#ba##c)a' *1�,F,d.,/- e5̂7:�+3:3R7?�=C824598< +47>R7<�37L8�4;�[4:83f453�+47> *C553:8�CL3�84�K4:89:C3"$$&#)()a) *+/YZ̀.ZZF V4J35:45L�4;�823�@487:9K�V75>3: @487:9K�V75>3:L�4;�=>3?79>3 *C553:8�CL3�84�K4:89:C3"$$&#)()a' *+/YZ̀.ZZ̀ V4J35:45L�4;�823�@487:9K�V75>3: M8783�T35̂759CP�4;�M4C82�=CL857?97�7:>�V44>P7:�@C9?>9:X *C553:8�CL3�84�K4:89:C3"&_'ab($a *1,-0-.̀dZ [9:9L835�;45�W>CK7894:�7:>�*29?>�g3J3?46P3:8=>3?79>3�T9X2�MK244? *C553:8�CL3�84�K4:89:C3"&_'ab($# *1,-dF.GFZ 123�*456457894:�4;�823�*98<�4;�=>3?79>3 W??9L�A75B.17P67R75>?9�EA75B�FZH *C553:8�CL3�84�K4:89:C3"&_'ab($$ *1,-0-.̀dZ [9:9L835�;45�W>CK7894:�7:>�*29?>�g3J3?46P3:8=>3?79>3�T9X2�MK244? *C553:8�CL3�84�K4:89:C3"&_'abc$) *+,-dF.GFF 123�*456457894:�4;�823�*98<�4;�=>3?79>3 W??9L�A75B.17P67R75>?9�EA75B�FZH *C553:8�CL3�84�K4:89:C3"&_'abc$' *+,-dF.GFF 123�*456457894:�4;�823�*98<�4;�=>3?79>3 V�M�h9:XL84:�A75B.D95575:9:829�EA75B�F̀H *C553:8�CL3�84�K4:89:C3"&_'abc$_ *+,-dF.GFF 123�*456457894:�4;�823�*98<�4;�=>3?79>3 V�M�h9:XL84:�A75B.D95575:9:829�EA75B�F̀H *C553:8�CL3�84�K4:89:C3"&_$a$('aa *+,-,-.F0Y 123�*456457894:�4;�823�*98<�4;�=>3?79>3 T3?3:�[7<4�A75B.1C?<7�D75>?9�EA75B�FG*H iC8C53�P7L835�6?7::9:X�4;�L983�84�>3835P9:3�466458C:9893L���jk����lkmn�ok����pk�kq�r��s�tsmks�qu�v�wxykm���z{|}

����������~�}

Page 412



����������	
��
����
�����
���� ����
 �����
���� �����������
  ����
�	�
������ 

��!�
��������"#$%&%'(&) *+,-./01.. 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 A5;=935;�B86C02D@=8�E86?@:�FB86C�/1G�H�6:I46�J8;C KD9D64�L8M946�7@8;;:;N�5<�O4@4;�P8=5�B86C02D@=8�E86?@:�FB86C�/1*G95�?4946L:;4�577569D;:9:4M"#$%&%'(&Q *+,-./01.- 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 A5;=935;�B86C02D@=8�E86?@:�FB86C�/1G�H�R86�786C KD9D64�L8M946�7@8;;:;N�5<�O4@4;�P8=5�B86C02D@=8�E86?@:�FB86C�/1*G�95�?4946L:;4�577569D;:9:4M"S)%Q(')&& *+,-./01.T 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 286;98;=8�E8L8�FB86C�/,G�H�>?4@8:?4�UI8@�MD665D;?M�8;?�B4;;:;N95;�V86?4;M *D664;9�DM4�95�R5;9:;D4"S)%Q(')&W *+,-./01-- 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 P86=�X44�B86C02D@=8�E86?@:�FB86C�/1AG *D664;9�DM4�95�R5;9:;D4"S)%Q(')&% *+,-./01-- 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 B5MMDL�B86C0B:6@98Y86?@:�FB86C�-G�H�Z5693�>?4@8:?4�V5@<�*5D6M4 *D664;9�DM4�95�R5;9:;D4"S)%Q(')&# *+,-./01-. 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 B5MMDL�B86C0B:6@98Y86?@:�FB86C�-G�H�Z5693�>?4@8:?4�V5@<�*5D6M4 *D664;9�DM4�95�R5;9:;D4"S)%Q(')&S *+,-./01-. 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 [4;:M4�Z5695;�B86C0B86?:786?:;=:@@8�FB86C�/G�H�>?4@8:?4�>\D89:R�*4;964 Z4Y�>?4@8:?4�>\D89:R�*4;964�H�KD9D64�L8946�7@8;;:;N�5<�J658?46�M:94�95�R5;M:?46�577569D;:9:4M"S)%Q(')&] *+,-./01-. 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 8̂L�[8:M=�B86C0_8;986:@@8�FB86C�TG�H�_4=�A:5?:I46M:9=�>648 *D664;9�DM4�95�R5;9:;D4"S)%Q('))& *+,-./01-T 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 A68NN�B86C0ZN8L78�̂8698�FB86C�̀G *D664;9�DM4�95�R5;9:;D4"S)%Q('))) *+,-./01-T 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 X4<4I64�B86C0Z8;9D�E8L8�FB86C�,G�H�O56M4�?478M9D6:;N *D664;9�DM4�95�R5;9:;D4"S)%Q('))( *+,-./01-T 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 234�U@:I4�V65I4M0_D;9:;NN8�FB86C�1G *D664;9�DM4�95�R5;9:;D4"S)%Q('))$ *+,-./01-T 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 234�U@:I4�V65I4M0B86;ND9:@@8�FB86C�aG *D664;9�DM4�95�R5;9:;D4"S)%Q('))Q *+,-./01-/ 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 AD;?4=bM�B8??5RC02:?@8;NN8�FB86C�cG *D664;9�DM4�95�R5;9:;D4"S)%Q('))W *+,-./01-/ 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 AD@@6DM3�B86C0E86;78;NN8�FB86C�-.G *D664;9�DM4�95�R5;9:;D4"S)%Q('))% *+,-./01-/ 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 AD@@6DM3�B86C0E86;78;NN8�FB86C�-.G *D664;9�DM4�95�R5;9:;D4"S)%Q('))] *+,-a/0̀T̀ 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 d:R956:8�B86C0B8C878C8;93:��FB86C�-,G *D664;9�DM4�95�R5;9:;D4"S)%Q(')(& *+,-./01.e 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 f5M:4�>N:DM�B86C0E:C8786;9D�E:668�FB86C�//G *D664;9�DM4�95�R5;9:;D4

����������

���gh����ihjk�lh����mh�hn�o��p�qpjhp�nr�s�tuvhj���wxyz

{|}

Page 413



����������	
��
����
�����
���� ����
 �����
���� �����������
  ����
�	�
������ 

��!�
��������"#$%&'($'$ )*+,-./0-1 234�)5675689:5;�5<�934�):9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 A:B39�CDE864/F8EG:�HI569346;�J4K9:5;L )E664;9�EJ4�95�K5;9:;E4"#$%&'($'' )*+,-./0-1 234�)5675689:5;�5<�934�):9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 A:B39�CDE864/F8EG:��HF4J946;�J4K9:5;L )E664;9�EJ4�95�K5;9:;E4"#$%&'($'M )*+,-./0-+ 234�)5675689:5;�5<�934�):9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 N:;?O86J3�CDE864/PEQ898�HI5693�F4J9�)56;46L )E664;9�EJ4�95�K5;9:;E4"#$%&'($'& )*+,-./0-+ 234�)5675689:5;�5<�934�):9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 N:;?O86J3�CDE864/PEQ898�HI5693�R8J9�)56;46L )E664;9�EJ4�95�K5;9:;E4"#$%&'($'S )*+,-./0-+ 234�)5675689:5;�5<�934�):9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 N:;?O86J3�CDE864/PEQ898�HC5E93�F4J9�)56;46L )E664;9�EJ4�95�K5;9:;E4"#$%&'($'% )*+,-./0-+ 234�)5675689:5;�5<�934�):9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 N:;?O86J3�CDE864/PEQ898�HC5E93�R8J9�)56;46L )E664;9�EJ4�95�K5;9:;E4"#$%&'($'T )*+,-./0-. 234�)5675689:5;�5<�934�):9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 F3:9O564�CDE864/U7866:9=: )E664;9�EJ4�95�K5;9:;E4"#$%&'($'# )*+,V0/WX. 234�)5675689:5;�5<�934�):9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 NE69@4�CDE864/28;BQ8:68�HC5E93�F4J9�)56;46L )E664;9�EJ4�95�K5;9:;E4"#$%&'($'Y )*+,-./0-V 234�)5675689:5;�5<�934�):9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 >?4@8:?4�Z[8@�\64K:;K9 )E664;9�EJ4�95�K5;9:;E4"#M]]&(#�	̂(_�̀ )2+,W1/,V- P:;:J946�<56�268;J7569a�U;<68J96EK9E64�8;?�A5K8@�b5[9a *8:@�)566:?56�c�G4J9�5<�K4O4946= )E664;9�EJ4�95�K5;9:;E4"#S%M#($$ )*+,++/1dd 234�)5675689:5;�5<�934�):9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 C5E9346;�J4K9:5;�5<�I4G�*5=8@�>?4@8:?4�N5J7:98@�H574;�J78K4L )E664;9�EJ4�95�K5;9:;E4"#S%M#($' )*+,,./W01 234�)5675689:5;�5<�934�):9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 b@8?=J�R@73:KQ�\86Q/I86;E;BB8�H\86Q�.1L�c�e6f8;�g564J9 )E664;9�EJ4�95�K5;9:;E4"#S%M#($M )*+,++/1dd 234�)5675689:5;�5<�934�):9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 h5;=935;�\86Q/2E@=8�F86?@:��H\86Q�.0L \569:5;�5<�8@@59O4;9�G:@@�8KK5OO5?894�I4G�F5O4;iJ�8;?�)3:@?64;iJ�N5J7:98@"#S%M#($& )*+,,./W0V 234�)5675689:5;�5<�934�):9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 *:[46�25664;J/j8668G:668�\86:�c�I5693�F4J946;�C4K9:5; )E664;9�EJ4�95�K5;9:;E4"#S%&S('] )2+.Vd/V,1 P:;:J946�<56�268;J7569a�U;<68J96EK9E64�8;?�A5K8@�b5[9 >EJ968@:8;�h68BB�)4;964�<56�\6595;�234687=�8;?�*4J486K3�HC>NP*U�.L )E664;9�EJ4�95�K5;9:;E4"#S%&S(M] )2+..X/.10 P:;:J946�<56�268;J7569a�U;<68J96EK9E64�8;?�A5K8@�b5[9 C>NP*U�HC5E93�>EJ968@:8;�N48@93�8;?�P4?:K8@�*4J486K3�U;J9:9E94L )E664;9�EJ4�95�K5;9:;E4"#S%&S(%] )2+-0./.V, P:;:J946�<56�N48@93�8;?�F4@@f4:;B C5E93�F4J9�J4K9:5;�5<�I4G�*5=8@�>?4@8:?4�N5J7:98@�H574;�J78K4L )E664;9�EJ4�95�K5;9:;E4�c�U;[4J9:B894�577569E;:9=�<56�968;J<46�95�):9=�5<�>?4@8:?4"#%]%T($T )*+,WW/1-0 234�)5675689:5;�5<�934�):9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 k53;�R�h65G;�\86Q/2E@=8�F86?@:�H\86Q�.0>L )E664;9�EJ4�95�K5;9:;E4���lm����nmop�qm����rm�ms�t��u�vuomu�sw�x�yz{mo���|}~�

���

Page 414



����������	
��
����
�����
���� ����
 �����
���� �����������
  ����
�	�
������ 

��!�
��������"#$%&'(')) *+,-./0121 345678454 96:;<=6>�?;=5�*5=:45�@�A5675B�:<�CB5>6;B5�D=;E547;:F *8445=:�875�:<�G<=:;=85"#$%&'(')% *+,-./012H I<64B�<J�:K5�I<:6=;G�L64B5=7�6=B�M:6:5�N54O64;8P M:6:5�N54O64;8P�<J�M<8:K�C87:46>;6�@�Q;47:�*455R�?5:>6=B *8445=:�875�:<�G<=:;=85"##'&'(S% *+,TUV0//, 3K5�*<4W<46:;<=�<J�:K5�*;:F�<J�CB5>6;B5 X;G:<4;6�MY86450364=:6=F6=ZZ6�@�9<4:K�[57:�G<4=54 *8445=:�875�:<�G<=:;=85"##'&'(S' *+,TUV0//, 3K5�*<4W<46:;<=�<J�:K5�*;:F�<J�CB5>6;B5 X;G:<4;6�MY86450364=:6=F6=ZZ6�@�9<4:K54=�W<4:;<= *8445=:�875�:<�G<=:;=85"##'&'(S& *+,TUV0//, 3K5�*<4W<46:;<=�<J�:K5�*;:F�<J�CB5>6;B5 X;G:<4;6�MY86450364=:6=F6=ZZ6�@�9<4:K\567:54=�G<4=54 *8445=:�875�:<�G<=:;=85"##'&'(S] *+,TU10.1V ;̂=;7:54�J<4�346=7W<4:_�=̀J467:48G:845�6=B�A<G6>�L<E: 346P�G<44;B<4 *8445=:�875�:<�G<=:;=85"##'&'(SS *+,TUV0//, 3K5�*<4W<46:;<=�<J�:K5�*;:F�<J�CB5>6;B5 X;G:<4;6�MY86450364=:6=F6=ZZ6�@�M<8:K\[57:�G<4=54 *8445=:�875�:<�G<=:;=85"##'&'(S$ *+,TUV0//, 3K5�*<4W<46:;<=�<J�:K5�*;:F�<J�CB5>6;B5 X;G:<4;6�MY86450364=:6=F6=ZZ6�@�M<8:K54=�W<4:;<= *8445=:�875�:<�G<=:;=85"##'&'(Sa *+,TUV0//, 3K5�*<4W<46:;<=�<J�:K5�*;:F�<J�CB5>6;B5 X;G:<4;6�MY86450364=:6=F6=ZZ6�@�M<8:K\567:�G<4=54 *8445=:�875�:<�G<=:;=85"##'&'(S# *+�,TU10.1V ;̂=;7:54�J<4�346=7W<4:_�=̀J467:48G:845�6=B�A<G6>�L<E: 346P�G<44;B<4 *8445=:�875�:<�G<=:;=85"##'SS(S) *+�,T,T0V-U 3K5�*<4W<46:;<=�<J�:K5�*;:F�<J�CB5>6;B5 L>6BF7�b>WK;GR�c64R0964=8=ZZ6�dc64R�1Ue�@�W64:�<J�964=8=ZZ6�D4O6=�Q<457: *8445=:�875�:<�G<=:;=85"%%'#a&('' *+,T.U0V/. 3K5�*<4W<46:;<=�<J�:K5�*;:F�<J�CB5>6;B5 +FP;>>�c64R0̂84>6[;446W84R6�dc64R�T/e *8445=:�875�:<�G<=:;=85"%%'#a&('$ *+,T.U0V/V ;̂=;7:54�J<4�346=7W<4:�6=B�̀=J467:48G:845 MP6>>�75G:;<=�<J�+8=B>5�+<6B *8445=:�875�:<�G<=:;=85"%%'#a&f'& *+,T.U0V/2 3K5�*<4W<46:;<=�<J�:K5�*;:F�<J�CB5>6;B5 +FP;>>�c64R0̂84>6[;446W84R6�dc64R�T/e *8445=:�875�:<�G<=:;=85"%%'#a&f'] *+,T.U0V/2 3K5�*<4W<46:;<=�<J�:K5�*;:F�<J�CB5>6;B5 +FP;>>�c64R0̂84>6[;446W84R6�dc64R�T/e�g�C�c>6G5�<J�+5h5G:;<= *8445=:�875�:<�G<=:;=85 %%)#i('%�j	(k�l *3U.1/0HH/ ;̂=;7:54�J<4�346=7W<4:�6=B�̀=J467:48G:845 MP6>>�75G:;<=�<J�46;>[6F�G<44;B<4�8=B54�C=m6G�N;ZK[6F *8445=:�875�:<�G<=:;=85"i)]&]('& *3�,T/U0T1T ;̂=;7:54�J<4�346=7W<4:_�=̀J467:48G:845�6=B�A<G6>�L<E: +6;>[6F�G<44;B<4�<=�[57:54=�O<8=B64F�<J�*;:F�<J�CB5>6;B5 *8445=:�875�:<�G<=:;=85"i)]&]('] *3�,T/U0T11 ;̂=;7:54�J<4�346=7W<4:_�=̀J467:48G:845�6=B�A<G6>�L<E: +6;>[6F�G<44;B<4�<=�?57:54=�O<8=B64F�<J�*;:F�<J�CB5>6;B5 *8445=:�875�:<�G<=:;=85
���no����poqr�so����to�ou�v��w�xwqow�uy�z�{|}oq���~���

���

Page 415



����������	
��
����
�����
���� ����
 �����
���� �����������
  ����
�	�
������ 

��!�
��������"#$%&%'(%)'&* +,�-./01.23 4565789:�;<:�,:=67><:8?�@6;:=78:AB8A:9�=6C�D<B=E�F<G8 H=5EI=J�B<::5C<:�<G9:�FE<G9:�KG96A9 +A::968�A79�8<�B<6856A9"#$%&%'(L)'(M +,�-./01.2N 4565789:�;<:�,:=67><:8?�@6;:=78:AB8A:9�=6C�D<B=E�F<G8 H=5EI=J�B<::5C<:�<G9:�FE<G9:�KG96A9 +A::968�A79�8<�B<6856A9"#$%&%'&$ +,�-./01.2- 4565789:�;<:�,:=67><:8?�@6;:=78:AB8A:9�=6C�D<B=E�F<G8 H=5EI=J�B<::5C<:�8O:<APO�FE=CJ7�QE>O5BR�S=:R1T=:6A6PP=�US=:R�20V +A::968�A79�8<�B<6856A9"#$WW*'*$$ +,�-.201N.X KC9E=5C9�+9Y989:J�KA8O<:58J KC9E=5C9�+9Y989:J +A::968�A79�8<�B<6856A9"#$WW*'*$* +H�-.201N.3 ,O9�+<:><:=85<6�<;�8O9�+58J�<;�KC9E=5C9 ZY=EE�78:5>�<;�E=6C�56�;:<68�<;�KC9E=5C9�+9Y989:J +A::968�A79�8<�B<6856A9"#([#L'( +H�-.N2122- ,O9�+<:><:=85<6�<;�8O9�+58J�<;�KC9E=5C9 \56P�H<C69J�S=:R1@8J=Y=5]58>56=�US=:R�.0V +A::968�A79�8<�B<6856A9"***#M&'*$$ +,�-2X/1-22 4565789:�;<:�,:=67><:8�=6C�@6;:=78:AB8A:9 6̂5G9:758J�<;�KC9E=5C9�_�KC9E=5C9�̀9=E8O�=6C�49C5B=E�ZBO<<E +A::968�A79�8<�B<6856A9"***#M&'*$( +,�-23a1Xbb 4565789:�;<:�̀9=E8O�=6C�c9EEd956P H<J=E�KC9E=5C9�̀<7>58=E +A::968�A79�8<�B<6856A9"***#M&e*$& +,�-2-a1-02 4565789:�;<:�,:=67><:8�=6C�@6;:=78:AB8A:9 H=5EI=J�B<::5C<:�6<:8O�<;�H<J=E�KC9E=5C9�̀<7>58=E +A::968�A79�8<�B<6856A9"***#M&e*$% +,�-2-a1-02 4565789:�;<:�,:=67><:8�=6C�@6;:=78:AB8A:9 H=5EI=J�B<::5C<:�6<:8O�<;�H<J=E�KC9E=5C9�̀<7>58=E +A::968�A79�8<�B<6856A9"*(M#$M'W$* +,�-23N1-0/ S:9Y59:�<;�Z<A8O�KA78:=E5= KC9E=5C9�f9785G=E�+968:9 +A::968�A79�8<�B<6856A9"*(M#$M'W$( +,�-2XX10N2 :̂d=6�H969I=E�KA8O<:58J KC9E=5C9�f9785G=E�+968:9 +A::968�A79�8<�B<6856A9"*(M#$M'W$& +,�-23N1-00 :̂d=6�H969I=E�KA8O<:58J KC9E=5C9�f9785G=E�+968:917Y=EE�79B85<6�<;�KC9E=5C9�+=756< +A::968�A79�8<�B<6856A9"*(M#$M'W$[ +,�-2XX10N0 :̂d=6�H969I=E�KA8O<:58J 6̂Y=C9�:<=CI=J�d98I996�S=:E5=Y968�̀<A791f9785G=E�,<I9:�=6C�KC9E=5C9�+=756< +A::968�A79�8<�B<6856A9"*(M#$MeW$% +,�-2XX10N/ :̂d=6�H969I=E�KA8O<:58J KC9E=5C9�+<6G9685<6�+968:91H5G9:75C9�gA5EC56P1KC9E=5C9�H=5EI=J�Z8=85<61@689:B<6856968=E�̀<89E +A::968�A79�8<�B<6856A9"*(M#$MeW$L +,�-2XX10N/ :̂d=6�H969I=E�KA8O<:58J KC9E=5C9�+<6G9685<6�+968:9�U>=:8�<;V +A::968�A79�8<�B<6856A9"*(M#$MeW$W +,�-2XX10N/ :̂d=6�H969I=E�KA8O<:58J ZY=EE�79B85<6�<;�f9785G=E�,<I9: +A::968�A79�8<�B<6856A9 **$M#'(&�h	'i�j +,0X221./3 4565789:�;<:�,:=67><:8?�@6;:=78:AB8A:9�=6C�D<B=E�F<G8 ZY=EE�79B85<6�<;�:=5EI=J�B<::5C<:�A6C9:�K6k=B�̀5POI=J +A::968�A79�8<�B<6856A9���lm����nmop�qm����rm�ms�t��u�vuomu�sw�x�yz{mo���|}~�

��}

Page 416



����������	
��
����
�����
���� ����
 �����
���� �����������
  ����
�	�
������ 

��!�
�������� "#$%&$'#%% ()*++,-./. 012�(3453467839�3:�712�(87;�3:�<=2>68=2 ?2>>89@739�ABC642-DC=9647C (C44297�CE2�73�F39789C2 "#$%G"'#%H ()IJK+-/,. 012�(3453467839�3:�712�(87;�3:�<=2>68=2 LC47>2�ABC642-069@M6846�N�O3471PQ2E7�F34924 (C44297�CE2�73�F39789C2 "#$%G"'##% ()IJK+-/,. 012�(3453467839�3:�712�(87;�3:�<=2>68=2 LC47>2�ABC642-069@M6846�N�O3471P26E7�F34924 (C44297�CE2�73�F39789C2 "#$%G"'##R ()IJK+-/,. 012�(3453467839�3:�712�(87;�3:�<=2>68=2 LC47>2�ABC642-069@M6846�N�A3C71PS6E7�F34924 (C44297�CE2�73�F39789C2 "#H&T&'U% (0IJ/J-/IK V898E724�:34�0469E5347W�X9:46E74CF7C42�69=�Y3F6>�Z3[7 A\6>>�E2F7839�3:�468>Q6;�F3448=34�N�?2E7�3:�Z�A�D89@E739�]64M-?84464989718�̂]64M�.K_ (C44297�CE2�73�F39789C2 T$T$&'"T (0*,/̀-/̀, V898E724�:34�S9[8439\297�69=�?6724 034429E�]646=2�Z43C9=�69=�aC8>=89@E (C44297�CE2�73�F39789C2b�X9[2E78@672�355347C987;�73�7469E:24�5347839�3:�E872�73�(87;�3:�<=2>68=2�73�6>>3Q�:34�89F426E2=�5Ca>8F�CE6@2 T$T$&c"% ()IJd.-+J+ 012�(3453467839�3:�712�(87;�3:�<=2>68=2 )2=�ZC\�]64M-D6446Q8446�]̂64M�J._�N�034429E�]646=2�Z43C9=�EC443C9=E (C44297�CE2�73�F39789C2 T$T$&c"# ()IJd.-+J+ 012�(3453467839�3:�712�(87;�3:�<=2>68=2 )2=�ZC\�]64M-D6446Q8446�]̂64M�J._�N�034429E�]646=2�Z43C9=�EC443C9=E (C44297�CE2�73�F39789C2 T$T$&c"" ()IJd.-+J+ 012�(3453467839�3:�712�(87;�3:�<=2>68=2 )2=�ZC\�]64M-D6446Q8446�]̂64M�J._�N�)8[24�a69M�93471�3:�<=2>68=2�e98[24E87; (C44297�CE2�73�F39789C2 R#$TU'" ()*̀d+-,I. 012�(3453467839�3:�712�(87;�3:�<=2>68=2 )8[24�034429E-D6446Q8446�]648�N�E2F7839�a27Q229�Y8@17989@�f48=@2-D6497C�?66=>6M6716�69=�034429E�?824 (C44297�CE2�73�F39789C2 R#$TU'T ()*̀d+-,IK 012�(3453467839�3:�712�(87;�3:�<=2>68=2 )8[24�034429E-D6446Q8446�]648�N�E2F7839�a27Q229�034429E�?824�69=�V3972g342�)=�a48=@2 (C44297�CE2�73�F39789C2 R#$TU'R ()*̀d+-,I/ 012�(3453467839�3:�712�(87;�3:�<=2>68=2 )8[24�034429E-D6446Q8446�]648N�E2F7839�a27Q229�V3972g342�)=�a48=@2�69=�D89@�?8>>86\�)=�a48=@2 (C44297�CE2�73�F39789C2 R#$TU'U ()*̀d+-,I* 012�(3453467839�3:�712�(87;�3:�<=2>68=2 )8[24�034429E-D6446Q8446�]648�N�E2F7839�a27Q229�D89@�?8>>86\�)=�f48=@2�69=�h43\2�)=�a48=@2 (C44297�CE2�73�F39789C2 R#$TU'& ()*̀d+-,II 012�(3453467839�3:�712�(87;�3:�<=2>68=2 )8[24�034429E-D6446Q8446�]648�N�E2F7839�a27Q229�h43\2�)=�a48=@2�69=�L6FM92;�)36= (C44297�CE2�73�F39789C2 R$H&H'#%% ()IJII-*̀+ V898E724�:34�0469E5347W�X9:46E74CF7C42�69=�Y3F6>�Z3[7 046\Q6;�6=i6F297�]26F3FM�)36= (C44297�CE2�73�F39789C2���jk����lkmn�ok����pk�kq�r��s�tsmks�qu�v�wxykm���z{|}

~}~

Page 417



����������	
��
����
�����
���� ����
 �����
���� �����������
  ����
�	�
������ 

��!�
�������� "##$$%&$ '()*+*,-./ 01213456�786�(6923:864;�<2769346=>4=65�92?�@8>9A�B8C4 DE9AA�35>4182�87�691AF9G�>8661?86�=2?56�H864�I?�J61?K5 '=66524�=35�48�>82412=5L&$"&$$M&$$N 'IOPO+,O*Q (R5�'86:8694182�87�4R5�'14G�87�S?5A91?5 '96619K5F9G�H96T,(=4R92KK9�UH96T�*PV�W�BA525AK�D56C1>5�I5356C816�X134861>�D145 '=66524�=35�48�>82412=5L&$"&$$M&$$# 'IOPO+,O*+ (R5�'86:8694182�87�4R5�'14G�87�S?5A91?5 Y82G4R82�H96T,(=AG9�Z96?A1�UH96T�-PV�W�A12596�3461:�38=4R�87�(866523�Z156 '=66524�=35�48�>82412=5L&$"&$$M&$$[ 'IOP)O,-/Q (R5�'86:8694182�87�4R5�'14G�87�S?5A91?5 Y82G4R82�H96T,(=AG9�Z96?A1�UH96T�-PV�W�A12596�3461:�38=4R�87�(866523�Z156�W�:964�87�I1C56�(866523,\9669F1669�H961�4691A '=66524�=35�48�>82412=5L&$"&$$M&$&# 'IOPQP,+*/ (R5�'86:8694182�87�4R5�'14G�87�S?5A91?5 I5?�B=E�H96T,\9669F1669�UH96T�*-V�W�]8AA5Ĝ3�Y894R8=35;�S?5A91?5�X1KR�D>R88A�I8F12K�'A=J;�(866523�I8F12K�'A=J '=66524�=35�48�>82412=5L&$"&$$M&&#N 'I)_+Q,-)Q I8G9A�̀88A8K1>9A�D8>154G�87�D8=4R�S=3469A19�<2> a934�52?�87�S?5A91?5�̀88 '=66524�=35�48�>82412=5L&$"&$$M&&[# 'IOP)),P/. (R5�'86:8694182�87�4R5�'14G�87�S?5A91?5 B�D�\12K3482�H96T,Z166962124R1�UH96T�-QV '=66524�=35�48�>82412=5L&$"&$$M&b$c 'IOP)_,)Q. 01213456�786�a2C1682E524�92?�Z9456H964�87�dA?�S?5A91?5�B89A�3145 '=66524�=35�48�>82412=5e�<2C5341K945�8::864=214G�786�:8641823�87�4R13�3145�48�J5�4692375665?�48�'14G�87�S?5A91?5�48�9AA8F�786�12>65935?�:=JA1>�9>>533�92?�=39K5�:834�f5F�Z8E52̂3�92?�'R1A?652̂3�X83:149A�>8E:A54182L&$"&$$M&b$g 'IOP)*,*+* 01213456�786�<2769346=>4=65 H864182�87�786E56�H8F?56�09K9h125 '=66524�=35�48�>82412=5e�<2C5341K945�8::864=214G�786�:8641823�87�4R13�3145�48�J5�4692375665?�48�'14G�87�S?5A91?5�48�9AA8F�786�12>65935?�:=JA1>�9>>533�92?�=39K5�:834�f5F�Z8E52̂3�92?�'R1A?652̂3�X83:149A�>8E:A54182L&$"&$$M&b$" '()*-/,*_P (R5�i21C56314G�87�S?5A91?5 (R5�i21C56314G�87�S?5A91?5 '=66524�=35�48�>82412=5L&$"&$$M&b$j '()*-/,*_P (R5�i21C56314G�87�S?5A91?5 (R5�i21C56314G�87�S?5A91?5 '=66524�=35�48�>82412=5L&$"&$$M&b$N '()_PP,P (R5�i21C56314G�87�S?5A91?5 (R5�i21C56314G�87�S?5A91?5 '=66524�=35�48�>82412=5���kl����mlno�pl����ql�lr�s��t�utnlt�rv�w�xyzln���{|}~

�~{

Page 418



����������	
��
����
�����
���� ����
 �����
���� �����������
  ����
�	�
������ 

��!�
��������"#$%#$$&%#$ '()*)+,-./ 012343156�78439�8:�;8<=>�?<6=34@14 ;=4=5�012343A '<335B=�<65�=8�C8B=1B<5"#$%#$$&%#D '()*)E,)F+ G>5�'83H834=18B�8:�=>5�'1=A�8:�?95@4195 ;I4@@�H83=18B�8:�?95@4195�J1K>�;C>88@�L�B83=>M546=�C83B53 '<335B=�<65�=8�C8B=1B<5"#$%#$$&%ND '()*).,OO. P1B16=53�:83�QBR138BI5B=�4B9�S4=53T@9�?95@4195�U84@V�W5C@4359�:83�?95@4195�U84@�H<3H8656�H<36<4B=�=8�=>5�P<B1C1H4@�'83H834=18B6�?I5B9I5B=�?C=�/-.OV '<335B=�<65�=8�C8B=1B<5V�XBR56=1K4=5�8HH83=<B1=A�:83�H83=18B6�8:�=>16�61=5�=8�25�=34B6:53359�=8�'1=A�8:�?95@4195�=8�4@@8Y�:83�1BC354659�H<2@1C�4CC566�4B9�<64K5�H86=�Z5Y�S8I5B[6�4B9�'>1@935B[6�J86H1=4@�C8IH@5=18B"#$%#$$&%\# '()*)+,.-/ ;8<=>�?<6=34@14B�P<65<I�78439 ;?�P<65<I�4B9�8@9�?3I8<3A�7<1@91BK '<335B=�<65�=8�C8B=1B<5"#$%#$$&%\] '()*)+,-.O ?3=�U4@@53A�78439 ;=4=5�U4@@53A '<335B=�<65�=8�C8B=1B<5"#$%#$$&%̂N '(.FEO,_._ U8R53B836�8:�=>5�78=4B1C�U4395B 78=4B1C�̀43a THH83=<B1=A�:83�6I4@@�H83=18B�8:�78=4B1C�4̀3a�bZ83=>53B�6195�8:�@̀4B5�G355�W31R5c�=8�25�=34B6:53359�=8�=>5�'1=A�8:�?95@4195�=8�1BC35465�H<2@1C�<65�4B9�1B=53:4C5�Y1=>�d4334Y1334�̀431"#$%#$$&%D$ '(.FEO,_.O (8A4@�e88@8K1C4@�;8C15=A�8:�;8<=>�?<6=34@14�XBC ?95@4195�e88 '<335B=�<65�=8�C8B=1B<5"#$%#$$&%D# '()*)E,)/F G>5�'83H834=18B�8:�=>5�'1=A�8:�?95@4195 P16=@5=85�̀43a,G41BI<B=1@@4�b̀43a�//c�L�(1R53�G8335B6,d4334Y1334�̀431�31R5324Ba�b68<=>53B�6195c '<335B=�<65�=8�C8B=1B<5"#$%#$$&%D] 'G./_+,/F* G>5�fB1R5361=A�8:�?95@4195 G>5�fB1R5361=A�8:�?95@4195 '<335B=�<65�=8�C8B=1B<5"#$%#$$&%Dg '()_)/,+FF fB1R5361=A�8:�;8<=>�?<6=34@14 fB1R5361=A�8:�;?�L�'1=A�Q46=�'4IH<6 '<335B=�<65�=8�C8B=1B<5"#$%#$$&\$#̂ '(./F_,*/* G>5�'83H834=18B�8:�=>5�'1=A�8:�?95@4195 '43314K5Y4A�̀43a,G<=>4BKK4�b̀43a�/*c '<335B=�<65�=8�C8B=1B<5"#$%#$$&\$#h '(./F_,*/* G>5�'83H834=18B�8:�=>5�'1=A�8:�?95@4195 5̀HH53I1B=�̀43a,S1=4�S1334�b̀43a�/-c '<335B=�<65�=8�C8B=1B<5"#$%#$$&\$#D '(./F_,*/* G>5�'83H834=18B�8:�=>5�'1=A�8:�?95@4195 5̀@i53�̀43a,̀1=A431@@4�b̀43a�/+c '<335B=�<65�=8�C8B=1B<5"#$%#$$&\$]$ '(./F_,*/* G>5�'83H834=18B�8:�=>5�'1=A�8:�?95@4195 7@<5�U<I�̀43a,d<34BKK4�b̀43a�_Fc '<335B=�<65�=8�C8B=1B<5"#$%#$$&\$]# '(./F_,*/* G>5�'83H834=18B�8:�=>5�'1=A�8:�?95@4195 j54@5�̀43a,S4@A<�k43=4�b̀43a�_/c�4B9�U8@95B�S4==@5�̀43a,P13B<�S1334�b̀43a�_/�S56=c '<335B=�<65�=8�C8B=1B<5���lm����nmop�qm����rm�ms�t��u�vuomu�sw�x�yz{mo���|}~�

��~

Page 419



����������	
��
����
�����
���� ����
 �����
���� �����������
  ����
�	�
������ 

��!�
��������"#$%#$$&'$() *+,-./01-1 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 A�B�C:;DE95;�F86G0H:6686;:;93:�IF86G�/JK�L�M?N86?E�F86G *O664;9�OE4�95�P5;9:;O4"#$%#$$&'$(' *+,-./01-1 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 286;98;=8�H8Q8�IF86G�/,K�L�M@?46�F86G *O664;9�OE4�95�P5;9:;O4"#$%#$$&'$(R *+S1ST0S-1 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 A�B�C:;DE95;�F86G0H:6686;:;93:�IF86G�/JK�L�;5693U48E946;�E4P9:5; *O664;9�OE4�95�P5;9:;O4"#$%#$$&'#$ *+SVVS01-W X:;:E946�<56�M?OP89:5; X:D689:5;�XOE4OQ�8;?�*3874@�*8<Y *O664;9�OE4�95�P5;9:;O4"#$%#$$&'#Z *+S1S,0,S1 X:;:E946�<56�[48@93�8;?�>D4:;D \;E9:9O94�5<�X4?:P8@�8;?�]4946:;86=�BP:4;P4 *O664;9�OE4�95�P5;9:;O4"#$%#$$&'Z$�	̂_̀ �a *+S1S,0,S/ A5b46;56E�5<�934�c598;:P�A86?4; c598;:P�F86G�L�[8PG;4=�+58?�P86�786G \;b4E9:D894�577569O;:9=�<56�968;E<46�95�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4"#$%#$$&'d) *2S,WS01,W 234�e;:b46E:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 234�e;:b46E:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 *O664;9�OE4�95�P5;9:;O4"#$%#$$&'dZ *2S,WS01,V 234�e;:b46E:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 234�e;:b46E:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 *O664;9�OE4�95�P5;9:;O4"#$%#$$&'d% *2,.1101 234�e;:b46E:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 234�e;:b46E:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 *O664;9�OE4�95�P5;9:;O4"#$%#$$&f)f *2,-/V0-.1 234�e;:b46E:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 234�e;:b46E:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 *O664;9�OE4�95�P5;9:;O4"#$%#$$&fZ% *+S1SV0,W/ B5O93�>OE968@:8;�XOE4OQ�c586? 234�BP:4;P4�*4;964�8;?�>69g8hi*O664;9�OE4�95�P5;9:;O4"#$%#$$&f%' *+S1ST0S-- 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 j89:5;8@�H86�X4Q56:8@ *O664;9�OE4�95�P5;9:;O4"#$%#$$&f'( *2,/.S0-ST e6h8;�+4;4N8@�>O9356:9= k56Q46�B>�l4;98@�[5E7:98@i g59�k5O6944;�?4b4@57Q4;9"#$%#$$&f'd *+S1ST0S-/ 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 286;98;=8�H8Q8�IF86G�/,K�L�F4Qh65G4m�e;@4=�[:D3�8;?�j56N55?�[:D3�+5N:;D�*@Oh *O664;9�OE4�95�P5;9:;O4"#$%#$$&ff# *2,/,.0,S- 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 286;98;=8�H8Q8�IF86G�/,K�L�F4Qh65G4m�e;@4=�[:D3�8;?�j56N55?�[:D3�+5N:;D�*@Oh *O664;9�OE4�95�P5;9:;O4"#$'#$$&##d# *+S1,,0WTV 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 F5EEOQ�F86G0F:6@98N86?@:�IF86G�-K�L�O;Q8?4�658?N8=�9365OD3�j5693�>?4@8:?4�A5@<�*5O6E4 *O664;9�OE4�95�P5;9:;O4"#$'#$$&##d( *+S1TT0/ST 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 c65OD38Q�A86?4;E028;9O9:9:;DD8�IF86G�/VK *O664;9�OE4�95�P5;9:;O4"#$'#$$&##d) *+SWV,0/ST 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 c65OD38Q�A86?4;E028;9O9:9:;DD8�IF86G�/VK *O664;9�OE4�95�P5;9:;O4"#$'#$$&##dZ *+,-T/0T/- 234�*5675689:5;�5<�934�*:9=�5<�>?4@8:?4 +4?�AOQ�F86G0C8668N:668�IF86G�-/K *O664;9�OE4�95�P5;9:;O4���no����poqr�so����to�ou�v��w�xwqow�uy�z�{|}oq���~���

���

Page 420



����������	
��
����
�����
���� ����
 �����
���� �����������
  ����
�	�
������ 

��!�
��������"#$%#$$&#%$' ()*+,,-./0 123�(456457894:�4;�823�(98<�4;�=>3?79>3 )3@35A495�B75C-D7:E789??7�FB75C�,G (H553:8�H@3�84�I4:89:H3"#$%#$$&#%## ()*+,,-./0 123�(456457894:�4;�823�(98<�4;�=>3?79>3 JH??5H@2�B75C-K75:67:EE7��FB75C�+/G (H553:8�H@3�84�I4:89:H3"#$%#$$&#%#L ()*+,,-./0 123�(456457894:�4;�823�(98<�4;�=>3?79>3 )3>�MHN�B75C-D7557O9557�FB75C�+PG (H553:8�H@3�84�I4:89:H3"#$%#$$&#%LQ ()*+,,-./0 123�(456457894:�4;�823�(98<�4;�=>3?79>3 B4@@HN�B75C-B95?87O75>?9�FB75C�+G�R�S4582�=>3?79>3�M4?;�(4H5@3 (H553:8�H@3�84�I4:89:H3"#$%#$$&#%LT ()*+,,-./0 123�(456457894:�4;�823�(98<�4;�=>3?79>3 B4@@HN�B75C-B95?87O75>?9�FB75C�+G�R�S4582�=>3?79>3�M4?;�(4H5@3 (H553:8�H@3�84�I4:89:H3"#$%#$$&#%U$ ()*+,,-./0 123�(456457894:�4;�823�(98<�4;�=>3?79>3 )3>�MHN�B75C-D7557O9557�FB75C�+PG (H553:8�H@3�84�I4:89:H3"#$%#$$&#%U# ()*+,,-./0 123�(456457894:�4;�823�(98<�4;�=>3?79>3 V9@8?3843�B75C-179:NH:89??7�FB75C�++G�R�D7557O9557�B759�59A35W7:C�F:458235:�@9>3G (H553:8�H@3�84�I4:89:H3"#$%#$$&#%UU ()*+,,-./0 123�(456457894:�4;�823�(98<�4;�=>3?79>3 )3>�MHN�B75C-D7557O9557�FB75C�+PG�R�S458235:�645894: (H553:8�H@3�84�I4:89:H3"#$%#$$&#%U' ()*+,,-./0 123�(456457894:�4;�823�(98<�4;�=>3?79>3 J54HE27N�M75>3:@-17:8H8989:EE7�FB75C�PXG (H553:8�H@3�84�I4:89:H3"#$%#$$&#%UY ()*+,,-./0 123�(456457894:�4;�823�(98<�4;�=>3?79>3 J54HE27N�M75>3:@-17:8H8989:EE7�FB75C�PXG (H553:8�H@3�84�I4:89:H3"#$%#$$&#%U% ()*+,,-./0 123�(456457894:�4;�823�(98<�4;�=>3?79>3 J54HE27N�M75>3:@-17:8H8989:EE7�FB75C�PXG (H553:8�H@3�84�I4:89:H3"#$%#$$&#%UQ ()*+,,-./0 123�(456457894:�4;�823�(98<�4;�=>3?79>3 J54HE27N�M75>3:@-17:8H8989:EE7�FB75C�PXG (H553:8�H@3�84�I4:89:H3"#$%#$$&#%UT ()*+,,-./0 123�(456457894:�4;�823�(98<�4;�=>3?79>3 B7?N35�M75>3:@-B7:EC9�B7:EC9�FB75C�PZG (H553:8�H@3�84�I4:89:H3"#$%#$$&#%U[ ()*+,,-./0 123�(456457894:�4;�823�(98<�4;�=>3?79>3 175:87:<7�K7N7�FB75C�P*G�R��B9:C<�\?78 (H553:8�H@3�84�I4:89:H3"#$%#$$&#%'$ ()*+,,-./0 123�(456457894:�4;�823�(98<�4;�=>3?79>3 B4@@HN�B75C-B95?87O75>?9�FB75C�+G�R�B75�]�M4?;�(4H5@3 (H553:8�H@3�84�I4:89:H3"#$%#$$&#%'# ()*+,,-./0 123�(456457894:�4;�823�(98<�4;�=>3?79>3 V75<�̂33�B75C-1H?<7�K75>?9�FB75C�P0JG (H553:8�H@3�84�I4:89:H3"#$%#$$&#%'U ()*/.X-XP. V9:9@835�;45�_:;57@85HI8H53 =̀�K7835�)3@35A3 (H553:8�H@3�84�I4:89:H3"#$%#$$&#%'' ()*+,,-./0 123�(456457894:�4;�823�(98<�4;�=>3?79>3 B4@@HN�B75C-B95?87O75>?9�FB75C�+G�R�S4582�=>3?79>3�M4?;�(4H5@3 (H553:8�H@3�84�I4:89:H3"#$%#$$&#%'T ()*+,,-./0 123�(456457894:�4;�823�(98<�4;�=>3?79>3 )3>�MHN�B75C-D7557O9557�FB75C�+PG�R�S4582aO3@8�645894: (H553:8�H@3�84�I4:89:H3b# V9:9@835�;45�157:@6458�7:>�_:;57@85HI8H53 \45N@�6758�4;�V4562388�8̀5338�J59>E3 (H553:8�H@3�84�I4:89:H3bL 123�(456457894:�4;�823�(98<�4;�=>3?79>3 \45N@�6758�4;�V4562388�8̀5338�J59>E3 (H553:8�H@3�84�I4:89:H3���cd����edfg�hd����id�dj�k��l�mlfdl�jn�o�pqrdf���stuvw�jxf��ys�z����cd����edfg�hd����p��xf��m�{��xc�

yv|

Page 421



��������	�
��
�����
 ����� ���������	�����������������	��
 ����������
��������� � !"""#$%& '()*+,-.,/�0,.-� +,12��3+4�5*6 0,.-��3++.63+�789:9��:�;����< � &=$!#=>= ?./.)*@+�A3+� +,/)43+*B�C/A+,)*+(1*(+@�,/6�531,-�D3E*F G@)H.12�0,.-� @+I./,-�789:9����;����< � &=$%#JJ! '()*+,-.,/�0,.-� +,12��3+4�5*6 0,.-��3++.63+�789:9��7 � &=$!#=>! '()*+,-.,/�0,.-� +,12��3+4�5*6 0,.-��3++.63+������8�� �0&=%J#%% ?./.)*@+�A3+�K/E.+3/I@/*�,/6�L,*@+ D3E@+/I@/*�M3()@������8�� �0&=%J#%" ?./.)*@+�A3+�K/E.+3/I@/*�,/6�L,*@+ D3E@+/I@/*�M3()@���97���7 � !$J>#"$$ '()*+,-.,/�0,.-� +,12��3+4�5*6 0,.-��3++.63+N�9������ � !%OJ#&>! '()*+,-.,/�0,.-� +,12��3+4�5*6 0,.-��3++.63+N��8����: � !$$$#==" '()*+,-.,/�0,.-� +,12��3+4�5*6 0,.-��3++.63+N��8����9 � !$$$#==" '()*+,-.,/�0,.-� +,12��3+4�5*6 0,.-��3++.63+N��8����� � !$$$#==" '()*+,-.,/�0,.-� +,12��3+4�5*6 0,.-��3++.63+

PQRSTUQR�VTWX�YTZQ[�\TZT]R̂ RZ_�̀_WT_R]a�b�cdeTWQ[�fghi

����
	�j�k�l�mj���	�	�n�
	
oU]pWR�qh�r�PQRSTUQR�VTWX�YTZQ[�stuSpQRQ�YTZQ

PvvRZQUuR[qii

Page 422



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

���������
 ���

Page 423



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

����� !"�#�$�� �%&! ��'&()�*&� +�*�&+�+�,"-�� !�.�/!0��1�&(+*�++2( *�++�� 3�(4 5�6&!%+ #244��6#!67�28�� �%&! �� 9:;<=>�?@A:>B�CD@@>E> FG�H>I:J CDKK><=>B�GLGMLFMFG 9I:N�O#!67�28�� �%&! �� PQ>�R<;S>:J;TH�DA�?B>@I;B> UF�H>I:J� CDKK><=>B�GLMVLFMGW 9I:NJ�GM�I<B�GF#!67�28�� �%&! �� ?B>@I;B>�X;EQ�Y=QDD@ FG�H>I:J CDKK><=>B�GLMOLFMGW 9I:N�GF�ZD[;<E�C@\]#!67�28�� �%&! �� 9:;<=>�?@A:>B�CD@@>E> FG�H>I:J CDKK><=>B�GLMWLFMGG 9I:N�GF�ZD[;<E�C@\]#!67�28�� �%&! �� D̂@@>H_J�Z>JTI\:I<T W�̀�a�̀�a�̀�a�H>I:J CDKK><=>B�GLMbLFMFG 9I:N�GF�c�>IJT�DA�d;<E�e;@@;IK�YT:>>T�]:;BE>#!67�28�� �%&! �� fD\<B>:J�gDITJQ>B�CIAh Ga�H>I:J CDKK><=>B�GLMGLFMFW 9I:N�GF�c�>IJT�DA�d;<E�e;@@;IK�YT:>>T�g:;BE>#!67�28�� �%&! �� 9Di>H>�jDTD:]DITJ O�H>I:J�GG�KD<TQJ CDKK><=>B�GLMGLFMGV 9I:N�GF�c�>IJT�DA�d;<E�e;@@;IK�YT:>>T�]:;BE>#!67�28�� �%&! �� ?B>@I;B>�gD[@;<E�C@\] Ga�H>I:J CDKK><=>B�GLMGLFMGU ?B>@I;B>�9I:N�GU�kZHK;@@�9I:NLj\:@I[;::Ii\:NIl�c�m>n\>TT>S;@@>�P>::I=>#!67�28�� �%&! �� PQ>�o>@D O�H>I:J�GG�KD<TQJ CDKK><=>B�GLGMLFMGa 9I:N�Gp�c�gIJ>K><T�q:I<BJTI<B�g\;@B;<E#!67�28�� �%&! �� o;=TD:;I�9I:N�YD=;I@�C@\] O�H>I:J�GG�KD<TQJ CDKK><=>B�GLMGLFMGV 9I:N�Gp�c�r@B�gDDNKIN>:J�I<B�s<T:I<=>�g\;@B;<E#!67�28�� �%&! �� d;DJN�D<�Gp O�H>I:J�GG�KD<TQJ CDKK><=>B�GFLMGLFMGV 9I:N�Gp�c�o;=TD:;I�9I:N�d;DJN#!67�28�� �%&! �� ?B>@I;B>�9IS;@;D< U�̀�p�̀�a�H>I:J CDKK><=>B�VLMGLFMGO 9I:N�FG#!67�28�� �%&! �� g\:>I\�DA�j>T>D:D@DEH UF�H>I:J CDKK><=>B�GLMGLFMGV 9I:N�FU#!67�28�� �%&! �� CDK>TJ�tDDT]I@@�C@\]�u<= FG�H>I:J CDKK><=>B�GLMGLFMGO 9I:N�FU#!67�28�� �%&! �� ?B>@I;B>�X;EQ�Y=QDD@ UF�H>I:J CDKK><=>B�VLMGLFMGa 9I:N�FU�c�TD�AI=;@;TIT>�TQ>�>vT><J;D<�DA�?B>@I;B>�X;EQ�Y=QDD@�DS>:�?B>@I;B>�9I:N�fI<BJ#!67�28�� �%&! �� YD\TQ�?\JT:I@;I<�C:;=N>T�?JJD=;IT;D< FG�̀�FG�H>I:J CDKK><=>B�GLMGLFMGV 9I:N�Fa#!67�28�� �%&! �� eI:�j>KD:;I@�m:;S>�P><<;J�C@\] aM�H>I:J CDKK><=>B�GLMGLGOOO Y\]@>IJ>�TD�mIS;B�f@DHB�f>;J\:>�kw>vT�q><>:IT;D<l�c�I@JD�AD:�aM�H>I:J#!67�28�� �%&! �� Y?�P><<;J�?JJD=;IT;D< FG�̀�FG�H>I:J CDKK><=>B�VLMGLFMGa 9I:N�Fp�c�eI:�j>KD:;I@�m:;S>#!67�28�� �%&! �x j;<;JT>:�AD:�P:I<JiD:T�I<B�u<A:IJT:\=T\:>�km9Pul bM�H>I:J svi;:>J�GpLGGLFMOG 9I:N�Fp�c�?B>@I;B>�rSI@�sIJT�I<B�e>JTy�Y\]@>IJ>B�TD�YTIB;\K�jI<IE>K><T�?\TQD:;TH�kYj?l#!67�28�� �%&! �� j;<;JT>:�AD:�P:I<JiD:T�I<B�u<A:IJT:\=T\:>�km9Pul bM�H>I:J svi;:>J�GpLGGLFMOG 9I:N�Fp�c�?B>@I;B>�rSI@�zF#!67�28�� �%&! �� j;<;JT>:�AD:�9D@;=>�kY?9rfl svi;:>J�FbLMFLFMWM 9I:N�FV�c�Y?9rf�KD=N�:DIB[IH

�{{����|�
}�~

Page 424



�����������	
�����
��������������	������������	�
�����

����� ������ !� " #�$%&'� (�""�)$(&$*��+�,-�'%&-�� ./0/1234�564�73892: ;<�=3841 >6??30@3A�BCDBC<DBE F80A�/0�54602�65�2:3�G3H�I6=89�JA398/A3�761K/289L�M� )"�)$��+�N�O$P�,O�$ %'&% JA398/A3�I6H/0Q�>9RS�T�3812�65�.64K:322�U24332�S4/AQ3 V�W�X�=3841�3W2301/601 YWK/431�BCDZC<D<EL�M� )"�)$��+�N�O$P�,O�$ %'&% JA398/A3�[312/\89�>30243�]4R12 <D�=3841�K9R1�BD�=384�3W2301/60 YWK/431�ZDCDEC<DẐ JA398/A3�[312/\89�>30243�_[312/\89�]:38243̀�aR01280�b98=:6R13̀�J?K:/2:38243̀�UK8@3�]:38243cL�M� )"�)$��+�N�O$P�,O�$ %'&% b60�>:6R0Q�F8H�64�G6?/033 V�=384�234?�K9R1�<�W�V�=384�3W2301/601 YWK/431�ZDCDEC<DẐ Y9A34�b84d�e/61dL�M� )"�)$��+�N�O$P�,O�$ %'&% >6??34@/89�fK3482/601�b2=�F2A BD�=384�234?�K9R1�<�W�V�=384�3W2301/601 YWK/431�ZDCB<C<DZX .892�U:6\39�]8K:6R13L�M� )"�)$��+�N�O$P�,O�$ %'&% I6=89�g36Q48K:/@89�U6@/32=�65�U6R2:�JR12489/8 BD�=384�234?�K9R1�Z�W�BD�=3841�3W2301/601� YWK/431�BCBBC<DVE U2823�F/S484=�_H/2:/0�.64296@d�H/0QcL�M� )"�)$��+�N�O$P�,O�$ %'&% h4/2341�UJ V�=384�234?�K9R1�Z�i�<�=3841�3W2301/60 YWK/431�BCDBC<D<̂ U2823�F/S484=�_H/2:/0�j012/2R23�kR/9A/0QcL�M� )"�)$��+�N�O$P�,O�$ %'&% G82/6089�J4@:/\31�65�JR12489/8�T�JA398/A3�6l@3�65�2:3�JR12489/80�g6\340?302�8Q30@= V�=384�234?�K9R1�V�=384�3W2301/60�80A�800R89�4303H89�546?�<D<Z� >6??30@3A�;CD̂C<DB; U2823�F/S484=�_H/2:/0�.64296@d�H/0QcL�M� )"�)$��+�N�O$P�,O�$ %'&% JI]eh�b2=�F2A�_248A/0Q�81�JgUJ�Y821c V�=384�234?�K9R1�Z�i�<�=384�3W2301/601 >6??30@3A�BCDEC<D<B J42�g89934=m��n	��op�q������������	
�����
����
�
�rst�������m�u��v��	


�ww����t�
 o�x

Page 425



��������������	����
�����
���������������
����
�������������������
����
�����������
�������
Page 426



��� ���������������	���
��������
������������
����������������
������������������ �!"#����$���%�& �'��())��*�+�,"���-�*�./.0���

Page 427

Attachment B



Page 428



��������	
�����
��
�������
����������
�
��������
����
���� 
�!�"#���$
�%��#&���'� 
�"��
&�
���
�#%����
#�
�"�
�������#���
(#!���$
#)
�"�
��!���
*�#*��
#)
�"�
��������
����� 
���
*�$ 
�� *�%�
�#
+���� 
*� �,
*�� ���
���
�-��'��'.
/�
��%#'�� �
���
�� *�%�
�"���
%!��!���
"�����'�,
0����) 
���
������#� "�*
&��"
�"�
����.
/�
�� #
�1����
�"��
�� *�%�
�#
2� ��#� 
#)
#�"��
�0#��'����
���'!�'�
3�#!* 
���
#�"��
4�� �
5���#� .
	�������
6��6���7�8
�9:;<=;
>9?
@:ABC?C@D
<:E
F?9F9D@E
=G<:H@D
I)
$#!
"�2�
��$
J!� ��#� 
��'�����'
�"� 
�#%!-���
#�
�)
$#!
"�2�
�
 !''� ��#�
)#�
�-*�#2�-��� ,
*��� �
%#���%�K
�9:;<=;
�>>C=@?L
 M���"�&
4����
�C;N@L
 M���'��,
����
���� 
���
O! �����0����$

6?9H?<PL
 ����
���� ,
�#��%$
���
O! �����0����$

6G9:@L
 QRST
SURV
WVWV
�P<CNL
 -.)����X%��$#)��������.%#-.�!
�@=9?E
	@;<CND
Y6��
�@>@?@:=@L
 
Y6��
�9:;<C:@?L
 
Z@?DC9:
YCD;9?[
Z@?DC9:
 �@\CDC9:
	<;@
 �@\CD@E
][
 �@\CDC9:
	@D=?CF;C9:

̂ U_
�*���
URÙ
 a.
b#  ���

 c��)�
��*#��

 
 
 

 


Page 429



��������	
���	����
������������	�	��������	�����������������

��

�� !"�#$�%#&�"&�'�()*+,-./01/2/+3�,4�),5+367�8888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888889�:8� /;<=>?9@<�A>BBCDE�8888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888F�G8� HC=IJDK>LM�8888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888N�F8� )KLO>P?C?9KL�,QR<=?9@<O�CLM�(SSDKC=T�8888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888N�N8� -TK�-<�U<CDM�4DKB�888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888V�V8� -TC?�-<�U<CDM�88888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888W�W8� XBSP<B<L?C?9KL�KY�4<<MQC=I�888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888W�(??C=TB<L?�(�Z�)KLO>P?C?9KL�A>BBCDE�3CQP<�888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888[���

Page 430



���������	
������
�������������������������������������� ������!�����������"�������� ���#������$��#�����$��$����� �$��$�����������%��#�����&�� �'�$���(�$�"���$��)�����"*�+���,�����-./0�1����������%&'()2�,��������(�$����������&#�$$�$"3�����4��*����%��#������$���$*�)�������������*������5��$�$"����$��#��������!������������$�������1���"�������� ���#����2��$�����������%&'()3��$��������$���,����)�����$�671821�2��������9:;<=>:;�?=@A�B=C:D�9EF�GHHI�1����%��2J�����"�������� ���#������$��#�����$��$�����������%&'()������$�����$�KL�MNOPQRPS�KTKU��$����$�#������$�V�
WPXY�KTKUJ�4�$��#�����$�,����$���������������,�����$�#������,��������������%&'()���������J�����#��������Z��������$*�������� �������������"�������� ���#����������,��#�������������[���#��##��\�%��#�����&�� �'�$���%�������*�1[���#��##�2��$�����$"�����������%&'()����"�����$"����������$��*���$��#�����$6J������������������#�$���������������[���#��##���$������ ������$��#��,�����������"�������� ���#������$�����������%&'()�����������������*���$��#�����$���Z������$����$����)�����$�671821�2��������%��J��������$��#�����$�������� ��������������������%&'()����"�����$"���������$��*���$��#�����$�,������!����$����������$������������$��#�����$�������� ����!����J���[�*�����������������$�������$��#�����$��$�#����]��̂ %�!�������������(�$����������&#�$$�$"��$��4��$��#���������������!���$�%�������$��%J��̂ _�$���#�����������������������%&'()��$�����"�����$"�����������$��������#�����$��#�����$J��̂ )�""�����$������$��$�������"$����$�����#���$����������������!�����*3�4�#�$�#�'�"����$��������#�����4��*�_����$���J���̂ )�""�����$�������5����������������$�������������������������%&'()���������!��$�!�"����$3���$�����$�*�����̀�������$�3��$�������$�����$���������$"3��$�#���$"���$���������$�����$��$��̀��$�������!���$�����������$���#�!�#�����J��̂ (�$�����������#����$"����$���*��"�������#����������$�J��̂ �������"�������� ���#������$��#�����$�����$�������#�����$����$"������������������������"��#�J�������%���$��������$���������4��*����%��#������$������a����������b���"$��$��%������������1ab%)%2���!��,�� ����#���#*������!��������������%&'()���������������"�������� ���#����������� J�����������$�#����������������$"�����������$����������!��$�!�"����$3�"���������$�����$�*��$�,����$"���*#���$���$��$����$��������$��$���$�������$"J���c��$�[���#��##�d����$���������$��$���$�������$�����������!�����������%&'()3������$��*���$��#�����$�,�##������$����$��������$���,��������)��"��/�4�$��#�����$�&#�$������,��������!����*�[���#��##���$�--�e������*�-.-8J�� ��f�)�� ���#�����,�������!�����,�����$��#�����$������*�1&be2��������������%&'()3�������"���#�!�����$��������������%&'()�����$�����������������������$��#�����$J�
Page 431



��������	
���	����
������������	�	��������	�����������������

�

� �!"#$%&'()*�+��	���	,������-./-0�����-./�0�����1	��,�2�3���
��

������	�4����5
	�����4�	4�����������������������1	���	
���	����
������������	�	��������	��6���3���
��

��1���7��	���
	����,��4�	1	���8	��	8�	������1	�	9���������	
���	����
������������	�	��������	�����-:;���:�����,,�����,	����1��1	��	<7��	�	��������1	��,�6��������=	,����		�����>������		��	4�	�	����������	�	�����
	1�
�	���1���5		���8	��		�����1	��	8�	��4��,	��2�������	��5���8	��-������1�����	����	�	����,��8���	�����1��	4�	�	�����8	�����������	�������,�
�?�8	���	��2���,
7�������=�������>�7�,�
�6��������	�7
������1	��	8�	�2�3���
��

��1����	8	
�4	���������������6�����	�	��,���7
�����������7��	���
	������,,�����,	����1��	,�����-.�����1	��,�2����4��������1	�4��4���
����8�����1	���	
���	����
������������	�	��������	�����-:;���:��1��7�1��75����7���������1	������	������1��1	������������6��3���
��

���	8�	�	���1	����������������,�����	�,	���������		�����������@	5�7�������������	�����	���1	����������������1���������	���	���������1	�47�4��	���������	�	�����
	1�
�	��,���7
������6��1	�	���	���	������	��7�
��	���������,1�	�����/A	��B�6�-06���C �#')D(EF"FG')�'!HI#FGJID�")*�"KK&'"#L���1	��5=	,��8	�����1	�����	�	�����
	1�
�	��,���7
�������4��,	�����������	�	���1	�����������������,,�����,	����1��	,�����-./�0/50�����1	��,���������	�	�����
	1�
�	���4��������7��	���
����,���7�����,���7
�����������1	������������6��3���
��

������	�����1	���

���������
	1�
�	�������4��8��	����,�4������1	�������������/���,�����	�,	0��		
����������
��		�5�,
������1	�1	���1	���744���	���1	�������������4����	���������,���7�����,���7
������6��1	���

����������	�	�����
	1�
�	����	�	�,���7
�	�M�N�>���������	
���	��N�������	�������
�������N�����	��7�1�����	���1��1�8	������	,�����	�	�������1	������������2���,
7����M�N�3�7����O	�����5�������
�>��4��������/3O�>0�N�?�		����	
���	�N���	��7�	�������7�1��7����
����N��	4����	�����������	�����P�8	���	���;��
�������Q������+�	��	�8�,	���N�������	������R	�
�1�����S	

5	����N�������	�������1	�T�8�����	�������S��	��N�������	������P�������7,�7�	����������4�����N�������	������T�7,�����2���������������
�

���N�������	�����������N�U���,	������	�����������,1��	,�7�	����N�U���,	�����A	,�	�����2��4��������A�,����N�A	�	��
����N���7�1��7����
�����7�	7��N�V�����,�?���	����������	�R	�5���7��
Page 432



����������	�
����
�������������������	����	��	�	�	��	������	����	����������	�����	����
������	����	�������������������������������������������	����
����
��������������������	����	������ ����!���
���	�"�!���
����
�����������������
��#	���������$����� ����������������
�������	
������
����%������	������
����&����	��������
����'������(�&�
�	��������
��&	�	��������
����)	�������	��������
���������	��
���������������)���	�����	���*+,-.���������
��������������/
�� 	�0����	� � 	�	�������	��1������	��������&"2
������!	����	����	��������������	������
	������34/51/�1�������	�&���	�0�6� � 	�	���&����/	�����	��!
�7�����������������88�9	!����
�8:85��		��� 1������7����������	������� ���	��������&"2
;��<=�>?@�>A�?ABCD�EC@F���	��������� �����	����	���������	���		�!���������	��������&"2
;�������
������	����	����2�����	������&������ ��������	�����#	�� ������������	����	����	�	����
�������
����)	�������	��������
����'������(�&�
�	��������
��&	�	�G�������
�������	
������
����&����	����������	����
������	����	��B,,HIJK-L,�B�������	���	�����������	��		�!�������� ����������������������	��	�����	�������������
������	���	�������	(��������� ���	�����	������� ��� 	����!	�����	����
�� ���	�	����� 	�����	�!		�����	������	������	��;�� �
Page 433



��������	
���	����
������������	�	��������	�����������������

�

��� !"#� $�!$"%&�'		�(�)
����������	�	�����
	*�
�	��������+,,����-	.����*��	-	��
��	�,���	��)������+
������/���
��

�������)��,�	*	���-	������	����*�������)�,��	���*	���,�)���*���)*���	�����)
����	.�,�,+
�����������,	���,�)	��	���������*	���	
���	����
������.������	�����
���0�	���-���������,���	)������	�*��)	��*	���	
���	����
������1���/	������	�������	������*	�)���+
���������)
+�	�2�3� ��-�)	�������*	�������	�������
�����������4�+�)�
�����	���+���(�-	��������)*�	����1�3� 5	�	��
��+,,���������*	�����������������,����	�������*	���)+�	������,+(
�)�)���+
������1�3� �+��	����������	�*��)	��	)������������	
	�	�����+)*����(����-	�����.�4�
��	
����*�������*	���
	����4����5���	�	��1��3� �+��	������������6+����*	���������������+)�+�	�����*	������������������,��-	���-�������.�)������	�)�����	7,�	����������,�	�	�������������,,���.���)
+�����)�����	����������������	7�������,��-	�	�������,�	)��)��
	-	
���,�1�3� ������	�������
�)*���	��������,����,*�)�
�)���	)�����1�3� �*	�����	�	�����
	*�
�	��)���+
�������*��������	�+
�	�����)*���	������*	�,�������	��������
�1���*	�	������+,,���������*	�������������,����	���������)���+�����)���+
�������+,���)�����	�������������,
	�	������������*	�)���+
��������		�(�)
1�"889:;<=>8�"�,��-��	���	���
������*	��		�(�)
��
�������*����������������-	��	�,���	��������+�����������	���	�������	���)
+������*	�)���	�,�������,��	��+�(	�����	����������*	�	�)*���	��*�-	�(		�����	�����*	���)+�	��1��?��@ABC$A$D#"#@ED�EF�F$$&G"HI���*	���������������������*	�4���������	
���	������*	�J�����*�-	����
	��)
��	
������	-��	��*	��������������������	�������	�	�����
	*�
�	���		�(�)
1��*���*�����)
+�	���	���+)�+������*	���)+�	��������,��-	���-�������.���	��	��)������	�)����������������
	�����	�*��)	�	�������)���	���������,,���1�K*	�	��		�(�)
����L���	�M����"889:;<=>8�".��*	��		�(�)
�*��������	�+
�	����������	���	�������*	�����������������������
�	��������	��	������*	�������������������������+	����(	�����	��	���+����	�����*	������������1��*	��	-�������,��-��	������	�)������	������������������*����	-��	��)���	������+)�+�	��*������	���	�������-����	1���*	�,����	��*�,��,,���)*�(	��		���*	�4���������	
���	�����J�������

�)�����+	�����*	�������������,����	��	���*��+�*����)���+�����)���+
��������������+
�����	
�����,�	��(���*	�������	�������
������.��*	�4���������	
���	�����/���
��

�1����
Page 434



�

����������	�	
	��
��
�������	�
���

��	�����		
���	���������	�����	� �

����!	���	���"��#$	%&�'
�"�"	�(	���	)���!��&	��&

	*�������+	���	,��(	��	-
"����"�	��"	��(	.����	�

 ���&��(	�&	�"/������	#�
 �#��	

����	��!	�	"�&�#�	����&�!
�	��	���	0&���	-"����"�	*

�&$	1��"!	)�����2��
�	.�&����(	3	����&"!	4

567	��	�##�&"��#�	����
	.�#����	89:;<:�<	��	���

	
=>?@AB>? 	CADE	FAG>H	=

IJ	KLLMN	���	�����	��!�
	#������!	���	�#����!	��

$��	��	�2%��2���	���	��
�"��#$N		

�OP	�QR	�STUOVQWXO
Y	ZO[\Y]̂S]Q_	QP	�̀

O_X̀O_Sa�_̂bS	
ZQ\b̀O_S	�O\S]Q_		

�STSb[	�X̀]_
][SYTS]Q_	�Q̀`O_S[	

�STSO	cQdOY_̀O_S	a	�
eO_\]O[	fOOXgT\U	 1��� ���	��	���	h.�&���

��#	*&��&����!i	!�#����	
���"!	��	��	&��&�2�"	�

�	��! &�	����	
�"�������"	%&�/�#�!	#��!

�"�&	���	���(	�&�	
�����&���"	����	���	���"

!#�%�	��	��! &�	���	
#��&�#��&	 ��	���	-"����

"�	*�&$	1��"!	�!	
&������"	

*�&�	j	3	.�&�����#	*&��&
����!	-2��"2��

�!	 2�"�	1��� �
��	&��&�2�"	��	&����#�	�

��	���"	��&	
%&�/�#�!	�"�������"	 �"�

&	h.�&�����#	
*&��&����!i	:�N�N	���	k�

2��i!	��"	
,���"&��i!	l�!%����<	��	

��	�����&���"	������	
���	���"!#�%�	��	2����

���	���	#��&�#��&	��	
���	-"����"�	*�&$	1��"

!N	
m�%��#�2���	��	%&�#��

#�	� 2��&!	����	
%&�#��#�	��2�!	��	&���

'���	2�%!	
*�&�	,	3	-"����"�	*�&$

	1��"!	
*&�#��#�	*���!	

-2��"2���!	 2�"�	*&�#��#
�	� 2��&���	��	2�%!	�

�!	����	
&�%��#�"	����	%&�#��#�	�

�2�!N	
n����#�"	&�#��������	�

�	���	'�� �	��	
���"�'�&!��(	������	���	-

"����"�	*�&$	1��"!	
��"	��#� "�	�	"���������

	��	�	$�(	���"�'�&!��(	
�&��	:oj-<	

*�&�	j	3	p���	6		
-2��"2���!	 2�"�	q�#� ! ��

�	��	�	hj��"�'�&!��(i	!�#
����	��	

���������	���	�2%�&���#
�	��	���"�'�&!��(	

������	���	-"����"�	*�&
$	1��"!N	

m�'���	��	2�%!	��	��!
 &�	���	���"!#�%�	

���� &�!	�&�	�## &����(
	!����	��"	"�!#&���"	

:�N�N	������"	��	p	.	o��
�!���	*�&$	r	

k�&&�&������	:*�&$	46<<	
��&� ��� �	"&���	-*1)

.		-2��"2��
�!	 2�"�	,�2%&

����!�'�	&�'���	��"	 %
"���	

 �"�&��$��	��	���	*&�#��
#�	)�%!	r	

,��!�"�&�����!N		
q2%&�'�	���	�&�%��#	&�

%&�!��������	��	���	
.s �&�!	��"	��#� "�	�"

"�������	"�����	
*�&�	 ,	3	-"����"�	*�&$

	1��"!	
*&�#��#�	*���!	

-2��"2���!	 2�"�	q�#� !��
�	��	�&��	#���%(	� �����

!+	��"	
%�����(!	��	%&�'�"�	�&

����&	#����t�N	
���	"�'���%2���	��	#��

�&�&	��'�!�2���	
%&��#�%��!	��"	#&���&��	�

�	� �"�	%&��&���!�����	
��	%&�/�#�!	

u-	
u�� �"	���!	#�

 �"	��	�#���'�"	�!	�	!�
%�&���	

%��#�	��	��&$N	-*1).	
!��!	���	�����&v

��'��	��'�!�2���	�&�2�
��&$	��"	#&���&��N	

8	wTXTWS]WWT	 POOXgT\U	PYQ̀
	 xx	fOgYbTYy	 xzx{	̀OOS]_e	 m��!���	���	%&�����	��	��

�	-"����"�	*�&$	
1��"!	��"	m &��	.�����

2���	1��"!#�%�!	
*�&�	j	3	.�&� ����#	*&��&

����!	-2��"2��
�!	 2�"�	-""����

�	��	���	-"����"�	*�&$	
1��"!	��"	

m &��	.�����2���	1��"!
#�%�!	k�&�"	

l�&�����	j�"	��	���	��!�	
��	h��	%&��&�!!i	

%&��&��(	%&�/�#�!N	

Page 435



�

��������	
���
����
���������
��������

�������
�����
�
�������
�	��
�����

	
�
��������
��
��
����������
��

��� !�"#�$%&'#�($!�%)��
*')�$%+�$,- *+$�,�&+�

&,�.$,�/��'�#++.�/�$��$%0�
/��1#-%2�

3��#4$#5��6�%)#�%#�7�89,
4$%&%$�,:�$,�%)#�;�& �<�

=�9,4$%&%$�,+>�?�,,# -%$�
,+�&,!�@#%5��A+>�%��

6$,!�& %#�,&%$4#�&,!�B���
�$%+��#7�4& 2�

C)��*')�*%�!�&6%�3DEF
G�37#,!7#,

%+� 7&!#�H#7�4
&  ��6�%)#�%#�7�89,4$%&%$�,

:�
%)��*')�*%�%)#�!�-*7#

,%2�C)$+�$,- *!#+�
�#7�4& �6��7�8;�& �<:�&

,!�%)#,�&  �
D�#-$,-%�D &,+�%)&%�/�#

4$�*+ 0��#6#��#!�%��
89,4$%&%$�,+:2��

<���
I���� ���������J� K������� ����L���M� ��������N� ����L��������
� 

��O������� PQPR��������� ���
��N�H#4$#5�+%�*-%*�#��6�!�-

*7#,%�S�-�,+$!#��
$,!#T�/&'#�%��$,-�#&+#

�,&4$'&%$�,�&,!�
�#&!&U$ $%02�

C)��* ')�*%�!�&6%�3DEF
G�37#,!7#,%+

� 7&!#�C)#�!�
-*7#,%�)&+�U##,��#+%�*

-%*�#!�%��
&++$+%�$,�%)#�*+#��#T/#�

$#,-#�B��#&!&U$ $%02�
C)#�!�-*7#,%�$+�,�5�+

%�*-%*�#!�$,%�V�
W��
���S�(&-A'��*,!B� ;�4#�,&,-#B?�,+* %&%$

�,�
W��
�X�S�D�$��$%$#+BY$�#

-%$�,+B;�& +�
W��
���S�97/ #7#,%&%$�

,B9,4#+%7#,%��
Z��
����[����S�&  �7&/

+� $+%#!�$,�$,!#T�
6��7�� Z��
����\�N�����S�&  �6$'

*�#+� $+ %#!�$,�$,!#T�
6��7� �������]���S�E&,!�C#

,*�#̂�_ T- *!#!�
E&,!� �������]�X�S�E#&+#+�

_T-##! $,'�̀�a#&�+�
b*�%)#��%��%)#�-)&,'#�$

,�+%�*-%*�#>�
c�_&-)�+#-%$�,�)&+�U

##,�'$4#,�&� !$66#�#,%�-� �*��%��&++$+
%�$,�,&4$'&%$�,�

5$%)�-� �*��7&%-)#!�+$!
#�%&U+�

c�3�d"�5�%��*+#�%)#�
G%�&%#'0e�+#-%$�,� )&+�U##,�$,- *!#!�%��/
��4$!#�6*�%)#��

- &�$%0�&U�*%�)�5�%��*+#
�%)#�!�-*7#,%��

c�3,�$,!#T�/&'#�-&,�U#
�$,- *!#!�$,�%)#� 6$,& �3DEFG�$,- *!$,'�
6���A#0�5��!+�

&,!�+*U1#-%+�5$%)$,�%)#
�G%�&%#'0�$6�

�#f*$�#!�

Page 436



�

��������	
���
����
���������
��������

�������
�����
�
�������
�	��
�����

	
�
��������
��
��
����������
��

��� !"#�"#$!%!&!�%'�'#(
&!�%�#)�*!#��!%�

"�(+,#%&�
-� #"�&���)�&�.���

.,#%",#%&'� ,)"#�/0#�"#
$!%!&!�%'�0) #�1##%�,�

 #"�$��,�
2#&+�%�.�#)'�'#(&!�%�&3��

)�&�.�40!(0�!'�
+5$��%&�!%�&0#�"�(+,#%

&�)%"�!'�%�4�!&'�
�4%�'#(&!�%�&!&*#"�67#$!%

!&!�%'89�.�"#$!%!&!�%�
�$�6."#*)!"#��)�:�;)%"

'8�0)'�)*'��1##%�
)""#"�40!(0��#$#�#%(#

'�&0#�."#*)!"#�
�)�:�;)%"'��*)%�<=2>

��*)%?9�
.&�!&'�,##&!%@��%���.5�

!*�ABAC�D�+%(!*�
�#E+#'&#"�F)")*&!**)�(�

%'!"#��(0)%@#'�&��&0#�
$�**�4!%@�(�%&#%&�!%�&0#

�"�)$&�.�;-GH� I9�.�5��5�')*�&��)**�4
�()��5)�:!%@��%�&0#� �)�:�;)%"'�!$�& 0#�%##"
�()%�1#�

"#,�%'&�)&#"����&0#�#�
!'�%���#)'�%)1*#�

)*&#�%)&! #�)%"�&��'+55
��&�,)�:#&'J�

'&�##&�(�+�&�'5��&'�)%"�
# #%&'�

A9�D�%'!"#�)&!�%��$�)*
&#�%)&! #�+'#'�$���&0#� %��&0#�%�5)�&��$�&0#�D!&
K��$�."#*)!"#�

=�*$�D�+�'#� L9�/0#�5�''!1!*!&K��$�)
**�4!%@�5�! )&#� !% #'&,#%&�!%�&0#��)�:�
;)%"'�!%�'+(0�

"#&)!*�)'�!'�K#&�&��1#�"#
&#�,!%#"�&��

'+55��&�(�,,+%!&K�'5�
�&'�

C9�/0#�!%(*+'!�%��$�)�%
#4�(�,,+%!&K� 1+!*"!%@�)&�-)�K�;##��)
�:�<�)�:�AMN?�

)%"�=�*"#%�O)&&*#��)�
:P-!�%+�O!��)�

<�)�:�AIO?�)'�&0#��%*K
�(�,,+%!&K�

1+!*"!%@�!%!&!)&! #�!%�&0#
�G&� )&#@K�

Q% #'&,#%&���!��!&!#'��$
�&0#�%#R&�C�K#)�'�

S9�/0#��#&+�%�&���)�:�
;)%"'��$���)"'J� !%(*+"!%@�;#�T# �#�2�)
"�1#&4##%�-)!%�

U��&0�2�)"�)%"�;#�T# 
�#�/#��)(#9�/0��+@0�+&�"�)$&�.�;-

G�G##� (�,,#%&'�!%� �#'5�%'#�!%� %#R&�(�*+,%��
I9������������
������

V�����������W���� 

��X����Y��������

��
���������Z��

������
��
������

��
��������

�������Z�����
����
�[
������
��

������
������
�\��
��
�
�����
�

����
�������[��
�� /0!'�!%$��,)&!�%�!'�1��)
"*K �(�%&)!%#"�

!%�&0#�(+��#%&�.�;-G�<
ABIS]ABAS?�̂�

G&�)&#@K�A9_�<5)@#�AI?�
� àbcdefg�hib�jibkelm�cl
�il f�ifnihglo�

oc�opg�aibk�qilfr�clst�
upgbg�lggf�

pir�vggl�fgwclrobiogf
�ilf�lc�

bgirclivsg�isogblioedg�
gxerory�

/0#�"�)$&�.�;-G�0)'�!
%(*+"#"�

6'+55��&�,)�:#&'J�'&�##
&�(�+�&�'5��&'�

)%"�# #%&'8�)'�&0#'#�4
�+*"�*#)"�&��

()�5)�:'�1#!%@�+'#"�$�
��,+*&!5*#�+'#'�

&0)&�(�+*"�)(&! )&#�()�5
)�:'�4!&0�)�

�)�:�;)%"'��+�5�'#�)%
"�5�� !"#�

)""!&!�%)*�(�,,+%!&K�1
#%#$!&9��

z�����������
�������
��
����
�[������� ����

�����

�������
��

��

����
{����
���������|����������

�
/0!'�!%$��,)&!�%�!'�!%�&0

#�( +��#%&�
.�;-G�̂�<5)@#�}_?�~�l

dgroemiog�
cjjcbo�leoegr��cb�isogbli

oedg���o�bg�

Page 437



��

������	�
��
������
������������������

���������������
���������
��������


�����������
������������������� �� ��!"�#$$%�!&�'#&(�!"�()

 �*!&()�
+!�&� ,�� -./0�1230/45678/23�92:

;4�<2 6=�>768�2<�
7�?627456�=70856�>;73�

9./1.�92:;4�
055@�12==:3/8A�/3>:8�/

382�73A�<:8:65�
>62>207;0�<26�7;856378/B

5�:05�2<�8.5�
3268.563�>768�2<�8.5�C2;

<�12:605D�
E	�F��������G����H���

�����I��J����K���� ��K���������������L��

�M��������

������������������H����
��G��

��������������������
����������H�

������� -./0�/0�359�1238538�/3�4
67<8�NOPQR�

734�65<;5180�5S/08/3C�>6
718/15D��

-./0�65;7850�82�>6/B785�/
3B508=538T�

0:1.�70�<62=�01.22;0�2
6�0>268/3C�

1;:?0T�/3�12386/?:8/230�8
297640�

45B5;2>=538�2<�?:/;4/3
C0T�

/3<67086:18:65�26�=7/385
37315�2<�

5S/08/3C�/3<67086:18:65�6
5;78/3C�82�

0>2680�?:/;4/3C0U0:6<715
0D��

V	�F�����������������
���I��� ������H� G������J����W��H�M���L

��
�XL��
�
YZ[\�����]������̂��

����L��
�W�����
^�����XL��
�Y_̂\�����

������H�
��������H�G������J��

�������K���������

�����JH���K��������L

�������������
������̀��V�H����� -./0�/0�359�1238538�/3�4

67< 8�NOPQRD��
-.505�765�0553�70�8.5�

./C.508�>6/26/8A�
>62a5180�<26�12==:3/8A

�?:/;4/3C0�/3�
8.5�N45;7/45�O76@�P734

0�C/B53�8.5�
08785�2<�8.5�1:66538�?:/;

4/3C0�734�8.5�

Page 438



��

��������	
���
����
���������
��������

�������
�����
�
�������
�	��
�����

	
�
��������
��
��
����������
�� ������ !�"#$%&'&"#%& ()�*

+��,&%-� !�
./��#&/��/$#!%�01203�.(

(4#��546&(�66�
7�#(�#(/�54/8�%�&('�4/

�6�!4(/&(8�! $�
4"8$#/�� !�"$& $&%-�' 9

94(&%-�
:4&�/&(86)� ;��<
����
����
��=���

�>���� ���������?� ��������@�>��A�B�����
���C�
D����

E�������

���������
�>��A�B���

<�������� *+&6�&6�(�F�' (%�(%�&(�/
$#!% �.7GHI)��

*+��&(��6%&8#%& (�&(% �%
+��'� 64$�� !�

G�!��$��J #/�% �$�' ((
�'%�K#(8#%&��#�

L7#$M�1N�#(/�O8#9"#�P
�$%#�L7#$M�3N�

F#6�&/�(%&!&�/�%+$ 48+�
#�$��&�F� !�+#$/�

6%#(/�#$�#6Q�I%#%��R �
�$(9�(%� F(�/�

�#(/�#(/�#$�#6� !�%+��7
#$M�G#(/6�%+#%�

' 4�/�:��$�%4$(�/�% �#�
7#$M�G#(/6�

74$" 6�)�� G�!��$��J #/�&6�#�7#$M
�G#( /6�J #/�

4(/�$�%+��'#$�Q�' (%$ �
�#(/�

9#(#8�9�(%� !�%+��,&%
-� !�./��#&/�)�

S(��6%&8#%& (6�&(% �%+��'
� 64$�� !�%+&6�

$ #/�F 4�/�:��&(! $9�/
�%+$ 48+�

9#6%�$�"�#((&(8� !�%+��
O $%+�(�7#$M�

G#(/6�7$�'&('%�F+&'+�F
 4�/�&('�4/��

' 994(&%-�&("4%)���
TUVWXYZ�[\U]Ŷ_̂�_ŴU\̀

_a_Wb�bU�VŴ_\bcd_�
[VeZYX�XUẀVZbcbYUW�cb�Yb̀

�a__bYWf�UW�g�h[\Y Z�
ijik�

O. ��
O %�/�, 4('&

��+#6�( %�/�"4:�&'�' (6
4�%#%& (� (�

%+��/ '49�(%)�
l�E����
������� =������@��

I4"" $%�/�%+��&('�46& (
6�#(/�$�!&(�9�(%6�

9#/��:-�%+��m!!&'��! $�
n�6&8(�#(/�

.$'+&%�'%4$��Lmn.I.N�
�

*+$ 48+ 4%�/$#!%�.7GH
I�.9�(/9�(

%6� 9#/��L6��� &("4%�L( )3�mn.I.�"$ " 6�/�#9�
(/9�(%6�$�!&(�/�

�#(84#8��#(/��o"$�66&
 (Q�F&%+��&9&%�/�

'+#(8��% �' (%�(%)�*+�
���%%�$�!$ 9�

Page 439



��

������	�
��
������
������������������

���������������
���������
��������


�����������
�������������������

�� !�"#$%$� &'( )*�"#$%$
�'+,�'--'-�-.,, �/�� ��

/0'�1�2�/�
$345%��

60'�'�!27�&'�89: 9-8-
/'9:8'-�&'/)''9�/0'�

#�2�/�$1'(281'�32�;�42
91-�5292<'!'9/�

%/�2/'<7�291�/0'�= !!
.98/7�4 291�

5292<'!'9/�3(29-�>=4
53*�� ��/0'�$1'(281'�

32�;�4291-�89��'(2/8 9�/
 �89:�'2-'1�&.8(189<�

�  /,�89/?�60' �$345%� 
./(89'-�/0'�9''1�� ��

: !!.98/7�&.8(189<-�/ 
�&'��8/�� ��,.�, -'�

>)08:0�!27��'-.(/�89�29
�89:�'2-'�89�&.8(189<�

�  /,�89/*�291�/0'�=453
� ./(89'-�/0'�'�

-0 .(1�&'�9 �89:�'2-'�
89�&.8(189<��  /,�89/�

)8/089�/0'�$1'(281'�32�
;�4291-?�

#�2�/�$345%�@�= !!.
98/7�

A.8(189<-�@�32�/�A�>B 2
(��*��

$1'(281'�32�;�4291-�C
�

= !!.98/ 7�4291�5292
<'!'9/�

3(29�>=453*��
D /'1��$-� ./(

89'1�89�/0'�$1'(281'�32
�;�4291-�

=453�/0'��',(2:'!'9/
� ��29�'+8-/89<�

&.8(189<�-0 .(1�&'�: 9-
81'�'1�89�/0'�

: 9/'+/� ��/0'� E'�2((�&
.8(189<��  /,�89/�89�

/0'�32�;�4291-�291�9 
/�89:�'2-'�/ /2(�

�  /,�89/�2:� --�/0'�$1
'(281'�32�;�4291-?��

F9: 9-8-/'9:7�&'/)''9
�/0'�$345%�291�

/0'�=453�)8((�/0'�'� �'
� 9(7� ::.��8��/0'�

/ /2(��  /,�89/� ��&.8(189
<-�8-�89:�'2-'1�

2:� --�/0'�$1'(281'�32
�;�4291-�2-�2�

)0 ('?��
3(29989<�291�4291�G-'

�%'�E8:'-�
>B E'�9!'9/� ��% ./0�

$.-/�2(82*�) .(1�&'�
)8((89<�/ �'9<2<'�89��.�/

0'��18 -:.--8 9�)8/0�
H212(/8((2� 9�/0'� ./: !

'-�- .<0/�&7�
,� , -'1�2!'91!'9/-

�/ �/0'�3(29989<�291�
#'-8<9�= 1'�/02/�-'';

�/ �89/� 1.:'�29�
$1'(281'�32�;�4291-�"

,'9�%,2:'�"��-'/�
%:0'!'� ��$1'(281'�32

�;�4291-�"E'�(27?��
$1'(281'�32�;�4291-�89

E'-/!'9/�
C�32�/�=� �

D /'1��608-�8-�2�
-/2/'!'9/�C�H212(/8((2�2

91�/0'�
=8/7� ��$1'(281'�)8((�'9

<2<'�)8/0�/0'�
B E'�9!'9/� ��% ./0�$

.-/�2(82�/ ��.�/0'��
18-:.--�/0'�,� , -'1�2

!'91!'9/-�/ �/0'�
3(29989<�291�#'-8<9�=

 1'�/02/�-'';�/ �
89/� 1.:'�29�$1'(281'�3

2�;�4291-�",'9�
%,2:'�"��-'/�%:0'!'�

 ��$1'(281'�32�;�
4291-�"E'�(27?� 3.&(8:�: 9-.(/2/8 9�)8((

�2(( )�� ���.�/0'��
89,./�89/ �/08-�2,,� 2:0

?��
%.&I':/�/ �/0'�2& E'�&'

89<�: 9-81'�'1�291�
/0'�"#$%$�:029<'-�&

'89<�!21'J�/0'�
5898-/'��� ��3(29989<�,�

 E81 '1�'91 �-'!'9/�
/ �,� :''1�/ �,.&(8:�: 

9-.(/2/8 9?��
D$�

D /'1��$((��''1&2
:;��28-'1�02-�&''9�: 9

-81'�'1�
291�/0'�-.<<'-/'1�2!'

91!'9/-�,� E81'1�
&7�"#$%$�02E'�&''9�

!21'?�
K�����L���
�

�M'9')2(�%$�02-�2
�-8<98�8:29/�89/'�'-/�89�/0

'�
,2�;(291-�2-�8/��'(2/'-�

/ �,� I':/-�2/N� O�M8E'�&29 ;�3�':89:/
J�89:(.189<�&./�9 /� (8!8/'1�/ �P'-/8E2(�3(2Q2

�1'E'( ,!'9/�
291�/0'�M28()27�%/2/8 9

R�
O�4 /�P .�/''9R�

D$�
D /'1��60'�('/

/'�� ./(89'-�<'9'�2(�-.,
, �/�� ��/0'�

1�2�/�$345%?�� D �'18/-�/ �/0'�1�2�/�$3
45%�)' �'�

�'S.'-/'1?��

Page 440



��

������	�
��
������
������������������

���������������
���������
��������


�����������
�������������������

��� ! "#$ %� ��&'()*"+&,'-!.'"
%� ")/� ���0*�1',-*,�2*3.�4")
�&,*(*,5�

���0*,*�(677�8*� �36#"
6169 ".�6"9,* 3*�6"�.0*� ,*36)*".� ")�(',$6"#�!
'!:7 .6'"�:.67636"#�.0*�

; ,$�< ")3�1,'-�.0*3*
�!,'=*9.3�>! ,.69:7 ,75�

1,'-�&'()*"/�.0*�1',-
*,�&,'-!.'"�

? 3(',$3�36.*� ")�.0*�
1',-*,�2*3.�4")�

&,* (*,5�36.*@A� ��B"�,*3!'"3*�.'�.0*�
 8'C*�.0*�), 1.�D;<EF

�
0 3�,*9'#"63*)�.063� "

)�0 3�!,'!'3*)�.'�
!,*! ,*�.0*�&'"5.0'"�;

 ,$�E 3.*,�;7 "�
>F., .*#69�;,6',6.5�G@A� ��H*"*( 7�FD�9'".6":*

3�.'�*"='5�':,�(',$6"#� ,*7 .6'"306!� ")�! ,."*
,306!�(6.0�.0*�I6.5�'1�

D)*7 6)*� ")�7''$3�1',(
 ,)�.'�1:,.0*,�

!,'):9.6C*�)639:336'"3
� ")�6"C'7C*-*".�

,*7 .6"#�.'�8'.0�.063�- 
..*,� ")�':,�$*5�

!,'=*9.3�6"� ")� ,':")�
.0*�I6.5�'1�D)*7 6)*A �

J�K���������� ����L�����
� ������������� MK��
�N�I'-!,*0*"36C*�,*C6*(

�( 3�!,'C6)*)�85�
OPDFD�'"�.0*�), 1.�D;

<EFA��
B"�3:-- ,5�Q�.0*�1'77'(

6"#�1**)8 9$�( 3�
!,'C6)*)�85�OPDFDR� E6"',�4)6.3� ��?, -- .69 7�*)6.3�

.0,':#0':.�
��I'"363.*".�:3*�'1�9

'-!'36.*+): 7� " -6"#�'1�; ,$3� ��I'"363.*".�,*1*,*"9
*�.'�?' C*,"-*".�'1� F':.0�D:3., 76 ��

�0,':#0':.�P, 1.�D;<E
F� S-*")-*".3� - )*��

S�9'-!,*0*"36C*�,*C6*
(�'1�.0*�), 1.�

D;<EF�0 3�8**"�:")*
,. $*"�8 3*)�'"�

.0*�1**)8 9$�1,'-�OPD
FDA�

D-*")-*".3�- )*�6"9
7:)*R�

E6"',�4)6.3� � ��I'"363.*"95�'1�(,6.
6"#�0 3�8**"� ,*C6*(*)�(6.0� �9'!5�*
)6.',�

:")*,. $6"#� �1:77�*)6.�'
1�.0*�F., .*#5�

.'�!,'C6)*�9'"363.*"95�
6"�(,6.6"#�3.57*��

��?, !069�*"0 "9*-
*".3�0 C*�8**"� - )*�.0,':#0':.�.0*�)
'9:-*"./�.063�

Page 441



��

������	�
��
������
������������������

���������������
���������
��������


�����������
�������������������

��� !!"#$"%�&'()*�!
*+,-'.� "(-+(."&"($#�$-*) !-
) $�%). &"($���

/+0)*�1%'$#� � ��2"3'"4�#$* .$ *"�)
5�%). &"($�5)*�56)4� +(%�*"+%+7'6'$8�9�.)(#'%

"*� #'(!�+(�
"%'$)*�$)�*"3'"4�%). &

"($�
� �: *$-"*�"(-+(."&"

($�$)�&+,#� $-*) !-) $�5)*�*"+%+7'6
'$8�

��;(.6 %"�+(�<%"6+'%
"�=+*>�?+(%#�&+,� 4'$-�+66�,+*>#�6+7"66"%�"

+*68�'(�$-"�
%). &"($� ��@'3"�+66�&+,#A$+76"

#A5'! *"#�+�$'$6"�+(%� *"5"*"(."�( &7"*� ��;(.6 %"�6'#$ �)5�&+,#
�A�5'! *"#�'(�$+76"�)5� .)($"($#�� ��;(.6 %"�+%%'$')(+6�.
)($"B$ +6� '(5)*&+$')(C�'(.6 %'(!�'(
5)*&+$')(�

+7) $�D)6)("6�?'!-$�+(
%�'(56 "(."�)(�

,+*>A!+*%"(�%"#'!(�78�
$-"�"+*68�D'$8�

@+*%("*E#�# .-�+#�F'66
'+&�= "(!'668�

+(%�< ! #$�F'6-"6&�="
6G"*�

��2"3'"4�+66�=*".'(.$
�D)(#'%"*+$')(#�5)*� +.. *+.8�� ���,6'$�=*".'(.$�D)( #
'%"*+$')(#�'($)� H"B'#$'(!E�+(%�H5 $ *"E�+#
�'$�'#� (.6"+*�

4-+$�. **"($68�"B'#$#�+(
%�4-+$�'#�+�

5 $ *"� .)(#'%"*+$')(�� ��=*)3'%"%�+%%'$')(+
6�'(5)*&+$')(�5)*�$-"� /"$*),)6'$+(�I,"(��,+

."��".$')(���

-+#�-"6,"%�4'$-�*"+%+7
'6'$8C�(+3'!+$')(�

+(%�$-"�6))>�+(%�5""6�)
5�$-"�%). &"($��

/+0)*�1%'$#�� ��2"#$* .$ *'(!�)5�$-"
�%). & "($C�$)� '(.6 %"�=+*$#�<C�J�+(%�
D�+#�4"66�+#�+�

.)&,*"-"(#'3"�.)($"(
$#�,+!"�

'(.6 %'(!�6'#$�)5�&+,#�+
(%�5'! *"#��

��: *$-"*�"(-+(."&"
($�)5�$-"�&+,#� $-*) !-) $�$-"�%). &"
($�$)�'&,*)3"�

6"!'7'6'$8�� ��<�&+,�)5�$-"�<%"6+
'%"�=+* >�?+(%#� -+#�()4�7""(�'(.6 %"%
� ,5*)($�'(�$-"�

%). &"($C�4-'.-�'(.6 %
"#�+66�=+*>#C�

�K +*"#�+(%�@+*%"(#�
(+&"#L��

��<%%'$')(+6�.)($"B$ 
+6�'(5)*&+$')(�-+#� 7""(�'(.6 %"%C�'(.6 %'(
!�!*"+$"*�

.)($"B$�+7) $�D)6)("6�?
'!-$E#�*)6"�'(�

$-"�,6+(('(!�)5�$-"�<%"
6+'%"�=+*>�

?+(%#�+#�4"66�+#�$-"�*)
6"�)5�$-"�D'$8�

@+*%"("*#�� ��<�.)&,*"-"(#'3"�*"3
'"4�)5�+66� =*".'(.$�D)(#'%"*+$')(
#C�+%%'$')(+6�

'(5)*&+$')(�7"'(!�+%%"
%�$)�$-"�

=*".'(.$�&+,#C�'(.6 %'(
!�.8.6'(!�+(%�

4+6>'(!�.)((".$')(C�+%
%'$')(+6�*)+%#�

(+&"#C�!*+,-'.�"(-+(.
"&"($#�

��M*".'(.$�D)(#'%"*+$')
(#�-+3"�7""(� #,6'$�+(%�%'55"*"($�'.)(#
� #"%�$)�

*",*"#"($�H"B'#$'(!�.)(
#'%"*+$')(#E�

+(%�H5 $ *"�.)(#'%"*+$')
(#E��

��D6+*'5'.+$')(�+(%�+%%'
$')(+6�'(5)*&+$')(� +%%"%�$)�$-"�/"$*),)6'$
+(�I,"(�

�,+."��".$')(�$)�,*)3'
%"�5 *$-"*�

.6+*'$8L �

Page 442



��

������	�
��
������
������������������

���������������
���������
��������


�����������
�������������������

�� ! �"! �"�#$%& !�'(�
! ( ! #) *�+#�,� �

- . #/�('!�,� �%"0�'#�
1". ��23�,�",�"! �

+#)'!! ),4�
1"!,�5�6�7/ -"+/ �1"!8

�9"#/*�
1! )+#),�1-"#*�

7% #/% #,*� %"/ �7�)'%0
! � #*+: �! :+ ;�'(�"--�

1! )+#),�
5'#*+/ !",+'#*��"*�&  

#�$#/ !,"8 #4�
��+*��"*�"//! ** /� !!

'!*�+#�,� �/!"(,�
719<=�+#)-$/+#.�,� �! 

( ! #) *�+#�,� �
%"0�- . #/4��

>,�;'$-/�& �.''/�,'�*  
�?#+: !*+,+ *�+#)-$/ /�

+#�,� �5$-,$!"-�@'# *�*
$%%"!A�('!�,� �

B+: !&" #8�1! )+#),�
1"!,�5�6�7/ -"+/ �1"!8

�9"#/*�
1! )+#),�1-"#*�

7% #/% #,*� %"/ �?#+: !*
+,+ *��": �&  #�"// /�

,'�C5$-,$!"-�
>#*,+,$,+'#*�=$&D'# E�+#

�1"!,�54�
F�G� �H�����I�

��� ���������� �� ! �"! �! ( ! #) *�,'
�1"!8��2�,�",�"! �

+#)'!! ),�+#�,� �1! )+#)
,�5'#*+/ !",+'#*�

1"!,�5�6�7/  -"+/ �1"!8
�9"#/*�

1! )+#),�1-"#*�
7% #/% #,*� %"/ �7�)'%0! 

� #*+: �! :+ ;�'(�"--�1!
 )+#),�

5'#*+/ !",+'#*��"*�&  
#�$#/ !,"8 #4�

��+*��"*�"//! ** /� !!
'!*�+#�,� �/!"(,�

719<=�+#)-$/+#.�,� �! 
( ! #) *�+#�,� �

1! )+#),�5'#*+/ !",+'#
*4�

� ������	�
��
������
�������������������

���������������

��������


�����������
������������������

��J�����K����������L�
��M��
� 7)8#';- /. /�,� �*+.#

+(+)"#) �'(�,�+*�
/')$% #,N�#',�'#-A�('!�

,� �5+,A�'(�7/ -"+/ �
"#/�"/O'+#+#.�5'$#)+-*

N�&$,�"-*'�('!�,� �
&!'"/ !�)'%%$#+,A�'(�=

'$,��7$*,!"-+"4�
P7�

P', /��9 ,, !�'
$,-+# *�. # !"-�*$00'!,

�('!�,� �
719<=4��

B Q$ *, /�,�",�,� �)'#
# ),+'#*�& ,;  #�,� �

7/ -"+/ �1"!8�9"#/*�"
#/�"/O'+#+#.�*$&$!&*N�

& �%'! �) - "!-A�+--$*,!"
, /�'#� ")��'(�,� �

1! )+#),�=,!$),$! �1-"#
*�,'�! +#('!) �,� �

+%0'!,"#) �'(��":+#.�*
"( �"#/�")) **+&- �

)'## ),+'#*�(!'%�,� �"
/O'+#+#.�*$&$!&*�,'�,� 

�
7/ -"+/ �1"!8�9"#/*�

1"!,�5�6�7/ -"+/ �1"!8
�9"#/*�

1! )+#),�1-"#*�
7% #/% #,*� <"/ ��1! )+#)

,�1-"#*��": �&  #�"% 
#/ /�,'�

+#)-$/ �,� �8 A�)A)-+#.
�"#/�;"-8+#.�

)'## ),+'#*�-+#8+#.�% 
,!'0'-+,"#�7/ -"+/ �

,'�,� �7/ -"+/ �1"!8�9"
#/*�R�)+,A4�

S����I���� ���T���U� V�I������
W� 
��V������� B Q$ *, /�,�",�,� �5+,A

�'(�7/ -"+/ �;'!8�;+,��
,� �X 0"!,% #,�'(�>#(!"

*,!$),$! �"#/�
�!"#*0'!,N �=7�<','!*0

'!,�Y'"!/�"#/�',� !�
'!."#+*",+'#*N�,'� #*$!

 �,�",�)-'*$! �'(�
)'## ),+#.�!'"/*�,�!'$

.��,� �Z+),'!+"�1"!8�
P7�

P', /���+*�+*�
#',�! -", /�,'�,� �719<

=N�,�+*�+*�
('!�5+,A�'(�7/ -"+/ �,'�%

"#". �,�!'$.��
* 0"!", �0!') ** *�"#

/�=,", �
[': !#% #,�)'#*$-,",+

'#�'#� : #,*4��

Page 443



��

������	�
��
������
�������������������

���������������

��������


�����������
������������������

���� !"�#�$ �%�&'�(���
�)&"*+�* $�,**-&$�,�./�

0,&�1�2,&�"3"� $�����0,
&� !"�1+�+1-1�

�-&� +3"� +1"��"*"$$�&
/4�

5�����6����7���� 8��������
9+ /�,0�:"$ �;,&&"�$�<

".*,1"$� !"�0�* � !� �
 !"��&�0 �=%(>?�+�"� +

0+"$�����&"*,@�+$"$�
.+�'�@"$�<+ !� !"�9+ /�,

0�:"$ �;,&&"�$�����
 !"�)&"�+* "��-&A���@&,

< !����� !"��"1����
 !� �<+..�!�3"�,�� !"�%�

&'�(���$4�
;!"�9+ /�,0�:"$ �;,&&"

�$�+$�"B)"&+"�*+�@�
$+@�+0+*�� �-&A���+�0+..��

"3".,)1"� �����
),)-.� +,��@&,< !4�;!"

&"�+$�+�*&"�$+�@�
�"1��������)&"$$-&"�

,�� !"�)-A.+*�,)"��
$)�*"��" <,&'C����� !"

�,&@��+$� +,��!�$�
A""��-)@&��+�@��-1"&

,-$�)�&'$� ,�A"  "&�
1"" � !"��""�$�,0� !"�*

,11-�+ /��$� !"/�
*,� +�-"� ,�"B).,&"�,))

,& -�+ +"$� ,�)&,3+�"�
1,&"�,)"��$)�*"� ,�$"

&3"� !"�@&,<+�@�
),)-.� +,�4� D�"�,0�1��/�)&+,&+ +"$�

0,&� !"�9+ /�,0�:"$ �
;,&&"�$�+�*.-�"$�+� "@&

� +�@�)� !<�/$�<+ !�
�"+@!A,-&+�@�*,-�*+.��

&"�$� ,�&"�-*"�A�&&+"&$
�

$-*!��$� !"�E+3"&�;,&&"
�$�����%,& �E,��4�

;!"�9+ /�,0�:"$ �;,&&"
�$�$""'$� ,�<,&'�<+ !�

F���. +..������ !"�9+ /�,
0�= �".�+�"� ,G��

H��"0+�"� !"�.+�'$����
�*,��"* +,�$� !� � <,-.��$-)),& � !"�*,1
1-�+ /�,0� !"�9+ /�

,0�:"$ �;,&&"�$I������ H�<,&'�+����*,..�A,&�
 +3"�<�/� ,��*!+"3"� $!�&"��@,�.$��&,-����*

 +3"� &��$),& �
����+1)&,3"��*, ��"* +

3+ /4��J=�
J, "���("  "&�,

- .+�"$�@"�"&�.�$-)),& 
�0,&� !"�

�&�0 �=%(>?�K� !"&"�<+
..�A"�0-& !"&�

,)),& -�+ /�0,&�0""�A�*
'��-&+�@�

*,11-�+ /�*,�$-. � +,�
4���

L����6����M���6
��%&+,&+ /�NC�O&""�!+..

�E,���9,&&+�,&4��;!"� 9,-�*+.�+$�'""�� ,�)-&$
-"�,)),& -�+ +"$� ,�

<,&'� ,@" !"&�<+ !� !"�
9+ /�,0�=�".�+�"�����

%�& �9�P�=�".�+�"�%�&'
�(���$�

%&"*+�* �%.��$�
J, "��;!+$�+$���

$ � "1"� �P� !"�9+ /�,0
�=�".�+�"�

����F���. +..��<+..�<,&'
�+��*,..�A,&� +,��

Page 444



��

������	�
��
������
�������������������

���������������

��������


�����������
������������������

���� !"���#"$�%&'(&)�*
!+�%),�)���!�(,-%!+��

����&,�)(�.�&)/�&00�$
$(1('(�.�&'!)2�����

*%��)�(''�3!&/��/2�4�1
&'&)0�/�5(�������0&%�

-&%6()2�%�7"(%�,�)�$� !
8�����&/9&0�)��$-!%�()2�

&)/�1"$()�$$�-%�0()0�$
:�

&)/�-&%�)�%�5(�������;(
�.�!8�<)'�.�!)���($�

-%(!%(�.�-%!9�0�:��
=&"%)&�;�&%��%�>�!)�-&

2��?@�=&"%)&�;�&%��%�
($�'($��/�&$�&�$�%&��2(0�-

%(!%(�.�1"��5&$)A��
8!")/�5��)�"$()2�����$

�&%0��8")0�(!)��!�%�&/�
5�&��(��5&$ :�B�A$�0&''�/�=

&"%)&�;!")�%.�
;�&%��%�8"%���%�()�!����

�/!0",�)��>�
%�0!,,�)/�&,�)/()2�

�!�1������$&,��8!%�
0!)$($��)0.:�

C&%��;�>�#/�'&(/��C&%6
�D&)/$�

C%�0()0��C'&)$�
#,�)/,�)�� ,&/��<-/&��

/�5!%/()2��!�=&"%)&�;!
")�%.�

;�&%��%���%!"2�!"��/!0
",�)�:��

B)/(0&�!%�E&1'��>�����()
0'"$(!)�!8�()/(0&�!%$�

&)/��&%2��$�8!%��&0��2!
&'�($�$"--!%��/�&)/�

-%!+(/�$�&)�(,-!%�&)��1
&$�'()��8!%�8"�"%��

-%!2%�$$�%�-!%�()2:�F!5
�+�%4������&1'�$�

&--�&%��!�1��%&)/!,'.
�'!0&��/�5(��()�������G�4

�
&)/����%��/!�$)A��$��,

��!�1��&�'( )6�1��5��)�
������G��&)/������&1'�:�

C&%��H�I�*!&'$�
#,�)/,�)�$� ,&/��#''�()/(

0&�!%��&1'�$�)!5��&+��
��&/()2$��!�

-%!+(/������'()6�1��5��
)������&1'��&)/�����

2!&':�
 !"���J&$��C%�0()0��C'&

)�� �
K�E��%��$��,$��!�1�

�&�'&06�!8�()8!%,&�(!)� %�2&%/()2�5&'6()2�&)/�
0.0'()2�

0!))�0�(!)$�&0%!$$�C&
%6�D&)/$�3 !&/$�>�

1��5��)�C&%6�D&)/$4��!
L8%!,�����0(�.4�

&)/��!L8%!,�())�%�,��%!
-!'(�&)�;!")0('�

&%�&$:� K� !,��$�&%�/�" $��-
&��$�$��,��!�1�� ,($$()2�8%!,�����C%�0()
0��C'&)$�M8!%�

�G&,-'�4������G($�()2�$
�&%�/�"$��-&���

'!0&��/�&'!)2����� !"��
�E�%%&0���/2�N:�

K�J)0!"%&2��J/2��C
&��$��!�1��$�!5)� &'!)2�*%��)�(''�3!&/�()

����� !"���J&$��
C&%6�D&)/$�C%�0()0���!

�&'(2)�5(�������C&%��;�>�#/�'&(/��C&%6
�D&)/$�

C%�0()0��C'&)$ �
#,�)/,�)�$� ,&/�� �C%�0()0��C

'&)$��&+��1��)�&,�)/
�/��!�

()0'"/������6�.�0.0'()2
�&)/�5&'6()2�

0!))�0�(!)$�'()6()2�,�
�%!-!'(�&)�#/�'&(/��

�!�����#/�'&(/��C&%6�D&
)/$�L�0(�.:���

O!%��/��&('�/�)��5!%6�
!8�$�&%�/�"$��

-&��$�&)/��/2��-&��$��
&+��1��)�&//�/��!�

����,&-$�&$�5�''�&$�&/
/(�(!)&'�$�%����

)&,�$:�� #''�C%�0()0��;!)$(/�%&�
(!)$��&+��1��)�

%�+(�5�/�&)/�"-/&��/�
5��%��

()0!%%�0�L()0!)$($��)�:��

Page 445



��

������	�
��
������
�������������������

���������������

��������


�����������
������������������

���� !"##�$%&'�(%��"'%
��)*�&*�+",�

-�"%�"*./� 0�1 �-&+��2��-%" *��
3�")�#")*�'�*4",��5� &6� '�*%�-%" *��27�&#)%
�

0�$�,%66� '�,!& +
" +�8-&�9�:")"*% �);�*%� 8-��," ,*�:")"*%�);7� %*" 
+�*!&*�)%6��%<�

*!��-&�9" +�&#% +�����
 !"##�$%&'�")�*!��

��)-% )"="#"*.�%<�*!��("*
.�%<�> #�./�

0�1 �-&+��2?7�@%*���
3�")�6")#�&'" +�" � *!��,A��� *�#%,&*"% 7�&)
�"*���<#�,*)�*!��

�B ")*" +�C%�*���D*���*�,
�%))" +/�$�#%,&*��

*!��6&�9���*%�-A�)A��&
''"*"% &#�

-��<����'� %�*!E)%A*!�,
�%))" +�&#% +�

���� !"##�$%&'�F=�*4��
 �C�&,%,9�$%&'�

& '�> #�.�$%&'G/� 0�D%6��#&=�##" +�%<�)
*���*)�%*!���*!& �*!�� =%A '" +��%&')�6&.�!�

#-�4"*!�
��<��� ," +/� D%A*!�H�)*�C��," ,*�C

#& � 0�I!����)��6)�*%�=�
�&�#&,9�%<�" <%�6&*"% � ��+&�'" +�4&#9" +�& '�
,.,#" +�

,%  �,*"% )�&,�%))�C&
�9�J& ')�$%&')�5�

=�*4�� �C&�9�J& ')7�*%
E<�%6�("*.�& '�

*%E<�%6�"  ���6�*�%-%#"
*& �(%A ,"#�

&��&)/� 0�D%6��)!&��'�A)��-
&*!)�)��6�*%�=�� 6"))" +�<�%6�*!��C��," 
,*�C#& )�F<%��

�B&6-#�7��B")*" +�)!&��
'�A)��-&*!�

#%,&*�'�&#% +�*!��D% A*!
�I���&,���'+�G/�

0�D%6��#&=�##" +�%<�)
*���*)�%*!���*!& �*!�� =%A '" +��%&')�6&.�!�

#-�4"*!�
��<��� ," +/� 0�C�%-%)��&''"*"% &#

� %�*!E)%A*!� ,%  �,*"% )�% ����� !
"##�$%&'�5���-�&*�C&�*�(�5�K'�#&"'��C&�9

�J& ')�
C��," ,*�C#& )�

K6� '6� *)� 6&'���C��," ,*�C
#& )�!&:��=�� �&6� '

�'�*%�
" ,#A'��*!��9�.�,.,#" +

�& '�4&#9" +�
,%  �,*"% )�#" 9" +�6�

*�%-%#"*& �K'�#&"'��
*%�*!��K'�#&"'��C&�9�J&

 ')�E�,"*./���
L%���'�*&"#�'� �*4%�9�

%<�)!&��'�A)��
-&*!)�& '��'+��-&*!)�!

&:��=�� �&''�'�*%�
*!��6&-)�&)�4�##�&)�&'

'"*"% &#�)*���*�
 &6�)/�� K##�C��," ,*�(% )"'��&*

"% )�!&:��=�� �
��:"�4�'�& '�A-'&*�'�

4!����
" ,%���,*E" ,% )")*� */��

Page 446



��

������	�
��
������
�������������������

���������������

��������


�����������
������������������

��� �!"#$%# �&��' �( �
��)�*�%)+ �

)&& %%�)&$�%%�)*,�(�(�
-�.)(��$�)*%�

/0$  �1(22�3�)*45� 6#77�$� *��1 �*�&#. 
���7$�-$ %%(�-����

&��%#2�)�(��� )�*�8(22�7$
�'(* �.�$ �* �)(2 *�

+  *9)&:�*#$(�-�&�..
#�(�;�&��%#2�)�(����

<=�
<�� *��>1 $ �8

(22�9 �+#$�1 $��7 7�$�#�(�;
�+�$�

+  *9)&:�*#$(�-�&�..
#�(�;�&��%#2�)�(��5���

�?����@���� A���������
"$�'(* *�$ %7��% ��#�

2(�(�-��1)���1 �B(�;��+�
"$�%7 &��*������1)' �)

�;�+  *9)&:��1)��
8�#2*�)++ &���1 � * &(%(�

�����&�.. �& �7#92(&�
 �-)- . �������1 �*$)

+��=* 2)(* �")$:�
C)�*%�D)�)- . ���6�

$)� -;5�>1 �B(�;��+�
"$�%7 &��8(22�7$�'(* �+#

$�1 $�+  *9)&:�)%�7)$��
�+��1 �&�..#�(�;�&��%

#2�)�(���7$�& %%5��
<=�

<�� *��>1 �2 �
�  $��#�2(� %�- � $)2�%#7

7�$��+�$��1 �
*$)+��="CD6�E��1 $ �8(

22�9 �+#$�1 $�
�77�$�#�(�;�+�$�+  *9)&

:�*#$(�-�
&�..#�(�;�&��%#2�)�(��

5���
�

Page 447



��
Page 448



City Finance and Governance Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 21 May 2024

 

Tuesday, 4 June 2024 
City Planning, Development 
and Business Affairs 
Committee 

By-law Review – Draft for Public 
Consultation 
 

Strategic Alignment - Our Corporation 
Program Contact:  
Steve Zaluski, Associate Director 
Regulatory Services 

Public Approving Officer:  
Ilia Houridis, Director City 
Shaping 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This report seeks Council endorsement for draft by-laws to be released for public consultation. 

City of Adelaide’s (CoA’s) current nine by-laws have been in place since 1 January 2018 and enable effective 
governance, public safety and access. As a result, the majority of draft changes are minor and the result of 
legislative, interpretive or grammatical factors.  

CoA’s by-laws expire on 1 January 2025. A review of our by-laws has been undertaken, which has involved internal 
engagement, analysis of external trends and past community feedback, benchmarking, legal advice, and a 
Committee Workshop on 20 February 2024.  

Once endorsed, relevant draft by-laws will be submitted to the Dog and Cat Management Board for a 21-day 
consultation period. Following this, all draft by-laws will undergo a formal public consultation process. 

Draft by-laws will then be presented to Council for final endorsement, along with a summary of feedback received 
during consultation and any proposed changes. This is scheduled for Council in August 2024.  

By-laws will then be Gazetted and referred to the Legislative Review Committee, taking effect from 1 January 2025. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
The following recommendation will be presented to Council on 11 June 2024 for consideration 

THAT THE CITY PLANNING, DEVELOPMENT AND BUSINESS AFFAIRS COMMITTEE RECOMMENDS TO 
COUNCIL 

THAT COUNCIL 

1. Endorses the proposed by-laws as contained in Attachment A to Item 7.4 on the Agenda for the City 
Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee held on 4 June 2024 for the purposes of public 
consultation for a minimum period of 21 days, which includes consultation with the Dog and Cat 
Management Board in accordance with Section 249 of the Local Government Act 1999 (SA) and Section 
90 of the Dog and Cat Management Act 1995. 

2. Authorises the Acting Chief Executive Officer or delegate to provide a report to the Dog and Cat 
Management Board in accordance with Section 90(5) of the Dog and Cat Management Act 1995 with 
respect to the proposed Dogs By-law 2024 and proposed Cats By-law 2024. 

3. Authorises the Acting Chief Executive Officer or delegate to make copies of the draft by-laws available for 
the public in accordance with Section 132(1) of the Local Government Act 1999 (SA), no sooner than 21 
days after referring the Dogs By-law 2024 and Cats By-law 2024 to the Dog and Cat Management Board. 

 

Page 449

Agenda Item 7.4



 

City Finance and Governance Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 21 May 2024

IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS 
City of Adelaide 
2024-2028 
Strategic Plan 

Strategic Alignment – Our Corporation – Enable effective governance, risk management, 
accountability and transparency at all times in decision making. 

Policy 
By-laws are a legislated function, which support the delivery of Council’s legislative 
obligations, Strategic Plan and policies. The proposed changes to our by-laws will not 
significantly impact existing policies. 

Consultation Draft by-laws will require formal consultation with the Dog and Cat Management Board and 
the general public.  

Resource Not as a result of this report 

Risk / Legal / 
Legislative 

Legal advice has been sought to mitigate risk and ensure the process out outcomes are 
legislatively sound. Final Council endorsement is required by 1 September 2024 to allow 
revised by-laws to take effect from 1 January 2025.  

Opportunities To support enhanced community convenience, safety, and comfort, leveraging updated by-
laws to benefit residents, businesses, and visitors. 

23/24 Budget 
Allocation $8,000 (includes legal fees, advertising and State Government fees) 

Proposed 24/25 
Budget Allocation $9,500 (includes legal fees, advertising and State Government fees) 

Life of Project, 
Service, Initiative 
or (Expectancy of) 
Asset 

By-laws require formal review every seven years. 

23/24 Budget 
Reconsideration  
(if applicable) 

Not as a result of this report 

Ongoing Costs 
(eg maintenance 
cost) 

Not as a result of this report 

Other Funding 
Sources Not as a result of this report 

 

Page 450



 

City Finance and Governance Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 21 May 2024

DISCUSSION 
Background 
1. Council’s power to pass a by-law is derived from Section 246 of the Local Government Act 1999 (SA) (the 

Act), which requires the review and formal adoption of by-laws every seven years. 

2. City of Adelaide’s (CoA) by-laws are due to expire on 1 January 2025. 

3. By-laws are a form of legislation designed to provide good governance at the local level, assisting Councils 
to provide a convenient, safe, and comfortable space for its community and environment.  

4. By-laws are commonly derived from ‘model’ by-laws prepared by the Local Government Association, and 
refined by legal providers with expert knowledge of local government. 

5. CoA’s current by-laws came into effect on 1 January 2018, and continue to enable effective governance, 
public safety and access.  

6. CoA currently has nine by-laws: 

6.1 By-law No. 1 – Permits and Penalties – Link 1 

6.2 By-law No. 2 – Moveable Signs – Link 2.  

6.3 By-law No. 3 – Local Government Land – Link 3.  

6.4 By-law No. 4 – Roads – Link 4. 

6.5 By-law No. 5 – Waste Management – Link 5.  

6.6 By-law No. 6 – Rundle Mall – Link 6.  

6.7 By-law No. 7 – Dogs – Link 7. 

6.8 By-law No. 8 – Cats – Link 8. 

6.9 By-law No. 9 – Lodging Houses – Link 9.  

7. It is possible to review and amend by-laws outside of the legislated minimum requirement to review by-laws 
every seven years, however, there has been no requirement to amend the current CoA by-laws prior to this 
review. 

Review Process 
8. CoA’s By-law Review has involved: 

8.1 A series of internal workshops and engagement with subject matter experts. 

8.2 Analysis of external trends and benchmarking other jurisdictions. 

8.3 Assessment of past customer requests, complaints & breaches. 

8.4 Assessment of Council’s 2024-2028 Strategic Plan and previous community engagement feedback.  

8.5 A workshop with Elected Members at the 20 February 2024 Committee, provided as Link 10.  

8.6 External legal advice.  

9. The process for adopting by-laws is set out in legislation and involves multiple steps beyond this report. This 
includes: 

9.1 Referring relevant draft by-laws to the Dog and Cat Management Board (DCMB) together with a report 
outlining the objectives of any proposed changes, for a 21-day consultation period.  

9.2 Following consultation with the DCMB, a 21-day public consultation process. 

9.3 Council endorsement of by-laws following consideration of consultation feedback. 

9.4 Endorsed by-laws progressing through Government Gazetting and the Legislative Review Committee. 

Proposed Changes 
10. The proposed changes are minor in nature and are largely a result of legislative, interpretive or grammatical 

factors, or the modernising of language and terms.  

11. Link 11 contains all nine draft by-laws, showing proposed track changes and additions in orange. 

12. Link 11 also details explanations for the changes. The majority of explanations explain that proposed edits 
have been made to either: 

Page 451

https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CPDBA_4_June_2024_Bylaw_Link_1.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CPDBA_4_June_2024_Bylaw_Link_2.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CPDBA_4_June_2024_Bylaw_Link_3.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CPDBA_4_June_2024_Bylaw_Link_4.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CPDBA_4_June_2024_Bylaw_Link_5.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CPDBA_4_June_2024_Bylaw_Link_6.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CPDBA_4_June_2024_Bylaw_Link_7.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CPDBA_4_June_2024_Bylaw_Link_8.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CPDBA_4_June_2024_Bylaw_Link_9.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CPDBA_4_June_2024_Bylaw_Link_10.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CPDBA_4_June_2024_Bylaw_Link_11.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CPDBA_4_June_2024_Bylaw_Link_11.pdf


 

City Finance and Governance Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 21 May 2024

12.1 Make the document easier to interpret for our community.  

12.2 Reflect gender neutral language. 

12.3 Use City of Adelaide terms/language. 

12.4 Reflect current Legislation. 

12.5 Remove content that is no longer relevant. 

13. Amendments not explained by one of the above categories are listed in the following table: 

By-law No. New Wording Explanation 

By-law No. 2 
Moveable 
Signs: 
 
3.2 
 
 
 
 
 
9. 

Definitions 

In this By-law: 

  Banner means a moveable sign constituted of a 
strip of cloth, plastic or other material hung or 
attached to a pole, fence or other structure and 
includes a tear drop sign; 

 
Part 3 – Provisions Applicable to Banners 

 
Banners 
A banner must:  

 
  only be displayed on a road, footpath or road 

related area;  

  be securely fixed to a pole, fence or other 
structure so that it does not hang loose or flap;  

  not be attached to any building, structure, fence, 
vegetation or other item owned by the Council 
on a road, or other improvement to a road 
owned by the Council;  

  not be displayed more than one month before 
and two days after the event it advertises;  

  not exceed 3m² in size. 

 

 
The addition of ‘banners’ and the 
subsequent definition will support 
many requests Administration receives 
– often from the business community – 
to use ‘tear drop’ advertising signage 
to promote their business. From a 
practical perspective this is supported 
and commonly used in many locations. 
However, our current by-laws are silent 
on this option, which has caused 
operational issues previously.  
 
 
 

By-law No. 3 
Local 
Government 
Land  
5.10  
 
By-law No. 4 
Roads 
5.6 
 
By-law No. 6 
Rundle Mall 
5.7 
 
 

Prohibited Activities 
A person must not: 
 
Public Conveniences 
in any public convenience: 

 
  smoke tobacco or any other substance; 

  deposit anything in a pan, urinal or drain which 
is likely to cause a blockage; 

  use it for a purpose for which it was not 
designed or constructed; 

  subject to clause (5.6.5) (5.10.5) (5.7.5), enter 
the public convenience unless the person is of 

Revised conditions regarding the use 
of public conveniences reflect the 
model clause drafted by the Legislative 
Review Committee of Parliament. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 452



 

City Finance and Governance Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 21 May 2024

the gender indicated in writing or on a sign 
located on the public convenience; 

  clause (5.6.4) (5.10.4) (5.7.4) does not apply – 

  in a genuine emergency; or 

  to a vulnerable person being assisted by the 
vulnerable person’s caregiver, parent or 
guardian; or 

  to a person that is intersex, transgender or 
gender diverse; or 

  to a person with a disability; or 

  to a person assisting a person with a disability;  

By-law 3 – clause 5.6.5, 
By-law 4 – clause 5.10.5 
By-law 6 – clause 5.7.5 
 
 
By-law 3 – clause 5.6.4, 
By-law 4 – clause 5.10.4 
By-law 6 – clause 5.7.4 

By-law No. 5 
Waste 
Management 
 
 
4.4 

‘Container’ replaced with the word ‘Bin’ 
 
 
 
 
Management of Waste System 
 

Bins that are placed on the footpath area or road, 
must be labelled with the address of the premises or 
business name to which they relate. 

 

Throughout this by-law the use of the 
word Container has been replaced with 
the word Bin to be consistent with the 
language within the draft CoA Kerbside 
Waste Management Services – 
Operating Guideline. 
 
 
The proposed new clause will assist in 
the identification of bins, which will 
enhance operational matters and the 
investigation of potential 
concerns/breaches. This will be 
implemented in a staged approach. 

By-law No. 6 
Rundle Mall 
4.5 
 
 
 
 

Activities Requiring Permission 
A person must not without Permission in Rundle 
Mall or in the vicinity of Rundle Mall: 
 
Fireworks 

  use, discharge or explode any fireworks; 

Reference to firearms removed as this 
duplicates existing legislation that 
regulates the use, possession etc of 
firearms 

 

14. Attachment A contains the final version of the 2024 By-laws without track changes. 

Next Steps 
15. Should the recommendations of this report be endorsed, the next steps are listed below. 

15.1. A report to the DCMB and consideration of any resulting recommendations from the 21-day 
consultation period. 

15.2. Release of the draft by-laws for public consultation. 

15.3. A report to Council seeking endorsement of draft by-laws, scheduled for August 2024. 

16. If significant changes are required post-consultation, further consultation may need to be undertaken in 
relation to those changes. 

17. Following final Council endorsement, proposed by-laws will be published in the Government Gazette and a 
report referred to the Legislative Review Committee for approval. 

18. If there are no objections or amendments, by-laws will take effect four months after they are Gazetted and 
will be valid until 1 January 2032, unless revoked prior. 

 

Page 453



 

City Finance and Governance Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 21 May 2024

 

DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
Link 1 - By-law No. 1 - Permits and Penalties – 2018 

Link 2 - By-law No. 2 - Moveable Signs – 2018 

Link 3 - By-law No. 3 - Local Government Land – 2018 

Link 4 - By-law No. 4 - Roads – 2018 

Link 5 - By-law No. 5 - Waste Management – 2018 

Link 6 - By-law No. 6 – Rundle Mall – 2018 

Link 7 - By-law No. 7 - Dogs – 2018 

Link 8 - By-law No. 8 - Cats - 2018 

Link 9 - By-law No. 9 - Lodging Houses – 2018 

Link 10 - Workshop with Elected Members at the 20 February 2024 Committee 

Link 11 - Revised City of Adelaide By-laws with track changes and comments 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A – Final version of the City of Adelaide By-laws 2024   

 

- END OF REPORT - 

Page 454



CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE Permits and Penalties By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 1 – Permits and Penalties 

 

 
 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE 
 

By-law made under the Local Government Act 1999 
 

PERMITS AND PENALTIES BY-LAW 2024 
 

By-law No. 1 of 2024 
 

To provide for a permit system, set penalties for breaches of by-laws, provide for certain 
matters pertaining to liability and evidence, set regulatory requirements, clarify the 
construction of Council’s by-laws and for related purposes. 
 
Part 1 – Preliminary 
 
1. Short Title 

This by-law may be cited as the Permits and Penalties By-law 2024. 

2. Commencement 

This by-law will come into operation four months after the day on which it is published 
in the Gazette in accordance with Section 249(5) of the Local Government Act 1999. 

3. Definitions 

3.1 In any by-law of the Council, unless the contrary intention is clearly indicated: 

3.1.1 person includes a natural person, a body corporate, an incorporated 
association and an unincorporated association; 

3.1.2 the Council means the Corporation of the City of Adelaide; 

3.1.3 permission means the permission of the Council, or such other 
person as the Council may by resolution authorise for that purpose, 
given in writing prior to the act, event or activity to which it relates. 

3.2 In this by-law: 

3.2.1 Approved Form means the form approved from time to time by the 
Chief Executive Officer of the Council; 

3.2.2 Authorised Person has the same meaning as in the Local 
Government Act 1999; 

3.2.3 Drive and Driver have the same meaning as in the Road Traffic Act 
1961; 

Page 455

Attachment A



2 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE Permits and Penalties By-law 2024 
 

 

By-law No 1 – Permits and Penalties 
 

3.2.4 Food Business has the same meaning as in the Food Act 2001; 

3.2.5 Local Government Land has the same meaning as in the Council’s 
By-law No. 3 – Local Government Land; 

3.2.6 Owner has the same meaning as in the Road Traffic Act 1961; 

3.2.7 Premises has the same meaning as in the Food Act 2001; 

3.2.8 Prescribed Offence means an offence against a by-law of the Council 
relating to the driving, parking or standing of vehicles; 

3.2.9 Proprietor has the same meaning as in the Food Act 2001; 

3.2.10 Road has the same meaning as in the Local Government Act 1999; 

3.2.11 Vehicle has the same meaning as in the Road Traffic Act 1961 and 
the Australian Road Rules; 

3.2.12 Writing includes both paper and electronic format.  

Part 2 – Permits 
 
4. Council May Grant Permits 

If any by-law of the Council states that a person needs a ‘permit’ or ‘permission’ to do 
a specified thing, then the following provisions apply: 

4.1 The permit must be in writing. 

4.2 The Council may: 

4.2.1 attach conditions to the permit; 

4.2.2 change or revoke a condition, by notice in writing; or 

4.2.3 add new conditions, by notice in writing. 

4.3 A person who holds a permit must comply with every condition attached to it. 
Failure to do so constitutes a breach of this by-law. 

4.4 The Council may revoke a permit, by notice in writing, if: 

4.4.1 a condition of the permit is breached; or 

4.4.2 the Council has reasonable grounds for its revocation. 

4.5 The Council may, by resolution, fix, vary or revoke fees or charges for the 
granting of a permit to do a specified thing. 

Page 456



3 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE Permits and Penalties By-law 2024 
 

 

By-law No 1 – Permits and Penalties 
 

Part 3 – Enforcement 
 
5. Offences and Penalties 

5.1 A person who contravenes, or fails to comply with any by-law of the Council is 
guilty of an offence and is liable to a maximum penalty being the maximum 
penalty referred to in the Local Government Act 1999, which may be fixed for 
offences against a by-law.  

5.2 A person who is found guilty of an offence against any by-law of the Council in 
respect of a continuing act or omission is liable, in addition to the penalty 
otherwise applicable, to a further penalty being the maximum amount referred 
to in the Local Government Act 1999 which may be fixed for offences of a 
continuing nature against a by-law. 

6. Liability of Vehicle Owners and Expiation of Certain Offences 

6.1 Without derogating from the liability of any other person, but subject to this 
clause, if a Vehicle is involved in a Prescribed Offence, the Owner of the 
Vehicle is guilty of an offence and liable to the same penalty as is prescribed 
for the principal offence and the expiation fee that is fixed for the principal 
offence applies in relation to an offence against this clause. 

6.2 The Owner and Driver of a Vehicle are not both liable through the operation of 
this clause to be convicted of an offence arising out of the same circumstances, 
and consequently conviction of the Owner exonerates the Driver and 
conversely conviction of the Driver exonerates the Owner. 

6.3 An expiation notice or expiation reminder notice given under the Expiation of 
Offences Act 1996 to the Owner of a Vehicle for an alleged Prescribed Offence 
involving the Vehicle must be accompanied by a notice inviting the Owner, if 
they were not the Driver at the time of the alleged Prescribed Offence, to 
provide the Council or officer specified in the notice, within the period specified 
in the notice, with a statutory declaration: 

6.3.1 setting out the name and address of the Driver; or 

6.3.2 if they had transferred Ownership of the Vehicle to another prior to the 
time of the alleged offence and have complied with the Motor Vehicles 
Act 1959 in respect of the transfer - setting out details of the transfer 
(including the name and address of the transferee). 

6.4 Before proceedings are commenced against the Owner of a Vehicle for an 
offence against this section involving the Vehicle, the complainant must send 
the Owner a notice: 

6.4.1 setting out particulars of the alleged Prescribed Offence; and 

6.4.2 inviting the Owner, if they were not the Driver at the time of the alleged 
Prescribed Offence, to provide the complainant, within 21 days of the 
date of the notice, with a statutory declaration setting out the matters 
referred to in clause 6.3. 

6.5 Clause 6.4 does not apply to: 

Page 457



4 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE Permits and Penalties By-law 2024 
 

 

By-law No 1 – Permits and Penalties 
 

6.5.1 proceedings commenced where an Owner has elected under the 
Expiation of Offences Act 1996 to be prosecuted for the offence; or 

6.5.2 proceedings commenced against an Owner of a Vehicle who has been 
named in a statutory declaration under this section as the Driver of the 
Vehicle. 

6.6 Subject to clause 6.7, in proceedings against the Owner of a Vehicle for an 
offence against this clause, it is a defence to prove: 

6.6.1 that, in consequence of some unlawful act, the Vehicle was not in the 
possession or control of the Owner at the time of the alleged 
Prescribed Offence; or 

6.6.2 that the Owner provided the complainant with a statutory declaration in 
accordance with an invitation under this clause. 

6.7 The defence in clause 6.6.2 does not apply if it is proved that the Owner made 
the declaration knowing it to be false in a material particular. 

6.8 If: 

6.8.1 an expiation notice is given to a person named as the alleged Driver in 
a statutory declaration under this clause; or 

6.8.2 proceedings are commenced against a person named as the alleged 
Driver in such a statutory declaration, 

the notice or summons, as the case may be, must be accompanied by a notice 
setting out particulars of the statutory declaration that named the person as the 
alleged Driver. 

6.9 The particulars of the statutory declaration provided to the person named as 
the alleged Driver must not include the address of the person who provided the 
statutory declaration. 

Part 4 – Food Business Notification 

7. Food Business Notification Confirmation 

7.1 Upon receipt and processing of a written notice received from the Proprietor of 
a Food Business in accordance with Section 86 of the Food Act 2001 the 
Council will issue the Proprietor with a food business notification confirmation, 
in the Approved Form, evidencing that the Proprietor has complied with their 
obligations pursuant to Section 86 of the Food Act 2001. 

7.2 The Proprietor of a Food Business must, at all times, keep a copy of the food 
business notification confirmation issued to them by the Council displayed in a 
prominent position on the Premises of the Food Business that is clearly visible 
from the outside of the Premises to potential customers, members of the public 
and passers-by. 

Page 458



5 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE Permits and Penalties By-law 2024 
 

 

By-law No 1 – Permits and Penalties 
 

Part 5 – Miscellaneous 

8. Evidence 

In proceedings for a Prescribed Offence, an allegation in an Information1 that: 

8.1 a specified place was a Road or Local Government Land; or 

8.2 a specified Vehicle was driven, parked or left standing in a specified place; or 

8.3 a specified Vehicle was parked or left standing for the purposes of soliciting 
business from a person or offering or exposing goods for sale; or 

8.4 a specified place was not set aside by the Council for the purposes of the 
driving, parking or standing of vehicles; or 

8.5 a specified person was an Authorised Person; or 

8.6 a specified provision was a condition of a specified permit granted under 
paragraph 4 of this by-law; or 

8.7 a specified person was the Owner or Driver of a specified vehicle; or 

8.8 a person named in a statutory declaration under paragraph 6 of this by-law for 
the Prescribed Offence to which the declaration relates was the Driver of the 
Vehicle at the time at which the alleged offence was committed; or 

8.9 an Owner or Driver of a Vehicle for a Prescribed Offence was given notice 
under paragraph 6 of this by-law on a specified day, 

is proof of the matters so alleged in the absence of proof to the contrary. 

9. Construction 

Every by-law of the Council is subject to any Act of Parliament and Regulations made 
thereunder. 

10. Revocation 

Council’s By-law No. 1 – Permits and Penalties, published in the Gazette on 23 August 
2018, is revoked on the day on which this by-law comes into operation. 

 
The foregoing by-law was duly made and passed at a meeting of the Council of the 
Corporation of the City of Adelaide held on the                       day of                       2024 by an 
absolute majority of the members for the time being constituting the Council, there being at 
least two thirds of the members present. 
 
 
............................................... 
[insert] 
Chief Executive Officer 

 
1 Information means an Information and Summons filed for the purposes of commencing prosecution 

proceedings against a defendant in accordance with the Joint Criminal Rules 2022. 

Page 459



CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE Moveable Signs By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 2 – Moveable Signs 

 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE 
 

By-law made under the Local Government Act 1999 
 

MOVEABLE SIGNS BY-LAW 2024 
 

By-law No. 2 of 2024 

 
 
To set standards for moveable signs on roads, to provide conditions for and the placement 
of such signs, to protect public safety and to protect or enhance the amenity of the area of 
the Council. 
 
Part 1 – Preliminary 
 
1. Short Title 

This by-law may be cited as the Moveable Signs By-law 2024. 

2. Commencement 

This by-law will come into operation four months after the day on which it is published 
in the Gazette in accordance with Section 249(5) of the Local Government Act 1999. 

3. Definitions 

In this by-law: 

3.1 Authorised Person has the same meaning as in the Local Government Act 
1999; 

3.2 Banner means a moveable sign constituted of a strip of cloth, plastic or other 
material hung or attached to a pole, fence or other structure and includes a tear 
drop sign; 

3.3 Boundary means that line between private property and the Road or Road 
Related Area;  

3.4 Business means the business or organisation to which a Moveable Sign 
relates; 

3.5 Business Premises means the premises from which a business, trade or 
calling is conducted; 

3.6 Ceremonial Street means any Road declared as such by the Council; 

3.7 Footpath Area means: 

Page 460



2  
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE                Moveable Signs By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 2 – Moveable Signs 
 

3.7.1 that part of the Road between the boundary of the Road and the edge 
of the carriageway of the Road on the same side as that boundary; or 

3.7.2 a footway, laneway or other place made or constructed for the use of 
pedestrians and not for the use of Vehicles;  

3.8 Local Government Land means land owned by the Council or under the 
Council’s care, control and management; 

3.9 Moveable Sign has the same meaning as in the Local Government Act 1999; 

3.10 Road has the same meaning as in the Local Government Act 1999 and 
includes a footpath;  

3.11 Road Related Area has the same meaning as in the Road Traffic Act 1961 
and the Australian Road Rules; 

3.12 Vehicle has the same meaning as in the Road Traffic Act 1961 and the 
Australian Road Rules. 

Part 2 – Provisions Applicable to Moveable Signs 
 
4. Design and Construction 

A Moveable Sign must: 

4.1 be of a kind known as an ‘A’ frame sign, a Sandwich Board sign, an inverted ‘T’ 
sign or, with the permission of the Council, a sign of some other kind; 

4.2 be designed, constructed and maintained in good quality and condition so as 
not to present a hazard to any member of the public;  

4.3 be of strong construction so as to be stable when in position and be able to 
keep its position in adverse weather conditions; 

4.4 not contain sharp or jagged edges or corners; 

4.5 not be unsightly or offensive in appearance or content; 

4.6 not rotate or contain moving parts; 

4.7 not contain flashing lights or be illuminated internally; 

4.8 be constructed of timber, cloth, metal, plastic or plastic coated cardboard, or a 
mixture of such materials; 

4.9 not have balloons, flags, streamers or other material attached to it; 

4.10 not exceed 900 mm in perpendicular height, or have a base with any side 
exceeding 600 mm in length; 

4.11 in the case of an ‘A’ Frame or Sandwich Board sign:  

4.11.1 be hinged or joined at the top; and 

Page 461



3  
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE                Moveable Signs By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 2 – Moveable Signs 
 

4.11.2 be of such construction that its sides shall be securely fixed or locked 
in position when erected; and 

4.12 in the case of an inverted ‘T’ sign, contain no struts or supports that run 
between the display area and the base of the sign. 

5. Appearance 

A Moveable Sign must, in the opinion of an Authorised Person:  

5.1 be painted or otherwise detailed in a competent and professional manner; 

5.2 be aesthetically appealing, legible and simply worded to convey a precise 
message;  

5.3 be of such design and contain such colours as are compatible with the 
architectural design of the premises adjacent to the moveable sign, and which 
relate well to the townscape and overall amenity of the locality in which it is 
situated; 

5.4 contain combinations of colour and typographical styles which blend in with and 
reinforce the heritage qualities of the locality and the buildings where it is 
situated; and  

5.5 not detract from or conflict with traffic, safety or direction signs or signals. 

6. Placement 

A Moveable Sign must: 

6.1 only be placed on the Footpath Area of a Road; 

6.2 be adjacent to the Business Premises to which it relates; 

6.3 be placed no closer than 600 mm from the edge of the carriageway of a Road; 

6.4 not be placed on a Footpath Area less than 1.8 m from any structure, object, 
tree, bush or plant (including another Moveable Sign); 

6.5 not be fixed, tied, chained to or leaned against any other structure, object, tree, 
bush or plant (including another Moveable Sign); 

6.6 not be placed on the sealed part of any Footpath Area, unless the sealed part 
is wide enough to contain the sign and still leave a clear thoroughfare for 
pedestrians of a width of at least 1.8 m; 

6.7 not be placed on a Footpath Area unless the Footpath Area is at least 3 m 
wide; 

6.8 not be placed within 1.8 m of the corner of a Road; 

6.9 not be placed on a landscaped area; 

6.10 not be placed on a designated parking area or within 1.8 m of an entrance to or 
exit from premises; 

Page 462



4  
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE                Moveable Signs By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 2 – Moveable Signs 
 

6.11 not be placed within 1.8 m of an intersection;  

6.12 not unreasonably restrict the use of the Footpath Area or endanger the safety 
of members of the public; 

6.13 not be placed so as to interfere with the reasonable movement of persons 
using the Footpath Area in the vicinity of or adjacent to where the Moveable 
Sign is positioned or endanger the safety of members of the public; 

6.14 not be placed on any Footpath Area adjacent to a Road which contains a 
designated bus, taxi, disabled or loading zone; 

6.15 not be placed within 1.8 m of a construction site; 

6.16 not be placed on a Ceremonial Street; and  

6.17 not be placed so as to obstruct or impede a Vehicle door when opened, 
provided that the Vehicle is parked lawfully on the carriageway. 

7. Restrictions 

7.1 A Moveable Sign must: 

7.1.1 only display material which advertises a Business being conducted on 
premises which is immediately adjacent to the Moveable Sign, or the 
products available from that Business; 

7.1.2 be limited to one Moveable Sign per Business Premises; 

7.1.3 only be displayed when the Business to which the Moveable Sign 
relates is open to the public;  

7.1.4 be securely fixed in position such that it cannot be blown over or swept 
away in adverse weather conditions; 

7.1.5 not be in such a position or in such circumstances that the safety of 
any person or user of the Road is at risk; 

7.1.6 not be displayed during the hours of darkness unless it is in a clearly lit 
area and clearly visible; and 

7.1.7 not be displayed on a median strip, traffic island or on the carriageway 
of a Road. 

7.2 If in the opinion of the Council a Footpath Area or other area forming the 
boundary of any Road is unsafe for any Moveable Sign to be displayed or 
placed the Council may by resolution prohibit or restrict the display or 
placement of a Moveable Sign or the times at which a Moveable Sign may be 
displayed or placed in that area. 

8. Signs on Local Government Land 

A person must not, without permission, display or cause to be displayed a Moveable 
Sign on any Local Government Land or rest on or attach to any Vehicle on any Local 
Government Land any Moveable Sign, except a Moveable Sign: 

Page 463



5  
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE                Moveable Signs By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 2 – Moveable Signs 
 

8.1 attached to a licensed taxi or bus; 

8.2 on or attached to a Vehicle belonging to any council and which has been 
placed on or attached to the Vehicle with the consent of the council to which 
the Vehicle belongs; 

8.3 on or attached to a Vehicle which only has a sign or signs painted on or glued 
to it, the main purpose of which is to identify it as belonging to a Business; or 

8.4 comprising a sunscreen on a Vehicle, where any message or trade name or 
mark on the sunscreen does not advertise a Business being carried on in the 
vicinity of the place the Vehicle is parked, or the products available from that 
Business. 

Part 3 – Provisions Applicable to Banners 
 
9. Banners 

A banner must:  
 
9.1 only be displayed on a road, footpath or road related area;  

9.2 be securely fixed to a pole, fence or other structure so that it does not hang 
loose or flap;  

9.3 not be attached to any building, structure, fence, vegetation or other item 
owned by the Council on a road, or other improvement to a road owned by the 
Council;  

9.4 not be displayed more than one month before and two days after the event it 
advertises;  

9.5 not exceed 3m² in size. 

10. Exemptions 

10.1 Subparagraphs 7.1 and 7.2 of this by-law do not apply to a Moveable Sign 
which is displayed and used to advertise a garage sale taking place from 
residential premises provided that no more than four Moveable Signs per 
residential premises may be displayed at any one time in relation to a garage 
sale taking place at that residential premises. 

10.2 A requirement of this by-law will not apply where permission has been granted 
for the Moveable Sign to be displayed contrary to the requirement. 

10.3 This by-law will not apply to a Moveable Sign which is: 

10.3.1 placed on a Road pursuant to an authorisation under the Local 
Government Act 1999, or another Act; or 

10.3.2 designed to direct people to the open inspection of any land or building 
that is available for purchase or lease; or  

10.3.3 related to a State or Commonwealth election and is displayed during 
the period commencing at 5.00pm on the day before the issue of writ 

Page 464



6  
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE                Moveable Signs By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 2 – Moveable Signs 
 

or writs for the election and ending at the close of polls on polling day; 
or 

10.3.4 related to a referendum and is displayed during the course and for the 
purpose of that referendum. 

Part 4 – Enforcement  
 
11. Removal of Non-complying Moveable Signs 

11.1 If: 

11.1.1 the design or construction of a Moveable Sign that has been placed on 
a Road does not comply with a requirement of this by-law; or 

11.1.2 the positioning of a Moveable Sign does not comply with a 
requirement of this by-law; or  

11.1.3 any other relevant requirement of this by-law is not complied with; or 

11.1.4 the sign unreasonably: 

11.1.4.1 restricts the use of the Road; or 

11.1.4.2 endangers the safety of members of the public  

an Authorised Person may order the owner of the Moveable Sign to remove it 
from the Road. 

11.2 A person must comply with an Order of an Authorised Person made pursuant 
to subparagraph 11.1 of this by-law. 

11.3 If the Authorised Person cannot find the owner, or the owner fails to comply 
immediately with the Order made pursuant to subparagraph 11.1 of this by-law, 
the Authorised Person may remove the Moveable Sign. 

11.4 If a Moveable Sign that is removed pursuant to subparagraph 11.3 of this 
by-law, is not claimed within thirty days of such removal, the Authorised Person 
may sell, destroy or otherwise dispose of the Moveable Sign as the Authorised 
Person thinks fit. 

11.5 The owner or other person entitled to recover a Moveable Sign removed 
pursuant to subparagraph 11.3 of this by-law must pay to the Council any 
reasonable costs incurred by the Council in removing, storing and attempting to 
dispose of the Moveable Sign before being entitled to recover the Moveable 
Sign. 

12. Removal of Complying Moveable Signs 

12.1 The owner of, or other person responsible for, a Moveable Sign must remove 
or relocate the Moveable Sign at the request of an Authorised Person if, in the 
reasonable opinion of that Authorised Person, and notwithstanding compliance 
with this by-law, there is any hazard or obstruction or there is likely to be a 
hazard or obstruction arising out of the location of the Moveable Sign. 

Page 465



7  
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE                Moveable Signs By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 2 – Moveable Signs 
 

12.2 The owner of, or other person responsible for, a Moveable Sign must remove 
or relocate the Moveable Sign at the request of an Authorised Person for the 
purpose of special events, parades, roadworks or in any other circumstances 
which, in the reasonable opinion of the Authorised Person, requires relocation 
or removal of the Moveable Sign to protect public safety or to protect or 
enhance the amenity of a particular locality. 

Part 5 – Miscellaneous 

13. Revocation 

Council’s By-law No. 2 – Moveable Signs, published in the Gazette on 23 August 
2018, is revoked on the day on which this by-law comes into operation. 

 
The foregoing by-law was duly made and passed at a meeting of the Council of the 
Corporation of the City of Adelaide held on the                       day of                       2024 by an 
absolute majority of the members for the time being constituting the Council, there being at 
least two thirds of the members present. 
 
 
............................................... 
[insert] 
Chief Executive Officer 
 

Page 466



CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE Local Government Land By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 3 - Local Government Land  

 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE 
 

By-law made under the Local Government Act 1999 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT LAND BY-LAW 2024 
 

By-law No. 3 of 2024 
 
For the management of all land vested in or under the care, control and management of the 
Council. 
 
Part 1 – Preliminary 
 
1. Short Title 

This by-law may be cited as the Local Government Land By-law 2024. 

2. Commencement 

This by-law will come into operation four months after the day on which it is published 
in the Gazette in accordance with Section 249(5) of the Local Government Act 1999. 

3. Definitions 

In this by-law: 

3.1 Authorised Person has the same meaning as in the Local Government Act 
1999; 

3.2 Boat means any boat, craft, raft or other vessel designed or constructed for the 
purpose of carrying persons on water; 

3.3 Building includes any structure and or fixture of any kind whether for human 
habitation or not;  

3.4 Central Market means portion of allotment 11 in Filed Plan 26448, being 
portion of the land comprised in Certificate of Title Volume 6118 Folio 750, and 
being that portion that was previously comprised as Town Acres 333 and 380 in 
the Council’s area, but excludes that area above ground level car park known 
as UPark on Central Market; 

3.5 E-Cigarette means: 

3.5.1 a device that is designed to generate or release an aerosol or vapour 
for inhalation by its user in a manner similar to the inhalation of smoke 
from an ignited tobacco product; or 

Page 467



2  
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE            Local Government Land By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 3 - Local Government Land  

3.5.2 a device of a kind resolved by the Council and notified by notice in the 
Gazette to be an E-Cigarette; 

3.6 Electoral Matter has the same meaning as in the Electoral Act 1985; 

3.7 Emergency Vehicle has the same meaning as in the Australian Road Rules 
and the Road Traffic (Road Rules) Ancillary and Miscellaneous Provisions 
Regulations 2014; 

3.8 Horse Riding Track means the area set aside primarily for the purpose of 
riding horses in Lefevre Park / Nantu Wama (Park 6) located in the North Park 
Lands between Robe Terrace, Medindie Road, LeFevre Terrace and Kingston 
Terrace or any other area that the Council may by resolution designate for that 
purpose;  

3.9 Liquor has the same meaning as in the Liquor Licensing Act 1997; 

3.10 Livestock has the same meaning as in the Livestock Act 1997, but does not 
include dogs and cats; 

3.11 Local Government Land means all land vested in or under the care, control 
and management of the Council (except streets and roads); 

3.12 Model Aircraft includes a drone; 

3.13 National Soldiers Memorial means the land described in Section 2(1) of the 
National Soldiers Memorial Act 1949; 

3.14 Offensive includes threatening, abusive, insulting or annoying behaviour and 
‘offend’ has a complementary meaning; 

3.15 Playspace means: 

3.15.1 any fenced area on or in which there is playspace equipment or other 
installed devices for the purpose of children’s play; or 

3.15.2 any unfenced area within 15 m of playspace equipment or other 
installed devices for the purposes of children’s play; 

3.16 Public Place has the same meaning as in the Local Government Act 1999; 

3.17 River Torrens means any part of the River Torrens situated within the area of 
the Council, including, but not limited to: 

3.17.1 the waters known as Torrens Lake; 

3.17.2 the waters impounded by the dam referred to in Section 25 of the 
Adelaide Park Lands Act 2005; and 

3.17.3 any watercourse or drain leading to the River Torrens; 

3.18 Road has the same meaning as in the Local Government Act 1999 and 
includes a footpath; 

3.19 Smoke means: 

Page 468



3  
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE            Local Government Land By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 3 - Local Government Land  

3.19.1 in relation to a Tobacco Product, smoke, hold, or otherwise have 
control over, an ignited Tobacco Product; or 

3.19.2 in relation to an E-Cigarette, to inhale from, hold or otherwise have 
control over, an E-Cigarette that is in use; 

3.20 Tobacco Product has the same meaning as in the Tobacco Products 
Regulation Act 1997; 

3.21 Vehicle has the same meaning as in the Road Traffic Act 1961 and the 
Australian Road Rules;  

3.22 Waters includes any body of water, including a pond, lake, river, creek or 
wetland under the care, control and management of the Council; 

3.23 Wheeled Recreational Device has the same meaning as in the Road Traffic 
Act 1961 and the Australian Road Rules. 

Part 2 – Management of Local Government Land 
 
4. Activities Requiring Permission 

A person must not without permission on any Local Government Land: 

4.1 Alteration of Local Government Land 

make an alteration to the land, including: 

4.1.1 altering the construction or arrangement of the land to permit or 
facilitate access from an adjacent property; or  

4.1.2 erecting or installing a structure (including pipes, wires, cables, 
fixtures, fittings and other objects) in, on, across, under or over the 
land; or 

4.1.3 changing or interfering with the construction, arrangement or materials 
of the land; or 

4.1.4 changing, interfering with or removing a structure (including pipes, 
wires, cables, fixtures, fittings or other objects) associated with the 
land; or 

4.1.5 planting a tree or other vegetation on the land, interfering with the 
vegetation on the land or removing vegetation from the land; 

4.2 Amplification 

use an amplifier or other device whether mechanical or electrical for the 
purpose of amplifying sound; 

4.3 Athletic and Ball Sports and Games 

4.3.1 promote, organise or take part in any organised athletic sport in any 
area to which this subparagraph applies; 

Page 469



4  
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE            Local Government Land By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 3 - Local Government Land  

4.3.2 play or practice the game of golf in any area to which this 
subparagraph applies;  

4.3.3 play any organised competition sport, as distinct from organised social 
play, in any area to which this subparagraph applies; 

4.4 Boats 

subject to the provisions of the Harbors and Navigation Act 1993 and the 
Marine Safety (Domestic Commercial Vessel) National Law: 

4.4.1 hire or offer for hire a boat, raft, pontoon or other watercraft or use 
same for commercial purposes; 

4.4.2 launch, propel, float or otherwise use any boat, raft, pontoon or other 
watercraft on any Waters;  

4.5 Boat Ramps 

4.5.1 launch or retrieve a boat other than from a boat ramp constructed for 
that purpose;  

4.5.2 allow any vehicle to remain stationary on any boat ramp longer than is 
necessary to launch or retrieve a boat; 

4.6 Bridge Jumping 

jump or dive into any Waters from any bridge or any other structure; 

4.7 Burials and Memorials 

4.7.1 bury, inter or spread the ashes of any human or animal remains; 

4.7.2 erect any memorial; 

4.8 Business Use 

conduct, provide or offer to provide services for monetary consideration, 
including but not limited to personal training services; 

4.9 Camping and Tents 

4.9.1 camp or remain overnight whether in the open, a building, a vehicle or 
otherwise; 

4.9.2 erect any tent or other structure; 

4.10 Canvassing 

convey any advertising, religious or other message to any bystander, passer by 
or other person except for any message or material: 

4.10.1 that is related to a Commonwealth or State election and is conveyed 
during the period commencing at 5.00pm on the day before the issue 

Page 470



5  
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE            Local Government Land By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 3 - Local Government Land  

of the writ or writs for the election and ending at the close of polls on 
polling day; or 

4.10.2 that is related to an election under the Local Government Act 1999, or 
the Local Government (Elections) Act 1999 and is conveyed during the 
period commencing four weeks immediately before the date that has 
been set (either by or under either Act) for polling day and ending at 
the close of voting on polling day; or 

4.10.3 that is related to, and conveyed, during the course of and for the 
purpose of a Referendum;  

4.11 Closed Lands 

enter or remain on any part of Local Government Land including any Waters: 

4.11.1 at any time during which the Council has declared that the part shall 
be closed to the public, and which is indicated by a sign adjacent to 
the entrance to that part of the land; 

4.11.2 where the land is enclosed with fences and/or walls, and gates have 
been closed and locked; or 

4.11.3 where admission charges are payable, without paying those charges; 

4.12 Collections and Donations 

collect anything from any passer-by or ask for or receive or indicate that they 
desires a donation of money or any other thing; 

4.13 Depositing Rubbish etc 

deposit any structure, goods, materials, earth, soil, clay, gravel, sand, timber, 
stones, pebbles or any other matter or substance (including any liquid 
substance);  

4.14 Distribution 

give out or distribute any hand bill, book, notice, leaflet, or other printed matter 
to any bystander, passer-by or other person except any hand bill, book, notice, 
leaflet or other printed matter: 

4.14.1 that is related to a Commonwealth or State election and is placed, 
given out or distributed during the period commencing at 5.00pm on 
the day before the issue of the writ or writs for the election and ending 
at the close of polls on polling day; or 

4.14.2 that is related to an election under the Local Government Act 1999, or 
the Local Government (Elections) Act 1999 and is placed, given out or 
distributed during the period commencing four weeks immediately 
before the date that has been set (either by or under either Act) for 
polling day and ending at the close of voting on polling day; or 

4.14.3 that is related to and placed, given out or distributed during the course 
of and for the purpose of a Referendum; 

Page 471



6  
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE            Local Government Land By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 3 - Local Government Land  

4.15 Entertainment and Busking 

4.15.1 sing, busk, perform, chant, recite, mime or play any recording or upon 
any musical instrument so as to appear to be for the purpose of 
entertaining other persons; 

4.15.2 conduct or hold any concert, festival, show, public gathering, circus, 
meeting, performance or any other similar activity; 

4.16 Erection of Structures 

4.16.1 erect a fence or hoarding, if: 

4.16.1.1 the fence or hoarding is made of or contains barbed or razor 
wire; or  

4.16.1.2 the fence is not easily visible at night and thereby creates a 
danger to users of the land; 

4.16.2 erect, place, use or allow to remain: 

4.16.2.1 a ladder or trestle; 

4.16.2.2 any other equipment, appliance, object or material likely to 
cause an obstruction or danger to any person; 

4.16.3 park, place, use or allow to remain a mobile crane, scissor lift, elevated 
platform vehicle or cherry picker; 

4.17 Fires 

subject to the Fire and Emergency Services Act 2005, light any fire except: 

4.17.1 in a place provided by the Council for that purpose; or 

4.17.2 in a portable barbeque, as long as the barbeque is used in an area 
that is clear of flammable material for a distance of at least 4 m; 

4.18 Fireworks 

use, discharge or explode any fireworks; 

4.19 Flora and Fauna 

subject to the Native Vegetation Act 1991 and the National Parks and Wildlife 
Act 1972: 

4.19.1 damage, pick, disturb, interfere with or remove any plant or flower 
thereon; 

4.19.2 lead or drive any animal or stand or walk on any flower bed or garden; 

4.19.3 deposit, dig, damage, disturb, interfere with or remove any soil, stone, 
wood, clay, gravel, pebbles, timber, bark or any part of the land; 

Page 472



7  
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE            Local Government Land By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 3 - Local Government Land  

4.19.4 take, interfere with, tease, harm or disturb any animal, bird, marine 
creature or insect or the eggs or young of any animal, bird, marine 
creature or insect; 

4.19.5 pick, collect, take, interfere with or disturb any fruit, nuts, berries or 
native seeds; 

4.19.6 disturb, interfere with or damage any burrow, nest or habitat of any 
animal bird; 

4.19.7 use, possess or have control of any device for the purpose of killing or 
capturing any animal, bird or marine creature; 

4.19.8 burn any timber or dead wood; 

4.20 Liquor 

consume, carry or be in possession or in charge of any Liquor on any Local 
Government Land comprising Parks or Reserves to which the Council has 
resolved this subparagraph shall apply; 

4.21 Livestock 

4.21.1 cause or allow any Livestock to stray onto, move over, graze or be left 
unattended;  

4.21.2 cause or allow any Livestock to enter, swim, bathe or remain in any 
Waters located on Local Government Land to which the Council has 
resolved this subparagraph shall apply; 

4.21.3 lead or drive any Livestock, except where the Council has set aside a 
track or other area for use by or in connection with an animal of that 
kind; 

4.21.4 allow any Livestock to damage any flower bed, garden, tree, lawn or 
other item or place; 

4.21.5 train any Livestock; 

4.22 Model Aircraft, Boats and Cars 

4.22.1 fly or operate a Model Aircraft, boat or model/remote control car which 
by the use thereof may cause or be likely to cause injury or discomfort 
to any person being on or in the vicinity of Local Government Land or 
detract from or be likely to detract from another person’s lawful use 
and enjoyment of the land; 

4.22.2 fly or operate a Model Aircraft, boat or model/remote control car on 
land to which the Council has resolved this subparagraph shall apply; 

4.23 Obstructions 

4.23.1 obstruct any path, footpath, track, gateway or other area; 

Page 473



8  
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE            Local Government Land By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 3 - Local Government Land  

4.23.2 erect, place, use or allow to remain over any path, footpath, track, 
gateway or other area any object including, but not limited to, any 
planter box, hoarding, crane, cherry picker, elevated platform vehicle, 
scaffolding, stage, ladder, trestle, appliance, or other equipment. 

4.24 Organised Ceremonies and Events etc 

hold, conduct or participate in a funeral, marriage ceremony, game, picnic, 
other event or entertainment on any Local Government Land except where the 
number of persons attending the event or entertainment does not exceed 20; 

4.25 Overhanging Articles 

suspend or hang any article or thing from any building, verandah, pergola, post 
or other structure where it might present a nuisance or danger to any person 
using Local Government Land; 

4.26 Playing Area 

use or occupy any playing area: 

4.26.1 in such a manner as to damage or be likely to damage the surface of 
the playing area and/or infrastructure (above and under ground level); 

4.26.2 in any manner contrary to the purpose for which the playing area was 
intended to be used or occupied; 

4.26.3 contrary to directions of the Council made by resolution and indicated 
on a sign displayed adjacent to the playing area; 

4.27 Preaching and Canvassing 

preach, canvass, harangue, tout for business or conduct any survey or opinion 
poll except: 

4.27.1 in any area where the Council has, by resolution, determined this 
restriction shall not apply; or  

4.27.2 any opinion poll that is related to a Commonwealth or State election 
and is conducted during the period commencing at 5.00pm on the day 
before the issue of the writ or writs for the election and ending at the 
close of polls on polling day; or 

4.27.3 any opinion poll that is related to an election under the Local 
Government Act 1999, or the Local Government (Elections) Act 1999 
and is conducted during the period commencing four weeks 
immediately before the date that has been set (either by or under 
either Act) for polling day and ending at the close of voting on polling 
day; or 

4.27.4 any opinion poll that is related to and is conducted during the course of 
and for the purpose of a Referendum; 

Page 474



9  
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE            Local Government Land By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 3 - Local Government Land  

4.28 Public Exhibitions and Displays 

4.28.1 allow or cause any public exhibition or display;  

4.28.2 allow or cause to be displayed any bills, advertisements or other 
papers or items or mark with any substance or apply any stickers or 
stencils to a building or structure on Local Government Land or other 
public place except any bills, advertisements or other papers or items: 

4.28.2.1 that are related to a Commonwealth or State election and 
are displayed during the period commencing at 5.00pm on 
the day before the issue of the writ or writs for the election 
and ending at the close of polls on polling day; or 

4.28.2.2 that are related to an election under the Local Government 
Act 1999, or the Local Government (Elections) Act 1999 and 
are displayed during the period commencing four weeks 
immediately before the date that has been set (either by or 
under either Act) for polling day and ending at the close of 
voting on polling day; or 

4.28.2.3 that are related to and displayed during the course of and for 
the purpose of a Referendum; 

4.29 Riverbank 

drive or propel a Vehicle onto or from a riverbank other than by a ramp or 
thoroughfare constructed on the riverbank or provided by the Council for that 
purpose; 

4.30 Rubbish and Rubbish Dumps 

4.30.1 interfere with, remove or take away any rubbish that has been 
discarded at any rubbish dump on Local Government Land; 

4.30.2 remove, disperse or interfere with any rubbish (including bottles, 
newspapers, cans, containers or packaging etc) that has been 
discarded in a Council bin on Local Government Land; 

4.31 Swimming 

swim, bathe or wash in any Waters to which this subparagraph applies; 

4.32 Trading 

4.32.1 carry on the business of buying or selling, or offering or exposing for 
sale, or hiring or leasing any goods or services including, but not 
limited to any Vehicle, watercraft or aircraft; or  

4.32.2 set up a Vehicle, stall, stand, table, tray, carpet or other structure for 
the apparent purpose of buying or selling, or offering or exposing for 
sale, or hiring or leasing any goods or services including, but not 
limited to any Vehicle, watercraft or aircraft; 

Page 475



10  
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE            Local Government Land By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 3 - Local Government Land  

4.33 Vehicles 

drive or propel any vehicle on local government land unless on an area or road 
that is constructed or set aside by the Council for that purpose. 

5. Prohibited Activities 

A person must not on any Local Government Land: 

5.1 Birds 

feed any bird; 

5.2 Climbing 

climb on or over any fixture, fitting, plant, object or building other than in a 
Playground or other similar area that the Council has indicated by signage set 
aside for that purpose; 

5.3 Damaging or Defacing Property 

attach any object, including an animal on a leash or a bike to any tree, gate, 
fence or other fixture other than a designated bicycle rack; 

5.4 Fishing 

5.4.1 fish in any Waters on Local Government Land to which the Council 
has resolved this subparagraph shall apply; 

5.4.2 fish from any bridge or other structure on Local Government Land to 
which the Council has resolved this subparagraph shall apply; 

5.5 Interference with Permitted Use 

interrupt, disrupt or interfere with any other person’s use of Local Government 
Land which is permitted or for which permission has been granted; 

5.6 Playing Games 

play or practice a game: 

5.6.1 which is likely to cause damage to the land or anything in or on it; 

5.6.2 which endangers the safety or interferes with the comfort of any 
person;  

5.6.3 in any area where a sign indicates that the game is prohibited; 

5.7 Repairs to Vehicles 

perform the work of repairing, washing, painting, panel beating or other work of 
any nature on or to any Vehicle, provided that this subparagraph shall not 
extend to running repairs in the case of breakdown; 

Page 476



11  
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE            Local Government Land By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 3 - Local Government Land  

5.8 Smoking 

5.8.1 Smoke in any building on Local Government Land; 

5.8.2 Smoke on any Local Government Land or part thereof to which the 
Council has resolved this subparagraph shall apply; 

5.9 Solicitation 

tout or solicit customers for the parking of Vehicles or for any other commercial 
purpose whatsoever; 

5.10 Public Conveniences 

in any public convenience: 

5.10.1 smoke tobacco or any other substance; 

5.10.2 deposit anything in a pan, urinal or drain which is likely to cause a 
blockage;  

5.10.3 use it for a purpose for which it was not designed or constructed; 

5.10.4 subject to clause 5.10.5, enter the public convenience unless the 
person is of the gender indicated in writing or on a sign located on the 
public convenience; 

5.10.5 clause 5.10.4 does not apply – 

5.10.5.1 in the case of a genuine emergency; 

5.10.5.2 to a vulnerable person being assisted by the vulnerable 
person’s caregiver, parent or guardian; or 

5.10.5.3 to a person that is intersex, transgender or gender diverse; 
or 

5.10.5.4 to a person with a disability; or 

5.10.5.5 to a person assisting a person with a disability. 

5.11 Use of Council Rubbish Bins 

deposit any commercial waste or other rubbish emanating from commercial 
premises in any Council rubbish bin; 

5.12 Use of Equipment 

use any form of equipment or property belonging to the Council other than in 
the manner and for the purpose for which it was designed; 

5.13 Waste 

deposit in any receptacle any rubbish emanating from domestic or trade 
purposes, unless designated by a sign or signs; 

Page 477



12  
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE            Local Government Land By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 3 - Local Government Land  

5.14 Waters 

wash clothes in, and/or add any substance to any Waters; 

5.15 Wheeled Recreational Devices 

use a Wheeled Recreational Device on any part of Local Government Land to 
which this subparagraph applies.  

Part 3 – Restrictions Applying in Specific Areas 

6. Central Market 

In addition to the prohibitions generally applying to Local Government Land, a person 
must not do any of the following in the Adelaide Central Market without the permission 
of the Council: 

6.1 Animals 

bring into or allow any animal to remain (except an Assistance Dog as defined 
in the Dog and Cat Management Act 1995); 

6.2 Forklifts 

6.2.1 drive or use a forklift; 

6.2.2 fail to carry proof of being qualified to drive a forklift; 

6.2.3 fail to equip any forklift with an amber flashing warning device and an 
audible reversing warning device. 

7. Horse Riding Track 

In addition to the prohibitions generally applying to Local Government Land, a person 
must not do any of the following on a Horse Riding Track: 

7.1 ride a horse at a gallop; 

7.2 train a racehorse, trotting horse or quarter horse; or  

7.3 ride or drive a horse with or attached to any cart or Vehicle. 

8. National Soldiers Memorial 

In addition to the prohibitions generally applying to Local Government Land, a person 
must not do any of the following in or on the National Soldiers Memorial or in or on the 
forecourt and gardens surrounding the National Soldiers Memorial: 

8.1 affix any object or erect any fixture; 

8.2 sit or lie upon any part of the building; 

8.3 lie or stand on any seat; or  

Page 478



13  
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE            Local Government Land By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 3 - Local Government Land  

8.4 drive any vehicle, bicycle, small wheeled recreational vehicle including roller 
blades. 

Part 4 – Miscellaneous 

9. Directions 

A person must comply with any reasonable direction or request from an Authorised 
Person relating to:  

9.1 that person’s use of the land;  

9.2 that person’s conduct and behaviour on the land; 

9.3 that person’s safety on the land; 

9.4 the safety and enjoyment of the land by other persons. 

10. Removal of Animals and Exclusion of Persons 

10.1 If any animal is found on Local Government Land in breach of a by-law: 

10.1.1 any person in charge of the animal shall forthwith remove it from that 
land on the request of an Authorised Person; and 

10.1.2 any Authorised Person may remove any animal from the land if the 
person fails to comply with the request, or if no person is in charge of 
the animal. 

10.2 An Authorised Person may direct any person who is considered to be 
committing, or has committed, a breach of a by-law to leave Local Government 
Land. 

11. Removal of Obstructions 

If an object is obstructing any part of Local Government Land then the Council may 
remove the object provided that this paragraph shall not apply to any object that has 
been placed on Local Government Land with the permission of the Council or the 
object has been placed on the Local Government Land by some other lawful authority. 

12. Exemptions 

The restrictions in this by-law do not apply to any Police Officer, Council Officer or 
employee acting in the course and within the scope of that person’s normal duties, or 
to a contractor while performing work for the Council and while acting under the 
supervision of a Council Officer, or an emergency worker when driving an Emergency 
Vehicle in an emergency situation. 

13. Application of Paragraphs 

Any of subparagraphs 4.3, 4.20, 4.21.2, 4.22.2, 4.31, 5.4, 5.8.2 and 5.15 of this by-law 
shall apply only in such portion or portions of the area as the Council may by resolution 
direct in accordance with Section 246(3)(e) of the Local Government Act 1999. 

Page 479



14  
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE            Local Government Land By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 3 - Local Government Land  

14. Revocation 

Council’s By-law No. 3 – Local Government Land, published in the Gazette on 23 
August 2018, is revoked on the day on which this by-law comes into operation. 
 

The foregoing by-law was duly made and passed at a meeting of the Council of the 
Corporation of the City of Adelaide held on the                         day of                       2024 by 
an absolute majority of the members for the time being constituting the Council, there being 
at least two thirds of the members present. 
 
 
............................................... 
[insert] 
Chief Executive Officer 
 

 

Page 480



CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE                                Roads By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 4 - Roads 
  

 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE 
 

By-law made under the Local Government Act 1999 
 

ROADS BY-LAW 2024 
 

By-law No. 4 of 2024 
 
 

For the management of roads vested in or under the control of the Council. 
 
Part 1 – Preliminary 
 
1. Short Title 

This by-law may be cited as the Roads By-law 2024. 

2. Commencement 

This by-law will come into operation four months after the day on which it is published 
in the Gazette in accordance with Section 249(5) of the Local Government Act 1999. 

3. Definitions 

In this by-law: 

3.1 Authorised Person has the same meaning as in the Local Government Act 
1999; 

3.2 Electoral Matter has the same meaning as in the Electoral Act 1985; 

3.3 Emergency Vehicle has the same meaning as in the Australian Road Rules 
and the Road Traffic (Road Rules - Ancillary and Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Regulations 2014; 

3.4 Livestock has the same meaning as in the Livestock Act 1997; 

3.5 Model Aircraft includes a drone; 

3.6 Road has the same meaning as in the Local Government Act 1999; 

3.7 Vehicle has the same meaning as in the Road Traffic Act 1961 and the 
Australian Road Rules; 

3.8 Wheeled Recreational Device has the same meaning as in the Road Traffic 
Act 1961.  

Page 481



2 - 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE             Roads By-law 2024 

 
 

By-law No 4 - Roads 

Part 2 – Management of Roads 
 
4. Activities Requiring Permission 

A person must not without permission on any Road: 

4.1 Advertising 

4.1.1 display any sign other than a Moveable Sign which is displayed on a 
Road in accordance with the Council’s Moveable Signs By-law 2024; 

4.1.2 place or maintain any goods on the Road or park or stand a Vehicle on 
the Road for the purpose of: 

4.1.2.1 soliciting any business from any person; or 

4.1.2.2 offering or exposing goods or services for sale 

provided that this subparagraph 4.1.2 shall not apply to a person who 
is simply travelling along a Road. 

4.2 Amplification 

use an amplifier or other device whether mechanical or electrical for the 
purpose of amplifying sound;  

4.3 Bicycles 

 chain, lock or affix a bicycle to any pole, fence or other structure on a Road 
where the bicycle may cause an obstruction or damage the structure, other 
than on a structure specifically designed and set aside by the Council for that 
purpose; 

4.4 Bridge Jumping 

 jump or dive from any bridge or other structure; 

4.5 Distribute 

give out or distribute any hand bill, book, notice, leaflet, or other printed matter 
to any bystander, passer-by or other person except any hand bill, book, notice, 
leaflet or other printed matter: 

4.5.1 that is related to a Commonwealth or State election and is placed, 
given out or distributed during the period commencing at 5.00pm on 
the day before the issue of the writ or writs for the election and ending 
at the close of polls on polling day; or 

4.5.2 that is related to an election under the Local Government Act 1999, or 
the Local Government (Elections) Act 1999 and is placed, given out or 
distributed during the period commencing four weeks immediately 
before the date that has been set (either by or under either Act) for 
polling day and ending at the close of voting on polling day; or 

Page 482



3 - 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE             Roads By-law 2024 

 
 

By-law No 4 - Roads 

4.5.3 that is related to and placed, given out or distributed during the course 
of and for the purpose of a Referendum; 

4.6 Donations 

ask for or receive or indicate that he or she desires a donation of money or any 
other thing, or otherwise solicit for religious or charitable purposes; 

4.7 Fires and Fireworks 

4.7.1 subject to the Fire and Emergency Services Act 2005, light any fire 
except in a place provided by the Council for that purpose; 

4.7.2 use, discharge or explode any fireworks; 

4.8 Hatches 

leave any hatch connected with adjacent premises unattended when open; 

4.9 Livestock 

lead or drive any Livestock on any Road except in those areas that the Council 
has by resolution designated for that purpose; 

4.10 Model Aircraft and Cars 

 fly or operate a Model Aircraft or model/remote control car on any Road to 
which the Council has resolved this subparagraph applies; 

4.11 Preaching and Canvassing 

preach, canvass, harangue or otherwise solicit for religious purposes except on 
any Road or part thereof where the Council has, by resolution, determined this 
restriction shall not apply; 

4.12 Public Exhibitions and Displays 

4.12.1 sing, busk or play any recording or use any musical instrument; 

4.12.2 conduct or hold any concert, festival, show, public gathering, circus, 
meeting, performance or any other similar activity;  

4.12.3 cause any public exhibitions or displays, except on any Road or part 
thereof where the Council has, by resolution, determined this 
restriction shall not apply; 

4.13 Repairs to Vehicles 

perform the work of repairing, washing, painting, panelbeating or other work of 
any nature on or to any Vehicle, provided that this paragraph shall not extend 
to running repairs in the case of breakdown;  

Page 483



4 - 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE             Roads By-law 2024 

 
 

By-law No 4 - Roads 

4.14 Rubbish 

 remove, disperse or interfere with any rubbish (including bottles, newspapers, 
cans, containers or packaging etc) that has been discarded in a Council bin; 

4.15 Tents and Camping 

4.15.1 camp or remain overnight whether in the open, a building, a vehicle or 
otherwise; 

4.15.2 erect any tent or other structure; 

4.16 Touting for Business 

 tout for business; 

4.17 Use of Council Rubbish Bins 

deposit any commercial waste or other rubbish emanating from commercial 
premises in any Council rubbish bin; 

4.18 Venue Management 

allow patrons or potential patrons of a venue under their management or 
control to queue outside the venue; 

4.19 Wheeled Recreational Devices 

use a Wheeled Recreational Device on a footpath. 

5. Prohibited Activities  

A person must not on a Road; 

5.1 Birds 

feed any bird; 

5.2 Climbing 

climb on or over any fixture, fitting, plant, object or building; 

5.3 Damaging or Defacing Property 

attach any object to any tree, gate, fence or other fixture; 

5.4 Glass 

wilfully break any glass, china or other brittle material; 

5.5 Interference with Permitted Use 

interrupt, disrupt or interfere with any other person’s use of the Road which is 
permitted or for which Permission has been granted; 

Page 484



5 - 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE             Roads By-law 2024 

 
 

By-law No 4 - Roads 

5.6 Public Conveniences 

in any public convenience: 
 
5.6.1 smoke tobacco or any other substance; 

5.6.2 deposit anything in a pan, urinal or drain which is likely to cause a 
blockage; 

5.6.3 use it for a purpose for which it was not designed or constructed; 

5.6.4 subject to clause 5.6.5, enter the public convenience unless the 
person is of the gender indicated in writing or on a sign located on the 
public convenience; 

5.6.5 clause 5.6.4 does not apply – 

5.6.5.1 in a genuine emergency; or 

5.6.5.2 to a vulnerable person being assisted by the vulnerable 
person’s caregiver, parent or guardian; or 

5.6.5.3 to a person that is intersex, transgender or gender diverse; 
or 

5.6.5.4 to a person with a disability; or 

5.6.5.5 to a person assisting a person with a disability;  

Part 3 – Miscellaneous 
 
6. Directions 

A person must comply with any reasonable direction or request from an Authorised 
Person relating to:  

6.1 that person’s use of the Road; 

6.2 that person’s conduct and behaviour on the Road;  

6.3 that person’s safety on the Road; 

6.4 the safety and enjoyment of the Road by other persons. 

7. Removal of Animals and Persons 

7.1 If any animal is found on any part of a Road in breach of a by-law: 

7.1.1 any person in charge of the animal must immediately remove it from 
that part of the Road on the request of an Authorised Person; and 

7.1.2 an Authorised Person of the Council may remove the animal if a 
person fails to comply with the request, or if no person is in charge of 
the animal.  

Page 485



6 - 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE             Roads By-law 2024 

 
 

By-law No 4 - Roads 

7.2 A person who is committing or has committed a breach of this by-law must 
immediately comply with a direction of an Authorised Person to leave that part 
of the Road.  

7.3 Any Authorised Person may remove any person from a Road who is found 
committing a breach of a by-law, but must not use force in doing so. 

8. Removal of Objects 

 If any goods, materials, object or substance has been left on a Road in breach of this 
by-law an Authorised Person or their agent may remove the item and dispose of it in a 
manner that Authorised Person thinks fit and may recover the costs of so doing from 
the person responsible as a debt. 

 
9. Exemptions 

The restrictions in this by-law do not apply to any Police Officer, Council Officer or 
employee acting in the course and within the scope of that person’s normal duties, or 
to a Contractor while performing work for the Council and while acting under the 
supervision of a Council Officer, or an Emergency Worker when driving an Emergency 
Vehicle in an emergency situation.  

10. Application of Paragraph 

Subparagraph 4.10 of this by-law shall apply only in such portion or portions of the 
area as the Council may by resolution direct in accordance with Section 246(3)(e) of 
the Local Government Act 1999. 

11. Revocation 

Council’s By-law No. 4 – Roads, published in the Gazette on 23 August 2018, is 
revoked on the day on which this by-law comes into operation. 
 

The foregoing by-law was duly made and passed at a meeting of the Council of the 
Corporation of the City of Adelaide held on the                        day of                       2024 by 
an absolute majority of the members for the time being constituting the Council, there being 
at least two thirds of the members present. 
 
 
............................................... 
[insert] 
Chief Executive Officer 
 

Page 486



CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE          Waste Management By-law 2024 

By-law No 5 – Waste Management 

 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE 
 

By-law made under the Local Government Act 1999 
 

WASTE MANAGEMENT BY-LAW 2024 
 

By-law No. 5 of 2024 
 

To regulate and control the removal of domestic and commercial waste from premises. 
 
 
Part 1 – Preliminary 
 

1. Short Title 

This by-law may be cited as the Waste Management By-law 2024. 

2. Commencement 

This by-law will come into operation four months after the day on which it is published 
in the Gazette in accordance with Section 249(5) of the Act.    

3. Definitions 

In this by-law: 

3.1 Commercial and Industrial Waste (General) has the same meaning as in the 
Environment Protection Authority Waste Guidelines; 

3.2 Commercial Cardboard means non-contaminated cardboard generated by 
commercial premises but excludes Recyclables, contaminants such as wax 
boxes, milk cartons, boxes soiled by food, paints or oils, plastic or polystyrene; 

3.3 Bin includes without limitation any Domestic Waste Bin, Green Organics Bin or 
Recyclables Bin provided by the Council or some other Bin provided for the 
purposes of a private or commercial waste collection; 

3.4 Domestic Waste means any kind of domestic waste including putrescibles 
generated from residences, but excludes liquids, metals (other than food 
containers), building materials, stones, bricks, soil, lead acid batteries, any 
dangerous or toxic waste, Commercial and industrial Waste (General), Listed 
Waste, Hazardous Waste or Radioactive Waste; 

3.5 Domestic Waste Bin means a Bin provided or designated by the Council for 
the reception of Domestic Waste (maximum weight 60 kg); 

3.6 Footpath Area means: 

Page 487



2 - 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE          Waste Management By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 5 – Waste Management 
 

3.6.1 that part of the Road between the boundary of the Road and the edge 
of the carriageway of the Road on the same side as that boundary; or  

3.6.2 a footway, laneway or other place made or constructed for the use of 
pedestrians and not for the use of Vehicles; 

3.7 Green Organics means any clean organic matter consisting of lawn clippings, 
plants, vegetables, leaves, prunings, horse manure or other materials for which 
permission has been given by the Council but excludes any item larger than 15 
cm in diameter, Domestic Waste, Commercial and Industrial Waste (General), 
Listed Waste, Hazardous Waste or Radioactive Waste; 

3.8 Green Organics Bin means a Bin provided or designated by the Council for 
the reception of Green Organics (maximum weight 70 kg); 

3.9 Hard Waste means solid waste arising from domestic premises which is not 
suitable for collection using a kerbside bin system and includes any internal 
and external household items, but excludes any Domestic Waste, Commercial 
and Industrial Waste (General), Listed Waste, Hazardous Waste, Radioactive 
Waste or waste that is not deemed suitable for collection by the Council; 

3.10 Hazardous Waste has the same meaning as in the Environment Protection 
Authority Waste Guidelines; 

3.11 Listed Waste has the same meaning as in the Environment Protection 
Authority Waste Guidelines; 

3.12 Private Thoroughfare means a private street, road, lane, footway, alley, court 
or thoroughfare that the public is allowed to use and have access to; 

3.13 Radioactive Waste has the same meaning as in the Environment Protection 
Authority Waste Guidelines; 

3.14 Recyclables means newspapers, magazines, clean paper and cardboard, 
clean plastic container of a type specified by the Council, clean tins and cans, 
clean glass and clean milk and juice containers and other materials for which 
permission has been given by the Council; 

3.15 Recyclables Bin means a Bin provided or designated by the Council for the 
reception of Recyclables; 

3.16 Road has the same meaning as in the Local Government Act 1999. 

Part 2 – Management of Waste System 
 
4. Provision of Bins 

4.1 Every occupier of premises, must keep Bins designated by the Council on the 
premises, other than for the purpose of facilitating the relevant kerbside 
collection service. 

4.2 Bins must be kept clean. 

4.3 Bins which are placed on a Footpath Area or a Road must be kept closed at all 
times. 

Page 488



3 - 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE          Waste Management By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 5 – Waste Management 
 

4.4 Bins that are placed on the footpath area or road, must be labelled with the 
address of the  premises or business name to which they relate. 

5. Management of Kerbside Collection Services 

5.1 Domestic Waste 

An occupier of premises must ensure that the Domestic Waste Bin only 
contains Domestic Waste. 

5.2 Recyclables 

5.2.1 An occupier of premises must ensure that the Recyclables Bin only 
contains Recyclables.  

5.3 Green Organics 

5.3.1 An occupier of premises must ensure that the Green Organics Bin only 
contains Green Organics. 

5.4 Damage 

5.4.1 An occupier of premises must ensure that each Bin is maintained so 
that it is not damaged or worn to the extent that: 

5.4.1.1 it is not robust or watertight; 

5.4.1.2 it is unable to be moved on its wheels (if any) efficiently; 

5.4.1.3 the lid does not seal on the Bin when closed; or 

5.4.1.4 its efficiency or use is otherwise impaired. 

5.4.2 If a Bin provided by the Council presented for collection is, in the 
opinion of the Council or the operator of the relevant kerbside 
collection service, damaged or worn so as to make removal of the 
contents impracticable, the kerbside collection service will not be 
provided unless and until the damage or wear is rectified. 

5.5 Collection Services 

5.5.1 An occupier of premises must facilitate the collection and removal of 
household waste, commercial waste, Recyclables and Green Organics 
from their premises by placing the relevant Bin in accordance with 
subparagraph 5.5.2 of this by-law on the day of or the night before 
(and not before these times) the scheduled collection day.  

5.5.2 An occupier of premises must ensure that the Bin containing the 
relevant kind of material is placed out for collection: 

5.5.2.1 on the Footpath Area in front of and on the same side as the 
premises, abutting the edge of (but not on) the carriageway 
and positioned so that the side of the Bin on which the 
hinges of the lid are situated faces the premises; or 

Page 489



4 - 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE          Waste Management By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 5 – Waste Management 
 

5.5.2.2 in another position as approved or directed by the Council; 
and  

5.5.2.3 not under the overhanging branches of street trees; and 

5.5.2.4 not so as to impede the passage of pedestrian or other 
traffic.  

5.5.3 An occupier of: 

5.5.3.1 commercial premises must remove the Bin from the 
Footpath Area and Road: 

(a) within one hour of the collection, if the collection has 
occurred during business hours; or 

(b) by 9:00am on the day of collection, if the collection has 
occurred outside of business hours; 

5.5.3.2 premises other than commercial premises must remove the 
Bin from the Footpath Area and Road on the same day that 
the collection has taken place. 

5.5.4 An occupier of premises must facilitate the collection and removal of 
Hard Waste from their premises by placing the Hard Waste out for 
collection: 

5.5.4.1 on the day of or the night before (and not before these 
times) the scheduled collection day; 

5.5.4.2 on the Footpath Area in front of and on the same side as the 
premises, abutting the edge of (but not on) the carriageway, 
or in another position as approved or permitted by the 
Council; and 

5.5.4.3 not so as to impede the passage of pedestrian traffic. 

5.6 Commercial Cardboard 

Where the Council makes available a Commercial Cardboard kerbside 
collection service an occupier of commercial premises: 

5.6.1 must ensure that any Commercial Cardboard presented for collection 
is flattened, bundled and stacked; 

5.6.2 who presents Commercial Cardboard for collection must ensure that: 

5.6.2.1 any Commercial Cardboard which is bundled is tied with 
string or nylon and not with wire, cable or similar materials; 
or 

5.6.2.2 any Commercial Cardboard which is not bundled is placed 
in another cardboard box; and 

Page 490



5 - 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE          Waste Management By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 5 – Waste Management 
 

5.6.2.3 is placed on the Footpath Area or the Road at the collection 
point designated by the Council no earlier than 3:00pm and 
no later than 6:00pm on the collection day; and 

5.6.3 must ensure that any Commercial Cardboard presented for collection 
is not placed on a Footpath Area or the Road so as to impede the 
passage of pedestrian or other traffic. 

Part 3 – Enforcement 
 
6. Interference with Waste Bins 

A person must not remove, disburse or interfere with any waste that has been placed 
on a Footpath Area or a Road. 

7. Private Thoroughfare 

The owner or occupier of a Private Thoroughfare shall keep the thoroughfare clean 
and free of refuse, rubbish and waste material. 

Part 4 - Miscellaneous 

8. Revocation 

Council’s By-law No. 5 – Waste Management, published in the Gazette on 23 August 
2018, is revoked on the day on which this by-law comes into operation. 

 
The foregoing by-law was duly made and passed at a meeting of the Council of the 
Corporation of the City of Adelaide held on the                            day of                       2024 by 
an absolute majority of the members for the time being constituting the Council, there being 
at least two thirds of the members present. 
 
 
............................................... 
[insert] 
Chief Executive Officer 
 

Page 491



CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE                               Rundle Mall By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 6 – Rundle Mall 

 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE 
 

By-law made under the Local Government Act 1999 and the City of Adelaide Act 1998 
 

RUNDLE MALL BY-LAW 2024 

 
By-law No. 6 of 2024 

 
 
For the management of Rundle Mall. 
 
Part 1 – Preliminary 
 
1. Short Title 

This by-law may be cited as the Rundle Mall By-law 2024. 

2. Commencement 

This by-law will come into operation four months after the day on which it is published 
in the Gazette in accordance with Section 249(5) of the Local Government Act 1999. 

3. Definitions 

In this by-law: 

3.1 Authorised Person has the same meaning as in the Local Government Act 
1999; 

3.2 Building includes any structure and/or fixture of any kind whether for human 
habitation or not; 

3.3 E-Cigarette means: 

3.3.1 a device that is designed to generate or release an aerosol or vapour 
for inhalation by its user in a manner similar to the inhalation of smoke 
from an ignited tobacco product; or 

3.3.2 a device of a kind resolved by the Council and notified by notice in the 
Gazette to be an E-Cigarette; 

3.4 Emergency Worker has the same meaning as in the Australian Road Rules 
and the Road Traffic (Road Rules) Ancillary and Miscellaneous Provisions 
Regulations 2014; 

3.5 Model Aircraft includes a drone; 

Page 492



2 - 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE                               Rundle Mall By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 6 – Rundle Mall 
 

3.6 Permission means the permission of the Council, or such other person as the 
Council may by resolution authorise for that purpose, given in writing prior to 
the act, event or activity to which it relates; 

3.7 Smoke means: 

3.7.1 in relation to a Tobacco Product, smoke, hold, or otherwise have 
control over, an ignited Tobacco Product; or 

3.7.2 in relation to an E-Cigarette, to inhale from, hold or otherwise have 
control over, an E-Cigarette that is in use; 

3.8 Tobacco Product has the same meaning as in the Tobacco Products 
Regulation Act 1997; 

3.9 Wheeled Recreational Device has the same meaning as in the Road Traffic 
Act 1961. 

Part 2 – Management of Rundle Mall 
 
4. Activities Requiring Permission 

A person must not without Permission in Rundle Mall or in the vicinity of Rundle Mall: 

4.1 Amplification 

use an amplifier or other device whether mechanical or electrical for the 
purpose of amplifying sound; 

4.2 Athletic and Ball Sports and Games 

4.2.1 promote, organise or take part in any athletic sport, ball sport or game; 

4.2.2 play or practice any game which is likely to cause damage to Rundle 
Mall or any fixtures or fittings thereon; 

4.3 Burials and Memorials 

4.3.1 spread the ashes of any human or animal remains; 

4.3.2 erect any memorial; 

4.4 Erection of Structures 

4.4.1 erect a fence or hoarding; 

4.4.2 erect, place, use or allow to remain: 

4.4.2.1 a ladder, step-ladder, trestle, stage, scaffolding, planter box, 
crate or any item used as a platform; or 

4.4.2.2 any other equipment, appliance, object or material likely to 
cause an obstruction or danger to any person; 

Page 493

http://www.legislation.sa.gov.au/index.aspx?action=legref&type=act&legtitle=Road%20Traffic%20Act%201961


3 - 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE                               Rundle Mall By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 6 – Rundle Mall 
 

4.4.3 park, place, use or allow to remain a mobile crane, scissor lift, elevated 
platform vehicle or cherry picker; 

4.5 Fireworks 

use, discharge or explode any fireworks; 

4.6 Model Aircraft and Cars 

fly or operate a Model Aircraft or model/remote control car; 

4.7 Organised Ceremonies and Events etc 

hold, conduct or participate in a funeral, marriage ceremony, picnic, or other 
like event or entertainment; 

4.8 Overhanging Articles 

suspend or hang any article or thing from any Building, verandah, pergola, post 
or other structure; 

4.9 Rubbish and Rubbish Dumps 

remove, disperse or interfere with any rubbish (including bottles, newspapers, 
cans, containers or packaging etc) that has been discarded in a Council bin; 

4.10 Touting for Business 

tout for business. 

5. Prohibited Activities 

A person must not in Rundle Mall or in the vicinity of Rundle Mall: 

5.1 Birds 

feed any bird; 

5.2 Climbing 

climb on or over any fixture, fitting, plant, object or building;  

5.3 Damaging or Defacing Property 

5.3.1 deface, damage, paint, write, cut names or make marks on any tree, 
rock, gate, fence, building, sign or other property of the Council; 

5.3.2 attach any object, including an animal on a leash or a bike to any tree, 
gate, fence or other fixture other than a designated bicycle rack; 

5.4 Glass 

wilfully break any glass, china or other brittle material; 

Page 494



4 - 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE                               Rundle Mall By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 6 – Rundle Mall 
 

5.5 Interference with Permitted Use 

interrupt, disrupt or interfere with any other person’s use of the Rundle Mall 
which is permitted or for which Permission has been granted; 

5.6 Missiles 

throw, roll or discharge any stone, substance or missile to the danger of any 
person, property or animal; 

5.7 Public Conveniences 

in any public convenience: 
 
5.7.1 smoke tobacco or any other substance; 

5.7.2 deposit anything in a pan, urinal or drain which is likely to cause a 
blockage; 

5.7.3 use it for a purpose for which it was not designed or constructed; 

5.7.4 subject to clause 5.7.5, enter the public convenience unless the 
person is of the gender indicated in writing or on a sign located on the 
public convenience; 

5.7.5 clause 5.7.4 does not apply – 

5.7.5.1 in a genuine emergency; or 

5.7.5.2 to a vulnerable person being assisted by the vulnerable 
person’s caregiver, parent or guardian; or 

5.7.5.3 to a person that is intersex, transgender or gender diverse; 
or 

5.7.5.4 to a person with a disability; or 

5.7.5.5 to a person assisting a person with a disability.  

5.8 Smoking 

Smoke in any area to which the Council has resolved this subparagraph shall 
apply; 

5.9 Wheeled Recreational Devices 

use a Wheeled Recreational Device. 

Page 495



5 - 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE                               Rundle Mall By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 6 – Rundle Mall 
 

6. Removal of Obstructions 

If an object is obstructing any part of Rundle Mall then the Council may remove the 
object provided that this paragraph does not apply to any object that has been placed 
in Rundle Mall with the Permission of the Council or by some other lawful authority. 

Part 3 – Miscellaneous 
 
7. Permits 

Despite the Council’s Permits and Penalties By-law 2024, where this by-law states that 
a person needs a ‘permit’ or ‘Permission’ to do a specified thing, then the following 
provisions apply: 

7.1 The permit must be in writing. 

7.2 The Council may: 

7.2.1 attach conditions to the permit; 

7.2.2 change or revoke a condition, by notice in writing; or 

7.2.3 add new conditions, by notice in writing. 

7.3 A person who holds a permit must comply with every condition attached to it. 
Failure to do so constitutes a breach of this by-law. 

7.4 The Council may revoke a permit, by notice in writing, if: 

7.4.1 the holder of the permit fails to comply with a condition attached to it; 
or 

7.4.2 the permit is of a continuing nature, and the Council has reasonable 
grounds for revoking it. 

7.5 The Council may, by resolution, fix, vary or revoke fees or charges for the 
granting of a permit to do a specified thing. 

7.6 For the avoidance of doubt, where Permission is required under this by-law, that 
Permission is granted under this paragraph 7 and the Council’s Permits and 
Penalties By-law 2024 shall not apply for the purposes of that Permission. 

8. Offences and Penalties  

8.1 Despite the Council’s Permits and Penalties By-law 2024: 

8.1.1 A person who contravenes, or fails to comply with any by-law of the 
Council is guilty of an offence and is liable to a maximum penalty being 
the maximum penalty referred to in the City of Adelaide Act 1998, which 
may be fixed for offences against a by-law; 

8.1.2 A person who is found guilty of an offence against any by-law of the 
Council in respect of a continuing act or omission is liable, in addition to 
the penalty otherwise applicable, to a further penalty being the 

Page 496



6 - 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE                               Rundle Mall By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 6 – Rundle Mall 
 

maximum amount referred to in the Local Government Act 1999 which 
may be fixed for offences of a continuing nature against a by-law. 

8.2 For the avoidance of doubt, where a penalty is imposed for an offence against 
this by-law, that penalty is imposed under this paragraph 8 and the Council’s 
Permits and Penalties By-law 2024 shall not apply for the purposes of that 
penalty. 

9. Application of Paragraphs 

Paragraph 5.8 of this by-law shall apply only in such part or parts of the area of the 
Council as the Council may by resolution determine in accordance with Section 
246(3)(e) of the Local Government Act 1999. 

10. Exemptions 

The restrictions in this by-law do not apply to any police officer, emergency worker, 
Council Officer or employee of the Council acting in the course and within the scope 
of that person’s normal duties, or to a contractor while performing work for the 
Council. 

11. Revocation 

Council’s By-law No. 6 – Rundle Mall, published in the Gazette on 23 August 2018, is 
revoked on the day on which this by-law comes into operation. 

 
The foregoing by-law was duly made and passed at a meeting of the Council of the 
Corporation of the City of Adelaide held on the                      day of                       2024 by an 
absolute majority of the members for the time being constituting the Council, there being at 
least two thirds of the members present. 
 
 
............................................... 
[insert] 
Chief Executive Officer 
 

Page 497



CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE               Dogs By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 7 – Dogs  

 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE 
 

By-law made under the Local Government Act 1999 and the Dog and Cat Management Act 1995 
 

DOGS BY-LAW 2024 
 

By-law No. 7 of 2024 
 

 

To limit the number of dogs that can be kept on premises and to provide for the control and 
management of dogs in the Councils area. 
 
Part 1 – Preliminary 
 
1. Short Title 

This by-law may be cited as the Dogs By-law 2024. 

2. Commencement 

This by-law will come into operation four months after the day on which it is published 
in the Gazette in accordance with Section 249(5) of the Local Government Act 1999. 

3. Definitions 

In this by-law: 

3.1 Approved Kennel Establishment means a building, structure, premises or 
area approved by the relevant authority pursuant to the Planning, Development 
and Infrastructure Act 2016 or otherwise lawfully established for the keeping of 
Dogs on a temporary or permanent basis; 

3.2 Assistance Dog has the same meaning as in the Dog and Cat Management 
Act 1995; 

3.3 Control, in relation to a Dog, includes the person having ownership, 
possession or charge of, or authority over, the Dog; 

3.4 Dangerous Dog has the same meaning as in the Dog and Cat Management 
Act 1995; 

3.5 Dog means an animal of the species canis familiaris that is over three months 
of age or has lost its juvenile canines, but does not include a dingo or cross of a 
dingo;  

3.6 Effective Control means a person exercising effective control of a Dog either: 

3.6.1 by means of a physical restraint; 

Page 498



2 - 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE               Dogs By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 7 – Dogs  
 

3.6.2 by command, the Dog being in close proximity to the person, and the 
person being able to see the Dog at all times; 

3.7 Local Government Land has the same meaning as in the Local Government 
Act 1999; 

3.8 Park has the same meaning as in the Dog and Cat Management Act 1995; 

3.9 Playspace means any enclosed area in which there is equipment, apparatus or 
other installed devices for the purpose of children’s play, or within 5 metres of 
such devices if there is no enclosed area; 

3.10 Premises includes land and a part of any premises or land whether used or 
occupied for domestic or nondomestic purposes except an Approved Kennel 
Establishment; 

3.11 Prescribed Breed has the same meaning as in the Dog and Cat Management 
Act 1995;  

3.12 Public Place has the same meaning as in the Dog and Cat Management Act 
1995; 

3.13 Small Dwelling means a self-contained dwelling commonly known as an 
apartment, flat, service flat, home unit or the like. 

Part 2 – Dog Management and Control 
 
4. Limit on Dog Numbers 

A person must not, without the Council’s permission, keep: 

4.1 more than one Dog in a Small Dwelling; 

4.2 more than two Dogs on any Premises other than a Small Dwelling. 

5. Exemptions 

The limits set out in paragraph 4 of this by-law do not apply: 

5.1 to an Approved Kennel Establishment operating in accordance with all required 
approvals and consents; or  

5.2 to any business involving Dogs which is registered in accordance with the Dog 
and Cat Management Act 1995; or 

5.3 if the Council has exempted any Premises from compliance with paragraph 4 of 
this by-law by the granting of an exemption. 

6. Dog Free Areas 

6.1 A person must not allow a Dog in that person’s Control to be in, or remain in a 
Dog Free Area. 

6.2 For the purposes of this paragraph, a Dog Free Area is any: 

Page 499



3 - 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE               Dogs By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 7 – Dogs  
 

6.2.1 Local Government Land; or 

6.2.2 Public Place, 

to which the Council has resolved this paragraph applies. 

6.3 The restrictions in subparagraph 6.1 do not apply to any Assistance Dog. 

7. Dogs on Leashes 

7.1 A person must not allow a Dog under that person’s Control to be in, or remain 
in, a Dog on Leash Area unless the Dog is secured by a strong leash not 
exceeding two metres in length which is either: 

7.1.1 tethered securely to a fixed object capable of securing the Dog; or  

7.1.2 held by a person capable of controlling the Dog and preventing it from 
being a nuisance or a danger to other persons. 

7.2 For the purposes of this paragraph, a Dog on Leash Area is any: 

7.2.1 Local Government Land or Public Place to which the Council has 
resolved that this paragraph applies;  

7.2.2 Park when organised sport is being played; or 

7.2.3 enclosed Playspace or if a Playspace is not enclosed land within five 
metres of Playspace equipment. 

8. Dog Exercise Areas 

8.1 Subject to paragraphs 6, 7 and 8.4, a person may enter any Dog Exercise Area 
for the purpose of exercising a Dog under his or her control. 

8.2 For the purposes of this paragraph, a Dog Exercise Area is any: 

8.2.1 Park; or 

8.2.2 Local Government Land that the Council has resolved is a Dog 
Exercise Area. 

8.3 A person must ensure that any Dog under their control remains under Effective 
Control while the Dog is in a Dog Exercise Area. 

8.4 A person must not cause, suffer or permit any Dog of a Prescribed Breed or a 
Dangerous Dog under that person’s control, charge or authority to be or remain 
in a Dog Exercise Area. 

Part 3 – Miscellaneous 
 
9. Application of Paragraphs 

9.1 The Council may from time to time, by resolution, identify Local Government 
Land as a Dog Exercise Area in accordance with subparagraph 8.2.2 of this by-
law. 

Page 500



4 - 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE               Dogs By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 7 – Dogs  
 

9.2 Paragraphs 6 and 7.2.1 of this by-law shall apply only in such portion or 
portions of the Councils area as the Council may by resolution direct from time 
to time in accordance with Section 246(3)(e) of the Local Government Act 
1999. 

9.3 Where the Council makes a resolution under either of subparagraphs 9.1 or 
9.2, the Council’s Chief Executive Officer must ensure that: 

9.3.1 the area is denoted by signs erected by the Council; and  

9.3.2 information is provided to the public on the Council’s website and in 
any other manner determined by the Council’s Chief Executive Officer. 

10. Revocation 

Council’s By-law No. 7 – Dogs, published in the Gazette on 23 August 2018, is 
revoked on the day on which this by-law comes into operation. 
 

The foregoing by-law was duly made and passed at a meeting of the Council of the 
Corporation of the City of Adelaide held on the                         day of                       2024 by 
an absolute majority of the members for the time being constituting the Council, there being 
at least two thirds of the members present. 
 
 
............................................... 
[insert] 
Chief Executive Officer 
 

Page 501



CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE                Cats By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 8 - Cats 

 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE 
 

By-law made under the Local Government Act 1999 and the Dog and Cat Management Act 1995 
 

CATS BY-LAW 2024 
 

By-law No. 8 of 2024 
 

To provide for the control and management of cats in the Council’s area.  
 
Part 1 – Preliminary 
 
1. Short Title 

This by-law may be cited as the Cats By-law 2024. 

2. Commencement 

This by-law will come into operation four months after the day on which it is published 
in the Gazette in accordance with Section 249(5) of the Local Government Act 1999. 

3. Definitions 

In this by-law: 

3.1 Approved Kennel Establishment means a building, structure, premises or 
area approved by the relevant authority pursuant to the Planning, Development 
and Infrastructure Act 2016, or otherwise lawfully established for the keeping of 
cats on a temporary or permanent basis; 

3.2 Cat has the same meaning as in the Dog and Cat Management Act 1995; 

3.3 Keep includes the provision of food or shelter;  

3.4 Premises includes land and a part of any premises or land whether used or 
occupied for domestic or nondomestic purposes except an Approved Kennel 
Establishment. 

Part 2 – Cat Management and Control 
 
4. Limit on Cat Numbers 

4.1 A person must not on any Premises, without the Council’s permission, keep 
more than two Cats over three months in age. 

4.2 The limit in subparagraph 4.1 of this by-law does not apply: 

4.2.1 to an Approved Kennel Establishment; or 

Page 502



2 - 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE                Cats By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 8 - Cats 

4.2.2 to pet shops approved by the relevant authority pursuant to the 
Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act 2016 or otherwise 
lawfully established; or 

4.2.3 to a veterinary practice approved by the relevant authority pursuant to 
the Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act 2016, or otherwise 
lawfully established; or 

4.2.4 to premises of a person who carries on a business as a cat breeder 
provided that the person is lawfully operating such business in 
accordance with all relevant approvals and any conditions reasonably 
imposed by the Council; or 

4.2.5 where: 

4.2.5.1 the Council is satisfied that no insanitary condition is being 
caused by Cats being kept on the Premises; and 

4.2.5.2 the Council is satisfied that no nuisance is being caused to 
any neighbour by reason of odour from cat urine or by 
reason of any of the Cats wandering from the Premises; and 

4.2.5.3 all Cats over the age of three months (or such later age as is 
considered appropriate and advised in writing by a 
veterinary surgeon) kept on the Premises are desexed. 

5. Notices 

5.1 The Council may serve a notice on the occupier of Premises or the owner of a 
cat requiring specific action to be taken to ensure compliance with this by-law. 

5.2 The person to whom a notice is given pursuant to this by-law must comply with 
the requirements of the notice.  

5.3 If the person to whom a notice is given fails to comply with the requirements of 
the notice, the Council may then carry out the requirements of the notice and 
recover its costs from that person. 

Part 3 – Miscellaneous 

6. Revocation 

Council’s By-law No. 8 – Cats, published in the Gazette on 23 August 2018, is revoked 
on the day on which this by-law comes into operation. 

 
The foregoing by-law was duly made and passed at a meeting of the Council of the 
Corporation of the City of Adelaide held on the                        day of                       2024 by 
an absolute majority of the members for the time being constituting the Council, there being 
at least two thirds of the members present. 
 
 
............................................... 
[insert] 
Chief Executive Officer 

Page 503



CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE      Lodging Houses By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 9 – Lodging Houses 

 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE 
 

By-law made under the Local Government Act 1999 
 

LODGING HOUSES BY-LAW 2024 
 

By-law No. 9 of 2024 
 

 
For the controlling, licensing, inspecting and regulating of lodging houses. 
 
Part 1 - Preliminary 
 
1. Short title 

This by-law may be cited as the Lodging Houses By-law 2024. 
 
2. Commencement 

This by-law will come into operation four months after the day on which it is published 
in the Gazette in accordance with Section 249(5) of the Local Government Act 1999. 

 
3. Definitions 

3.1 Authorised Person means a person appointed by Council as an authorised 
person or officer under the Local Government Act 1999, the Planning, 
Development and Infrastructure Act 2016 or the South Australian Public Health 
Act 2011; 

3.2 Building has the same meaning as in the Planning, Development and 
Infrastructure Act 2016; 

3.3 Licence means a licence issued under this by-law;  

3.4 Lodging House includes any building or part thereof of a building providing 
accommodation where the occupants share facilities (toilets, ablutions and 
kitchens) for individual use, but shall not include any building which comes 
within the definition of unit nor any motel, hotel, health care facility or any 
premises licenced under the Supported Residential Facilities Act 1992; 

3.5 Long Term Accommodation means where lodgings are provided for ten or 
more consecutive days; 

3.6 Short Term Accommodation means where lodgings are provided for less 
than ten consecutive days;  

3.7 Proprietor in relation to a Lodging House means the owner of the undertaking 
carried on at the Lodging House; 

Page 504



- 2 - 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE      Lodging Houses By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 9 – Lodging Houses 
 

3.8 Unit includes any self-contained suite of rooms designed, intended or adopted, 
for separate occupation including bathroom and sanitary conveniences 
provided for that occupation. 

4. Licences 

4.1 A person must not let any building for lodgings or for the purpose of board or 
lodging without a Licence.  

4.2 A Licence may be issued at the discretion of the Council, or such other person 
authorised by resolution of the Council for that purpose, and entitles the holder 
to conduct the business of a Lodging House at the Building specified in the 
Licence and on the conditions set out in the Licence. 

5. Licence Application Requirements 

5.1 Any person who wishes to operate a Lodging House, or renew the Licence of 
an existing Lodging House, must make application to the Council. 

5.2 A fire safety survey of the Lodging House shall be undertaken:  

5.2.1 prior to the issuing of a Licence pursuant to this by-law; and 

5.2.2 each year that the Lodging House is Licensed under this by-law, 

in order to determine the current fire safety standard of the Lodging House. 

5.3 Subject to subparagraph 5.5, every application for renewal of a Licence of a 
Lodging House must, subject to any determination to the contrary by the 
Council, or such other person as the Council may authorise by resolution for 
that purpose, be delivered to the Council on or before 30 September in each 
year.  

5.4 Subject to subparagraph 5.5, a Lodging House Licence expires on 31 October 
in each year.  

5.5 The Council, or such other person as the Council may authorise by resolution 
for that purpose, may, if in its discretion it sees fit, renew a Licence for a period 
not exceeding two years. 

6. Fees 

A person licensed under this by-law must pay to the Council an annual Licence fee 
fixed by the Council, payable upon the granting of an application for Licence or 
renewal of existing Licence. 

7. Licence Conditions, Revocation and Suspension 

7.1 A Lodging House Licence is subject to the conditions set out in the Licence and 
as the Council, or such other person authorised by resolution of the Council for 
that purpose, deems appropriate. 

7.2 Conditions may be imposed, varied or deleted from such Licence by the 
Council, or such other person authorised by resolution of the Council for that 
purpose, at any time by notice in writing to the Licence holder. 

Page 505



- 3 - 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE      Lodging Houses By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 9 – Lodging Houses 
 

7.3 A Licence holder must at all times comply with Licence conditions. 

7.4 The Council, or such other person authorised by resolution of the Council for 
that purpose, may at any time, by notice in writing, revoke or suspend a 
Licence:  

7.4.1 if the Council considers that the building in respect of which the 
Licence holder is licensed is, by reason of its condition, unsuitable to 
continue to be used as a Lodging House including, but not limited to 
the fire safety of the premises; 

7.4.2 if the Council has reasonable cause to believe that the Licence holder 
has committed an offence against this by-law, the Local Government 
Act 1999, the South Australian Public Health Act 2011, the Food Act 
2001, the Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act 2016 or the 
Supported Residential Facilities Act 1992;  

7.4.3 if the Council considers that the Licence holder is unsuitable to 
continue as the proprietor of the Lodging House; 

7.4.4 if the Licence holder breaches a condition of the Licence; or 

7.4.5 for any other reason the Council may deem necessary. 

8. Alterations 

A person must not, without the permission of the Council or an Authorised Person: 

8.1 add to or alter any Lodging House; or  

8.2 use any part of a Lodging House in any other manner contrary to its permitted 
use or the terms of the Licence.  

9. Inspections 

9.1 An Authorised Person may at any reasonable time enter and inspect a Lodging 
House for the purposes of undertaking an inspection of the Lodging House. 

9.2 The proprietor of a Lodging House or any person in a Lodging House must not 
hinder or obstruct any Authorised Person either alone or in the company of 
another person for the purposes of making an inspection of a Lodging House. 

9.3 Every lodger must allow access to their room to any Authorised Person of the 
Council for the purposes of inspecting the room. 

Part 2 – Miscellaneous 

10. Revocation 

Council’s By-law No.9 – Lodging Houses, published in the Gazette on 23 August 2018, 
is revoked on the day on which this by-law comes into operation. 

 
 

Page 506



- 4 - 
 

CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ADELAIDE      Lodging Houses By-law 2024 

 

By-law No 9 – Lodging Houses 
 

The foregoing by-law was duly made and passed at a meeting of the Council of the 
Corporation of the City of Adelaide held on the                             day of                       2024 
by an absolute majority of the members for the time being constituting the Council, there 
being at least two thirds of the members present. 
 
 
............................................... 
[insert] 
Chief Executive Officer 
 

Page 507



City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 4 June 2024

 

Tuesday, 4 June 2024 
City Planning, Development 
and Business Affairs 
Committee 

Encroachment Policy 2024 for 
Endorsement 
 

Strategic Alignment - Our Places 
Program Contact:  
Sarah Gilmour, Associate 
Director Park Lands, Policy & 
Sustainability 

Public Approving Officer:  
Ilia Houridis, Director City 
Shaping 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The purpose of this report is to provide Council with a further opportunity to discuss the draft Encroachment Policy 
as resolved at the Council meeting on 14 May 2024. The report and associated Policy have been revised based on 
feedback at the City Planning Development and Business Affairs Committee on 7 May 2024, and seeks adoption of 
the Encroachment Policy contained in Attachment A.  

On 14 November 2023 Council resolved to endorse amendments to the Encroachment Policy, for the purposes of 
public consultation (Link 1). Public consultation commenced on 29 January 2024 and closed on 26 February 2024. 
A total of eight submissions were received from key stakeholders and the community. 

The Encroachment Policy (the Policy) provides criteria for managing different forms of encroachments in the public 
realm to ensure they contribute positively to public safety and amenity. The Policy provides the basis for the City of 
Adelaide’s assessment and decision-making on encroachments as land custodian of public roads. Encroachments 
over parks, reserves or private land are not covered by the Policy.  

The Policy has been reviewed in the context of the recently adopted National Heritage Management Plan and 
newer forms of encroachment such as ground anchors.  

The proposed Policy amendments seek to improve the effectiveness and provide further clarity regarding 
acceptable and unacceptable encroachments into the public realm including clearer guidance on where balconies 
are permitted in the city as well as maintenance requirements. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

The following recommendation will be presented to Council on 11 June 2024 for consideration 

THAT THE CITY PLANNING, DEVELOPMENT AND BUSINESS AFFAIRS COMMITTEE RECOMMENDS TO 
COUNCIL 

THAT COUNCIL 

1. Notes the Encroachment Policy Consultation Summary contained in Attachment A to Item 7.5 on the 
Agenda for the meeting of the City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee held on 4 
June 2024. 

2. Adopts the Encroachment Policy contained in Attachment B to Item 7.5 on the Agenda for the meeting of 
City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee held on 4 June 2024 and notes that this will 
replace the Encroachment Policy dated 11 February 2020. 

3. Authorises the Acting Chief Executive to make minor typographical, syntactical and technical 
amendments to the document contained in Attachment B to Item 7.5 on the Agenda for the meeting of the 
Agenda for the meeting of the City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee held on 
4 June 2024, for the purposes of finalising the documents. 

4. Requests the Administration work with State Government Agency, Planning and Land Use Services, to 
review the design of apartment buildings including the provision of balconies as raised by Planning and 
Land Use Services in their submission summarised in Attachment A to Item 7.5 on the Agenda for the 
meeting of City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee held on 4 June 2024. 

 

Page 508

Agenda Item 7.5

https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/documents/g830/Public%20reports%20pack%2007th-Nov-2023%2019.00%20City%20Planning%20Development%20and%20Business%20Affairs%20Committee.pdf?T=10


 

City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 4 June 2024

IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS 
City of Adelaide 2024-
2028 
Strategic Plan 

Strategic Alignment – Our Places  
Encourage bold, interesting and purposeful development that supports the changing 
needs of our community and city. 

Policy 

This report proposes amendments to Council’s Encroachment Policy dated 
11 February 2020.  
The Encroachment Policy is intended to support a public realm that is welcoming and 
user friendly, cultivating a positive relationship between the public and private realms 
and strengthening the character and identity of the capital city. 
The draft Encroachment Policy for consultation aligns with:  
  Temporary Use of Public Space Policy  
  Objects on Footpaths Guidelines  
  Outdoor Dining Guidelines  
  Lighting Policy and Operating Guideline  
  Undergrounding (Overhead Electricity and Telecommunication Cables) Policy  
  Cabling and Communication Policy  
  City Works Operating Guidelines  
  National Heritage Listing of the Adelaide Park Lands and City Layout 
  Adelaide Event Guidelines  
  Adelaide Park Lands Event Guidelines 
  Adelaide Park Lands Events Policy. 

Consultation 
Community consultation on amendments to the Encroachment Policy opened on 29 
January 2024 and closed on 26 February 2024 and was undertaken in accordance 
with Council’s Community Consultation Policy. 

Resource Not as a result of this report 

Risk / Legal / 
Legislative 

Amendments to the Encroachment Policy seek to provide policy currency, address risk 
and protect Council against future liability. The review has had regard to relevant 
legislation, including:  
  Planning and Design Code  
  Local Government Act, 1999 (SA)  
  Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act, 2016 (SA)  
  Encroachments Act, 1944 (SA) 

Opportunities 
The Policy review has identified opportunities to clarify policy as it relates to 
unacceptable encroachments, including to enable adaptive reuse, and as it relates to 
signage and ground anchors. 

23/24 Budget 
Allocation The review was undertaken within existing resources. 

Proposed 24/25 
Budget allocation Not as a result of this report 

Life of Project, Service, 
Initiative or 
(Expectancy of) Asset 

The Encroachment Policy will be used for the ongoing assessment and management 
of encroachments in the public realm. 

23/24 Budget 
Reconsideration  
(if applicable) 

Not as a result of this report 

Ongoing Costs (eg 
maintenance cost) 

The ongoing administration, monitoring and review of the Policy will be undertaken 
with existing resources. 

Other Funding 
Sources Not as a result of this report 

 

Page 509



 

City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 4 June 2024

 

DISCUSSION 
Background 
1. The purpose of this report is to note consultation feedback on the draft Encroachment Policy and to seek 

adoption of the attached Encroachment Policy. 

2. On 14 November 2023 Council resolved to endorse amendments to the Encroachment Policy, for the 
purposes of public consultation (Link 1).  

3. The draft Encroachment Policy (the Policy) for consultation proposed to: 

3.1. Update exceptions to Unacceptable Encroachments which relate to heritage-listed properties and 
adaptive reuse buildings where no alternative access options are available. 

3.2. Allow for temporary ground anchors to support construction. 

3.3. Reference new legislation and Council policies. 

3.4. Reinforce the importance of maintaining the built form edge as an attribute of the National Heritage 
listing of the Adelaide Park Lands and City Layout 

3.5. Ensure canopy columns or pillars are not fixed to footpaths. 

3.6. Ensure encroachments are a minimum of 1 metre away from a trunk and/or major limb of a street tree. 

3.7. Ensure CCTVs do not extend beyond the fascia line of a verandah or balcony. 

3.8. Include criteria for above awning projecting signage. 

4. The Policy provides criteria for managing different forms of encroachments in the public realm to ensure they 
contribute positively to public safety and amenity. The Policy provides the basis for the City of Adelaide’s 
assessment and decision-making on encroachments as land custodian of public roads. Encroachments over 
parks, reserves or private land are not covered by the Policy.  

5. The Policy has been reviewed in the context of the recently adopted National Heritage Management Plan 
and newer forms of encroachment such as ground anchors.  

6. The proposed Policy amendments seek to improve the effectiveness and provide further clarity regarding 
acceptable and unacceptable encroachments into the public realm.  

7. The Policy has been updated to provide clearer guidance on where balconies are permitted in the city and to 
include a new statement in the Policy regarding maintenance, breaches and enforcement. Changes made to 
the draft Policy following the Council meeting on 14 May 2024 are shown in Attachment B in red text with 
yellow highlighting. 

Public Consultation  
8. Public consultation opened on 29 January 2024 and closed on 26 February 2024 and involved: 

8.1. Public notice in the Advertiser.  

8.2. Letter to key stakeholders including: 

8.2.1. Department for Infrastructure and Transport 

8.2.2. Urban Development Institute of Australia  

8.2.3. Planning and Land Use Services division of the Department for Trade and Investment (PLUS) 

8.2.4. Urban Development Institute of Australia SA 

8.2.5. Property Council of Australia SA  

8.2.6. The Office for Design and Architecture 

8.2.7. Australian Institute of Architects. 

8.3. Your Say Adelaide survey.  

8.4. Information sheets and the Policy available online and at the Customer Centre, Libraries and 
Community Centres.  

8.5. Open invitation to meet with a member of Administration to discuss the content of the Policy. 

8.6. Internal consultation process. 

Page 510

https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/documents/g830/Public%20reports%20pack%2007th-Nov-2023%2019.00%20City%20Planning%20Development%20and%20Business%20Affairs%20Committee.pdf?T=10


 

City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 4 June 2024

9. A consultation summary report is provided in Attachment A, in summary: 

9.1. A total of eight submissions were received from key stakeholders and the community. 

9.2. Three (3) formal submissions were received from the key stakeholders listed in 7.2, they are: 

9.2.1. Department for Infrastructure and Transport 

9.2.2. The Office for Design and Architecture  

9.2.3. PLUS (late submission). 

9.3. A meeting was held with PLUS during the consultation period and advice was received of an intention 
to develop design guidelines for apartments. A late formal submission dated 22 April 2024 was 
received from PLUS that: 

9.3.1. Notes the State Planning Commission intends to progress a Code Amendment in 2024 to 
review design guidance for apartment-type accommodation. 

9.3.2. Recognises the alignment between the Policy and the State Planning Commission’s initiative to 
provide appropriate flexibility in building design. 

9.3.3. Outlines dialogue has commenced between PLUS and Administration with the aim of aligning, 
to the extent possible, the Code Amendment and the Policy, and encourages Council to enable 
this collaboration to continue. 

9.4. Five (5) submissions were received from community members via Your Say Adelaide.  

9.5. Key issues raised during public consultation included: 

9.5.1. Ensuring encroachments do not impact the safe operation of the Council road network. 

9.5.2. Ensuring encroachments do not impact State Government transport infrastructure, including 
tram, train and bus infrastructure such as stops, stations, catenary wires, poles and other similar 
facilities. 

9.5.3. Encroachments for the adaptive reuse of heritage buildings should be limited. 

9.5.4. Measurement standards should be consistent with performance criteria outlined in recognised 
standards or guidelines such as the Austroads Guide to Road Design. 

10. Amendments to the Policy following consultation are shown in red in Attachment B (amendments made 
prior to consultation are shown in blue), and are summarised as follows: 

10.1. The Policy glossary is updated to define ‘effective footpath clear width’ as: 

The unobstructed walking and/or wheeling space excluding street trees, street signs and street 
furniture. 

10.2. Clarify when exceptions for adaptive reuse of heritage listed properties will be considered, that is 
where no alternative access options are available and other means would result in the loss of original 
building fabric. 

10.3. Insert a requirement for under footpath service connections to private property to be via the shortest 
route available. 

10.4. Insert a requirement that an accepted encroachment must not hinder, damage or interfere with 
existing or future City of Adelaide or State Government infrastructure. 

10.5. Amend requirements for verandah, awnings and pergolas such that encroachments: 

10.5.1. Are not fixed to canopy columns or pillars to pavements. 

10.5.2. Do not extend beyond the traditional verandah post alignment. 

10.5.3. Increase the effective footpath clear width from 1.8 metres to 2 metres wide and from 1.8 
metres to 2.4 metres in high pedestrian areas. 

10.6. Amend requirements for balconies to ensure:  

10.6.1. First floor balconies are not enclosed, and do not extend more than 5 metres from the 
boundary line and beyond the prevailing traditional verandah post alignment. 

10.6.2. Above first floor balcony encroachments are not located along Frome Road. 

  

Page 511



 

City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee – Agenda - Tuesday, 4 June 2024

Council resolution on 14 May 2024 
11. Council has resolved on 14 May 2024 that the Encroachment Policy be referred to the City Planning, 

Development and Business Affairs Committee for further discussion.   

Next Steps 
12. Pending decision by Council, the amended Policy (Attachment B) will be published to the City of Adelaide 

website and take effect from the date of Council endorsement.   

12.1. All applications received from the date of adoption will be assessed against the new Policy. 

12.2. Encroachments approved under the previous Policy will be allowed to remain provided the permit 
holder continues to meet the conditions of the permit. 

 

DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
Link 1 – Agenda City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee, Tuesday, 7 November 2023 
 

 

ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A – Consultation Summary Report – Draft Encroachment Policy 2024  

Attachment B – Encroachment Policy 2024 

 

- END OF REPORT –

Page 512

https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/documents/g830/Public%20reports%20pack%2007th-Nov-2023%2019.00%20City%20Planning%20Development%20and%20Business%20Affairs%20Committee.pdf?T=10


1 

 
 
 

REVIEW OF ENCROACHMENT POLICY 
 

SUMMARY OF SUBMISSIONS AND RESPONSE 
 

APRIL 2024 

P
age 513

A
ttachm

ent A



2 

Background 

The City of Adelaide’s Encroachment Policy was previously 
amended in February 2020. 
As part of the current review, a series of changes are proposed that 
will provide the basis for the City of Adelaide to manage 
encroachments on, over and under public land.   
The Encroachment Policy supports a public realm that is welcoming 
and user friendly, cultivating a positive relationship between the 
public and private realms and strengthening the character and 
identity of our Nationally listed city. 
The goals and methodology of engagement were: 

  Inform the community about the proposed changes to the 
Encroachment Policy. 

  Provide an opportunity for community and key stakeholders to 
provide feedback on the draft revised Policy through Your Say 
Adelaide and written submissions. 
 

Public Consultation  
The consultation opened on 29 January 2024 to 26 February 2024.  
Submissions were invited from the community, and external 
stakeholders, including the following State Government agencies 
and industry associations: 

  Department for Infrastructure and Transport 
  Urban Development Institute of Australia  
  Planning and Land Use Services  
  Urban Development Institute of Australia SA 
  Property Council of Australia SA  
  The Office for Design and Architecture 
  Australian Institute of Architect 

Submissions 

A total of 8 submissions were received. A high-level summary of 
written submissions and Administration’s response is provided in 
Table 1 below. Feedback was received from:  

  Department for Infrastructure and Transport 
  Office for Design and Architecture 
  Planning and Land Use Services (PLUS) 
  Five (5) Your Say submissions. 

YourSay Activity 

Online engagement was undertaken through YourSay and 
promoted through various City of Adelaide social media and online 
platforms. The engagement response was as follows: 

  121 ‘Aware’ visitors: These are unique visitors, which could be 
individuals or individuals visiting on behalf of organisations. 
There were 144 visits to the Your Say Adelaide page, which 
means some people visited your page more than once. 

  45 ‘Informed’ visitors These are visitors that explored the 
available consultation materials more closely to learn more 
about your project e.g. viewed the draft Encroachment Policy, 
FAQs. etc. 

  5 ‘Engaged’ visitors/participants: These are people who have 
submitted feedback through the online survey. 

P
age 514



3 

Table 1 – High-level summary of written submissions and Administration’s response 

 Stakeholder Summary of Submission Administrative Response 

State Government   

1 Office for Design 
and Architecture   

Support the proposed amendments to the 
Encroachment Policy. 

Noted. General comment that does not request a change to the 
Encroachment Policy. 

Supportive of Council’s approach to the Encroachment 
Policy that seeks to ensure encroachments do not 
impact on the safe operation of Council’s road network. 

Noted. General comment that does not request a change to the 
Encroachment Policy. 

Recommend consideration be given to ensuring that 
encroachments do not impact on existing and future 
State Transport Infrastructure, including tram, train and 
bus infrastructure such as stops, stations, catenary 
wires, poles and other similar facilities.  

To ensure encroachments do not impact on existing and future 
local and State infrastructure the following provision has been 
included in the Encroachment Policy and applies to all forms of 
encroachments: 

They do not hinder, damage or interfere with existing or 
future City of Adelaide or State Government infrastructure 

2 Department for 
Infrastructure and 
Transport  

Recommend where encroachments may impact on 
infrastructure facilities, the Department is given the 
opportunity to provide comment. This will ensure that 
encroachments do not detrimentally impact on the safe 
and effective operation of State transport Infrastructure 
and services. 

Noted. Although there are not any formal mechanisms under the 
Planning Development and Infrastructure Act 2016 or the Local 
Government Act 1999 to notify the Department for Infrastructure 
and Transport of encroachment proposals that could potentially 
impact on infrastructure, it is common practice for the 
Development Assessment Team within the City of Adelaide to 
inform the Department. 

Welcomes changes to update terminology and 
reference to the Encroachment Policy to reference the 
Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act 2016 
(the Act) and the Planning and Design Code (the 
Code). 

Noted. Terminology is updated. 3 Planning & Land 
Use Services 
(PLUS) 

Note that the Encroachment Policy makes allowance 
for the encroachment of balconies in specific 
circumstances. Allowances of this nature are important 
to provide additional flexibility in builfing design to 
respond to site context and achieve a balanced design 

Noted. The Encroachment Policy allows for encroachment of 
balconies in specific circumstances. 

P
age 515



4 

 Stakeholder Summary of Submission Administrative Response 

outcome. Flexibility of this nature can contribute to the 
viability of development. 

Encourage council to strive to identify appropriate 
allowances for encroachments in light of the current 
housing crisis, to aid the provision of housing and 
accommodation whilst acknowledging the National 
Heritage values of the Adelaide City Layout. 

Noted. Section 4.2.6 has identified appropriate allowances for 
balcony encroachments is provided in certain instances. This is 
subject to further discussion with PLUS through an intention for 
a State-led Code Amendment into apartment design. 

I note that a new Code Amendment is intended to be 
progressed by the State Planning Commission in 2024 
to review policy in the Code to, amongst other things, 
ensure it provides contemporary guidance to 
apartment-type accommodation (be this of a 
conventional nature, for accommodation of students or 
supported accommodation). Investigations to inform 
the Code Amendment will consider provision of 
additional flexibility for apartment accommodation, 
while achieving quality design and apartment amenity 
outcomes. 

Noted. Administration is in dialogue with PLUS on apartment 
design and housing diversity as part of Council’s 
recommendations to the Planning System Implementation 
Review. 

Recognising the influence that council’s Encroachment 
Policy can have on apartment accommodation design 
in the City of Adelaide, and the fact that most 
apartment accommodation development in our state 
occurs in the City of Adelaide, my team and the 
Executive Director have commenced a dialogue and 
collaboration with your administration aimed at 
aligning, to the extent possible, the Code Amendment 
with your updated Encroachment Policy. I would 
encourage council to enable this collaboration to 
continue. The State Planning Commission has a view 
to a final draft of its Code Amendment being prepared 
for community engagement this calendar year. 

Noted. Administration is in dialogue with PLUS on apartment 
design and housing diversity as part of Council’s 
recommendations to the Planning System Implementation 
Review. 

Reference is made on page 11 of the draft policy 
document to the City grid layout on the National 
Heritage Listing being detailed in Attachment C. This 

References are updated as ‘Figure 2’ on pages 6 & 11 of the 
draft policy. Revisions were made to the draft policy to reflect 

P
age 516



5 

 Stakeholder Summary of Submission Administrative Response 

appears to be incorrect. If this is intended to be 
Attachment A as shown in the draft provided, then this 
information should be updated to clearly reflect that all 
grid streets are not subject to the encroachment policy 
and that this policy only relates to laneways and 
secondary streets. 

that the City Grid streets in the National Heritage Listing will not 
be considered for above first floor balcony encroachments. 

The Code’s deemed-to-satisfy criteria generally 
requires a setback of 2 metres or more from the base 
of the trunk of a street tree, unless consent is provided 
from the tree owner for a lesser distance. PLUS raises 
no objection to the lesser distance of 1 metre specified 
in the Encroachment Policy, as the City of Adelaide 
would be the tree owner, but consideration could be 
given to whether a greater setback is desired which 
could benefit larger trees with more expansive root 
systems. 

Noted. The City of Adelaide is seeking to balance opportunities 
for greening with development. 

Clarification is sought as to whether the requirement 
for canopies (e.g., external shading devices / 
verandahs / awnings and pergolas / balconies etc) to 
be set back from street furniture at ground level means 
that any street seating / benches cannot be covered as 
they are subject to the 1 metre setback. 

Section 4.2.3 – 4.2.6 has been updated to clarify that street 
furniture can be covered by canopies if it is less than 3 metres in 
height. 

YourSay Summary 

Supports changes that will allow for temporary ground 
anchors to support construction however concerned 
that these changes will lead to more closures of 
footpaths and bicycle paths. 

Noted. General comment that does not request a change to the 
Encroachment Policy. 

Supports encroachments that allow for the adaptive re-
use of heritage buildings. 

Noted. General comment that does not request a change to the 
Encroachment Policy. 

4 YourSay 
Submission  

Pedestrian movement where outdoor dining is 
permitted is difficult in particular, Rundle Street, East 
Terrace, Gouger Street, and in city laneways. 

Noted, outdoor dining is outside the scope of the Encroachment 
Policy however, this is addressed by the Outdoor Dining Policy. 

P
age 517



6 

 Stakeholder Summary of Submission Administrative Response 

Support is noted for temporary ground anchors to 
support construction but further definitions are required 
to define ‘temporary’.  

The Policy includes a definition for temporary ground anchors. 
The definition specifies that temporary ground anchors are 
permitted for a limited period (up to 2 years) as a site is 
excavated. 

Encroachments onto public land should only be 
allowed to facilitate equitable access for the adaptive 
re-use of heritage and significant public buildings. 

Encroachments for the adaptive reuse of heritage buildings will 
only be considered in limited situations such as providing 
equitable access where there are no alternative access options 
and other alternatives would result in the loss of fabric of the 
original building. 

5 YourSay 
Submission 

Smoking and vaping should not be allowed in outdoor 
dining areas and other public areas.  

Noted, however, this is outside the scope of the Encroachment 
Policy as smoking is governed by the Tobacco Products 
Regulation Act 1997.   

Since 1 July 2016, smoking is no longer permitted in public 
outdoor dining areas under section 52 of the Tobacco Products 
Regulation Act 1997. Outdoor dining areas must be smoke-free 
at all times when food is offered or provided.   

Temporary ground anchor encroachment needs to be 
restricted. Construction work and associated 
Encroachment Policy results in additional traffic, air 
pollution, disruption to pedestrians and damage to 
footpaths. 

A City Works Permit (CWP) is issued by the City of Adelaide for 
works undertaken in the public realm. Conditions are attached to 
the CWP that address damages, outline requirements for setup 
and how works must be conducted.  

When issuing CWPs, an assessment is undertaken to ensure 
the impact on pedestrians and traffic is minimised.  

For any major impacts, the permit holder is advised to contact 
impacted residents and businesses and provide their contact 
details. Major worksites have the contact details for the builders 
noted on their fencing for the public to report any issues / 
concerns. In addition, the City of Adelaide can be contacted if 
there are concerns.  

6 YourSay 
Submission 

Encroachments onto public land for the adaptive reuse 
of historic and/or significant public buildings need to be 
extremely limited. 

Encroachments for the adaptive reuse of heritage buildings will 
only be considered in limited situations such as providing 
equitable access where there are no alternative access options 

P
age 518



7 

 Stakeholder Summary of Submission Administrative Response 

and other alternatives would result in the loss of fabric of the 
original building. 

Encroachments onto public land for special events do 
not consider the wider needs of the city. 

Encroachments required specifically for special events are 
considered against the following City of Adelaide policies and 
guidelines that provide the management framework for hosting 
events in the city: 

  Adelaide Event Guidelines  
  Adelaide Park Lands Event Guidelines 
  Adelaide Park Lands Events Policy 

Encroachments over parks and reserves are not covered by the 
Encroachment Policy. 

The current and proposed policy lack a solid 
foundation in terms of measurement standards. For 
instance, the requirement of "a minimum vertical 
clearance of 2.5 metres above the footpath level" 
should be tethered to specific performance criteria 
outlined in recognised standards or guidelines such as 
the Austroads Guide to Road Design Part 6A: Paths 
for Walking and Cycling, Section 5.5.2, or alternatively 
AS 1742.2:2009 Clause D2.3.5. By establishing clear 
links to industry standards, the policy can adapt to 
evolving community standards, ensuring its relevance 
over time. 

The measurements and policies specified in the Encroachment 
Policy are consistent with the relevant Australian Standards. For 
instance, the minimum vertical clearance height of 2.5m above 
the footpath level is in accordance with AS 1742.2:2022 Clause 
D2.3.5 and Austroads Guide to Road Design Part 6A 2021 
Section 5.5.  

To ensure relevance and consistency with appropriate standards 
the Encroachment Policy is reviewed regularly.  

Permissions granted under this Policy hold commercial 
value for property owners or tenants, and it's 
imperative that this information is accessible to the 
public. A public register, accessible on the City of 
Adelaide's website, where permissions are openly 
documented enhances transparency but also enables 
the community to ascertain whether encroachments 
are authorised by the Council. 

The City of Adelaide maintains an internal register of permits. 
Whilst converting this register to a public interfacing platform is 
not anticipated, members of the public are welcome to direct 
enquiries regarding encroachments to the Administration.  

7 YourSay 
Submission 

The policy currently lacks explicit guidance on how 
breaches will be addressed. In the absence of a clear 

The Local Government Act 1999, Planning, Development and 
Infrastructure Act 2016 and Planning, Development and 

P
age 519



8 

 Stakeholder Summary of Submission Administrative Response 

enforcement mechanism, conflicts between non-
compliant property owners and the wider community 
may persist. I recommend incorporating explicit 
provisions within the policy outlining the procedures for 
addressing encroachments. This could involve issuing 
orders for the removal of prohibited encroachments, 
specifying timeframes for compliance, and detailing the 
consequences of non-compliance. Establishing a 
robust enforcement framework will contribute to a 
harmonious coexistence between property owners and 
the community.  

Infrastructure (General) Regulations 2017 detail enforcement 
action that can be undertaken in regard to development that is 
not built in accordance with approved documentation/conditions 
or without development approval.  

The City of Adelaide undertakes enforcement action in 
accordance with relevant legislation.  

Encroachment Permits also impose a series of conditions to 
ensure the requirements of the Policy are upheld and action that 
will be undertaken should a breach occur.  

8 YourSay 
Submission 

Encroachments onto public land should only be 
permissible in some cases, subject to stringent 
examination of the effect on public use of the public 
realm and aesthetic results (particularly buildings that 
are heritage listed or of historic interest) and imposition 
of appropriate conditions. 

The Policy criteria has been developed with the intent of creating 
a public realm that is welcoming, user friendly, cultivates a 
positive relationship between the private and public realms, 
contributes positively to Adelaide’s identifiable built form 
character and strengthens the character and identity of our 
National Heritage listed city.  

Encroachment Permits seek to impose conditions such that a 
permit holder maintains the encroachment in a good, safe and 
presentable condition, and does not allow it to fall into disrepair, 
or become ruinous, dilapidated or dangerous or in such a state 
as to detract from the amenity of the area in which it is situated. 

 

P
age 520



 

City of Adelaide Encroachment Policy -  2023

ENCROACHMENT  
POLICY 

Date this document was adopted: 11 February 2020  legislative  

 
PURPOSE 
 

 This Policy provides criteria for managing different forms of encroachments in the public 
realm to ensure they contribute positively on public safety or amenity and supports the 
application of the Planning and Design Code Development Plan objectives of maintaining 
Adelaide’s strong identifiable townscape character through strong urban form and well-
defined built form edges to the street.  The strong street edges contribute to the city layout 
and plays an important component of the National Heritage Listing.  It provides the basis 
for Council’s assessment and decision making on encroachments as land custodian of 
public roads.  Encroachments over parks, reserves or private land are not covered by this 
Policy. 

 

 

STATEMENT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Application of this document  

No building or structure (including pipes, wires, cables, fixtures, fittings, ground anchors or 
other objects) shall be erected or installed in, on, across, under or over public roads Council 
land unless prior written permission has been issued by Council in accordance with Section 
221 of the Local Government Act 1999, the Development Act 1993, and the Planning, 
Development and Infrastructure Act 2016 (when in effect) and the conditions determined 
by Council are complied with. 

The Encroachment Policy takes effect from the date of adoption by Council.  All applications 
for an Encroachment Permit received after that date will be assessed against this Policy.  

Encroachments approved under the previous policy will be allowed to remain and will not 
be charged retrospective fees provided the Permit holder continues to meet the conditions 
of the Permit.  If the previously approved encroachment is removed, any new encroachment 
installed in its place would have to meet the requirements of this Policy.  

The overall design approach to development as defined by the Planning, Development and 
Infrastructure Act 2016 Development Act 1993 is addressed via the development assessment 
process.   

The Policy objectives are to design flexibility that also yields public benefit including: 

  Creating a public realm that is welcoming and user friendly; 
  Cultivating a positive relationship between the private and public realms; and 
  Strengthening the character and identity of our Capital City. 

This Policy sets out the conditions which are specific to managing encroachments over 
public roads and will:  

  provide a clear framework for controlling encroachments;  
  provide for consistent decision making; 
  ensure encroachments do not create public safety risks; 
  reinforce the importance of retaining the City’s distinctive urban form; 

Page 521

Attachment B



CITY OF ADELAIDE

City of Adelaide Encroachment Policy www.cityofadelaide.com.au  Page | 2

  reinforce the strong street edges that contribute to the city layout and plays an 
important component of the National Heritage Listing; 

  support the provision of pedestrian-friendly streetscapes accessible to all users; 
  support verandahs and first floor level balconies that provide shelter; 
  support green infrastructure measures that contribute to a more liveable City; and 
  prevent above first floor balconies and floor area encroachments, other than in 

limited specified circumstances. 

Council will assess all encroachments against the criteria for managing different forms of 
encroachments detailed in Attachment A. Fees and charges which might be applicable to 
approved encroachments are detailed in Attachment B and will be included in Council’s 
annual business fees and charges. 

   

OTHER USEFUL 
DOCUMENTS 
 

 Related documents 

  Adelaide Design Manual 
  Temporary Use of Public Space Policy 
  Objects on Public Footpaths Policy and Operating Guidelines 
  Outdoor Dining Policy and Operating Guidelines 
  Parklet Operating Guidelines  
  Lighting Policy and Operating Guideline 
  Undergrounding (Overhead Electricity and Telecommunication Cables) Policy 
  Parklet Program Operating Guidelines  
  Cabling and Communication Policy 
  City Works Operating Guidelines 
  National Heritage Listing of the Adelaide Park Lands and City Layout. 

Relevant legislation 

  Local Government Act 1999, s 221 
  Encroachments Act 1944 
  Development Act 1993 and Development Regulations 2008 
  Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act 2016  
  Planning, Development and Infrastructure (General) Regulations 2017  
  Planning and Design Code 
  Disability Discrimination Act 1992 
  National Construction Code, 2022 Building Code of Australia 2016 
  Electricity Act and Regulations 1996 
  Telecommunications Act and Regulations 1993 
  Australian Standards 
  Commonwealth Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 

 
 

GLOSSARY  Throughout this document, the below terms have been used and are defined as: 

architectural features – are the details and component parts that, together, form the 
architectural style of buildings and structures e.g. fins, blades, cornices, eaves, sills, mullions 
and architraves. 

Page 522

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Architectural_style


CITY OF ADELAIDE

City of Adelaide Encroachment Policy www.cityofadelaide.com.au  Page | 3

1. awning – a sheet of canvas or other material stretched on a frame and used to keep the 
sun or rain off a window or doorway. 

2. effective footpath clear width - the unobstructed walking and/or wheeling space 
excluding street trees, street signs and street furniture. 

encroachment – is any structure erected or installed in, on, across, under or over Council 
land including structures that straddle a title boundary from private land onto public land 
(including roads and community land). 

external cladding – material affixed flush with the exterior building façade. 

entrance portico – is a structure that defines the entrance into a building. 

green facades – are a means of growing plants in a vertical arrangement and will generally 
have climbing plants weaving themselves in and around a framework of mesh, wires or 
cables.  

living wall – is a means of growing plants in a vertical arrangement and contain potted 
plants. they are pre-planted in boxes, tubs or trays and then hung on a wall vertically. 

pergola – an open trellis-like roof which can be used to support climbing plants. 

permanent ground anchor – is a structural element installed into rock or soil to provide 
stability of structures as a site is excavated and where the final structure may not provide 
sufficient support.  They are used where a structure needs a permanent solution. 

public road – a class of land owned in fee simple by Council, the classification of which 
determines how that land is managed in accordance with the Local Government Act 1999 
and other acts.  

It includes facilities such as carriageways, road reserve, footpaths, pavement and associated 
features for public travel and is all the area of land that is within the boundaries of a road. 

shading device – a projecting feature on the exterior of a building, over a window that 
provides shade. 

temporary ground anchor – is a structural element installed into rock or soil to provide 
stability of structures for a limited period of time (up to 2 years) as a site is excavated. They 
are designed to last until the building can support the excavation, rendering the anchors 
obsolete.  When no longer required the anchors are destressed, unloaded or cut so that 
the anchor no longer provides support and can be removed if required.  ‘Destressing’ is the 
removal of load or bearing capacity of the ground anchor, such that the ground anchor is 
no longer providing any structural support. 

universal access – is the design and composition of an environment so that it can be 
accessed, understood and used to the greatest extent possible by all people regardless of 
their age, size, ability or disability. 

verandah – an open-walled roof attached to the exterior of a building to provide shelter. 

  

Page 523

http://www.lgam.info/roads
http://www.lgam.info/footpaths
http://www.dictionaryofconstruction.com/definition/shade.html


CITY OF ADELAIDE

City of Adelaide Encroachment Policy www.cityofadelaide.com.au  Page | 4

 

 
 

Examples of Different Encroachments (refer to Attachment A - Criteria for Managing Encroachments) 

1. Example of Architectural feature or external cladding 

2. External Shading Device Encroachment.  

3. Fixed Awning Encroachment.  

4. Retractable Awning Encroachment.  

5. Green Wall Encroachment. 

6. Under and Above Canopy Sign Encroachment. 

7. Verandah and First Floor Balcony Encroachment.  

8. First Floor Verandah/Awning Encroachment. 

9. Above First Floor Balcony Encroachment.  

10. Concrete Piling Encroachment.  

11. Temporary Ground Anchor Encroachment.  

12. Permanent Ground Anchors. 

 

Page 524



CITY OF ADELAIDE

City of Adelaide Encroachment Policy www.cityofadelaide.com.au  Page | 5

 

ADMINISTRATIVE  As part of Council’s commitment to deliver the City of Adelaide Strategic Plan, services to 
the community and the provision of transparent information, all policy documents are 
reviewed for currency at least annually as part of the review of delegations. Those requiring 
detailed consideration are flagged in the current forward Council Policy Program. 
   

Review history: 
Review date Authorised Body Description of edits 

28/01/97 Council Notice Boards and Signs 

10/02/97 Council Encroaching Air Conditioners 

28/07/08 City Strategy and Policy 
Committee 

Reviewed fees, minor encroachments and minor 
variations 

11/08/08 City Strategy and Policy 
Committee 

Reviewed fees for heritage and character encroachments 

16/12/14 Council Review of encroachment fees 

26/09/17 Council Draft produced for consultation 

25/03/19 Council Reviewed fees and variations to balconies, ground 
anchors, built form enclosures, introduced criteria for 
public art, cladding, shading devices, green facades and 
lighting 

11/02/20 Council Reviewed variation to balconies within section 4.2.6 
within Attachment A – criteria for managing different 
forms of encroachments. 

 
Contact: 
For further information contact the Planning and Development Program.  
 

City of Adelaide 
25 Pirie St, Adelaide, SA 5000 
GPO Box 2252 ADELAIDE SA 5001 
+61 8 8203 7203 
city@cityofadelaide.com.au 

 

Page 525



City of Adelaide Encroachment Policy www.cityofadelaide.com.au  Page | 6

Attachment A - Criteria for Managing Encroachments 

CONTENTS                    PAGE No 

1. INTRODUCTION 7 

2. UNACCEPTABLE ENCROACHMENTS 7 

3. ACCEPTABLE ENCROACHMENTS (where an Encroachment Permit is not required) 7 

4. DEEMED TO SATISFY ENCROACHMENTS CRITERIA REQUIREMENTS 8 

4.1 PUBLIC BENEFIT CRITERIA 8 

4.2 DEEMED TO SATISFY ABOVE GROUND ENCROACHMENT CRITERIA (requires an Encroachment 
Permit) 8 

4.2.1. Architectural Features 9 

4.2.2. External Cladding 9 

4.2.3. External Shading Devices 9 

4.2.4. Verandahs, Awnings and Pergolas 9 

4.2.5. Entrance Porticos 10 

4.2.6. Balconies 11 

4.2.7. Green Facades and Living Walls 12 

4.2.8. Signage 13 

4.2.9. Public Art 13 

4.2.10. Lighting 13 

4.2.11. Pipes and Services 14 

4.2.12. Bridges and Overpasses 14 

4.2.13. Other Above Ground Encroachments 14 

4.3 DEEMED TO SATISFY BELOW GROUND ENCROACHMENT CRITERIA (requires an Encroachment 
Permit) 14 

4.3.1. Electricity Service Connections 15 

4.3.2. Service Pits / Hatches, Cabling and Other Services 15 

4.3.3. Ground Anchors, Footings and Pilings 15 

4.3.4. Other Below Ground Encroachments 16 

5. MAINTENANCE, BREACHES AND ENFORCEMENT 16 

6. VARIATIONS TO THE POLICY 15 
 

FIGURE 1 - Pedestrian and Future Infrastructure Map       16 

ATTACHMENT AFIGURE 2 - The Adelaide Park Lands and City Layout National Heritage List  
 17

Page 526



City of Adelaide Encroachment Policy www.cityofadelaide.com.au  Page | 7

1. INTRODUCTION 

Council is the custodian of the public realm in the City of Adelaide.  The role of this Policy is to ensure 
encroachments do not diminish the health, safety and amenity of the public for present and future use and 
contribute positively to Adelaide’s identifiable built form character.  If a proposed encroachment meets the 
criteria within the Policy, the proposal may still be subject to assessment against the Planning and Design Code 
and Building Code, in accordance with the requirements of the Development Act 1993 Planning, Development 
and Infrastructure Act 2016 (when in effect). 

These guidelines provide criteria for managing different forms of encroachments and assist in implementing 
the objectives of the Policy that seek to create a public realm that is welcoming user friendly, cultivates a 
positive relationship between the private and public realms and strengthens the character and identity of our 
National Heritage listed Capital City. They apply to structures or parts of buildings that project or encroach into 
public road located within the City of Adelaide boundaries. 

2. UNACCEPTABLE ENCROACHMENTS 

The following forms of encroachment are not allowed: 

  Above first floor balconies (unless exempted within section 4.2.6). 
  Floor area encroachment including habitable floor or occupiable floor area of a building, enclosed 

balconies and structures that occupy a public road, airspace above a public road and/or land beneath a 
public road.   

  Encroachment onto public land to achieve access requirements is generally not permitted except when: 
(including ramps, handrails, landings, tactile indicators) except when a proposal involves a heritage listed 
building where equitable access is highly desirable and there are no alternative pedestrian access options 
available and/or pedestrian access by other means would result in substantial loss of original fabric of the 
heritage listed property.  
(a)  access by other means will not result in a substantial loss of original fabric of a heritage-listed property 

impacting on the heritage significance of the place, and that the provision of equitable access is highly 
desirable, with no alternative access options available; or  

(b) the proposal involves a significant public building where equitable access is highly desirable and 
there are no alternative access options available. 

  Third party signage. 
  Fixing of canopy columns or pillars to pavements. 
  Mechanical and plant equipment including air-conditioning units, electrical plant equipment. 
  Tunnels, underpasses except for future public transport and underground car parking. 
  Permanent tensioned ground anchors. 

3. ACCEPTABLE ENCROACHMENTS (where an Encroachment Permit is not required) 

The following forms of encroachment do not require an Encroachment Permit.   

Examples might include, but are not limited to: 

  butt-out bins;  
  under footpath electricity service connections to private properties that provide direct connection 

between private property to the public authority infrastructure via the shortest route available; 
  architectural features e.g. cladding, cornices, eaves, sills, mullions and architraves; and 
  pipes and services on existing buildings that cannot be incorporated within the property boundary e.g. 

flues and downpipes. 

Accepted encroachments that cannot practically be incorporated within the private property boundary MUST: 

  not encroach over a vehicle carriageway; 

Page 527



City of Adelaide Encroachment Policy www.cityofadelaide.com.au  Page | 8

  not present a safety risk to pedestrians or other users of the public road;  

  be appropriately secured to the building;  

  not interrupt pedestrian movement or public road;  

  avoid water dripping or discharging onto a public road; and 

  not interfere with existing services and on-street activities.  

If an accepted encroachment meets the above criteria, it MUST meet all the following criteria (where relevant):  

  be setback a minimum of 600mm from the kerb edge or 1 metre from a trunk and/or major limb of a 
street tree, light pole or street furniture element; 

  not narrow the footpath width to less than 1.8 2 metres;  

  have a minimum vertical clearance height of 2.5 metres above the footpath level;  

  be not less than 600mm high above the footpath level; and 

  not encroach horizontally more than 150mm into the public road; and 

  they do not hinder, damage or interfere with existing or future City of Adelaide or State Government 
infrastructure. 

4. DEEMED TO SATISFY ENCROACHMENT CRITERIA REQUIREMENTS 

Encroachments that do not meet the criteria in 2.0 and 3.0 require an Encroachment Permit.  Encroachments 
which require a permit must comply with the following criteria: 

  Public Benefit Criteria 
  Above Ground Encroachment Criteria 
  Below Ground Encroachment Criteria 

4.1 PUBLIC BENEFIT CRITERIA  

All new encroachments MUST: 

  maintain public safety; and 

  maintain and/or improve public amenity, including the appearance of development; or 
  facilitate anticipated development that would not otherwise be possible. 

In addition, encroachments must comply with the criteria for Above and Below Ground Encroachments. 

4.2 DEEMED TO SATISFY ABOVE GROUND ENCROACHMENT CRITERIA (requires an Encroachment 
Permit) 

Above ground encroachments MUST be consistent with the following: 

  Constructed of high quality, durable and low maintenance materials; 

  Can be removed if required; 

  Avoid water dripping or discharging onto a public road; 

  Will not affect the planting and growth of street trees; 

  Will not affect traffic signs or visibility of traffic control devices e.g. traffic signals; 

  Will not affect the operation of emergency vehicles or personnel; and  

  Avoid impeding access to all above ground and subsurface services in the public road reserve. 

Page 528



City of Adelaide Encroachment Policy www.cityofadelaide.com.au  Page | 9

4.2.1. ARCHITECTURAL FEATURES  

Architectural feature encroachments such as MUST: 

  be constructed of durable materials compatible with the surface structure to which it is fixed;  

  have a minimum vertical clearance of 2.5 metres above the footpath level (unless demonstrated it will not 
pose a risk to users’ pedestrian safety); and 

  have a maximum projection of 1.2 metres over a public space which exceeds 10 metres in width and a 
maximum of 600mm over a public space which is less than 10m in width; and 

  avoid the use of materials that produces glare, discomfort or danger to pedestrians and users of vehicles. 

4.2.2. EXTERNAL CLADDING 

External cladding encroachments added to existing buildings MUST: 

  be constructed of durable materials compatible with the surface structure to which it is fixed; 

  have a minimum vertical clearance of 2.5 metres above the footpath level (unless demonstrated it will not 
pose a risk to users’ pedestrian safety); and 

  have a maximum projection of 150mm beyond the property boundary; and 

  avoid the use of materials that produces glare, discomfort or danger to pedestrians and users of 
vehicles. 

4.2.3. EXTERNAL SHADING DEVICES 

External shading device encroachments MUST: 

  be constructed of durable materials compatible with the surface 
structure to which it is fixed; 

  have a maximum projection of 1.2 metres over a public road.  

  be setback a minimum of 600 mm from the kerb edge or 1 metre from 
a trunk and/or major limb of a street tree, light pole or vertical street 
furniture element of greater than 3 metres (or greater for traffic 
movement/safety requirements); and 

  have a minimum vertical clearance between the top of the footpath 
and lowest underside of the shading device of 3 metres or 5 metres 
above the level of a vehicular carriageway. 

4.2.4. VERANDAHS, AWNINGS AND PERGOLAS  

Verandahs, awnings and pergola encroachments MUST: 

  provide pedestrian comfort by providing shelter from sun and rain; 

  not fix canopy columns or pillars to pavements;  

  be setback a minimum of 600mm from the kerb edge or 1 metre from a trunk and/or major limb of a 
street tree, traffic signal, light pole or vertical street furniture element of greater than 3 metres (or greater 
for traffic movement/safety requirements); 

  have a minimum setback of 600mm from the wall of the building that adjoins a laneway; 

  have a minimum vertical clearance between the top of the footpath and lowest underside of the verandah 
or pergola of 3 metres or 5 metres above the level of a vehicular carriageway; 

Example of External 
Shading Devices

Page 529



City of Adelaide Encroachment Policy www.cityofadelaide.com.au  Page | 10

  in the case of retractable awnings, have a minimum vertical clearance of 2.3 2.5 metres above the footpath 
level when fully lowered and 3 metres when fully retracted; 

  have a minimum projection of 600mm; 

 

  not extend more than 5 metres from the boundary line and beyond the prevailing traditional verandah 
post alignment; 

  avoid not narrowing the effective footpath clear width of the footpath to less than 1.8 2 metres or 2.4 
metres in a high pedestrian area identified in Figure 1- Pedestrian and Future Infrastructure Map; 

  incorporate lighting on the underside of verandahs, awnings or pergolas at ground level where street 
lighting is obscured; and 

  be designed to incorporate CCTV cameras on the underside of verandahs, awnings or pergolas at ground 
level where existing CCTV coverage has been obscured by the verandah, awning or pergola and the CCTV 
cameras are not to extend beyond the fascia line of the verandah. 

 
Example of Verandah/Awning 

 

 
Example of Retractable Awning 

 

4.2.5. ENTRANCE PORTICOS 

Entrance portico encroachments MUST:  

  be provided above the main entrance of the building;  

  provide pedestrian comfort by providing shelter from sun and rain; 

  is setback a minimum of 600mm from the kerb edge or 1 metre from a trunk and/or major limb of a street 
tree, traffic signal, light pole or vertical street furniture element of greater than 3 metres (or greater for 
traffic movement/safety requirements);  

  have a minimum vertical clearance between the top of the footpath and lowest underside of the verandah 
or pergola of 3 metres or 5 metres above the level of a vehicular carriageway; 

  avoid not narrowing the effective footpath width of the footpath to less than 1.8 2 metres (or greater 2.4 
metres in a high pedestrian area identified in Figure 1- Pedestrian and Future Infrastructure Map; 

  be of a size, and scale and height appropriate to the building’s proportions and width of the street. and 

Example of Glazed Awning

Page 530



City of Adelaide Encroachment Policy www.cityofadelaide.com.au  Page | 11

  Have a maximum height up to the ceiling of the first floor.  

Example of Main Entry Porticos 
 

4.2.6. BALCONIES 

Balcony encroachments where the balcony is at first floor level 
provided that they: 

  are designed to be open in appearance and form and is not 
visually enclosed with blinds, louvres or glass rather than 
enclosed;  

  are setback a minimum of 600mm from the kerb edge or 1 
metre from a trunk and/or major limb of a street tree, traffic 
signal, light pole or vertical street furniture element of greater 
than 3 metres (or greater for traffic movement/safety 
requirements);  

  have a minimum vertical clearance between the top of the 
footpath and lowest underside of the balcony of 3 metres or 5 
metres above the level of the vehicular carriageway; 

  incorporates lighting on the underside of the balcony at ground 
level where street lighting is obscured; and  

  are designed to incorporate CCTV cameras on the underside of 
the balcony at ground level where existing CCTV coverage has 
been obscured by the balcony and the CCTV cameras are not 
to extend beyond the fascia line of the balcony; 

  not extend more than 5 metres from the boundary line and 
beyond the prevailing traditional verandah post alignment. 

 
Above first floor balcony encroachments will NOT be considered in 
the following instances:  

  On streets that are not listed as part of the City grid on the 
National Heritage Listing detailed in Attachment CFigure 2, or  

  Along Frome Road. 

Above first floor balcony encroachments will NOT only be considered at the City Squares as part of the City 
Layout on the National Heritage Listing detailed in Figure 2, unless where balconies the proposed balcony 
encroachments front the following portions of the Squares: 

  Eastern, northern and western sides of Hindmarsh Square (excluding Grenfell Street, Pirie Street and 
Pulteney Street frontages); or 

Example of First Floor and Above First 
Floor Balconies

Page 531



City of Adelaide Encroachment Policy www.cityofadelaide.com.au  Page | 12

  Eastern, northern and western sides of Light Square (excluding Currie Street, Waymouth Street and 
Morphett Street frontages); or 

  Eastern, southern and western sides of Whitmore Square (excluding Wright Street, Sturt Street and 
Morphett Street frontages); or 

  Eastern, southern and western sides of Hurtle Square (excluding Carrington Street, Halifax Street and 
Pulteney Street frontages. 

Above first floor balcony encroachments MAY BE considered in locations outside of the above locational 
criteria. If encroaching balconies above first floor balcony encroachments satisfy one of the locational criteria 
above, they MUST also be carefully integrated into the building design and enhance the appearance of the 
development when viewed from the public realm, as well as satisfying the following: 

  being no greater than 30% of the street frontage on every level of the building; and 

  having no more than 50% of each balcony area encroaching over the public realm; and 

  having a maximum encroachment projection of 1 metre; and 

  being designed to be open in form and appearance rather than enclosed; and 

  being free of service infrastructure such as air conditioning units; and 

  having a minimum setback of 600mm from the kerb edge and 1 metre from a trunk and/or major 
limb of a street tree, traffic signal, light pole or vertical street furniture element of greater than 3 
metres (or greater for traffic movement/safety requirements). 

4.2.7. GREEN FACADES AND LIVING WALLS  

Green facades and living wall encroachments on new buildings 
must be incorporated within existing site boundaries at ground 
floor level. 

Green facades and living walls on all buildings MUST:  

  have a minimum vertical clearance of 2.5 metres above 
the footpath level (unless demonstrated it will not pose a 
risk to users’ pedestrian safety); and 

  be maintained, pruned and watered as required to ensure 
plant health and pedestrian safety. 

 

Example of Green Facades 
and Living Walls

Page 532



City of Adelaide Encroachment Policy www.cityofadelaide.com.au  Page | 13

4.2.8. SIGNAGE  

Under awning signage encroachments MUST: 

  have a minimum vertical clearance of 2.5 metres between the footpath 
level and the underside of the sign; and  

  have a minimum setback of 600mm from the kerb edge or 1 metre from 
a trunk and/or major limb of a street tree, light pole or street furniture. 

Above awning projecting signage encroachments MUST: 

  avoid extending more than 1 metre from the boundary line; and 

  be a minimum of 1 metre above the awning line. 

Projecting signage encroachments MUST: 

  have a minimum vertical clearance of 2.5 metres between the footpath 
level and the underside of the sign; 

  avoid extending more than 1 metre from the boundary line; 

  have a minimum setback of 600mm from the kerb edge or 1 metre from 
a trunk and/or major limb of a street tree, light pole or street furniture. 

Wall mounted signage encroachments MUST: 

  have a minimum vertical clearance of 2.5 metres above the footpath level (unless demonstrated it will not 
pose a risk to users’ pedestrian safety); and 

  have a maximum projection of 150mm beyond the property boundary. 

4.2.9. PUBLIC ART 

Public art encroachments MUST: 

  have a minimum setback of 600mm from the kerb edge or 1 metre from a trunk and/or major limb of a 
street tree, light pole or street furniture; 

  not avoid narrowing the width of the footpath to less than 1.8 2 metres;  

  avoid obstructing pedestrian movement in and out of a building; 

  be designed and constructed to ensure pedestrian safety; and 

  avoid impeding sightlines or mobility for pedestrians i.e. bus stops and crossing roads. 

4.2.10. LIGHTING 

Lighting encroachments MUST: 

  operate between the hours of dusk until dawn; 

  be energy efficient; 

  be fit for public purpose in a public environment;  

  avoid glare that produces discomfort or danger to pedestrians and users of vehicles; and 

  has a minimum vertical clearance height of 2.5 metres above footpath level. 

Lighting must comply with Council standards and guidelines and is subject to individual technical assessment 
by Council staff. 

Example of Under and Above 
Awning Signage

Page 533



City of Adelaide Encroachment Policy www.cityofadelaide.com.au  Page | 14

4.2.11. PIPES AND SERVICES 

Pipes and service encroachments for new buildings MUST be incorporated within the property boundary. 

Pipes and services for existing buildings will only be considered in circumstances where it is demonstrated that 
there is no viable alternative and the service is necessary.   

Pipes and services for new buildings must comply with Council standards and guidelines and are subject to 
individual technical assessment by Council staff. 

4.2.12. BRIDGES AND OVERPASSES 

Bridges and Overpasses must comply with Council standards and guidelines and are subject to individual 
technical assessment and require determination by Council.  

Bridge and overpass encroachments are discouraged and will only be considered in the following 
circumstances:  

  there is an access requirement between two adjacent buildings above street level and there is no viable 
access alternative at street level;  

  the encroachment will not redirect pedestrian activity and affect the viability of existing tenancies at street 
level;  

  the encroachment will not impact on the public road amenity through loss of views, vistas or sunlight 
access; and 

  incorporates lighting on the underside of the bridge or overpass at ground level where street lighting is 
obscured; and  

  incorporates lighting on the underside of the bridge or overpass at ground level where street lighting is 
obscured. 

If the bridge or overpass meets the above criteria, it MUST: 

  have a minimum underside vertical clearance of 3.5 metres above footpath level; 

  have a minimum underside vertical clearance of 5 metres above the level of a vehicular carriageway; 

  be largely visually permeable to maintain views and sunlight through the structure; 

  be universally accessible; 

  allow for the growth and preservation of street trees; 

  ensure access for emergency services and vehicles; and 

  have a maximum width of 6 metres. 

4.2.13. OTHER ABOVE GROUND ENCROACHMENTS 

All other above ground encroachments will be performance assessed against the criteria for ‘Acceptableed 
Encroachments’ or other parts of the Policy considered relevant. 

4.3 DEEMED TO SATISFY BELOW GROUND ENCROACHMENT CRITERIA (requires an Encroachment 
Permit) 

Where a development encroaches under a public road, it MUST: 

  not impact on street trees or services; or  

  hinder envisaged future underground transport or movement alternatives.  

Page 534



City of Adelaide Encroachment Policy www.cityofadelaide.com.au  Page | 15

4.3.1. ELECTRICITY SERVICE CONNECTIONS 

An underground electricity service connection installed in the footpath from an SA Power Network service 
point to a private property for the purpose of providing electricity is considered to be an accepted 
encroachment.  However, works must comply with Council standards and guidelines and are subject to 
individual technical assessment by Council staff.  Each installation will require separate Council approval.  

4.3.2. SERVICE PITS / HATCHES, CABLING AND OTHER SERVICES 

Service pits, hatches and cabling should be minimised and must comply with Council standards and guidelines 
and are subject to individual technical assessment by Council staff. 

4.3.3. GROUND ANCHORS, FOOTINGS AND PILINGS  

Footings, pilings and temporary ground anchor 
encroachments will only be permitted where: 

  they do not hinder, damage or interfere with existing or 
future Council or State infrastructure works; and 

  they are not located within areas unsuitable for ground 
anchors illustrated within Figure 1 – Pedestrian and 
Future Infrastructure Map 

Where the above circumstances exist, footings and pilings 
MUST:  

  have a minimum depth of 1 metre below the level of the 
footpath or vehicular carriageway; 

  not encroach horizontally more than 300mm onto a public 
street or public place when less than 4 metres below the 
level of the footpath or vehicular carriageway; and 

  not encroach more than 1.2 metres onto a public street or 
public place when 4 metres or more below the level of the 
footpath or vehicular carriageway. 

Footings and pilings must comply with Council standards and 
guidelines and are subject to individual technical assessment 
by Council staff.  

Temporary ground anchors MUST: 

  be de-stressed (made inactive) prior to project 
completion; 

  be installed a minimum of 4 metres below the existing 
natural surface; 

Example of Footings and Pilings

Page 535



City of Adelaide Encroachment Policy www.cityofadelaide.com.au  Page | 16

  be installed a minimum of 1 metre from any existing 
underground infrastructure (service providers may require 
greater clearances and should be consulted); 

  ensure that the temporary ground anchor head is accessible for 
the duration that the temporary ground anchor is under tension 
for inspection and maintenance; 

  provide maintenance records of live ground anchors; 

  undertake geotechnical testing to confirm soil and groundwater 
conditions in the zone where temporary ground anchors are 
proposed; 

  be installed and tested to confirm performance, prior to 
installation of the working anchors; 

  maintain minimum clearance zones around active temporary 
ground anchors at 0.6m x anchor fixed length; and 

  provide ‘as constructed’ documentation showing the location of 
ground anchors to Council. 

Permanent ground anchors are not allowed (refer to Section 2). 

Temporary ground anchors must comply with Council standards and guidelines and are subject to individual 
technical assessment by Council staff.  

Council will require applicants to complete a ‘Temporary Ground Anchor Encroachment Agreement’ which will 
set out the conditions and financial arrangements, which can include a temporary bond.  This is to encourage 
applicants to provide post-construction confirmation that the ground anchors have been de-tensioned, and 
details of the location of the de-tensioned ground anchor infrastructure, and that any other requirements have 
been addressed. 

4.3.4. OTHER BELOW GROUND ENCROACHMENTS 

All other below ground encroachments will be performance assessed against the criteria for ‘Accepted 
Encroachments’ or other parts of the Policy considered relevant and subject to individual technical assessment 
by Council staff.  

5. MAINTENANCE, BREACHES AND ENFORCEMENT 

Lighting, service pit/ hatches, cabling, services, ground anchors, footings and pilings will be subject to individual 
technical assessment by Administration. Technical assessments and encroachment permits may be subject to 
conditions, maintenance requirements. 

6. VARIATIONS TO THE POLICY 

Where an individual site presents circumstances such as where the development of a site would be impacted 
due to its size, dimensions and/or orientation, a variation to the criteria of the Policy will be considered 
providing it is consistent with the overall intent and purpose of the Encroachment Policy. 

 

 

Example of a Temporary Ground Anchor

Page 536



City of Adelaide Encroachment Policy www.cityofadelaide.com.au  Page | 17

FIGURE 1 - Pedestrian and Future Infrastructure Map 

 

 

Page 537



City of Adelaide Encroachment Policy www.cityofadelaide.com.au  Page | 18

ATTACHMENT A FIGURE 2 - The Adelaide Park Lands and City Layout 
National Heritage List 

Page 538


	Agenda
	7.1 Draft Integrated Climate Strategy for Endorsement
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS
	DISCUSSION
	DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION
	ATTACHMENTS
	Attachment A Integrated Climate Strategy

	7.2 Draft City Plan – Adelaide 2036 for Public Consultation
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS
	DISCUSSION
	DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION
	ATTACHMENTS
	Attachment A Draft City Plan - Adelaide 2036
	Attachment B for City Plan – Engagement Outline

	7.3 Draft Adelaide Park Lands Management Strategy (APLMS) - Towards 2036
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS
	DISCUSSION
	DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION
	Attachment A for Draft Adelaide Park Lands Management Strategy (APLMS) – Towards 2036
	Attachment B for Draft Adelaide Park Lands Management Strategy (APLMS) – Towards 2036

	7.4 By-law Review – Draft for Public Consultation
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS
	DISCUSSION
	DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION
	ATTACHMENTS
	Attachment A for By-law Review – Draft for Public Consultation
	By-law No 1 - Permits and Penalties - 2024
	By-law No 2 - Moveable Signs - 2024
	By-law No 3 - Local Government Land - 2024
	By-law No 4 - Roads - 2024
	By-law No 5 - Waste Management - 2024
	By-law No 6 - Rundle Mall - 2024
	By-law No 7 - Dogs - 2024
	By-law No 8 - Cats - 2024
	By-law No 9 - Lodging Houses - 2024


	7.5 Encroachment Policy 2024 for Endorsement
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS
	DISCUSSION
	DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION
	ATTACHMENTS
	Attachment A Consultation Summary Report – Draft Encroachment Policy 2024
	Attachment B Encroachment Policy 2024
	1.	INTRODUCTION
	2.	UNACCEPTABLE ENCROACHMENTS
	3.	ACCEPTABLE ENCROACHMENTS (where an Encroachment Permit is not required)
	4.	DEEMED TO SATISFY ENCROACHMENT CRITERIA REQUIREMENTS
	4.1	PUBLIC BENEFIT CRITERIA
	4.2	DEEMED TO SATISFY ABOVE GROUND ENCROACHMENT CRITERIA (requires an Encroachment Permit)
	4.2.1.	Architectural Features
	4.2.2.	External Cladding
	4.2.3.	External Shading Devices
	4.2.4.	Verandahs, Awnings and Pergolas
	4.2.5.	Entrance Porticos
	4.2.6.	Balconies
	4.2.7.	Green Facades and Living Walls
	4.2.8.	Signage
	4.2.9.	Public Art
	4.2.10.	Lighting
	4.2.11.	Pipes and Services
	4.2.12.	Bridges and Overpasses
	4.2.13.	Other Above Ground Encroachments
	4.3	DEEMED TO SATISFY BELOW GROUND ENCROACHMENT CRITERIA (requires an Encroachment Permit)
	4.3.1.	Electricity Service Connections
	4.3.2.	Service Pits / Hatches, Cabling and Other Services
	4.3.3.	Ground Anchors, Footings and Pilings
	4.3.4.	Other Below Ground Encroachments

	5.	Maintenance, Breaches and Enforcement
	6.	VARIATIONS TO THE POLICY





